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TRANSCRIPT OF PHASE 1 HEARING

COMMENCING ON 11 JULY 2011 AT GREYMOUTH
legal discussion  (11:34:51) – MEDIA COVERAGE
MR WILDING OPENS

legal discussion  (12:43:10) – hearing plan
court adjourns:
12.57 pm

court resumes:
2.01 pm

MR STEVENS CALLS
DONALD MCGILLIVRAY ELDER (AFFIRMED)

Q. Doctor Elder, could you state your full name for the record please?

A. Donald McGillivray Elder.

Q. And confirm you've prepared a statement for the phase one hearing dated 8 June 2011?

A. I have.

Q. Do you have a copy of that with you?

A. I do.

Q. Please confirm that to the best of your belief it’s true and correct?

A. Yes it is.

Q. Could you please commence reading it from the start of paragraph 1?

WITNESS READS BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. “As background, Solid Energy have evolved from a 100 year history as 
New Zealand’s State Coalminer to become New Zealand’s largest natural resource producer, largest energy producer and one of New Zealand’s major exporters.  Our current operations include coal and renewable energy fuels, products and services including biomass, biofuels and solar and our overall business includes a range of new developments and technologies that are innovative and leading in both New Zealand and internationally.  We’re directly responsible through our own and our contractor’s staff for close to 2000 direct jobs and we support around 10,000 indirect jobs through our suppliers and communities.  Underground coalmining remains one of Solid Energy’s core production activities.  During my term as CEO we have operated six underground coal mines of which two remain open today in full production.  Huntly East Mine and Spring Creek Mine near Greymouth.  Each of these is of comparable scale to the planned Pike River Mine and has been at this scale for a decade or more.  Solid Energy is a key West Coast stakeholder through our operations and the economic activity they bring and our activities in the community.  We have two current producing mines on the West Coast, Stockton Open Cast Mine on the Stockton plateau north of Westport and Spring Creek.  A number of future mines under development planning and longer term prospects under investigation.  My qualifications and experience:  I have been chief executive officer of Solid Energy since I returned to New Zealand in May 2000.  I received a Bachelor of Engineering honours degree in civil engineering from the University of Canterbury in 1980 and a D.Phil in geotechnical engineering from the University of Oxford in the UK in 1985.  From 1983 to 1990 I worked in the UK, the US and New Zealand as a geotechnical engineer.  From 1990 to 2000 I was vice president of one of Canada’s leading engineering firms and worked throughout North America and around the world on a range of business activities and projects including geotechnical engineering, environmental engineering and major projects, development and management.  I am currently a director of ASB Bank and over the past 20 years I've been a director and chair of companies, industry and business organisations in New Zealand, Canada and internationally.  My previous directorships included Port of Napier Limited, Orion New Zealand Limited and the Halifax Port Commission in Canada.
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A. I was chair of the association of Consulting Engineers of Canada from 1996 to ’97. I'm a director of the World Coal Association, the global organisation of the world’s major coal producers from 2004 to present and I was chair of the World Coal Association from 2008 to 2010.  I'm currently vice chair of the International Energy Agency’s Coal Industry Advisory Board.  I'm on the Board of Straterra New Zealand’s Resource Industry Association and I'm a fellow of the Institution of Professional Engineers of New Zealand and of the New Zealand Institute of Management.  In summary as CEO of Solid Energy I've been closely aware of the prospective and eventual Pike River development since shortly after I joined the company in 2000 through meetings and briefings with Pike River’s management, through briefings and discussions within Solid Energy with our own staff and from public information.  From this information my colleagues and I were able, from an early stage, to form and hold reasonably well informed views on the nature of and prospects for the Pike River development including the challenges they would face, the likelihood that their projections would be achieved and the potential commercial and business consequences.  I have never been in a position to form a specific view on the status of safety management practices at Pike River Mine, nor would have I attempted to form such a view without access to the full range of information that I would expect if I were to seek a similar view on safety in a specific operation within Solid Energy.  As the CEO of the major coalmining company in New Zealand the objective of my submission is primarily to provide information to the Commission that is unlikely to be readily available elsewhere.  My focus is on identifying information that any mining company developing a large underground mine would expect to consider at a senior decision making level then to put this in the context or the specific context of the geographic and geological environment on the West Coast and at the Pike River Coalfield.  I hope this information may be useful in helping the Commission to understand issues that may be relevant in considering how and why the Pike River Mine explosions occurred with tragic consequences.  It is not my objective to provide specific answers to the many questions about the explosions themselves or subsequent consequences.  Based on these considerations, my submission is in two primary areas.   The first is, requirements for financially viable underground mining on the West Coast.  Unique factors influence the credibility and commercial viability in developing an underground mine in the difficult conditions of the West Coast.  These had specific implications for the planned Pike River Mine.  By comparison with Solid Energy’s requirements Pike River was from early planning stages over optimistic, had done insufficient coal seam and geological investigation work and had insufficient information to proceed with mine design and development at a level of risk consistent with what Solid Energy would consider good industry practice.  From 2000 onwards I and my Solid Energy colleagues increasingly held the view that the Pike River Mine would experience significant development and production issues, was unlikely to achieve most of its production and financial targets and that this would result in major financial issues.  We believe the commercial risk associated with the Pike River development was very high.  The second primary area of my submission is safety management for underground hydraulic coalmining on the West Coast.  Typical geological conditions on the West Coast combined with the specialist nature of the hydraulic mining method in such conditions bring very significant and unique challenges for safety management that are different and additional to those generally found in underground coalmining elsewhere.  
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A. In addition to normal good safety practises, these risks require specialist expertise in specific aspects of mine design and mine operation.  Without these risk levels are likely to be elevated well above those that would normally be considered acceptable in coalmining.  I also wish to comment briefly here on two other matters.  Firstly, Pike River is an open cast mine.  Recent public discussion has suggested that Pike River could or should have been an open cast mine from the outset but this may have been stopped by government policies preventing open cast mining in this area for environmental reasons.  These suggestions are unfounded.  International coal prices at the time of mine planning and initial mine development and forecast at the time in the industry were far too low for open cast mining in the Pike Coalfield to have even been contemplated as economic.  At that time, underground mining was the only option with a prospect of being commercially viable.  The second brief comment is on rescue activities following the Pike River Mine explosion.  Solid Energy was very significantly involved in providing assistance to rescue and mine management activities following the explosion at Pike River.  I was not directly involved in most of those activities which will be covered by several Solid Energy witnesses in later phases of the Commission’s enquiry.  My submission does not address this area.  Requirements for financially viable underground coalmining on the West Coast.  Coal resource definition, the JORC Code.  The Australasian and essentially the international standard for assessing coal resource information is the Australasian Code for reporting of exploration results, mineral resources and all reserves approved by the Joint or Reserves Committee of the AUSIMM and others, commonly known as the JORC Code this, “Sets out minimum standards, recommendations and guidelines for public reporting in Australasia of exploration results, mineral resources and all reserves.”  The JORC Code is now included in the listing rules of the Australian and New Zealand Stock Exchanges.  The JORC Code provides clear categorisation of resources with increasing levels of knowledge and confidence as shown in the diagram you see here.  Resource categories move from an inferred resource (the top left) through an indicated resource to a measured resource, which requires a high level of knowledge to give confidence in the resource size and quality estimate.  Further detailed consideration of other factors allows resources to be further classified as probably reserves and eventually as proved reserves.  Mine planning minimum requirements.  Solid Energy’s project assessment guidelines, which I’ll refer to as PAGs, specify a five step process for planning and approving new mine prospects similar to those used by most international mining companies.  They cover all aspects of mine planning and design from early resource identification through to initial mine development.  In 2002 we presented this process at the New Zealand Annual Conference of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy or AUSIMM in a paper entitled, “A New Approach to Planning at Solid Energy New Zealand” authored by Rob Yates, Steve Bell and myself.  Each phase in the project assessment guidelines, the PAG process, requires the specified work in 20 areas to meet minimum objectives including cost certainty.  The quantity and detail of required work and cost certainty required increases as the project advances.

1415
A. To produce a credible mine plan with acceptable commercial risk, the most important initial requirement is extremely good geological and coal resource information available at an early stage in planning.  JORC Code definitions are therefore key to defining the resource information requirements at each level.  “Level 1 Desktop Review”.  This includes using existing information to decide whether to reject the project or do further work.  “Level 2 Conceptual Study”.  Gather limited new data, decide if the project warrants further investigation.  Resource assessment requirement is an inferred resource with more than 10 years planned production.  The accuracy of cost estimates at this stage plus or minus 33 percent.  “Level 3 Secondary Assessment”.  Identify at least possible cost whether there are project stoppers.  Resource assessment is indicated resource, more than 10 years planned production.  Accuracy of cost estimates plus or minus 25 percent.  “Level 4 Prefeasibility Study.”  Conduct major exploration.  Identify and assess development options.  Select if possible a single alternative for detailed feasibility study.  Resource assessment requirement, measured resource five to 10 years further production indicated greater than a recorded 10 years.  Accuracy of cost estimates, plus or minus 15 percent.  “Level 5 Feasibility Study.”  Finalise Assessment of Environmental Effects or (AEE) and provide sufficient information to enable a go or no/go decision.  Resource assessment requirement, measured resource five to 10 years, indicated 10 to 15 years.  Accuracy of cost estimates, plus or minus 10 percent.  The minimum requirement to proceed with final design for a new mine development is therefore a completed feasibility study with cost estimates at accuracy better than plus or minus 10 percent.  This requires at least five to 10 years of future planned coal production to be quantified and independently audited at JORC measured status, and a further 10 to 15 years at indicated status.  The assessment of other factors as a part of the feasibility study allows the coal to be JORC classified as a proved resource.  The criteria to determine whether a resource is at measured status are therefore critical.  The JORC Code states:  “A measured mineral resource is that part of a mineral resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content can be estimated with a high level of confidence.  It is based on detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes.  The locations are spaced closely enough to confirm geological and grade continuity.  Mineralisation may be classified as a measured mineral resource when the nature, quality, amount and distribution of data are such as to leave no reasonable doubt, in the opinion of the competent person determining the mineral resource, that the tonnage and grade of the mineralisation can be estimated to within close limits, and that any variation from the estimate would be unlikely to significantly affect potential economic viability.  This category requires a high level of confidence in, and understanding of, the geology and controls of the mineral resort.  Confident in the estimate is sufficient to allow the application of technical and economic parameters and to enable an evaluation of economic viability that has a greater degree of certainty than an evaluation based on an indicated mineral resource.”  
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A. Because every coalfield is different there is no absolute rule for exactly what comprises detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes spaced closely enough to confirm geological and grade continuity.  This is a matter for experience and judgement.  West Coast geology and coals unique conditions requiring unique consideration.  Solid Energy has a very good understanding of West Coast coalfields from our long history as the largest coalminer in New Zealand and on the West Coast.  Other Solid Energy with staff with more specific geological and mining expertise than I have will be able to give more detailed technical evidence in later phases of the inquiry.  However, the factors controlling decisions about whether a mine can be operated successfully to meet both economic and safety requirements simultaneously is relevant to phase one of the Commission’s inquiry, but geology, geography and climate of the West Coast make all the processes around coalmining not just the mining extraction process itself, as hard or harder than most other locations in New Zealand and in the world.  Geographic factors include difficult and often remote access, very high rainfall with fog and low cloud common and land prone to instability.  Most coalfields are in locations with high inherent environmental and ecological value and relatively unaffected by other human activities.  Environmental requirements of all kinds are significant.  Potential for sulphur bearing rock to generate acidic run off and ecological damage is high in many locations.  All these factors significantly increase both the costs and the risks of coalmining.  Proximity to the Pacific/Australia tectonic plate boundary means the region is geologically active with significant folding and faulting.  Some surface conditions are extremely variable within short distances.  Coal seams are highly variable over short distances in thickness and in physical and chemical characteristics.  They are usually significantly inclined rather than near horizontal.  Coal seams are often not continuous even over moderate distances but instead are disrupted by faults that have vertical and horizontal displacements often far larger than seam thicknesses.  All these factors significantly increase both costs and risks of coalmining.  Most coalfields and deposits are relatively small by world standards so that the economies of scale achieved in large mines are not available.  This significantly increases costs of coalmining.  Most easily accessible, shallower, high quality coal on the West Coast has already been mined over the last century.  While significant coal remains it is largely in less accessible locations with greater environmental sensitivity, deeper and of lower and more variable quality than that mined in the past.  These factors significantly increase both costs and risks of coalmining.  For all these reasons coalmining on the West Coast increasingly requires innovative and often internationally unproven techniques that have to be developed, particularly for our unique conditions.  This applies to both open cast and underground mining and significantly increases both costs and risks of coalmining.  Hydraulic extraction:  A technique suited to underground mining on the West Coast.  The most attractive economic method for underground mining at any scale in most current West Coast coal deposits is hydraulic mining.  This technique was pioneered in Japan where it is no longer used since the working out of most of Japan’s coalfields.  Because of its specialised nature and suitability it is used at very few locations around the world, mainly in New Zealand.  Solid Energy uses hydraulic mining at Spring Creek Mine and previously used it at Strongman 2 Underground Mine near Greymouth and Terrace Underground Mine near Reefton, both of which are now closed.
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A. Hydraulic mining is most suited to very thick seams, eg 10 metres thick or more that dip or incline steeply.  These are typical West Coast conditions.  Conventionally mechanised mining methods have difficulty extracting coal in steeply dipping coal seams and are unable to extract the full seam thickness, leaving behind much valuable coal.  Other high volume and/or thick seam mining methods require coal seam consistency over significant distances and are therefore largely unsuitable in West Coast conditions.  Hydraulic mining involves two distinct and very different mining activities.  Development is the process of tunnelling out into the mine through rock and coal from the mine portal to provide access and to put mine infrastructure in place.  These tunnels have different terms and different parts of the mine and maybe variously referred to, for example, as drifts, mains, headings, sub‑headings, sub-levels et cetera.  However, in all cases their primary purpose is to provide the safest, most efficient and lowest cost access with supporting infrastructure to the coal that is the target of extraction.  Development is carried out using conventional mechanised mining methods to create accessways, typically four to six metres wide and two to four metres high in most places.  The furthest point in any section of the mine is accessed by driving accessways up the slope of the inclined coal seam from the lowest point in that section.  Infrastructure is then established out to the furthest point.  Although, some saleable coal is obtained from the development process, that is not the primary objective of development activities.  Coal extractions is carried out in that section using a high pressure, high volume water jet.  The water jet progressively blasts the coal from the coalface across the full width of the section which maybe 15 to 30 metres and up to the full height of the coal seam 10 to 20 metres.  Coal flows back with the water as a coal water slurry and flows downhill under gravity, down the floor of the sloping seam to a low point in the mine from where it is pumped or de‑watered and conveyed to the surface.  From some points in the mine it may be possible for the coal to flow downhill directly to the mine portal.  In a hydraulic underground mine the saleable coal obtained from development is typically only 10 to 25% of the total coal produced from the mine.  The rest, 75 to 90% is produced in the extraction process.  Coal is produced from a development place at a rate typically five to 10 tonnes per hour whereas coal is produced from an extraction place at a rate typically 100 to 300 tonnes per hour.  However, extraction can only be carried out in places where all development activities have been completed.  The entire production focus of a hydraulic mine is therefore on carrying out sufficient development at sufficient rates to keep hydraulic extraction operating as often and continuously as possible.  Ideally a mine of this type will operate the extraction process continuously.  In theory a hydraulic underground mine could produce considerably more than one million tonnes of coal annually.  In practice, in West Coast conditions, the constraints on development required to support this and the need to repeatedly move extraction equipment and infrastructure make it very difficult to achieve production rates above 600,000 tonnes per year even when a mine is operating well.  The physical characteristics associated with every part of the hydraulic extraction process are completely different to those associated with the conventional mining processes during development.
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A. Development simply creates a small tunnel through the ground.  The objective is to have the minimum tunnel size possible with minimum ground disturbance consistent with allowing good access and infrastructure installation.  Ground strengthening around development activities minimises the effect on surrounding ground.  Hydraulic extraction is the complete opposite.  By intent and design hydraulic extraction creates massive disruption to the subsurface conditions.  The objective is to remove as much of the coal seam as possible, vertically and horizontally.  In places this might be up to 80% of a coal seam up to 20 metres deep.  The hydraulic extraction process therefore creates extreme changes in ground conditions that are significantly different to those created by conventional mining.  These include loss of support for overlying ground, all the way to the surface hundreds of metres above usually resulting in surface subsidence that can be difficult to predict, especially in hilly or mountainous terrain.  They include major changes in ground stress distribution and loss of strength for significant distances away from the mined area causing increased instability and surrounding areas of the mine and requiring large barriers to be left around extraction places to maintain stability.  They include large releases of gas from the coal extracted and from the goaf which is the collapsed zone around an area that has been extracted.  These factors all create significant risks and require highly specialised technical  capability and experience to assess and manage safely.  Liability of coalmining on the West Coast, as a result of all the factors above coalmining on the West Coast is inherently greater risk, much more challenging technically, generally higher cost and overall by world standards much more difficult to carry out safety and economically.  If it were not for two further factors coalmining at a significant scale for the export market would not be commercially viable on the West Coast today.  First factor is the relatively attractive properties of some, but not all, West Coast coal.  This includes high carbon content, low ash which is the soil and rock in a coal seam and some specific chemical properties that combined make some West Coast coal particularly valuable and in demand for steel making able to command premium prices.  Against this, properties of some West Coast coals such as high sulphur content and high volatile matter content can be regarded as problematic by steel makers and detract from the saleability or attractiveness of these coals.  The second factor is the sustained and continuing global commodity boom over the last decade and particularly since 2005.  This has created a continuing tension between demand and supply that caused international coal prices to increase on average by a factor of five or more from 1999 to 2011.  I consider that all considerations regarding underground mining on the West Coast and the history and current status of the Pike River coalfield and mine should be viewed in light of all these factors I have just discussed in the sections above.  Solid Energy’s underground mining experience and conclusions for West Coast Mines.  Solid Energy and its predecessors State Coal and Coal Corp have been involved in underground mining in New Zealand and on the West Coast for about a century.  Underground coalmining remains one of Solid Energy’s core activities.
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A. During my term as CEO since May 2000 we have operated six underground mines.  Ohai Mine in Southland, Strongman 2 Mine north of Greymouth, and Terrace 1 and Terrace 2 mines in Reefton are now all closed.  Strongman 2 and Terrace 1 were both fully worked out to exhaust their reserves in accordance with the mine plans.  Ohai Mine and Terrace 2 Mine were both nearing the end of their expected lives but Solid Energy closed both mines early because we considered we could not mine remaining coal both safely and economically.  Two underground mines remain open today in full production.  Huntly East Mine in the Waikato and Spring Creek Mine near Greymouth.  Each of these is of comparable scale to the planned Pike River Mine and has been at this scale for a decade or more.  Spring Creek Mine is similar and directly comparable in many ways to the Pike River Mine.  Similar geographical terrain to the mine entrance and above the underground workings, although Spring Creek has much easier access to the mine entrance.  Similar geology near or intersected by major faults and with extensive minor faulting.  Generally similar coalfields with thick seams of good quality low ash coal.  Coals seams with thicknesses, grade or incline, structure, integrity and coal quality highly variable over relatively short distances.  Difficult conditions for conventional mining due to all these factors.  Hydraulic mining the best or only economically viable mining method.

WITNESS:

Your Honour, if I may just make a quick note that there are some differences as well.  The specific geology is unique in each case.  The depth to the seams, the coal types and the gas contents would be some of the differences but the similarities are probably greater, much greater than the differences.

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Just for the record Dr Elder, I note that that comment was made at the end of paragraph 38.6.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE

A. “The history of Spring Creek Mine therefore provides information of direct relevance to Pike River Mine.  Solid Energy investigated the potential for a Spring Creek mine in various joint ventures through the 1980s and 1990s.  One of these partners was Mitsui Mining of Japan, a pioneer of hydraulic mining technology.  Eventually other joint venture partners withdrew and left Solid Energy and Todd Energy in a 50/50 joint venture.  By the late 1990s no decision had been made and Crown Minerals gave the joint venture a “use it or close it, a “use it or lose it” choice for the licence.    This decision had to be made near the bottom of the 1998/99 Asian financial crisis.  At that time Solid Energy’s financial position was very weak.  International coal prices were at an extreme low and the New Zealand domestic market for the coal was minimal as its heat content was too high for the specifications of many industrial boilers.  However, Solid Energy’s Strongman 2 mine was within two years of the end of its economic life and the company had no contingency to maintain continuity of supply to the export customer base it had built up over the previous two decades for New Zealand’s premium quality semi-soft coking coal.  Todd Energy had recently closed its Moody Creek Mine nearby in the same coalfield and had no other source of coal for a significant New Zealand domestic supply contract.  As a result the two partners made the decision to open Spring Creek but neither was willing to commit to the major capital required to prove and develop the large underground mine that had always been planned.  Instead a less costly option was agreed in early ’99 to access the coal seam at a location where coal was thought to be of higher quality and closer to the surface, hence lower capital cost, although the accessible resource in this area and from this location was much smaller than for the large mine initially planned.
1440
A. The partners also agreed to use conventional continuous miner technology rather than to set the mine up for high volume, hydraulic mining, at least in early years.  the preliminary mine plan and budget were approved in July 1999, under time pressures and with too little geological and resource investigation completed and with only a short term view of the future mine plan.  These combined decisions compromised the mine for the next 12 years resulting in challenges for safe and economic mining that have had to be overcome with difficulty ever since and are still felt today.  From the beginning of coal production in early 2000 Spring Creek Mine struggled to meet its production plan and forecasts.  By the end of 2000 it was clear the mine could not and would not achieve its production plan.  With 24 million of capital already spent by the JV partners and export prices still extremely low the mine was losing close to $1 million per month in $2000.  Looking forwards the mine had, at most, about three years of measured coal remaining compared to the requirement in accordance with Solid Energy’s newly developed project assessment guidelines of five to 10 years.  Geological and production risk were both assessed as very high.  The mine required an additional 15 million of capital expenditure to access this coal and financial projection suggested the mine would incur at best a $9 million cumulative loss over this period.  The mine had no economic future in its current form.  In February 2001 the joint venture partners agreed to stop production and put the mine on care and maintenance while they assessed long term options.  Through 2001 no option accessible to both JV partners was found and the mine remained effectively closed.  In mid 2002 Solid Energy acquired Todd Energy’s 50% interest and became the 100% owner of the Spring Creek Mine.  This early history of Spring Creek Mine is particularly relevant to Pike River.  The interests and drivers for the two joint venture partners in Spring Creek Mine at the time were divergent.  For Solid Energy, Spring Creek was part of a larger portfolio of mines.  Our view of the prospects for all our mines was long term.  Rather than push forward with production at Spring Creek simply to obtain short term coal for markets and cash, we were willing to fund the costs of maintaining the mine on care and maintenance while we carried out further drilling investigation to improve our resource information and assess alternative mining options including hydraulic mining.  We also had the option when the nearby Strongman 2 mine closed late in 2002 of transferring some of an experienced workforce and other mining assets direct to Spring Creek at that time.  Solid Energy was able to fund this period for the mine from the operating cash flows generated by other mines in our portfolio.  The uncertainties associated with mining mean this situation for mining companies with significant mine portfolios is not uncommon and it is a defining difference between the risk profiles of different mining companies whether or not they have multiple cash flow streams to be able to manage financially through periods when some mines are either in early development or are not performing well.  Todd Energy, however, had no other coal mines or coal interests of significance.  Todd had short term customer contracts, it was not able to supply from the mine and had to purchase coal from other suppliers.  It had no existing long term contracts or significant customer relationships in the export or domestic market.  Its only sources of funding for care and maintenance and long term investigation and planning work were from the corporate parent.
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A. Mining companies in this position, where the subsidiaries of parent companies or stand alone entities generally have short lives once production fails to hit plan for a prolonged period.  They are generally closed and/or sold very quickly.  Once Solid Energy obtained full ownership we progressed plans to convert Spring Creek to a hydraulic mine and the mine reopened in late 2002.  However, it remained compromised by the original mine development options chosen and by insufficient geological information.  Unexpected geological and mining surprises continued to occur.  In mining where certainty of geological information is the key to good mine planning and operations the unexpected only ever has negative consequences.  So it was with Spring Creek.  For the next six years the mine struggled and repeatedly failed to meet its production and financial plans.  In 2005 I made the decision to present the detailed financial history of Spring Creek publicly.  In the interests of providing important information to the industry, the general mining community and potentially interested parties.  I presented this information in a key note talk at the annual New Zealand AUSIMM conference in November 2005.  Further on in my document are the eight slides, slides 13 to 20 from that presentation that tell the Spring Creek story.  They show cumulative net cash flows which is revenue generated from sales less total capital and operating expenses for the mine from the three years from restart in 2002 to late 2005.  The thin coloured lines are consecutive net cash forecasts prepared by the mine based on the current mine plan at each projection.  The thick black line on those graphs is the actual net cash flow achieved.  When the mine reopened in 2002 the cumulative net cash deficit at the mine was about $32 million.  This was projected to increase by $26 million to a deficit of about $58 million as the development phase of the mine continued with minimal coal sales and revenue.  Once hydraulic extraction began in 2003 the mine was expected to quickly become net cash generating and the cumulative net cash break even was projected to occur by mid 2007.  That’s shown on slide 13 for those who have it.  Almost two years later, shown on slide 14, extraction had not begun.  The cumulative net cash deficit had grown to $67 million and was now forecast to bottom out at $71 million with break even delayed two and a half years.  Shown on slide 15.  However, extraction start up encountered significant difficulties, slide 16, and full extraction was projected to be delayed by another year, slide 17, with the net cash deficit now projected to reach $87 million.  However, a combination of rising export coal prices and optimism for hydraulic extraction rates meant the mine now projected higher revenues and a more rapid climb out of the negative cash hole.  Without these more positive projections the mine’s future would have been reconsidered at that time.  However, the mine yet again missed the extraction start up date, shown on slide 18, which was finally achieved late in 2005, two years late.  The cumulative net cash deficit had reached $90 million which had required $58 million of new investment in the mine since 2002, well over twice the $26 million allowed for at mine reopening in 2002.  Based on greater realism about geological difficulties and mining challenges, the credible mine plan now only extended out two further years, shown in slide 19.
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A. Cash invested in underground mining is primarily used to develop access and install mine infrastructure.  Only a small amount is generally for surface facilities or mobile equipment, most becomes a sunk cost that’s useful only for continuing the mine operation and its unrecoverable for any other purpose.  For this reason it’s rare that an established underground mine with significant coal resource ahead and significant sunk investment does not appear cash positive looking forwards.  This is often used to justify continuing to mine and continuing to invest on an incremental basis as occurred repeatedly at Spring Creek.  However, unless the future cash expected to be generated from the mine with reasonable confidence, has value greater than the cash already invested, the difference has to be written off, my slide 20.  In 2005 this net cash shortfall between the forward cumulative net cash flow, based on the mine plan and the historical sunk cash position, was almost $70 million, or almost 40 million since the 2002 re-opening.  Back analysis that Solid Energy has carried of a number of historical and recent underground mines in New Zealand shows a similar pattern to that of Spring Creek.  Geology and mining conditions are always different and more variable than expected.  Investment needed is always significantly greater than planned.  Hindsight often shows that the best decision would have been to close the mine significantly earlier or never to have opened it.  This detailed analysis in 2005 to quantify in detail what we have known for some time, an inability to accurately plan and budget for underground mines and deliver against these plans represented a significant turning point for Solid Energy.  It confirmed the primary conclusion we had drawn several years earlier when we implemented our new mine planning process.  As discussed in section 1.2 to produce a credible mine plan with acceptable commercial risk the most important initial requirement is extremely good geological and coal resource information available at an early stage in planning.  Solid Energy’s mine planning process, consistent with most international mining companies, requires that for a feasibility study prior to and approving and proceeding with detailed mine design and development, the resource should have five to 10 years of production at JORC Code measured status.  In the very difficult geological conditions of West Coast coalfields, Solid Energy’s experience is that to define a coal resource to JORC measured status requires high quality drill holes at aerial density no less than 100 metre spacing on average and even at this spacing a mine plan will still have significant uncertainty and mining and financial risk.  I presented these experiences and conclusions at the AUSIMM conference in November 2005.  Pike River’s mine planning relative to Solid Energy experience.  As CEO of Solid Energy I have been closely aware of the prospective and eventual Pike River development since shortly after I joined the company in 2000.  My first meeting on Pike River was with the then CEO Gordon Ward who contacted me and visited our office in November 2000 to walk me through a presentation on the planned Pike River mine.  He left a copy of that presentation with me.  The presentation stated that Pike River had already completed “final feasibility study in May 2000 with a decision to proceed with mine development imminent.  All the information presented was stated to be the outcome of work completed to feasibility study standard.
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A. The presentation stated that exploration had included outcrop mapping with about 28 samples plus 20 bore holes over an area six to 
eight square kilometres.  Three more bore holes were proposed to complete the resource assessment prior to mine development.  The average spacing of the bore holes of the area explored was about 500 metres reducing to about 400 metres with outcrop sampling included.  The presentation stated coal “reserves” of greater than 50 million tonnes.  Detailed maps showed geological fault structures and isopach contours of important coal parameters including coal seam elevation, seam thickness, ash content and sulphur content.  Further maps showed a detailed mine plan for the entire resource and mining schedules.  The presentation gave a breakdown of planned capital expenditure to develop the mine to the point of first coal which was projected end of 2001, early 2002 and full extraction at one million tonnes per annum by 2004.  Including contingency the projected capital expenditure total was $53 million.  In concluded at that time that based on my own experience as a geotechnical engineer the geological and coal resource information Pike had did not support the level of detail they were presenting on these aspects.  Based on this I concluded also that the information available was insufficient to support the expected mine productivity or the detailed mine plans and schedules.  The Solid Energy underground mining team drew the same conclusions.  The level of geological and resource, coal resource information work presented is at feasibility study level would not have come close to satisfying Solid Energy’s requirements at feasibility study level.  No JORC code resource estimate was provided but the coal resource was stated to be at reserve status.  To meet commonly accepted standards for a feasibility study a resource needs to be at JORC measured status.  In my view, and that of the Solid Energy mining team with four to five hundred metre bore hole spacing and typical West Coast variability the resource was only at JORC indicated status.  To be at measured status the resource would have required detailed geological and coal information from bore holes at about 100 metre average spacing.   The actual aerial density at Pike River’s bore hole and outcrop sampling information was, on average, about one tenth to one twentieth of that.  In our view the work presented as the results of a feasibility study, or level 5 in our planning process, only satisfied our level 3 planning criteria, i.e. a secondary assessment or the level below a pre-feasibility study.  By comparison with Solid Energy’s requirements and expectations, Pike River had done insufficient coal seam and geological investigation work, had insufficient information to proceed with mine design and development at a level of risk consistent with what Solid Energy would consider good industry practice and was over optimistic about the mine development timeline and the mine’s production potential.  Although not stated specifically in the 2000 presentation, Pike claimed initially that their export coal would be a hard coking coal of similar premium quality to that produced from our Stockton Mine north of Westport.  Because a possibility existed for blending with other Solid Energy coals, our export marketing team reviewed Pike River’s Coal quality data carefully and discussed the coal specifications with our own and external technical specialists and with our customers.  
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A. We concluded that while small areas within their resource might be of higher quality on average Pike River coal was likely at best to qualify only as a semi-hard coking coal which sells internationally at prices discounted significantly below premium hard coking coal.  This was confirmed in late 2010 when at the request of Pike River after the explosions we agreed to market and sell about 20,000 tonnes of their stockpiled coal on a transparent pricing basis.  However we were unable to find any customers interested in purchasing it as a hard or even as a semi-hard coking coal, although the one-off nature of the shipment was a disadvantage in marketing that coal.  We eventually had to sell it at much lower semi-soft coking coal prices.  Based on these observations and conclusions from 2000 onwards we increasingly held the view that the Pike River mine would experience significant development and production issues, was unlikely to achieve most of its production and financial targets, and that this would result in major financial issues.  Without the benefit of a portfolio of other cash generating mines to support the uncertain and large cashflows through the development phase we believed the commercial risk associated with the Pike River development was very high.  The primary reasons Pike River shared their information with us in 2000, and on a number of occasions after that, were that they considered the mine to be a major new exporter from New Zealand of premium coking coal.  On that basis it should facilitate a range of opportunities that others would want to work with them on, including additional transport capacity for export, joint marketing and blending of premium coals, and development of other West Coast coalfields.  For example, transport options promoted by Pike River to Solid Energy and others included increasing Midland Rail Line and Lyttelton Port capacity, barge transhipment options through Shakespeare Bay, and several West Coast port developments and expansions.  Our view formed in 2002 was that Pike River was a very risky commercial development that had a high chance of eventual failure and that Pike River would therefore be a high risk business partner.  This view remained and increased through meetings and briefings with Pike River’s management, discussions with our own staff and from our observations of public information released by Pike River from time to time.  We therefore avoided any early commitments to working with them on transport or other proposed
co-operative ventures.  This did not concern Pike, who stated that they didn’t need Solid Energy support for any of their activities.  However, as Pike advanced their mine development they needed a credible coal transport solution from mine to export ship.  While they explored other options they eventually approached us to discuss utilising the rail and port capacity that had essentially been established and funded by Solid Energy across the Midland Rail Line to the Port of Lyttelton.  Since we believed it was unlikely that Pike River would deliver their projected volumes then the additional capital investment we and rail and port companies would make to support these higher transport volumes would expose us to significant financial risk.  Solid Energy therefore made a specific risk-based commercial decision.  We decided we would enter a long-term contract to provide coal transport services to Pike River if and only if this agreement was on a take or pay basis.  In other words, if we were paid a minimum amount regardless of whether Pike River produced their projected coal volumes for transport.  In 2007 we entered a Coal Transport Agreement with Pike River with very strong take or pay provisions and with the ability for us to exit the agreement in event of Pike River default.  This agreement met our own risk management criteria.  In May 2011 we gave notice to terminate this agreement as a result of Pike River’s ongoing force majeure event under our contract.
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A. Solid Energy interest in the Pike River coal resource.  In November 2000 Pike River Coal Limited was owned 75% by New Zealand Oil and Gas and 25% by private Australian and New Zealand investors.  Pike had held a coalmining permit over the Pike River coalfield for a number of years.  Whilst Solid Energy was well aware of the resource it regarded the resource as one that would be difficult and costly to explore, develop and mine economically.  Although of some interest it did not rank high on Solid Energy’s priority list for future coalmining options compared to other resources Solid Energy had on the West Coast.  This remained our position throughout the period of Pike River’s mine planning and development work.  We believe our original assumptions have been justified by the production and financial difficulties Pike encountered prior to November 2010.  As I stated earlier in my submission both in regard to West Coast coalmining for export generally and with respect to Spring Creek Mine in particular, West Coast coalmining is difficult and costly.  Only the strong increases in export coal prices in recent years have kept most West Coast export coal mines and future prospects potentially viable.  The Pike River coal resource is in that category.  Even at very high current international coal prices we believe the economics of mining the Pike River coalfield are marginal.  One of the few opportunities to improve the economic viability is to seek synergies with other related operations including other nearby mines and blending with other West Coast coals.  Safety management in Solid Energy.  Although this is one of the two primary areas of my submission my comments are brief.  I have never had sufficient information nor been in a position to form a specific view on the status of either the specific safety risks or the safety management practices at Pike River Mine, nor would I have attempted to form such a view without access to the full range of information that I would expect if I were to seek a similar view on safety in a specific operation within Solid Energy.  My comments describe how Solid Energy’s general approach to safety management is a part of our overall approach to risk management.  This leads to brief conclusions that follow from my observations in section 1 on issues for underground mining on the West Coast, particularly using the hydraulic mining method.  Risk management.  Safety is not an absolute.  A statement that underground coalmining is dangerous is meaningless.  Managing safety is about managing risk.  The overall approach to safety should be comprehensive and follow the same principles as managing other risks.  Solid Energy aims to operate all our activities, including safety management, in accordance with our integrated risk management system which includes an overarching board and CEO approved risk management policy and standard system elements for risk management.  Other specific areas of risk management such as health and safety or environment are expected to be consistent with the integrated risk management system.  Risk results from a combination of a level of hazard with potential consequences and exposure to that hazard with a probability or a likelihood of occurring.  The simplest way to estimate risk non-quantitatively but consistently is by using a risk matrix which defines the level of risk created by different combinations of consequence and likelihood.  An example of a simplified risk matrix for estimating safety risks is shown on the screen.  Very briefly, on the left side you see five categories of likelihood and across the top five categories of consequence ranging from negligible consequence which might be a minor first aid injury through to catastrophic consequence which is multiple fatalities.  
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A. The combination of likelihood and consequence gives you the risk level.  So if I may simply give an example to make that clear, the combination of a major consequence, which could result in a fatality, the second right column, with a possible likelihood gives you a high risk.  That becomes a consistent way to estimate risk.  Could I again just note, this is only a very small part and this is at paragraph 89, this is only a very small part of an overall approach to risk management, but it is a very important concept in safety management.  We and others use many detailed and specific tools to assess risk in much more detail, but ultimately it does come back to this concept.  Once a level of risk is estimated, a decision is made on whether and how to reduce it.  A further decision is then required on whether the residual level of risk is acceptable.  Safety management.  Solid Energy’s approach to safety is described in our highest level standalone safety document.  Our board approved health and safety document.  Our board approved health and safety governance charter which is included in appendix 1 of my evidence.  This defines how we set our expectations for health and safety and develop our health and safety strategy and it identifies how health and safety is expected to be managed at every level in the company from board to front line operations.  May I note at paragraph 1 that I personally wrote the safety governance charter for Solid Energy prior to discussion and approval by the board.  Continuing at 91.  The health and safety governance charter is part of our corporate governance process.  It contains a description of how all our governance and management processes relate, our approach to setting expectations for health and safety performance; how a board and management responsibilities for health and safety relate; our approach to developing and implementing a health and safety strategy.  Factors contributing to risk and opportunities for risk reduction can be separated into five categories.  The first is organisation.  Then people.  Third, work environment.  Fourth, work processes.  Five, equipment.  For a specific risk of incident that has occurred, risk factors are often found in several or all these categories, but the root cause is, in my experience, more often than not organisation related.  Quick wins in risk management can often be achieved in each category, but lasting reductions in major or systemic risks usually require comprehensive organisational development and change.  Solid Energy’s approach to safety generally is therefore founded on organisational development.  Our strategic framework for this is the concept of organisational maturity.  There are many different ways to characterise organisational maturity.  Solid Energy’s approach is based on that developed by the University of Queensland Minerals Industry Safety and Health Centre and used widely by the Australian mining industry.  Organisations at the lowest level on the maturity curve, at a regressive maturity level, largely have what’s called a, “no care,” safety culture.  Most people simply accept that incidents happen.  Organisations at the next level a, “reactive,” maturity level, largely have a blame safety culture.  Many people take reactive steps to prevent similar incidents occurring.
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A. At the third level, organisations at a planned maturity level have a compliance safety culture.  People try to prevent incidents before they occur.  Level 4 organisations at a proactive maturity level have an ownership safety culture.  The organisation and people work together to prevent situations that could result in incidents and, finally, at the top organisations at a resilient maturity level have a way of life safety culture.  The organisation and people work together to prevent situations that could even result in incidents,” sorry that’s the second last level, I’ll read that again, paragraph 100, “Organisations at a resilient maturity level have a way of life safety culture, the organisation and people automatically work in a way where potential for incidents hardly ever arises.  Organisational factors are the root cause of unacceptable safety risks and incidents.  A common driver of organisational problems is the pressure felt by groups or individuals in the organisation to achieve specific results when they do not feel they have control over all the factors that influence the result.  In an operational environment two fundamental areas of specific result expectations are production and financial performance.  Safety management in underground mining on the West Coast, as discussed in section 1, typical geological conditions on the West Coast combined with the specialist nature of the hydraulic mining method in such conditions bring very significant and unique challenges for safety management that are different and additional to those generally found in underground coalmining elsewhere.  In addition to normal good safety practices, these risks require specialist expertise in specific aspects of mine design and mine operation.  Without these risk levels are likely to be elevated well above those that normally would be considered acceptable in coalmining.  Relevance of these factors to Pike River Mine, three factors at Pike River had significant potential to be at the root cause of generating a wide range of safety risks that would have been largely unique to the Pike River Mine at the time of the explosions.  Unless these were fully and systematically addressed, safety risk levels would have been likely to be elevated well above those levels that would normally occur or be considered acceptable in coalmining.  The first factor, difficult geological conditions in a mine developed with insufficient geological information by normal mining planning standards and particularly for West Coast conditions.  These would have been likely to create frequent surprises and needs for changes to standard practices which is a common cause of elevated safety risk.  The second factor, hydraulic mining, a method that is not common and introduces an additional set of risks requiring highly specialist expertise, capability and experience to plan then manage.  Third factor, prolonged production and financial under-performance.   The organisational pressures associated with these on groups and individuals would have had the potential to create many safety risks.”

MR STEVENS:
Your Honour and Commissioners with your leave Dr Elder has then appended the Health and Safety Governance Chart I referred to at paragraph 91 of his evidence.  Rather than him read the six pages I would ask that he simply highlight the matters in that that he thinks might be of assistance to the Commission.
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examination continues:  mr STEVENS

Q. Doctor Elder, could you just take us through, rather than reading the matters of particular note please in terms of the health and safety governance charter?

A. The purpose of the governance charter is Solid Energy’s highest level stand alone health and safety document.  It defines how we set our expectations for health and safety and develop our health and safety strategy and it identifies clearly how health and safety is managed at every level in the company from the board to frontline operations.   It is approved by the board.  A key element is our health and safety policy statement which defines our overall health and safety goal, which is healthy people with no harm to anyone ever and it defines how we achieve this through all our activities and behaviour.  Our health and safety policy statement is shown on the screen.  Expectations for specific performance against our health and safety policy statement are set and reviewed regularly by the board.  

Q. I'll just pause you there Dr Elder.  The statement shown on the screen, you confirm for the record, that that’s the one at paragraph 34 of your evidence?

A. It is.

Q. Thank you.

A. On the roles responsibilities and accountabilities for health and safety it’s fundamentally important to us to note that health and safety is the responsibility of everyone in, or working with, Solid Energy everywhere, on or off site at all times.  Every person at every Solid Energy site has the responsibility and the authority to act to avoid accidents and to prevent unsafe actions or practices by themselves or others and I would like to emphasise every person has that authority.  In specific responsibilities my role as chief executive, I am responsible and accountable for implementing the strategy to achieve our overall health and safety goal, to meet the expectations in our health and safety policy statement and to meet expectations for specific performance that are set by the board.  Health and safety behaviours and performance are primary responsibilities and accountabilities for every line manager, supported by specialist health and safety staff and advisors, internal and external.  Health and safety performance objectives are set and assessed through our personal and performance development system and executives and managers remuneration is directly linked to health and safety behaviour and performance.  The next table, if we could bring it up on screen, are simply summaries and I won’t go through this.  The health and safety governance, roles, responsibilities and accountabilities as we have agreed them in Solid Energy, I think you will see the point is that they are very specific, very detailed and very clear in terms of primary, secondary and support responsibility and accountability.  In developing health and safety strategy our approach is based on continuous improvement referring to the maturity curve concept I discussed in health and safety risk management to achieve an increasing maturity in health and safety behaviour, management and performance.  We assess ourselves and define our maturity against a continuum ranging from traditional organisational driven health and safety management, the best practice team work driven health and safety management.  Developing our health and safety strategy considers four sets of strategic drivers and knowledge of our own business and requirements, our current position in that health and safety maturity continuum, industry best relevant practice and of course legislative compliance requirements.  Our health and safety management approach includes health and safety management processes, health and safety programmes for people and health and safety requirements for plant and equipment.
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A. So that’s processes, people and plant and equipment.  We develop our operating plans, our targets, our initiatives and our action plans based on all those and all of that is integrated into our integrated business management framework for our entire business.

MR STEVENS ADDRESSES CommissionERS 
the COMMISSION addresses MR STEVENS – LEAVE GRANTED

court adjourns:
3.26 PM

court resumes:
3.43 PM

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Dr Elder, who wrote your evidence?

A. I wrote my evidence in full.

Q. And were you asked to give the evidence or did you do it voluntarily?

A. I did it voluntarily.

Q. Is it fair to assume it took a significant amount of time?

A. Yes there were, there were three reasons that I decided I needed to, to do this and they’re all out of respect for the community we obviously work in here and for the families who I know who have been through tragic times and for my colleagues in the industry, including my colleagues at Pike River.  Felt that the, the three objectives were that it was essential that the Commission have the best opportunity to find the right answers as to why this tragic event occurred.  
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A. The second is that the Commission be able to draw the right and the most appropriate conclusions.  And the third is that the Commission’s able to provide the best and most appropriate recommendations going forwards.  It was also partly driven by significant speculation, that I was aware of in the media and elsewhere, that perhaps this tragedy was simply the result of a number of rare and isolated circumstances, all of which simply happened to occur at the same time and the same place with tragic consequences.  In effect, a very unlikely set of coincidences that were tragic but unforeseeable. 

Q. And what was your view on that?

A. Well yes that is theoretically possible of course but I don’t believe it’s an acceptable explanation for what happened in any way.  Underground mining is, has many challenges and modern mining is very complex.  But incidents like this with catastrophic consequences shouldn’t be able to occur in modern mining.  The health and safety, The Health and Employment Act, for example, requires any organisation, um, whether it’s a miner or otherwise to take all practicable steps in many many areas to provide a safe workplace.  I don’t, while it’s theoretically possible I realised I didn’t believe it was remotely likely that this event could have occurred with the tragic deaths that occurred if all practicable steps had been taken so I took it upon myself to say that I wanted to provide the best information I could to assist the Commission with its findings.

Q. Can I move now to other members of Solid Energy providing evidence, and you cover that at page 5, at for instance 12.2.  You’re aware of members of your staff who are also to give evidence in capacities other than as employees of Solid Energy?

A. Yes I am.

Q. Can you give some examples of that?

A. Yes, there are at least three circumstances that I’m aware of.  There may well be others.  One is to, I believe, assist the police, or relevant to the police.  One is relevant to mines rescue.  And the third is a Solid Energy employee who was formally a Chief of Mines Inspector.  We’ve taken a specific approach in Solid Energy to this.  We -

Q. What is that?

A. – recognise that it’s in the interests of the Commission for these people to be able to provide information and not withstanding that it may well be difficult for them or even for Solid Energy.  We respected that they should be able to do that freely and without restrictions, so without a view of either supporting or discouraging it we supported them, allowed them to do that.  But I should add that we did provide assistance to them in the form of external legal counsels assistance but we did not in any way review support or for that matter even plan their evidence so what they have submitted is completely their own.

Q. Staying on page 5 of you evidence, at paragraph 14, you refer to the JORC Code providing clear categorisation of resources with increasing levels of knowledge and confidence.  Who makes those judgments according to the JORC Code Dr Elder?

A. Yes.  The JORC Code requires that judgments are made by what is referred to as a competent person, which I think I have referred to in my evidence. That includes a geologist who has at least five years experience in that style of resource and is a member of a professional auditing body.  And I believe in the case of a reserve which has more than just geological information the same requirement plus a competent engineering qualification.

Q. We now move to page 26 of your evidence.  At paragraph 77 you referred to, for instance the 2000 presentation to you by Pike River Mine and talked about various meetings and briefings with Pike River management subsequently.  Have you any ability to comment on where Pike considered it was in terms of its development in 2010?
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A. Yes.

Q. What was that?

A. Clearly most of the evidence that I've given relates in a factual way to the information that I was given in November 2000, so from that point on my dealings with Pike River other than on contracts such as the 
Coal Transport Agreement were probably more informal but it was probably the important matter is that there was a continuing industry view which was my view as well which I think I have shared the, that things have not significantly changed in terms of the quality of the information that was available, but in I think it was early 2010, it may have been late 2009 a fairly significant event occurred which was quite a major surprise to me and to our management team.  The former Pike River CEO proposed, approached Solid Energy and proposed that we work together on new mine developments and I recall, because it was quite surprising, almost verbatim the words that were used to me at the time.  It was something like this, “We’re essentially now through the development phase and from here on it’s pretty straight forward and easy.  We’re looking for new opportunities to use the expertise we now have.”  I discussed that with my management team and they unanimously shared my view that that statement was unfortunately pretty naïve and didn’t have any credibility and we never even considered taking up that proposal.

Q. One final matter, you've talked about Solid Energy’s health and safety management, is it a fair summary that management of a mine in terms of safety is that it should always identify hazards and then act upon those hazards that are identified?

A. Sorry, can you repeat the comment there?

Q. The way that you presented Solid Energy’s safety management is it fairly summarised that it would include identifying hazards and then acting upon those hazards which are identified?

A. Yes, identifying hazards and incidents.

Q. And incidents.  And then secondly acting upon those hazards and incidents?

A. Yes.

Q. You've spoken of some characteristics being similar between 
Spring Creek and Pike River and they are physically reasonably close.  Could you give one or two examples of how hazards and incidents have been identified at Spring Creek and have then been acted upon to demonstrate that policy?

A. Yes our, our policy and systems require, as I think I said earlier, all hazards and incidents to be reported, recorded and over a specific threshold investigated and actions followed up and implemented and we track those and I’ll be the first to say that we’re  by no means perfect but it’s a very important part of our system.  Over the last four weeks for example at Spring Creek we’ve recorded seven hazards which have had a potential consequence of moderate through to major and three incidents with a risk, recalling that risk is a combination of consequence and likelihood, three incidents with a risk that range from high to very high.   All of those get instantly logged and automatically emailed straight through to me and many others so I see those as soon as they enter our system and I have those on my, my database at any time.  None of those seven hazards or three incidents had any actual consequences for safety which means that the controls that are in place to prevent a hazard  becoming an incident or prevent an incident having consequences that could move from negligible through to major, all of those controls worked and worked effectively.
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cross-examination:  ms shortall

Q. Sir, you've told the Commission that certain factors at Pike had significant potential to be at the root cause of generating a wide range of safety risks that would have been, in your words sir, “largely unique to the Pike River Mine at the time of the 19 November 2010 explosion,” right?

A. Yes.

Q. And hydraulic mining was one of those factors you identified, right?

A. Yes.

Q. But Spring Creek uses hydro-mining, doesn’t it?

A. It does, yes.

Q. And so does Burkes Creek?

A. I'm not familiar with the mining technique at Burkes Creek.

Q. What about Roa sir?

A. I'm not familiar with the mining technique at Roa.
Q. Sir, are you aware that all the currently operating underground mines on the West Coast use hydro-mining?

A. If you're telling me that I am now, but I wasn’t until now.

Q. And you've already noted sir that Solid Energy previously used hydro‑mining at its Strongman 2 Mine, didn’t it?

A. It did, yes.

Q. And at its Terrace Mine, right?

A. At Terrace 2 Mine.

Q. So even if hydro-mining carries safety risks those risks were not unique to Pike River, were they?

A. It’s the combination of circumstances at Pike River, hydraulic mining on its own isn't the unique characteristic.

Q. Now the so called production and financial underperformance, again to use your words, was another of your factors, wasn’t it?

A. Yes.

Q. And you've told the Commission that, in your words sir, organisational pressures associated with any such production and financial issues on groups and individuals would have had the potential to create many safety risks at the Pike River Mine, right?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. But you didn’t identify any Pike River groups or individuals facing these so called organisational pressures in your earlier testimony, did you?

A. I said they had the potential to.

Q. Do you recognise the name Peter Whittall sir?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And you understand that Mr Whittall became employed by Pike River in 2005, right?

A. I don't know the date but I accept that.

Q. You have any reason to believe that isn't the case sir?

A. No I don’t.

Q. And Mr Whittall became Pike River’s CEO in October 2010, right?

A. I believe so.

Q. And prior to being promoted Mr Whittall held the position of General Manager Mines at Pike River, right?

A. I accept that.

Q. You've never met with Mr Whittall to discuss whether any so called production or financial issues at Pike River elevated safety risks at the mine, have you?

A. No I have not.

Q. You've never called Mr Whittall to ask him if this was the case?

A. No I have not.

Q. You've never sent him an email asking this question?

A. No I have not.

Q. You've never texted him sir about this matter?

A. No I have not.

Q. You've simply never even spoken with Mr Whittall about this matter, have you?

A. Not about safety at his mine, no.

Q. And Mr Whittall has 30 years experience in the coalmining industry including developing, operating and managing underground coal mines, right?

A. Which is why I saw no need to contact Peter Whittall because we have issues at our mines that we expect our mine managers to look after and balance production and financial issues while always maintaining safety and it was always my presumption that the same would be happening at Pike River.

Q. So you've testified about the potential effect on Pike River employees of so called organisational pressures and your view of elevated safety risks without even bothering to follow up with Mr Whittall, right?

A. As you said, Mr Whittall has 30 years experience in the industry, that would be a widely held view in the industry that under those sorts of pressures you would have to manage safety very carefully, you would have potential risks and I would assume that Mr Whittall would be as aware of that as anyone else in the industry.

Q. Do you recognise the name Doug White sir?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And you understand that Mr White was the operations manager at Pike River from January 2010 until recently, right?

A. I understand that to be the case, yes.

Q. And you've never met with Mr White to discuss whether any so called production or financial issues at Pike River elevated safety risk levels, have you?

A. Again I assumed that Mr White was in that position, that he would be aware of the commonly held industry view that a mine under pressure needs to pay extra attention to safety.

Q. So that was an assumption you made sir, right?

A. That would be a widely held and made assumption throughout the industry.

Q. You never called Mr White to discuss this?

A. I have no reason to do so.

Q. You never sent him an email asking this question sir?

A. I have no reason to do so.

Q. You never sent him a text message?

A. No reason to do so.
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Q. But you had a reason sir to come in here today and give testimony about so called pressures that Pike River employees were facing.  Is that right sir?

A. The point I made today was that there were many organisational pressures on Pike River Mine, financial and production wise.  Those issues need to be managed, whether or not they were managed is the responsibility of an organisation in the management within that mine.

Q. Now Mr White has over 30 years experience in the coalmining industry including managing underground coal mines and over two years as the deputy chief inspector of mines in Queensland, right?

A. I don't know, but I’ll accept that.

Q. Any reason to believe that isn’t the case sir?

A. No.

Q. So you’ve also testified about the potential effect on Pike River employees of so-called organisational pressures and your view of elevated safety risks without even bothering to check with Mr White.  Right sir?

A. I was providing standard industry information that I would expect Mr White to know and understand.  I wouldn't feel the need for me to explain that to him, especially not given his background.

Q. You don’t know sir, for a fact, do you that any so-called production or financial issues at Pike River created safety risks, do you?

A. No that’s why I said they were potential.

Q. In fact you testified earlier that you’ve never had sufficient information or been in a position to form a view on the status of either specific safety risks or safety management practices at Pike River.  Right?

A. That's correct, that’s why I said they were potential risks.

Q. Your office isn’t located near the Pike River Mine is it?

A. No it’s not.

Q. You don’t live near the Pike River Mine do you sir?

A. No I do not.

Q. Your office isn’t even located on the West Coast is it?

A. No it’s not.

Q. And you don’t live on the West Coast do you sir?

A. No I do not.

Q. Your testimony about how any so-called production or financial issues, may have created or elevated safety risks at Pike River is just speculation, isn’t it?

A. No it’s not; it’s providing standard industry information that I would expect anybody familiar with the industry to be well aware of.

Q. And you’ve told the Commission today sir about safety management in Solid Energy, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And based on Solid Energy’s safety management approach, you’ve offered conclusions about safety risks at Pike River, right?

A. I have offered conclusions about potential safety risks at Pike River.

Q. But Solid Energy has elsewhere described its safety performance as unacceptable, hasn’t it?

A. Yes.

Q. And sir in other occasions Solid Energy’s safety performance has been identified as subject to concern by parliamentary select committees hasn’t it?

A. You’ll have to update me on that.

Q. Well let me see if I can show you a document to refresh your recollection sir.  I’ll hand up some copies and I’ll hand some around to other counsel as well.

WITNESS REFERRED TO DOCUMENT – REVIEW OF Solid Energy 
Q. Do you have the document sir?

A. I do.

Q. Do you recognise this document – sir have you – do you see the document that I’ve handed to you?

A. Yes I have it, thank you.

Q. And do you recognise this document sir as a review of Solid Energy by the Commerce Select Committee for the 2009, 2008/2009 -

A. Yes I do.

Q. – year sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And sir, previously you testified that Solid Energy has described its health and safety performance as unacceptable, right?

A. That was a statement that I – according to this and I believe we probably made in our annual report or to the Select Committee that year.  That was our statement.

Q. Sir – I think the wrong document may have been passed up to you, but let me just ask whether in response to your question about – my question to you about the criticism by the Commerce Commission as to Solid’s own financial – sorry, own safety performance, you didn't recall that.  Is that right?

A. I don’t believe they made that comment to you, I believe they’ve referred to our own comment.
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Q. So let me show you the document that I actually intended to pass up to you.

WITNESS REFERRED TO DOCUMENT – REVIEW OF SOLID ENERGY BY THE COMMERCE COMMISSION 2009

Q. Sir, do you recognise this document as a review of Solid Energy by the Commerce Select Committee for the 2009/2010 financial year?

A. Yes I do, it’s the document for the year following the first document you gave me.

Q. Yes sir, and if I could take you to page 4 of the document.  There’s a heading, “Health and Safety,” isn’t there?

A. Yes.

Q. And sir, can I just ask you to read aloud the first sentence under that heading?

A. Yes and I would like to note Your Honour that it needs to be read in the context of the previous document as well.  We have previously expressed concern about the health and safety performance of Solid Energy.  I do know that’s actually incorrect compared to the document from the previous year.  They did not express concern the previous year.

Q. No, in fact the previous sir it was Solid Energy itself that described that safety management is unacceptable, right?

A. Yes, so the statement that we have previously expressed concern about the health and safety performance of Solid Energy is actually an incorrect statement.

Q. Your testimony today sir is that the Commerce Committee has inaccurately made a statement in its report about Solid Energy’s safety performance.  Is that right?

A. That's correct, it’s the first time I’ve noticed it because I’ve never tried to reconcile the two documents but in fact what they probably should have said is Solid Energy has previously expressed concern about its health and safety performance.

Q. You’ve never read this report of the Commerce Committee before sir?

A. I read them most years but I don’t attempt to correlate year by year comments in that way, no.

Q. So it’s your testimony, just so I’m clear sir, that the Commerce Committee got it wrong in this report.  Is that right?

A. So it appears according to the information that you’ve presented here.

Q. In fact sir, during the period that you’ve been CEO Solid Energy’s safety management approach has involved being prosecuted three times by the Department of Labour for breaches of health and safety legislation hasn’t it?

A. I can recall two, you may have to help me with the third.

Q. Which of the two you recall sir?

A. I recall one in Southland and one on the West Coast, and in both of those cases I’d also note that Solid Energy didn’t contest the charges.

Q. In fact Solid Energy pleaded guilty to those charges didn’t it sir?

A. We did indeed.

Q. And with respect to the third prosecution sir, do you recall whether Solid Energy also pleaded guilty to that charge?

A. I’m sorry –

objection:  mr stevens (16:08:33)

cross-examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. Sir, do you have any reason to believe that during your tenor as CEO Solid Energy your company has not been prosecuted three times for health and safety violations?

A. As I’m thinking through I believe I can recall the third incident.

Q. And now that you can recall it sir do you have any reason to believe that Solid Energy didn’t plead guilty to that health and - in the course of that health and safety prosecution?

A. My recollection, which I think is correct, is that we pleaded guilty on all three counts.

Q. Now sir just let me change the subject for a moment.  You’ve testified today about the JORC Code haven’t you?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And the JORC Code sets minimum standards for public reporting in New Zealand and Australia of exploration results, mineral resources and/or reserves doesn’t it?

A. Yes it does.

Q. It’s a reporting code used for the public disclosure of information relating to minerals like coal isn’t it?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And JORC is a principles-based not prescriptive code, right?

A. Largely principles-based but there is a great deal of guidance within it that comes close to being prescriptive.
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Q. Well, sir, there are three principles in the JORC Code involving transparency, materiality and competence, right?

A. I believe that’s correct, yes.

Q. So, and I believe you mentioned this in your earlier testimony, sir, consistent with its principles, the JORC Code requires public reports due based on work undertaken by a competent person, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And not just anyone can qualify as a competent person under the JORC Code for purposes of reporting coal resources and reserves, can they?

A. No.

Q. You're not qualified as a competent person under the JORC Code, are you?

A. Well in fact as a geotechnical engineer with a PhD in, in geotechnical engineering I would be qualified as competent for part of it, but no I would not now consider myself as an appropriate person to carry out that work.  I certainly consider myself more than competent to judge what competencies are required from others.

Q. But, sir, just to answer my question, you're not qualified as a competent person under the JORC Code today, are you?

A. Specifically today, no, and I haven't claimed to be.

Q. In fact the code describes the qualifications and type of expertise required to be a competent, right?

A. Yes, it does.  That’s the part of the purpose of it.

Q. And nowhere does the code regulate the procedures used by competent persons to estimate and classify minerals like coal, does it?

A. I think it was you that said that it’s principles based, it’s very easily able to be inferred from the code what it applies to.

Q. Well, sir, is there specific language in the code that regulates what specific procedures a competent person must use to estimate and classify minerals like coal?

A. I think anybody who is well qualified and experienced in the industry would understand exactly what the competency requirement is without having to have it spelled out specifically within the code.

Q. But just to answer my question, sir, nowhere does the code regulate the procedures used by competent persons to estimate and classify coal, does it?

A. Your Honour I think the point here is that the code doesn't actually regulate in the first place so I'm not sure I'm able to answer the question.

Q. Let me ask it differently, sir.  Is there anywhere in the JORC Code that it specifically states what procedures must be used by a competent person to estimate and classify minerals like coal?

A. I don't believe it states anything that must be done, however it certainly provides absolute clarity on what should be done.

Q. So while you've testified earlier about Solid Energy’s internal guidelines, the JORC Code, sir, provides for a competent person to base his or her opinion as to coal classification and estimates on information that he or she considers appropriate, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. And that means the competent person determines, for example, what geological sampling and testing he or she needs to form an opinion, right?

A. Yes, and if that competent forms a view that’s out of line with the industry then that would immediately question their competence.

Q. Well, sir, if a competent person under the JORC Code, let me restate that.  A competent person under the JORC Code could be subject to liability, right, if he or she fails to take appropriate care and diligence when being used for purposes of public reporting coal reserves and resources, right?

A. Well given that the ASX and NZX both used the JORC Code then certainly that, that could be the case, yes.

Q. Now an outcrop, just so I'm clear sir, is a visible exposure of bedrock or a superficial deposit on the surface of the earth, right?

A. That’s a pretty good description, yep.

Q. And outcrops allow observation and sampling of bedrock for geologic analysis, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And while the JORC Code refers to gathering information, including from outcrops, the code does not prescribe how such information should be gathered, does it?

A. I don't recall the specifics but I don't think so, no.

Q. And likewise while the JORC Code refers to gathering information from drill or bore holes, it nowhere prescribes any minimum spacing for such holes, does it?

A. I, I think that question is the wrong question.  The purpose of the JORC Code and the principles within the JORC Code establish very clearly what would be required to provide the appropriate information.  It doesn't specify the spacing, but a competent person would be able to work out from their experience and background exactly what spacing should be required.

Q. So under the JORC Code, the decisions as to the spacing or drill or bore holes and the collection of samples from outcrops are to be made by a competent person, right?

A. That's correct.
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Q. Sir, you would agree with me sir that the JORC Code regulates who can be a competent person rather than prescribing what the competent person must do, right?

A. No, I would not agree with that.

Q. Well sir, just to – I want to be clear on one point.  The JORC Code nowhere prescribes the actual procedures that a competent person must follow when estimating classifying coal reserves or resources, does it?

A. With respect I think you're splitting hairs between prescribing a person and regulating a process.  I think the JORC Code is absolutely clear on who a competent person should be and what the guide, very clear guidelines are for how they are required to do their work, whether the bore hole spacing is A or B is a different question completely but that is a very clear outcome of a competent person doing work in accordance with the principles of the JORC Code and there should be no confusion about that in my view.

Q. Now, you testified about your view as to the sufficiency of Pike River’s coal seam and geological investigation work and the information the company had to proceed with mine design and development.  Do you recall that testimony sir?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And to use your words, insufficient geological information is the third and last factor that you've testified had the potential to be at the root cause of generating safety risks largely unique to the Pike River Mine, right?

A. Can you refer me to a clause please?

Q. If I can take you to paragraph 103 of your brief sir.

A. Yes, thank you.

Q. And would you agree with me sir, to use your words?

A. I think you said it was the third but it looks to me as though it’s the first.

Q. We’ve talked about hydraulic mining, haven't we sir?

A. Sorry, I'm only referring to 103 where it’s the first not the third of the three points.  I'm not sure if it’s material but –

Q. Well sir let me just be clear.  In paragraph 103 of your brief it’s your testimony that there are three factors at Pike River that had significant potential to be at the root cause of generating a wide range of safety risks that would have been largely unique to the Pike River Mine at the time of the explosions, right?

A. Yes.

Q. That’s stated in your evidence, isn't it sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you break down, under paragraph 103, three separate points, don’t you sir?

A. Three factors, yes.

Q. Sure and the second point is hydraulic mining, which we’ve talked about, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And the third point is so called prolonged production and financial underperformance, isn't it?

A. No, no it says – it doesn’t say so called, it says prolonged production and financial underperformance.

Q. It’s called that by you sir, isn't it?

A. Well, so called is your wording, not mine.

Q. Well, sir you've used the words in your witness brief, haven't you sir?

A. Not the word so called.

Q. You used the words sir prolonged production and financial underperformance, didn’t you?

A. Thank you, yes.

Q. And the only other factor that’s identified in your listing under 103 is in 103.1, right sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And in that factor you refer to difficult geological conditions as being another factor that had potential to be at the root cause of generating safety risks at Pike River, right?

A. No, I didn’t use the word potential in that paragraph, I said they would have been likely to create frequent surprises and needs for changes to standard practices which is a common cause of elevated safety risk and which would be widely accepted in the industry as a common cause.

Q. Sir, can I just turn your attention to the first sentence in paragraph 103 of your brief, which you testified earlier as truthful testimony, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. The first sentence, can you just read that for me sir?

A. “Three factors at Pike River had significant potential,” but I note that’s not 103.1, which you were just referring me to.

Q. Could you read the full sentence please sir?

A. “Three factors at Pike River had significant potential to be at the root cause of generating a wide range of safety risks that would have been largely unique to Pike River Mine at the time of the explosions.”

Q. And just so there's no confusion sir, one of the factors under 103 is difficult geological conditions, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you've described your view as to Pike River’s geological information being based on three things, meetings and briefings with Pike River’s management, briefings and discussions within Solid Energy with your own staff and from public information, right?

A. Yes.

Q. So let’s take each of those in turn.

A. Can you refer me to a clause again please?

Q. Sure, if you could go to paragraph 7 of your brief sir.  

A. Thank you.

Q. You agree with me sir that that was your earlier testimony?

A. Yes.

Q. So, let’s take each of those in turn.  No Pike River employee attended your staff briefings or discussions within Solid Energy about the Pike River development, did they?

A. That’s not strictly correct because there were meetings with Pike River staff management that included our staff, where they gave us briefings and there would've been discussion at that time.
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Q. Sir, is it not the case that those discussions are captured in your second point regarding meetings and briefings with Pike River’s management?

A. Yes, you’re quite correct, yes.

Q. So your internal discussions were with just Solid Energy people, right?

A. Yes indeed.

Q. And in fact once operational as a coal mine, Pike River was to become a competitor to the Spring Creek coal mine, right?

A. No I don’t believe Pike River was ever a competitor to Solid Energy.

Q. Well Spring Creek is another coal mine on the West Coast, right?

A. Yes it is, but it was never a competitor, in fact the two mines had synergies and a range of ways between them where it was always our view and our statement that we hope that Pike River would succeed to the maximum degree possible because there were great opportunities together.  It was never a competitor.

Q. And just so I’m clear sir, Solid Energy operates the Spring Creek Mine, right?

A. We do.

Q. Now you’ve testified earlier that you know of Peter Whittall, right?

A. I know Peter Whittall, yes.

Q. And we can agree that Mr Whittall has been part of senior management at Pike River for the past six years, right?

A. Yes.

Q. You’ve never been briefed by Mr Whittall about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. Personally, no.  I have attended conferences and meetings where he has briefed larger audiences which have included me, yes.

Q. You’ve never met with Mr Whittall personally about mine development at Pike River, have you?

A. No, no.

Q. You’ve never called Mr Whittall to talk about mine development at Pike River, have you?

A. No it would be inappropriate that I would do that as my manager at Pike River at the time, there may have been a number of my staff, people in Solid Energy who may have, but I would never have had reason to do that.

Q. You’ve never sent Mr Whittall an email enquiring about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. I have never had any reason to.  My dealings were primarily with the former CEO Gordon Ward, and I should perhaps make clear at this, this stage if I may Your Honour, that Gordon Ward was the person who always made it abundantly clear that Solid Energy’s view on the status and the progress of Pike River wasn’t of particular interest.

Q. You’ve had no discussions whatsoever with Mr Whittall about mine development in Pike River, have you?

A. I’ve had no reason to.

Q. You’ve never been underground at Pike River’s coal mine have you?

A. No I have not.

Q. You testified earlier sir that you know of Mr White, right?

A. I know of Mr White I don’t believe I’ve ever met Mr White, but that may not be correct.

Q. And Mr White also was part of senior management at Pike River, wasn’t he?

A. Yes.

Q. You’ve never been briefed by Mr White about mine development at Pike River, have you?

A. No I’ve had no reason to be, but again it’s possible I’ve been in an audience when he’s given a briefing and I’m sorry I don’t recollect.

Q. You’ve never met with Mr White about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. No I’ve had no reason to.

Q. You’ve never called Mr White to talk about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. No I’ve had no reason to.

Q. You’ve never sent Mr White an email enquiring about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. No, I’ve had no reason to.

Q. You’ve had no discussions whatsoever with Mr White about mine development at Pike River have you?

A. No and as you explained as an experienced mine manager, I would assume that Mr White would be more than capable of managing all aspects of his mine despite the pressures that the mine may well be under and the company maybe under.

Q. So notwithstanding never having spoken with Mr Whittall or Mr White about mine development at Pike River, it’s still your view that the safety risks that you – potential safety risks that you’re talking about at Pike River were based in part on meetings and briefings with Pike River’s management, right?

A. Information provided to me indicated that the mine would be under production and financial stress and that would create a range of organisational difficulties which I would expect would translate into a whole range of pressures.  How they manifested them self would be up to my management to deal with, I would have no knowledge of that.

Q. And I’m just trying to be clear for the record sir that the information that you gathered for that purpose did not involve any discussions whatsoever with Mr Whittall or Mr White, did it?

A. I have never had any discussions with either Mr Whittall nor Mr White on production issues, no.

Q. In fact sir, the only meeting or briefing with Pike River management about which you’ve testified today happened 11 years ago with Gordon Ward, right?

A. No again I don’t think that’s accurate because the point is that there are a range of ways of having briefings which include one on one, in somebody’s office or in an industry forum where papers were presented and I have certainly been in a range of forum where Pike River staff have - and management have presented information that was very, very comparable to that I received from Gordon Ward in person in 2000.  I would regard the sources of those information and the way I received them as being very, very similar.
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Q. Well let’s talk about the meeting that you’ve testified about with Mr Ward six years ago in, sorry, excuse me, 11 years ago in November 2000, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Now you testified that you met with the then CEO Gordon Ward, right?

A. I believe he was CEO at the time although I can’t be certain that was his title then.

Q. So you’re not sure now whether Mr Ward was Pike River’s CEO at the time sir?

A. My belief is he had full responsibility for Pike River and the development at the time and he certainly presented himself at that way.  What his exact title was I don’t recall.

Q. Well sir in your testimony you describe, at paragraph 64, that your first meeting on Pike River was with, I’m quoting your words sir, “Was with the then CEO Gordon Ward,” right?

A. Yeah, I believed he was acting in the capacity of the Chief Executive Officer, whether he formerly held that title I do not know.

Q. Would you have any understanding sir as to whether Mr Ward was in fact a general manager at New Zealand Oil and Gas at that time?

A. I believe he was that as well but that didn’t stop him from also being the chief, ie, the most senior executive officer for Pike River at the time.  And that was certainly the capacity in which I understood he was talking to me.

Q. Now during the meeting that you’ve testified you had with Mr Ward he provided you with a copy of a presentation didn’t he?

A. Yes he did.

Q. And it’s your testimony today sir, again I’m quoting you directly, “That the presentation stated that Pike River had already completed final feasibility study in May 2000 with a decision to proceed with mine development imminent.”  Do you recall that testimony sir?

A. I see it in front of me, yes, and I – 

Q. If I can just turn your attention to paragraph 65 sir?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. But the document didn’t actually say that a decision to proceed with mine development was imminent did it?

A. If you can give me a moment I will give you the answer to that because I have the document with me.

legal discussion  (16:27:59) – ASSIST WITH PAGE NUMBER

cross-examination continues:  MS SHORTALL
Q. I think the question was the document didn’t actually say that a decision to proceed with mine development was imminent, did it?

A. I didn’t in my evidence at clause 65 provide a quotation.  If, if - Your Honour, if I could read it.  The presentation stated that Pike River had already completed final feasibility study in May 2000 with a decision to proceed with mine development imminent.  I believe that’s borne out by the fourth/last slide in the presentation, which is that first coal will be available from the mine at the end of 2001, early 2002, which in November 2000 was absolutely imminent.

Q. So just so I’m clear sir, notwithstanding your testimony stating that the presentation stated that a decision to proceed with mine development was imminent you’re interpreting a slide from the presentation, it has a bullet point around the development decision.  Is that right?

A. I believe to say that first coal will be around 12 months from when a presentation is given is absolutely consistent with my statement that that was stated as imminent.

MS SHORTALL ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION – MAKE COPY AVAILABLE 
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THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MS SHORTALL – PRODUCING DOCUMENTS
THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MR MOUNT – EXHIBITS

exhibit 1 produced – 2008/2009 financial review of Solid Energy New Zealand ltd – dr elder 11.07.11

exhibit 2 produced – 2009/2010 financial review of Solid Energy New Zealand ltd – dr elder 11.07.11

WITNESS:
A. Your Honour, may I clarify my answer to the previous question which I think may have been incorrect?

Q. We will be with you in a minute sir.

A. I, I said that I thought the document stated that the decision was imminent because of the fourth bullet on first coal, in fact the second bullet on that slide says development decision end of 2000, early 2001, this was November 2000 when it was presented to me so that’s implying that the decision would be within a month or very shortly afterwards, that would absolutely verify the statement that the decision was said to be imminent in the paper.

MS SHORTALL:

Your Honour, perhaps I could make a copy of the document available, this one has actually been produced onto the Commission’s website so I can give a number for the record if that would assist?

THE COMMISSION:

That will suffice, if it is already there.

MS SHORTALL:

I will hand copies around counsel but the document is at DAO0010004.

THE COMMISSION:

That raises another point.  Presumably this document is retrievable and we could have had it on the screen at the time that the questions were asked, could we?

MR MOUNT:

I understand that is correct sir although because it came in as a Powerpoint presentation Ms Basher tells me that there might be a need to scroll through it in a slightly untidy way so it may be the reason that we haven't leapt into that.

cross-examination continues:  MS SHORTALL:

Q. Sir, just to be clear and so that everyone is looking at the same page of the document, you are four pages from the back on the slide headed, “Development Timetable,” right?

A. Yes I am, yes.

Q. And sir in response to my question about your testimony that the presentation document stated that a decision to proceed with mine development was imminent, you're referring the Commission to the second bullet point there, are you sir?

A. I am, yes.

Q. And just to be clear for the record, that bullet point reads, “Development decision (end 2000/early 2001),” right?

A. Correct.

Q. You'd have to agree with me sir, wouldn’t you, that the slide could be interpreted to state that a decision whether to develop, not necessarily to develop, was anticipated in late 2000 or early 2001, right?

A. No, look I couldn't accept that, I'm sorry, any decision has more than one option otherwise it’s not a decision, is it?

Q. So you won’t agree with me sir that my interpretation is possible?

A. No I won’t, no, sorry.
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Q. Well, sir, now you testified that you concluded from Mr Ward’s November 2000 presentation.  Based on your own experience as a geotechnical engineer that the geological and coal resource information Pike had did not support the level of detail the company was presenting on these aspects, right?

A. I did, yes.

Q. And you testified earlier that you worked as a geotechnical engineer in the UK, the US and New Zealand, right?

A. Yes.

Q. You didn’t work as a geotechnical engineer for a coalmining company in the UK, did you?

A. No.

Q. You didn’t actually work as a geotechnical engineer for a mining company in the UK, did you?

A. No.

Q. Nor did you work as a geotechnical engineer for a coalmining company in the US, right?

A. Are you stating that or are you asking me?

Q. I'm asking you, sir?

A. No, I didn’t.  Sorry, actually that’s not correct, I did.

Q. You did work as a geotechnical engineer for a coalmining company in the US, sir?

A. Sorry, not for a coalmining company, for a mining company, yes, I did.

Q. And when you worked in New Zealand as a geotechnical engineer, you didn’t work for a coalmining company, did you?

A. I didn’t work for a coalmining company, no.

Q. You testified earlier that, ‘Development is the process of tunnelling out into a mine through rock and coal,” I'm using your words sir, “from the mine portal to provide access and to put mine infrastructure in place,” right?

A. Sorry, again I’ll have to ask you to refer me to the appropriate paragraph.

Q. Certainly, sir, if you go to paragraph 25.1 of your brief.

A. Yes.

Q. And work to construct the tunnel drive in stone to reach the coal seam at Pike River didn’t begin until September 2006, did it?

A. I actually don't know the answer to that so I’ll have to assume that if that’s a statement it’s correct.

Q. Well let me see if I can show you a document to refresh your recollection.

A. Sorry, I should say Your Honour I have no recollection of the specific date whatsoever so you’ll have to advise me of the date.

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MS SHORTALL

cross-examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. Any reason to believe that wasn’t the case, sir?

A. No, none whatsoever.

Q. And you'll agree with me, sir, that 2006 is six years after your 2000 discussion with Mr Ward, right?

A. That would be my calculation, yes.

Q. And in fact, sir, the final mine plan and financial model to proceed with mine development had not been presented to the Pike River Board until July 2005, had it?

A. I wouldn't have a clue on that I'm sorry.  All I know is that the information that I stated that was presented to me, what happened internally in 
Pike River I wouldn't be expecting to know.

Q. Do you have any reason to believe, sir, that isn't the case?

A. I have no reason to believe it’s either is or isn't the case.

Q. So whatever your view of the sufficiency of the information in Mr Ward’s 2000 presentation, mine development at Pike River didn’t proceed for another six years, did it?

A. I believe that to be the case based on what you've told me, yep.

Q. And in fact, sir, mine development was not even improved at Pike River until five years after the meeting you've testified about with Mr Ward, right?

A. Your Honour, if the point here is that additional, significant additional work was done in the period then I think that’s an important point for discussion from counsel here but I'm concerned the insinuation is a lot of work was done that I wouldn't have known about.  If, if she wishes to tell me that I’d be interested in discussing that but I don't believe that was actually the case based on public information.

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES WITNESS

cross-examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. And in fact mine development was not even approved at Pike River until five years after the meeting you've testified about with Mr Ward, right?

A. Sorry, that’s a statement.

Q. Do you know sir?

A. I'm sorry I have no knowledge.  You're, you’re telling me that.

Q. Sir, just so I'm clear, one of the bases of which your testimony about potential safety risks at Pike River in connection with the sufficiency of its geological information is public information, right?

A. Yes.
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Q. Do you recognise the name Behre Dolbear Australia Limited sir?

A. Can you spell it please?

Q. B-E-H-R-E D-O-L-B-E-A-R Australia Limited.

A. Actually no sorry I don’t.

Q. You don’t know sir that Behre Dolbear is a well regarded international minerals industry consulting group?

A. Well I think probably the point is that they’re certainly not well known in New Zealand.  If they’d been active in New Zealand they’re not well known in the New Zealand industry and that would suggest that they probably don’t have great knowledge of New Zealand geological conditions.

Q. Do you recognise the acronym BDA sir?

A. If I do, my recollection is extremely vague and it doesn’t mean much to me as a person who has pretty good knowledge of the industry in New Zealand.

Q. Do you understand sir that Pike River went through an IPO?

A. I believe they did, yes.

Q. And sir did you ever review any documents – offering documents in connection with that IPO?

A. I recall at the time they went through the IPO, I skimmed through the prospectus, yes.  I remember seeing nothing there that was inconsistent with my longstanding views on Pike River, but it was not my job at the time of course to offer comment on it.

Q. Well sir do you recall that an independent technical review conducted by Behre Dolbear was attached to the offer document in connection with the IPO?

A. No I don’t recall that.

Ms Shortall addresses the COMMISSION – further document 

legal discussion - (16:42:25) – documents and images 

court adjourns:
4.45 pm
COMMISSION RESUMES ON TUESDAY 12 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

WITNESS DONALD MCGILLIVRAY ELDER ON FORMER OATH

cross-examination continues:  MS SHORTALL

Q. Mr Elder, we adjourned yesterday as I was about to show you a document that I recall you said you'd skimmed around the time of Pike’s IPO and we’re now able to show you that document on the screens so let me start by asking you if you recognise this document that’s now being displayed as a copy of the prospectus dated 22 May 2007 for Pike River’s IPO?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And let me take you to section 9 of that prospectus.  Do you see the heading, “Independent Technical Review?”

A. Yes I do.

Q. And if we turn the page in this section of Pike’s prospectus do you see the first page of a report on BDA letterhead dated 17 May 2007?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we turn to the following page of BDA’s independent review do you see a subheading, “Capability and Independence?”

A. Yes I do.

Q. And I know you said yesterday you didn’t recognise the name Behre Dolbear or BDA so can I just direct you to the second paragraph under that, “Capability and independence,” heading and ask you to read it aloud for me?

A. “Behre Dolbear Australia Pty Ltd is the Australian subsidiary of Behre Dolbear & Company.  Behre Dolbear is an international minerals industry consulting group which has operated continuously in North America and worldwide since 1911 with offices in Denver, Guadalajara, Hong Kong, London, New York, Sydney, Toronto and Vancouver.  Behre Dolbear specialises in due diligence studies, independent expert reports, independent engineer certification in strategic planning as well as technical geological mining and process consulting.  Directors and associates from the Sydney office of BDA have undertaken all the technical review work for this report.” 

Q. Now, BDA was commissioned by Pike River’s Board of Directors to prepare an independent technical review of Pike River’s feasibility studies and associated documentation suitable for inclusion in an IPO, wasn’t it?

A. I'm sorry, that’s a statement, I can't qualify my answer on that.
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Q. If I could just turn your attention to page 128 of the report, which is 135.  Sir, it’s just showing you on the screen now, page 128 out of the prospectus document -You see that page on the screen sir, it’s 128.  Sir, we’re just showing you on the screen now page 128 out of the prospectus document.   And if I could turn your attention to the top of the second full paragraph on that page where the words beginning, “The Pike River Board of Directors.”  Do you see that sir?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. And do you see there written there sir that BDA has described that the Pike River Board of Directors has commissioned it to prepare and independent technical review suitable for inclusion in an IPO?

A. I do.

Q. And as as part of BDA’s technical, sorry as part of BDA’s independent review those experts completed a technical risk assessment didn’t they?

A. I’m sorry, if it says that I’ll accept it but I don’t see that there.

Q. Well let me take you through to page 140 of the prospectus, 145?

A. If it would help you, I do know that they included some assessment of risk in their report.  Whether they completed a technical risk assessment to do that I don’t know.

Q. Well I’m showing you now a table from BDA’s report and you see the heading, “Table 5.1 Pike River Coal Mine Technical Risk Assessment?”

A. Yes.

Q. And in that assessment BDA opined on the adequacy of Pike River’s understanding of the geology of the proposed mine, right?

A. Yes, I believe they expressed some significant reservations about that understanding in this report.

Q. We’ll come to that Mr Elder.  Now in fact if you look at the table on the screen, BDA scored the risk level in this report at low/medium in respect of the geological information at the proposed mine, right?

A. I know it says that but I think it’s important to note that I think this indicates that they didn’t really understand what they were doing when they did this report.

Q. But your testimony that BDA didn’t understand what it was doing?

A. That they did not understand the complexity of the geology when they were writing that section because undoubtedly, and I think facts are proven in hindsight, that that was the case.

Q. Well Mr Elder we’ll explore the basis of your testimony about what BDA, these experts, have stated in their report shortly but I’d ask you just to stay with me on my questions for the moment?

A. Of course.

Q. Now if I can turn your attention to the comments on the table.  Could you just read aloud for me the section beginning, “Geology of the Deposit”?

A. The geology of the deposit is reasonably well understood and the geological data has been professionally collected and compiled.  Drill density in some areas is perhaps less than ideal but is constrained  by the terrain and consent conditions.  There is reasonably drill cover over the central areas but there are some structural complexities in the deposit.  Logging and sampling procedures were in accordance with industry standards.  Extensive inseam drilling is planned once the seam is accessed.  Poor coal recoveries have been recorded in some areas, but overall in BDA’s opinion the geological database forms an appropriate and reliable basis for resource and reserve estimation and I would have to note at this point –
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Q. If you just read please sir –

A. – that I would find it very difficult –

Q. – that was the question.

A. – to accept that comment.

Q. Sir, could you just read – you’ll have an opportunity to testify, your counsel can ask you questions when I’ve finished.  But at the moment sir I just asked you to read the statement.

objection:  mr stevens (10:06:35)

cross-examination continues:  Ms Shortall 

A. Would you like me to carry on?

Q. Yes please.

A. “The resource estimate has been undertaken by specialist consultants Golder and reviewed by Minarco including validation of the data.  The estimation methodology is generally appropriate although the structural interpretation is complex and has resulted in a reduction in tonnage from the FS, which I presume is feasibility study.  The reserve estimate has been influenced by the interpretation of coal seam structures.  Geotechnical, mine design, mine losses and dilution factors had been incorporated in the re-estimation of minable reserves.  The methodology is considered appropriate and has generated a reserve estimate that provides a reasonable guide to the minable underground coal tonnes.”  

Q. And sir yesterday you gave evidence about JORC compliance, do you recall that evidence sir?

A. I do.

Q. And competent persons –

A. Yes.

Q. – under the JORC Code and if I just turn your attention to the last page of BDA’s expert report, following the table that you’ve just read into the record – it’s at page 148.  Do you see a signature there for Mr Poppit?

A. I do.
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Q. And if I can turn your attention to the next page in this document.  Do you see a heading there, “Qualifications and Experience”?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And about half way down the page there’s a heading for Mr Ian Poppit, do you see that?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And do you see in that summary paragraph there that Mr Poppit is described as being familiar with the latest ore reserve terminology under the JORC Code effective as at December 2004 and is qualified as a competent person under the JORC Code protocols?

A. Yes, and can I just clarify that I don't think a competent person under JORC Code protocols based on the JORC Code necessarily applies in all different geological circumstances.  You may be qualified under the JORC Code to express a judgment in one territory but not necessarily in another.

Q. And the next sentence in the page at 144 of the prospectus states that Mr Poppit has been responsible for reviewing the geology, the resource and reserve estimates, the structural interpretation, panel layouts and has had input to the analysis of the geotechnical issues in this report, right?

A. Yes, I see that.

Q. Now BDA in its technical review reference work done by Golder.  Do you recall that?

A. I recall reading that earlier, yes.

Q. And Golder is a global company providing consulting, design and constructions services, right?

A. I'm very familiar with Golder International here.  Have worked with them and they have worked for Solid Energy in fact for a number of years.

Q. And BDA considered that the interpretation of the Brunner seam structure had been adequately covered by Golder in their JORC compliant resource statement, right?

A. I certainly have read that that is BDA’s opinion, yes.

Q. Now BDA in its report as part of the 2007 prospectus identified a number of factors which it considered combined to reduce the sort of risk we’ve talked about in connection with the geology of the deposit at Pike River, right?

A. It discussed that I believe, yes.

Q. And, sir, if I could just turn your attention to page 142 which is 147 of the prospectus.  Do you see a heading there, “Risk mitigation factors,” at the bottom of the page?

A. Yes, I do.
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Q. And BDA describes there that there are a number of factors which combine to reduce some of the above risks and the above risks relate back to the chart that we’ve been talking about is the technical risk assessment, right?

A. Yes and I’d like to clarify what that statement says, because what it notes is some factors which reduce risks, it doesn’t make any statement whatsoever about whether those factors result in an acceptable residual risk, which was one of my key points yesterday.

Q. And the first factor that BDA identifies as a risk mitigation factor, relates to surface drilling, doesn’t it?

A. Yes and in fact I know there were another eight bore holes done between 2000 and 2007, so the total which I expressed yesterday was inadequate of 20, it went up to 28.  It’s probably of interest to note that when Spring Creek started in around 2000 we had something like 115 bore holes which we considered inadequate in a similar resource size.  As of today we have something like 360 to 400.  So, moving from 20 to 28 is actually, with respect, somewhat irrelevant.

Q. You didn't mention inseam drilling in your evidence yesterday, did you Mr Elder?

A. I did not, no.

Q. And you understand that inseam drilling and those using a drilling machine underground to drill bore holes horizontally within a coal seam instead of vertically down from the surface, right?

A. The key point about inseam drilling is that once the mine is laid out and once you’re in the mine, it assists you for the next part of mine development, but it is not possible at that stage to use inseam drilling to correct fundamental floors and the layout of the mine should they exist and I will note that I – I’m not expressing an opinion on the layout of the mine, simply the point that inseam drilling is too little too late if in fact you have problems by that point.

Q. Well BDA considered that Pike River’s plans for inseam drilling was a mitigating risk factor, didn't it?

A. And as I said mitigating doesn’t mean the residual risks are acceptable.

Q. Well BDA found that the ultimate mitigating factor for the resolution of coal seam structural interpretation and geometry issues, as well as in the detection of structures that may materially affect the development and/or panel designs is the proposed ongoing programme of inseam drilling at Pike River, didn't it?

A. And certainly it would be my opinion that that would not be sufficient to be able to plan and design a mine adequately if you were relying on inseam drilling to be your ultimate solution to geology.

Q. And is it your evidence sir that Pike River was relying on inseam drilling to be its ultimate solution?

A. What I’m reading here is that it’s the ultimate mitigating factor it would seem.

Q. Well BDA commended Pike River in its independent review, for its approach to inseam drilling, didn't it?

A. BDA also has some other fundamental flaws in a report which I’m happy to address later if you wish.

Q. And BDA also found that Pike River’s geological data sets and the capability of supplying information on request was of industry standard, right?

A. I’m not sure what industry standard they refer to, but if Solid Energy is considered to establish anything near the industry standard then I would have to disagree that – with their conclusion there.

Q. But sir you’re not disagreeing that BDA in its report found that Pike River’s geological data sets and capability of supplying information on request, was of industry standard, right?

A. I acknowledge that’s what they said in their report, yes.

Q. And sir we talked yesterday about the fact that when a competent person signs off on information that’s used publically, they’re exposed to liability if they haven’t taken appropriate care and exercised due diligence, right?

A. Yes I certain understand that, yes.

Q. And BDA concluded that Pike River’s coal resources – coal resources and reserve estimates prepared by Golder and Minarco, were JORC compliant, right?

A. I’m sorry can you refer me to the place they said exactly that?

Q. On the screen you’ll see the first page Mr Elder of BDA’s independent report and do you see a series of bullet points there?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And I’m reading from the report from the findings contained in the ITR investigations to date, BDA concludes as follows, and can you just read that first bullet point for me?

A. Pike River coal resources and reserve estimates prepared by Golder Associates (NZ) Limited, “Golder” and Minarco Asia Pacific Pty Limited, “Minarco” respectively have been prepared in accordance with the Australasian Code for reporting of exploration results.  Mineral resources and all reserves prepared by the joint all reserve committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining in Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geosciences and Minerals Council of Australia, JORC, effective December 2004, “the JORC Code.”  BDA has not undertaken an audit of the Pike River data or a re-estimate of the resources but has reviewed the resource and reserve estimates carried out by independent consultants.
1017

Q. And BDA concluded that Pike River’s forecast contained within its feasibility study and associated documents were based on adequate geological and geotechnical data, right?

A. Ah –

Q. Taking account of the expected mining conditions?

A. It’s my understanding that’s what they say, yes.

Q. Do you recognise the name Resource Developments Consultants Limited Mr Elder?

A. Resource Developments Consultants –

Q. Consultants Limited?

A. – Limited.  I believe I do.  You may have to give me some context to help me remember that further.

Q. Do you understand sir that they’re sometimes referred to as RDCL, does that assist?

A. I’d assumed that and that does ring a bell, yes.

Q. And Roy RDCL is a specialist geological engineering geological and geotechnical firm, right?

A. My recollection is that’s probably correct, yes.

Q. And RDCL has advised Solid Energy on various mining projects hasn’t it?

A. I think that’s why I recall the name.  I’m not directly familiar with them myself.

Q. And RDCL was commissioned by Pike River to complete an independent review of the geological data required since the original 2006 resource statement that was released in 2007 as part of Pike River’s IPO, right?

A. I’m sorry, I’m simply not qualified to tell you whether you’re right or wrong on that.

Q. Well let me take you to a document, we’ll just bring it up onto the screen Mr Elder.

WITNESS REFERRED TO DOCUMENT ON SCREEN

A. I’m certainly happy to accept it if that’s what you’re telling me.

Q. Well let me just show you the document and see if that assists us just for a moment Mr Elder.  Do you recognise this document as a prospectus issued by Pike River in April 2010 for a capital raising?

A. I don’t recognise the document but I accept that that’s what it is.

Q. And if we just turn to page 33 of the prospectus.  Do you see a heading, “Executive Summary?”

A. Yes.

Q. And do you see there Mr Elder that, mention that Pike River had commissioned RDL to complete an independent review of the geological data required since the original 2006 resource statement was released in 2007 as part of the IPO?

A. Yes.

Q. And you’ll agree with me that the prospectus is public information?

A. It should be, I assume it is.

Q. And a copy of RDCL’s independent review was included actually as part of the prospectus issued in 2010 wasn’t it?

A. I’m sorry I don’t know but I’ll accept it.

Q. If you just come two pages earlier.  We’re still in the prospectus Mr Elder, do you see a heading, “Appendix 1?”

A. Yes.

Q. And title, “Independent Review New Geological Data with Respect to 2006 Resource Statement Pike River Coal Mine?”

A. Yes.

Q. And in the bottom right hand corner, RDCL, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And as part of RDCL’s independent review RDCL judged as robust Pike River systems for the acquisition of geological data, right?

A. I’m sorry once again, you’re asking me to confirm a statement and I can’t.  I’ll assume it’s correct though if you’re saying that.

Q. Let me just as you a couple more questions on this Mr Elder and then we’ll move on.  Let me take you to page 34 of the prospectus, and do you see a heading, we’re actually in, just to give you some context Mr Elder we’re looking at the independent review done by RDCL that’s attached to the prospectus document.  Do you see a heading on this page, “Geological Data since 2006?”

A. Yes I do.

Q. And could you just read that first paragraph for me please?

A. RDCL has commenced mine development and has established systems for the acquisition of geological data on an ongoing basis which are judged to be robust.  Work is ongoing and assimilating the new geological data to update models for utilisation in mine planning.

Q. And as part of its independent review Mr Elder RDCL noted that an additional 14 surface drill holes had been completed since the 2006 resource statement, right?

A. Sorry, I don’t know.
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Q. Let’s just turn ahead two pages in this independent review, page 38?

A. I do note there the comment that the risk of a scarcity of data for modelling could impact the ability to accurately define local variations within the deposit which of course is very consistent with my evidence yesterday.

Q. Do you see a heading on this page of RDCL’s independent report that states surface drilling?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you just read that first paragraph for me sir?

A. “The 2006 resource statement incorporates data up to and including PRDH 26.  An additional 14 surface drill holes of which there are 12 with geological information, logging information suitable for comparison have been completed since the 2006 resource estimate was published.  Five drill holes have been completed primarily for resource definition purposes with geological logs and coal quality data available.”  So that, as I understand it, is saying that there are now something like 40 drill holes in total which is still not very many.

Q. That’s your opinion sir.

A. You asked me to compare before to industry practice so I would say that’s not consistent with New Zealand industry practice, if you prefer that answer.

Q. And just to be clear Mr Elder, I think you told me this yesterday, you're not qualified as a competent person under the JORC Code, are you?

A. I've been practising as a geotechnical engineer in the coalmining industry for 11 years.  I consider myself very competent to judge on whether data is adequate or not adequate for the purposes of running a coal business and in fact we have five underground mines that I've been overseeing in my time at Solid Energy.  I consider myself totally qualified to judge whether the information that I receive as a chief executive on the data for those mines is appropriate for the purposes of business decision making, which of course was the point of my evidence.

Q. Let me just bring you back to my question Mr Elder, which I think you just refuse to answer there, but I asked whether you were qualified as a competent person under the JORC Code?

A. And of course the point of my evidence is that you are looking –

Q. – Just answer the question sir?

A. I don’t consider myself a competent person nor do I consider I would need to be if I have competent people working for me.
Q. Now, ACL, in its report also found that nine inseam directional drill holes had been completed for a total of more than 7300 metres, right?

A. Sorry, I've lost it, if it says that there.
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Q. Just turn to the next page if we could, come to the next page in this document Mr Elder, you see that there's a diagram and then under that there's some text.  Can I take you to the first sentence of the second paragraph under the text, could you read that for me sir?
A. Yes, “The inseam drilling process involves completing the seam roof intersections, firstly as the hole is being advanced.  Current practice targets roof into sections at a nominal 40 metre interval.  The floor intersections are then completed during the retreat from the hole branching down through the seam floor.  To date nine inseam directional drill holes, figure 3, have been completed for a total of more than 7300 metres.  The geological data obtained from the inseam drilling is utilised to refine mine development design and enables the accurate placement of primary access development.  The nature of the sample chips derived from the inseam drilling means this is not an appropriate tool for collecting coal quality samples for analysis,” and if I may note regarding that that that’s used to refine mine development design and my point before stands that you can't address fundamental mine layout issues at that point should they exist.

Q. And RDCL is part of its independent review saw inseam drilling as key to managing geological risk at Pike River, right?

A. I don't recall the word “key” but I certainly recall it said it was a risk mitigant to which I replied, “It may mitigate the risk, it doesn't necessarily make the risk acceptable.”  I don't believe I heard the word “key.”

Q. Let’s just turn to the next page in this document, that’s RDCL’s independent technical review at 46 (inaudible 10:26:45).  You see a heading, “Recommendations,” there Mr Elder?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And there’s a subheading, “Inseam drilling”?

A. Yes.

Q. And there’s a paragraph and then there’s two bullet points and then a paragraph starting, “Inseam Drilling,” do you see that?

A. Yes, and I can now see where the word “key” comes from.  Obviously I hadn’t seen that when you asked the last question.

Q. Yes, because RDCL actually states, doesn't it, in its independent review and I'm quoting from the document, “Inseam drilling is seen as a key to managing risk associated the previously unrecognised geological features in the mine.  The new data shows that inseam drilling is providing a much improved insight into the detail of the structural controls of the Brunner coal measures.”  Right, do you see that 
Mr Elder?

A. Yes, could I, could I perhaps just make the comment here that I think is very material.  Fundamentally this is all about the geology.  Whether the geology is well understood or not is of course important but it is the starting point to whether a mine can be planned and operated productively and of course the conclusions that are taken from the geological drilling are fundamentally important to that and I certainly have views on the conclusions that are being expressed on the basis of this which I think establish that the geology either wasn’t understood as well as it should've been or the ability to mine was not understood sufficiently well from that so I am concerned that the implication here that the people viewed the geology, geological investigations were good therefore confirms the mining method was good and that’s not necessarily a correct assumption I don't think.

Q. But just so I'm clear, Mr Elder, we’re looking at a report that Pike River commissioned from an independent expert, right?

A. Yeah, and, and I believe there would be, people at Pike River would be entitled to rely on this report but there should also have been people at Pike River as I would expect in Solid Energy who would know where there were flaws in a report like this.

Q. Sir, RDCL’s report was signed by a competent person under the 
JORC Code, right?

A. I'm sorry you’ll have to refer me to that but I’ll happily accept it.

Q. Well let me just do this very quickly, last question on this document, 
Mr Elder.  If we could go to page 46 which will be your 48.  Do you see a signature on this last page of RDCL’s technical review, Mr Elder?

A. Yes, signed by somebody called C P Church a principal geologist.

Q. And if we just turn to the prior page in this document, so your 47.  Just tuning back one page in this report, Mr Elder, do you see a heading, “Statement of Capability”?  It’s the top, number 7.

A. Yes, I do.
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Q. And do you see there, Mr Elder, a statement that the report has been prepared by Peter Church and you've just talked about his signature at the end of the report and that Mr Church is an RDCL employee which responsibility for the preparation of coal resource estimates and also the competent person with regard to JORC Code for RDCL and previously for Golder (NZ) Limited.  See that Mr Elder?

A. Yes, I think there's an important point here that, as I said before, competent person is required under the JORC Code to be related to the specific geology in which you're working so a statement of a person being a competent person, I can't judge on whether that means that they’re competent for the particular resource that they’ve expressed an opinion on and I think that’s a fundamentally important point about this entire discussion.

Q. And just so I'm clear Mr Elder, when a competent person signs off on a technical report that is relied upon by a company and its individuals, the competent person is taking on liability in the event that their review is found to be deficient or lacking in due diligence, right?

A. Yes, you've made an important point there which I agree with.  If I were a member of the board of directors for example I would expect to be able to rely on this.  The point is who in the company should have understood whether or not this report was suitable in the first place to be provided for example in a prospectus or for the board.

Q. You didn’t mention RDCL to the Commission in your evidence yesterday, did you?

A. Not that I recall, no.

Q. And you didn’t mention the Minarco review?

A. No.

Q. You didn’t mention the Golder review?

A. My evidence yesterday related to discussions, information provided to me through a range of means and although these may have been public these were not any of the reports I was familiar with at the time, at least not by name.

Q. So in forming your views Mr Elder about the adequacy of the geological information at Pike River, there was some public information you didn’t consider, right?

A. No, what I said was I wasn’t familiar with the names of this report but I was certainly familiar with the contents and, as I think I've already suggested in the answers to counsel’s question here, I've been aware right throughout and during the time of reading the prospectus information that it did not change my views which was I think evidence I gave yesterday, and I can still find very clear statements in here that are fundamentally incorrect and would cause me to question the conclusions in this report.

Q. Well, just to follow up on one point there Mr Elder, I think you're now saying that you were aware of these reports, but one of the reports was completed by BDA, right?

A. Yes I think we established that.

Q. And when I asked you yesterday if you even recognised the name BDA you said no, didn’t you?

A. I think what I said was I didn’t recognise the name BDA but I had read all the reports so what that said was I didn’t associate the name BDA in any particular way with the reports in the prospectus, that was four years ago.  Maybe at the time I noted the name BDA, it wasn’t something that registered with me as particularly significant either way.

Q. Well, maybe we’ll let the record speak for itself there Mr Elder.  Let’s move on.  Do you recognise the name John Dow?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And you understand that Mr Dow is the chairman of Pike River Coal Limited in receivership, right?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And Mr Dow has been a non-executive director of Pike River since February 2007, right?

A. Sorry, I don't know the date but I accept that.

Q. Do you have any reason to believe that’s not accurate Mr Elder?

A. None whatsoever, no.

Q. And Mr Dow was a member of JORC itself, wasn’t he?

A. Sorry, I don't know but I have the greatest admiration for Mr Dow and I wouldn’t be surprised if he was.

Q. You don’t have any reason to believe that he wasn’t, do you Mr Elder?

A. No, I'm simply saying I can't confirm your statement.

Q. Now, you testified earlier that you are on the board, or yesterday, that you are on the board of New Zealand’s Resource Industry Association known as Straterra, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And Mr Dow was Straterra’s foundation chairman, wasn’t he?

A. Yes he was and in fact I was one the people who asked him to take that post because I very much respected his position in the industry.

Q. And you and Mr Dow were on the Straterra Board together for around two and a half years, right?

A. That sounds about right, I can't recall the exact period.

Q. And during those two and a half years the Straterra Board met in person around every six to eight weeks, right?

A. Yes that would be right.

Q. So you saw Mr Dow approximately every six to eight weeks for approximately two and a half years, right?

A. Yes.

Q. But you never said to Mr Dow that you believed Pike River had insufficient information to proceed with mine design and development at a level of risk consistent with what Solid Energy would consider good industry practice, did you?

A. I think there's a key point here before I answer that.  

Q. If you could just answer my question then you're welcome to make your point Mr Elder?

A. Yes, okay.  I never did and the reason for that is that I think in the circumstance the onus is not on outside parties to approach a party and say I have views on your business.  The onus is on a business to understand where its risks and uncertainties are and where good sources of information may be to address those.  I never viewed it was Mr Dow’s role to form a view on information provided to him as a director of the company.
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A. So, no I would never have regarded it’s my duty to ask Mr Dow or express views to Mr Dow.  Had Mr Dow ever asked me, however, did I have views on the information provided to him as a director of Pike River, I would happily have given him an answer, but I would also make the same assumption about Pike River and Mr Dow and the management as I would make about any company, that if there were significant risks that they would be doing everything they needed to, to address those risks and once again I emphasise it would never be my role or the role of an outside party of any kind, to express a view to a company that you may have uncertainties that you don’t understand, you may not be managing those appropriately.  The assumption about a good industry player, a good company, is that they would understand those risks and they would be managing them accordingly.  I would've needed specific facts before I would've specifically approached them.  What I’ve expressed is a very broad conclusion based on a very wide range of evidence which said that they had very significant risks.  It would be a reasonable assumption to me that they would understand and would be managing that in some way.

Q. So just so I understand your long answer there Mr Elder, you refer to not having specific facts at the time, right?

A. The specific facts I had are well contained in my evidence from yesterday and in fact some of them come up again in the reports that you’ve put forward here today.

Q. Just so I understand your last answer correctly, I believe you’ve told the Commission that one of the reasons you didn't say something to Mr Dow, notwithstanding seeing him frequently for two and a half years, about your concern as to whether Pike River may have had insufficient information to proceed with mine design and development was that you didn't have specific facts at that point in time, right?

A. I think the key point is that the consequences of not having all that information where a wide range of risks and a wide range of areas which were abundantly self evident at that time, I’m sure to Mr Dow, to management of Pike River and in fact to the entire industry because by the time Mr Dow and I were working together on Straterra, the entire industry were aware that Pike were having significant difficulties with production.  It didn't need me to tell them that.

Q. I’m not asking you about difficulties with production Mr Elder, I’m asking you about the concern that you test – that you gave evidence about yesterday concerning whether Pike River had sufficient information to proceed with my design and development.  I just want the record to be clear that, that my understanding from what you’re saying is that, at the time that you were on the board with Mr Dow, you didn't believe that you had specific facts to come to him and raise this purported issue.  Is that right?

A. I think you’re confusing, with respect, the timing here.  All my evidence related to the period from 2000 through to about 2007 and beyond which was where I had the facts and formed the view that Pike didn't have enough information to proceed.  Again, if I may, as you’ve just established the period in which I knew Mr Dow, the last approximately two and a half years, by that time Pike River was already well under development.  The problems and issues were already clearly manifesting themselves, so there is a different time.  I think you’re asking me about things that you’re suggesting overlap when in fact they don’t.

Q. Well you never said to Mr Dow, let’s just talk about the production point for a moment that you’ve helpfully raised Mr Elder, you’ve never raised with Mr Dow that you believed so-called production or financial issues may be creating or elevating risks of Pike River, did you?

A. Again it’s the role of the company with those risks to seek outside advice from people who may have information to provide.  It’s not the role of a range of outside people to go to Pike River or anyone else and say, “I think you may have problems, I think you should ask me to help you,” although it’s widely, a widely held view within the industry and in fact the community that many other people may well have done that.  that’s hearsay and anecdotal from my point of view and that’s not the way I work.

Q. And just so I’m clear Mr Elder, you mentioned that there’s a role to seek outside advice, would you agree with me that the reports we’ve gone through from the likes of Minarco, Golder, BDA, RDCL comprise outside advice?

A. They certainly comprise outside advice and they certainly comprise the sort of outside advice that I would expect a board and directors on a board, who are non-executive directors, to be able to rely on.
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Q. Just turning back to one other risk factor that you gave evidence about yesterday Mr Elder.  You never said to Mr Dow that hydro-mining at Pike River created a unique elevated safety risk did you?

A. I don’t believe I said exactly that yesterday either.

Q. Your evidence today is that you didn’t yesterday say that hydro-mining at Pike River was a potential elevated safety risk?

A. Well you’ve just changed the wording.  I, I’m willing to accept the specific wording I used yesterday but not to have it paraphrased.

Q. All right, we’ll let the record reflect what you said yesterday Mr Elder and move on.  You never contacted the mines inspector at the Department of Labour to say that you believed Pike River had insufficient information to proceed with mine design and development at a level of risk consistent with what Solid Energy would consider good industry practice did you?

A. With respect, I think that’s a somewhat irrelevant question from my point of view because a chief executive of another company who overseas many mines, many other operational activities, and having people involved in our own activities on the West Coast I would not see it as my role to approach the mines inspector, which is a local role on the West Coast, to express specific views.  What I believe and since you asked me, once again this is hearsay, but I do believe that the mines inspector may well have been approached by a range of other people but it would not be my role to make that approach.

Q. So you never contacted the mines inspector with any purported concerns about how so-called production or financial issues might be creating or elevating safety risks at Pike River did you?

A. I had no reason to do that.

Q. And yet sir yesterday you described that one of the reasons that you provided a voluntary statement to the Royal Commission was out of respect for the community and concern for the community.  Do you remember that evidence Mr Elder?

A. I remember that very well.

Q. But you never contacted, we went through this yesterday, Mr Whittall, Mr White, Mr Dow, the mines inspector at the Department of Labour with any of these concerns out of respect for the community prior to the incident on the 19th of November 2010 did you?

A. No I didn’t and I’d like to be very clear on that.  The purpose of my evidence yesterday was to establish, in my view, very clearly that from the beginning Pike River was a mine that was destined to have financial production and commercial difficulties and extreme difficulties.  The evidence I gave also suggested that a range of other risks would result from that but I was never in a position to judge whether those risks were being managed acceptably.  And as I said yesterday, given the experience of the people at the mine, it would be a reasonable assumption to assume that notwithstanding the financial and production difficulties the management at the mine would irrespective always manage safety first.  And again I said yesterday Solid Energy closed two mines which were still able to produce coal economically because we did not believe we could mine safety.  I made the assumption that others would understand those risks and would always put safety first in their management.  So, no, I did not approach anyone at Pike River regarding my concerns about the risks because I believed it was a totally valid assumption that irrespective of financial and production difficulties safety risks would always be managed first.

Q. You gave evidence yesterday that Solid Energy currently operates two underground mines, Huntly East and Spring Creek, correct?

A. Currently, yes.

Q. And you also gave evidence yesterday that Solid Energy is a West Coast stakeholder with a number of future mines under development, planning and longer term prospects under investigation, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you’ve also said that you provided your evidence to the Commission voluntarily, we just covered that, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you said that one of the reasons you did so was for the Commission to be able to provide best and most appropriate recommendations going forward, right?

A. Yes I did, that was one of the three reasons I gave.

Q. And Mr Elder no doubt you did so because you’re aware that there’s a potential that the Commission may make findings which affect the coalmining industry, right?

A. I certainly expect they will make recommendations that will have implications for the coalmining industry.

Q. And those recommendations might apply to all underground mines in New Zealand, right?

A. I expect they will rather than might apply to all underground mines.

Q. For example, the Commission might make recommendations for tightening the legislative and regulatory regime which applies to underground coal mines, right?

A. I expect it will recommend a number of changes, what , “tightening” means I can’t judge.
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Q. It’s possible, isn't it Mr Elder, that the Commission might make recommendations which result in more onerous obligations being imposed on mining companies in relation to various aspects of their operations, right?

A. I think it’s more than possible, I expect that and in fact it’s Solid Energy’s position on the record that a strengthened mine inspectorate for example with greater capability is an important part of that so I have no concern whatsoever that the Royal Commission will come up with more onerous requirements on the industry and Solid Energy would support that should that occur.

Q. So you expect – sorry please finish?

A. Should that occur we would support that and that’s the reason for my evidence, to help the Commission to be as informed as possible in arriving at its conclusion from those recommendations.  We have no resistance to that and I have no reason to be concerned about that provided it’s an informed position.

Q. Would you agree with me sir that it would be in your company, Solid Energy’s interests, for the Commission’s findings to focus on unique issues for Pike River Coal and not the underground coalmining industry generally?

A. No, I wouldn’t accept that at all.

Q. You gave evidence about these future mines, underdevelopment planning and longer term prospects under investigation and one of those prospects is the assets of Pike River in receivership, isn't it?

A. That is indeed an asset that is currently available, yes.

Q. And in fact Solid Energy has submitted a bid to purchase those assets, hasn’t it?

A. There is a process underway, the only thing I'm able to say is that Solid Energy is a potential participant in that process.  I should note Your Honour that there are some confidential requirements under that process and my answer is neither confirming nor rejecting that we may or may not have submitted a bid or any other form of expression of interest.

Q. Well, Solid Energy, and I'm not asking you to breach any confidentiality restrictions Mr Elder, but Solid Energy has submitted as – or made a press release saying that it submitted a bid to purchase Pike River’s assets, hasn’t it?

A. The process is that the receiver requested indicative bids which are non-binding and are relatively high level and there is a continuing process from that point and, as I said, all I'm able to say is that Solid Energy is a participant in that process.

Q. So Solid Energy has a vested interest in the value of Pike River’s assets, doesn’t it?

A. I'm sorry, I don’t understand the question.

Q. Well, it would be in Solid Energy’s interests for any price that it ultimately may have to pay for the Pike assets to be as low as possible, wouldn’t it?

A. The answer is yes but I have to state that I take offence at the implication of the question.

Q. And one way of trying to lower that price would be to discourage other potential buyers by providing the sort of evidence that you have over the past two days, wouldn’t it?

A. In that case I take – I reject that and I take great offence at the question, 29 people are dead, there are 29 people that didn’t come back from the mine, that’s 29 very good reasons to present my evidence if it can assist the Commission to find the right answer.  I take great offence at the implication of the reason I am here is to talk down the value of the Pike River assets.  That’s already been done by the company, that’s been successfully achieved, that’s not why I'm here.  My purpose in being here is to support the community, to support the Royal Commission finding the best possible answers to this question and I'm sorry, I'm very offended at that point.

Q. One way of trying to lower the price would be to discourage other potential buyers by saying, and these are your exact words, “That the economics of mining the Pike River coalfield are marginal,” right?

A. You are connecting two points together which is a statement of fact, or at least opinion of ours, and the conclusion you are drawing from that, that our purpose is to talk down the value.  That is not correct.  Our purpose in making a statement earlier in the year was to make sure that everybody is well informed about the nature of mining on the West Coast including prospective future miners of the Pike River resource, which we stated very clearly and that’s my purpose in being here as well.  Connecting those two, once again I reject.

Q. As the CEO of a state-owned enterprise Mr Elder you don’t frequently express interest in purchasing an asset that you consider to be marginal economically, do you?

A. Sorry, I'm – you connected a number of points there together and I'm trying to work through them.  Can you repeat the questions slowly please?
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Q. Happy to do that, Mr Elder.  As the CEO of a state owned enterprise you don't frequently express interest in purchasing an asset that you consider to be marginal economically, do you?

A. In fact that’s incorrect, in fact we do.  Can I give an example of that?  The lignites in Southland which it is well known are both a marginal economic resource as they stand and which for many years 
Solid Energy has expressed an interest in would be a precise example of the sort of place where we would indeed express an opinion that we have an interest in a marginal economic resource for a wide range of reasons.  The point of course about interest in a marginal economic resource is under what conditions you obtain it and what you intend to do with it.

Q. And Mr Elder another way of trying to lower the price of Pike River’s assets would be to contest Pike River’s coal quality, wouldn't it?

A. That’s, that’s a hypothetical question.  I don't understand why you're asking me that.

Q. Could you answer the question Mr Elder?

A. Well can you ask it again because I'm not really sure I even understand the question.

Q. Well another way of trying to lower the price of Pike River’s assets would be to contest Pike River’s coal quality, wouldn't it?

A. I know where you're going but I don't actually accept that.  You say – again can you please read it?

Q. I’ll read it for a third time Mr Elder.  Another way of trying to lower the price of Pike River’s assets would be to contest Pike River’s coal quality, right?

A. Well the assumption in the question is that there is an attempt to lower the price so therefore I cannot answer that question.

Q. You can't or you won't, sir?

A. No, I can't because you're a making an assumption which I'm required to accept if I answer the question and I can't accept that.

MR MOUNT ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION – REFERENCE NUMBER FOR PROSPECTUS DOCUMENT FROM APRIL 2010, DA012.03212
MR DAVIDSON ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION – ORAL APPLICATION ORDER

LEGAL DISCUSSION (10:53:23)
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cross-examination:  Mr Hampton

Q. Dr Elder you’ve heard the discussion between the Commissioner and myself, so the first area regulation 23 of the Underground Mining Regulations prescribes rules about access – I think it’s described as, “outlets,” to mines underground, doesn’t it?

A. I believe it does, I have to acknowledge that I am familiar with and have read the Underground Mining Regulations, but I do not have a detailed working knowledge to that, to that extent.

Q. Just then in relation to Spring Creek, what are the means of access to Spring Creek?  First are there two means of access to Spring Creek?

A. Yes, perhaps if I could refer back to the regulations first, I believe it to be the case although I can’t say with certainty that almost every clause in the regulations requires a company or a miner to take all practicable steps to provide certain things and in this case it’s means of egress.  I don’t recall the specifics.  So, with regard to that then at Spring Creek there are two means of access to or egress from the mine. One is what’s called the men and materials drift, which is the normal way of going in and out of the mine and the second is where the coal is conveyed out, which contains a lot of infrastructure, it’s an alternative fallback means of egress.
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Q. And is that alternative means of egress one with a concrete path in along which miners or people underground can process out?

A. It is today, it wasn’t always so.

Q. Right.  So you have in effect two drifts or drives into that mine?

A. I think the answer to the question is that there are two ways of walking out of the mine.  Walking being defined as a normal mode of walking underground, yes.

Q. With the main drift being also accessible by wheel transport?

A. That's correct.

Q. Huntly East, what’s the position there please?

A. I’m at risk of getting this wrong and I’ll confess that.  I believe Huntly East –

Q. I won’t hold you to your word sir?

A. I wish to make very clear that I’m not certain of the answer but I believe that Huntly East has more than two means of access egress.  I think it has three, possibly four, but again I’m sorry I’m not certain of that.  All of which are normal walkable as opposed to alternative.

Q. I was informed that it has at least two drives, as it were, parallel with each other?

A. It has at least two, that's correct.

Q. That’s the first point thank you if the Commission pleases.  The second is your appendix A to your evidence Dr Elder, it starts at the document SOL 306956_1/35.

WITNESS REFERRED TO DOCUMENT SOL 306956_1/35

Q. You’ve heard by discussion with the Commission, you were aware I imagine of the Robens philosophy in this area of health and safety?

A. No I’m sorry I’m not.

Q. You’re not?

A. If you explain it to me I may recall it but I’m not familiar with the name.

Q. Well it involves not only Government involvement and employer involvement but it involves employee involvement as well, consultation, participation by employees.  I look in your charter that you wrote, you tell us, for involvement of employees, and in particular health and safety representatives from employees.  Where do they figure in that charter please Dr Elder?

A. They feature in a number of places and I’ll probably need to take you through to answer the question and point out each place in which it occurs, if I may?  So in the purpose it identifies how health and safety is managed right down to frontline operations.  Frontline operations are obviously frontline for employees working at the face.  That’s on the beginning of the first page.  If I turn over to the second page and I look at our health and safety policy statement, and I note the items there which explain how we will achieve this, thank you for that.  And as I look down there if, I think it looks like about bullet number seven, “Expect all our staff and contractors to be personally committed to a safe and healthy workplace.”  And the bullet following that perhaps is the one you’re looking for, “Involve our staff in developing health and safety policies, standards, systems and programmes.”  Two bullets from there, “Train and support our people to understand and address health and safety issues and practices.”  The next bullet relating to onsite contractors ensures that those principles are extended to contractors not just our own staff.  And then below that a very clear accountability statement which is, “That health and safety is the responsibility of everyone working in or working with Solid Energy everywhere, on or off site at all times,” and very specifically, “Every person at Solid Energy has the responsibility, and this is key, the authority, and authority is delegated authority in our statements of delegated authorities, the authority to take whatever actions are necessary to avoid accidents and prevent unsafe actions or practises.  So I believe that states very clearly that employees are very actively involved in all aspects of our health and safety work and that is in fact the case.
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Q. Do you actively engage your workers, the miners underground, in participation in the identification, assessment and control of workplace hazards?

A. Absolutely we do and as I recorded yesterday those hazards and incidents are recorded, logged and investigated.  I see many of them, they come direct to my email every day and many of those are logged by our employees, not by management or supervisory staff.

Q. Where does that appear in this charter?

A. This is a governance charter, what we’re referring to here is a health and safety management system and standard operating practises which are referred to in the charter and that reporting, logging is indeed covered by our standard operating practise which is governed by this charter.

Q. Was there union involvement or worker involvement in the writing of this charter?

A. This charter was primarily, as I said yesterday, written by me.

Q. Yes.

A. Discussed with my management team.

Q. Yes.

A. And the board.

Q. Yes.

A. And the management team discussed it at the health and safety forum which is a cross-company safety forum we have.

Q. Was this before or after it was ticked off by the board?

A. Before.

Q. Did they have active input into the writing of the charter itself?

A. As I said I primarily wrote this charter in consultation with all those people, but prior to it being approved by the board and in fact a fundamental principle we have is that the board would not approve it unless that process had been followed.  I should add that the process to develop and approve this charter was, from memory, about six to nine months.  This wasn’t something I wrote late one night and had approved by the board the next morning.

Q. And I move then to the third area that I mentioned to the Commission, are you aware that under the Underground Mining Regulations, regulation 10, there has to be accident notification made to the inspector about certain events underground?

A. I’m sorry I’m not aware of the specific regulation number, but I certainly believe that to be the case, yes and there are criteria under which notification is required.

Q. Now the questions I’m going to ask of you, I’m not directed at Spring Creek or its processes, they’re directed to find out if I’m correct in what I’m being told about the incidents, the response that Solid Energy received from the inspectorate in relation to the incidents themselves.

A. I understand.

Q. I am told that on the – and these are all post Pike explosion events, on the 29th of April this year, a Friday, was there a road haul vehicle fire, RHL913?

A. There was a fire in the main drift, the men and materials drift involving an LHD, a load haul dump vehicle, I can’t recall whether the date was the 29th of April, sorry, but I think your statements correct, yes.

Q. It happened underground in the main drift, as you say?

A. Yes.
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Q. Am I correct that it wasn’t until the Wednesday of the following week that an inspector, a mines inspector, Mr Poynter attended as a result of notification from the company, notification was made earlier, he didn’t attend until Wednesday 4th May?

A. Yeah, look, I'm sorry, I'll have to accept that.  I don't know the dates on which notification occurred to the inspectorate or the dates on which the inspector attended.  I will certainly state my clear expectation and I'm sure it occurred in this case that as soon as my management was aware of the incident it would've been notified because it was certainly a notifiable incident.  When inspector attended, sorry, I don't know.

Q. You can't tell me whether when the inspector attended the vehicle had been hauled out of the drift and was in the workshop and had been stripped down already?

A. I don’t recall that I would precisely, given that it was in the main drift, then it would be very unlikely we would have left it there because clearly it would've obstructed production for the entire mine.  There would be no reason for it to be left there.  The typical procedure in the case of a situation like that is the vehicle would be locked out and unable to be used until such time as an incident had been logged, mine management had been notified and a preliminary investigation had been carried out including assessment of the risk around that vehicle at the time and around the risks associated with removing it.  Once that had been done, if the risks were judged to be acceptable to withdraw that vehicle from the mine, then that would occur.  I'm sorry, I don't know whether there's a regulatory requirement for it to have stayed in place until the inspector had visited.  If that’s the case then, and you're advising me that it wasn’t, then I'll accept that but I don’t particularly know that that’s required.

Q. Do you know whether in for example, comparable jurisdictions, the UK and New South Wales and Queensland, a vehicle that had had a fire like that is required to stay in place until the inspectorate have seen it?

A. Sorry, I don't know that.

Q. The next incident, 6th of May 2011 on the night shift a road header being used, S200, the cable flash, a high voltage cable flash.  Are you aware of that occurrence?

A. Yes I am.

Q. Notified to the inspectorate?

A. I can only say if it’s a notifiable incident then it should have been and I would be almost certain that it would've been.

Q. High voltage cable flash, potentially highly dangerous, isn't it, particularly if it’s in the presence of methane gas?

A. Sir, I need to just explain and clarify, the incident was logged as a, I believe it was a shuttle car reversing out of a working place and a worker noted a flash on the rib somewhere near the cable car.  I don't know if an investigation – I haven't read the final investigation report but that was immediately noted as a significantly concerning incident of an ignition event that it was immediately triggered a stand down and investigation.  I would also note that the additional question that was being asked about methane is actually a different question because to have a methane and ignition triggered event you require a combination of circumstances to occur together, which are, I'm sure everybody’s aware of.

Q. I accept that, sorry I was (inaudible 11:14:14) things.

A. Okay.

Q. That particular incident I am told, and I'm asking you whether you know, that the inspectorate did not attend?

A. Once again, I'm sorry, I don't know.

Q. The 19th of June 2011, a Sunday night shift, a similar cable flash incident with a CM, continuous miner, 003, a high voltage cable flash.  Are you aware of that one?

A. In fact when I said before I was aware of it I may well have been thinking of this incident.  I may have confused the two, but I certainly am aware of this one which was logged as an incident, according to my record right in front of me on the 20th of June.
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Q. The inspectorate notified?

A. If that’s our procedure and it’s a notifiable incident then I have no doubt the inspectorate would've been notified.

Q. Do you know whether the inspectorate attended that particular incident?

A. No, I'm sorry I don't and it may well be simply worth making the point here that I understand whether or not the inspectorate’s visit it is an absolutely fundamental issue for the industry, however I also would make the same point at the same time and I think this perhaps is relevant to the reason we’re here is that I view and Solid Energy views it is the company’s primary responsibility in all cases for safety in every way, however it is important that there is an informed capable inspectorate able to support the company so I'm simply wishing to make the point that whether or not the inspectorate visited would not be a primary concern for us.  That would be an inspector’s issue.  Our point is to make sure we report, investigate and learn from every incident and move forwards which I think you appreciate.

Q. The point inherent in what you're saying is for an inspector, for it to be operable it’s got to be well resourced both in monetary and (inaudible 11:16:58) manpower terms.

A. There’s probably a parallel which is that I pointed out yesterday that safety is the result of three things coming together, people, assets and processes so I imagine in the inspectorate’s case it’s the same three things, must have the right capable people who understand and are doing the right job.  They must have processes that require them and inform them to do that and they should have the assets available to them to do that which presumably includes financial resources and the ability to get to a site in a timely manner.  I'm not able to comment on any of that but I think that the parallel outside and inside a mining company is actually pretty, pretty strong there.

Q. The fourth incident, 29th of June 2011 Wednesday 8.20 pm a frictional ignition in the, when one of the development (inaudible 11:17:59)?

A. 29th of June, I'm not sure if I recall that specific incident.  Once again yesterday I reported in the last four weeks, just as I would expect Spring Creek Mine had reported seven hazards and three incidents, none of which had any actual consequences for safety so we report hazards and incidents all the time, I expect that will happen and I'm sorry this isn't one that I actually recall.

Q. The 29th of June, just a couple of weeks back.

A. Yeah, if, if you give me a little more information on it I may well be able to follow up.

Q. All I can say that it was a, I've been told a McConnell Dowell operator had been cutting stone –

A. Sorry, okay I do recall that now.  It was the date that was –

Q. – resulted in a flame something described to me as six foot high and four foot wide.

A. All right, it was the date that was troubling me because the date of our actual report may well have been the next day by the time it got logged in the system so now I do know which incident you're talking about now, yes.

Q. Notified to the mines inspectorate?

A. I'm, I'm absolutely certain it would've been.

Q. This time do you know whether the inspectorate came, Mr Firmin?

A. Again sorry I don't.  I know that our – we have a major investigation underway of that incident.  Whether the inspectorate is part of that or has attended I'm sorry I don't know.

Q. My information that Mr Firmin came on the 30th of June the day after and put a prohibition notice on the use of the particular vehicle itself?

A. That’s probably consistent with what I would expect.  I note that our internal investigation by that time had already locked that vehicle out so that prohibition notice was on top of a lock out under our own investigation and my understanding is that irrespective of a prohibition notice we still have that vehicle locked out.
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Q. Just on that vehicle, was that vehicle that was seen as being non‑compliant to safety standards?

A. No, my understanding and the investigation is still underway, so I would like to stress that this is preliminary, is that the vehicle itself was compliant and we have rigorous checks of the vehicle, but the water sprays may not have been adequately functioning at the time, which may well have been because they were clogged, I don't know, and that’s what our investigation is intended to find out.  So, I’m sorry I’m not able to answer the question more fully than that.

Q. The suggestion made, and I relay it to you, that this in fact was a non‑compliant piece of machinery that was operating under some sort of exemption?

A. I’m sorry you obviously have information from our final investigation that I don’t have because to my knowledge that file and investigation is not complete.

the COMMISSION addresses Ms mcdonald – matters arising

the COMMISSION addresses Mr Wilding – cross-examination 

cross-examination:  Mr Davidson 

Q. Dr Elder, I guess like many people involved in this enquiry you’ve had dealings with Harry Bell over the years?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And he’s to give evidence in Court today and part of the evidence that he’s giving relates to the sampling he undertook at Pike River, of coal, his comments about the sulphurous nature of the area in which he took the samples and some conclusions he reached about the ability to extract good quality coal from this resource.  Have you read his evidence in that regard?

A. I’m generally aware of what you’re saying, but no I have not read his specific evidence in detail.

Q. The reason I raise this topic with you and before the Commission is that in your evidence yesterday and I’ll simply refer to the fact of your paragraph 74, which is at the Commission reference as taken under Solid Energy’s documents 1/27, that when you took the coal or looked at the resource available at Pike River, you had reached the view that it was likely at best to qualify it as semi-hard coking coal.  That’s the view you reached?

A. It is yes.

Q. And then in 2010 you agreed to market 20,000 tonnes of the coking coal on a transparent pricing basis and you had to sell it at much lower semi-soft coking coal prices?

A. Yes and I do need to clarify that there is a difference between semi-hard which we believed it to be in general, and semi-soft a lower grade which it was finally sold at and that difference was probably due to the fact that it was a small one-off parcel from non-producing mine at the time.  So, I don't think the semi – lower semi-soft value should be necessarily attributed to the quality of the coal, but the semi-hard assessment certainly should be.

Q. The way you expressed it was that, “On average the Pike River coal was likely at best to qualify only as semi-hard coking coal.”  Put that way it suggest that that’s the upper band which it might reach and thus would influence the price in the market?

A. That's correct and there's a wide range of evidence and reasons why that is the case.
1125
Q. Just to put my question in context, you have given evidence about the tension between the planning for a mine, the extent of inquiry before development and extraction takes place and the impact of surprises that may occur and influence the very conduct of the mine itself, including safety?

A. Yes.

Q. Now I just want to get an understanding before Mr Bell gives his evidence, if this was coal of the kind you describe, so at best semi-hard on average, I think you meant that there would be pockets of potentially high quality coal?

A. Yes.

Q. We’re talking about, are we, something that’s measured by the swelling index for coal?

A. In part there are a significant number of specifications that go to valuing a coal and swelling index or related parameters are indeed an important one of those but by no means the only one, yes.

Q. Well, the swelling index is in some way relevant to measuring the coking quality of coal in some way?

A. Yes it is and I probably needed to be clear, I am not a coal quality expert but I am certainly generally and broadly very familiar with the properties that are important in establishing the value of the coal.

Q. The reason I want to raise this topic with definition at this stage is that when Mr Bell gives his evidence, I hope on a favourable response to my request for supplementary question, he describes the West Coast coal seams and therefore coal composition broadly in this way and I just want to take you to it briefly, that in the runner up a seam, in that category quality of coal, he will put Dobson and Eightmile Valley as at the top of the range as coking coals, and I better be complete with my question, in conjunction with, curious though it may seem, the lower Rewanui.  Do you know enough about the whole areas, he spent his whole life here of course, to comment on that?

A. I would never dare to question Harry Bell’s experience on the West Coast but I'm generally familiar with what you're talking about and I'd also note I think I'm right in saying there is another significant well known deposit of the Brunner seam coal which is at Stockton.

Q. Yes, the reason again it’s been raised is this, that he will put Pike in a category below the Brunner upper seam, Dobson and Eightmile Valley and into a category of the Donnolly’s the Tiller’s Black Reef mine, the Brunner mine, not the upper seam, and Pike into that broad category?

A. I'm sorry, I'm not familiar enough with most of those mines to be able to express an opinion on that, I can if you wish express an opinion on it related to the Stockton coal which I am familiar with.
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Q. Well just do that then briefly please?

A. Yep, if I'm correct that the Stockton Coal is also a part of the Brunner measures and the Brunner seam and I'm not certain on that but I believe it to be so then that was one of the reasons that Pike River and its former CEO Gordon Ward often said publicly and to us that the 
Pike River Coal was comparable to Stockton Coal which of course is a premium hard coking coal in the world market.  However, what I know about the Stockton Coal is of course there are a number of different grades of the Stockton Coal and the Pike River Coal based on its specifications was never, in our view, anywhere near the quality of the premium Stockton hard coking coal and that view was confirmed by coal technologists inside and outside Solid Energy and by customers in the market to us.
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Q. So you’ve really moved to the point that I raise in this issue that Mr Bell will say that in finding a place for Pike coal, it accords with your assessment on average, as he understands the material now presented to this Commission, but to describe it as a top class coking coal would be wrong and that it’s more in, and his using the language of his time, a thermal coal?

A. Yeah, I do need to provide a little more information to answer that because in principle the answer is yes, but I think to be fair it’s important to note that the Pike River coal has some characteristics that would be consistent with a premium hard coking coal.  It has other characteristics that would, such as – well I won’t go into the details, I can if you wish, but other characteristics that would reduce its value.  There was a plan for a washery at Pike River; the view in the market was that the original specification given by Pike for the coal as a premium hard coking coal was unlikely to be achieved.  The revised coal specification provided to us in 2010 of the coal we were provided with, was significantly inferior to that and our understanding is that – and that of coal technologists in the market is that Pike River was never able to achieve their original specification and as a result that really did confirm that even with the washery in place, the coal was unable to achieve even the mid range or at least the coal that we were provided with in 2010, did not even achieve the mid range of the semi-hard category but it did make it into the bottom end of that range.

Q. And that takes us or takes Mr Bell, I put to you finally, to the question of extracting that very good quality coal from that more sulphurous coal, doesn’t it?

A. Yes it does and one thing we never understood, but we assumed that Pike was solving this, was the separate extraction of different qualities of coal and I understand in their prospectus, for example, and previous documentation they planned to separate different qualities of coal when they were mining.  Hydraulic mining of course for extraction is not a technique that enables coal to be segregated during the mining process, so we assumed that they had some technique that we were unaware of that was going to achieve what to us looked very difficult.

coMMISSION adjourns:
11.33 am

coMMISSION resumes:
11.54 AM

legal discussion  (11:54:40) – additional brief of evidence 

cross-examination:  ms TREGONNING

Q. Dr Elder, you’ve previously been asked about the shipment of coal which you sold on  behalf –

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MS TREGONNING – HARD TO HEAR

cross-examination continues:  MS TREGONNING
Q. You’ve previously been asked questions about the 2010 one-off shipment which you sold on behalf of Pike River Coal (in receivership).  Do you remember those questions?

A. Yes.
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Q. Are you also aware that Pike River Coal had sold two shipments of coal prior to November 2010?

A. I couldn't have said two, but I was aware that it had sold a shipment, yes.

Q. You’ve got no reason to disbelieve me –

A. No.

Q. – if I tell you it was two?  And are you aware that they were sold as, “on average hard coking coal quality?”

A. I would have to ask whether you’re asking me whether I’m aware they were sold as premium hard coking coal or semi-hard coking coal because both are varieties of hard coking coal.

Q. I believe that Mr Whittall or Mr Dow will give evidence in due course that they were sold as on average hard coking coal quality.  You’ve got no reason to, to disbelieve that evidence?

A. No I don’t, but again I emphasise that my point was about the distinction between premium hard coking coal and semi-hard coking coal, so whether they’re sold as hard coking coal is less relevant than the distinction.

Q. Are you also aware Dr Elder that Pike had contracts for 70% of its production over the next three years at which the level of coal quality was hard coking coal?

A. I’m aware that I believe its Indian shareholders had contracts for most of that coal.  I don't know what the specifications were and again the distinction between hard and semi – or premium hard and semi-hard is important and I also note that those shareholders declined to take those trial shipment – sorry that 20,000 tonnes when they were approached for us to market them and we were surprised at that, but they said they were not interested in that coal.

Q. That was a one-off shipment that you’re talking about there?

A. It was indeed, but they should’ve been amongst the first people to take that coal.  We would've expected and when they didn't we believe that confirmed our view of the coal.

cross-examination:  Mr Wilding 

Q. Dr Elder I’d like to take you to paragraph 12.1 of your witness statement and that’s summation number SOL306956_1/6.  And if you’ll permit me to paraphrase please but at paragraph 12.1 you essentially say that, “Open cast mining at Pike River would not have been economic.”
A. At the time the mine was planned, that's correct, yes.
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Q. Are you able to please explain the factors that meant that at that time it wouldn’t have been economic?

A. Yes and if you'll permit me just to provide a general background to that as well, the seam at Pike River is in general in the location that it was being mined of the order of 100 metres deep or so, I don’t recall the exact seam thickness which was undoubtedly variable anyway, so the stripping ratio, in other words simplistically the amount of overburden or rock and soil over the coal seam divided by the thickness of the coal seam was of the order of 10 to one or probably significantly more than that, so in the area of – and that would be comparable all the way up to the outcrop where the overburden ratio was well understood, so what that simply means is that you have to take a lot of overburden off the coal before you actually get to the coal seam.  That costs and the higher the strip ratio the higher the overburden ratio and the greater the cost.  At the time the mine was originally planned and irrespective of the previous discussion about the difference between different grades of hard coking coal, the prices in the international market, and I'm talking 2000 to 2005, prices in the international market for hard coking coal were of the order of 50 to 75 US dollars per tonne.  At that time, and at no time between then and now, would it have been possible to open cast mine coal at a strip ratio of 10 to one in that geography and geology at a cost below US 75 dollars a tonne, which of course was an FOB price, Free On Board price at Lyttelton and therefore also had to cover and include the cost of transportation.

Q. Now, you've referred to the cost of stripping, is there also a cost associated with remediating the land after the expiry of the coal extraction?

A. There are a number of additional costs as well, the stripping cost is, if you like, the immediate variable cost but all infrastructure costs in advance, planning design costs and all costs at the end of the mine life have remediation rehabilitation and the like also have to be taken into account.

Q. In your view would it have been economic for at least part of it to have been open cast?

A. Not at prices at that time or through to about 2006 when I'm sure most of the planning was done, not in my view, no.

Q. If I could take you please to paragraph 21.5 summation document ending 12 and you say there that, “Most easily accessible shallower high quality coal on the West Coast has already been mined over the past century.”  Having regard to that are you able to express a view about whether there is a role in the future for underground coalmining on the West Coast?

A. Yes but it’s a very generic view which is that there is a role in the future for both underground and open cast mining on the West Coast and the factors that come to play are a combination of the cost to mine, the price in the market and the other factors such as safety and environmental that need to be met along the way.

Q. Are you able to express a view about whether there's a role in future for underground mining in New Zealand aside from the West Coast?

A. Yes I think there's certainly a role for underground mining in the future in New Zealand.

Q. One of the chronologies suggest that there has been a trend from underground coalmining to open cast coalmining and that as at 2010 only about 25% of coal production in that year was mined by underground methods.  Are you able to give any indication as to whether or not, in your opinion, that increasing trend towards open cast mining is likely to continue?

A. Sorry, can I just clarify, is that a global trend you're referring to?
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Q. That’s a trend just within New Zealand.

A. Within New Zealand?  So I think it’s, I think that trend is clear but I do think it’s important to note that New Zealand only has a very small number of coal mines by international standards so it’s a very small sample size.  The reason that open cast mining has mined more coal over that period is very simply that the price, the market price for coal has risen so that it has been economically viable over that period to mine coal that previously was deeper and some of our mines are very good examples of that.  If I may just explain why that is, for example the Rotowaro and Awaroa pit at the Rotowaro open cast mine in the Waikato which supplies most of Huntly Power Station’s coal is now mining at strip ratios that at their deepest are I think are approaching 
15 to one or more and that is because the price of electricity, energy and coal in the New Zealand market allows that coal to be mined at that depth whereas in 2000 to 2003, 2004 when that mine was started that deep coal would not have been economic so in the course of that open cast mine at Rotowaro we have amended our long-term mine plan to say we can take much deeper coal.  That of course has resulted in the trend that you see so the short answer really is that the increasing price for coal has allowed mining of deeper coal, increasing price in the future will allow that trend to continue but it is generally, but not always, lower cost to mine coal underground but there are many other issues that need to be balanced against the cost of the mining.

Q. If I could take you to the same document, summation number ending 19, at paragraph 44 of your witness statement you said, and this is with reference to Spring Creek in 1999 that, “There had been too little geological and resource investigation completed.”

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to explain what geological and resource investigation had been completed?

A. Yes, at that time geological and resource information is a combination of drilling to identify geological structure and seam physical characteristics and coal quality information.  The information that Spring Creek had in 1999 when it was opened was for a resource comparable to although somewhat bigger than the Pike River coalfield but not very much.  At that time we had approximately 115 drill holes from my information.  The average spacing of those was about 300 metres.  One hundred and fifteen drill holes sounds like a lot and that’s a lot to have invested in a mine and certainly at that time it was felt that was pretty good but a combination of that not being enough, not being in the right places, not being at sufficient density meant that we very quickly encountered a wide range of surprises when we were mining and learn very quickly that those drill holes at 300 metre spacings, no matter how many of them we had was nowhere near sufficient for us to meet the requirements of the JORC Code for example which is to have reasonable certainty about the continuity of seams between drill holes and when we were mining.

Q. What were the consequences of that insufficiency of information?

A. In the simplest terms we continued to be surprised on the unpleasant side in a wide range of areas when we were mining.  We continued to run into small previously unidentified faults into zones where the coal thinned and thickened in ways that mean mining was less, or less economic or more difficult or we had to change the detailed mine design or the coal quality changed and a combination of all of those meant that our production rates were inadequate and the mine effectively was uneconomic based on the mine layout and design that we’d progressed with.
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Q. Did any of those matters or the insufficiency of information impact on health and safety?

A. It’s a paramount principle that safety is always first of course.  So my belief is, no they did not.

Q. Did they impact on the extent to which you could develop the mine in a way that was consistent with good health and safety practices?

A. They certainly did and the compromise that we had to make at the mine at that time and from then on to the present, and still at the present, is that we are unable to mine as productively and economically as we would like because the health and safety risks that we’re addressing require us to compromise production and the economics of the mine and that’s a decision, that as I said yesterday, we’re always willing to make and will always make.

Q. Could I please take you to another part of your witness statement summation number ending 22.  Now if I could just take you to paragraph 59 and ask you just to expand on and explain the first sentence, which reads, “However unless the future cash expected to be generated from the mine with reasonable confidence is valued greater than the cash already invested the difference has to be written off?”

A. Yes, that’s probably an attempt to summarise an accounting principle which has to be applied at year end every year.  And if I try to express it differently it’s to say, looking forward the value of the mine in future must be greater than or equal to the value that is on the books.  If it is not then you have to write down the value on the books under the accounting principles, accounting requirements, so that the carrying value on your books is no greater than the future value you expect to be able to get out of the mine.

Q. Given the net cash shortfall position of Spring Creek at that stage are you able to explain why Solid Energy decided to carry on with it?

A. Yes.  There are two different components here.  One is what the value of the mine is on the book, which is past historical and sunk, there’s nothing you can do to change that.  The other is the future value of the mine.  So a decision to carry on with the mine is not about the past position, no matter how much money you may have already sunk and lost because that’s gone, it’s about the future value of the mine.  If the future value of the mine is positive, in other words the revenue you would receive is greater than your costs and sufficiently positive, after allowing for the investment you have to make then you are justified in considering carrying on.  So the position we were in at that time was we said, “We in hindsight should not be in this mine, it’s cost us more to get here than what we can get out, but that cash is gone.  Looking forwards the mine still has positive value we will get more in future than it will cost us to carry on mining so we were justified in carrying on forwards subject to all other matters.”

Q. Did Solid Energy undertake anymore geological coal resource investigation before carrying on?

A. Yes we did.  We have a continual programme of surface drilling.  We do in-seam drilling.  We attempt seismic surveys, which is a very good way of getting additional information.  We attempt two-dimensional seismic which is difficult in that geography and a range of other techniques.  And for example one consequence of that is that from 1999/2000 when we had 115 bore holes we continually progressed through today to the point where we now have between 360 and 400 drill holes in that resource.  I’m sorry I can’t tell you exactly which ones occurred when but it would be a continual procession of drilling those additional 300 drill hole,
300-odd drill holes during that time.
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Q. If I could take you please to summation page ending 33 and with reference to paragraphs 96 on the preceding page, but the bulk of it 97 to 101 on this page, you gave evidence yesterday as to organisational maturity and you referred to four levels.  Are you able to explain where Solid Energy is on that scale of maturity?

A. Yes I am and I think it’s important, I’ll be important to elaborate a little on that.  The University Queensland Minerals Industry Safety and Health Centre has established a system that is quite widely used and understood.  I think it’s an excellent system.  The best way to characterise organisational maturity is not to look at a snapshot of the whole organisation because while that is – may appear to be useful it actually doesn’t get down to the level of detail that you need to really manage safety.  So, this maturity, organisational maturity approach, it’s very important to note is a guide to assist organisations to understand what sort of proactive initiatives they should be taking at any point in their history.  In other words, if you’re an organisation at a regressive or reactive maturity level, right at the bottom of the curve, then implementing the sorts of initiatives that are appropriate for resilient, very resilient mature companies are likely to be ineffective.  They will come out of the book and tell you that these are the best initiatives you can take, but if your organisation is not ready to take them then they’re likely to be largely wasted.  So in that regard it’s important to look at each component of an organisation in addition to the organisation itself, each business area with org – in an organisation, each mine or operation within that organisation and potentially even components within that mine.  So, within that framework if I can give you my answer, it’s the belief at Solid Energy that we have progressed significantly from a maturity level, perhaps 10 years ago, that was – or more than 10 years ago that was not much better than regressive, through the reactive maturity level on average to a level now that I believe is probably somewhere near planned and moving towards proactive.  It is certainly not at proactive yet and it is certainly not at resilient.  Within the organisation, with Solid Energy I believe we have a number of different operations that would be at the lower end of that range, potentially still moving from the reactive to the planned stage.  We also have some operations that I would regard as in the proactive stage and striving to, but still a long way from the resilient phase.  That would probably be consistent with most mining companies.  There would be a very small number of very good companies whom we benchmark against, who I would consider are where we would think is resilient, however, when I talk to them they say, “No, they regard themselves as planned to proactive,” because this is a continually moving benchmark.

Q. Is there a formal process, pursuant to which that level of maturity is assessed?

A. We do have processes in place that we have used to assess our maturity and they have included asking our employees, our staff, our management, in our mines and at our operations to carry out then own self-assessments and what’s interesting and I think very positive is that when you do that one of the things that we’ve found is that our employees, if they are working well and very honest, tend to assess themselves and their own operation much lower on the curve than I as chief executive or our senior management would and I think that’s very, very healthy.
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Q. Is that process one that Solid Energy’s come up with or is it a process suggested by some external agency?

A. No, that entire process is based on the University of Queensland and the Queensland Minerals Industries Centres approach which is very well documented and in fact it is based on an approach that they run extensive industry training courses for, I think it’s probably worth noting that the shorthand for those is G2, G3, G4 courses.  These are risk based training courses that contain all this information.  It’s highly relevant I think to all approaches to safety in New Zealand in future because of the Queensland approach which really is a benchmark and the way in which that is carried into Solid Energy is that the G3 training course, which is I think internationally the benchmark training course on risk management for safety and other risks, is a one week long training course.  We have now run I think pretty close to 100 people in Solid Energy through that course and many more through the shorter G2 and G4 courses and the gains in understanding knowledge, processes and behaviour from doing that have been immense.

Q. When you refer to 100 people having been run through it, at what levels of your organisation were they?

A. Yes, the G3 course generally targets people from the supervisory level through to senior management, however a number of our executive management people have been through it.  I myself have been through the G4 training course which is intended for executive management on the board.  The G2 training course is targeted more at the supervisory level within the mine, close to the coal face, we’ve run many people through those courses as well.  We consider that effectively an almost critical but certainly key part of our entire training.

Q. Is that level of maturity ever externally reviewed?

A. Two answers to that and in both cases the answer is partially.  The training courses do include an element of assessment at the end by the external trainer, so this isn't simply go and sit there for five days, it involves a lot of hands-on practical work and assessment at the end of that and certification or effectively issues of a certificate at the end of that.  The second way in which it’s externally reviewed is we have continuous, I shouldn't say continuous, regular external assessment in auditing of our safety in Solid Energy and many other processes by independent external experts right up to and including at board level and we have an external advisor to the company who is an advisor to the board and myself who is an internationally acknowledged safety expert and who also plays a similar role with some of the world’s major mining companies and that person for example, provides very direct and specific assessment of where Solid Energy is and what we know and much more importantly perhaps what we don’t know that we don’t know and perhaps for the record I ought to state the name, it’s America’s Professor Jim Galvin, who I think will be well known to many of the people in the industry.

Q. Are you able to briefly outline the process followed by those external assessments?

A. I don’t believe we are yet at the level where we are providing on a consistent and highly systematic basis the level of external review and assessment of our progress along the maturity curve.  We have done it to date on a more ad hoc and informal basis recognising that our focus at present is on improving rather than measuring where we are.
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Q. To what extent is the board’s view of health and safety and any issues that arise in relation to health and safety fed back to the employees at the coalface?

A. To a significant extent in a wide range of ways.  They range from board visits, inspections and, at mines and those visits and inspections usually include a component where the board is carrying out independent observations and reviews which are documented and fed back to management and to mine personnel right through to the board obtaining and receiving independent audits or safety processes at the mine which are reported to it, which it then discusses and reviews with management and expects to be provided back to the mine, obviously as a routine part of the process.  And on a number of occasions the board specifically asks me and the senior management team to convey specific messages to the mine or to mines or to operations and has a direct line of sight with, transparent line of sight to receive some very significant and similar information on incidents, for example, to that that I’ve described I received and they have the ability to, and regularly do, request that management from mine operations attend at, for example, the board health and safety, Health Safety Environment Committee to discuss specific incidents, to review investigation reports and at those meetings specific feedback from the board and members of the board back to management occurs and is fed back directly to other people at the mine.  So it’s quite broad and very specific as well.

Q. So at a practical level what’s the role of employees who work in a mine in health and safety?

A. There are obviously a range of roles.  They start with training so that an employee in the mine understands the environment in which they’re working.  And perhaps I could refer to clause 93 in my evidence.  So training so that the people understand the environment in which they’re working, 93.3, the processes they’re expected to follow, which in general are standardised and they’re required to comply with, 93.4, and understand and are trained to use the equipment they’re working with, 93.5.  So those are the three key elements I would say but in addition to that obviously, as I’ve said a number of times, any employee, and this is in our board approved delegated authorities and stated clearly any person in the company has the authority at any time to stop a task, stop a work process, or if necessary stop an activity or even an operation if they believe there’s a need to do that for the sake of safety, risk to safety but also risk to the environment or key risks to assets, for example, and those occasions can and do occur.  So the role of an employee is quite broad.  There are no limitations on employees, in my view, that would prevent them from complying with our safety principles, our safety policy statement or with the requirements and obligations on them under either our internal policies and systems or statutory requirements.

Q. Would it be fair to say that for an employee to be able to perform that role, for example to stop a task, then there has to be a culture within the company which essentially allows that employee to do so without any concern?

A. It would be absolutely fair to say that, that’s a fundamental part of that, yes.

Q. So how is that encouraged?

A. It’s more than encouraged, it’s required and expected under our policies and as I noted previously it’s stated in a range of our policies.  It’s a part of our training process.  It’s encouraged in two ways.  First, through positive reinforcement which I believe in fact now occurs when an employee does something like that and, second, in the reverse an employee who doesn't actually follow that is in breach of our safety requirements and other than a range of other investigations related to an incident can be, and generally will be, subject to disciplinary processes so it goes both ways and that’s not just about staff and face workers’ employees, that’s anybody up to and including myself.
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Q. In your view is it possible to measure that culture?

A. Culture is a very difficult concept to measure but behaviours which are in some definer culture are perhaps the better way to consider it because you can identify what behaviours you expect.  You can observe those behaviours and you can compare them to expectations, monitor them, record them, report them and do something about them and if I put that into a slightly broader context the world of safety for many years was about tracking what we call lag indicators such as the number of accidents, the injury rate in a given period of time and so on.  As you become a more mature organisation you focus more and more on lead indicators.  Lead indicators are the indicators of things that could potentially cause safety risks if not addressed and many good lead indicators are behaviour based.  The best example I can give you is are people reporting hazards as they are seen in the mine or are there many unreported hazards.  One of the single most important lead indicators is are they reporting hazards as they occur?   Are they reporting them accurately?   Are they doing something about them and are they followed up?  And as I've said we have reports of very many hazards in a great deal of detail, some of which probably people would say look trivial but they never are.

Q. Can you just give us a few examples of some hazards that you say might look trivial but perhaps aren’t?

A. Yes, I will.  Let me think if I refer, as I already have, to a quick examination of the hazards report at Spring Creek in the last month, one of the hazards reported was by an employee was, the roadway appeared dry.  Now on face value roadway appearing dry might well, might well look like something, well that’s actually probably going to make life a bit easier and there would be plenty of people who would say, “A dry roadway that’s good, that makes my life easier,” but in fact, and I don't know who the employee was reported it but the employee reported that knowing from their training that in fact a dry roadway is an indication that there’s potential for coal dust and there was a need for some action to be taken, whether it was to provide water, whether it was to remove coal dust or provide some stone dusting on or around the roadway so that would be one example.  The second example I see here would be a missing hacksaw.  This came through to my email that somebody had said they went to a toolbox to find a hacksaw and there was no hacksaw.  Now you'd say, hacksaw missing, that probably happens at home every day when you go to the garage and your son’s been at it, but in fact the reality is that a person looking for a hacksaw at some point in the future might be looking at it, looking for it because they need it urgently for a task related to an urgent safety action.  If it’s not there there’s a reason for it not being there and it should be there so that was reported as an incident and the employee who reported it, reported it as an incident that could have a high consequence and I would support that.

Q. I'm going to return to the data shortly, but can you just answer this?  If we take the example of the dry roadway, for that to be reported it relies essentially on there being sufficiently trained and experienced staff to understand that that might be a hazard?

A. Yes, but could I add it also requires, back to your further question, it requires the behaviour to be exhibited which there’s that I'm not going to ignore that.  I appreciate that that’s a hazard and I will report that even though that might reflect on my mate.
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Q. Given the importance of suitably trained and experienced staff is there any particular ratio of experienced to inexperienced staff that Solid Energy would consider appropriate in a mine?

A. Ideally it would be an infinite ratio of experienced to inexperienced.  Of course that’s not reality, I don't think there is an absolute ratio, I do believe each of our mines has considered that issue and considered how many trainee mine workers they believe are appropriate at any given time in the mine as a total and also how many trainee mine workers and a trainee mine worker may be for a period of a number of years, not just the day they arrive, how many trainee mine workers you would allow to be in a given crew on a specific shift surrounded by more experienced mine workers.  I’m sorry I don’t have the specific numbers at hand because this is a judgement thing, we would expect each mine to provide based on the specific work tasks being carried out.

Q. I presume that’s information that Solid Energy would be willing to provide at a later point?

A. Yes, again if I could just confirm what I’ve said though, that is probably a moving number that’s a judgement at the time ongoing as opposed to something that would be set in a policy statement, that would be a judgement applied at the time under the mine’s specific management system.

Q. Your report referred to gathering all this information about behaviours and in particular hazards being reported.  How is that gathered?

A. In a range of different ways.  The first and perhaps the most important one is that when any activity is being conceived conceptually and planned and this might range from the planning for an entire new Greenfield mine, through to the daily or hourly planning of a new task that has to be carried out, then our procedures and systems expect there will be risk assessment carried out as a part of that and that’s a part of our approach that I think I’ve described before.  So, that risk assessment focuses and uses a range of specific tools to do this on identifying the hazards that could occur in the future if the decision was made to progress forward with that activity from a new mine through to a task.  Then as the task is approached there will be a series of specific risk assessments that will become more and more specific.  As I come now down to operations and specific task activities there will be task specific risk assessments carried out and a job specific risk assessments carried out particularly where there is any change from previously – from previous operating conditions, the environment, the work process and the like, and change is a particular trigger for carrying out risk assessment.  These go right down to, for example, what we call Take 5s, which is a concept very common in the industry where all our employees and I have my own, although I don’t have it here with me today, a Take 5 booklet.  A Take 5 booklet is nothing more or less than a very simply little book you can carry around in your pocket that summarises that risk matrix I showed yesterday, summarises the sorts of hazards you might expect to occur, has the statement that you’re expected to follow of health and safety policies and procedures, but then a simple little sheet about, about that sort of size, which has room to identify what am I about to do, what are the hazards or risks associated with this, what might the consequences be, what am I going to do about that and is it okay to continue or do I need to do something else before I carry on.  Those books and then hazard – little hazard forms that are exactly the same, are carried around by employees all the time and if you see a hazard such as a missing hacksaw, all you have to do, assuming you assess it as not something that needs to stop the operation around you, quickly pull out your note, jot down, hacksaw missing, time, date, reason, issue around that, assessment of risk and then you pass it to your supervisor and it’s passed on from there.  So there, there’s a range of ways all those things occur from big picture right down to minute detail.
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Q. And those hazard reports for example, the Take 5 Hazard reports from employees, are they then gathered together centrally?

A. Yes they are which is why we – a central repository, we have a system called impact which is simply the brand name of it which logs all hazards, all incidents, processes them, allows analysis of them and then automatically reports them, that’s why within I think 24 hours of an employee writing a little hazard report that there was a hacksaw missing was in my email in my folder of incident logs for the day and why I was aware of that.

Q. When an analysis is being conducted of those what are you looking for?

A. Obviously a wide range of things, but in particular you're looking for patterns, so you need to be able to group information together to identify where are trends or where is information that’s particularly useful to you so one of the first things you're looking to do is to be able to categorise hazards or incidents into a range of types and we would have 15, 20, 30 categories for underground mining, you can have as few as five or you can have as many as several 100 if you wanted, but that’s an appropriate number in our view.  So, you can then see how many incidents of a certain type you are having within each category.  When you see those you're then looking for some specific things and this is a very important learning from our journey in safety if you like.  You're looking to see where are there repeat incidents of a certain type, because repeat incidents of a certain type that have a significant safety risk are an indication that we didn’t learn last time and we’ve managed to allow this to happen twice without doing something about that.  That is obviously a behaviour and a cultural signal but it’s also an indication there is a specific issue with that activity, that hazard that needs to be addressed because sooner or later if it carries on it might occur in such a way that there are consequences rather than no consequences.  The final step, and this is a very significant learning for us, is to look at repeat incidents of a specific type and identify repeat incidents that are also what we call zero barrier incidents, and if I can just explain what that means because this is probably getting a bit specific, would you like me to carry on?

Q. No, please carry on.

A. Can I perhaps ask people to imagine the concept of a bow tie, that’s the easiest way I can explain this and this is a standard industry concept and again it’s part of that risk assessment work from Queensland.  Imagine at the left hand end of a bow tie you've got all the range of hazards that you could find, you're always looking for them, they’ll always be there, you’re continually trying to eliminate and reduce them but there will always be hazards.  Several steps through that bow tie, each of those steps represents a set of measures you can take, initiatives you can take or controls you can put in place to eliminate that hazard or to prevent it occurring, staying in place in such a way that it can actually lead to an incident, so what's an example of the difference between a hazard on the left hand end of the bow tie and an incident which is the knot in that bow tie.  A hazard at the left hand end may be something as simple as, let’s see, a roadway that is becoming dryer.  A series of things you can obviously do to prevent that, as I've said before, from making sure it stays wet to making sure there's no coal dust in place, excessive coal dust around it to making sure all your stone dusting which is applying lime to prevent coal dust being accessible in the case of an explosion, all those things can be done.  They represent steps up to an incident.  The incident would be – so that’s the hazard, the incident would be if all those controls have failed and in fact there is now some event occurs, perhaps with a small source of ignition or it may be related to bogging down of a piece of equipment, so not just safety related, where something happens and you're now at the knot in the bow tie, there’s been an incident where the barriers and controls have failed.
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A. That’s not the end of it because now you have to ask what the consequences of that are.  So after you have an incident you move out the right-hand side of your bow tie where progressively there should be in controls and place to prevent incident having consequences that could get progressively worse and worse, whether they are safety, environmental or related to production or assets.  If all those controls progressively fail the bow tie gets bigger, the consequences get worse and eventually you can end up with catastrophic consequences.  So the bow tie is a very good way, which we talk about all the time, to imagine the things you need to do and to review and document and control the things you need to do to prevent a wide range of hazards, eventually leading to an incident, which then leads to consequences which progressively worse and worse.

Q. You referred to repeat incidences.  When you have a repeat incident does that cause you to inquire into the circumstances that gave rise to it and in particular with a view to whether or not, for example, the practices or design of the particular operational system are right?

A. In fact more than that.  You don’t need a repeat incident to do that.  Any incident requires an investigation, not just a repeat incident, and the nature of that investigation will, is specified and will depend on the nature of it and the risk.  A repeat incident is much more than that.  It’s a clear signal that the investigation of the previous occurrence of that incident didn’t result in changes in controls or behaviour or process to prevent that occurring again by definition.  So the repeat incident investigation would investigate not only why it occurred but also would step further back to say what failed organisationally to prevent that, that would’ve prevented that occurring twice.  

Q. And just to clarify, when you say, “instant”, am I right in inferring that that is a broader category of events than accidents that have to be notified to the Department of Labour pursuant to the Health and Safety and Employment Act ’92?

A. Very much broader.  Perhaps I can give a more simple example that’s probably easier for us all to understand.  A four-way intersection in a city, in a town, represents a hazard, it represents the hazard that two vehicles may be in the same place at the same time travelling at speed and will have an accident.  So that is a hazard.  There are various controls in place to prevent that.  One of them is simply road markings and Stop signs in driver training.  So if a person comes up to a Stop sign and drives through it without looking and without stopping that hazard has now become an incident because they have breached a range of controls, that last barrier is removed, there is now nothing to stop an incident occurring.  The question of whether there’s a consequence to that depends on whether there now happens to be another vehicle coming along who expected that driver to stop and turned out to have their vehicle in the same place a the same time.  So that’s perhaps an easier way to understand the difference between a hazard and an incident.

Q. Would I be correct then in assuming that the category of incident to which you’ve referred is also broader than the category of accidents which have to be recorded at the company’s office under the Health and Safety and Employment Act?

A. Very, very, very much broader.  I would, I suspect based on our own records, I don’t know the exact number but I think I can make a good estimate, that we would record probably hundreds if not thousands, many thousands, of hazards and many hundreds, if not thousands, of incidents for every incident that actually has consequences that would require us to report it.  And it’s my expectation that we would be doing that all the time.

Q. Are there industry statistics regarding the level and type of incident that might be expected in underground mines within New Zealand?

A. Are there industry, sorry can you repeat the question for me please?
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Q. Are there industry statistics regarding the level and type of incidents that could be expected in an underground mine in New Zealand?

A. Internally in Solid Energy we would have now a very good database of these.  Probably I need to note that historically we’ve been about 80% of the production in the industry so the industry database is probably not that good because there simply haven't been enough mines in 
New Zealand recently with current mining methods for that to be well compiled but I may well be wrong on that and this is not intended to be any implication for what does or doesn't exist, I'm simply not aware.  Our approach though is to say we need a very broad data set for those statistics so we regularly go to Australia or internationally and the Australian data set reporting, and information of course is very good, need to express a note of caution regarding bringing data from Australia to New Zealand for our specific conditions but that having been said in general the learnings are very good and our belief would be that tapping into that is probably the most valuable way to get additional information outside our own internal database.

Q. I ask because one would assume that if there was a discrepancy between the level of the nature and types of instance that might be expected in the industry and those being reported within Solid Energy that that might be an indication that something’s not right.  Is that a fair comment?

A. I think it could be, but again I would have to caution it’s a very small number of mines and therefore a very small data set so the statistical validity of drawing those conclusions you would have to look at carefully before you drew a final conclusion but in principle I suppose they should be correct.

Q. Well if we take an example.  If from one of your mines there was a significantly low level of reporting of a particular type of incident than those which you would historically expect, would that cause you to question why?

A. It would and it does, yes.

Q. And so do you analyse the reporting data to see if there is such a discrepancy?

A. Yes, we do on a regular basis.

Q. And what happens if a discrepancy’s identified?

A. It would obviously depend where it’s identified.  There’s a great deal of communication occurs all the time between different operations and at management level, but if it were identified for example at the executive or board level then very likely the first person to be asked the question would be the National Manager of Health and Safety who would be asked to explain the data, verify our understanding of it and assuming that our gap was correctly confirmed then the National Health and Safety Manager would then be asked to go away, investigate it, and report back on that to us and also to follow up on why that occurred and to provide an action that needed to be implemented to address it.

Q. Can you perhaps return to your witness statement please and summation page ending 34?  If I can direct you to paragraph 103.2 please, you’ve said that hydraulic mining is a method that is not common and introduces an additional set of risks.  Can I ask you two questions, and the first is, an additional set of risks compared to what?
A. An additional set of risks compared to in particular mining using the conventional mechanised mining approach, using continuous miners would be the most obvious response.
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Q. What are those additional sets of risks?

A. Yes, there are a range of them and I think I have discussed them earlier in my evidence but the first set of risk is simply the risk associated with doing something differently that has not been done so many times in such a wide spread way before that every aspect of it is well understood, that’s a standard principle in all safety, not just in mining, not just in underground mining, that when there is a new process or a process with which everybody is not completely familiar, then by definition there are almost certainly additional risks.  So that’s probably the first comment on that and hydraulic mining is not a common method internationally and there is not a widespread body of expertise on it nationally or for that matter even in New Zealand notwithstanding that it’s being used in a number of locations in New Zealand.  The second risk is more to do with the process and the geological environment itself.  Continuous mining using a mechanised miner is designed to provide, as I said yesterday, call it a tunnel, a minimum sized tunnel which may have a range of different roles or types, simply to get people, equipment and infrastructure to the end of that, end of that to a location where you’re extracting coal back.  So because it’s designed to be the minimum possible size and in fact the less coal you can take out while doing that the better, it has relatively little impact on the environment around it, so it has a set of its own risks, but they are actually relatively well understood and managed.  Hydraulic mining in the extraction process is almost the opposite of that.  Your intent is to take out as much coal as possible and leave as little as possible behind, consistent only with the safe mine design that you have.  So, by definition you’re removing every bit of support to the coal seam, support to the location that you’re working at as you’re moving backwards from the location of extracting coal.  You’re expecting the roof to collapse after you’ve removed the coal because it no longer has support and when that roof collapses, first you need to ensure its collapsing well away from and after you’ve left that location and second and this is particularly important I think, when that roof collapses you’re now freeing up any and all of the gas that was available in what coal remained to suddenly be rapidly expelled into the, the space and expelled out into the working place, into the tunnel that accesses that place and in a relatively uncontrolled and sudden manner which, which does occur with hydraulic mining.  So, you need a very, very different set of controls particularly for gas management and ventilation to make sure that rather than just dealing with very slow steady progress in mining coal and generally slow steady gas output from the coal ahead of you, you’re actually able to deal with a very big large sudden unexpected and surges of gas that can be difficult to quantify.  That’s a major risk for hydraulic mining that is quite difficult to assess.

Q. In that same paragraph you’ve talked about requiring highly specialist expertise.  I’ll ask you two questions, first can you outline, just briefly the areas of expertise that in your opinion are needed to plan and operate an underground mine.

A. Yes.  This is a pretty major question, so if I may I’ll try and sort of start by simplifying it into groups of expertise or functions and then perhaps if I could move forwards from there to answer it in more detail and if you’ll allow me just to check on some notes I have here.

coMMISSION adjourns:
1.00 pm

coMMISSION resumes:
2.02 PM
cross-examination continues:  MR WILDING

Q. Dr Elder, before we broke I think I had just asked you to outline the areas of expertise that in your opinion are necessary to plan and operate an underground coal mine?

A. Yes, so I’d like if I may to start by separating into broad categories before I move into the specialty areas because there are many of them, but I think there are probably four broad categories of expertise capability required.  The first is in the resource assessment phase which is the exploration, the geology, the geotechnical work, the coal quality assessment.  The second area is in mine planning at a broad level both conceptual and then more detailed.  The third is the technical specialist areas for detailed design of every aspect of the mine that’s infrastructure, it’s appropriate equipment and so on and then the fourth is in the operational management including the planning of all the, and design of all the processes, setting up of the standard operating procedures and systems and then management of production, management of people, management of the assets and infrastructure in the mine and safety and environmental management so those are the four broad categories.  Within each of those I could continue to break it down into sub-categories and then into a detailed number of specialist areas of capability if you wish.

Q. Well if you could and perhaps if we start then with the first you mentioned which was the resource assessment phase?

A. Yes, so the resource assessment phase is about, as I said in my evidence, making sure that when you start to plan the layout and the design of the mine you have sufficient information so that at that phase you are not creating difficulties that will be difficult or impossible at any later stage in the life of the mine to address so that includes an exploration programme that obviously is eventually designed to meet the JORC categories for the resource, all the drill holes that go with that, the geological assessment, collecting information from a wide range of sources, geophysical, visual, sampling and drill holes, assessing the coal quality and getting samples and analysis done on that, quality assessment of course of all that data, preparing resource estimates and then preparing geological and hazard plans based on all that information and then moving on from that, mapping all that together, getting a clear picture of structural geology that’s appropriate for the JORC category at that stage of the mine planning and then a range of additional collection of resource information and assessment through the operational stages of a mine.  And for that you obviously need exploration geologists, resource modellers with the capability to go with that, surveyors, mine or production geologists as well and coal quality specialists, coal quality geologists, and moving on from there, technical marking – marketing specialists who understand the coal quality and its value in use for a particular sale to a particular customer.
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Q. Accepting that each mine is different, so if we take the example Spring Creek, putting to one side what actually happened at Spring Creek how long might that phase be expected to take?

A. That’s obviously to a large extent a function of the geology and the location.  In a – as an example, in Queensland with a very big continuous coal seam for many, many kilometres, it might actually be relatively straight forward if the seam is very quickly understood from a small number of drill holes or outcrop information, then that information could be easily extrapolated if the information is consistent, that might be something that might take months to a small number of years to get a pretty good assessment to a reasonable JORC category.  In the West Coast of the South Island in New Zealand’s – in our geological conditions here, our experience is that even with intense use of a large number of drill rigs, considerable number of experienced geologists, it would be my view and I guess a hard-bitten view based on 11 years of experience in Solid Energy that woe betide us if we attempt to do that and expect that it will take probably less than four, five six years and sometimes up to seven or eight years, because you have to continually cycle round, collect the information, assess what it means, compile your structural model, do conceptual planning based on that, identify where the issues are, identify the gaps, go back and fill them in again and compl – carry on iterating around that until you’re satisfied that effectively you have a measured resource that goes out five or 10 years of future production and an economic reserve that you’re able to work with.
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Q. And when you refer to measured resource does that mean that you would want to have a measured resource in terms of the JORC Code before you move on to that next stage you mentioned of mine planning?

A. No, sorry, the two go very closely hand in hand at that point, the mine planning process is one of using the information you've got available so you can develop a conceptual mine plan based on very early information, a limited amount of information and you'll recall the five stages of planning that I referred to at the first - the conceptual phase and you'll keep on adding information as you move through the conceptual phase through to the assessment phase, the prefeasibility phase, the feasibility phase, but you will generally be targeting moving those forwards and parallel because the consequences of not doing that is either, on the one hand, you do an enormous amount of very expensive exploration drilling and then find that it wasn’t justified because you didn’t have a mine plan at all, or alternatively you develop your mine plan far too early, set that in stone and don’t have enough information so it’s very much a balance of those moving forwards together, continually iterating them which is why the five step process that we use, and which is pretty standard internationally, is so important, you try not to get ahead of yourself in any one area.

Q. Right, so when you refer to four matters, resource assessment phase, mine planning phase, technical specialist areas and then operational management, they shouldn't be taken as setting a chronological order?

A. No, they’re certainly not chronological, there's obviously a degree of chronology associated with those, the resource assessment phase is dominant up front, but then it continues right through, the mine planning phase then kicks in and continues on from there and you're never out of that, you're always revisiting the mine planning and the mine design.  The technical specialist areas other than the geology and the resource areas and the mine planning tend to come in a bit later on once you move from conceptual mine planning and layout to specific mine design and if you want I'll talk about those sorts of capabilities, and the operational management shouldn't just be left to the end but primarily comes in later because you need to be able to take account, even in the early mine planning, of how you might be running a mine, how you might be operating a mine so that you can identify the aspects of geological information you may need to focus on to be able to operate a mine safely, some of the specialist areas you might need and in the mine planning, ways in which you may lay out the mine to make it operationally effective.

Q. So what are the areas of expertise you need for the mine planning aspect?

A. Well, if I look at the areas of expertise by what you're trying to do, rather than immediately by who they would be, you're looking to understand the best possible most economic and safest layout for the mine and for the infrastructure that goes in it which includes things like access to the seam in the first place, then the ventilation layout within the mine and the services that are required to support that, drainage because there's always water in mines and how you're going to drain the mine and dewater it, the strata control, you've basically got a series of different strata in the mine, the coal seam is different from the rock around it so to understand how to make sure the mine supports the roof and can be worked in safely without unexpected collapses obviously and the pillars which are the places you leave support of the overlying overburden and that you don’t mine, which are left there obviously to do that, then your coal clearance system, how you get the coal out of the – how you're going to get the coal out of the mine, is it going to be by a pump slurry or a conveyor for example.  How you’re going to get the workers and the mine equipment and materials into the mine.  So what’s commonly called men and materials transport and access.  The services to the mine, you have an enormous number of services always going on in and out of the mine so how to provide those, both the infrastructure and the access for people who are always supporting those and providing mine services.  The coal handling and the distribution through the mine and at the surface and out of the mine and then the production equipment itself.  So they all lead to schedules, life of mine schedules for how all that integrates together and that leads to the life of mine cost model or economic model for the mine.  So the capabilities – presume you’d like me to go on to who would you expect for that?
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Q. Thank you.

A. The capabilities you’ll want both mining engineering specialists, people who are familiar with planning a mine for that sort of mining method and that sort of environment and civil engineering specialists as well because there are a number of civil engineering aspects to many of these.  Probably mechanical and engineering specialists, ventilation engineers.  You’ll continue to need geologists and geotechnical engineers, coal process and engineers for the processing of the coal and getting those processes right, equipment suppliers, and then the operational, which presumably should move onto, includes again as you move to the operational phase because all that process is continuing.  You don’t just do it before you start the mine and then set it in stone for the life of the mine.  You’re continually reworking that all the time.  So on an ongoing basis you’re going to need those, particularly ventilation engineers because nothing is ever exactly as you designed it.  You always should be revisiting that.  The geologists and the geotechnical engineers should always be checking what they’ve found against what they expected and revising plans and details of the design, mechanical electrical engineers and all the trades that go with those processes.  So all of those capabilities would be in place at pretty much any large modern mine.
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Q. The third item you referred to is technical specialist areas and can you just explain first what you mean by that?

A. Yes, there was probably a time in the past where underground mines were probably largely worked by hand.  They were relatively shallow and you didn’t try to take large volumes of coal out of the mines so you might’ve only taken 10 or 15% of the resource and left the other 85% in so basically you were just tunnelling in and taking the coal out.  In those times probably coalmining was, there were a lot of specialist areas of knowledge required but they tend to be based on experience built up.  Modern mining is much, much more difficult to get right I believe because the production processes involve everything happening very much faster.  The production per person from a modern mine is very much higher than it used to be.  You're using sophisticated equipment, whether it’s mobile equipment and mobile plant or the infrastructure in a mine, you're likely to be mining deeper in more difficult coal in more difficult conditions and doing all of that much faster so the ability to simply say somebody with appropriate experience can provide the knowledge that you require for the detailed mine design in every aspect is, the likelihood of a person having all that expertise is very low.  Instead you need expertise across a range of areas that are highly technical, probably involve data analysis and modelling of different kinds as well as experience in areas like strata control, roof support, rib support, because the techniques we use today to do those putting up props, they’re putting up roof bolts that are drilled in and the analysis of those is a technical art, it is a technical specialty so strata control to stabilise the mine around the openings you're putting into it is the first area.   Gas control and drainage, most but not all mines have, especially deeper mines, have some degree of gas and methane generally in them so the expertise you need is to be able to assess how much, how it will come out, at what rate, under what conditions in different methods of mining and different places in the mine so you need specialist gas ventilation and gas drainage engineers and then you need to correlate that back or tie that back into your particular mining approach in that area so tie that back in with the mining engineer’s expertise in that area.  The ventilation systems themselves is separate from just the gas drainage component.  Ventilation can be a relatively simple rule of thumb or increasing in large complex modern mines, especially mines that have a combination of different mining methods is actually exceptionally complex and internationally there are many people who are ventilation engineers and most mines would probably have a ventilation engineer or should have a ventilation engineer as a part of the mine staff, but on top of that you would expect to access ventilation specialists who can advise you based on broad experience and knowledge and analytical and modelling capability on specialist aspects of that help you with the design, the understanding the analysis and the modification as you go forwards and then our experience is that in the conditions that we’ve encountered in fact the combination that we have on the West Coast of the complex and highly variable geology and the nature of the coal seams which is quite steep in large thick coal seams combined with the mining methods that we have with hydraulic mining which, as I said this morning, involves large, potential for large slugs of gas to come out unexpectedly with variable quantities means that you need to have a very, very highly skilled set of eyes and set of, and expertise to be able to really anticipate and understand the way in which gas might come out and the way in which you might most effectively ventilate a mine and for example at present Spring Creek Mine is ventilation restricted because our original layout of the mine doesn't allow us to provide enough ventilation through all places in the mine we would like to work so as a result we work at fewer places in the mine than ideally we might like to, to be able to make sure that we have enough ventilation in each of those places to deal with the gas.  Sounds simple and obvious but in fact the analysis and assessment and design of the ventilation system to optimise it, to make sure at each given place you’ve got six cubic metres a second of fresh air, but perhaps eight or nine cubic metres a second, that involves very specialist expertise and even in Australasia around the world, there’s actually a relatively small number of people who are able to assess good ventilation design at that level of expertise.–
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Q. So if I just can clarify there, does that mean that insofar as hydraulic mining is concerned you need not just a ventilation expert, but a ventilation expert who understands the additional risks and challenges that might result from hydraulic mining?

A. Yes that's correct and that doesn’t necessarily mean somebody who is a unique international expertise, it may well mean your ventilation engineer at the mine has a number of years of good and varied experience in hydraulic mining in those sorts of conditions, but if you don’t have that then obviously the, the next best or maybe the better step is to find somebody who is an international expert and has enough broad knowledge and expertise to be able to say, even though I’m not that familiar with that, I do understand it and combined with your local ventilation engineer and geologists working together we can assess it because obviously you don’t always have access to somebody who’s been around in those conditions for many years.

Q. Thank you carry on please.

A. So then we move on to another area of expertise might be monitoring systems and there’s a lot of monitoring always go on in a mine, but gas monitoring would be a prime example.  You need to design and locate, get your gas sensors at the locations that they are going to be useful to you as opposed to just either random locations or generic locations.  You need to have equipment that’s going to give you the information you need.  It needs to reflect the mine layout and your objectives for the mine and your knowledge of the mine ventilation.  There are a range of different gas monitoring systems.  You need to be able to analyse the geological information as a part of your gas monitoring to understand what sort of gas make or gas output you’re expecting in different locations in the mine.  You need to understand the different gases you’ll get under different conditions and you need to understand very well when you’re getting information what that information means and it’s certainly my learning watching this over 11 years that you can get a lot of information, but not necessarily have a good understanding of what it means and there are specialists specially from Australia who are widely used in the industry who understand that very well and they will regularly be called in to support the ventilation engineer, the mining engineer and others.  So, through the operational phase you need people qualified in all those areas working together.

Q. You referred to the need to have gas sensors at a place and the phrase was, “useful to you”, can you just explain what’s meant by that?

A. Yes and I’d like to make it clear at this stage, I’m not a ventilation engineer and I’ve never pretended to be, so I know probably just enough to be useful at my level, but I’m – I don’t want to pretend that I know detailed answers here.

Q. That can be accepted.

A. So in a mine such as Spring Creek or mines in the – underground mines in the West Coast that are shall we say moderately gassy, and that can be a reasonably wide range from the low end to the high end.  Understanding where gas can come from in what quantities at different times in the mining process and for in different places and where that gas is likely to go or build up and in what quantities and how it’s likely to be flushed is really important.  My experience and learnings are continuing in this area along with a lot of others I think, to say that probably – let’s see, you need to always assume there are things you don’t know and there are places that could be gas build-ups that you’re not monitoring.  You need to try and anticipate those and the process I talked about this morning of risk assessment is critical for that.  Risk assessment is the tool for saying, not what do we know, but where is there a risk there might a gas issue.  So, on the basis of that you will be wanting to monitor anything from gas concentrations in your return airways as the – I should take a step back I’m sorry if I may.  
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A. Te process of ventilation in a mine is about having air that is extracted out of a mine that sucks air down your intake airways, flushes through the places that you want to ventilate and then sucks it back out your return airways and expels it, so from the intake airways you should have fresh air and in the return airways you will have air that contains the gas that’s taken out of the mine.  So, the total make of gas, the total quantity of gas from the mine can be measured at the point that all the air comes back out of the mine if you like, you go back down from there, you get to each working place and there may be three, four or five or more working places in the mine that the intake air is separated, goes round those places and all comes back together, in each one of those places you should know what total gas make you're expecting from those, first at the point that it’s all collected back together at the end of each of those places, and second, around the working place where you have air that’s being sucked in your main roadways into your places and then back out through a very large tube, around those places you need to think what is going on with the airflows, is there sufficient fresh airflow, that there's no point in there where you could have gas building up that’s not well flushed, so you need to be monitoring a large number of locations around there.  They could range from close to the face, to at the point that the air is sucked back into the return vent system, through to points in or around equipment where there might be turbulence or there might be potential for dead spots, the gas could build up, particularly because methane is much lighter than air, methane will always build up at high points so you need to be looking for dead spots at high points and it’s quite common in underground mines to have an average air concentration that’s measured either by a static or a handheld system in the middle of a roadway, an access way, that’s at a low level but if you hold the monitor up to the roof and against the roof you find that the level can go right up because the methane rises and may be sitting at the roof.  So, you need to have a system, systems, not system, that’s able to identify all of those.  You'll never measure everything everywhere but you need to be very aware of where you should be looking and then also be aware of the places you are not always measuring where there might be potential for something you don’t know.  Sorry, that’s a long answer.

Q. Thank you for that.  Can I just perhaps clarify one matter, that would mean that if somebody has for example a handheld gas monitor and that gives a low reading that’s not necessarily an assurance of safety because there could be gas at a higher level.  Is that correct?

A. Yeah, it’s a start but that’s all.

Q. The fourth area that you referred to is operational management.  Are you able to talk to that please?

Yes, so the operational management of the mine, that’s about having all the capability in place that means that everything you've done up to the point of running the mine, operating the mine is going to either run in the way you planned or if you get any changes of significance at all from what you expected you'd have the capability to recognise that and immediately adapt to that because, as we know, underground coalmining is unforgiving but it can be managed very well provided that you follow that process of always responding to what happens.  So, operational management then ranges from the general management level at a mine and you need people who are obviously experienced across the entire spectrum of what is needed from production to financial right across to safety, down through the production process at the mine a series of qualified capable people who are managing the production process, again remembering that that generally separates into the development process where you're going out, the extraction process where you're coming back and in addition then managing all the support processes around the mine, the support of the services, the infrastructure, the trades, the maintenance and all of those processes.  So you need capable people across all of those areas as well.  And at the same time all the other three areas I’ve talked about, resource assessment will have those capabilities ongoing, mine planning and design will be continually iterating and those technical specialist areas will all be operating around that.
1430
Q. Just generally, can the operation of a mine, in terms of its ability to maximise resource extraction, be considered without also considering health and safety issues?

A. No I don’t believe so.

Q. At what stage in the planning design and construction process would you say health and safety considerations have to be brought to bear?

A. I don’t think there’s any point answer to that.  I think at all stages from the moment you start contemplating mining a resource you will want to be aware of the specific properties of that resource, characteristics of that resource, to understand what the safety issues would be, alongside the production, financial, environmental issues so that everything you do from that point on can make sure that all of those are addressed.  So I don’t think there’s any point at which you start thinking about safety.  Obviously though as you approach the actual mine development and production phase the nature of those activities changes significantly.

Q. You referred to gas monitoring, and you may be aware that there’s been reference to tube bundle monitoring previously.  Are you able to explain what role that plays and help in keep an underground mine safe?

A. Yes, and again I’ll just note here if I may that this is not my area of expertise but I’m certainly familiar with what they do.  So there are a range of different ways you can monitor, for example as you said a handheld monitor which you be holding in your hand and moving around or it may be on your belt.  As an example an electronic monitor that has a sensor and that will have a certain sensitivity so that’s a mobile monitor.  You may have a monitoring system that is similar to a handheld system but it’s all wired back to a surface point in some way.  So that would be an example they, a static system with – because it’s instant reading, instantly back to the surface may well be real time.  In other words, what you’re seeing at the surface is almost instantaneously what you were seeing down at the monitoring point.  What a tube bundle system does is actually take a little gas sample in the mine and it brings that little sample through tubes all the way back to the surface and then carries out an analysis of that sample when it arrives back to the surface.  So there’s a delay obviously for that little parcel of gas to pass all the way through that tube from the location it was at, through that particular tube from that monitoring point into a bundle of tubes and that bundle of tubes comes all the way back to the surface and that is analysed at that surface.  In general the analysis that’s done on that little sample of gas back at the surface will probably be the most accurate highest quality sample and you’ll be able to get the best information from that because the systems you can use at the surface are highly accurate and you can test a large number of gases.  So that is a very good system to have from the point of view of information but the penalty you have with that, of course, is there is a delay which may be a number of minutes before you have that analysis compared to the real time which is the handheld belt monitoring or an alternative system which may give you almost instantaneous information but generally with equipment it won’t be the range of gas information and it won’t necessarily be the same quality or the same, what’s the word I’m looking for, the same accuracy.

Q. Is it fair to say from much of your evidence that the gas monitoring system is only a part of the systems and procedures that are necessary to ensure that a mine is a safe and healthy place of work?

A. It’s absolutely fair to say that it’s a relatively small part.  I won't go as far as saying it’s the ambulance at the bottom of the cliff.   That would be the wrong conclusion but the point about gas monitoring is it’s confirming or giving you information about something that is already in existence so you can't prevent a gas build up using gas monitoring system.  You may well be able to identify it and do something about it in time for it not to become a problem.
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Q. Could I turn to a different topic please which is whether or not in your view there is a role for external expert assessment of health and safety in underground mines and you have indicated earlier that you did see a role for mines inspectors.  Are you able to explain what role you see for them?

A. Yes, may I step back to the first part of your question on independent inspection and then put it in that context?

Q. Certainly.

A. Yep, so in terms of inspection and the entire process around inspection is actually a process that we would call assurance, in other words assurance is about saying, providing assurance that you have information coming out that is telling you what’s actually going on there and what you need to know and therefore what you need to change so within the assurance process there are a whole range of things that happened.  The guy that said my hacksaw was not there and it, sure a hacksaw’s not there and it should be is providing a level of insurance – sorry, level assurance, is saying I did an inspection and it wasn’t there.  That ranges right through to management, supervisor and increasingly mine management and then senior management, executive management and board assurance and all of those effectively are different levels of checking, reviewing assurance.  Then you get to the point of saying, what other assurance can you provide around the vertical lying upwards?  There are a range of assurances you can provide, one of them is what we would commonly call peer review or peer assurance where you get somebody who is in a comparable position but in another part of your operation, not connected with that part, to provide assurance that or review or inspection of what you're doing based on their comparable knowledge somewhere else.  That can be internal in the company, then you can say, “we want that to be external”, so you can have external assurance or review or auditing and most companies would do those all the time.  Now you can say, okay is there anything else you can do other than the internal assurance, the external assurance, and there are possibly two other areas, one of them is the role of a statutory body such as a government inspectorate.  That provides an additional level of assurance on top of all the others but, let there be no mistake, it would be our view, my view that that should never be regarded as the primary level of assurance.  That would be a check point in time and level of assurance.  The final one is a level of assurance that might come from some other party and one example of the other parties that could be interested is employees and people in the mine.  Now the process that we follow says every employee in our mine is expected to provide that assurance all the time.  The guy that reported there was a hacksaw not there is essentially providing that level of assurance.  You could also do that independently and say, well, and I know this is an act of discussion, employees have a specific person working for them, representing them, who goes around and does another level of assurance as well so all of those can potentially have a role.  The question is, how do you put those together in a way that is the right answer, the best answer and that’s where if I could just finish by saying I'm absolutely clear the absolute primary responsibility for assurance sits with the organisation.  The company should never be replaced by anything else and there is no other silver bullet that will ever replace that.

Q. There are a few issues there.  First, you referred to external auditors.  What do you mean by external auditing in so far as health and safety is concerned?

A. Yep, external auditing and health and safety is probably exactly the same principle that people familiar with financial auditing would think of which is that an independent external person who has the knowledge and capability, but is not in any way tied up with the operation and has no vested interest in the operation or conflict due to that, comes in from the outside and based on that independent external expertise reviews the situation, the operation, reviews safety based on that person’s expertise and forms their view on first, compliance very often with statutory requirements and second, safety in general and will make – provide, usually will provide a report that assesses all those, draws conclusions, makes recommendations and recommends specific actions.
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Q. Is that a process that Solid Energy uses?

A. Yes it is.

Q. How often?

A. Again in the context of the entire assurance approach that I just referred to, independent external auditing is probably something that on average we would have done at most of our operations about once a year.

Q. And one would assume, given your earlier comments about the complexity essentially of modern mines, that that external audit would need to be done by a fairly sophisticated group of auditors?

A. Yep, the reason that I was probably slightly vague with my last answer was that you could just have an external safety audit which was just a generic safety audit.  You get them to come in, very broad scope and say, “Do a complete safety audit.”  In fact it’s probably our learning that if your understanding of your risks is good then you should be – you would be better to focus on – have your external audit focusing on the higher risks rather than have them come and be all things to all people which could result in a fairly, a fairly full report which never really provides the focus on the high risks.  Now that’s a perfectly valid audit, but I think our experience in the last few years is that if you know that gas and ventilation, for example, are areas of specific risk in your mine and your operation, then you actually probably want a ventilation audit as opposed to a generic safety audit.

Q. Right and that’s what you mean by, “An area of high risk?”

A. Yes.

Q. And how do you identify those?

A. That’s the process that I described earlier where risk assessment is a part of everything from initial mine concept and geological assessment right through the planning, design process to operations, right down to I described the Take 5s, all those processes through up hazards and risks and they form your primary initial database for all the risks you will have.  They will give you a very good picture and then on top of that you will do specific risk assessments using sophisticated risk assessment tools and risk specialists and subject experts to do extra risk assessment in the areas you, you expect will be higher risk, such as gas ventilation and so that will give you a very complete picture of the risks that you’re wanting to address and, and that will form the scope of the work you do and the auditing that’s carried out.

Q. Now please forgive me for paraphrasing, but you referred earlier to a concept essentially akin to that of check inspector, so employee representative going in assuring some health and safety in the mine.  In your view is there a role for that in underground mining?

A. Yep, I want to be probably quite clear on that.  I – we don’t oppose the concept of check inspector per se, but I think the point is that we believe it’s actually not providing the role that there is a risk people will think it is.  Any checking and any inspection and any auditing and any additional assurance is always a good thing no matter how it’s done, providing it’s done and logged and reported and followed up on with actions.  So, you could never say ever that an additional level of checking or review of assurances isn’t a good thing.  The point is where you’re going to get the most benefit and why.  There is a risk that I’ve always seen with check inspectors and this could be addressed, so this is not a criticism, but it is a risk and that is the risk that a group of people say, “Well the check inspector will look after that stuff so I can be a little more relaxed about that.”  That becomes a culture and a behaviour issue which we talked about this morning and the example of the hacksaw, and again it’s sort of repeating it and I apologise for that, but that would be a good example, could you be assured that a person would report a missing hacksaw from a toolbox, which again sounds like a fairly trivial incident, if in fact there was check inspector walking around the mine who people knew was checking for that thing would simply say, “Oh, the check inspector will pick that up next time they pass.”  
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A. So, those are the sorts of issues you go through with check inspectors so my view is that every employee in the mine should be a walking check inspector all the time, whether a face worker or a mine manager.  When you get to that point, which of course is a pretty resilient organisation but we’re moving there I think, then you'd say the role for a check inspector is absolutely redundant.  If you're at the other end of the maturity curve and a regressive organisation where there's no culture and behaviours that do those sorts of things anyway then any form of independent checking is going to be of much greater use to you.  So, I'm sorry, that’s not a black and white answer but I hope that gives it some perspective.

Q. And just finally, what about the role of check inspectors before I move on, sorry, a mines inspector before I move on to another topic?

A. A mines inspector, as is generally understood I think, is clearly quite different from a check inspector because the role of a mines inspector, and Solid Energy supports and I personally support a very strong role for the mines inspectorate, that’s a part of the external process around mining that provides a range of things, all of which are useful but none of which on its own should ever replace the responsibility of a company to be absolutely and solely primarily responsible for all of those, and the mining inspectorate can have a role ranging from industry wide capability and knowledge, that doesn’t necessarily exist in any specific location, to education, to assisting with training, to sharing of information, to carrying out spot inspections, to providing audits, to inspecting hazards of incidents, all of those things and it’s certainly my view, based on the information I have about New Zealand and other jurisdictions, particularly Australia, particularly New South Wales and Queensland, that the role of the mine’s inspectorate if scoped very well is a very, very important part of industry safety and mine safety, but that again, it’s not a silver bullet, it’s about saying it’s a part of the total picture, it has its own role and nobody should – no organisation, company, mine should ever be allowed to believe that you can defer to the mine’s inspectorate to help you address issues, to help you identify risks, to help you manage those or to tell you when you've got something you need to do.  That should always be the responsibility of the mine and the company itself.  The inspectorate is an overlay on that, not a replacement.

Q. In your view does the complexity of modern mines to which you referred earlier mean that there are limits on the extent to which a mine’s inspector can pick up on health and safety issues? 

A. Absolutely, but a mines inspector would be no different to most of the people in a given mine that as I look at a mine like Spring Creek, say we are very well aware of all the capabilities and expertise and how far that can be applied and I hope we are also aware of the areas in which we lack capability and expertise because that’s a specialist skill that’s required.  A mines inspector is likely in general to have experience that’s comparable to somebody in the statutory mine manager position.  I would not expect our statutory mine manager at any of our mines to have the specialist capability that I talked about earlier, to be able to identify all issues, all things, that’s why you need expert specialists to come in for those things so we need to be very careful I believe, if I may just venture a bit further, in defining that role, not to believe that that will be an all knowing, all seeing person who will understand everything, that would be a useful role that understands what they ought to see, understands what they would not be capable of seeing and knowing and is able from time to time to work with a mine, with a company, do snapshot reviews, audits, inspections and the like and identify what more needs to be done as opposed to making the assumption that that person would basically be the end of the line in knowledge.
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Q. So if we take an example, do you think that an inspector or someone carrying out a visual inspection would be able to ascertain whether the design of the ventilation system was sufficient to cope with a gas like of the type that you referred to earlier?

A. A good inspector who has a ventilation background and experience in a mine would certainly I believe, I would expect them to be able to identify generally whether the appropriate type of ventilation was in place for the mining method.  I do not believe that person, any person with a visual inspection or in doing an inspection role would be able to come in, look at a mine and say, “These airflows are what was designed, these airflows are appropriate for the gas make or for the gas that could come out sometime in the next period of time,” that’s a specialist area of expertise that also requires specialist monitoring equipment.  For example, very few people, I am advised by experts, if any, would be able to tell the difference between six cubic metres per second of air going through a working place and eight or nine cubic metres per second of air.  Some might have strong opinions on that but experience has shown that those judgments are actually not very accurate and in fact they are probably spot judgments based on a person of standing height anyway.  So an inspector would be no better or worse than anybody else in those circumstances.  An inspector might be able to identify that there is a sufficient or lack of monitoring to provide that information but you would need specialists and specialist equipment to be able to carry out that sort of work.

Q. And what about in relation to, for example, strata control?

A. Strata control would probably be even more complex because the number of elements that come into strata control are very many and most of the things you need to know are out of sight and in fact even if you could see into the coal seam roof you wouldn’t be able to form a view anyway.  They relate to engineering stress and strain, geotechnical, geological things that are going on around an opening, much less than the opening itself.  Now there are obviously a range of techniques that are used to measure how much the strata are moving, how much a roof or a rib is deforming, and you would expect any senior person in a mine, or an inspector, to be able to identify those, look at those.  But whether a rib bolt, or a roof bolt is working to its design capacity is not something that any inspector is going to be able to come in and automatically know.  They may be able to look at the layout of the bolts and say, “That doesn’t look like a great set of bolts, either they don’t look like they’re well installed or it looks like the roof’s deforming,” you would expect a range of people including an inspector to do that.  But could an inspector come in and say, “That was a five tonne bolt to install, I think it’s only got two tonnes capacity,” no you wouldn’t.

Q. If I could just turn to a different topic.  As I understand it, and I think it was before your time at Solid Energy, it had an incident which unfortunately resulted in death at Mount Davy?

A. Yes, you’re correct, it was before my time.  Mount Davy was closed by the time I joined but I do know a little about that if you’d like me to just to carry on, over to you?

Q. If you could just very briefly describe that?

A. Yes.  There were two incidents at Mount Davy, this was, I believe it was 1998/’99.  To be honest there’ll be people who know the dates better than I do.  Mount Davy was the great new hope for the West Coast underground coalmining industry and the export coal industry.  It was premium hard coking coal.  The depth of the seam under Mount Davy, which is near Greymouth, was about 700 metres.  So very deep coal to be mined underground, conditions that nobody in the West Coast, to my knowledge, had contemplated working in before.  And as a result of that depth and the type of coal and the nature of the coal seam there was the potential for what’s called “outbursts”, which is where the coal is under such high stress that methane can actually burst out of the coal in significant slugs.
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A. I understand and this is only what I’ve learned over the years that there were two incidents at Mount Davy.  In the first one there was a – a person was killed when a slab of coal came or it might’ve been stone I’m not sure, came off the rib, the side of the, the shaft when the drift was being driven down to the, to the coal seam and that was what you’d call a strata control incident.  The second incident was also during stone drivage, in other words the driving down through the rock to the coal seam, and what I understand happened was that there was a very small, very thin seam of coal within the rock that wasn’t expected.  This was well down very close to the coal seam I believe, and there was an outburst of that seam where with a sudden crushing coal dust came out and gas came out at the same time and two men were asphyxiated as a result of that.

Q. What did Solid Energy learn from that?

A. Well we closed Mount Davy, that wasn’t solely because of the safety issues, but if you put it all together we formed the view at the time, and I do have to note that coal prices were at an all time low at the time, because it was the bottom of the Asian crisis, but the view I understand was formed at the time by management and the board that we could not mine both economically and safely.  So the mine was closed the, the sunk costs of I think about 40, 45, $46 million were written off and the mine has remained closed since.  But, it was a very salutary lesson to the, to Solid Energy and to the industry and that was the event I think that led to our initial development of the project planning system, our project assessment guideline system that are described in my evidence, where we said, we didn't have enough information, enough knowledge for a range of reasons we were trying to, I understand, get into the mine too early without enough information for a range of reasons related to international markets and we said we need to develop a very comprehensive stage gate system that requires us to step through a whole range of process steps, sign them off at each point before we ever get to that situation again.

Q. What did it learn specifically in relation to health and safety?

A. I probably would struggle to answer that question more specifically because I wasn’t around at the time.  I, I think it changed the awareness of everybody in the company to recognise that being around for 100 years in coalmining didn't mean you necessarily knew everything that was going on when – specifically when there were significant number of changes in the mining environment and I talked this morning about the changes being really important and that’s a good example.  This was a different type of coal or quality of coal, much, much deeper than we’d ever been before with different risks and all of that needed a completely different approach and we realised how significant it is to manage risks when conditions, mining conditions are changing.

Q. How does the industry learn from events such as Mount Davy which are specific to a particular mine and a particular company?

A. You’ve asked me of that incident such as Mount Davy obviously, not just specific to Mount Davy.  I don't know the answer to Mount Davy itself, and there hasn’t – well obviously up until recently been any comparable sort of incident with that sort of different set of circumstances I think, that were that different that the industry wide learning’s needed perhaps, but in general there are ways in which industry does learn.  There is usually reasonably good communication within industry of new hazards.  There is an international system of hazard alerts which we all work with, but Mount Davy’s type of situation is actually much bigger than just a hazard alert.  It relates to an entire range of processes and I, I think probably what - it’s the wakeup call to industry that causes every mining company to rethink what they do is perhaps my best answer to that.  Sorry, it’s…
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Q. Does the industry for example have a formal system for ensuring that when an incident such as Mount Davy happens there is a report to the industry about what happened, why it happened and what would need to be done to help prevent that in future?

A. I may be wrong but my belief is that the answer to that is probably no.

Q. Do you know whether the industry has ever considered that?

A. I think it’s something that’s probably been informally discussed.  There are industry training organisations and industry quality and safety organisations that exist and were set up partly I think in response to the changes away from the old mine inspectorate and one of those is an organisation called Minex which does have a role to bring people together to talk about and identify industry specific issues, training requirements and opportunities, sharing of practices.  I have to apologise and say I'm not very close to Minex so I don't know a whole lot about exactly how it works although I know a number of our people are actively involved and Solid Energy’s an active supporter of that.  Beyond that I can't tell you very much sorry.

Q. In your view is there a role for approved codes of practice?

A. They’re, if I don't necessarily use the word codes of practice but call them perhaps if I could standard operating procedures which would probably be my preferred definition and answer it that way.  Yes, there potentially is.  Safety and management of risks and management of processes requires a whole range of steps starting from the general policies, working down from policies to general procedures and then to specific procedures and standard operating practices which increasingly move from principle based and generic requirements down to specifications of what you must do and you may not deviate from.  The point about standard operating procedures is that it says there are a number of things that you do when you're operating something that never change no matter where you're doing them or how you're doing them, they shouldn't change so if they’re standard across a mine they tend to become, they should become a standard operating procedure in a mine.  If they’re standard across several underground mines in the company we are likely to implement them as company wide rather than mine specific standard operating procedures.  If they are of a nature that they are relatively independent of the location and are common to a range of mines irrespective of the operator then the opportunity there is to have them as industry wide standard operating procedures.  Codes of practice is probably something slightly different and there are jurisdictions for example and Queensland is one where there is a very large number of, I forget what they’re called in Queensland, but effectively standard operating procedure, standard operating practices, I think it’s hundreds where the industry working with the regulatory bodies and has established and said, “This is the standard way to do these things,” and undoubtedly everybody benefits from that because you haven't got people reinventing the wheel so everybody’s able to move forwards faster.  The risk would become whether you try to standardise everything or alternatively where people view that so long as you're complying with the standard operating procedure you're okay and it’s never a replacement for good judgment but, yes, I think in short my answer is there is certainly a place for that concept.

Q. For the concept of codes of practice?

A. Well if I could call it standard procedures that may well be industry wide whether they’re statutory, mandatory, voluntary, I haven't really thought through that but industry wide sharing of standard information which may well become mandatory or statutory there’s certainly a very, very valid role to contemplate that.
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Q. So just to ensure that we’re talking about the same sort of thing, are you familiar for example with some of the Minex codes of practice?
A. Unfortunately not in detail but there will be things like maintaining equipment or standard equipment procedures or equipment requirements or standard practices for specific processes that, yes, I'm aware Minex has some of those.  Sorry, all I was meaning is the word, “code,” I think is a word I'm not quite sure exactly what the definition of that is, it’s the word code rather than the standard practice that I'm trying to say I'm not too sure on here.

Q. Right well if we take the example of the Minex code of practice and accepting that you don’t, as I understand it, know the detail of those, do you know sufficient to offer an opinion as to whether you think in your view there's a useful place for those, regardless of by whom they are promulgated?

A. To the extent that I know of them I would say they are definitely very useful because they represent a full body of industry information compiled in one place that others can use.  I actually can't tell you whether they’re mandatory or voluntary in terms of the compliance with those.

re-examination:  mr stevens

Q. Dr Elder, can I start please with the commerce committee reports that were put to you yesterday, do you still have those available?

A. Yes I do, yes.

Q. And yesterday in your replies to Ms Shortall you noted the difference under the health and safety sections between the 2008/2009 report (exhibit 1, 11.07.11) and the following years as to who had raised or described Solid Energy’s health and safety performances unacceptable?

A. Yes, I believe I noted with a bit of surprise that maybe the 2000, the later report had got that wrong.

Q. Then based on that can you confirm who it was that described Solid Energy’s health and safety performances unacceptable in the 2008/2009 report?

A. Yes, it was Solid Energy in our own information provided to the select committee and I believe in our annual report and if I could just add to that why that was done?

Q. Yes.

A. That was based on, in particular, our review of safety at our Stockton open cast mine where we had reviewed a number of hazard and incident reports over a period of time and concluded that in fact we had too many high to very high risk incidents, too many repeat incidents and too many repeat incidents where there was zero barriers left or a last barrier was removed and as a result of that during the course of that year that we’d reported on we had actually closed the mine for several days and taken a whole set of steps to address what we considered were a range of issues, particularly behaviour-based from the top to the bottom of the mine and throughout the company, and as a result of those measures over a period of about three to six months we had something like a 10 to 20 fold improvement in the number of unacceptable incidents we were getting.

Q. Can you just briefly outline what some of those steps were that you took at Stockton following your temporary closure of that mine?

A. Yes, perhaps in many ways the most important measure, although it was an obvious one, was to make the decision that we would move very quickly to a zero tolerance position on safety and non-compliance.  That sounds obvious and easy perhaps but that was a mine that had been operating for well over 50 years and simply saying we had zero tolerance and then putting that into practice isn't straight forward because it’s unacceptable to say to people in the company we now have zero tolerance for non-compliance if they’re not given the tools, the equipment, the training, the management support, the organisational support and all these things going with that, that go with that, to allow them to do that.  So we immediately embarked on a process that said, “We are targeting zero tolerance but we need to make all these changes at a company level and we expect everyone to come with us on that.”  I specifically remember the day we – if I may just carry on?
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Q. Yes please.

A. I specifically remember I was over there in a meeting about our safety performance when the decision was made in the meeting I was in by the mine manager to close the mine.  And what he said was, “Tomorrow morning everybody will come to the hall in Westport, we will address the entire workforce.”  Well we did it in two shifts.  And I specifically remember after the mine manager walked through where we were why the mine was closed and why it wouldn’t reopen without a change and we’d continue to close it.  I was asked to, and I stepped forward, and the statement I made at that time, which I think was pretty important, was that we were all in this together.  And I invited anybody who shared our view that we need to make this change to come back to work with us the next day but anybody who was reluctant to share that view I said we’re willing to accept their resignation on the spot.  And that wasn’t targeting employees, that was targeting everybody right up to senior management level.

Q. Are you able say if that statement was made to all of the Stockton employees?

A. It was.

Q. And do you recall now how many days you or your executives met with the staff from Stockton at that hall?

A. We were over there because of our concern about the safety situation.  We met for about half a day with the mine management, including the contractors, management at the mine, and collectively worked through the issues and identified that business as usual to try and go and address these wasn’t an option for us.  So we agreed that we would, notwithstanding it being New Zealand’s largest mine and our single biggest financial revenue source in the company, we agreed, and we had board endorsement of this or stronger, that if we didn’t get the changes we were looking for that we were willing to close the mine and leave it closed until we were comfortable that we could reopen it.

Q. What if any changes were made to the operator of the mine?

A. This was a period that was a few months out from a point at which we were expecting to change the operations at the mine.  So we had a contractor in place who had been there for about five years and a number of other subcontractors in a smaller scale on the site.  I think it would  be inappropriate for me to say that we changed the contractor for safety reasons but it would certainly be appropriate to say that in appointing the new contractor or establishing the new operating regime on this, at the Stockton Mine, that safety was one of the highest, if not the highest, single factor in us determining the best operating model going forwards.

Q. Just lastly on that topic.  If you go to the second of the Commerce Committee reports (exhibit 2, 11.07.11), and if you can have a look please at the health and safety comments there.  If I can just read from that about the lost time injury frequency decreased from 16.2 to 5.2 per million hours work.  The lost time injury severity rate dropped by more than half.  And the all injury frequency incidents requiring medical treatment decreased from 50.4 to 23.2 million hours work and Solid Energy credits the change to its whole of company approach to health and safety covering five areas, and they are listed.  To what extent does that more positive report reflect what occurred at Stockton the following year, sorry, the previous year?

A. A significant part of that reflects Stockton.  At Stockton at the time we had something between 500 and 700 people working out of a total Solid Energy workforce of under 1000, plus contractors.  So our industry statistics were strongly weighted by Stockton.  So that quite significantly reflects Stockton.
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Q. Just finally on those two reports, you knew that that, I take it, that that was – these were to be public documents when you were addresses the Committee?

A. Which report sorry?

Q. The reports of the Commerce Committee, you knew that the outcomes –

A. Yes.

Q. – and the findings would be public?

A. Yes the Commerce Select Committee process each year is a public process.  So, what we say there is on the public record.

Q. The only other matter from yesterday, you were asked about three prosecutions by Department of Labour, you initially only recalled two, can you just approximately recall how long ago those prosecutions were or do you not know?

A. Approximately, I’m sorry I don't know specifically and the reason I didn't recall the third was that it was one that happened at Stockton very shortly after I arrived, so I had forgotten that one.  The second one I think, if I recall correctly, maybe early 2001 which was the year after I arrived, but I might be out by a year and the third one again would've been sometime around five, six, seven years ago.  Again, sorry I don’t recall the exact year.  Would I be permitted to add just a note on those?

Q. You would be permitted to by me to add a note on those Dr Elder.  

A. I gave the answer yesterday that we had pleaded guilty to those three prosecutions where I think is correct, I didn't say why that was and I think it’s probably reasonably important to understand that it’s my fundamental belief and our philosophy in Solid Energy in several things.  First we have a no blame culture and effectively it’s a very difficult area in defending specific prosecutions if you have a no blame policy and culture because you end up getting quite personal.  And our belief was that if our – if we had – we’d been prosecuted for what were significant accidents then our organisation had failed as a result.  The specific prosecution was under the Occupational Safety and Health Act which was the requirement to take all practicable steps.  It’s my view and it was our view then that simply by virtue of the fact the accident had occurred and our belief that you should always be able to take all practicable steps, then by definition we could not have so rather than contest it we chose to stay consistent with our policy and plead guilty and take the view that learning from that was much more important than defending it.

Q. Can I turn please to - a couple of reports were put to you by Ms Shortall today.  One is the, was I think the technical review annexed to the New Zealand IPO for Pike River, do you have that?  that’s the BDA report and I think it’s number NZOG0056.

A. Sorry I don’t have those, but I, I’m familiar with the – a number of the details of them.  I think they were presented on the screen.

Mr Stevens ADDRESSES the COMMISSION

re-examination continues:  Mr Stevens 

Q. You said in answer to some cross-examination about whether inseam drilling could fulfil some of the gaps in terms of Pike River and I recorded you as saying that BDA has some other fundamental flaws in its report which I’m happy to address.  And I’d ask you, if you could please, address what you meant in that statement?  

A. Yes, if I could offer the background to those because those are pretty strong statements I appreciate, and these are organisations that either by reputation, as I have learned or from my past experience I very much respect, but I'm also aware that any report comes down to what an individual does on the day based on the information they have.  The point of the reports of course is to provide information and there are some key points in the report which represent a fundamental failure to obtain key information that would change the conclusions in them and if I could refer you to page 133.
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Q. So you do have the BDA one?

A. I just have some notes that I've taken on this, I don’t have the report but I'm just going to try and find the right location, I made a note this is page 133, if you could enlarge for us, it’s the section under Pike River proposed mining methods and layout, paragraph 2, if I could read that for you and I think you'll see, if I may, where I'm going on this.  “A critical concern, and I'll just summarise this, but it’s a very key point if I may that needs to be highlighted, relates to the increased scale of production compared to current operations and worldwide experience.”  If I jump down from there to about just under halfway down and read the sentence, “Pike River is planning to use three production units but only one at any particular time to achieve up to 1.3 million tonnes per annum.”  Now, the next part of that sentence is crucially important, “Effectively three times the most recent production of Strongman Number 2 prior to closure and around 50% higher than recent Spring Creek levels.”  That’s a statement of fact, at least it should be, that’s based on directly relevant comparable industry information.  That statement says that 1.3 million tonnes per annum is three times the recent structure production of Strongman 2 which must therefore have been about 430,000 tonnes per annum and 50% higher than recent Spring Creek levels implying that their recent production must have been just over 800,000 tonnes per annum.  Now, I have the production numbers for Strongman and Spring Creek.  Strongman, the annual production in the years before its closure was about 260,000 tonnes, 1.3 million tonnes per annum is five times that number not three times that number, but perhaps even more relevant Spring Creek, the statement there says 50% higher than recent Spring Creek levels, the recent Spring Creek levels over the three or four years before that averaged about 230,000 tonnes per annum, the highest Spring Creek ever got to in 2006 was 430,000 tonnes per annum.  1.3 million tonnes per annum is not 50% higher, it’s in fact – what is it – it’s about three to four times higher than Spring Creek, in fact three to eight times higher than Spring Creek had ever achieved.  So, the key point that I made this morning is there was factual information available in the industry, widely known on what Spring Creek production was.  In this report the writer’s of the report made a factual error in obtaining that information, drawing a conclusion about the ability to carry out hydraulic mining which presumably was therefore carried forwards through the company, through either management or board understanding and through the IPO to give a, in my view, an incorrect view of how easy it would be to obtain production targets at Pike River.  I can't draw the obvious inference from that but that may have coloured the view on what sort of geological information would need to be available but I do note in a number of places in the report that there are significant caveats expressed in that report about geological information.
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Q. Well can I just - can we go through those perhaps for those you've got?  Can I take you please to the paragraph immediately above the heading which is on the screen?

A. Yes.

Q. The final paragraph before you, Dr Elder, is that one of the caveats?

MR MOUNT ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION– PAGE 138 OF ELECTRONIC DOCUMENT 

the coMMISSION:  

So Mr Stevens you’re presently quoting from DA0112.02790 at 138?

MR STEVENS:
I am, sir, and I was taking the witness on that page to the paragraph immediately before the heading, “Pike River proposed mining methods and layout.”

re-examination continues:  mr stevens

A. As I'm reading that I'm not sure that’s the primary paragraph that I would be drawing my conclusions from.  I think the first paragraph showing there on the warning on the geological structure disrupting development and limiting available production reserves is perhaps the more appropriate expression of concern.

Q. It’s an expression of concern in terms of the caveat by the authors?

A. A caveat by the authors and identification of potential for significant risk, yes.

Q. And to what extent is that risk heightened by the extent of the surface drilling which was undertaken?

A. Well surface drilling and any drilling, including inseam drilling which I should be clear is a valuable technique is a way of providing additional information to provide, to hopefully mean that there will be less uncertainty, fewer surprises and less disruption of the production process and development.  The difference between surface drilling and inseam drilling of course is that surface drilling can be done in advance of mine development.  Inseam drilling, by its nature, is done during mine development.

Q. You'd said there were other passages that you wish to refer to and we’ll need to go a little more slowly just to get the correct reference for the record?

A. Yes, if I could refer to what I've recorded as page 133, I'm sorry I don't know how to –

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES WITNESS – PAGE 133
re-examination continues:  MR STEVENS

A. Okay, and in fact it’s the paragraph right above the highlighted one there beginning, “From a mining perspective.  From a mining system perspective.”  If I could just read what that says, “From a mining system perspective the success of the hydraulic mining method is fundamentally dependent on the capacity and reliability of the water pumping and reticulation piping network through the mine to operate the hydraulic monitors.”  While that is correct, that combined with another point that I noted -
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A. While that is correct that combined with another point that I noted on the, and I apologise I just need a moment to see where it was, on page135... it’s a section called, “Summary of Mining Risk Factors,” could you highlight the first paragraph there please?

Q. Yes.  And that’s 140 of that document?  The paragraph on the basis of the foregoing discussions?

A. That’s the one.  So that identifies, as was discussed this morning, that paragraph highlights what BDA considered the three highest risk factors in relation to underground mining and they said it’s the impact of material unknown or unexpected geological structures which I would obviously agree with.  The occurrence of excessive or unpredicted surface subsidence was spontaneous and spontaneous combustion, that to me possibly is implying what would be the highest risk to the project but is not stating it explicitly, which is the development rates that could be achieved.  Now the development rates, as I explained yesterday, development is the process of getting through as fast as possible to put the infrastructure in place before you come back.  In a hydraulic mine the hydraulic mining process actually takes a lot of coal out relatively quickly.  Our experience and widespread experience is it’s not really a constraining factor.  A lot of the time your hydraulic monitor is sitting round waiting for development to catch up so there’s somewhere to extract from.  So from the point of view of project risk this review hasn’t identified for the hydraulic mining process what our experience says is the major risk, which is that you can’t develop fast enough to stay in extraction and achieve those high rates.  And again, I go back to the numbers I discussed earlier that the projection for this mine was 1.3 million tonnes per year or over its life, averaging I think around a million tonnes per year.  We have never achieved over about 430,000 tonnes at Spring Creek.  The reason for that is in the West Coast mining conditions it’s really difficult to keep your development ahead of your extraction so your hydraulic monitor sits round doing nothing a lot of the time.  If I look at the place then where they address the development rates, and my notes suggest that this is on page 133 again.

the coMMISSION addresses mr stevens – timing

coMMISSION adjourns:
3.33 PM

coMMISSION resumes:
3.50 pm

re-examination continues:  Mr Stevens 

Q. Dr Elder we were continuing with the same document on the summation page reference 138 of the document, page 133, would you continue please?

A. Yes so I’m addressing the question of whether this document represents things as consistently with mine and Solid Energy people’s view of the resource.  So, just picking up a further point regarding what we regard as a major inconsistency incompatible with industry information.  There is a comment here in the bottom paragraph, if we could highlight that, “That the currently proposed mine plan and layout takes into account the latest geological interpretations.  It appears to be a well designed conservative approach for the adoption of this mining system with achievable extraction ratios…” and goes on from there.  If I could go to the first paragraph at the top of the next page, which I think deals with the development rates with respect to well designed conservative approach.  “Mining development rates are considered reasonably conservative with a scheduled rate of advance for the continuous miner and road header units of approximately 22 metres today or more importantly 7.2 metres per shift.”  I have to say I don't know what development rates were achieved at Pike River.  So, I simply make the comment that I don’t believe Solid Energy at any mine anywhere in New Zealand has ever achieved a rate even approaching 7.2 metres per shift on a regular basis. I’m not even sure we’ve ever even approached that rate or achieved that rate on a one-shift basis.  If we have it would've been very isolated.  So, industry information in practice in New Zealand would suggest that it is anything but conservative notwithstanding the widely different geological mining conditions that may apply in different mines, which I accept, but this report has said it’s a conservative approach to the mining system, I don't think anybody in Solid Energy would consider 7.2 metres a shift underground in West Coast conditions is anything other than hugely aspirational.  So, I don’t really want to make further points about that.  All I, I’m really doing in answering the question is addressing the point that these are incredible reports.  I have great respect for the people who prepared them, for the companies who prepared them, but the point I make in my evidence yesterday still absolutely stands.  That the credibility of report is not just about the people or the company, it’s about the experience that’s relative to the conditions and I found – I find two places at least in this report where there are comments, statements made that appear to me to be widely at variance with experience and the conditions on the West Coast.  

Q. Can I just take you to one more paragraph in that report please and it’s at the report’s number 131, which I suspect for summation is probably 136 and it is the fourth paragraph under the heading, “Pike River Resources and Reserves.”  If you could highlight that fourth paragraph please.  It’s the one that’s up on the screen starting, “The geology of Pike River deposit is broadly understood although there is limited data upon which to place quality estimates and structural and geotechnical analysis.  In particular structural interpretation of seam structures and geometry has significant impacts on my development of panel layouts.”  In light of that is there anything that – what – is there anything additional that you would say about the optimism of the 7.2 metres per shift estimate?

A. That would simply be very consistent with my comment that if you broadly understand geology and a deposit but have limited data upon which to base those analyses and estimates then the 7.2 metres of shift represents a transposition, probably of expected development rates, that would be considered certainly conservative I think in Australian conditions to New Zealand conditions and that would be an enormous caveat that tied with our knowledge of New Zealand conditions.  You put those together and say very, very optimistic.
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Q. Thank you Dr Elder, I'll now move to the second item that was put to you today and it’s summation DAO012.03212.  It is the RDCL report which was appendix 1 to the simplified disclosure prospectus that was seeking an additional capital of 40 million in 2010.  Now, I've got that on the screen, I'd just like to take you please to four aspects of that report.  The first is on the next page which will be G034, I'm sorry, two pages on, G035, and the second paragraph of that page, are you familiar with the scope of the review in 2010 when you were answering questions this morning?

A. I recall the discussion I think, yes.

Q. So simply to the record that it’s just any material changes in the additional geological data and that was the purpose of it, can we then please go to the conclusions in that document and that’s at page 43 of that appendix and I'd ask that you, please Doctor Elder just to balance what was put to you this morning, if you could read those conclusions in the report?

A. You'd like me to read them in?

Q. Yes please.

A. “We consider that the new data assessed in this review is consistent with the existing model with regard to the global resource volume and coal quality characteristics.  There are geological features that have been encountered within the mine that are not contained within the model.  These pose operational challenges to the mine, rather than a material change in the resource.  In reviewing the results of the new surface drill holes it is apparent that the exact spatial location of the coal seam as reflected in the model still has a degree of uncertainty.  The potential remains for an alternative structural interpretation for a limited number of historical drilling intersections.  The identified issues with the model relate to drilling density, localised displacement of the coal seam and the resolution at which the model was developed.  The coal quality data that has been acquired since the existing model was prepared does not indicate any issues of material significance.”

Q. Can I take you please next to the recommendations which are on the following page G046 and to the last two paragraphs and if you could please read those and then I'll just put one question to you?

A. “High resolution geological models of production areas are required at least 12 months prior to mining.  This is required to ensure that adequate time is available to adapt the mine development to suit the actual floor and roof positions.  Indications are that the geological complexity of the Pike River coalfield will continue to place pressure on the proposed development schedule for some time.  Geological interpretations need to be reviewed and refined on an ongoing basis using new data as it comes to hand.  The challenge that the faulting presents is in the ability to adequately interpret and manage the integration of reinterpreted models into the planning process.  There is an urgency required in this process as hydro-monitor mining approaches.”
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Q. Now how do those recommendations there compare with your experience as to what is required particularly with reference to 
Spring Creek?

A. Well I'm reading these obviously for the first time and that statement looks to me like a statement that could've been perhaps made any time during the 10 years leading up to that based on our experience at Spring Creek.  It’s very consistent with our conclusions and observations at Solid Energy throughout.

Q. And, lastly, it was put to you – sorry, if we can just go to the next page please and under, “Limitations of consent,” could the middle paragraph please be highlighted there.  It was put to you that the authors would incur personal liability for penning those reports.

objection:  ms shortall (16:01:21)

cross-examination continues:  MR STEVENS

Q. Okay, it was put to you that they could incur personal liability.  When you agreed to that were you aware that there was an express limitation on behalf of Pike River Coal Limited to indemnify the author?

A. No, I was not.

Q. Just a final topic please.  Ms Tregonning put to you some matters in respect of the sale of the 20,000 tonnes of coal and put to you that were you aware that there were contracts for 70% of Pike’s production by shareholders.  I’ll just ask you two questions please, Dr Elder, in respect of that sale by Solid Energy.  Firstly please what involvement did Pike have in terms of those sale attempts of that coal by Solid Energy?

A. A person named Bob Reynolds who I understand to either be a market manager or a contracting marketer, market manager for Pike River worked closely with us throughout the process and indeed attempted a number of times to identify sale opportunities working with us and reported back that that was unsuccessful.

Q. And just in terms of broad categories, are you aware of the types of potential buyers that that 20,000 tonnes was put to?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. And who were they please?

A. There were I believe there was an initial targeted customer which was Nisshin Steel in Japan who was an existing Pike River customer who either rejected the cargo or Bob Reynolds advised we shouldn't approach for a reason I don't recall.  We approached Chinese customers again working jointly with Bob Reynolds or he may have made the approach and the answer was they weren’t interested in the coal because of the high volatile matter.  Then we approached Indian customers who generally will take coal of a wider range or specifications because of the need to mix, blend it with their own coal which generally has very high ash and that’s turned out to be very problematic and we were unsuccessful there including with Gujarat and if I remember rightly Saurashtra the shareholders who rejected it and finally –

Q. Sorry just to pause there.  The shareholders of whom?

A. Of Pike River.

Q. Both of them?

A. To my understanding had offtake contracts for the coal and finally the coal, and this was I believe close to four to six months later after all other sources had failed I recall the coal was blended with some Solid Energy coal and sold to I think it was Nippon Steel as a semi-soft which was the only opportunity we had to move the coal and that was, there were a couple of packages, one was sold at slightly greater than the initial amount that Solid Energy had agreed as a floor price and the other part of the coal was actually sold at less than that price.
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Q. And who got the benefit of the slightly greater amount in terms of what you called the floor price?

A. The agreement that we had with Pike River was that we would pay 150 US dollars a tonne to Pike River for the coal and any amount we achieved about that we would transparently pass on to Pike River.  The amount that was sold less than that price I believe, although I’m not certain, that that was a Solid Energy cost.  But I may be wrong on that.

Q. So in summary, Pike would get any upside but Solid Energy would wear any downside in the price?

A. Effectively that was the agreement, yes.

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISsIONER BELL:

Q. Dr Elder, I’m interested on the basis that Pike River and Spring Creek because of their proximity and similar mining operations there could be some things we could learn from looking at Spring Creek to a slightly more detailed extent.  Can I ask you to provide the Commission with information relating to the lost time injury frequency rate for Spring Creek.  I’m aware we’ve seen a reduction on the financial review document but were the actual figures for Spring Creek and how do they compare with other mines in your portfolio?

A. I have to apologise, I don’t have the numbers at my fingertips on that.  What I can tell you is that we benchmark our underground mines generally against New South Wales underground mines in benchmarks and that at Spring Creek the lost time injury frequency rate has indeed come down.  I believe it’s comparable at present to the average for New South Wales but it is still at a level that I would consider too high.

Q. Why did you close the Spring Creek Mine for a period of months after November 2010?

A. Yeah.  We closed the Spring Creek Mine twice during the period following the Pike River event.  The first time was about a week later, it may have been earlier than that, and that was simply because we had devoted a very large part of our resources at Spring Creek to the mine, to the Pike River recovery and rescue operation, including through Mines Rescue and we made the decision that first everybody was very very tired and second we couldn’t be confident that we had sufficient personnel so we felt it was safer to close the mine for a period of time, or effectively put it on camera maintenance, central activities, rather than continue on and give everybody a good break.  So that was for a few days to a week, I’m sorry I don’t recall the exact duration.  The second time was approximately the 1st of December I think plus or minus a few days and that was along sustained closure that’s I think been very public.  That was the result of us receiving an internal audit and review report and a wide range of discussions internally that led us to the conclusion that the path we were taking at Spring Creek to bring out long-term safety improvements at Spring Creek was moving too slowly, partly because of the transfer of resources across to the Pike River support.  I want to emphasise very clearly that was unconnected in any way with what had happened to Pike River, although I’m sure it was on all of our minds, the work that we had commissioned internally and externally to support that, which included external ventilation reviews had been recommended and commenced way back in May of last year and it had taken some time for that work to be carried out, to be completed.  When we received that report, and it was pretty much the day we received that report, we reviewed all the recommendations, all the recommended actions, and made the decision that rather than implement those in parallel with mine operation we should treat those as a top priority and spend, focus all our effort at Spring Creek Mine on those.  We could’ve carried on operating the mine but it was our judgment that it was the right decision to focus solely on the safety improvement plan rather than have that carried out in conjunction with continued mine operations.  At the time we thought that might result in the mine being closed for three to four weeks.  As we progressed forwards we continually reviewed that and carried out continuous risk assessments and each time we did we concluded that the better answer rather than re-opening the mine to production and continuing the rest of the programme was to carry on the safety improvements because we saw the benefits in improvements we were getting and we felt that they would potentially be slower and more compromised in delivering those improvements if we put the mine back into production.  So in the end we decided to keep the mine closed and I don't think we re-opened it in development until around February and then didn't re-start extraction until a month or two later than that.
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Q. Also we know this morning about two cable flashes, one fire, a friction ignition over a period of about eight weeks up until fairly recently, does that give you great cause for concern?

A. It gives me massive cause for concern yes.  As I said this morning those clearly are incidents.  There were no significant consequences from those which simply says that all our controls in the mine to prevent the consequences worked as planned, but the bow tie concept that I discussed earlier quite obviously says you don’t want to get to the knot on the bow tie; you don’t want to get to incidents.  And that particular sequence of incidents has caused great alarm right up through and including board level and we are carrying out investigations at the moment to identify why and how those could happen.

Q. Because I mean based on some of what you said before, in terms of learning from events, it is a concern that you had a second cable flash event only four weeks or thereabouts after the first one?

A. Yes and I did say this morning and I apologised that I wasn’t – I didn't have the incident information with me on the first one, so and I haven’t seen the investigation reports so I’m not actually certain that they are the same repeat incident, but they were both cable flashes so I accept that the information that I think counsel put before me, but I would have to go away and check that.  I’m not sure that that’s – that’s certain at this stage.

Q. Just finally Dr Elder, are you aware of any other hydro-mining operations anywhere else in the world or are they just located here in New Zealand?

A. The first operation that I’m aware of was by Mitsui Mining in Japan which was probably a couple of decades ago and stopped after that.  there was a mining, hydraulic mining operation in Canada, I don't know if that’s continued and I note in the report that was provided to me yesterday a suggestion that there was a hydraulic mining operation I think somewhere in Europe at one stage.  I’m actually not aware of any – other than possibly the Canadian one, anywhere else in the world that it’s being done at present, but that doesn’t mean to say it’s not.

THE COMMISSION:  

Q. I have no questions as such Dr Elder, but in the event that the Commission wanted access to the injury frequency data that was the subject matter of Commissioner Bell’s questions, that could be made available I take it on request?

A. We’d be very happy to provide that, yes.

Mr Hampton addresses the coMMISSION – one week closure from 9 November 2010 as a result of a spontaneous combustion heat incident

WITNESS:

No, if I may answer that I appreciate that to be absolutely clear; we have closed a number of mines for different periods of time on a number of occasions.  This is a part of our approach to safety so while closing a mine because you’re concerned that you’ll need to do something about safety is, is always an indicator of concern, it’s not, in my mind one of those things that we record as a red letter event in my mind that I remember that specifically.  So, I recall last year we actually stood down operations at Spring Creek on a number of occasions for different reasons, all of which were positive safety acts.  We – I do believe you’re correct had a closure to investigate or follow up on a heating incident, I don't recall how long it was prior to the Pike River explosion, so clearly not connected with that and then there was the two stand downs afterwards that I referred to.
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MR HAMPTON ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION:

I wonder sir if it’s appropriate to enquire whether you might want to get the record of those stand down enclosures from in that year we’ve just spoken of sir but I just wanted the record to be correct about it because that was contrary to my information sir.  Thank you.

FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER BELL

Q. Was the mines inspectorate involved in any of the close down operations or were they involved while the mine was closed and you were doing the various improvements to it?

A. Again, if I at risk of not remembering all the events, I don’t believe or recall any circumstance under which the mines been closed as a result of intervention from the mine inspectorate.  They have all been voluntary as a part of us following our procedures to investigate incidents and follow up.

Q. But during the actual closure were they available to assist?  Did they come to the mine while it was closed?

A. I'll have to assume the answer was almost certainly yes although I can't recall the specifics I'm sorry, but we’d be happy to follow up on that for you.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

MS SHORTALL addressES THE COMMISSION – WITHDRAWAL OF application 

MS BEATON CALLS:

JANE NEWMAN (AFFIRMED)

Q. Can you confirm that your full name is Jane Newman?

A. That's correct.

Q. You live in Christchurch?

A. I do.

Q. And can you tell us your current position please?

A. I run a consultancy called Newman Energy Research.

Q. And I think you're the director and a senior scientist with that organisation?

A. That's correct.

Q. What are your academic qualifications?

A. I graduated first class honours and PhD from Canterbury University in Christchurch.

Q. And what was your degree in relation to?

A. It was the geology of the major West Coast coalfields.

Q. Can you confirm to us please what memberships you hold of relevant societies to your profession?

A. The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, The Society for Organic Petrology, The International Committee for Coal and Organic Petrology and New Zealand Geological Society and sundry local groups.
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Q. Now I just want to deal briefly, Dr Newman, with how it is that you came to make your submission to the Royal Commission.  That was a voluntarily provided submission that you prepared yourself I think with the assistance at some points from the commission’s investigator, 
Mr Stokes?

A. Yes, I knew that probably more than anybody else I had had the longest and most frequent involvement in the Pike River coalfield geology and as a geologist I personally think that that’s one of the most important factors in safe mining.  I thought it would be useful to provide my historical perspective but also my interpretation of the major geological complications as I see them which are generally not well understood.

Q. Just on the issue of your knowledge of and involvement with the 
Pike River area, that extends back by my account about 31 years.  Would that be right?

A. That's correct.

Q. You –

A. 1979.

Q. Right.  Perhaps we’ll just, I know you in your statement your submission that you filed, which for the record is NEW001, that you have there gone through what you've referred to as timeline –

A. Mhm.

Q. – of the history really of investigation at Pike River coalfield.  You've done that in some detail?

A. Yes.

Q. I just wondered though it might be of assistance to those present if we just quickly summarise perhaps what it is that your personal involvement was over that period of 31 years until present?

A. Okay, yes, we can do that.  Initially when the coalfield was first commercially assessed that was starting in 1980 was the first serious investigation.  I happened to be beginning my PhD studies at that time and had already made inquiries for access to documentation and this came to the attention of the licence holder at the time who was 
Terry Bates through Otter Minerals.  He contacted us to say could we jointly make some investigations in the field which we did in 1980 and we continued to have a close and very productive relationship right up until 1988.  There was a quiet period while the area was being assessed for the Paparoa National Park boundary definition.  At about 1988 the licence passed to New Zealand Oil and Gas and –

Q. I’ll just pause you there before you go on.

A. Yep.

Q. Sorry to interrupt you but when you say “we” in terms of the work that was happening, who were you referring to?

A. There were several of us doing PhD studies at Canterbury University at the time.

Q. Yes.

A. Myself, my husband Nigel Newman who works for CRL Energy and another PhD student David Titheridge.   Subsequent to that there were Master students getting involved.  This was a period in the 1980s of what we call the coal resources survey when the government was putting a lot of investment into clarifying and quantifying all of 
New Zealand’s coal resources.  Now they didn’t directly fund work at Pike River coalfield but because all of that was going on, the context of that time there was a lot of student post-graduate research and also semi-commercial work by those post-graduate students into a lot of coalfields around the country.

Q. Including yourself in relation to Pike River?

A. Yep, yep, mmm.

Q. Now I think it’s clear that in 1983 the first of what are called the 
Pike River coal drill holes were –

A. Yes.

Q. – carried out at the coalfield.

A. After two years of outcrop sampling really Terry who had gone on through Otter Minerals and a couple of company names and eventually it became called Pike River Coal Company, everything that could be reasonably achieved in outcrop had been done so there were six drill holes sited and drilled down to between 30 and 50 metres below the Brunner coal measures and that was 1983.
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Q. Now you said before that in 1988 things moved on a bit?

A. Yes, the park boundaries I think had been determined, the license had been taken over by New Zealand Oil and Gas.  We made some approaches to that company and exchanged or provided some of the archival information.  There was continuing correspondence but not really a very close relationship.  However we carried on and now I’m talking about the Canterbury Coal Research Group which was a gathering of postgraduate students, post doctoral fellows, led by myself and housed within the Department of Geological Sciences at Canterbury University.  We had two masters students begin work at Pike River Coalfield at the end of the 1980s.  We also had post doctoral work going on and a PhD student who was looking at the industrial properties of New Zealand coals.  Now for his work we needed what we call pristine samples, which is coal samples that have been recently drilled.  Coal is very reactive and when you store coals the properties change quite quickly.  The Ministry of Energy funded us to drill a hole at Pike River Coalfield to obtain these scientific samples.  That was drill hole 7 and that went right through the Brunner in Paparoa coal measures into the volcanics at the base.

Q. And you may have said this but I think that was 1993.  Is that right?

A. No, Pike River drill hole 7 would’ve been about 1990.

Q. Thank you, sorry, my mistake.  Now it’s clear from your submission that in 1993 there were another series of drill holes?

A. Yes, now I had gone on then to CRL Energy which was a condition of continuing to receive government research funding. And those six holes were drilled in relationship between New Zealand Oil and Gas and I believe Mitsui Mining.  I was not involved in that drilling programme.

Q. In 2001 I think you next became involved with –

A. Yes.

Q. – Pike River Coalfield?

A. We had done some microscope analysis of coals.  Coals are typically characterised using the microscope, which is called petrographic analysis.  We continued to do some of that work through the 1990s on a commercial basis.  But in 2001 Gordon Ward, who was CEO of Pike River Coal, approached me directly to say could I coordinate a study into the risks of acid mine drainage at Pike River Coalfield because this had come up as a potential environmental problem and the Department of Conservation were funding studies, independent studies, to see how serious that risk was and the company wished to do some of their own work on this.  So that was undertaken by myself, my husband Nigel Newman, who is geochemist.  He and I were still working in these related or complimentary areas but by then I had started the Newman Energy Research Consultancy while he was still with CRL Energy.  The other person involved in the acid mine drainage assessment was Phil Lyndsay who worked for one of the geotechnical companies.  Now in the course of that work I was invited to evaluate the existing Pike River Coal database, the drill hole data principally, some of the pre-mining feasibility studies and at that time also Murray Cave was working on similar things but for the Department of Conservation.  Gordon suggested, as we had expressed some concerns about the adequacy of the geological database, he invited us to look at everything, all the holdings.  These were sent to Christchurch from Sydney and –

Q. To you?

A. Yes, no actually to Peter Gunn, who was working on contract for New Zealand Oil and Gas in the development stages of the mining feasibility studies and for the permitting applications.  Now Peter Gunn was operating as a private consultancy on contract to New Zealand Oil and Gas.  So these holdings were sent to him and both Dr Cave and myself went through a very large amount of data.  We –

Q. Just before you go on.  When was this?

A. This was 2001 and it was at the same time as the evaluation of the acid mine drainage risk.

Q. Right.

A. And this was an opportunity for us to see everything that had been done.
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Q. And this is in the context, so we’re all orientated, this is in the context of Pike River Coal’s application to obtain a – to be granted an access arrangement from the Department of Conservation -

A. Principally it was in relation to the access consents –

Q. – and the consents yeah?

A. – which had not at that time been obtained.  Department of Conservation were concerned and were undertaking these independent studies including Dr Cave’s work.  Now in the course of evaluating that database which is a significant part of the timeline, because it did give me an opportunity to become completely up to date with all the information at that time.  I did say to Gordon Ward that I felt that the geological detail within that database and particularly the way it was expressed in cross-sections and maps.  I thought that was sketchy at that time.  I did not discuss this publicly but I did put this in writing to the company themselves.  After the work on acid mine drainage risk I was again somewhat distant from what was going on on the licence.  Again there were some commercial coal analyses and providing archival information that I had, that –

Q. This is from you –

A. Yes.

Q. – to Pike River Coal?

A. Because of my long history there I had a complete database going right back to the early sampling and drilling and from time to time pieces of that information would be needed because they were not available or had been lost and I would make copies available and really from 2001 to 2006 that was the extent of my involvement.  In 2006 Jonny McNee who had been working with Solid Energy as a coal geologist and who had been taught by me as a post-graduate at Canterbury University, Jonny moved to Pike River Coal in 2006 as mine geologist essentially or exploration geologist, both really, he got in touch with me and said he’d been looking at the more recent drill hole data which I hadn’t seen.  He felt that complexities were appearing that had not previously been known, he was concerned that it was necessary to try and obtain a geological understanding or explanation of some of these complexities and he thought perhaps the kind of work that I do, which we’ll talk about later on stratigraphy and depositional modelling, modelling of seam geometry, it would be timely to look at doing that at Pike River.  We didn't immediately move on that but at the beginning of 2008 I saw some coals from drill hole 34 and also some of the chemical analyses from drill hole 34.  Now this had encountered not a typical seam, but a seam with intersections of sediment which is not unprecedented but it was very notable in that drill hole.  When I saw the chemical data it was apparent to me that those sediment partings were always part of the seam, they were not to do with faulting.  Now what you find very often in –

Q. Just before you go on.

A. Oh, sorry.

Q. We’ll get into the specifics –

A. Quite, okay.

Q. – in a moment, but at the moment I think the important thing to bring out is the timeline.  So we’re talking about 2006 when your former student Jonny McNee moved to work for Pike River Coal Limited and I think you were engaged or your company was in 2008 –

A. Yes and the reasons that’s important is once again it gave me the opportunity to become up to date with the database as it had developed through, through the 2000s and we did produce a stratigraphic model by June 2008 and Jonny actually resigned from Pike River Coal in July 2008.

Q. So your proposal, as I understand it, was in two phases, phase one was completed and phase two was not?

A. That's correct.  Phase two was to test the model.  The model was provisional model, the best achievable with the available evidence, but still really at the idea stage.  It needed testing with dating of the coal measures and perhaps the reason for that will come out later on.
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Q. Now, just so again we can complete this time frame for your involvement, as I understand it you continued to provide really informal information and answers to Pike River Coal Limited through until about mid 2009?

A. That's correct.

Q. And from that point on you had no informal or formal contact or engagement with the company?

A. That's correct, because phase two of my original proposal in 2008 had not made any headway I wasn’t formally involved, however the Pike River Coal geology staff and also their geological contractors commonly would contact me with questions.

Q. Right.

A. And these questions related to the way in which my model might answer some of their current questions.  Now, for nine months or so did do my best to answer those questions.  I commonly did this by email and would have in the email, “This really isn't a definitive answer if we don’t test the model, then we can't be sure, we really need to test the model,” and I said that a number of times, now in about July 2009 I did become concerned that I was being frequently asked to make statements that I considered poorly founded and I said at that point I do not wish to informally make answers because it felt to me as though I was endorsing an approach to the geology that I considered was – I'll try to find a polite way – well, inadequate really, so I really heard very little after about July 2009 because I had somewhat distanced myself.

Q. So in terms of your knowledge of the database of drill hole information and data, that would have ceased I take it in 2008 when you last reviewed it?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Now, as that brief timeline has demonstrated the area in which you work is a technical one which many in this room will not understand necessarily at first blush, so I wonder now whether you are able to start giving us a bit of an education as to what it is that you do and perhaps first a basic introduction to geology and how it is that coal for example comes to exist?

A. Okay, I have some visuals.

Q. Yes we do.

A. Now, some of these have been obtained from Peter Whittall’s submission so I acknowledge that is where I got some of the photographic material from and thank you for that.

Q. Just pause.  We’ll just confirm that that’s I take it via the Royal Commission’s secure website?

A. That's correct, that's right.

Q. And exhibits or annexures that have been provided by Mr Whittall on behalf of Pike River Coal?

A. That's right, yes, there are three figures, two of them are just photographs of the coalfield and one explains the inseam drilling.

Q. Well, perhaps if we can start then, I think the first one that you want to refer us to is a photograph of the western escarpment?

A. PW4.

Q. Yes, PW4, that's the document reference.  We can see that there?

A. Most people would have seen this in the newspaper, it’s the west facing escarpment of Pike River Coalfield, it’s taken here at about two kilometres north of the most southern extent of the coalfield.  The coalfield extends for about seven and a half kilometres from south to north and here you can see Hawera Peak there and the north ridges here, those north ridges are the northern boundary to the coalfield.  The Hawera fault runs along just to the east of Hawera Peak and down out of sight, the Hawera fault is a major boundary, it is a thrust fault, on the eastern side the basement granites and Gneiss are up-thrown.

Q. Just pause, can you just explain some of those terms for us please?

A. Yes, again people would have read that the 2.3 kilometre stone drive access way into the pit bottom was through Gneiss, which is a kind of granite which is the crystalline basement rock, the sort of thing you use for building, so that is up-thrown at least a kilometre on the eastern side of the coalfield and forms the eastern boundary.
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Q. When you say, “up-thrown”, what does that mean?

A. The thrust fault is part of the Paparoa Range fault system which has some very major structures, geological structures, where different parts of the crust have been up-thrown by varying amounts.  So, yes, that’s just a particular technical term but a thrust really means that old rocks have been pushed up over younger rocks, yeah.  We’ll see that on the cross sections later. 

Q. Thank you.

A. So what we did in 1980 was we flew in - the most practical way to access the area is by helicopter.  The road which Pike River Coal have put in relatively recently, up to the mine infrastructure doesn’t, I think, go to a very large elevation.  So in terms of access now to these outcropping areas or for any further drilling that would still be helicopter supported.  So our first camp was up here in about this area.  And I think the next one, which is –

Q. Just before you go on we just need to get this down on the record.  You have referred to a couple of points there, we probably need to describe them in relation to this photograph.  You camped at the left, on that photo the left –

A. Yes, you see we got Hawera Peak and then there is this west facing slope down to the top of the escarpment and the camp was just there, yeah.

Q. So the Hawera Peak is, I’m estimating –

A. The highest point –

Q. – the highest point we can see in that photo?

A. It is, and it really is north of the present license boundary.

Q. And you camped, in terms of the photograph again, down to the left of that?

A. Yes, on the edge of the escarpment.

Q. Edge of the escarpment.

A. Just here.

Q. Okay, thank you.

A. That escarpment faces out towards Punakaiki.

THE COMMISSION:
Q. So you’re at the northern end of the escarpment where you camped?

A. We were at the northern end of the escarpment just before Hawera Peak but if you continue now further north beyond the present limit of the license there are further bluff exposures but just not as dramatic as these ones.

examination continues:  ms beaton

A. PW5 has got some of the geological horizons.

Q. Yes and that’s up there now I think?

A. Okay.

Q. Now again this is a document that was obtained, or provided I’m sorry, by Mr Whittall on behalf of the company, yes?

A. That's correct, mhm.  Right now the –

Q. And before you continue sorry?

A. Yes.
Q. The markings that are on there and the lines and the references, they’re not yours are they?

A. No these were put on by Pike River Coal.  This image, or similar images has appeared in the press and in various company publications to give an overview of the geology of the license area.  I’ll now define one or two things.  Coal measures, when we talk about the geological units here we talk about Brunner coal measures, Paparoa coal measures.  Some people will already know that the term, “coal measures” which is a very old term, it relates to not just the coal seam but to all the sedimentary horizons that the coals occur within.  So, “measures” is a very old term to talk about rocks essentially.  Now the sediments that we can see at the top of those bluffs above what’s marked here as the Brunner Seam, that’s the island sandstone, that’s a succession of sands that were deposited in a marine environment.  That unit is named for the island in the middle of the Gray River by Taylorville.  Those sandstones are about 40 to 45 million years old and that puts them in the air scene.  The Brunner Seam as shown there is really what we would refer to as the Brunner Coal Measures Horizon.  There is a high proportion of coal but there are also some sediments above and below that seam.  And then underneath the Brunner Horizon are the much thicker Paparoa coal measures.  Now these are much older.  The Paparoa coal measures are cretaceous in age, which are 70 million years plus, age of the dinosaurs.  There is a major period of time missing between the Paparoa coal measures and the Brunner coal measures.
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A. At Greymouth we have a very similar sequence and the Spring Creek coals and the coals from the Roa Mine are taken from the Paparoa coal measures.  Now at Pike River we do have Paparoa coals.  Here it’s shown as the Paparoa seam, that’s a bit of a over simplification.  There are a number of seams in the lower part of the Paparoa coal measures at Pike River.  They tend to be discontinuous.  I won't say too much about those, so that gives a really an overview of the geology.  You can see those beds are dipping to the right, to the east.  The structure of the coal measures is such that we see here the escarpment looking west and then there is what we call the dip slope and we’ll see that in the cross-section.  The dip slope is still rather steep but relatively gradual descent that you can't see because it’s on the other side of the bluffs and that falls down towards the area of the pit bottom and the accessway, yep.  A little bit about coals then.  Coals are formed from deposits of peat.  I've got a page in my submission which talks about some of these things, it’s page 5.  You need a lot of peat to form a seam of coal and you need to preserve that peat, that plant material which you achieve by having a high water table.  If you can have a high water table either because you have proximity to a body of water like a lake or the sea or you have a lot of rivers running through the area or even just a very high rainfall, any of those will allow you to accumulate thick deposits of peat.  If you want them –

Q. Just pause there sorry, Dr Newman.  We don't have the diagram up yet so –

A. No.

Q. – before we keep going, is it one that you've referred to.

A. No, we -

Q. It’s not, my apologies.

A. - this is to, no, no that’s fine.  Just to explain how the coal is formed –

Q. Right.

A. – there were one or two questions about that.

Q. Yes.

A. So if you are going to accumulate enough peat to form a coal seam this takes tens of thousands of years or even hundreds of thousands of years and of course you have to have some subsidence for that thickness to be preserved and that is what has happened on the West Coast and then you need burial to coalify that peat to the ranks that we see today.  Now that happens a number of kilometres below the ground surface in subsiding basins but that, then that all gets pushed back up again so that we can see it today so those coal measures that we saw in the photographs have been buried to depths of two to three kilometres and have been pushed up that amount in the relatively recent geological past.

Q. And just while we’re on, back on this photograph, you referred before to outcropping, that the measures outcrop here.  What does that mean?

A. It means they’re exposed at the surface.  You can actually walk up and sample them with rock hammers.

Q. Which is indeed what you and others did –

A. We did that in the early eighties.  The problem with that is you don't see what is under the surface and you can't get fresh coal samples.  Okay, so -

Q. Just before we go on.

A. Yep.

Q. And this is a very basic question again my apologies but how, can you explain to us in general layman’s terms how it is that gas becomes a feature of coal?

A. During coalification you can generate gas by a number of means.  The kind of gas that we’re referring to in these coking coals is thermogenic, it’s formed as a result of coalification at depth and high pressures and temperatures.  You can also form gas biogenically at shallower depths where micro-organisms actually inoculate coals, usually lower rank coals in ground water, sometimes to considerable depths of maybe 800, 1000 metres and they almost feed on the coals and produce biogenic gas which is similar compositionally but not identical, yeah.  In the case of the gases we’re concerned about here it’s definitely thermogenic, a result of coalification, yep.
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A. In the 1980s we drilled those six holes in the down-dip area, now this is important because until that time we were seeing the coal in outcrop and typically we were dealing with a seam varying from three to 12 metres thick usually at least eight metres thick and it appeared somewhat continuous in outcrop and relatively uncomplicated except in the very south and north.  But, as soon as we drilled in that down-dip area to the east, we found that the situation was very different.  The seam there was still sometimes thick, but then there was an interval above the main Brunner seam of sediments that we refer to as the interburden.  Now those are sandwiched between the Brunner main seam and what we call the Rider seam.  Now the Rider seam is a thin seam which is discontinuous and often very high ash and that separates the Brunner horizon, the Brunner coal measures from the island sandstone at the top of that picture.  So, at the time the coal measures were accumulating, eventually we had marine transgression, the sea came in and inundated that area and the Rider seam is the last gasp of the peat accumulating mire.  A mire is a general term for a peat accumulating environment.  So the last gasp of that Brunner mire when the sea came in produced the Rider seam and the sediments that separate the Rider seam from the main seam I call that the interburden, they vary in thickness from a few metres to eight or nine metres, they very sedimentalogically they vary in appearance.  So that is what we found in those six drill holes in the dip-slope are much more complicated picture that in outcrop.

Q. And to clarify this photograph PW5, doesn’t show a Rider seam?  It has no –

A. No, I mean even if you could see it by going up close to it, you do not see the Rider in outcrop and it does give the impression of a very simple geological situation.  Yeah.  Now shall I define stratigraphy?

Q. Yes please.

A. It sounds scary but it’s not really.  Stratigraphy describes the variation in thickness of coal and rock units.  Not just the variation in thickness, but also the relationship between them.  Now something we see in the West Coast particularly which has had a complicated geological history is that coal seams will pass laterally quite rapidly into sediments.  So what’s happened and we’ll have some pictures in a minute, is you’ve had your mire environment with peat accumulation, but at the same time you’ve had maybe streams running through that mire depositing sediments.  So at the same time you’ve got peat and sediments accumulating and you can go from coal, clean coal into sediments laterally within the mine over very short distances, of sometimes only 50 metres.  Now I’m not speaking specifically of the Brunner coal at Pike River here, this is a general statement and these sorts of relationships are what we call stratigraphy.  And this contrasts with what you will more commonly hear about and have heard a lot about over the last two days which is the effect of faulting.  Now faulting happens usually later and including during this uplift phase you get a lot of fracturing, so we call that structural complication as opposed to stratigraphic complication.  The stratigraphic complications arise at the time the deposits were accumulating, yep.  Okay.  I’ve got some diagrams to illustrate one kind of stratigraphic complexity that is relevant to the Brunner main seam.

Q. Yes.

A. At Pike River.  

Q. That’s the one we can see there is it?

A. That’s correct.
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Q. So that’s – just before we go on, that is document NEW014, page 1?

A. That's right, so I'll start with the legend, now I have simplified the stratigraphy here.  Instead of showing the Rider seam and interburden which occur above the Brunner main I have just called everything above the main seam overburden, so that we don’t have to worry about what’s above.  The peak mire we’ve talked about that, the sedimentary parting, top right, is what we’re about to explain.

Q. Yes.

A. And local basement is actually the Paparoa coal measures which we’ve talked about with the photos and the blue there is to represent where streams are flowing through the mire.  The green line is to indicate faulting, that won’t come up until quite a bit later and neither will the workings so if we could have figure 1, okay, we’ve got it twice.

Q. Could we just focus on the lower, now just before you go on though 
Dr Newman, can you just describe what you mean when you've said there that there's considerable vertical exaggeration?

A. Yes, now the problem representing any geology is that you are often focussing on an interval which is quite thin so in the case of the Brunner coal measures we might be talking 10, 20 metres of thickness and there can be a lot of busyness within that 20 metres but in terms of the lateral extent we might be talking two kilometres, so if you do a cross-section in true scale and that means that the vertical scale showing the thickness is the same scale as the horizontal scale then you have this problem where the Brunner horizon just becomes a little boot strap which is so thin that you can't see really what's going on.  So, in geology we will often apply vertical exaggeration where the vertical scale is different from the horizontal scale and that really is essential to see what's going on.  Okay, so all we’re seeing here is the Paparoa coal measures producing a local surface and that surface is what the Brunner horizon sits on, so the grey – that is the peat deposit, so we’re not talking now, we’re talking back 45 million years ago when the peat was accumulating.

Q. And the Paparoa measure that you're talking about, is that what we see in the purple?

A. That's correct.

Q. In either corner of figure 1?

A. Yes, so that would have been an undulating surface with some relief, little hills, little streambeds and peat accumulates on top of that.  Now, I have simplified things but that is sufficient and where we have the mire, the green is the plants growing and there is the river channels, the streams that were running through the mire.

Q. That’s in the blue?

A. Yes.  Now, these streams are depositing sediment so here’s these lenses of sand and they have deposited onto the peat surface.

Q. And they’re shown in the brown, is that right?

A. They’re brown. So, this is time 1.  So if we have figure 2, and you probably can't show them both together so you try and remember that so we’ve just seen this bit up to there.  Now, what happened after that is the streams went somewhere else and we have another layer or bed of peat deposited above those sand streams if you like.  Now, if you're interested in scale we don’t really have enough drill hole data to say how extensive these sand lenses are within the seam.  So, that’s important that we don't know that.  What we do know is that they will be almost floating or isolated within the coal body.  So, at the end of the accumulation of the Brunner main seam and we still have the green on top for the mire, that is what we have.  I think figure 3, have a look at figure 3.  Yes, okay, after that the overburden, that’s it, yeah. 

Q. Yes, which is shown by the pink layer?

A. Yes, the pink layer and the blue at the top represents the sea.

Q. Right.

A. So that is the end of the depositional phase.  Now, we’ll come back to this sequence at the end where we will look not how it was then, but how it might be now but we have some other things to do first.
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Q. Dr Newman we have the diagrams that you were taking us through yesterday.  I think you’re going to give us a very quick refresher about that -

A. That's right, very quick review -

Q. - and before we’re going to move on.

A. – and then we can go on.  So we talked about the different elements in the geology which are going to be part of the explanation of the importance of stratigraphy and this, as I said, is a very simplified picture of the geology but it serves to illustrate a particular kind of stratigraphic complexity which I think is important in the context of the 
Pike River Mine so we have the overburden, the main seam, the green to represent the peat accumulating environment and we talked about the peat being the source ultimately of the coal so this depicts the time when the peat was being deposited.  These sand bodies are deposited half way through the life of that mire and are buried in more peat during the second half of the life of that mire.  The overburden is pink here, I haven't differentiated that to show the Rider seam or the interburden but we’ll talk about those when we have another cross-section.  The important point here is that at the end of peat accumulation these sand stone bodies are strings which are isolated within the coal and I said that at the moment we’re not clear of the exact location and extent of some of those strings.  I think we can go to the next figure which is –

Q. – which is your cross-section.  Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Which is?

A. NEW0016.

Q. Yes, thank you.

A. Okay so here we’re looking at the pit bottom area up to the escarpment that we saw as photographs yesterday.

Q. Right and the escarpment is at the left-hand side, top left of the 
cross-section.

A. Yep, so we got west here and that escarpment was in the photos.  It faces out towards the coast and you see the coal measures well exposed.  The area here we call the dip flow or down dip area.  This is all concealed under the overburden.  The only way you can find out about what is there in the coal measures horizon is by drilling.  We’re going to talk quite a bit about drilling shortly.  Now if we start here in the east we’ve got the Gneiss rock, that’s the crystalline basement rocks, they are older rocks and this redline is the Hawera thrust.  That’s a fault where the old rocks have been pushed up on top of the younger rocks.  There's a major displacement there, an uplift of about a kilometre.  The pink or red there is the island sandstone.  We saw that in the bluffs.  The pit bottom I've shown in a simplified way.  We’ve got the yellow is the underlying Paparoa coal measures, the Brunner main seam is this thicker black line here.  
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A. The Rider seam which I said yesterday that is the last gasp of peat accumulation at the end of Brunner coal measures deposition.  That’s a thin seam which is discontinuous and that separates the Brunner coal measures from the overburden, the island sandstone, so that’s a sandwich there.  This area I haven't tried to show because the structure is so complicated I would have had to make it up so I've just left it unclear.  So, I'd like to talk about the yellow for a minute.  The Paparoa coal measures are those thick bluffed sandstones with some seams in the lower part which are discontinuous.  When you get up towards the top of the Paparoa coal measures they are rather distinctive, grey, gritty sandstone rock.  They are not distinguishable on their lithological appearance from the Brunner coal measures sandstones which in places occur beneath the Brunner seam.

Q. Just pause there.  You said the word lithological, I don’t think you've told us what that means yet?

A. No, the lithology, that word means the composition of the rocks.  Now, in the case of the sandstones it could refer to their texture, a gritty sand is a coarse granular sand, it can also refer to the composition but that’s more of a micro-structural geochemical thing.  So, I'm talking about the physical appearance of the sandstones and other rocks when I say lithological.

Q. Thank you.

A. So the appearance of the sands at the top of the Paparoa coal measures is not distinct from the appearance of the sands at the base of the Brunner coal measures and that means that by looking at those rocks we can't say where the Brunner ends and the underlying Paparoa coal measures begin.  Now, that’s important because when you're trying to define the geology you are basing that on the appearance of those rocks.  So, what I'm saying here is we don’t know where the Brunner stops and the Paparoa starts.  Now, the lenses of sand that I've shown in the main seam here, and this one I talk a little bit more about in a minute, that one isn't definite.  This one here in drill hole 25 is certainly definite and there are other places where there are these sand lenses within the main seam.  These have resulted from the streams that ran through the mire which was the figures we saw right at the start.

Q. Just to orientate us, you're referring to the area that you've circled and marked B.  Is that correct?

A. Yes I am, yes.  This will get clearer when we start with the display but the important thing here is you'll see I've coloured those sand lenses within the Brunner main seam yellow, the same as the underlying rocks and that is because visually they are not distinct.  So, that’s a very important point.  Now, the other things that we can see on here are the Rider seam and the interburden here, so you've got a coal sandwich with the interburden in between.  

A. Yes.
1009
Q. And on the cross-section you were pointing to the area close to the M3 drill hole?

A. Yes.  M3 is where you have a well defined interburden, not far away in the escarpment you have a thick main seam and apparently no interburden.  So you – the other thing this cross-section shows is that there is considerable variation from place to place in the detailed arrangement of the sediments and the coal and as we defined yesterday variations in  thickness of the main seam.  Variations in the relationship between the coal and the associated sediments, they are what we call the stratigraphy of the deposit.  And the faulting, which has resulted from mainly the uplift event which has brought this coal measures back to the surface, we call that structural development.  So we’ve got structural complexity and we have stratigraphic complexity.  The stratigraphic complexity results from the time when these rocks and coals were actually being deposited.  The structural complexity is later when the deformation has occurred during uplift.  We’ll come back to those concepts a bit later.  The way I’ve drawn this, we have got vertical exaggeration, we talked about that yesterday.  When you’re interested in a relatively thin interval of 10 to 20 metres, if you were to show that interval at the same vertical scale as horizontal scale, you do end up with a very thin line on the cross-section and you can’t show within that any stratigraphic detail.  Now that is a problem because if you don’t show it people will not necessarily be aware of it.  You have to graphically represent these complications, especially when the diagrams are going to be used by mine operators who are technically mining people but don’t have the geological background. Things that aren’t shown on plans can disappear unless you go right back to the original data.  So the vertical exaggeration here it’s not extreme, it’s about I think three times the horizontal scale.  So, what I want to do here is contrast these two situations by means of this physical display.  Now, I said I would come back to drill hole 8, I will do that with the display but I want to say here, where I’ve shown thick coal, interburden and a Rider, I have assumed that is the situation there based on the geology and the north and south.  As you can see we’ve got at least 600 metres of distance between drill hole 8 and drill hole 25 with no information at all.  So, that is one of the things that I’m referring to when I say the definition of the geology is sketchy.  Six hundred metres is a very long distance when you have these kinds of stratigraphic complications.

Q. And to your knowledge have there been any more drill holes in between that distance between drill hole 8 and 25?

A. I’m confident there haven’t.  
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Q. So just perhaps if we let everyone know what you’re discussing.

A. Yes.  So because I want to bring this geology sufficiently to life to flesh it out enough that people will really understand the situation I’ve got a three-dimensional display which I will build up progressively.  And this I hope will allow me to discuss the merits of vertical drilling versus inseam drilling when you are in a stratigraphically complex situation.

Q. Now when you do this I understand you’re going to have hop up off your seat?

A. Yes.  Now the people who are going to look at that screen, and I think a lot of people in this corner are probably going to be, you’ll have to remember that, I think, that things will be transposed.  You’ll be seeing really a mirror image so the stacks are going to be actually the wrong way round in relation to this cross-section.

Q. You’re going to create a stack for .A and also one for .B.  Is that right?

A. I am.  And I’m going to orient them with A on the left and B on the right?

Q. Yes.

A. For clarity.  But I don’t think that’s how it’s going to look on that screen.

Q. That’s okay, thank you.

A. So if I don’t have the microphone close enough someone will tell me.  So we’re going to start with the Paparoa coal measures.  So this is stack A.  So at A and B the Paparoa coal measures are the same and the next thing that happens here is we’re going to start with the coal seam.  So at both of these locations we have the first phase of peat accumulation and they still look the same.  Now this is where we start to have a change because on the side for B we have now a period of stream definition in the mine.  So we’ve got a stream channel that we had in our pictures finding its way through this vegetated mire and depositing the sand (inaudible 10:16:21).  We don’t have that in A.  The next thing that happened is the second half of the deposition in the upper part of the seam and that happens in both locations, Neville’s definitely got the idea.  We didn’t practice.  Okay so on A we have a situation that most people are familiar with.  Paparoa coal measures are thick seams and we’re going to move into the interburden.  On the other side here at B it’s not like that.  We’ve got Paparoa coal measures and the Brunner seam is split by a sand body.  Now the thickness of these intervals is not to scale, it’s determined by the sizes of the boxes.
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Q. Yes.

A. So we have  sandwich there at B and now we’ll go with the interburden so you'll remember we talked about the interburden.  This is the interval of sediments that separates the Rider seam which you can see in the cross-section.  The Rider seam is the thin seam at the top of the Paparoa coal measures and it’s represented by this thin black line.

Q. Do you mean the Brunner coal measures then or the Paparoa?

A. What did I say, Paparoa?

Q. You said Paparoa.

A. Thank you (inaudible 10:17:54), I just mean the Brunner.  Now often when we have this sandstone split within the main seam as at B, we commonly do not see the Rider seam.  I have left that out here but we do have it here, and finally we have the overburden.  So this is our island sandstone.

MS BEATON ADDRESSES WITNESS – RE MICROPHONE

cross-examination continues:  ms beaton

A. With this demonstration I can illustrate for you the importance of the vertical drilling.   This is my drill rig here.  Now this is a relatively complex situation.  This is not so complicated.  With a vertical drill hole you are coming down through the succession from the top so this provides you with stratigraphic context.  You know you’ve drilled through the island sandstone.  You may or may not see the Rider.  You go through the interburden into the top of the Brunner seam so you know where you are stratigraphically because you've been through those units.  You continue down through the, in this case the sandstone split within the main seam.  The one place that you could go wrong here is by stopping your drill hole below the coal in that sandstone bed.  You'll remember that it’s not possible to lithologically distinguish the sandstone interbed within the main seam from the true floor under the main seam.  There’s a possible in some of the earlier drill holes particularly drill hole 8, that the drilling stopped within a sandstone parting, within the main seam and if the drilling had continued we may have found more coal underneath, so that is one of the things that has concerned me about drill hole 8.  
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A. This came out in the report that I did in 2008.  I recommended in my stratigraphic model report in mid 2008, that drill hole 8 be extended.  You can either re-enter the drill hole sometimes or if that’s not possible then you continue on from a new site, just not far away.  I don’t believe this was done, so we still don’t really know, as far as I'm aware, whether there could be some coal below the end of drill hole 8.  So, that aside, in most cases the vertical holes have drilled far enough that you can be sure the whole Brunner succession has been located.  The stratigraphic complexity is taken care of because you know you've been through specific geological units as you drill down.  So, this is where I'm going to talk about the inseam drilling.  Now, if we could put up for a little while, I think it’s PW54.

Q. And again that’s an exhibit or annexure that’s been provided by Pike River coal via Mr Whittall’s submission?

A. Yes, that's right.  Now, this illustrates the nature of inseam drilling.  I think we can assume that in fact on this left hand side there was coal seam developed and that they have drilled from workings within coal here.  For the purposes of our discussion we will assume that.  They have drilled through rock here and then into the coal seam on the other side and there was a description of inseam drilling yesterday where on the way out you drill and find the roof and on the way back you look for the floor.  So, on our model here we will be coming from this side, drilling through coal and then in between here we’ve got this zone of structural complexity so we’re drilling through a zone where we don’t really know what's going on into rocks on the other side.  The thing about inseam drilling is that you can drill from a single thick unsplit seam into for example, the upper split where you have the main seam cut by sandstones.  Now, if you're not aware that you have a lens of sandstone within the seam and you do inner seam drilling into the upper split or indeed the lower split, you may completely miss the fact that you’ve moved into a two seam situation, particularly as these sediments that are splitting the seam look the same as the sediments that form the true floor.  So, this construction is to try and demonstrate the difference between the vertical drilling and the inseam drilling.  Obviously this is important.  There is a general agreement that there are not a lot of vertical holes in the coalfield.  Can we go back to the cross-section please?

Q. You're talking specifically about Pike River coalfield?

A. Yes.
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Q. So we’ve gone back to the cross-section NEW0016?

A. Yes, so there's been a discussion in the last two days that the vertical drilling was the first stage of exploration and that to get new and more detailed geological information the company would use inseam drilling from within the workings.  What I’m trying to demonstrate here is that inseam drilling, when you have stratigraphic complexity, does not give you the same reliable information that the vertical drilling does.  Another thing about the drilling, there were a number of holes put down vertically or from the surface since 2006 when the Golder’s report was written.  Now a significant proportion of those were actually in the Gneisses over on the right, they were to help when the stone drive was being constructed.  So those did not provide information on the structure and stratigraphy of the coal measures themselves.  Another point that possible didn't come out is that quite commonly two or three holes would be drilled from the same site, but at angles.  So, they are still distinct, two or three holes, but because they’re from the same site you’re not really sampling the same area that you would be if they were separately sited.  You’re still seeing different things with angle holes, but there’s obviously a limit to the lateral coverage that you can get that way.

Q. Is it your understanding Dr Newman that that’s what’s happened at Pike River since 2006?

A. Yes, it was – when you’re trying to minimise site development, now this can be for budget reasons, it’s – with helicopter drilling it is obviously cheaper and quicker to drill multiple holes from the same site, but also because of the desire to minimise environmental impact it’s probably easier to get permission to drill from a specific site than to go after permissions for three distinct sites.  Now, I’m just being absolutely fair here to the company, I’m not saying that I think the Department of Conservation made it difficult to site holes in three different locations.  I’m simply pointing out as I think the company would, that that was sometimes part of the reasoning for where sites were put and how many sites were developed.

Q. Just on a slight side issue there, what is the environmental effects of these drill holes?

A. There is a certain amount of clearance required.  We’re not talking about the clearance you need to bring in a truck mounted rig, not making trackways, that’s very destructive, these are all helicopter supported sites, all the equipment is bought in by helicopter.  So you are required really just to create a level cleared area which is perhaps sometimes only half the size of this room actually or less in fact.  I know from talking to Jonny McNee that Department of Conservation were always very grateful if you could be flexible as to exactly where the hole was going to be sited.  So if you could move it 20 metres from where you originally planned then you might save a couple of big rimus and this was, this was welcomed by Department of Conservation and if they could see you were prepared to make that effort then they were correspondingly co-operative when you needed a little bit of come and go.

Q. Okay thank you.

A. So, there is this concern that I have and I think that any geologist would have, that when you have stratigraphic complexity inseam drilling is not well designed to identify that.  Now this is particularly the case if you are not clearly aware that your coal seam has got the sandstone bodies within it and I am not confident that the company was aware of these as a potential complication within the immediate mining area.  Now I won’t put up any mine plans, but by the time of the explosion, based on mine plans that Mr Whittall has put up onto the website, the workings had extended beyond the zone of structural complexity, past hole 8 and up a good proportion of the distance to drill hole 25, where we know there is definitely one of the sand body’s.  
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Q. And what we don’t know is how far that sand body extends?

A. Yes, and also, based on drill hole 34 and others I think it’s probable that there are actually a number of these sand bodies.  I don’t think it’s the same one everywhere, I think these streams that flowed through the mire would have been things that you would get in different parts of the area and probably at different times.  I think there’s one quite near the floor in drill hole 34 as I mentioned yesterday. There’s a tendency when you find complexity, either in the mine workings or in a drill hole it is common for operators to interpret that as faulting, as structural complexity.  Stratigraphic complexity is not usually the first thing that comes to mind.  I put in my submission stratigraphy tends to be done poorly even by geologists.  And an important point here is that geological personnel and the mine engineering technical operations personnel once Jonny McNee had moved on, from offshore, key people were from South Africa and they had a background in minerals mining, not coalmining.  This, I think it is evident, would put them at a disadvantage when trying to visualise the kinds of stratigraphic complexity that I’m describing here.  The other thing which is important to note is it isn’t just that you may have a background in something which is not coal related.  If you have trained, for example, in Australia you will have a different perception of what is possible in terms of stratigraphic complexity or what is likely, you will have a different perception than if you have trained on the West Coast.  And that is because the scale of these lateral variations is quite different.  In a continental area, within the Australia coal seams you do have complexity but usually something like sand channels, they will occur more widely spaced, they’ll be more obvious.  I think to explain why the scale of these things is different in the two countries I would need to put the microphone down and start making shapes out of pieces of paper and talking about geological basins.  So I’ll just leave it there.

Q. Yes.

A. The geology in Australia is very different.

Q. Thank you.

A. Yes.  And this has influenced quite a number of those professional reports that we heard about yesterday.  They were written by people who were familiar with coal geology in Australia and not on the West Coast of New Zealand.  That’s a really important point.  So I think we can probably take those boxes down and I’ll get back in the seat, thanks Neville.

legal discussion (10:34:20) – stacks RECORDED BY WAY OF photographS
cross-examination continues:  MS BEATON

Q. So Dr Newman you want to move, I think, onto another slide.  Is that right?

A. I do.  I’d like NEW0014, figures 4A and 4B please.
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Q. Yes, I think that’s page 3.  

A. If that can be just a wee bit bigger?

Q. Do you need both at once or one at a time?

A. I can do one at a time if that’s the only way to make it larger and I'm thinking people looking across here are not going to be able to see very much but if it’s easier just to have A that’s fine.  Now, the colour schemes here relate back to the first set of diagrams that we were looking at.  I haven't tried to show the Rider and the interburden, we’ve just got overburden above main seam to keep it simple.  The coal seam is the grey and I've shown the underlying sediments as purple, so really we’re just focusing now on the coal seam.  

Q. Yes.

A. This lens here, that is to represent the sandstone lenses within the seam that we’ve been discussing.  Now, I have to say here that these are hypothetical situations, I'm producing these as an example of the kinds of things that can happen if you have stratigraphic complexity that you're not clearly aware of or have not adequately defined, and I think to define some of these things you do need a lot of vertical holes.  So, we’ve got this area here which would correspond to that zone of structural complexity that we’ve talked about where –

Q. For the record you're talking of the vertical area between the two green lines which represent faults presumably?

A. Yes, these are faults.  This is a diagrammatic representation though not specific faults they really serve to confine the central zone of poorly defined geology, possibly overburden, could be coal measures from underneath.  The important message being that the coal seam is not present in this site so if you mine through in the seam and then you've got to go through a zone like this, which is not well understood, and then you come out on the other side.  If one of these sandstone lenses is present and you have not realised that this sandstone body is a parting within the seam, if you have assumed, as is very likely, that really what that is is the true floor, if you have assumed that incorrectly then you will be mining along the top of this sandstone lens and eventually it will wedge out.  I'm not saying that this is necessarily what happened at Pike River.  This is just an example of potentially what can happen.  There's debate about how hazardous that would be but there is the possibility of gas trapped in this un-drained area under this false floor potentially being released in an outburst.  Purely a hypothesis.  So, if we could have B.  In this situation I have hypothesised that you've mined through this poorly defined zone and you've actually mined through on the other side into the lower parting of the seam, the lower half of the seam.  In that case the sandstone lens become effectively the roof of the workings.  If you have not realised that there is the other half of the seam above that sandstone lens, and you may not realise that based on inseam drilling, you can have problems with roof stability, pieces of roof dropping out.  I won’t go too much into that because really I'm not strictly a mining geologist.  My expertise is in being aware of the stratigraphic complexity so I won’t develop that.  

Q. Just though can I get you to clarify the two red lines that we see on figure 4B.  Are they there to represent an area which could be, as you've suggested, a roof fall or similar?

A. Yes.  If you get these kinds of sandstone bodies which are isolated within the coal they can have considerable sheering.  There may be faults that are not visible in the true roof and floor.  Often some of the structural deformation around these lenses is quite an early feature.  This relates to differential compaction in the early burial stage, so you can have a variety of structural weaknesses that maybe quite difficult to pin down.
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Q. Is there a possibility of this potential gas outburst in this example by the time the miners get to the end of the sandstone when it joins the roof?

A. Really at any point when you’re under a lens of rock like this, whether you know it’s there or not and you may well not, there is a risk of blocks of roof dropping out and releasing gas.  Now this is really, as I’ve explained it, rather a simplistic description there will be people who can talk about this more authoritatively probably in phase three when consideration of gas and other factors comes up in more detail, people like Dr Cave.  So, I’d like to now relate this to the question of safety.  When you have, as on the West Coast, both this stratigraphic complexity which is just a very simple example here, combined with the structural complexity which is the faulting that we’ve talked about, the two things together, one superimposed over the other, the structure superimposed on the stratigraphic complications, this doesn’t just double the complexity it increases the complexity by several times because of the way these things interrelate.  If you don’t know what the stratigraphy is then you cannot interpret the structure.  If you are thinking that all of the anomalies you encounter in your drilling and mining are essentially related to faulting, you will not have the correct story.  You will not have the correct picture because any interpretation which is 90% structurally based and ignores stratigraphy it cannot be correct.  So, this is not specifically a comment on Pike River, all the West Coast underground mines have these issues.  Obviously when you have complexity like that, underground mining is inherently dangerous.  There are ways to mitigate those hazards and a very important way is to fully, as far as possible, fully understand the geology.  I do not personally believe that it is possible to define the geology accurately and in detail with the drill hole coverage of whatever type that was available for the workings area.

Q. At Pike River?

A. At Pike River.  This has sometimes been true in other mines.  Gradually over the last couple of decades it has become clear at how much drilling is required to pin down geological complications and we did hear about that from Mr Elder, from Dr Elder sorry.  I – in terms of how likely it is, that you may not realise that, for example, you’ve mined into a split seam situation, these kinds of things have happened before.  I think Mr Bell will remember that in the original Strongman mines, Strongman 1and I may get the seam names slightly wrong, I heard this story actually from the chief mine surveyor Frank Taylor, who helped me when I did my original sampling in the Strongman 1, which was about 1980.  In the Strongman where there are faults on one occasion they mine through a fault, they didn't immediately realise this because they had mined from one seam into another seam which is 20 to 30 metres separated within the sequence, but the throw on the fault was just right that it juxtaposed these, these two seams together.  As they mine straight from one to the other it was not at all obvious what had happened.  So these things, these things can fool you, and I think that the stratigraphy in those two locations is similarly complex.  I could go on a little bit maybe about my concerns about the safety issues.
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Q. Does that relate to the period of time from 2008/2009?

A. Yes, and as time progressed, as I have mentioned and is in my submission when asked questions by company geological staff sometimes by people, not strictly geology I think but more into the technical operations. Pieter van Rooynan and was one person, also Jimmy Cory, and they’re sub-contractors in CRL and I think other geotechnical organisations I would often field inquiries relating to lithologies and stratigraphy and would always have at the end of my answer in emails that this answer is only as good as my model as I have said in my report and in subsequent communications the model is untested.

Q. You're referring to the report you gave to Pike River when you were engaged by them in 2008?

A. Yep.

Q. It was a two phase proposal as I understand it?

A. Yes.

Q. Phase one was completed prior to Jonny McNee leaving Pike River employment?

A. Yes.

Q. Phase two you said in your submission was not approved?

A. I had a discussion, I was concerned, I phoned to Pike River staff who would've been involved with this and talked with Jimmy and Pieter, who are the South African people and they were definitely supportive of phase two going ahead.  I have in writing the models, they’re useful and we will further the testing of the model.  At the same time they were also interested to take our coal geology short course which would've been an opportunity to discuss with them some of the complexities of West Coast coal geology.

Q. Is that a course that your company –

A. Yes.

Q. – provides or can provide to mine companies.

A. It’s usually a one day short course for small groups, usually two people, and we tailor it for the particular needs and interests of whoever is attending so it’s quite flexible.

Q. And did that occur?

A. No, I offered.  I said, “Look I know you're busy.  We could bring it over and that would give us a chance to discuss mine geology.”  The staff said, “Well really it’s probably better if we come to you because things are very busy here and we’d be interrupted.  It wouldn't really be a very conducive environment,” so I said, “Well that’s fine.”  I think that they just didn’t have time.  My feeling was they, the workload was such and the day to day reactions to things happening they just didn’t get the opportunity to do that training.  As far as the phase two testing of the model is concerned, we were moving at that stage into the beginning of 2009.  My feeling is that apart from being very busy and having probably difficulty getting the attention of management for what would've seemed like perhaps a rather specialised area, as stratigraphy is not well understood, I think in addition to that resources were starting to be tight, this is financial resources, and the combination of those things my feeling was that’s probably why phase two never made any headway.

Q. I’ll just pause you there.  Just briefly, is phase two of your proposal what actually did that involve?  Is that where things such as pollen dating and, occurs?

A. You'll, I guess if it’s easy you could put the cross-section back up.  I think we probably should leave that up for the discussion.

Q. That’s NEW016.

A. That’s it.

Q. Just briefly, Dr Newman, if you could describe what phase two was intended to achieve?

A. Right, well as we developed here the Paparoa coal measures which is the bulk of this yellow part here under the main seam are lithologically very similar to the Brunner coal measure sediments and to these sandstone horizons or lenses within the main seam.  Because of that you have to distinguish the units some other way than lithology.  And the ideal way, given the circumstances which is that the Paparoa coal measures they are cretaceous, 70 million years old, and the Brunner coal measures are about 45 million years old, you can easily distinguish them by looking at the pollen assemblages.  The plant pollen is distinctive for those two time periods.
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Q. So that’s the type of further testing and analyse that you were –

A. That's correct.

Q. – hoping to do in phase 2 of your proposal?

A. Yes, I do some of this work myself but this is not my speciality.  I have an associate who is expert in this.  At the beginning of 2009 I did spend about two weeks doing some groundwork in preparation to see if we were going to get useful assemblages and the results of that were promising.  But I did not further it as far as I would have liked because the processing that would have been needed for a conclusive result would have required hydrofluoric acid preparation which is done in the University of Canterbury laboratory facilities by my associate.

Q. So the upshot of that is that further funding would have been required -

A. Yes.

Q. – from Pike River Coal for that to continue?

A. We would have required approval of phase two and cooperation for access to samples that we needed and some funding to cover the costs of the work in order to further that.

Q. Can I ask you Dr Newman, yesterday you referred to about July 2009 telling Pike River Coal that you didn’t wish to provide any more informal type advice information.  Yesterday you described it, your term was in a polite way as, “Inadequate.”  In your submission though you’ve taken perhaps a firmer or a different take, and this is at page NEW001/4, where you refer to potential unsafe mining practice.  Can you clarify what you mean?

A. Yes.  The kinds of stratigraphic complications that I have described are potential hazards for underground mining.  The questions that I would be asked by Pike River staff, either directly, a lot of these would be phone calls or by emails copied to me as well as to other contractors, those questions related to information coming out of my model.  I did not think the model had been tested adequately and also developed to cover critical areas within the mine plan, or the planned area of mining.  I thought without testing the model I could not give a definitive reliable answer to the questions that I was being asked.  Now as I’ve said, I always made that clear and said, “Look, until we test this I can’t give you what I regard as a professionally reliable response.”  By, I think, August 2009 I said to the people I was most closely liaising with, who were in CRL and particularly Nigel Newman, my husband who is with CRL.  I said I’m not going to respond informally from now on because any response I make might be taken to be my professionally judged opinion and it’s not, it is in my view not adequate because the geological information to hand from drilling mining and the stratigraphic studies I felt did not define the geological complexity in sufficient detail.  From the time that I made that statement I did not answer anymore questions.  I was not asked any more so it was taken to heart.  And if we can move into 2010?
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Q. Yes.

A. I was at that stage only keeping up with events by seeing the press releases in the newspaper.  I became aware that Gordon Ward, who’d been with project since the 1990s had resigned as CEO.  More particularly I observed that Mr Whittall had been moved into that position.  Now, the immediate thought in my mind was okay, who’s now running the operation on site, and I may have missed something but I read many, many press releases and I never saw the answer to that question, as to now that Mr Whittall was off site who was really the person with complete all encompassing responsibility for the mining, mine safety, everything to do with the mine.  This made me anxious.  I already, as you know, had concerns about the geology not being sufficiently defined and these were my professional opinions.  After being able to review the database in 2001 and 2008 I had no direct access after that, but I – there was one occasion, I knew that my husband was going to be visiting the West Coast, he would often – this is Nigel Newman, he would quite often go and provide some assistance in the Pike River wash plant because making wash plant operation successfully separate the clean coal was something that he had experience in.  He told me that he was going over, this would've been approximately July/August 2010.  I said, “Are you going to Pike River?”  He said, “Yes.”  I said, “Well you know I'd just rather you didn’t go in the mine.”  I'm relating this because I have been invited to make this comment.  It really was part of my phase three submission.  He asked me why not to go in the mine and I said, “Well, you know, it’s just everything really, it’s the geology.”  I wasn’t really very specific.  It was just my feeling at that stage that things were converging on a situation that I wasn’t happy about.

Q. I want to ask you some specific questions Dr Newman about a comment that you've made at page 9 of your submission, so that’s NEW001/9, and that’s in relation to a comment that in 2008 there was frictional heating and ignition of the coalface.  Can you just briefly describe to us first of all what that means, and secondly why it was that you became involved in that issue?

A. This is not something I was formally asked to undertake any studies of.  It’s an example of a question that came up because of my knowledge of the lithologies and stratigraphy.  Now, sometimes within the Brunner coal measures under the seams, this can be in Greymouth or Pike River, what happens during deposition of the peat is that you have acid, this is nothing to do with acid mine drainage, you have fumaric acids from the peat dissolving the minerals that are present, really in the soil horizon, these are quartz, clay, minerals.  The acids allow them to go into solution and they leach down into the underlying sands and cement those sands unusually thoroughly.  This makes a quartz layer which sometimes is called a ganister, it’s an old word.  It is exceptionally hard.  It is much hard than the typical sandstones that are encountered.  Now, I was circulated an email from CRL saying there were problems because the mining machine was causing a frictional heating situation because it wasn’t able to cope with these very hard quartz rocks.  
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Q. Sorry, are you able to describe to us just in layman’s terms what a frictional ignition actually means?

A. Well the, the heating that’s set up due to the friction of the mining implement against these hard quartz rocks just creates sufficient heat that you can have.  You really call it combustion, not exactly spontaneous combustion, but enough heat to light up any gas that’s being released from the breaking coal or potentially, I suppose for the coal itself to ignite, but I think it was more to do with the gas.  The reason I was asked about this was solely in relation to what are these quartz horizons, are they likely to be continuous and is there any way to define their distribution to help mitigate that particular problem and I answered that.

Q. So just in relation to those – the enquiry that you had informally via CRL Energy, that was I think about November 2008?

A. Yes that would've been about then that that is in a time line and will be mainly in my phase three submission.  My, part of my response was that I would expect to see these lithologies in an area where the coal seam was close to the Paparoa coal measures which I believe was likely to be the case in the pit bottom.

Q. Just on a different topic and going back to something you mentioned before in terms of the, the drilling at Pike River.  Are you able to give an opinion as to what would be an adequate drilling programme or is that not something that’s easily quantified?

A. I can, I can comment around it because obviously it varies with location.  What you generally find is when you come to a new area, you put down a relatively small number of holes and quite often things will look quite simple.  Then you get to the next phase and you begin to do fill in drilling and then suddenly it’s not simple anymore, you start to find things you didn't know where there.  Then you go to another phase again where you fill in some more to try and understand what these complexities are, in the case, for example, sandstone lenses in the seam, you’ll be interested in their orientation, there lateral extent.  Now, that phase, which I suppose you almost could call the third phase that is the phase that in my view did not take place.  There was obviously drilling undertaken in relation to that phase after 2006, but it was specifically within the pit bottom area and in fact there were not many holes.  That is a particularly structurally complicated area anyway.  What I would have felt would – was appropriate, before really any development of the access would be to more definitively drill the area away from the pit bottom up into the areas like between drill hole 8 and drill hole 25, where in fact the workings had begun to progress through here by 2010, particularly in the second half of 2010, it seems to me as a geologist that you would want to have drilled these big gaps to find out what you were dealing with well before you got to that situation.

Q. And that’s what you mean by in-fill drilling –

A. I do.

Q. – you drill holes in between prior drill holes.

A. Yes.  But, to say exactly how many holes you would need, that really does vary with the situation how much structuring there is, what sort of stratigraphic complexities there are.  It’s not something you can be specific about or to generalise about.  I suppose I would say, I would like to see at least two holes between 8 and 25, because at the moment that is a plus 600 metre gap.
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Q. Is there a usual or expected distance between drill holes or not?

A. I know and Dr Elder and Jonny McNee I think have been both referred, Jonny to me personally and Dr Elder in sessions that in places like 
Spring Creek and I know as well north of there in the proposed Liverpool underground sites, by the time you get to 100 metre spacings you're pretty much at the point where you're optimising the information you can get from drilling.  To go less than 100 metre spacings is now always particularly useful but you find that your model for things like resource estimation and structure is not greatly assisted by going below 100 metres but 100 metre grid is not unusual in the Greymouth area.  That is all I could really usefully say about that yeah.

cross-examination:  ms shortall

Q. Dr Newman I just have a couple of topics I’d like to cover briefly with you.  You talked earlier about your belief that after Jonny McNee, who I think was one of your students right, moved on from the company that Pike River’s geologists and operations personnel were deficient in their West Coast or perhaps even New Zealand experience, right?  Do you remember that?

A. And including actually coal experience because they did come from a minerals mining background.

Q. Do you recognise the name Guy Boyes Dr Newman?

A. No.

Q. Do you know that he worked for Pike as the technical services manager?

A. No, I have not seen that name.

Q. Would you agree with me, Dr Newman, that the technical services manager position is an operational position at Pike River?

A. I accept that that is your description.  I would be dealing more with the geological staff.

Q. Well from, you may not know this Dr Newman but I’ll just check whether you do.  From July 1994 to May 1997 Mr Boyes worked for Solid Energy as the assistant mine manager at the Strongman Number 2 Mine.  Do you know that?

A. No.

Q. And Strongman Number 2 is located on the West Coast, isn't?

A. Oh, I'm familiar with Strongman Number 2.  What I would say here is that the geological issues and particularly stratigraphic issues are not usually the area of expertise of even the mine engineers and certainly once you get up to management level, this is something where the understanding is often limited.  The mine models quite commonly can make the situation appear geologically simpler than it is.  Now faulting is rather well defined, usually by most mine models.  These are computer generated models so structural complications are often quite well understood.  As I've tried to explain it is the stratigraphic complications that are poorly understood even by geologists quite commonly so by the time you get distance from your geological staff unless these things are shown very, very clearly on cross-sections then I would not expect the operations and management staff to really understand them.  I would make the point that this cross-section which shows the stratigraphic complexity within the seam, if you look at the cross-sections that have been put up by Pike River Coal and are in the reports by people like Golders, the Brunner horizon is shown as an undifferentiated band, tape if you like, a strip with no detail within it whatsoever.  This is the kind of depiction which can create in the mine of – in the mind of the management and mining engineers technical operations they see this in the diagrams and inevitably it gives the impression of a simplicity of stratigraphy which is not actually the case.  That is I think dangerous.  If your geology staff are from a minerals background they will not necessarily realise even these things themselves and they’re certainly not going to be educating their upper management staff.
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Q. Well let’s just talk for few more questions about the geological staff 
Dr Newman.  Do you recognise the name Peter Gunn?

A. Oh yes.

Q. And he was engaged by Pike as a consultant geologist wasn’t he?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And before – 

A. More particularly actually in relation to licensing access consents, feasibility, coal quality, coal handling, not actually really geology to be honest, that wasn’t Peter’s thing.

Q. And he was engaged by Pike for about six years?

A. Oh yes.

Q. Between 2000 and 2006.  Do you remember that Dr Newman?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And before that from 1983 to 1987 Mr Gunn worked as a West Coast District Geologist for State Coal Mines New Zealand didn’t he?

A. He did.

Q. And he worked as a senior geologist in the South Island for Coal Corporation New Zealand from 1987 to 1988 didn’t he?

A. He did.

Q. And since 1993 he’s been the managing director of Coal Marketing Services Limited, right?

A. I understand that, yes.

Q. And it was in that role that he was engaged by Pike, right?

A. Yes, which is related to coal quality, coal use, industrial properties.  Shall I elaborate on Peter’s role?

Q. I think it’s helpful Dr Newman the answer you’ve provided.  I was just checking around the West Coast experience please.

A. I would, perhaps later I could elaborate on that?

Q. You’re welcome to do that.  Do you recognise the name Frank Taylor Dr Newman?

A. Oh yes.  I’ve mentioned Frank.

Q. And you that he worked as a surveyor at Pike River?

A. Yes.  Frank was one of the people that assisted my access to the mines when I did my PhD work, yes.

Q. And he worked again for Pike as a consultant between I think 2000 and 2005?

A. Oh yes, he did.

Q. And you know Dr Newman that Mr Taylor had over 40 years experience working on the West Coast before he joined Pike?

A. As the chief mine surveyor which is a role in relation to actually mapping out the workings of the mines using underground surveying techniques.  That is not a geological role.  He certainly encountered a lot of geology in the process but I don’t believe he did work with stratigraphic modelling, that kind of information, he would have had a good understanding of structural complications not stratigraphic complications.  They were not really well understood until the kind of a new era of coal geology education, which really started in the later 1980s and people who didn’t go through that training process would not have had that background.

Q. Now Dr Newman you also mentioned earlier that you believed your proposal to do some work, testing and refining your June 2008 stratigraphic, have I got that word right Dr Newman?

A. Correct, yes.

Q. Model didn’t proceed because, I think your words were that financial resources were starting to be tight at Pike River.  Do you remember that?

A. What I said was that I thought there were two reasons and that this was just my opinion.  My feeling was that, A the staff were too busy with day to day reacting, to day to day issues, of which there were many.  I thought that was one problem.  Getting attention to these things is difficult in that situation and that I did have the impression, for various reasons, that expenditure on this kind of fundamental study was difficult to get funding for that even in 2008 actually.  Jonny had to work quite hard to get approval for phase 1.

Q. Do you recognise the name Peter Whittall Dr Newman, I think you’ve mentioned Mr Whittall before.

A. Oh yes.

Q. And just so I’m clear Dr Newman, Mr Whittall never said to you that the further work you’d proposed wasn’t proceeding because financial resources were starting to be tight at the company?

A. I never spoke to Mr Whittall.  When you’re a geologist you tend to liaise within people who have an earth science background.  My contacts within the organisation were Jimmy Cory and Pieter van Rooyman.

Q. Do you recognise the name Jon Dow Dr Newman?

A. Oh yes.
Q. And do you understand that Mr Dow is the chairman of Pike River Coal in receivership?

A. I do.
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Q. Have you ever met with Mr Dow Dr Newman?

A. No.

Q. Have you ever spoken with him?

A. I don’t believe so.

Q. Once again, you don’t tend to discuss geology with management.  You discuss geology with the geology staff and to some extent the mining engineer’s staff, they interpret your advice for their managers.  That’s how it tends to be done.  If you were to go to a manager and say, Look, I'm Jane Newman, I'm a geologist and I think you've got a problem?” 

A. I have not found that approach to be particularly constructive in the past and I do have some past history of trying that, it is not usually at all helpful.

Q. Have you tried that approach with Mr Whittall?

A. I'm not – no, because the history I'm referring to predates that time.

Q. Do you recognise the names Stu Nattrass?

A. No.

Q. Would it help you recognise his name if I told you that Mr Nattrass was another director of Pike River Coal (in receivership) Dr Newman?

A. It might, yes, thank you.

Q. So can I assume that you've never spoken with Mr Nattrass?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. And you've never met with him at all?

A. No.

Q. What about the name Ray Myer Dr Newman, do you recognise that name?

A. No.

Q. Doesn’t help your recollection or understanding if I tell you that he’s also a director of Pike River, or was a director of Pike River Coal (in receivership)?

A. No.

Q. So you've never spoken or met Mr Myer, right?

A. I have not.

Q. Do you recognise the name Doug White Dr Newman?

A. I do but only through reading the submissions that are on the website and a certain amount of, what do you call, grapevine discussions.

Q. Are you aware that Mr White became the operations manager at Pike River in early 2010 Dr Newman?

A. I have studied Mr Whittall’s appendages to the submission which show the management structure and changes in 2010, yes.

MR HAMPTON:

I just wondered sir whether I might ask a question about the cost of phase two, whether we are talking about the proverbial horseshoe nail?
the COMMISSION:  

Ms Newman, is there anything you want to say about this?

MS SHORTALL:

The question is the cost of that work, is that –

MR HAMPTON:

The likely cost of the phase two work that she was asking to do including the, I think it is (inaudible 11:18:00) status, that’s what I'm asking sir.

the commission:  

Leave is granted.

cross-examination:  mr hampton
Q. Doctor, you've heard the question?

A. I have.  

Q. Likely cost?

A. About top $20,000.

MR DAVIDSON:

I just want to explore a couple of matters already connected in relation to the 2009 stepping aside by Dr Newman and the decision she took regarding her husband going to the mine in 2010.  There are matters of consequence for the families in my submission to the bench sir, short inquiry sir.

the COMMISSION addressES MS SHORTALL

Is there anything you want to say?

MS SHORTALL:

I would just note, I think Dr Newman mentioned she was planning to talk about that in further detail in phase three so I've just – I think everyone is going to hear it in due course so it’s just a question of timing Your Honour.

MR DAVIDSON:

I'm conscious of that sir and I don’t intend to stray into the issues that will come up in phase three as such.  This is the development phase and it’s entirely related to the question of what management understood.

cross-examination:  mr davidson

Q. Dr Newman, when you prepared this written evidence in your conclusion, your discussion section which is at NEW001/13 you referred to one of the risks of the two halves of a split seam converging as the stone wedges out.  Do you recall that evidence?
A. It was one of the hypothetical examples of the effect of stratigraphic complexity.
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Q. Yes, that’s why I asked the question because there you identified the potential risk of a gas outburst through a false floor?

A. Yes, that’s how I express it.

Q. And the false floor is because what seems like the bottom of the seam is not?

A. Yes.

Q. As such?

A. Correct.

Q. Now in the following paragraph you talk about the complexity of the West Coast underground coal mines.  Does the stratigraphic complexity you’ve described here extend through those West Coast coalfields?

A. Yes, all of them.

Q. All of them.  Have you seen evidence of issues around such complexity in relation to events at other mines?

A. I would say no, not without liaising with mine geology staff, I would not want to go beyond my area of expertise without further preparation.

Q. Now the last two questions are firstly, you say at that page reference 13, that your proposal was to improve understanding of the stratigraphy were not approved because the importance of the work was not understood by senior management.  Did you have discussions which identified the importance of the work which allow you to make that comment?

A. That comment is based on discussions with geological staff and my – and a number of these were on the phone.  The impression I had from them if I can be frank, was that it was hard for them to get the attention of management.  In a subject such as I was proposing would be a hard one to make a case for in the climate of the mine at that development stage.  I had the impression from these discussions and to some extent from emails that the day to day problems cause a very busy preoccupied kind of feeling in the organisation and that to try and say to the people who had to sign on the dotted line and provide the money, to try to explain the objectives of this work would be very difficult in that climate.

Q. So as a way of putting that, you felt you had the ear of some of the people you were speaking with that the geological level –

A. I most definitely did and I have emails to that effect, yep.

Q. Finally, I don’t want you to enumerate factors, when you chose to say to your husband not to go down to the mine in 2010, you talked about a convergence of factors in a way you were not happy about.

A. Yes.  These were –

Q. I don’t want you to go into it at this time.

A. No, I understand, that is correct though.

Q. And some of those you have discussed today, you’ve mentioned, and obviously there are others that you can develop in phase three?

A. They were geological and also relating to changes in management, such as I have read about in the paper.  That was when the alarm bells really began to ring for me.

re-examination:  Ms Beaton 

Q. Dr Newman in response to a question from my learned friend Ms Shortall, you referred to having previous personal experience as going as a geologist to management directly, was that in relation to Pike River Coal Mine or another mine?

A. No that was in relation to when the Pike River licence was taken over by New Zealand Royal and Gas in 1988.
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Q. Right, so could you explain to us what you’re referring to?

A. I can, if it’s wished.  I had had a very good relationship with Terry Bates and his staff when the area was under two licences and prior to the complications over the Paparoa National Park.  We’ve done some very useful work over that time.  He made me aware that the licence, which was now in one licence, was going into New Zealand Oil and Gas management and I thought right I now need to make the new management aware of the work that we’re doing as it relates to the coalfield.  There was a conference in Wellington at the time.  I communicated with Roger O’Brien of New Zealand Oil and Gas and said, “I'm going to be in Wellington.  I’d like to come and see you to talk about the kind of work that we’re doing,” and so that we could have an open channel to co-operate and liaise.  I was invited to go along and meet with them to discuss this.  I went along between sessions.  I was just expecting a chat.  I got there and there was Roger and think one or two other people, I don't know who they were now, I could guess but I won't.  I was in a meeting room and they said to me, “Can we get you anything?” and I said, “Oh you know I’ll have a water thanks.”   So I was given a bottle of water and then they said, “Look we don't want to talk to you.  We are not interested in the work that you're doing, that your students are doing.”  I couldn't understand the agenda.  I was completely confused.  There was no discussion.  They said, “Look you can finish your water and then you know you can go,” so they left the room and I was sitting there with my water thinking that was really strange, so I did go.  Not too many days after, I had a phone call from Geological Sciences, it was a New Zealand geological survey, I won't say who that was from.  This person was angry.  They were very angry.  Shall I, do you want me to flesh this out or not?

Q. Well I think you perhaps need to give us some detail?

A. Well they were, they were absolutely furious actually and finally I managed to illicit that geological survey had been engaged professionally by New Zealand Oil and Gas to develop a computerised database with all the coal analyses, section descriptions, drill hole data.  This was all to be put into not necessarily a model but certainly an organised computer database and the impression apparently I’d given by going for this meeting was that I was trying to take that work away from New Zealand geological survey.  I don't really think New Zealand Oil and Gas thought that because I had certainly not made that impression but I do believe that geological survey drew that inference from the time.  I, I said –

Q. So when was this?

A. This was 1998, shortly after the licence was taken over.  I apologised profusely and said that I had no such intention and that was the end of that conversation –

Q. And I – 

A. – a few days later – do you want the rest sorry?

Q. No, I think we might draw the line there, Dr Newman.

A. That’s fine, that’s fine.

Q. I’ll just get you to confirm though that obviously since 1988 you, yourself, through your company have been directly engaged by 
Pike River Coal Limited?

A. Oh absolutely yes.

Q. And done work for them since then?

A. Yes, yes.

questions from justice panckhurst:  

Q. Can you help me with a couple of points that I haven't picked up on, 
Dr Newman?  Well the first is really a follow on from what Mr Hampton asked you.  In order to have done your phase two model work would you have used existing samples or would there have been a need for further drilling?

A. Both, oh, no I didn’t need further drilling.  I had a number of samples already.  I would have needed more samples but they would've been from existing –

Q. Stocks?
A. – drill bores, yes.
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Q. The second point concerns your hypothesis about the risk of outburst where you have a sandstone lens within a coal seam and not appreciated by the miners.  Am I right in thinking that the outburst risk exists because with the unknown portion of the seam, either above the tunnel or below it, there would have been no inseam drainage of methane from that portion and hence the risk of gas build-up causing a collapse of roof or a floor?

A. Can I answer that in more than one part, I’ll be quick?

Q. Well can you give me a yes or no and then qualify it.  Am I on the right lines or am I misinformed?

A. I think I have to say very, very clearly here that I am not expert in gas outbursts.  I should also say, and I have made this clear in my submission, that this was just one potential or hypothetical statement –

Q. Yes.

A. – to illustrate the importance of stratigraphic understanding.  I probably have said enough but any geological complication that can cause instability or unexpected working conditions within a mine is a hazard and gas is part of that hazard as I understand it.  But there are people better qualified than me to go into that.  I would, one last thing that I want to say is that at this stage I understand that we are in the business of visualising all the possible eventualities and we are not at this time in the process of discarding any ideas.  This is ideas gathering and then the winnowing and discarding that’s probably phase three.  That’s as I understand it.

Q. Right.  Well that completes your evidence.  We’re grateful for your input Dr Newman and you are excused.

questions arising - nil
exhibit 4 produced – photographs of the 3D cross section display
exhibit 5 produced - photographs of the 3D cross section display
witness excused

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
11.32 AM

COMMISSION resumes:
11.50 am

Mr Stevens calls

ROBIN HUGHES (SWORN)
the commission:  

As counsel will recall we made an interim suppression order last night affecting effectively only counsel who were the only people who had access to Mr Hughes’ brief.  I lift that interim suppression order, but in light of discussions which we’ve had with counsel assisting, who have in turn liaised with other counsel, I make a new interim suppression order which relates to paragraph 33 of the brief of evidence that paragraph deals with some issues concerning the qualifications of then mine inspectors and the reason the order is made is that the brief was only finalised a few days ago and has only therefore been available to counsel and others about 48 hours, 24 hours ago I think, and the Commission is satisfied that it is appropriate that there be at least an interim order because the people who are the subject of those comments will not have had an opportunity to, first of all be alerted to them, let alone to respond to them and hence we are satisfied that it is appropriate to make that interim order.  So when we reach that part of the brief, I’ll just pause for a moment and we will identify it for the purposes of television who are doing live streaming.

mr stevens: 

Can I also note that there would be a slight correction to one paragraph and an omission of one other part of one paragraph.

examination:  Mr Stevens 

Q. Mr Hughes could you state your full name please?

A. Robin Llewellyn Hughes.

Q. And have you prepared a statement for phase one hearing of this Commission?

A. Yes I have sir.

Q. And do you have a copy before you?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And can you please confirm that to the best of your knowledge it is true and correct?

A. It is sir.
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Q. Could you please turn to paragraph 1 in the section headed, “Background”, and could you commence reading your statement from paragraph 1.

WITNESS READS BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. Background.  On Wednesday the 29th of June 2011 I was requested to provide a statement for counsel for the Royal Commission on the Pike River coal mine tragedy, the Commission.  The topic I was asked to provide a statement about was the mines inspectorate including the role of the mines inspectorate up until 1992.  What occurred after 1992 as a consequence of the change in legislation, including what inspectors did, what concerns if any there were for the mine inspectorate as a consequence of the change in legislation.  I understand this request is because I was a district inspector of coal mines in the Buller and Inangahua District from February 1987 until June 1989 and later the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines from May 1994 until November 1998.  This statement is given in that capacity is unrelated to any involvement I had at Pike River before the disaster on the 19th of November 2010.  My current employment and my involvement with Mines Rescue Trust Incorporated.  Qualifications and experience.  My qualifications and experience in the coalmining industry are attached as appendix 1.  In summary I’ve been employed in the coalmining industry for over 40 years in a number of capacities.  This includes appointments as mine manager at seven underground mines, five in New Zealand and two in Australia.

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Now just pausing Mr Hughes at paragraph 3.2, there are some additions that I think you wished to make to that paragraph.  When you make those, for the record could you be clear as to what is being added please.

A. Yes.
the COMMISSION addresses mr stevens – brief of evidence 

examination continues:  mr stevens
Q. Please read paragraph 3.2 but with any additions from the text you have in front of you that you wish to make.

A. Thank you.  I was employed as a district inspector of coal mines in the Buller and Inangahua District from February 1987 until June 1989 within the Ministry of Energy and was Chief Inspector of Coal Mines from January 1994 until November 1998.  The position initially within the Ministry of Commerce then with the Department of Labour when the Mining Inspection Group was abolished.  I was also employed for a short time by the Department of Labour from late 1999 till January 2001 as an inspector of coal mines.  

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Just pausing there, sorry Mr Hughes.  Were you also a district inspector with the Ministry of Commerce from June 1992 until January 1994?

A. That's correct.

Q. Thank you.  Please continue at 3.3.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. I hold a variety of relevant professional qualifications which are listed in appendix 1.  I was a mines rescue brigadesman from 1972 to 2006.  Since 1993 I’ve been a member of the board of Mines Rescue  Incorporated serving 10 years as chairman.  Overview and structure.  Below I set out a series of topics and questions which I then comment on based upon my experiences as an inspector of coal mines and later the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines for five years.  The structure of the mines inspectorate under the Coal Mines Act 1979.  The structure of the mines inspector prior to the introduction of the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 is detailed in part 2 of the Coal Mines

A.  Act 1979.  This person was required to have a wide range of industry knowledge and experience, a requirement which had its origins in the aftermath of the explosion at Brunner Mine in 1896.  A recommendation from an inquiry into that disaster stated in part, and I quote, “The duties of inspectors should be performed by separate officers.  This officer should be qualified by examination and practice as a colliery manager.  Prior to the corporatisation of state coal mines in 1987, district inspectors of coal mines were promoted within the ranks of the most senior mine managers in the country.  
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A. The step from management to the inspectorate was very clearly a promotion within the industry and salaries offered to inspectors reflected that fact.  Further, the Act provided for the appointment of electrical and mechanical engineering inspectors.  During the currency of the Coal Mines Act 1979 the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines, along with the electrical and mechanical inspectors, was domiciled in Wellington.  This enabled direct contact with government officials and provided a central area from which to disperse to the districts when necessary.  District inspectors were present in each of the coalmining areas in New Zealand.  Waikato King Country, Nelson Buller, Canterbury West Coast and Otago Southland.  In some situations the workload was such that two inspectors may be appointed to one district.  A distinct advantage in having a dedicated coal inspectorate was the maintenance of a high standard of service delivery through the use of inspectorate forums including membership of and participation in the Australasian Chief Inspectors Conference.  The functions performed by the mines inspectorate then included respect of education.  There was not a statutory function of the coal mines inspectorate to provide education to the industry, however many inspectors of coal mines had an ongoing interest in mining education and conducted mining classes voluntarily.  They also became involved in examining candidates for mining certificates of competence.  For example, Mines Rescue Certificates, Gas Testing Certificates, Fireman Deputies and Mine Underview Certificates.  Giving advice.  In terms of assisting managers and owners to operate their mines in a safer and more efficient manner advice was given freely.  The frequent attendance at individual mines gave inspectors a clear understanding and detailed knowledge of each operation and allowed them to discuss their concerns from an informed position.  Coal inspectors traditionally had an open door policy and welcomed interaction with all sections of the industry.  Further, the giving of advice became particularly important following the repealing of the Coal Mines Act 1979 and the revocation of the regulations.  There was considerable confusion with mine management regarding their obligation with respect to the new legislation.  Competency of workers.  Judgement as to whether or not mine workers were competent to carry out duties assigned to them is the responsibility of mine management.  The inspectorate was invariably involved when a mine worker presented himself as a candidate for a statutory certificate.  Inspection.  Frequent and detailed examinations of open cast and underground mining operations to ascertain compliance with the various legal instruments that governed industry, for example, the Coal Mines Act 1979, the Coal Mines Mine (Management and Safety) Regulations 1980, the Coal Mines (Open Cast Coal Mines) Regulations 1986, the Machinery Act 1950, the Boilers Lift and Cranes Act 1950, were a basic function of an inspector of coal mines.  As a general rule small underground mines would be inspected monthly or at a greater frequency if directed by their chief inspector.  Such direction may be made in respect of mines where flammable gas was present and where the coal being mined was prone to spontaneous combustion.  The larger mines were often inspected weekly, for example, Strongman, Liverpool Number 3, Huntly East and Huntly West, due to the impossibility of covering all aspects of the operation in a single attendance.  In accordance with recommendation 3 from the inquiry into an explosion in West Haven Mine in 1958 and reiterated in the Strongman inquiry in 1967 the detail of all requisitions arising from such visits were written down by the inspector and handed to the mine manager for attention.  Any requisition issued was reinforced by letter from the inspector to the mine manager with a request to confirm that the matter in question had been dealt with and by subsequent inspections of the mine.
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A. Licensing, part 3 of the Coal Mines Act 1979 dealt with licensing.  The role of the inspector of coal mines was to receive applications, ascertain their relevance and content and to liaise with the applicant to ensure that the application satisfied the requirements of the Coal Mines Act.  A brief would then be prepared and forwarded to the Secretary of Energy either recommending the acceptance or non-acceptance of the application.  An important part of the Inspector of coal mines role was ensuring compliance with licence conditions.  Consideration of mine design, coalmining licences contained a section requiring a licence sold to submit a mine plan every 12 months or six months for the larger mines showing the development and extraction that had occurred at the mine during the relevant period.  A further requirement was submission of a plan of intended development and extraction for the ensuing 12 months or six months as the case may be.  If the inspector of coal mines was satisfied that the plan of intended development indicated sound mining practice and did not contravene any regulation.  He will endorse it, then forward it to the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines for approval.  Alternatively if the submitted mine plan gave the inspector any cause for concern he would liaise directly with the mining company concerned in order to have any errors or deficiencies rectified.  The role of the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines and other inspectors, for example electrical under the Coal Mines Act 1979.  The position of Chief Inspector of Coal Mines was established following an inquiry into the deaths of three miners by carbon dioxide poisoning at Nightcaps in 1907.  By definition the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines is the paramount coalmining official in New Zealand and was selected for the role on the basis of having a wide range of industry knowledge and experience at a senior level.  In addition to his being appointed as an inspector of coal mines the chief inspector had the authority to approve equipment and materials intended for use in coal mines.  Imposed conditions of approval and issue exemptions from compliance with certain sections of the Coal Mines Mine (Management and Safety) Regulations 1980.  He was also appointed under s 210(2)(b) of the Coal Mines Act 1979 as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Examiners.  Direction and mentoring of the district inspectors of coal mines was an inherent part of the job.  Electrical inspectors are appointed from those with the required qualifications and experience to inspect electrical equipment and wiring work in and around coal mines to ascertain compliance with the Coal Mines (Electrical) Regulations 1980.  Similarly, mechanical inspectors were appointed to inspect the installation and use of machinery in the coalmining environment, whether those roles all equivalent were retained under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.  The introduction of the HSE Act and the concurrent repealing of the Coal Mines Act and revoking of the Coal Mines (Mine Management and Safety) Regulations 1980, on the 1st of April 1993 significantly reduced the authority of the coal inspectorate.  Where necessary certain provisions of the regulations were applied as a practicable step as defined by section 2 of the HSE Act.  The introduction of the Resource Management Act 1991 transferred responsibility for work programme approvals from inspectors of coal mines to regional councils.  In practice this took several years to accomplish due to confusion in many quarters over how this transition would occur.  Following the demise of the Ministry of Energy under the Ministry of Energy Abolition Act 1989 the Mining Inspection Group MIG was formed as a section of the Ministry of Commerce.  This is essentially an integration of the coal, hard rock, and surface mining inspectorate under a single administration, for example underground coal, open cast coal, quarries tunnels, and metalliferous mines.   A Chief Inspector of Coal Mines was retained as an interim measure during the transitional period.  1210
A. Coalmining licenses issued under the Coal Mines Act 1989 are unaltered due to the savings clause s 107 of the Crown Minerals Act 1993.  The following five years saw a diminution of the coal inspectorate because of retirements and inspectors leaving to take up other employment opportunities.  In 1998 all inspectors that held warrants under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 were transferred to OSH and the Department of Labour.  The Minister of Commerce at the time, Max Bradford stated that the safety in the coalmining industry would not be compromised by this move.  This spelled the end of a dedicated coal mines inspectorate.  A few months after this transfer occurred the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines resigned.  OSH officials gave a clear expectation that all inspectors appointed under section 29 of the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 were to conform to the standard operating procedures developed for the purpose of ensuring workplace safety.  This largely took the form of auditing a standard set of requirements that were generic to any industry.  Proactive inspections of coal mines were actively discouraged and the input and licensing matters to Crown Minerals by inspectors of coal mines was discontinued.  The Crown Minerals Group within the Ministry of Economic Development which it became issued mining permits with no input from the inspectors who were very familiar with the coalmining districts.  How inspectors operated.  Under the Coal Mines Act 1979, the function and duties of the inspectors under the Coal Mines Act 1979 has largely been described in the foregoing.  Inspectors were self-starters who planned their time accordingly to the demands of industry.  It should be stated here that without exception, inspectors of coal mines were individuals who had worked their way up from miners at the coalface to mine officials and then on to mine management before being appointed to the inspectorate.  With this background they had considerable empathy with and respect within the industry.  During the 1992 to 1998 transition.  During this period the inspectorate was administered by the Mining Inspection Group under the Ministry of Commerce.  It was also a time when the inspectorate was coming to terms with the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.  The repealing of the Coal Mines Act effectively removed the wide ranging powers of the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines and the district inspectors.  Inspectors no longer had any right of approval or the right to grant exemptions where previously permitted under the Coal Mines Regulations.  The coal mines inspectorate diminished with a number of retirements and resignations taking effect.  This reduction in the number of coal inspectors considerably increased the workload of those who remained.  During this period there was an increasing concern from the Ministry at the lack of specific legislation to govern coalmining in New Zealand.  The industry felt they needed greater certainty than that offered by the Act.  The result was the Health and Safety in Employment (Mining – Underground) Regulations 1999.  From 1999 onwards.  The attendance of inspectors at coal mines diminished markedly.  Whereas MOE and MIG inspectors would conduct proactive inspections of coalmining operations regularly as described, OSH inspectors rarely attended coal mines other than to conduct investigations following accidents and incidents.  Those inspectors recruited directly by the Department of Labour, not transferred from Commerce, were bound by OSH policies with a single exception, did not satisfy the person specification that has evolved as a result of a number of Commission’s of Inquiry.  (G)  What kind of support and/or opposition was there to the merger of MIG with the Department of Labour?  The transference of MIG to the Department of Labour has its origins in the repealing of the Coal Mines Act 1979 on the 1st of April 1993. The change was promulgated by the Minister of Labour, Max Bradford and supported by officials in Commerce.  There was considerable opposition to the proposed merger of OSH in the Department of Labour from the personnel directly affected by this decision and by the extractive industries at large.
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A. Correspondence around concerns that were diminution of the status of the coal inspector and a potential loss of a dedicated coal mines inspectors was directed to the Minister of Commerce.  Correspondence expressing concern is available.  If so, were there included concerns about the following and what those concerns were, for example, the inspectors, the industry and the ministry or the departments.  Health and safety.  A primary concern of MIG inspectors was the reduction or elimination of proactive inspections.  The OSH view was that work place health and safety was primarily the responsibility of the mine operators and that operational guidance or advice should not be offered as it may not be the view of the Department of Labour and could therefore legally compromise the department.  The actual and comparative expertise of MIG and Department of Labour inspectors.  Both MIG and DOL employed inspectors of a specialist knowledge in their field of expertise.  The actual and comparative salaries of MIG and Department of Labour inspectors.  The specific salaries paid to MIG and DOL inspectors are known but it is understood that the salaries paid to mining inspectors was significantly higher than DOL inspectors.  There were many concerns expressed by those directly affected about the loss of a robust coal inspectorate.  The ongoing failure to attract suitable candidates to fill vacancies for coal inspectors was due primarily to an unwillingness to pay a competitive salary for suitable mining professionals.  Concern over the approval of work programmes by persons unqualified to do so was raised in the publication following the explosion at Moura Number 2 Mine in 1994.  This is a public document that was produced at the request of the Secretary of Commerce to address the recommendations from the Moura Inquiry under 16 general headings.  The review committee consisted of seven personnel from diverse backgrounds in the coalmining industry and was facilitated by the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines.  The original text of the comment under the heading, “Number 9 Sealing and Design Procedures,” on page 14 of that document, the review of the recommendations from the warden’s inquiry into the accident at the Moura Number 2 Mine Queensland on Sunday the 7th of August 1994 stated in part.  The location of final seals for a miner section is not subject to the approval of an inspector of coal mines in New Zealand where the mining operation is held under a mining permit.  The current situation for the submission of work programmes for underground coal mines in New Zealand is that the secretary is required to approve those operating under mining permits issued under the Crown Minerals Act 1991.  This is facilitated through the Crown Minerals Group, Ministry of Commerce.  The role of the secretary in this approval process, in the opinion of the review committee, is inappropriate in relation to underground coal mines and is very much a technical matter that is clearly the domain of a person or persons with the appropriate expertise.  The right of approval conferred on any person is neither technically qualified nor experienced to stand in judgement on such matters is an anomaly in the current statue that must be rectified.  The approval of work programmes or plans of intended development for operations held under coalmining licences issued under the Coal Mines Act 1979 are required to be approved by inspectors of coal mines.  The reason is that it is a savings clause under the Crown Minerals Act 1991 provides for the continuation of mining privileges is that that legislation had never been repealed.

Q. Mr Hughes, could you now please read out the final form of the text from that document?

A. The final form is the approval of work programmes or plans of intended development and extraction through operations held under coalmining licences issued under the Coal Mines Act 1979 are required to be approved by an inspector of coal mines.  This is provided for by a savings clause in the Crown Minerals Act 1991 section 107(c).  the imposition of a requirement for the consideration of or provision to minimise the effect of spontaneous combustion is implicit in that approval process. 
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A. Where the operation is held under a mining permit issued under the Crown Minerals Act 1991.  The location of the final seals for the mine is not subject to the approval of an inspector of coal mines.  Nor is there any provision for such approval under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.  It is incumbent on coal mines employers to employers to develop procedures to deal with spontaneous combustion.  If that phenomenon has the potential to create any danger to the workforce.  Section 14 Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.  Given the incidents of past catastrophes arising from spontaneous combustion the review committee strongly recommends that the approval process for coal mines operating under a mining permit be clearly channelled through the inspector of coal mines to ensure that the appropriate level of technical expertise is incorporated into the approval process.

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Again Mr Hughes, just some brief additional questions at the end of your paragraph 30.  Why was that text changed please?

A. It was felt inappropriate for a departmental document to be critical of itself.

Q. And did the revised text reflect the law at the time?

A. It does entirely sir.

Q. And were you the chief inspector of mines at that time?

A. I was sir.

Q. And the author of both texts?

A. Yes.

Q. Yes, thank you.  Could you continue please at section I, whether there were and if so?

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. Whether there were and if so the nature of changes in the qualifications, experience and number of inspectors during the transition period from 1992 to 1998.  As stated in paragraph 21 above the numbers of inspectors of coal mines diminished during this transitional period.  Although the qualifications and experience required of candidates who applied for inspectors of coal mines vacancies remained exactly as it was during the Ministry of Energy administration.  Adherence to these criteria in making an appointment was ignored.  The following is an excerpt from a Ministry of Commerce job description dated 1995.  Person description for appointment as an inspector of coal mines.  Work experience.  Five years in or about coal mines sufficient to gain mandatory statutory qualification (a first class coal mine certificate of competence).  Second bullet point.  An additional six years of varied industrial experience in the management of open cast or underground coalmining operations.  The third bullet point.  Such other experience as may be necessary in relation to additional industry qualifications.  The personal qualities and attributes.  An ability to meet and to discuss in an authoritative manner matters relating to mining with senior officers and other organisations within the mining community.  Possess sufficient standing to be respected by these communities.  Second point.  An ability to write concise reports.  Third point.  An ability to make sound decisions on matters concerning safety in or about mines.  Fourth point.  An appreciation of the limits of both the appointees ability and authority.

Q. Just pause there please Mr Hughes.
mr stevens addresses the commission:

I think sir we come to the subject of your order.

the COMMISSION:  

Right.  I don’t think that on behalf of the Commission I have made apparent the terms of the interim suppression order.  The paragraphs which follow, or
sub paragraphs, do not actually use names so an order suppressing names is not required.  The interim order is to this effect that any details capable of leading to the identification of the persons who are being referred to may not be published or broadcast.

examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Mr Hughes, would you continue reading please at your paragraph number 33 on your page 14.

A. Certainly.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

A. The following are actual examples of appointments made by various government departments since 1993.  One.  A person was appointed to the position of inspector of coal mines in the Waikato in 1994 on the basis that as the holder of a British First Class Mine Managers Certificate he was confident he could pass the New Zealand examination for a First Class Mine Mangers Certificate.  He failed the examination of four occasions and finally resigned because of his poor credibility with industry.  
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A. Correspondence expressing concern about the above matter is available.  A person was appointed the position of inspector of quarries in Dunedin around 1996 as a consequence of the resignation of an experienced coal mines inspector two years later, he was appointed as an inspector with the responsibility of coal mines by the Department of Labour on the basis that he held a New Zealand First Class Mine Managers Certificate.  He did not meet the person specification as the appointment would not have been possible under earlier jurisdictions.  33.4  A person was appointed to position of inspector of coal mines in the Grey District in 2001.  This person held a British First Class Mine Managers Certificate and received a New Zealand First Class Mine Managers Certificate after due examination.  It had been at least 14 years since he had worked in the coalmining industry and he had never been in a management position at a coal mine.  Significantly when an accident occurred in which a miner was killed in a local mine the inspector’s incompetence was indirectly blamed on the event.  As a result the investigation was taken out of his hands and completed by a Labour Department Inspector who had no experience or understanding of coalmining.  Correspondence expressing concern about this matter is available.  Under a robust coal inspectorate these appointments could not have occurred.  Recommendation number 13 from the Commission to Inquire to Disaster at Strongman in 1967 stated, “The status of the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines and the inspectors of coal mines, must be increased to meet the gravity of the task that rests upon them.  The inspectorate should be divided from the production side of the mine’s department.”  Giving the ongoing record, inappropriate appointments, it is quite apparent that officials and neither the Ministry of Commerce, nor the Department of Labour were familiar with this recommendation.  (J)  The reasons for and the effect of those changes.  The changes in approach regarding the inspection of coal mines are clearly founded in the introduction of the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.  The corollary of the responses offered to the questions raised above is this:  The inspectorate changed from being an active and expert participant in coal mine safety to a reactive and substantially less well qualified organisation.  It became an ambulance at the bottom of the cliff and not a fence at the top.  The explosion at Pike River Mine on the 19th of November 2010 had its origins in the repealing of the Coal Mines Act and its Regulations in 1993.  The unwillingness of government officials up to and including the Prime Minister of the day to act on the advice offered by a number of individuals, resulted in the loss of a robust coal mines inspectorate staffed by the most experienced and technically skilled personnel available.  In my opinion this has manifested itself as follows:  The creation of a statutory mechanism whereby work programme approvals are made by officials who lack a basic knowledge of coal mine design.  For example, the approval of work programmes by regional authorities.  A telephone call by myself to the West Coast Regional Council on the 5th of July confirmed that approvals focus on compliance of the resource consents rather than sound mining practice.  A mining specialist is not retained for this purpose.  The second point.  The comparatively infrequent attendance of inspectors at coalmining operations and the serious doubt in the industry that some inspectors possess the technical skills and industry standing required to discharge the duties of an inspectorate in an authoritative manner.  The third point.  The ongoing failure of the administrating agencies, most recently the Department of Labour to recruit and retain people with the right skills for the job.  This failure stems primarily from an unwillingness to match industry salaries and conditions of employment.  The fourth point.  The loss of 29 lives and the loss of over $300 million capital investment.  Footnote, in respect of the inspection of coal mines, the recommendations from previous enquiries, in particular Brunner Mine, Greymouth 1896, Nightcaps Mine 1907, Ralph’s Colliery Huntly 1914.  Linton Mine Ohio 1929, K and Party Mine, Greymouth 1940, West Haven Mine, Mangarakau 1958, and Strongman Mine, Greymouth 1967 may be of interest to the Royal Commission.  
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A. It is unlikely that those recommendations have lost their validity, however it will become apparent that many of those recommendations have not been embraced to the extent intended.  Inevitable loss of corporate memory has occurred in both industry and government through the passage of time and circumstance.  The result of the key learnings from past disasters either ignored consigned to history through a certain arrogance that assumes modern mining technology has superseded and somehow resolved the problems of the past.  To regard coalmining as being, “The same as any other industry,” for the purpose of statute is to ignore the findings of a number of Commissions of inquiry and the fact that it has been and continues to be a potential source of multiple fatalities in the workplace.  No other land based industry has the same potential.  The regulation of specific duties and functions for corollary management and the inspection of coal mines has been reiterated repeatedly following New Zealand mining disasters and there’s little doubt it will be said again.

Q. Thank you, Mr Hughes, now you've referred at paragraphs 29 and 30 to a review of the recommendations from the warden’s inquiry into the accident at the Moura Number 2 Mine in Queensland.  Could I ask through you madam registrar could you – could you go to page 16 please and just wait for the document to come up Mr Hughes?  
Mr Hughes, firstly could you confirm that the document you've been handed is the document that you referred to in your evidence?

A. Yes, there it is.

Q. For the record I’ll have you produce that please.

exhibit  produced 3 – review of recommendations – 
moura number 2 mine, queensland

Q. Could you please, I think on your screen there is at page 16 of the document it’s numbered 14 in the bottom left-hand corner, but of what will become the summation document could you please confirm that that is the text as originally written by that committee?

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. Could I have the next page please and could you please confirm that the page you're now looking at also on the document numbered 14 and I understand 7 – it will be 17 I'm told on review document 07 or 070894, that is the text as was subsequently substituted?

A. That's correct.

the commission:  

Now because Mr Hughes’ brief was not available at the time that the hearing plan was prepared there was no opportunity for applications to cross-examine to be made and I think the Commission has already indicated that it would entertain oral applications.  Now are there counsel who do wish to question 
Mr Hughes.

MR HAMPTON:
I certainly do, sir.  Do you want me to outline roughly where I want to go.  It’ll be very rough, sir, because I've only been making notes as we’ve gone along and I wasn’t quite anticipating Mr Hughes this morning -
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the COMMISSION:  

Can we take it from that that you are intending to question on issues which have been specifically raised in his prepared brief of evidence?

MR HAMPTON:

Relating to matters raised and then relating it to other documents which are part of the materials before you, such as the Mine Steering Group minutes of recent origin, where there is discussion about plans and what the heck should we do with them, discussion about who the chief inspector of mines is and discussion about such things as if we seem to have approved some of these plans we may be liable, they will touch on matters that have been raised by Mr Hughes.  I'd want to touch on some of the –

the commission:  

Are those minutes during Mr Hughes’ time as chief inspector?

MR HAMPTON:

No they’re not.

the COMMISSION:  

They post date that?

MR HAMPTON:

They post date it sir.  I'd want to touch on the declining in numbers of the inspectorate and who, touch on as well the mention by Mr Hughes of if he had cause for concern on designs you do something about it and contrast that with what is the position now as he understands it to be and I'd want to get, and I hadn't asked him about this, I'd want to get from him an understanding of his position on chief inspectors, not Solid Energy’s view but rather his view. That’s the rough gambit of matters and as well the four Spring Creek incidents that were mentioned yesterday and what his reaction as an inspector or chief inspector would have been to them.

the COMMISSION:  

Well, I'm going to ask for the indications from others as to whether they wish to cross-examine because one of the things we seek to avoid in granting leave is repetition so it can be nice to know whether there are other applications to be made as well.  Mr Davidson?

MR DAVIDSON:

Sir, I have spoken to Mr Hughes and therefore because the sequence has changed with Mr Dow supposedly coming after Mr Hughes now and he has given me an answer with regard to Mr Bell’s brief which allows me to avoid much of the examination I have proposed for him but there are some matters he has raised in this brief which I have inferred in particular to Mr Bell and I just want to elaborate on them.  They’re not an extensive list.  I don’t intend to replicate anything that Mr Hampton has indicated to the Court and therefore I do not expect it would take more than 15 to 20 minutes.

the commission:  

Is there anybody else?  Ms McDonald?

MS MCDONALD:

Yes sir, the matter is slightly problematic from our point of view given the importance of some of the issues raised and the fact we only got the brief a short time ago so what I contemplated doing was seeking leave, and I do seek leave, to file reply evidence to much of what Mr Hughes has dealt with rather than an attempt to deal with it today without proper notice of the brief having been given and I'm not being critical of that, it’s just it is a fact.  There is one exception to that.  I would like to explore, in a very brief and confining way, a couple of matters in relation to the paragraph in respect of which the suppression order applies and that may be problematic because of the live feed and I was going to raise that with you.  My questions about that are not extensive at all but I think I do need to put them now rather than to leave that issue.  Having heard my friend’s indication of the extent to which they seek to cross-examine Mr Hughes raises another issue because that cross-examination in itself will raise a whole lot of other issues that I may need to address on behalf of the department, on behalf of the Crown.  I simply don’t know what the position there is and I will have to wait and see where that questioning leads.

the commission:  

Well, that suggests that you are asking to examine after them?
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MS MCDONALD:

Certainly asking to examine after them and I may need to be in a position where – I would imagine much of what I would want to have drawn out can be dealt with by reply evidence rather than cross-examination.

the commission:  

Yes.

MS MCDONALD:

But there may be some exceptions to that.  Can I just make one specific comment in relation to Mr Hampton’s indication of wanting to explore issues relating to the four Spring Creek issues that were raised yesterday.  I am a little concerned about that.  Those matters will be the subject of a discreet brief that we are preparing, brief of evidence, which I will be seeking leave to file with the Commission to explain more fully the circumstances around all of those.  So there will be an opportunity subject to that leave being given for those matters to be dealt with with a later witness.

Mr HAMPTON:  

I’m probably prepared to, well my friend should perhaps go first but he’s just spoken to me.  I’m probably prepared to step back from that.  I might ask in a generic sense what Mr Hughes attitude would be to a flashover but I won’t ask the specific matter sir.

the commission:  

Right, thank you.

MR HAMPTON:


That may solve both my friends problems.  
MR STEVENS:

Sir, I rise as counsel for Solid Energy as opposed for Mr Hughes the former mines inspector and you’ve already had evidence of his absolute independence from the company today.  I just flag a concern, and you might recall from Dr Elder yesterday, a concern as to whether one of those incidents was accurate and I’ve raised that with my friend and the company’s not trying to conceal that, it is just there is a concern as to whether it was correctly put and I don’t suggest my friend was trying to mislead the Commission yesterday, and I’ve raised that with my friend and I voice that concern again.  I’m in the Commission’s hands obviously as to whether –

the commission:  

Well is the concern not met by what Mr Hampton has just said that he will abstain from questioning about the specific incidents that were gone through with Dr Elder yesterday and rather will conduct what I think he described as a generic type.

MR STEVENS:

If it is hypothetical –

the commission:  

Yes.

MR STEVENS:

That satisfies my concern sir.

the commission:  

Right.  So are you seeking leave or not, or are you simply –

MR STEVENS:

No, I’m not seeking leave to cross-examine my witness sir.

the commission:  

No.  You’ll have a right of re-examination.

MR STEVENS:

A. Yes, thank you sir.

the commission:  

Is there anybody else.  Right.  Mr Wilding, I know you’re going to question this witness on behalf of the Commission and I’m wondering whether the appropriate course is not for that to occur, or you to make a start on that and then other counsel, Mr Hampton for example has said that he has been preparing as he’s listened to the brief, and it may be that it’s a convenient course for you to go first.  Are you in a position to do that?

MR WILDING:

Certainly sir.

the commission:  

Well we’re going to proceed by asking Mr Wilding to begin.  That will provide a buffer before, or the lunch hour is a buffer before anybody else will be called upon.  Leave is granted to Mr Hampton, Mr Davidson and Ms McDonald to examine the witness.  In terms of content, I do not think it is practical for the Commission to rule in advance.  You have given us an indication, if we feel you are trespassing we will say so.

MR HAMPTON: 

And indeed sir, some of what Mr Wilding elicits may well cover the ground -

the commission:  

Yes, it could do.

MR HAMPTON:

- that I anticipate that I might have done other, right sir, thank you.

the commission:  

Ms McDonald, as far as filing evidence in reply is concerned, leave must be given, there’s been no opportunity before now to do so and you will need to just follow the process in the practice note which contemplates that we will see the brief that you’re wanting to put in and we will grant formal leave at that stage but I doubt very much that will be a problem given the content that you are seeking to respond to.

MS MCDONALD:

Thank you sir.
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cross-examination:  Mr Wilding 

Q. Just a preliminary matter, I shall refer just on a couple of occasions to the summation number of the statement of Mr Hughes.  Due to its recency that document hasn’t been placed into trial director so I’m referring for the record and the document won’t be shown on the screens before you.  I’ll start by referring to summation number SOL347124/5 which is page 4 of Mr Hughes’ witness statement.  Mr Hughes at paragraph 8 you have outlined the structure of the inspectorate under the Coal Mines Act ’79, which in essence involves a Chief Inspector of Coal Mines, plus an electrical and mechanical inspectors in Wellington and then inspectors of coal mines within the districts.  First, did the district inspectors report to the chief inspector?

A. Yes they did sir.

Q. And am I right in understanding that the chief inspector is someone who had expertise in mines and mining?

A. In coalmining sir, yes.

Q. Are you able to outline the nature of their expertise?

A. Yes I can sir, it was very wide ranging.  There had been a requirement put on some years previous where that any inspector had to be the manager of a large mine in New Zealand prior to appointment.  The requirements around that, that mine had to be of some complexity and quite often that mine was Strongman because they had both gas and was liable to spontaneous combustion.  Chief inspectors are seldom appointed to the position unless they’d been through a mine similar to Strongman Mine.  What that did sir, was given them an extremely good background in understanding the, the vagaries of underground mining.  Problems could be thrown up at the, at the manager at any time of the night or day and they certainly had that expertise to deal with those things sir.  

Q. From the perspective of an inspector of coal mines, what were the benefits, if any, of reporting to someone with that type of expertise?

A. It allowed for peer review.  The district inspectors always prepared a report of every inspection they’d carried out during the previous month and put it up to the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines, that peer review allowed for a more robust outcome of any of those inspections.  Regularly the chief inspector would contact the district inspector involved to raise a question on his report and may offer advice or direction regarding that inspection.  

Q. Are there any other benefits of that structure?

A. Yes sir, I think there was in terms of a group of like-minded people operating in the same group and the fact that the chief inspector had access to a wider forum of like-minded people through the chief inspector’s conference in Australia.

Q. Were there any disadvantages to that structure?

A. Not to my knowledge sir, no.

Q. At paragraph 14 of your witness statement, the same summation document ending 7, you have referred to the role of the inspector of coal mines in relation to licensing.  Is a license the equivalent of what nowadays is called a permit issued under the Crown Minerals Act?

A. I believe so sir, yes.

Q. And did that role that you describe in that paragraph apply to the range of licenses or permits including, for example, prospecting and mining permits?

A. Yes it did.

1250
Q. Are you able to describe the role that the inspectors of coal had with the granting of permits?

A. It was a review role, sir, and that they would receive the application, they would go through it and comment on the financial ability of the applicant to carry out the programme of work that was proposed under that licence.  Further they were, it was commented on whether they were a bona fide applicant in terms of somebody intended to do something with it rather than sit on it for the future as a money in the bank if you like.

Q. What information was provided with the licence application to enable them to conduct that assessment?

A. It was quite varied.  It may be a company prospectus.  It may be a list of machinery demonstrating the ability to do it.  It may be the existence of a workforce with the expertise in how to carry out the proposed activity.

Q. Would the application for a licence go to the coal mine inspector in the region to which the application related?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And would that coal mine inspector have a knowledge of the geology of the area?

A. In so far as his training allowed a coal mines inspector is not a geologist but only in so far as if he was aware of it.

Q. What type of knowledge would the coal mine inspector have that might be relevant to the evaluation of that application?

A. He would have access to a number of maps in his office, importantly cadastral maps allowing him to determine whether or not there were any overlaps with other privileges that were existing in the area.  He would also have access to geological reports indicating whether or not the prospect of that licence bearing any useful coal or not could proceed.  He would also have a pretty good knowledge of the access to that area and whether or not it could be easily accessed.

Q. In your view were there any benefits in having a inspector of coal mines with that knowledge involved at that application stage of the process?

A. Absolutely, sir.  I saw it as essential.

Q. Are you able to explain why please?

A. Because the applicant had the, I guess the luxury of being able to run his proposal past an independent person who could make or really assist in the passage of that licence through the, through the 
Ministry of Commerce or the Ministry of Energy wherever it sat at the time.  By steering them in the right direction and ensuring that if there was any possibility that it would succeed, it would do so.  If there was any possibility of it failing they would know from a pretty, from the outset.

Q. Did the mines inspectors raise with the applicants issues related to the design of the mine or health and safety in the mine or?

A. Yes, sir.   The issues raised were pretty comprehensive.  If there was a mine layout there inevitably the inspector would comment on it.

Q. Are you able to give us an indication of the range of topics about which an inspector might comment at that application stage?

A. Oh, yes, I can.  As I, as we mentioned earlier a little about the geology and if I could just elaborate there for a moment, sir, the, I'm just thinking of the Reefton Coalfield here.  There were many instances where applications may contact the alluvial gravels that overly at the coal seam.  Those gravels were known to be a hazard to coalmining if they are contacted and from that respect the facies maps of the area were extremely important.  Secondly, from mine design the inspector was able to provide advice on ventilation, perhaps even on mining method and identifying any other hazards that may be needed to be considered at the start of the application.
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Q. As a result of those types of comments, were applications ever modified in any way before they were considered again?

A. Yes sir I believe so.  If you would just bear with me, it is a long time since I've dealt with any licensing matters.
Q. Can I just please turn to the issue of the frequency of inspections which you've raised at paragraph 13 of your brief, summation document ending 6, and this is the frequency of inspections under the Coal Mines Act 1979.  Is there any particular approach taken at that stage to assessing how frequently a mine should be inspected?

A. Yes there was sir.

Q. Can you describe that approach please?

A. The approach for mines with more apparent hazards such as spontaneous combustion or methane gas tended to attract a greater frequency of inspections than those that didn’t have those attributes.

Q. Are you able to give an indication of the frequency of the inspection of a mine which did have those gas issues?

A. For smaller mines sir it was monthly and almost inevitably monthly, for the larger mines, the mines that I mentioned in my brief, such as Strongman, Liverpool, Huntly East and West, it was weekly.
Q. Are you familiar enough with the Pike River mine to say whether it would've been regarded as a small or a large mine?

A. No I'm not sir.

Q. Are you able to give an indication of the basis upon which a mine is determined as being small?

A. There are a lot of very hole in the wall type operations, I shouldn't say that, private mines around Reefton and Waikato, Buller and Grey Districts at the time.  The workforce was generally between five and seven men.   Their annual output rarely exceeded 5000 tonnes so the development and extraction in those mines was fairly small.  That didn’t detract from the fact that things could go wrong and sometimes did at those mines.

Q. Well would you be able to say if the projected tonnage of a mine was for example more than 100,000 tonnes per annum whether that would be regarded as small or large?

A. I would suggest large in the context of the New Zealand coalmining industry.  The reason I say that is because there was a guidance I think under the Coal Mines Act, it might’ve been under the regulations in terms of the submissions of work programmes and plans and for those small mines and I just can't recall what the tonnage was, it may have been 100,000 tonnes, sir, the requirement was to submit plans on a six monthly basis and for coal mines with a tonnage above that threshold that was in statute it was on a 12 monthly basis.

Q. And a mine such as Spring Creek presumably would be regarded as a large mine?

A. In the context of New Zealand coalmining sir, yes.

Q. And in terms of the regime under the Coal Mines Act 1979 that mine would've been inspected weekly?

A. Yes, sir, I believe it would have.
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Q. What was the basis for the distinction between the frequency of inspections of large mines and small mines?

A. It was really about the ability of the inspector of coal mines to be able to comprehensively inspect all parts or sections of the mine at a single attendance.  For example, to inspect all of the seals, the workplaces, the travelling roads and the airways at Spring Creek Mine in a single day is not really possible.

Q. Are you able to estimate how long it might take to inspect the whole of the underground workings of a Spring Creek?

A. I would suggest to do it thoroughly it would take three or four days.

Q. Over the course of weekly inspections in a mine such as Spring Creek, would the inspectors seek to inspect all of the underground workings of a mine?

A. Sorry sir could you rephrase that?

Q. In the course of the repeated weekly inspections, would inspectors seek to inspect the whole of the underground working?

A. Sequentially, yes.

Q. So, for example, if it took three to four days to inspect those of a mine such as Spring Creek, does that mean that in a one month period an inspector might seek to have inspected all of those workings?

A. That is what I would undertake to do sir yes.  

Q. Did the mines inspectors undertake any analysis to determine whether certain large mines or certain small mines should be inspected more frequently than others?

A. Not formally sir, no.

Q. Was there any analysis of whether a particular mine might pose a high level of risk than another mine?

A. There was.

Q. How was that undertaken?

A. It was undertaken normally in discussion with the chief inspector, if there were repeated incidents at a mine, it may increase the attention of the inspectorate in terms of going there to inspect the place or for dealing with the mine manager of the, of the particular mine.

COMMISSION adjourns:
1.03 pm

COMMISSION resumes:
2.01 PM

MR STEVENS:
I wonder, sir, if I could just correct one brief matter and it’s over the document that was produced and I got the order back to front so I wonder if just for the record I could correct it, sir, before my friend continues in terms of the two versions of the page 4 of the document known as, “Hughes’ review 070894.”

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MR STEVENS – ORDER OF PAGES BACK TO FRONT – TO BE AMENDED IN RECORD

cross-examination continues:  mr wilding

Q. Mr Hughes, we had been talking about the frequency of inspections and I understand from that that one of the benefits of weekly inspections of larger mines is it enables you to get around all of the mine?

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. Are there any other benefits to inspections being with that type of frequency?

A. I believe so, sir.  I think what it does is allow it to be inspected to become familiar with the operation so that it’s better to understand the problems that may arise in the future.

Q. How does that help?

A. Well by having an understanding in an operation if you are contacted by, normally be by the mine manager, you are better able to assimilate with that problem at the time rather than having to spend, waste a lot of time with the problem when you get to the operation, when you get to the mine.
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Q. Evidence may be given that large mines or gassy mines are now inspected approximately once every three months.  From your perspective would you have any concerns about that frequency of inspection?

A. It’s not what would've occurred during the period when I was an inspector of coal mines sir, but I can't comment on the rationale for doing that.

Q. Could I just turn to other circumstances in which you might visit a mine.  If you became aware that a mine was closed, either temporarily or permanently, would you visit it?

A. Not necessarily sir.  You would ascertain the reasons why that had occurred.  If it had been closed temporarily for an event such as a spontaneous combustion event or something like that most certainly you would be there.  If it had been closed temporarily for economic reasons, probably not.

Q. How would you find out that a mine had been closed?

A. Through notification, there was a provision under the Coal Mines Act 1979 to notify inspectors of coal mines, on the state of those mines but not only that, as a district inspector the district inspector always had an awareness of what was occurring in the mines around the district.  He might be inspecting up to 25 or 30 mines and I'm talking now about 1987.  He was inevitably aware what was occurring at those mines.

Q. And under the ’79 regime were you also required to be notified of accidents?

A. That's correct.

Q. How would those notifications be made?

A. By a variety of means, sometimes after the event by a letter to the inspector, normally by telephone.  In my experience as an inspector I found that my managers were always prompt in reporting any accidents or incidents that came under the reportable list in the Coal Mines Regulations.

Q. What would you do in response to those notifications?

A. Inevitably sir I'd attend the mine.

Q. Are you able to say how soon after a notification you would usually attend a mine?

A. It was as soon as possible.  I've had occasion when I've been notified of a fatality or two fatalities when I was in the North Island so my ability to get there was curtailed.  It took me probably 18 hours to get there because of the distance or travel arrangements.  Conversely any other notifications such as we did have from time to time we would attend them straight away.

Q. Would it have been unusual to take as long as 18 hours to attend after an accident notification?

A. Yes sir, it would.

Q. What was the purpose of attending within that timeframe?

A. Really to ascertain right from the outset what had happened, what had gone wrong and really to be able to capture the statements from the people involved as soon as possible.
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Q. Could I turn to the same summation document ending with the number 7 and this is paragraph 15 of the witness statement.  Mr Hughes, would have referred in there to a requirement that licence holders submit a mine plan every 12 months or six months for the larger mines.  First, why was it that lesser period of six months in the case of the larger mines?
A. It was really a requirement by – either by regulation or by statues, I can't remember which, I think we touched on this earlier, but there was a tonnage definition on where a mine had to produce a work programme every six months versus every 12 months.  I’m not sure what that threshold is sir, but it certainly existed and that was what drove that requirement.

Q. Was there any purpose to that requirement that you’re aware of?

A. Yes my understanding was that the larger producing mines were moving quicker, if you like, extracting quicker, disturbing more countryside or developing into more countryside much faster than what the others were.

Q. Are you able to describe the type of detail that was shown on the mine plans that were submitted?

A. The detail that was required sir was again required as a part, I think of the regulations, it was quite extensive.  It included certainly the 10 year boundary; it included all workings of the coal mine.  It included the location of telephones, it included the location or sorry the direction of airflow and the location of fans in the mine.  

Q. And did it include the current workings?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Did it include the location of emergency equipment?

A. Yes sir, insofar as first aid equipment, it was shown on the mine plan.

Q. What was the purpose of those plans being submitted?

A. To give the inspector of coal mines a, a brief if you like, on what was occurring and whether that was consistent with the requirements of the Coal Mines Act and Regulations.

Q. And were they submitted to the district inspector or to the chief inspector?

A. To the district inspector.

Q. What would the district inspector do in response to those?

A. He would always acknowledge them back to the person who submitted them.  In that letter of acknowledgement he may raise some queries about what was on the mine plan or any deficiencies within the mine plan and then he would copy that letter along with a copy of the plan to the chief inspector.

Q. And what would the chief inspector do in response to that?

A. He may raise similar sort of concerns if they haven’t been covered by the district inspector.

Q. Was there approval of either of the district inspector or chief inspector required before the work shown on those plans was done?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Was there approval of any other regulatory body required before the work done on those plans was undertaken?

A. Yes sir.  The, the approval as I recall it under the Coal Mines Act 1979 was the role of the secretary of energy I think at the time.  The approval given by the inspector of coal mines or the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines was under the conditions attached to the license where reference was made to the inspector of coal mines.

Q. You have referred to the regulations, what regulations did you refer to when receiving mine plans?

A. In what context sir?

Q. For the purpose of consideration of the work for the upcoming six or 12 month period.

A. The Coal Mines Mine (Management and Safety) Regulations 1980.  
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Q. And on receiving the mine plan would you go through each regulation to ensure that the mine plan was consistent with that regulation?

A. As a general rule, yes, we would check the plan against the requirements of the regulation.

Q. You have also said in your brief that there would be reference to whether the intended development indicated sound mining practice?

A. That's correct.

Q. What did you mean by, “Sound mining practice?”

A. Several things really sir.  The maintenance of barriers between workings in mines that are prone to spontaneous combustion and gasing ions.  The provision of sufficient airways to ventilate the mine and the pillar size to ensure or to avoid premature failure of pillars.

Q. Does that mean that in considering sound mining practice you had regard to matters that would help ensure the health and safety of the mine and its workers?

A. Yes sir.  Those things that I mentioned are really an inherent part of it.  The maintenance to the barriers, for example, without barriers between working sections may give rise to spontaneous combustion, which is usually indicated by carbon monoxide, which is very dangerous to personnel.

Q. Do you think that the concept of sound mining practice can be separated from the concept of health and safety?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. Why do you say that?

A. Because the mine design is done for purposes of safety.  For example, pillar sizes, the pillars are too small they’ll simply collapse, premature roof failure.  And also because the size of roadways, or the amount of air circulating in them is essential to persons health.

Q. Can we just take a couple of examples.  You had referred to the airway ventilation of the mine.  What would you do if, from your review of the mine plan, there was a concern about whether that ventilation was adequate?

A. The first action to be taken sir is to contact the operation and speak to them about the concern and how that could be rectified.

Q. When you say, “Operation,” do you mean the operations of the mine?

A. Mine.

Q. And would that sometimes involve visiting the mine?

A. Yes it would.

Q. What happened if as a result of that conversation, the problem still hadn’t been rectified to the satisfaction of a mines inspector?

A. The mine could be closed down until it was rectified.

Q. Are you aware of circumstances where a mine had been closed down because problems apparent from a plan of upcoming work hadn’t been attended to?

A. Yes I am.

Q. More than one occasion?

A. No sir.

Q. Are you able to, without identifying the mine, describe the particular issue that caused it to be closed down?

A. I wasn’t the inspector involved sir.  The operation was in Inangahua Coalfield.  The inspector was a colleague of mine so I am not fully familiar that.   I’d prefer not to try and describe it because I’d (inaudible 14:17:16) it up.

Q. If I can just take you back a bit then to the licensing process, to which we referred earlier.  If there was a problem apparent from the plan submitted during that licensing process would a similar approach be followed?

A. Sir, with a licensing process it precedes the operation.  The process would be followed, I think I covered earlier that as an inspector you would deal with the applicant and point out the shortcomings in his application.
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Q. If there was a shortcoming that caused serious concern for the health and safety of workers if it was put into practice, would that be something which might cause the licence not to be issued?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you aware of whether licences were ever not issued because of such concerns?

A. No, sir, I'm not.

Q. Just while we’re on that licensing process, were there any other entities who had to be involved in the licensing approval process aside from the coal mine inspectors?

A. Yes, there were.  I can recall personnel from Crown Minerals I think it was at the time, coming into the district and I personally took them around to those areas under application so they could better see for themselves the, the process was quite thorough.

Q. Whose responsibility was it for actually approving a licence application?

A. Crown Minerals Group is in the period that I'm talking about.

Q. And the period you're talking about is under the Coal Mines Act 1979?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did the involvement of the coals mines inspectors at that stage rise to the level of a veto for example of approval?

A. It could've got to that but it never did in my, in my experience sir.

Q. If I could take you please to paragraph 16 of your brief summation, number ending 8.  You have referred to the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines as being the Deputy Chairman of the Board of Examiners, can you just describe the role of the Board of Examiners?

A. The Board of Examiners was a body of representative people set up under the Coal Mines Act for the purpose of examining, sorry I’ll rephrase that, it was set up for the purpose of examining personnel for certificates in mining.  Now I'm getting a little confused because I was involved in two Boards  of Examiners, one was under the 
Coal Mines Act 1979, one was an administrative arrangement after the 
Coal Mines Act had been repealed.   The original Coal Mines 
Board of Examiners was set up with representative people from the coalmining industry and a number of experts such as the chief surveyor, a geologist, who could provide input into the various examinations that were required for the certificates of competence that were available under that Act.

Q. Can you just describe what was meant by an administrative arrangement after the Coal Mines Act?

A. That’s what I touched on earlier, sir.  The, after the Coal Mines Act was repealed, there was no instrument for candidates for statutory certificates to sit examinations or to offer themselves for examinations.  It just didn’t exist, it was, there was nothing put together.  It was a decision made by the Ministry of Commerce to provide that facility and so it was put together administratively rather than using a legal instrument to do it.

Q. Are you able to give us an indication of what year or timeframe this would've been?

A. I do have the correspondence, sir.  I would suggest it was around 1991, ’92, probably 1992 I think.
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Q. Do you know how long that lasted for?

A. Not exactly, it lasted until the extractive industries training organisation gained momentum and became the body under the health and safety at Mining Administration Regulations to issue certificates.  The exact date of that, I don't know.

Q. Is that a body which is sometimes referred to as EXITO? 
A. That's correct.

Q. Are you able to say whether there were any benefits of the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines being on the Board of Examiners?

A. The benefits I think from the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines being there, particularly in the administrative board, was to oversee the curriculum, if you like, which had been lost by the return of the Act, to ensure that those parts or subjects were maintained for examination and to ensure they weren't lost, and also to provide for the examination or to obtain the examiners and to keep the facility going.

Q. Under the 1979 Act were there any benefits stemming from the chief inspector being on the board insofar as standards were concerned?

A. I believe so sir, it provided a certain consistency through examinations for candidates from year to year.

Q. You've referred to certificates of competence.  What was the first or lowest level certificate that would be issued by the Board of Examiners?

A. Mine deputy certificates were examined for - at district level and the recommendations from the examiner is usually the inspectors from various districts would examine those people.  They would compile the list of successful candidates, record that through to the secretary of the Board of Examiners and the successful candidates would be approved by the board for issuing of a certificate.  

Q. Were there any certificates in relation to knowledge of gas and its hazards?

A. At the level of the board?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes there was because the board’s had an examination and I personally sat it myself many years in ventilation.

Q. What was that certificate called?

A. For a first class certificate and it was also a ventilation subject under your certificate.

Q. You've referred to EXITO, what’s its role?

A. Currently sir?

Q. Yes.

A. It facilitates the training for the extractive industries broadly.  It has set out the unit standards that are required to be passed in order to obtain statutory certificates.  There is a very extensive list that has grown up over the years and in my understanding now, as I mentioned earlier, is that it has become the issuing body, the statutory body to issue those certificates.

Q. And I see that you've been a registered assessor for EXITO in 1997?

A. That's correct.

Q. Are you able to make any comment about the effectiveness of EXITO in discharging that role?

A. Yes sir.  Initially in having been a member of the Board of Examiners, having seen the effect of the holders of certificates coming through I felt that the system we had was effective, so I was a little bit cynical for a start, but having seen the development of EXITO and the quality of some of the training that they have offered I changed my view.  I support what they do.  The only problem I have is the evaluation of information by individuals rather than by a board or the examination if you like, but in saying that EXITO still retains the right to perform a group or committee for the purpose of a professional conversation I think it’s called these days, to ascertain knowledge of a candidate under subjects and I’ve been part of those groups to perform those professional committees.  
1428

Q. Can you just explain a little bit more what you mean by, “Evaluation by individuals not a board”?

A. I’ll just step back to the previous modus operandi if you like of the Board of Examiners.  It was to set examinations, written examinations, usually of three hours duration.  If a candidate was successful he would be asked to come back and meet with usually three members of the board and undergo an oral examination in that subject.  

Q. And under EXITO?

A. I believe that a similar system has evolved, it’s taken a while to happen, but a somewhat similar system has evolved through what is being called, “A professional conversation.”

Q. What’s the lowest level certificate issues by EXITO?

A. They issue all mining certificates down to gas testing certificate.

Q. What’s a gas testing certificate?

A. It’s a certificate to show that the holder has a proficiency in testing flammable gas.  The curriculum goes much wider than just for flammable gas, it goes to all gases that are found in coal mines these days and it provides the holder or demonstrates that the holder has the skills in detecting those gases and how to deal with them.

Q. In a gassy mine, how important would you say it is to have such a certificate?

A. It is essential sir for certain members of the staff to have that certificate.

Q. Do you know what proportion of the employees who work underground in Solid Energy would have that certificate?

A. Yes I do sir.

Q. What?

A. Now I can speak for Spring Creek Mine only.

Q. Please do.

A. 71% of the workforce has a gas testing certificate that is broken down by 73% in mine services.  Mine services are the group of people who work back-bye providing pipes, flumes, things like that.  70% of those involved in extraction have a gas testing certificate.  They are the people who extract the coal, do the pillaring if you like.  73% of the people involved in development have a gas testing certificate, they are the people who drive the mine roadways and 64% of the trades, electricians and fitters and maintenance people have a gas testing certificate.

Q. Thank you.  You just referred to back-bye, could you perhaps explain what that means?

A. Back-bye sir means any area that is not within the immediate face area.

Q. So underground but not the face?

A. That's correct.

Q. If I could take you to paragraph 17 of your witness statement, same page summation ending 8 and you’ve referred to, “Electrical inspectors”, are you able to explain what their role was?

A. Yes sir, electrical inspectors are appointed, I think I might’ve mentioned earlier in my brief, following an electrical fire which caused 11 fatalities at Glen Afton Mine in 1939, and out of that enquiry resulted in electrical inspectors who would attend mines to ensure compliance with their wiring and electrical installations.  
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Q. Did they have specialist electrical qualifications?

A. Yes sir, they were generally electrical engineers.

Q. How often would they visit a mine?

A. From my experience sir, twice year.  I can’t be more precise than that because it would really, it’s an observation going back 25 years ago almost.

Q. And were they based in Wellington?

A. Yes sir.

Q. How many were there?

A. There was one electrical inspector.

Q. And you have referred to mechanical inspectors.  What are their role?

A. Their role became more important as time went on and technology improved in the mines when mechanical mining machinery is introduced and to ensure that it complied with the appropriate standards that were pretty well advanced in Australia at that time but certainly not in 
New Zealand.

Q. How many were there?

A. There was one.

Q. What sort of qualifications and expertise did the mechanical inspector have?

A. He would be a mechanical engineer.

Q. Based in Wellington?

A. Yes.

Q. And how often would he inspect a mine?

A. Again sir, I’m tempted to say every six months, it could be at a greater frequency or a lesser frequency, I’m just not certain given the amount of time that’s passed since I was involved in it.

Q. Did those inspections by the electrical and mechanical engineers occur in the presence of a coal inspector?

A. Usually they did.

Q. Were there any benefits to that?

A. Yes there were.

Q. And what were they?

A. The benefits were that the specialist inspectors, the electrical and mechanical inspector could gain a lot of insight, or a lot of understanding, from the district inspector on the operation of the mine, the machinery, electrical or mechanical, that was used to operate that mine, any history of problems that they’d had with that machinery, and even sometimes to the extent of where that machinery came from, and any approvals that may or may not be applicable to that machinery.

Q. Could I perhaps give a specific example of something which has both electrical and mechanical features to see who would look at it.  And the example is a ventilation fan.  Would an electrical inspector inspect a ventilation fan?

A. Yes he would.

Q. And the purpose of that would be what?

A. To ensure that the wiring and the arrangement of the motor pulleys, the transmission of power if you like to their fan blades was, did not exceed the capability of the motor.

Q. Would it also be inspected by a mechanical inspector?

A. Yes sir.

Q. What would be the purpose of that?

A. To ensure that the dynamic load that was put upon the foundations or bearings or cowlings or housings on the fan didn’t exceed the design of the fan.  To ensure that it’d hold together when you put power on it if you like.

Q. Would it also be inspected by a coal inspector?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And what was the purpose of that?

A. To ensure that the fan was performing to the design and it wasn’t exceeding that design, it wasn’t in a mode of stall, and it was passing the quantity of air that was it was necessary to ventilate that mine.

Q. In assessing those matters would a coal inspector have regard to any documents showing the design and performance aspects of the fan and ventilation system?

A. Not necessarily.

A. If I could just turn to the conduct of inspections and ask you to describe 

Q. how an inspection was conducted under the Coal Mines Act 1979?
A. What page are we on sir?
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Q. Well we’re not at the moment?

A. Oh, okay all right.  The conduct of an inspection it would normally start with a courtesy call to the mine owner or the mine manager to arrange a time to meet with him to carry out the inspection and the purpose of the call rather than cold calling is to ensure that the people you want to be there are there when you arrive or to ensure that the mine is actually operating when you get there.  Upon arrival at the mine there is inevitably a conversation with the mine manager on the current state of workings on what is happening currently.  Normally I found that the mine managers would volunteer that information and they would give you all the problems of the day and really very forthcoming I found inevitably with any mine managers that I dealt with.  You would follow a perusal of the mine plan.  The mine manager would take the inspector through the mine plan and show him what was happening in the mine, where it was happening, the extraction that was taking place, the developments taking place, any seals that might have been constructed in the interim to give the, the inspector an update on what had happened since the previous inspection really so that he had a good understanding of what was going on.  Following that there’d be an underground inspection.  The mine manager would accompany the, the inspector underground.  He would go to, depending on the size of the mine, he would go to most working places.  A mine like some of the larger mines, Strongman Mine for example, you physically couldn't go to all the working places in a single attendance as I've referred to in my brief.  He would examine all the seals in that section to ensure that they were intact and the sealers were all across a roadway to prevent the ingress of air or egress of air whichever the case maybe.  He would converse with the miners.  He would converse with the mine officials, not really to illicit information, it was really to gain understanding of their comfort or discomfort with the current situation at the mine and he would return to the surface.  When he returned to the surface he would complete a note to the mine manager and what he’d seen, a defect notice.  It may simply state the fact that he’d gone underground and visited a certain section and that all was in order.  It may also state, alternatively it may state that there may be some requisitions, there may be things wrong that he wanted rectified.  Following the departure from the mine and return to the inspector’s office he would prepare a note for his monthly report.  That note would name the mine.  It would name the licence number.  It would name the mine manager and it would name any of the requisitions that had been put on the mine manager that day.

Q. Can I just interrupt you there?  What is a requisition?

A. A requirement.

Q. A requirement to do something?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Related to health and safety?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Carry on please.

A. Following that if there had been any requisition issued he may follow it up with a letter on departmental letterhead with a copy to the 
Chief Inspector of Coal Mines.

Q. You refer to speaking essentially to workers at the mine to get a feeling for their comfort or discomfort.  Why was that done?

A. There was an informal discussion, sir, bearing in mind the inspectors and certainly inspectors such as myself who had been in the industry for a good number of years personally knew most of these people that operated in these mines around the district, indeed around the country so it wasn’t difficult to strike up conversation with them.  Most miners are pretty forthcoming, if they have a problem they tell you and it wasn’t really trying to illicit information behind the mine manager’s back because he’s usually standing right on your shoulder.  It was really out of politeness and to understand that they knew what they were doing.
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Q. Right.  When you say understand that they knew what they were doing you mean understand whether the workers down the mine knew what they doing?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Doing in what respect?

A. Whatever the activity might be at the time, coal production, stopping construction, pro-extraction, whatever that activity may be.

Q. What would you do if you were concerned that they didn’t know what they were doing?

A. I'd speak up immediately.

Q. And when you say knowing what they doing you're really talking there about the experience and knowledge of the miners, are you?

A. I'm talking about competence sir, yes.

Q. So was this one of the ways of assessing the competence of those who worked down the mine?

A. It wasn’t really the inspector’s role to assess competence.  The – I'm just trying to think what statute it is in, I think it is under the regulations that there was a requirement for inexperienced people to be put at work on a coalfield for at least 200 days before they could be deemed experienced.  I could be corrected on that but to my recollection that is, I think that’s correct.

Q. So it was part of the process to test whether they had that required level of experience and competence?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Why is it important that there be experienced and competent people down a mine?

A. Sir, in my experience in coal mines they’re very unforgiving places.  People who are unfamiliar with that environment have the potential to get themselves into trouble very quickly, whether it’s through unsupported roof, i.e. roof collapse, whether it’s through methane, i.e. ignitions of methane, whether it’s through lack of oxygen, i.e. black damp, whether it is through unstable ribs, it is the ability to recognise these things and deal with them before they cause harm and that is what I'm talking about sir, as experience in coal mines.

Q. As part of your inspections under the 1979 Act would you take samples anywhere within the mine, for example of the coal dust or the atmosphere?

A. Yes sir.

Q. With what type of frequency, for example, on each visit or what?

A. Not necessarily, it depended on the circumstances at the mine and it depended on the conditions in which the mine was operating and what I'm getting at here, if it was a mine prone to spontaneous combustion we would take air samples, in other words we’d analyse the atmosphere using, in those days, a Drager multi gas detector, stain tubes, looking for carbon monoxide and possibly carbon dioxide.

Q. Where would that testing occur?

A. Normally in return airways.

Q. And would records of the results of those be kept by the mines inspectors?

A. Yes, they’d be recorded in the weekly report, in the reports for the mine, for that inspection.

Q. Would the inspectors ever look at that information to see whether there were any particular trends developing in relation to, for example, carbon monoxide?

A. It depends on the frequency of the inspections sir, there wasn’t really the opportunity for inspectors to do that because to trend carbon monoxide, it is desirable to have samples at greater frequency than the attendance of the inspectors at the mines.  Here I'm talking about either daily, three hourly, six hourly, much closer together than what an inspector could provide.
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Q. Are you aware that under the current regulations a mine can be regarded as a gassy mine if it’s got a certain level of gases for three days in a row?

A. Yes I am.

Q. Was that the case under the 1979 Act and Regulations?

A. Not at that level sir no.

Q. Were the coal inspectors ever involved in assessing whether a mine was a gassy or a non-gassy mine?

A. I don’t recall any specific incident where they were that is not to say that that didn't happen.

Q. So was that classification essentially determined by tests that were undertaken by or on the request of the mine operator?

A. I think what happens in fact is that the inspector would be aware of the presence of gas at that mine or may detect gas at that mine and make a ruling accordingly.  Personally I never did it, I’m aware I think of two instances where an inspector was involved in that but the detail I don’t recall.

Q. In the course of your inspections did you also look at records of any type that were held within the office at the mine?

A. Yes sir we did.

Q. Are you able to describe the types of records that you would look at?

A. The records were normally a daily inspection report, pre-shift inspection report, a weekly report by the mine manager, a record of men who had entered the mine and left the mine, a record of the fan pressures, a record of the – sorry, sir I’m trying to think of the right name for it, it’s an electrical book, it just doesn’t come to me at – if you bear with me it’s been some years since I was involved in.  I do recall my colleague, Harry Bell, when I was working at Strongman Mine some years ago coming to the mine as an inspector and the number of books that he had to go through and peruse at the time was probably about six inches high.  There were a considerable number of records for the inspector to peruse.

Q. Would you ever do anything to try and ascertain whether those records were accurate?

A. Not normally sir, occasionally I would try and ascertain there voracity through taking atmospheric samples around the mine.  But the gas levels in the mine can vary from hour to hour with the fluctuations of barometric pressure so the, the absolute values in the report books are what to take at that moment in time, they are quite volatile.

Q. Now just looking at the result of your inspection, am I right in understanding that one of the documents produced might be a requisition which is provided to the mine operator?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the inspectors ever inform the employees of the issues that had arisen as a result of an inspection?

A. Not formally sir no.

Q. Do you think that it would be helpful for employees to be made aware of safety issues that had arisen as a result of an inspection?

A. Yes I do.
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Q. To your knowledge do you know whether that issue was ever considered under either the Coal Mines Act 1979 or the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992?

A. The communication of issues you mean sir?

Q. Communication of issues to employees?

A. For an inspector to accomplish it is a very difficult task.  There’s an expectation if there is an issue that is of a wider concern for the mine it would be communicated by the, to the mine manager.

Q. In other words under both regimes it’s left to the mine manager to inform the employees of the concerns that have arisen?

A. Generally sir that is the case.

Q. Under either regime were there ever any inquiries made to see whether the mine manager was informing employees of the issues that had arisen?

A. I’ll just explain a little bit better I think about how this was communicated.  If there was an issue at the mine it would normally involve some personnel in some way.  Those personnel directly affected would be aware of the concern or made aware of the concern, which would then be escalated through the mine manager by a notice.  In answer to your question, “Would it be prudent to let all the workforce know,” the answer is, yes.   To me the responsibility for disseminating that information rested with the mine manager.

Q. Are you able to describe to what extent, if any, the inspection process that you have outlined under the Coal Mines Act 1979 differed from that under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 during the times when you’re an inspector or chief inspector?

A. I applied the same philosophies under both Acts sir.

Q. In summation document ending number 9, paragraph 19, you’ve said the following, and I’m just going to read it and then ask you please to explain what you mean by it.  It’s halfway down paragraph 19.  “OSH, so O-S-H, officials gave a clear expectation that all inspectors appointed under S29 of the Health and Safety In Employment Act 1992 were to conform to the standard operating procedures developed for the purpose of ensuring workplace safety.  This largely took the form of forwarding a standard set of requirements that were generic to any industry.”  First, are you able to explain what the standard operating procedures were?

A. The procedures that OSH had for workplace inspections were generic across all workplaces.  There were protocols as I recall for inspections.  Of particular importance was the avoidance of advice or direction to mine operators as it may not be the view of Department of Labour and may compromise them if that advice didn’t turn out as planned.  Turning briefly to the audit document.  My recollection is that there was an audit document developed to ascertain health and safety procedures at any workplace, which it also applied to mine sites.  There was nothing wrong with that document.  It was generic to anything and my recollection of the exact content of it is gone with the passage of time.  I applied that document but not as the sole means of ascertaining health and safety compliance at a mine.
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Q. You referred to advice, are you able to describe the advisory role that inspectors had under the Coal Mines Act 1979?

A. Yes, sir, I can probably provide, well I can provide the evidence on the sort of advice that was given particularly with submitted mine plans.  When mine plans came to the inspector they were clearly acknowledged to the mine operator and any suggestions that may improve the safety of the operation or the recovery of resource or simply the operation of the mine if you like, that was sent to the –

MICROPHONE ADJUSTED FOR WITNESS

cross-examination continues:  mr wilding

A. Where was I sir?

Q. You were talking about mine plans and the advice given in relation to those?

A. Yes, advice was given freely and it was very often written back to the mine operators.  It may be given verbally during a, during an attendance at a mine.

Q. Are you able to say whether that advice role was considered important by the inspectors?

A. I considered it very important.

Q. Why?

A. Because during the period I'm referring to mines were not always operated by holders of First Class Mine Managers Certificates.  There was a period of time where mines could have been operated by permit holders which means that they had no statutory certificate at all or they were operated by Fireman Deputy Certificates which is the first step in the management ladder if you like.  It’s usually supervisor or supervisor level or mines could be managed by people with an 
Underviewers’ Certificate which is superintendent level.  People managing mines with those lesser certificates did not really possess the skills necessary to run their mine efficiently in terms of some of the skills or some of the items necessary to do so.   There have been a number of examples where that shortcoming has been identified and I understand now, I've only learned recently, that deputy certificates are no longer applicable.

Q. You were interrupted when you were talking about mine plans and advice being given in relation to those but am I correct in understanding that the crux of your evidence was that you were being discouraged under the 1992 Act from giving advice in relation to the mine plans?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And that that advice would include advice that would bear on health and safety?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And when you say “discourage” what do you mean by that?

A. There was a concern in the Department of Labour that advice given, operational advice given could be construed as an official view of the Department of Labour and had them liable if anything should happen to go wrong in the mine as a result of that advice given.

Q. And can you just clarify what’s meant by discouragement?  What form did that take?

A. My recollection is having a conversation with the branch manager of occupation health, safety and health.  The day when we’re going through typically what I would do during an inspection and how we would set out to assist, if you like, the managers of small operations who were managed by people with lesser certificates.  That conversation culminated in just what I was saying.  We need to be careful that the integrity or the department is not compromised in any way.
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Q. And about what year was this, can you recall?

A. About 2000.

Q. Are you able to say whether following that there was either a discontinuance or reduction in the giving of advice?

A. No sir I can't because I was only in the inspection, sorry, only in the occupational safety and health for a relatively short time so I don't know what happened after that.

Q. Yes, well can you just remind us again what time you were there for after the transition period?

A. Yeah, from late 1999 to January 2001.

Q. We had been talking about the auditing of the standard set of requirements.  Did the Department of Labour under the Health and Safety Act 1992 require inspectors to check whether the requirements were being implemented by a mine?

A. What requirements are you referring to sir?

Q. The relevant portion in paragraph 19, middle, says that, “All inspectors appointed under F29 of the Health & Safety & Employment Act 1992 were to conform to standard operating procedures developed for the purpose of ensuring work place safety.  This largely took the form of auditing a standard set of requirements that were generic to any industry.”  

A. The question again sir?

Q. And the question is whether or not that auditing of a standard set of requirements involved checking whether those requirements were being implemented by a mine operator?

A. Yes it did.

Q. And are you able to describe that standard set of requirements?

A. Not now sir, no.

Q. We referred earlier to what would be done under the 1979 Act when you received notification of an accident and you had outlined that you would generally attend the mine and in essence do so as soon as reasonably possible.  Was that still the case during your time as an inspector under the Health & Safety & Employment Act?

A. Yes it was sir.

Q. And during your time under that Act what was the frequency of an inspection of mines?

A. I made no alteration to the frequency that I'd conducted in earlier jurisdictions sir.

Q. Had the issue of the frequency of mines been considered within the Department of Labour to your knowledge?

A. My recollection is that the Department of Labour considered the inspection of coal mines to be excessive.

Q. Could I ask you to turn to paragraph 22 of your witness statement, summation numbered, ending 10.  I am going to go slightly out of order in terms of the paragraphs.  You say, “Whereas MOE and MIG inspectors would conduct proactive inspections of coalmining operations regularly as described OSH inspectors rarely attended coal mines other than to conduct investigations following accidents and incidents.”  I presume MOE means Ministry of Energy?
A. Yes it does.
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Q. And Mining Inspector Group is what’s meant by MIG?

A. Mining Inspection Group sir, that's correct.

Q. What do you mean when you say, “OSH inspectors rarely attended coal mines”?

A. That’s a personal observation sir that is really corroborated by conversations with other mine managers.  From 1999 onwards until 2000, for two years I was the mine manager at Strongman Mine.  The attendance of inspections during that period surprised me, or the lack of inspections surprised me somewhat.  It just wasn’t what I anticipated, the service I anticipated from the inspectors.

Q. Are you from any personal experience during your time under the 1992 Act, able to define what is meant by, “rarely attended coal mines”?

A. Are we still on paragraph 22 sir?

Q. We are.

A. Okay, OSH inspectors rarely attended coal mines.  I was aware that the inspector of coal mines there was resident on the West Coast at the time; his attendance at coal mines to my knowledge in some cases is less than once per year.

Q. What time was this approximately?

A. Sorry?

Q. What year was this approximately or what year was it from approximately?

A. I think from 2001.

Q. Could we turn to the issue of the range of operations that were inspected and whether that differed between the two regimes and first under the Coal Mines Act 1979, what was the range of different types of operations that coal mines inspectors inspected?

A. Underground mines and open cast mines sir.

Q. Did they inspect quarries?

A. No.

Q. Did they inspect other tunnels?

A. No.

Q. Did they inspect types of underground or open cast mine aside from coal mines?

A. Metalliferous mines sir.

Q. And what is meant by that?

A. I’d be mining for gold, copper.  Normally gold in New Zealand, but the answer to that is no sir, the inspectors of coal mines were exclusively employed to inspect coal mines, open cast and underground coal mines.

Q. During your time under the 1992 regime, what was the range of operations that was inspected by the inspectors of coal?

A. Personally sir?  What did I do personally do you mean?

Q. Well both personally, but then we’ll talk about more generally.

A. I remained exclusively an inspector of coal mines during that period of time.  

Q. And what about the other inspectors who inspected coal mines, did they inspect other types of operations?

A. I believe that some of the inspectors inspected quarries, my certainty or my recollection exactly around that is not as good as it could be.

Q. Do you know whether they inspected tunnels aside from coal mines?

A. I don't know sir.

Q. If I could take you please to paragraph 21, it’s the same page summation numbered ending 10.  You’ve spoken there of the, “diminution,” in the number of inspectors during the transition from 1992 to 1998.  Are you able recall the number of coal mines inspectors there were in 1992?
A. I think there were four in 1992.
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Q. Are you able to recall how many there were at the cessation of the Coal Mines Act 1979?

A. Sir, I’d be guessing.  I’ll just go through it just for the sake of trying to gather my thoughts.  I think there were two inspectors in Huntly.  At one point there were two inspectors in Westport.  There was one inspector in Greymouth and there was one in Dunedin, so that six I think.  In addition to that was a Chief Inspector of Coal Mines in Wellington and an electrical and mechanical inspector in Wellington, as we’ve discussed.

Q. Are you able to recall the number of people who had responsibility for inspecting coal mines at the end of that transition, so 1998?

A. I think there were two, on occasion there was one.

Q. When you say, “you think”, is that once again something dimmed by recollection?

A. That’s the best recollection I have sir, yes.

Q. You have said in paragraph 21, two-thirds of the way down, and I quote, “The coal mines inspectorate diminished with a number of retirements and resignations taking effect.  This reduction in the number of coal inspectors considerably increased the workload of those who remained.”  Did that have any impact on the frequency with which inspections were conducted?

A. Yes sir, inevitably it did.  The import of that comment really is because I was the person affected and at one point I was carrying out inspections in the Waikato, in the Buller on the West Coast and into Southland.

Q. And previously how many inspectors would have been carrying out inspections across those areas?

A. A minimum of four.  There would be at least four, one in each district.  And as I’ve said earlier in my evidence, that occasionally there were two in some of the districts when the workload was too great.

Q. And did that impact on the frequency with which you would inspect mines in those regions?

A. The reduction in numbers sir?

Q. Mmm.

A. Inevitably it did.

Q. Are you able to describe that impact?

A. Yes, by recollection having to, I recall having to travel down to Ohio to assist in dealing with the spontaneous combustion event down there.  It’s something that was quite time consuming.  It would’ve been dealt with by a district inspector of  the day, had there been one, domiciled in the Southland/Otago area but there wasn’t.  It was quite time consuming and took me away from other duties.

Q. I want to turn to a different topic briefly.  During that transition period did the coal inspectors have any role in the permitting of mines?
A. I believe we did, sir.  I can recollect still having applications for permits forwarded through my office and I would deal with those permits the same as I would with anything else, just provide a recommendation.
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Q. And at that time those permits would've been considered by 
Crown Minerals?

A. That's correct.

Q. Does that mean that your recommendation would have been passed onto Crown Minerals for its consideration?

A. That's correct.

Q. You referred earlier in your evidence-in-chief to a document, 
paragraph 29, summation number ended 12 headed, “Review of the recommendations from the warden’s inquiry into the accident at Moura Number 2 Mine, Queensland on Sunday 7 August 1994.”  You then on the next page summation number ending 13, paragraph 30, set out a recommendation.  I want to read that recommendation to you and then ask what, if anything, to your knowledge was done into response to it.   This was the recommendation, “Given the incidents of past catastrophes arising from spontaneous combustion the review committee strongly recommends that the approval process for coal  mines operating under a mining permit be clearly channelled through the inspector of coal mines to ensure that the appropriate level of technical expertise is incorporated into the approval process.”  Do you know whether any regulatory agency took any steps in response to that recommendation?

A. Yes, sir, I'm aware that with one mining company that it did occur at the instigation of that particular mining company.  They met with Department of Labour officials and requested that their information be channelled through the inspector of mines’ office.

Q. Are you able to say whether any regulatory body gave consideration to whether that channelling should happen as a matter of routine?

A. No, sir, I'm not.

Q. Are you able to say whether any regulatory body gave consideration to whether there should be some regulation or law requiring that?

A. I am unaware of, of any such moves that…

Q. I’d like to turn to a different topic which is the hazards that are present in a mine, both open cast and underground.  Are you able to list for us the hazards that are presented by an open cast coal mine?

A. Very broadly, sir, yes, bench heights.  Bench heights in, in open cast mines are a safety mechanism.  If my memory serves me correct in the repealed open cast coal mines regulations 1986 the maximum bench heights were 15 metres.  The reason being that it coincided approximately with the length of the dump trucks, if it went over the side it wouldn't go any further than the length of the truck.  I believe that was the import of that, that regulation.

Q. Are you able just to describe for us what a bench is and what’s meant by the height of the bench?

A. If, the bench is what the Commissioner is sitting on behind now.  It’s virtually exactly the same thing.  It is a uplift in the ground and part of the construction of the open cast.  It may go up several times.  It may go up 10 or 12 times.  That is what a bench is.  A bench is really to provide access to the working area of an open cast.
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Q. So the height is the difference between the bottom of the bench and the next bench?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Sorry, carry on?

A. Another consideration is bench stability which would have some impact on bench height.  Another consideration is faulting and folding which has an impact on bench stability.  Another consideration is access roads, bearing in mind that open cast coal mines in New Zealand can take some funny shapes because of the geological setting that we’re in, inevitably steeply dipping coal seams and inevitably very steep access roads.  Probably the only exception we have is Stockton which is flat by comparison with a lot of the open cast mines in Reefton for example.  That broadly sir is some of the considerations in open cast coal mines.

Q. Are there any other significant hazards that you haven't referred to?

A. Yes, the construction of stock piles.  It is important they’re constructed to within an acceptable angle of repose, in other words they’re engineered landfills rather than just dumped there because they stand the risk of failure if they’re not properly constructed.  The other aspect of open cast mining that we became quite involved in under the Coal Mines Act was rehabilitation of the mined out areas.  

Q. Did that present a hazard?

A. No sir, it was a condition of licence to put the land back into some usable form.

Q. Are you able to list the hazards that are present in an underground coal mine?

A. Yes sir, I've touched on some of them during the course of the day, flammable gas we talked about, spontaneous combustion we’ve talked about, roof failure or premature collapse, inundation through flooding, oxidation resulting in low oxygen, in other words black damp or free nitrogen which was a particular problem in parts of the Reefton coalfield.

Q. Are there any others that you can think of?

A. Off hand sir, no, there would be numerous others.

Q. Are you able to say whether the level of those hazards differ according to whether a mine is gassy or not gassy?

A. Sorry sir, I didn’t understand the question.

Q. Are you able to say whether the level of any of those hazards differs according to whether a mine is gassy or not gassy?

A. Yes it does.  If a mine is not gassy the hazard presented by spontaneous combustion is more manageable I think, for want of a better term, because the problem of an ignition source is effectively, of flammable gas, is removed.  The coal can go on fire but it’s not going to ignite any flammable gas.  One case in point is Terrace Mine in Reefton which is extremely prone to spontaneous combustion.  We had many incidents of spontaneous combustion in that mine and they were dealt with in a variety of ways, sealing off, washing out, but the hazard of ignition of methane was not present as a result of that heating.

Q. Are there any hazards that are present in gassy mines that you haven't mentioned so far?

A. Probably sir but my recollection is probably getting a little bit fatigued in the brain department at this point.

commission adjourns:
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Q. If we just turn now to the limitations of a inspectorate.  Do you agree that having regard to the complexity of modern mines, for example, Spring Creek that there are limits to which a mines inspector can identify all health and safety issues?

A. Inevitably sir yes.

Q. If we can take a few examples, perhaps first strata control.  Are you able to give an indication of the extent to which a mines inspector might be able to pick up on problems with the level and type of strata control?

A. Yes sir the contemporary method of ascertaining the integrity or the effectiveness of strata control is done through strata monitoring using convergence monitoring or tell-tales, I would expect an inspector to be able to review that convergence data and to be able to come to a reasonable conclusion about the stability of the area that he is making some judgement on.

Q. When you say, “The stability of the area”, you mean the stability of the area at the time at which he is inspecting it?

A. No sir the, the readings taken of the tell-tales to ascertain a strata stability are taken over a period of time, usually at weekly intervals.  I would expect an inspector to access that information and to be able to form a view on – in the context of the other information from tell-tales on whether or not that area is stable.

Q. Do you think that from that data alone an inspector is able to say whether or not the design of the strata control is sufficient to cope with all the range of conditions that might be presented with?

A. No sir that’s the domain of the geotechnical engineer.

Q. And for a person to assess that, they would presumably need to access the design of the strata control?

A. That’s my understanding sir yes.

Q. And also expert reports as to the strata control?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Are you able to say the extent to which a mines inspector might reasonably be able to say whether the methane drainage is sufficient?

A. I believe he should sir.  Methane drainage is particularly pre-drainage.  It is something that is not practised in New Zealand.  I have particular experience of post-drainage and can observe the effectiveness of post‑drainage, but the pre-drainage of a coal seam and the entire programme to do that and to manage that is something that I’m not particularly familiar with.  I certainly have observed it in Australia but it’s something I haven’t, I’ve neither managed or been involved with, pre-drainage of coal mines, of coal seams.
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Q. Well there are two stages of drainage we’re dealing with here aren’t we so if we just take the first of pre-drainage.  Would you agree that assessing whether or not the pre-drainage of methane as sufficient is a matter that would involve expertise likely outside that of a mines inspector?

A. Pre-drainage of coal seams sir is very much a specialist, regime of a specialist.  As an inspector of coal mines I wouldn’t presume to have that sort of knowledge.

Q. Do you know what sort of specialist knowledge would be required to assess that aspect?

A. My familiarity with it is somewhat scatty sir.  The only true exposure I’ve had to it was at Appin Mine in New South Wales and meeting with their drainage engineer, who was recognised as an expert in the field in Australia, widely known in Australia, hugely respected for it.  But in saying that that person had been involved in gas drainage for many years and built up the expertise through his own experience.

Q. Perhaps that answers it in part, which is that it may require a methane drainage engineer?

A. Totally agree sir.

Q. Turning to the second part then which is the adequacy of the methane drainage during the operation stage in a mine.  What are the aspects of that that a mines inspector could check?

A. I think we’re talking about post-drainage here sir?

Q. Yes we are.

A. Post-drainage is a mechanism that I am familiar with, having managed it, installed it.  The purpose of it is to ensure that the workplace is kept free of methane because once a goaf is formed, and a goaf is an area that has been extracted of coal and may have collapsed and may be wide open.  The gassy mine to the rise, such as the hydraulic operations we work at Spring Creek, it tends to fill with methane.  If that methane ingresses into the workplace it needs to be dealt with.  And to prevent that from happening we practice post-drainage.  In other words we drain methane from the back of the goaf, back of the formed goaf, to try and prevent it from ingressing into the area where men are working.  

Q. And do you think that the adequacy of that drainage can be assessed by a mines inspector?

A. Yes sir I do.

Q. How?

A. Through determining the atmosphere that the extraction operation is taking place and if there are high levels of methane in that area it’s have occurred for one of two reasons.  One, there’s been sudden barometric fall which the draining system hasn’t coped with.  The other one is the drainage system has become blocked and is not operating as it should.

Q. At the risk of labouring the point, do you think that a inspector without access to, for example, the reports as to the design of the methane drainage and the geology and the particular conditions that might occur can assure him or herself of the adequacy of a methane drainage system?
A. I’d find it difficult to answer that, sir, for all inspectors.
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Q. So that means some might have a degree of specialist knowledge which assists them to do so and others might not?

A. That’s what I'm meaning.

Q. To what extent, in your opinion, could a mines inspector assess the adequacy of a ventilation system?

A. I would expect any competent inspector of coal mines to have that ability.

Q. In Dr Elder’s evidence he referred to the risk of gas slugs in underground coal mines, are you familiar with those?

A. Yes, I am sir.

Q. Do you think that a mines inspector would be able to assess whether a ventilation was sufficient to deal with a gas slug?

A. Absolutely.

Q. How?

A. For observing whether or not there are systems in place to ensure that the gas concentration going into the return is kept below the statutory limit.

Q. Wouldn't assessing whether or not a ventilation system was sufficient to cope with gas slugs also involve accessing reports that might identify the total capacity for example of the ventilation system?

A. Yes, it would.

Q. And also for example the likelihood of gas slugs and their likely size?

A. The size of any gas spikes that may go out through a return is very, very difficult to quantify.  There are several agencies that cause them.  The method of mining that we use, total extraction using high pressure water, you’ve probably heard Dr Elder talk about that, I'm not sure if you did.

Q. Yes, we did.

A. What it does is create a void, very often bigger than this room, very often many times higher, up to 22 metres high.  When that fails you may get an ingress of methane into the returns.  When that occurs there needs to be a mechanism in place to ensure that the methane ingress into those returns is managed.
Q. And what is that mechanism?

A. It’s dilution or air dumping, dumping fresh air directly into the return to dilute whatever methane is going past that point.

Q. Do you think a mines inspector is able to assess the adequacy of the means of egress, including emergency egress?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. How would that usually be checked by a mines inspector under the 1979 Act?

A. Normally he would travel all roadways in the mine at some point.  It may not be at the same attendance at the mine but I’d expect and in practice him to travel both egresses in and out of the mine.  That is to say he would travel the intake, he would travel the return.

Q. And so in the case of a ventilation shaft does that mean that, which is also used as a means of egress, does that mean that he would physically climb up it?

A. No, not necessarily, sir.  The only operation other than Pike River that I'm aware that used a ventilation shaft was Huntly West Mine.  
Huntly West had two egresses in the forms of declines other than the shaft and I don't ever recall having climbed up that shaft.  In fact I know I haven't.
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Q. How can an inspector know whether an emergency egress, and we will take the specific example of a ventilation shaft which is being used as one, know whether that’s adequate without climbing up it?

A. I'm unsure how to answer that sir, he should be able to sit down and look at a mine plan and make a determination from that mine plan on what constitutes a reasonable second means of egress.  Whether or not he chooses to travel that second means of egress is up to him but personally it’s something I'd do.

Q. Just at a more general level would you agree that having regard to the size and complexity of modern mines and we used a specific example of Spring Creek, a coal mines inspectorate is only a part of the systems necessary to ensure health and safety?

A. Very much so sir, the Health & Safety In Employment Act is quite specific in that respect.

Q. By quite specific, what do you mean by that?

A. It means that the responsibility comes back to the owner of the operation or whatever business it may be and responsibility sits with the person in charge of the place of work.

Q. Was that also the case though under the Coal Mines Act 1979, that the operator of the mine had a main opportunity to ensure that it was healthy and safe?

A. The manager of a mine is the paramount official at that mine, that’s been reinforced many times in many forums.  Having a proactive inspectorate during that regime made no difference to the responsibility of the person in charge of that mine.  There's no suggestion that an inspector of coal mines could usurp that responsibility simply by his presence at the mine.

Q. Right, so under both regimes there was either the operator or the manager who had main responsibility for ensuring health and safety at the mine?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. In the case of Spring Creek, what do you see as the importance of the mines inspectorate and the inspections that they conduct?

A. I would be very hard pressed to comment or to answer that constructively sir.

Q. Having regard to the complexity of Spring Creek are you able to say what the range of skills is that you think would be necessary for an inspectorate to be able to assure itself of the health and safety of a mine and its men?

A. Yes sir, the range of skills for an inspector of coal mines for a mine the complexity of Spring Creek is that commensurate with a mine manager with a full range of skills expect for an operation of that size.

Q. If we look at the 1979 regime there was also for example a mechanical inspector who you'd referred to as having engineering qualification.  If we take that example do you think there would be a call for an inspectorate to have someone with that type of expertise as well?

A. I'm aware of several instances where such a person would have been of benefit.

Q. Are there any other ranges of skills that you think might be of benefit?

A. I'd make the same comment sir about the presence of an electrical inspector.

Q. I'll just turn to I think the final topic which is that of Mount Davy.  Am I right that you were an inspector at the time of the Mount Davy incident?

A. The incident referring to the outburst and fatality of –

Q. – the tragedy which led to the deaths?

A. Yes sir, that's correct.

Q. And did you have a role in relation to inspecting that?

A. Yes I did.

Q. And investigating it?

A. I conducted the investigation into those two fatalities sir, yes.
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Q. What was the result of that investigation?

A. In terms of prosecution?

Q. Yes.

A. There was no prosecution.

Q. Are you able to say why?

A. Yes it was based on the advice from D&T Germany which was a company that had expertise in outburst conditions in coal mines and based on advice from Geogas in Australia.  I saw a communication saying that the Mount Davy conditions and the outbursts, the type of outbursts they’re having was beyond their expertise and experience.  So based on that I felt that – and after discussion with the branch manager of OSH I felt that we had really no case in terms of prosecution.

Q. Mr Hughes just finally, at various points you’ve referred to having correspondence available and can you just confirm that you’re willing to supply that to the Commission upon request?

A. Yes sir.

cross-examination:  Mr Hampton 

Q. Mr Hughes, just to clarify in my own mind things – some of the things you’ve been talking about with Mr Wilding about plans and mine design.  Your paragraph 15 I think it flows from.  You talked earlier on about plans being of value and showing you the location in various things, boundaries and phones and fans and ventilation plans and so on.  Plans would also show you the means of the modern terminology outlet or means of egress, wouldn't they?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And under the old Act and Regs, as an inspector getting a set of plans, would that be one of your fundamental things you would look at, things of egress?

A. Yes sir it is.

Q. Under the old Act and Regs, if you found a plan that you thought – mine plan you thought was deficient in terms of egress, what would you do about it?

A. The concern about the efficiency of the egress will be raised with the mine owner or the mine manager.

Q. Through the chief inspector?

A. No not necessarily as a district inspector you would liaise directly with those people.  Any concern that was in writing would be copied to the chief inspector.

Q. And have I got it right that ultimately if it wasn’t remedied you’d have the ability and the inspectorate to put a stop to development until it was rectified?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. What happened under the old Act and Regs if you had in theory on the plans a design for egress that accorded with good mining practice and with the Act and Regs and then you found on one of your inspections that it was then built other than to the plans but the egresses were not as on plan.  What would you do?

A. Is this a theoretical case sir?

Q. It’s a theoretical case.

A. I would – as an inspector I would stop the operation and request that it be rectified back to the original plan.

Q. So in Mr Wilding’s hypothetical example of a drift as your main egress and a ventilation shaft as your secondary egress, if on the plan that secondary egress had a hoist, a mechanical means of raising men out of the mine within a 30 minute period and that got the tick of approval at plan stage, but then you come along later as an inspector and find the hoist isn’t there, it’s just a ventilation shaft, possibly with rungs, what would you do?

A. It would be my expectation that the construction of that egress would be as per the submitted plans sir.  I would expect to see that hoist there.

Q. And if it wasn’t?
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A. I would expect it to be rectified.  The operation may stop until it be rectified, particularly in terms of a second egress.

Q. And from what I understand from what you’ve just Mr Wilding in your experience you’ve never, in New Zealand at least and maybe wider, you’ve never come across a mine plan with one egress drift through the stone into the mine and the secondary egress being a vertical ventilation shaft?

A. That is largely outside my experience sir, yes.

Q. Largely?

A. I don’t recollect any such instance sir, sorry.

Q. Is your experience within New Zealand or does it reach overseas?

A. My overseas experience was as a mine manager sir, not as an inspector.

Q. But any mines you worked in overseas as a manager did they have that sort of egress as a secondary form of egress, a vertical ventilation shaft?

A. Yes they did but they weren’t intended as a secondary egress, they had at least two drifts.

Q. So never one with just one drift and a ventilation shaft as an emergency exit, a secondary exit?

A. No sir.

Q. Thank you.  What was the requirement for means of egress or outlet under the old Act and Regs.

A. Without going back to look at it sir I couldn’t say.  It is sometime since I’ve used that document for any reason.

Q. Was it similar to the present regulation 23 of the Underground Mining Regs, do you know?

A. I’d prefer not to at a guess at it.

Q. It’s a matter of record anyhow sir.  Just looking at your paragraph 15 on the document 347124/7.  As you understand the present regime who performs the role of the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines nowadays?

A. I’m not aware the role is performed by anybody sir.

Q. In paragraph 26 of your brief on the marked /11, under the heading, “Health and Safety,” comment there in the second sentence about the OSH view being the correct health and safety was primarily responsibility of the mine operators and operational guidance or advice should not be offered as it may not be the view of the Department of Labour and could therefore legally compromise the department.  And you’ve spoken a little about that.  I would see it as being a sort of a liability reversal or risk reverse approach within the department itself.

A. That’s my impression, yes.
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Q. Well that was back – when did you leave?  Start of two –

A. Early January 2001.

Q. 2001, right.  Can I take you to a series of documents?  I don't want to spend too long.  It’s the reference number DOL0020020011, can we – DOL002 – I’ll do it in secret service jargon, 0020020011, some mine steering, mining steering group minutes.  Can I get up page 2 of that series and 3 alongside it if we may.  It may be too difficult, it may be too small but we’ll start with page 2, see at the bottom of that page – sorry, this is the mining steering group minutes, 13th September 2010, see up the top, Mr Hughes?

A. Yes, I've got it there now.

Q. And some names mentioned up the attendees Mr Booyse, Mr Firmin who we hear from later on, one of the inspectors, Mr White, Mr Poynter and the Commission has a brief from him as an inspector now gone, Mr Steel and Mr McGregor.  Do you see those names?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Go down to the bottom, “Storage of mine plans.  The reason for receiving mine plans was discussed, Richard explained that the matter was referred to Legal and subsequently to the Crown.  The explanation received from Legal was not clear and an expectation might exist for the department to ‘approve plans’ it was resolved that the department must with under the acknowledgement of receiving the plans, include a disclaimer that plans are not approved by the department and therefore by receiving mine plans do not replace any legal obligations on employers (or employees) for example to comply with statutory duties under relevant legislation.”  Have you any comment to make in relation to that in view of what I've just discussed with you as to perhaps liability adverse or risk adverse approach by the department?  Does that accord with your experience in 2001?

A. It’s not, sir.  However, if we could just go back to the previous sentence if we could about those mines plan?  I think it’s “Storage of mine plans.”

Q. Yes.

A. I can shed some light on that.  The mine plans are sent, there is regulation under the Health and Safety in Employment (Mining - Underground) Regulations 1999 requiring the offer of those mine plans to an inspector and I'm not exactly sure what the word is, whether it’s inspector or secretary, I'm not sure, I think it’s inspector.  I think that is regulation 11 or 15, which one I'm not sure.

Q. Eleven.

A. The purpose of those mine plans to my understanding during the period that I spent with occupational safety and health was to appraise the inspector of coal mines on both what had been done at the mine and what was intended to be done at the mine.  My understanding of it rightly or wrongly was it provided the inspector with the opportunity to raise comment on those plans on the appropriateness of those plans –

Q. Doesn't –

A. – which –

Q. – sorry.

A. – I can provide correspondence for the Commission if necessary.
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Q. Does it surprise you that this work that included the two inspectors at the time were in 2010 discussing amongst themselves why they had these plans?

A. Yes sir it does, I would've expected them to understand why those plans were offered.

Q. Just a little further down on that page 3, a series of bullet points, just run down them yourself starting with what is required for the shorter bullet points, just read them to yourself,  “What is required for small mines to be compliant, how will we secure the compliance, how do we collect monitor mine fans, how often we will be visiting mines, what does the operation policy mean for the deployment of our resources, how we make the compliance requirements and operational policy known to miners, how do we manage the implications in the operational policy.”  Are you surprised to see those sort of discussions going on in this group including the inspectors in September 2010?

A. I view it with – I shouldn't say amazement, it’s not amazement, I suppose that’s the best word I can come up with.

Q. Well, I don’t want to steal your thunder but in talking to me as I bumped into you at lunch time and I said something about it you used the expression “palpable naivety.”  What did that relate to?

A. I think the palpable naivety, I wish I hadn't said that to you now.

Q. No you shouldn't say anything to me when (inaudible 16:21:41) or wherever it might be.

A. I must admit you did explain that, I think those bullet points are an example of that palpable naivety because it should be perfectly apparent to inspectors of coal mines what the requirements are.

Q. Can I flick on to page 9 which is a part of the same group meeting, 31st March 2010, this time present Ms Radford, Mr Booyse, 
Mr Firmin, I'm reading from page 8, we could put it up if need be sir, Mr White, Ms McBreen-Kerr, Mr Pointon, Mr Steel, Ms Campbell, Mr McGregor, but of particular interest the fifth point down on that page 9, “Inspectors said they sometimes check plans if they were looking for something specific, Johan (who is Mr Booyse) pointed out that plans can be of great assistance when investigating a mine accident.”  Is that more of the naivety?  One would have thought inspectors would know that, wouldn’t they?

A. When I read it I thought, “Oh my God”.  Inspectors said they sometimes check plans if they’re looking for something specific, the checking of mine plans should be comprehensive.  The observation they’re great assistance when investigating a mine accident is a observation I couldn't be accused of putting in writing.

Q. I'll just go back to page 5 of that series please, which is still part of the meeting of the 13 September 2010.  Under the heading, “Regulations,” first bullet point, “Current means and interpretations of a mine inquiry are not clear.”  Second, “Johan to approach legal to get clear understanding of the means and interpretations of mine inquiries.”  Three, “It is also required to determine who the ‘Chief Inspector of Mines’ is as some regulations refer to Chief Inspector of Mines in the case where buildings are to be erected on a mine site.”  Comment on those bullet points?

A. Yes sir, there's probably a matter of interpretation there that needs to be clarified.  The position of Chief Inspector of Mines and the position of Chief Inspector of Coal Mines are two separate and distinct roles.  That’s – under the pre-Health and Safety in Employment Act regime, they operated under different Acts, one was the Coal Mines Act the other one was the Mines Act. And they had their chief inspectors accordingly.  I’m a little unclear who is being referred to there because sometimes the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines also has that appellation dropped and it gets a little bit confusing.  I’m usually at pains to point it out.  Turning to the current means interpretations of a mine inquiry, my understanding is under the definitions of the Health and Safety (Mining - Underground) Regulations 1999, defines what a mine is.  Now, you may wish to correct me but I believe it is there.
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Q. Defined as a coal mine, defined as a gassy mine, that’s in the –

A. Yes sir I think that’s the mines –

Q. – and then we’ve got – that’s within the, say the interpretation section, regulation, then you go to meanings of tunnels and so on and explanations of those within the Regulations itself?

A. Yes.  Now turning to the issue of quarries and also supposedly the issue of any surface mining operation I am not familiar with any regulation around it.  I’m just not familiar with it.

Q. Well just one last extract if I could get up the same summaries page 16, and this is from an earlier meeting of the same group 10th of December 2009, present Ms Radford, Mr White, Mr Steele, Mr Booyse, Mr McGregor, Mr Mayor, Ms Campbell, Mr Poynter, Mr Firmin and under the top paragraph heading, “Continuous professional development”, I just want you to read those three paragraphs, just through to yourself initially and give me any comments you would like about what is contained there in view of our earlier discussions?

A. Sir, concerning the retention of certificates of competence, those that were issued prior to the abolition of the Coal Mines Act are certificates issued for life.  The requirement for the retention of those certificates is that the holders, and I’m talking only about coal mines here, have an endorsement for gas testing.  They must maintain that competency.  Since the abolition of the Coal Mines Act or the repealing of the Coal Mines Act, certificates of competence which are now issued by EXITO, have a given a period of time for which they develop.  That came out of the Moura inquiry 1994, where there was a recommendation that certificates of competence not be issued for life and there should be some indication given to the regulatory body that the person or the holder of that certificate has the competence and training to be able to retain that ticket.  I’m not certain regarding the range of inspectors currently in OSH and I only talk about the inspectors of coal mines, the whole of them, I don’t know what certificates they hold sir, whether they’re issued under the new administration, which issues certificates for a given period, I think that’s three years, or they hold certificates under 1979 Act.
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Q. Can I take you to the next two sentences though.  “Clarity necessary re what is required of a mines inspector, be competent and have credibility in the industry.  This has to be balanced against the risk of us doing the job for industry?”  Is it surprising that in 2009 we’re still discussing amongst ourselves, this is the inspectorate, what is required of a mines inspector to be competent and have credibility?  This system’s been in force, in effect there for some time.

the COMMISSION:  

Mr Hampton, I’m just wondering how profitable this line of questioning is.  We’re asking a witness who left the Department of Labour in 2001 to comment upon minutes which were prepared some nine years later and of which he must have no prior knowledge.  Is it really going to advance matters.  There are going to be witnesses who were members of this group and who can be asked as to what was being discussed.  Seems to be speculative to have his opinions about what these minutes may convey.

MR HAMPTON:

Thank you sir.
cross-examination continues:  mr hampton

Q. We talked about your paragraph 19, page 9 in the system, it was the bottom of that paragraph, six lines up from the bottom, “Proactive inspections of coal mines were actively discouraged.  First, what do you mean by, “Proactive inspections”?

A. The, I talk in my brief about inspectors being self-starters.  So they would have the ability to attend a mine that they perceived where there was a problem or even routinely without any letter or hindrance.  And I can only speak about my experience in the department, the short time that I was there, about the discussion of how often an inspector should attend the mines.  And that, there was the feeling that we attended them too often and could therefore get drawn into the management of the mine, for example.  At the –

Q. Sorry, pause there.  Feeling from whom that you were attending them too often?

A. From the branch manager of the mining, of the occupational safety and health.

Q. Thank you.  And you were going to, I interrupted, you were going to go on?

A. No, that’s all I had to say sir.

Q. Well the second part of that line, “Actively discouraged,” is that what you’re referring to there?

A. Yes, and I can only speak from my personal experience.

Q. You told Mr Wilding about what you would inspect for, what the mechanical inspector would look at, what the electrical inspector would look at, which of the three would be the one to look at the - and I’m not sure of the proper technical term, excuse my naivety, the flame or gas proofing of electrical equipment underground?

A. Flame proofing of equipment sir.

Q. Say you’ve got a fan underground, making sure that that electrical equipment was divorced from potentially explosive gas?

A. Sir, I think you’ve almost answered it yourself sir, the electrical inspector.

Q. The electrical inspector.  With the demise of the electrical inspector who would look at that nowadays, do you know?

A. I believe there are still, and I’m, I’ve had no dealings with this particular person, but I believe there still is an electrical inspection regime maintained by OSH.  Now what, how they do it I’m not sure whether it’s an employer or a contractor or how it’s done but I have observed such a person on site at Spring Creek Mine.
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Q. Can I take it from comments you made to Mr Wilding that you would still see the sort of regime that existed for the coal mines inspector and under the old Act and regulations as still being the ideal?

A. In my opinion, sir, yes but I say that as being a bit of a traditionalist and somebody who operated under that regime and somebody who was trained under that regime with a very good mentor I might add and I saw firsthand how effective it could be.

Q. With your experience can you volunteer an opinion about the sufficiency of inspectorate by a government department inspectors, the mines inspectorate three monthly on notice?

A. My first reaction, sir, is I prefer not to comment, but on reflection I think the inspectors should have that right to inspect those operations as they see fit because coalmining is a very dynamic process.  It changes from day to day and the problems can change from day to day.  In my experience as an inspector I could be called upon at any time to investigate a problem, become involved in a solution for a problem, be asked for advice about a problem.  By scheduling the inspections quarterly it takes away that flexibility to be able to provide that sort of service that was seen as being so important under the Coal Mines Act.

Q. I put it to you a quote that, and ask for your comment on, it comes from a report put in by the department and it’s got a number DOL –

objection:  ms mcdonald (16:37:38)

MS MCDONALD:
Just before my friend does that, I don't know particularly obviously what he’s about to ask but just listening to Mr Hampton’s questions I have got some concern, sir, I had understood that this was a phase where we were dealing with context and information for the Commission.  Mr Hampton’s questions particularly have moved from that into evaluation which is specifically for another phase.  The department have put in the tier, or departments have put in the tier two papers both from Labour and from MED.  We’re moving well beyond context and there are a number of departmental witnesses who could have been called to address a number of these matters, particularly the steering committee issues and others and we’re really, sir, I think transgressing into matters which we had understood were not being dealt with at this phase.

the COMMISSION:  

Well I don't think that’s correct, Ms McDonald.  If you look at the list of issues, 1.9 to 1.12 specifically cover, and this is in phase one, specifically cover the regulatory agencies, their resourcing, their organisational structure and their operational methods.  That wasn’t originally the case but the issues list was amended following the preliminary hearing and this phase does extend to those aspects.

MS MCDONALD:
I certainly have understood that, sir, and that’s why I've got no issue at all with the information coming out but these questions particularly are asking for this witness to comment and evaluate and those are the very points that I thought were being dealt with at a different phase but…
1640

the Commission:  

I’m aware but of the view that it is permissible for the reasons really that I’ve – ore really for the reasons that are spelt out in the issues.  Mr Hughes is a former chief inspector and somebody who is still actively involved in the industry and he’s entitled, if asked and if drawn to do so, to express opinions.

cross-examination continues:  Mr Hampton 

Q. That document DOL0100010001 it’s the Gunningham and Neal paper and I want page 46, footnote 49, I just wanted to put an extract – can we highlight the footnote 49 please.  What I was going to put to you Mr Hughes was the proposition put on the New South Wales mines inspectorate site, “The assessment regime should include a sufficient pattern of announced, unannounced and backshift inspections to detect non-compliance with acceptable standards at any site and on shifts other than dayshifts.  An expectation should be created that a mine maybe visited at any time.”  Would you agree with that philosophy Mr Hughes?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Theoretically, if – when you were an inspector there’d been a fire with a vehicle underground and you were notified, how quickly would you have attended such an incident?

A. As soon as I possibly could sir.

Q. And that goes back to the time limits – or the time periods you talked about earlier with Mr Wilding?

A. Yes.

Q. A delay of say three or four days before you attended such an incident, even up to five days, would that be acceptable?

A. Not in my opinion sir no.

Q. A cable flash incident, would you attend such an incident?

A. Yes I would sir.

Q. How soon?

A. Again as soon as possible.

Q. Would you regard in a mine, a gassy mine, a cable flash incident as being one of the highest possible hazards?

A. A cable flash, electrical flash is a source of ignition sir; it is one of the highest possible incidents that can occur.

Q. Third hypothetical, a frictional ignition at the development face, notified of that, would you attend?

A. Yes sir, of course.
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Q. Were check inspectors or the New Zealand equivalent of check inspectors still in existence in your time when you were (a) an inspector and (b) chief mines inspector?

A. I believe there were still check inspectors and the legislation provided for them during my first period as an inspector between 1987 and mid 1989.  In my second period I believe the – with the repealing of the Coal Mines Act and regulations that the position of check inspectors, that statutory position of check inspectors had been disestablished and was not put back in any legislation that I know of and I think it was preferred not to have it at the operating mines that I'm aware of.

Q. So up until that was repealed your experience of check inspectors would have been (a) as a miner in the wider sense, given your underground experience and then as an inspector yourself.  Did you form a view as to the utility of, the usefulness of the check inspectors?

A. Yes sir I have.  I'm aware that check inspectors were recommended by the Brunner inquiry, workmen’s inspectors.  In more contemporary times and the way that the administration of health and safety has occurred I believe, and I can really only speak for Solid Energy operations, Huntly East Mine, Spring Creek and other operations we’ve had in the past, is that the awareness is considerably increased.  Check inspectors had a slightly different role rather than individual responsibility of health and safety, they had a role that goes a bit wider than that to a mine-wide role, if you like.  Whether there is a place for check inspectors or not at the moment, for reasons that I intimated to you outside of this Commission I'd prefer not to comment.

Q. Do you have a personal view that’s at variance with your employer’s view?

A. I'd be real careful to answer this, yes, that’s the case.

Q. I don’t want to embarrass you but I take it that you are in favour of the bringing back in some form of check inspectors?

A. It is my view that the use of check inspectors, as intended by the Brunner inquiry, may have some benefit.  I tendered that view by saying that at the time of the Brunner inquiry inspectors of coal mines as such were very thin on the ground, there weren't very many of them.  Check inspectors were viewed at that time as a regulatory mechanism in the absence of an inspector of coal mines.

Q. Do you believe in the necessity for a mine’s safety generally of the three legged stool approach, one leg being the government to regulations and inspectorate, the other leg being mine owner and management, the employer the third leg, the employee and their responsibilities?

A. Absolutely.

Q. One leg is missing the stool collapses?

A. One leg is missing there is a problem somewhere, yes.

Q. In that period you spoke of when there were still check inspectors and you were a mines inspector would the check inspector accompany you on your inspections?

A. I don’t specifically recall them having done so sir.
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Q. Do I take it that in your inspections you would consider it vital that you spoke to the mines, the men at the coalface, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Secondly, on your inspections you would want to speak to, if there were such things in those days, the equivalent of the health and safety representative?

A. Not necessarily sir.  In later years there was such a person and as an inspector I did have some dealings with.  Not necessarily on a mine site, more at perhaps corporate level.  But I’d just like to add there that it wasn’t until after corporatisation that I’m aware such a role existed.

Q. So it’s really after, it’s a bit after your time?

A. Yes, I’d just like to take it a little bit further.  The role did exist because I’m aware that in 1970 Bill Brazil, who most people in the mining industry will be familiar with the name Bill Brazil, was appointed as the Director of Safety for New Zealand State Coal Mines around a concern in the rise of injuries in coal mines at the time.  Whether or not he had dealings with inspectors I have no idea.  At that time I was a coalminer.

cross-examination:  mr davidson

Q. Mr Hughes, your career has marched as it were hand in hand, step by step with Harry Bell’s I think, and different points in the compass?

A. There are probably some parallels in our careers, both having started down the sharp end and worked our way up.

Q. You referred to your mentor, a mentor, to you, who was that?

A. Bill Brazil.

Q. And you worked closely with Bill Brazil?

A. When I first returned from Australia in 1987 I was appointed as Inspector of Coal Mines in the Buller and Inangahua area because of a large number of operations that were there at the time and Bill was the other inspector and it was through Bill that I learnt the trade as it were.  Learnt how to deal with license applications, how to deal with what you did with official letters from coal mines, the importance of being very thorough in your inspections, the importance of being very concise in what you wrote down.  

Q. I’m just going to jump forward a bit given that this part of my
cross-examination will only last a few minutes tonight.  But when the legislation changed, which you’ve talked about in detail now, the representations made about the fact of that change and what it would mean for safety in the industry weren’t there?

A. Yes sir, there were.

Q. And although I can come to much of the detail I’ll put the question to you broadly tonight.  A number of people from the inspectorate actually made submissions and representations against the change that was proposed?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. Was Mr Brazil one of those?

A. Mr Brazil had no input into the transference of MIG to OSH.  Mr Brazil died in November 1995.  He was very vociferous about the lack of regulation, which included the specifics around the inspection of coal mines.  He was very vociferous about the appointment of inspectors.  
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Q. Mr Bell when he gives evidence will refer tomorrow to the fact that he was one of those who made strong representations against the legislative change.  Were you aware of his representations?

A. I have a copy of that representation sir yes.

Q. And you made some yourself?

A. Yes I did.

Q. Were they reflected in any way in the outcome, legislative outcome?

A. I don’t believe so, no.

Q. And isn’t it correct that in addition to the representation such as yours and Mr Bell’s that there were in fact representations from within the mining industry itself, concerned about the lack of regulation?

A. I’m aware that there was sir although I don’t have copies of those.

Q. What did you perceive as the driving force for the change in the system and in particular the abolition of the inspectorate as you knew it and worked in it?

A. I think I referred to it earlier; it had its foundations in the proclamation of, promulgation of the Health and Safety in Employment Act concerning workplace safety. Added to that was the Health and Safety Regulations that came along I think in 1995, with OSH taking over the regulatory regime for workplace safety, it seemed clear to government official that’s where the mining people should sit.  So, that’s what happened.

Q. I just want to step back into that time before the changes came and while there was an inspectorate which you ended up in as chief inspector, is it correct that in looking at the qualifications for inspectorate – an inspector, one looked for or you looked for someone with gas mine experience or gassy mine experience in the case of a coal mine?

A. Inevitably sir yes.

Q. And that would mean that qualifications such as some mines are less gassy and I think Dennison maybe an example of that?

A. Dennison was non-gassy.

Q. So it was really requiring experience or experience was looked for in a gassy mine in management before an inspector position would be obtained?

A. Not necessarily sir but it was preferred.

Q. That’s what Mr Bell will say, that it was something looked for in the appointment of an inspector and generally the chief inspector would come from, I think with one exception, from an inspector’s position.  Am I right?

A. Yes I’m aware of the exception you’re talking about sir, yes that's right.

Q. I think that was Bob Offord, was it?

A. Yes.

Q. Otherwise it was a distinct hierarchical climb to the top out of management to the inspectorate to the chief inspector’s position?

A. That’s exactly right.

Q. And one of the advantages you refer to in your evidence and I don’t think I need to refer to the page, but some requires a rule, you talked about the distinct advantage of a dedicated co-inspectorate allowing a high standard of service delivery through inspectorate forums, and you mention in particular this Australasian Chief Inspector’s Conference.  You ever been to those?

A. Yes I attended two I think.  I think I’ve attended two, yes.

Q. As did Mr Bell.  Your observation of the value of those?

A. It was somewhat limited because the forum also included mining inspectors, ie hard rock; probably the value of them was in social interaction with coal inspectors from New South Wales and Queensland and dealing with issues of the day.  That’s where the value was and dealing with your peers at a different level.

Q. Are you aware of any equivalent meeting of minds at education under the existing system through the inspectorate?

A. No sir I’m not.

Q. Now I just want to return briefly to a matter that’s been touched on.  I need a specific question to put to you about it.  Mr Bell will say in evidence that either in approving or considering mine plans or on inspection , if there were matters that were of significant health and safety concern the response that he would take as a chief inspector would require desisting from something unsafe or in terms of approvals, a refusal to approve a particular plan.  That was the practice that he adopted.  Is that something familiar with, you're familiar with?
A. Those are the mechanisms that were available.
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Q. And used?

A. Yes.

Q. And with regard to the plans, a matter Mr Hampton raised with you, was whether there was any concern held by you as a chief inspector or any other chief inspector with whom you're familiar that there was any form of danger in giving advice about amendments to plans to make them safe places of work.  Was there any such concern?

A. I'm not aware of any concern at any stage during my time as an inspector under the Coal Mines Act.

Q. Am I right that the question of liability simply would not cross your mind as you saw safe practice?

A. Not at all, sir.

Q. Now apart from the mine plans and I think the annual mine plans, they differentiated large and small mines at 12,000 tonnes per year.  Is that right?

A. That sounds familiar.  I was fishing around trying to find the figure earlier on, sir, but that does sound familiar.

Q. Yes, in addition to the plans filed six monthly or annually under that differential, there was another set of documents which historically go back decades I think called mine statements.  Are you familiar with those?

A. Very familiar with them, yep.

Q. It hasn’t had much mention yet in this hearing but as Mr Bell describes it, mine statements were filed annually actually recording the state of the mine on an annual basis?

A. That's correct.

Q. So it postdates the approval obviously for a plan.  It is what is there and his evidence will be that such mine statements were an invaluable tool for ongoing operations to trace the historical record of the mine including old workings, faults other problems that were found to exist sometimes decades before?

A. I endorse that comment entirely, sir.

Q. And he will say that that disappeared under a directive and he has difficulty with the year in which it occurred but some time in the seventies there was a direction or a decision taken that mining statements, mine statements would no longer be required?

A. I may stand corrected, sir, I think it was 1972.
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Q. Do you know the reason for that?

A. No, I was a miner in those days.  Mine was not to reason why.

Q. Well now reasoning why today, and tomorrow when Mr Bell gives evidence, his example that he will give, and I need to put it to you, is that, for example, to know at a mine like the Tiller Mine of Black Reef that there are neighbouring workings which may be flooded, or could be flooded, or could potentially be flooded, is the very kind of thing that emerged from reference to mining statements?

A. That's correct sir.  I made use of mining statements myself in dealing with license applications on many occasions.

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
5.04 pm
COMMISSION RESUMES ON THURSDAY 14 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

WITNESS ROBIN HUGHES ON FORMER OATH
cross-examination continues:  mr davidson

Q. Mr Hughes, I want to pick up several topics with you to close off this morning and one is the question of competence of workers, it’s a topic which you deal with at paragraph 12 of your brief of evidence, and you refer there to the judgement as to whether mine workers are competent to carry out their duties being the responsibility of mine management.  You add the comment that the inspectorate was invariably involved when a mine worker presented himself as a candidate for a statutory certificate, so anyone wanting a gas certificate, for example a competency certificate, would in one way or another come through to the attention of the inspectorate?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. Now am I right in thinking that in former days, and not that many years ago, there were not so many independent contractors or contractors working in the mines as there are now?

A. That’s a fair statement.  Going back not too many years ago there were virtually no contractors in mines.

Q. My understanding is that going back some years, perhaps 15, 20 years even that recently that much of the work now done by contractors would be done by what were called shift men?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. And they were the miners who had reached the end of their hard physical work in the mines?

A. Not entirely, some of the contract work that’s being carried out now is physical mining of tunnel and stone driving, things like that, it’s changed in its substance I guess over the years but generally yes, the back-buy work sir work sir shipment would have traditionally, or the people known the shipment, would have traditionally been those who carried out that work.
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Q. So with the advent of contractors into the mines the same question arose as to testing confidence and knowledge for working in the mine and that must have brought an influx of people who did not have the historical background of mine working?

A. That was my observation sir, yes.

Q. So what was the response, whether of the inspector or otherwise to this group of people who came to more modern mining methods as contractors, the training?

A. I’m not aware of any response from the inspectorate sir.

Q. As to the training of those people to work underground?

A. I can only speak from the experience that we subject those people to in Solid Energy.  The people who come to us, contractors who come to us to work underground go through exactly the same induction as any other mine worker that we may employee as an employer of Solid Energy.  So the training is exactly the same.  It’s an induction that takes around about two weeks.

Q. Well I want you to come to a document that was filed only last week, it’s this review of the Department of Labour’s interactions with Pike River Coal Limited.  You have seen this before, I think?

A. I have seen it sir, yes.  I haven’t gone through it or read it or not too familiar with the contents on it at all.

Q. And I think the reference, the confirmation is 0100010001.  And I would like to have brought up please paragraph 456, which is at page 124 of that document.  I’ll just set the question in this.  Before I ask the question I want to set this report in context so that it’s fair to everyone involved in this?

A. Yes, I understand that.

Q. This report is called, “A Review of the Department of Labour’s Interactions with Pike River Coal Limited.”  And this was presented to the families in advance of it going onto the website as a courtesy by the Department of Labour last week, so the chance to read it before it came onto the website.  And it’s important to recognise that the report made by two Australian experts is drawn only from a group of people who cooperated with them.  And expressed there are a number of people who did not, for various reasons - 
A. Yep.
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Q. – provide information and that’s really important because Pike River did not, and it’s not a criticism that they did not at all by me, all right.  Now this paragraph 456, if you just read it please and we all can do that but in the fifth line, fourth line there’s a section which reads, “However according to former mine manager, Nigel Slonker, such training for underground induction did not extent to contractors and this was an area where the company has for you failed miserably at least at the time he commence with Pike River Coal,” and I want to ask you, you don't know about Pike River so my question does not relate to that specific comment but in your – it sounds from your last answer that contractors within your knowledge at the mine with which you are involved receive exactly the same training as the mine workers?

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. Do you have any concerns about the knowledge of contractors as to safe practices as opposed to those of the miners themselves?

A. I do have some misgivings at times, sir, yes.

Q. Is that systemic or based on specific?

A. It’s based on specific incidents.

Q. Can this Commission draw anything from that as to how those things may be avoided?

A. I would prefer not to proceed with it, sir, because one of incidents is still under investigation at the mine site.

Q. Now the second leg of the competence question is, refers to the evidence to be given by Mr Bell about the old Schools of Mines and am I right in thinking that you believe that in place of the old Schools of Mines there is in place now training modules and programmes which overall attempt to replicate the work of the old Schools of Mines?

A. Yes, sir, but I would like to add the comment that it took many years for anything even resembling the Schools of Mines to be put in place.  It was a long, long time before there was anything available to that level.

Q. I think the last School of Mine was the Reefton School.  Is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And was that, the last director was Jim Billitho?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. So what happened in the lag between the closing of the Schools of Mines and, as you referred to, before something was put in place, filled in as it were?

A. For lesser certificates it fell upon those of us who held senior positions in the mines around the country.  Mine managers and inspectors to conduct ad hoc mining classes.  I can remember conducting them myself as far back as 1980.  I certainly participated in some of the ones conducted by Harry Bell and there are others that I recall such as Rex Brown, Bill Brazil, Tom Brazil conducting those sorts of things.  They’re ad hoc.  During that period and I think it was somewhat later, the Technical Correspondence Institute set up some very good mining courses and that came a little bit later and that continued until the event of the Extractive Industries Training Organisation.

Q. Mr Bell’s evidence is that the dedicated mining school set the standards and all exams were set and accessed through the Coal Mines Board of Examiners?

A. That is correct.

Q. So what’s the replication of that today or the equivalent?

A. It’s – doesn’t have an equivalent because there is no Board of Examiners.  The Extractive Industries Training Organisation they facilitate the training and they issue the certificates.  Its unit standard based rather than being examination based, so that once a person completes the list or schedule of unit standards for a statutory certificate he’s issued that certificate for that examination.

Q. Yours is the more recent knowledge to that of Mr Bell, so I want to read you a paragraph in his evidence, paragraph 81(B).  “The change to written and take away open-book exams very much concerns me.  My experience of this educational process is that much of the information provided by some students comes from the Internet.  I am extremely concerned that some students do not understand what they produce and there is no method for checking of that understanding.  Previously we had written and oral exams.  During the oral exam we would find out whether the student fully understood what they had written.”

A. That’s a fair comment sir.  I, I share that concern as well because quite often under unit standard process a person’s given a, an assignment if you like to go away and complete that to the best of his ability.  Now that assignment can certainly be done with the assistance of Internet or with open-book or however they want to produce it.  Under the Board of Examiners a person was subjected to a three or four hour examination without the benefit of recourse to reference material and they were marked on whatever the outcome of that exam was and pending that outcome they were subjected to an oral examination which may last up to two hours.  Personally, and like Harry, I was very much in favour of that system because it – what it did was put the candidate under duress or under some pressure or under some stress and would, in some degree, replicate what he’s going to be subjected to in his professional working life.  

Q. Do you have knowledge of other jurisdictions as to whether any element of the oral examination still takes place?

A. No sir I don’t.

Q. It’s Mr Bell’s evidence that in fact failures were common including for quite senior positions?

A. Yes there were.

Q. Including manager’s positions?

A. Yes there were.

Q. And that failure was frequently associated, more associated with the oral examination?

A. There were very few candidates for first class mine manager’s certificates that ever got through without failing.  In fact I can’t recall any that ever did it.

Q. They had a dry run?

A. They failed one part of it at some stage.

Q. And you clearly regard the rigor of that testing examination process as valuable?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Was that a matter in which you made comment as the system changed?  We know you made submissions which I’ll come to in a moment.  Was that a matter in which you made express submission?

A. I’m sorry sir I’m not sure in what context you’re referring to there.

Q. Well when the oral examination fell out of the qualification process.  Was that a matter on which anything was said, was there any protest, any comment made at the time?

A. There was.  There was a feeling from, I think, within the inspect – both from Harry and myself, I remember quite clearly there was a feeling that the loss of examiners there may be a loss somewhere in the examination process and the ability to get suitable candidates through that process, whereas with by using unit standards people could be examined again and again until they fell out the other end with the appropriate certificate.
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Q. Now, I want to move to the topic you've discussed at the beginning of your paragraph 18.  You've referred there to the introduction of the Resource Management Act 1991, transferring the responsibility for work programme approvals from the inspectors of coal mines to the regional councils.  Firstly, do I understand what you are meaning there by work programme approvals?

A. Work programme approvals are a multifaceted document.  They deal with resource consents to a degree, the disturbance of land, certainly the plans of intended development of a coal mine, without referring to the document sir I can't go on under that head but I do recall, I might be anticipating your question, I'll just stop there and let you –

Q. I'll carry on, well you pick up the point again in your paragraph 39 where you say – you introduced the paragraph this way, “In my opinion this is manifested as follows; the creation of a statutory mechanism whereby work programme approvals are made by officials who lack a basic knowledge of coal mine design.”  And you used then the work programme approval by regional authorities.  Your comment is that when you checked with the West Coast Regional Council a few days ago that council’s process is on compliance with resource consents rather than sound mining practice, right?

A. That's correct and that’s basically what I would expect from them sir.

Q. Well, it’s fair to say that they simply don’t retain specialist mining knowledge within their ranks, do they?

A. No they don’t.  I specifically asked that question, whether they had somebody there to do that.

Q. Have you ever come across a council ever responding, in a safety sense, to a work programme approval application?

A. No sir, they wouldn’t presume to do so.

Q. Then where have you ever come across a response from any authority to a work programme or a mine plan from any of the authorities to whom those are sent?

A. Sir, I went to the mine this morning to obtain a file under that very heading, under the work programme submittal and approval and I didn’t see any response going back for 11 years, the last response I saw was over my own signature.

Q. We’re talking about Spring Creek as such?

A. Spring Creek and really back to the Strongman 2 days as well.

Q. It’s a broad range of questions and I'm trying to make sure I capture the point, I'm trying to discern whether there has ever, to your knowledge since the abandonment of the old inspectorate, been a response from any official body to a mine plan or a work programme commenting on safety?

A. Yes there has sir, because during my period as an inspector post the demise of the Coal Mines Act 1979 I provided those responses.

Q. And that was in the transitional period after you – is that in the transitional period?

A. In both the transitional period and post transitional period.

Q. And were you carrying on then doing what you did as a chief inspector?

A. Yes I was sir.

Q. But since that time and I think when you refer to the resignation of the chief inspector in your evidence you're talking about yourself, aren't you?

A. I am, yes.

Q. Since that time and you moved to a new position in the industry, to my question has there ever been a response as a matter of safety?

A. Not to my knowledge sir, not in the information that I had.
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Q. And one part of Mr Bell’s evidence refers to the this very thing where he says there are circumstances in which he would not have approved mine plans and did not approve mine plans.  And that was the old inspectorate system wasn’t it?

A. The old inspectorate system sir was varied in some ways.  It depended really on what the conditions of the license required you to do.  Generally with mine plans we would endorse them and approve, sorry not approve them, but we’d endorse them for forwarding on to the secretary for approval and the secretary would be unlikely to approve them without that endorsement.

Q. Now I want to come down to that section of your evidence which deals with the transition period.  And in paragraph 19 you refer to the 1998, when all inspectors who held warrants under the 1992 Act were transferred to OSH in the Department of Labour.  And you refer to the Minister of Commerce at that time, it’s stating that, ‘Safety in the coalmining industry would not be compromised by the move.”  As I understand it, from your evidence yesterday, you expressed your opposition to that?

A. Yes I did sir.

Q. And you were in the company of Bill Brazil and – well Bill Brazil and Harry Bell also expressed their opposition?

A. Harry certainly did.  It was some years after Bill had died.  Bill’s activity around the position I guess of the mines inspectorate preceded that.  That was up till 1995.

Q. Now I say you were kind enough to provide me with a copy of Mr Bell’s letter, which I didn’t have this morning.  We can come to it during his evidence but that is the letter written at the time to which you refer –

A. That's correct.

Q. – in this transitional period?

A. Yes.

Q. And I take it that, putting it simply, that statements of assurance like that from the Minister that safety would not be compromised by the move was one with which you disagreed?

A. I felt it was meaningless.

Q. Meaningless.  And that is what you mean I take it in your paragraph 24 when you refer to the considerable opposition indeed for the proposed merger from the personnel directly affected by the decision and by the extract of industries at large, not just coal?

A. That's correct sir.  The comment there is really relative to the operators of mines, quarries, tunnels, coalmines, which is the extractive industries at large.  They didn’t know where they’re heading in terms of inspection.  They were used to having inspectors appointed under the Acts and Regulations that regulated their industries.  The fact that they’d lost those Acts and Regulations with the repealing, or the introduction of the Health and Safety in Employment Act left some trepidation in the industry.

Q. I think in your evidence, and I don’t have my finger on it, but you refer to some confusion in the industry after the repeal of the 1979 Act and through to the 1988 end of transitional period.

A. That's correct sir.  It was a case of, “What happens now, where do we go from here?”  There was quite some concern because I fielded those concerns myself.

Q. I picked up one sentence in particular from your paragraph 21 which reads, “The industry felt that they needed greater certainty than that offered by the Act.”  That captures really the sense of something not right?

A. Exactly.  Could I just elaborate a little bit there if I may sir?

Q. Please.

A. The Health and Safety in Employment Act has a clause there saying, “Take all practicable steps.”  There was considerable confusion within an industry what those practicable steps were, how far were they to go, what were they to do, because – particularly in the coalmining industry, the industry which I’m most familiar, those practicable steps were spelt out under the Regulations very clearly.  And when they were taken away the industry practitioners who are wondering, “What now.”  As an inspector at the time, and I took advice on it that we were advising mine operators those Regulations would continue as a practicable step, and that’s how we applied them.  And that was the mechanism really that we used to try and satisfy some of the concerns that are out there.
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Q. Now I want to come just now to the inspectorate and the role of the inspector and the change under the OSH system.  I'm not asking you any questions about any individual inspector and I make that plain, but you have referred in clear terms in your own evidence to a number of instances where you considered the appointments did not effectively meet or comply with the standards that you would've expected of the appointee.  You've talked about that and I don't want to go into the individual cases?

A. No, sir, not with the standards that I would've expected.  The standards that are laid down by the government agency with a responsibility for employing those people.

Q. You have a section of your brief at paragraph 32, “We refer to the Ministry of Commerce job description dated 1995 which has a work experience specification for appointment as an inspector of coal mines and a personal quality as an attribute section for appointment”?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. In your evidence at paragraph 22 you said that those who transferred over, those – sorry, those inspectors recruited directly by the Department of Labour, not transferred, were bound by OSH policies and with a single exception did not satisfy the person specification that has evolved as a result of a number of Commissions of Inquiry?

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. Now that person specification, how does it relate to the personal qualities and attributes provision that you've set out in paragraph 32?

A. That is part of that person specification.  That was one of the attributes that was put forward by the officials of Commerce and preceding that by the Ministry of Energy.

Q. If I can put it this way, it’s quite a, it looks relatively innocuous until you read carefully into that personal qualities and attributes section because it’s a very testing examination of a person’s ability, response to pressure obviously, how far they can go, how far they would go an in particular making judgments to make what are called sound decisions?

A. Yes, sir, and importantly the respect that they would command an industry, that’s the comment on-standing I think.

Q. Have you had any experience of appointments made, the appointments process, applying that test that’s here, this persons test or person test?

A. I'm not sure of the question, sir.  Have I had experience?

Q. Well I'm thinking back to the inspectorate days under the old -

A. Yep.

Q. – inspectorate system and how the evolution came from management to inspector to chief inspector and there was a hierarchal system?

A. Mhm.

Q. And it was a contestable system, wasn’t it?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. Mr Bell I think on his first, one of his first appointments was subject to a fire person content, rigorous?

A. Yes, not unusual.

Q. And what I'm assuming, but please correct me if I'm wrong, is that that process under the old inspectorate system shook out with a great deal of knowledge of the individual concerned, the qualities that person would have in particular the matter you've referred to that of respect in the industry?

A. That's correct, sir.

Q. And what I'm looking for is to how things have been run since the change from the old inspectorate to appointments as inspectors of 
coal mines applying the test that you've referred to, the person test.  How’s it done?

A. I think I've referred in my brief, sir, about the difficulty that most recently the Department of Labour but prior to that the Ministry of Commerce have had in attracting a suitable range of candidates.

Q. I can understand that, for the reasons you give regarding salaries in particular, that it’s not seen as an attractive position nor of therefore of sufficient seniority in that sense?

A. Mhm.
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Q. But when a candidate does show up what I’d like to know, if you can help either from direct or indirect knowledge, is what kind of – do you know anything about the process that is actually undertaken for the appointment?

A. No sir, I haven't participated in that process for many years.  In fact I've never participated in the process with the inspector of coal mines.

Q. Now I'll come to two more topics to raise with you.  The first is that of the role of the health and safety inspector and to use the word that’s come into the inquiry so far, the extent to which the inspectors are proactive as opposed to reactive.  Now, again with reference to this review commissioned by the Department of Labour there are some paragraphs, paragraph 52 and 53 at page 20 of the report.  Paragraph 52 refers to a regulator and that regulator was what's called the modern regulator and the report in this paper were trialled by senior officers when engaged with a company as an issue arises, and because not everyone can read this or perhaps they can now, on an issue arising they would ask, “What does this issue represent in terms of the need for health and safety management systems from this company going forward, for example, they encounter methane, the inspector provides advice rather than to start directing them what to do, might ask have you got a system to manage gas outbreaks, is it adequate, how are you going to deal with the risks we know will come from these outbreaks, we might even suggest where the company might find the outside expertise to enable them to deal with the problem.”  The comment is, “This is a reasonable and sophisticated interpretation of the department’s responsibilities under the Act.”  Firstly, does paragraph 52 reflect what you understand to be the actual role undertaken by the inspector under the present system?

A. I think it is sir, yes, I think that’s the way it’s operated these days.

Q. And can you give a short comparison of that with the role of the inspectorate when you were chief inspector?

A. I am very, well, I will say we would assist in finding a solution to the problem.  If there was a problem with ventilation or gas in a roadway we would offer a suggestion how it could be rectified and come with a consensus conclusion with the mine manager, rather than posing the problems.

Q. I want to move to associated topic, and I'll ask please to bring up paragraph 60 which begins at page 21 and goes to page 22 so perhaps we could look at the beginning, I'll take you to paragraph 60 first from page 21, now this refers to the regulations that have come down, those regulations that are brought down specifically to the industry.  “Described here is a mixture of prescriptive and performance based requirements, those notably less prescriptive than for example the 
New South Wales comparators.  Nevertheless we are told by longstanding senior departmental officers that insofar as substantial prescription remained the regulations were given the principle and performance based nature of the Health and Safety in Employment Act mixing oil with water.  It was gradually realised you can't do it and it’s not going to work so there was a shift to codes of practice and guidelines.”  Just pausing there, do you have any response or comment on that statement?

A. I'm just trying to find which paragraph you're at.

Q. Paragraph 60, everything is from paragraph 60 here.

A. I don't know what they’re getting at.
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Q. So I’m sorry to drop this on you, so I’m not going to ask you to try and discern what they are saying, we’ll come back to them.

A. I’m struggling with the context of it really.

Q. It may be easier then to look at paragraph 61.  It turns – referring to codes of practice.  Now I won’t read the whole paragraph out, but you’ll be able to scan it quickly enough, the – my question relates to the development of codes of practice and this comment is that, “The failure of industry to develop its own codes expeditiously prompted the Department of Labour to put in place a substantial number of its own approved codes of practice.”  So first question, were you aware of initiatives by Industry to develop codes of practice?

A. Yes sir some years ago I’m aware that Minex set out to develop codes of practice, but I think through changes of personnel that fell by the wayside.

Q. The point of my question is the next sentence, “No approved codes of practice have been introduced in the mining sector and this can be attributed principally to resource constraints rather than any lack of willingness on the department’s part.”  Does that accord with your understanding?

A. Yes it is.  That’s sort of what I was alluding to in my previous comment about losing people on the ground who actually do it.

Q. And if you read on in that paragraph, the last paragraph, “The departmental officers have told the reporters that we might have been standard setters in the past and the functional expertise may lie within the agency but we now see ourselves as standards facilitators because we don’t have the capacity and expertise to be more.”  Does that accord with your understanding?

A. That’s fair comment, yep.

Q. Now I’ll ask you to look at paragraph 66, the last matter here I wish to refer you to, which is at page 23 and to realise that I haven’t been referring, as I should, to the references DOL0100010001/23.  Now this is a comment that’s been made to the reporters that there’s a quite widespread perception that the MINEX developed standards are inadequate and one would have expected the department would engage with MINEX in code development and then goes on to talk about gaps or inadequacies in the standards.  First question for you is, the MINEX developed standards, what comment do you have about this and the quality of those?

A. Spring Creek don’t consciously utilise them.  We operate within a huge range of safe operating procedures that have been developed on the site which are very specific to all mining activities.

Q. Do you know about the MINEX developed standards to make any comment about them?

A. No sir I don’t.

Q. Now finally Mr Hughes, you made a conclusory paragraph to paragraph 40 of your brief and you refer to recommendations from previous inquiries and you’ve named a number and this of course is not the list of accidents in mines, but where you’re drawing on the recommendations that have emerged and you make the comment at the bottom of page 16, paragraph 40, “It is unlikely those recommendations have lost their validity.”  So I take that to mean that they’re all still good, they’re still good valid recommendations that should still have application?

A. That's correct sir, I read through some of those recommendations just in the past few days and applied them to what’s happening in mining today and I believe they did.

Q. Now the reason that it’s important, the rest of your paragraph is not just to this Commission and to the families, but to the whole industry is that your view expressed in the same paragraph is that many of the recommendations have not been embraced to the extent intended and now there’s an associated or inevitable lost of corporate memory in industry and Government.  Now you’re referring to the recommendations that were made.
A. Yes.
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Q. Can you with your vast experience indicate the sort of recommendations that were made, and clearly you’re referring to repeated recommendations, that have not been, there’s been no response, adequate response?

A. Yes sir.  I’d refer you, I think, to early in my brief of evidence where I referred to the recommendation that came out of the Commission of Inquiry in the explosion at Brunner Mine in 1896, which then suggested that all inspectors should be qualified by experientially and academically.  The Commissions of Inquiry that I refer to there, I haven’t referred to the whole lot of them, they’re just the ones that have under their head somewhere a reference to the inspectorate, and I think the only other one I’ve quoted in my brief is the Strongman explosion in 1967 where the Commission directed that the inspectorate be reinforced to meet the gravity of the task that rests upon it.

Q. From the same paragraph you’re already emphasising the point that coalmining cannot be regarded as, “The same as any other industry?”

A. Exactly sir.

Q. It can’t be lumped into a general hazardous occupation safety programme?

A. In my opinion sir, no.

Q. One of the reasons that you seem to attribute to the key learning from the past being ignored or consigned to history is said to be a certain arrogance that assumes modern mining technology as superseded and somehow resolved the problems of the past.  Could you expand on that please?

A. Yes sir.  In some ways there’s a perception that the way that modern mining technology has developed has superseded some of the basics, like ventilation roof support, things like that.  We had better methods of doing it or think we have better methods of doing it till something goes wrong.  So certainly the recommendations under that head are still valid in my opinion.  That is the reason that I made that comment.

Q. In essence do you believe that however it is structured, however it’s named, what is missing and what is not been the appropriate response from these other reports is someone, some people who by experience and character and qualification know all about the mines and relate to those who work there in the context of safety?

A. That's right sir.

cross-examination:  ms mcdonald

Q. Mr Hughes could I just ask you first to confirm, as I assume is the case, that you have read the Tier 2 papers for the Department of Labour, filed by the Department of Labour and the MED.  You read those documents?

A. No madam I haven’t.

Q. You haven’t?

A. I’m not aware which documents you’re referring to.

Q. Well they’re titled Tier 2 paper and they’re prepared by the various departments?

A. No, I don’t receive those papers.

Q. You haven’t seen those.  Well the reason I raise that with you, and I won’t pursue the questions now, was that I was going to suggest to you that much of the information that you gave yesterday has been set out in those papers.  And I’m specifically referring there to the history of the changes, both in the structure and in the legislation.  But perhaps we won’t, we’ll look at the matter in a different way if you haven’t read those papers.  You would accept, I think, from what you’ve said already over the last couple of days that there are a range of factors that have influenced and led to the changes that we’ve been talking about?

A. Yes, there are, that’s really the thrust of what I've been saying.
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Q. And you might be able to confirm for us, indeed it’s referred to in those papers, but you will probably know from your own knowledge that there’s been a decreasing or there was a decrease in mining activity in New Zealand in the period I think 1985 to 1990?

A. Yes, there was ma’am.

Q. And that resulted of course in a contraction in the size of the industry?

A. Yes, it did, madam.

Q. And you've already mentioned to some extent the changes that came about as a result of the introduction of the Resource Management Act?

A. I have.

Q. And in essence what happened there was the responsibility for setting and policy, or setting and policing I suppose, environmental regulation moved to local authorities?

A. That's correct.

Q. And again that led to downsizing in the inspectorate, didn’t it?

A. I don't know if it was specifically for that reason, madam.

Q. Well in part that resulted in the size of the inspectorate dropping because part of what they did changed?

A. That’s probably a fair comment, yes.

Q. Also a number of roles relating to training to moved to the EXITO, didn’t it?

A. Yes, it did about ’92 round about that time.

Q. And without getting into the particular detail of it, in a general sense would you accept from me this proposition that the new legislative regime and the new system that came into play placed or changed the emphasis so that the primary obligation for health and safety matters, and I emphasise the word “primary obligation” moved to the company or the organisation?

A. Or the employer.

Q. Yes.

A. That’s implicit in the Act.

Q. Yes.  With your experience, Mr Hughes, you would accept wouldn't you that a culture of or trying to develop a culture of no blame and working with a company or an employer to get co-operation over issues related to health safety is important? 

A. It’s very difficult but it’s important.  It takes a long time to achieve.

Q. Transparency and openness between an inspectorate and an employer or company important?

A. I could probably, I’d prefer to drop down a level and transparency and openness between the employer and the employee, madam –

Q. Yes.

A. – I’d expect the same thing, extent to government agencies with employers as well, yes.

Q. Because all of those things are likely, aren't they, to lead to better management of risk?

A. One would expect so, yes.

Q. And it follows from that that openness about problems or risks mean that they’ll be more likely to be readily identified rather than hidden?

A. That's correct, ma’am.  It’s, if I just may expand a little bit there, it is a very long process to achieve that.

Q. It takes a long time.

A. It does because to break down the traditional employer/employee suspicions can't be done overnight.

Q. Did you hear Dr Elder talk about some of these matters the other day by any chance or read his evidence?

A. I read most of Dr Elder’s brief.  I am aware of most of the content of it but the specific item you're getting at I don't know yet.

Q. No, that was really dealt or elaborated anyway –

A. Yeah.

Q. – during the course of the questioning –

A. Yeah.

Q. – but you weren’t here for that.  We’ve heard on a number of occasions from the witnesses that have given evidence so far that modern day mining is a complex business and highly technical calling for a lot of expertise?

A. Correct.

Q. And it would follow from that that it is difficult, isn't it, to get all of the necessary expertise in one person?

A. I'd suggest almost impossible.
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Q. Could you also confirm for me that, as I understand it, there are a relatively small number of people in New Zealand who hold a First Class Coal Mines Certificate, I see from the documents that it is 13 and two of those are Mr Firmin, who we are yet to hear from and Mr Poynter, who you will know?

A. I don't know the numbers ma'am, I know there are not very many holders of that certificate in New Zealand.

Q. And from that small group of people that hold that certificate that pool really provides people for both mine managers and the inspectorate, doesn’t it?

A. Yes it does ma'am.

Q. You might be able to confirm for me, if you can't it’s fine, but that both Mr Firmin and Mr Poynter hold that first class certificate?

A. To the best of my knowledge yes, they do.

Q. Now, I just want to ask you Mr Hughes one or two questions that relate to the aspect of the evidence yesterday that was subject to a suppression order, so if I could just indicate that now for the technical people in the courtroom.
SUPPRESSION ISSUE QUESTIONS
Q. And it relates to paragraph 33 of your brief and I don’t want to ask you anything about the names of the individuals that you are referring to in paragraph 33.1 or 33.4 but for reasons that will be obvious I'd like you to confirm that the person referred to in 33.3 is in fact Mr Firmin?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now I think you said a moment or two ago in answer to Mr Davidson’s questions, if I can find my note about it, that you haven't had any experience yourself or participated in appointment processes.  Is that right?

A. Not specifically for inspectors.  I have participated in those things because I was on the panel who interviewed Michael Firmin for a quarries job in 1995 I believe it was.

Q. You'd anticipated my question.

A. I'm sorry.

Q. So you were in fact on the appointment panel that appointed Mr Firmin in relation to the matter that you've referred to in paragraph 33.3, weren't you?

A. Yes, when he was appointed as an inspector of quarries in Dunedin.

Q. So despite the fact that you say that he didn’t meet the person specification requirement he was appointed nonetheless and you were part of that appointment process?

A. You’re becoming a little bit confused ma'am.

Q. Am I, well you help me?

A. If I can just outline it a little bit.  Michael was appointed as an inspector of quarries which is an entirely different inspectorate to an inspector of coal mines.  The person specification is quite different.

Q. So the appointment that we’re talking, where you're talking about in paragraph 33.3, you were part of that?

A. When Michael was appointed as an inspector of quarries, yes ma'am I was.

Q. And when you were referring there to the fact that he didn’t meet the person specification requirement, that was in relation to his appointment to what?

A. To the inspectorate, as an inspector with the responsibility for coal mines.

Q. And were you involved in that appointment?

A. Not at all.

Q. The operation review that Mr Davidson took you to a moment ago –

THE COMMISSION:

Ms McDonald, is that’s the end of –

MS McDONALD:

It's not sir if I could just -

THE COMMISSION:

It isn't, right sorry.

MS McDONALD:

I just have perhaps one more question, it's loosely related sir.
cross-examination continues:  MS MCDONALD

Q. The operation review that Mr Davidson took you to a moment ago, did you say you'd read that, the document that he had up on the screen?

A. The Department of Labour one?

Q. Yes.

A. I've only glanced at it ma'am, I haven't read the thing in its entirety and I think we looked at parts of that yesterday, did we, oh, no we looked at the minutes of the mining steering group.  No madam, I don’t have privy to that document.

Q. That does complete the section of questioning.  
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END OF SUPPRESSION ISSUE
Q. During the course of your evidence yesterday Mr Hughes, you spoke about inspectors giving advice?

A. I did madam.

Q. And you will have read the briefs of evidence I assume of Mr Firmin and Mr Poynter?

A. Yes I have madam

Q. And I’ll take you to the paragraphs if we need to, but perhaps if can just put this question to you, you’ll recall reading in those documents or that evidence the nature of the information and education that those inspectors provided to the companies?

A. Could you just take me to the paragraph please ma’am?

Q. Yes.  We start with – perhaps we’ll start with Mr Poynter’s brief of evidence which is DOL7770010006.  

A. I’ve got the brief in front of me.

Q. You’ve got that there?

A. Yep.

Q. If you look from paragraphs, I suppose 19, paragraph 19 Mr Poynter talks about, “After completion of an underground check he’ll debrief and discuss with mine managers any issues and concerns.”  Do you see that?

A. Yes I do.  The first sentence I’m –

Q. Paragraph 19?

A. Yep.

Q. He talks in that paragraph about how he goes about that, then paragraph 20 talks about ongoing communications.

A. Yes.

Q. If I have any concerns about the development plans I will raise those concerns and pose questions and probe the answers given?

A. Yes that’s what I would expect of any competent inspector.

Q. It goes on paragraph 23 and 24, to talk about his visits in paragraph 23; you might like to note that because I’ll come back to that later.  He says there, “Probably visit West Coast underground mines up to seven times each year including both proactive and reactive visits?

A. Yes I can’t comment on that ma’am.

Q. But that’s what you would expect?

A. My expectation would be greater than that as you’ve probably heard from the evidence that I gave yesterday.  But, if that’s, that’s what the standard is being seen as, well yes.

Q. And of course when you’re talking about your expectation under – or under what you might’ve done under the previous regime as opposed to now, to be fair?

A. That’s correct madam and under the direction of the chief inspector, because he generally dictated that he wanted a greater frequency at the mines.  And it was normally a greater frequency rather than a lesser frequency.

Q. And then paragraph 24 Mr Poynter talks about establishing a very open and effective line of communication with the mining industry.  So that, that’s his comments and if we look at Mr Firmin on issues of communication and his brief of evidence is DOL777001005 and if you look round about paragraphs 20 following, cast your eye over those paragraphs, you’ll see I think a very similar sort of description of communication?

A. Yes I do madam.

Q. So you’d accept from that evidence, whether you call it advice or not, there is obviously at least from those inspectors’ communication, information being given, education?

A. Certainly communication and information being given.  In the context of education I’m a little unsure how that applies, but I’ll accept that.  

Q. And if we come then to document CLO0010012842 –

A. You’ve lost me there madam.

Q. If you just pause it’ll come up on the screen for you.  It’s a reference to section 30 of the legislation and if we can go through to section 30.  I don’t have a page reference I’m sorry.
A. Functions of inspectors are you looking for ma'am?
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Q. Yes.  I’ll just get a page reference so it can come up on the screen, about page 50 I think.  Under the, “Functions of Inspectors,” subsection A, it says there doesn’t it, “That the functions of an inspector are to help employers, employees and other persons to improve safety at places of work and the safety of people at work by provided information and education?”

A. That’s what it says, yes.

Q. No reference there to, “Advice?”

A. No there’s not.

Q. Now just moving back if I can for a moment to the issue of visits or inspections.  You’ve already commented on what Mr Poynter said in that regard.  If I can take you then to the tier 2 DOL paper, which is DOL0000010001, and it’s page 79, and it’ll come up on the screen for you, now it’s actually page 80.  And this is document that you indicated before you hadn’t seen and I accept that.  I just really want to bring it up on the screen and show you there.  

legal discussion  (11:04:19) – documents to be put on laptop for presentation
cross-examination continues:  MS MCDONALD

Q. All I want to do Mr Hughes is take you to paragraph 295 of that document and just show you there that the reference to the visits to Pike River, a total of 21 times from 2004 to 2010.  Do you see that?
A. Yes, I do.
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Q. That was the only matter I wanted to take you to.  Now just a different question, yesterday I think it was you were talking about cable flashes?

A. I don't think I was.  I think it got raised by counsel somewhere, yes.

Q. Yes, you were answering some questions about it?

A. Yep.

Q. And as I recall what you said yesterday, you said that they were notifiable?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. Could you just help me in terms of what part of, it’s Reg 10, isn't it of the regulations and the number there is CLO0010012967?  So these are the Health and Safety in Employment (Mining Underground) Regs 1999 and if we go through to Reg 10, it’s up on the screen now, could you just tell me which subsection it falls under?

A. B madam.

Q. Any fire or spontaneous heating.  So you're saying that every cable flash results in a fire?

A. Every cable flash by definition has flames so it is a fire.

Q. And is that a view that’s universally held in your experience by inspectors?

A. I can't comment on that.  I don't know.  I don't know whether it’s the inspector’s view or not.

Q. And what about in terms of the companies or the employers, how is this provision, in your experience, interpreted by the organisations in terms of notifying flash cables and concluding, as you have, that it falls under subsection B?

A. I normally provide that advice, ma’am.

Q. So you can't comment on – what’s the incidence of reported flash cables in your experience?  Is there many?

A. It is more than one.

Q. In your experience?

A. In my experience, yes.

Q. I think you had a hand in drafting those regulations, didn’t you, Regulation 10?

A. Yes, I did madam.

objection:  MR HAMPTON (11:08:08)

MR HAMPTON:
Commissioners please, I want to be clear about this.  Is it the department’s view that cable flashes are not notifiable?  I want to be clear about this because I find that extraordinary if that is the case.

MS MCDONALD:
I’m asking a question because – I'm simply asking a question of the witness and getting his opinion on what category or what subsection it fell under, sir.  I don't think I can – I don't propose to take the matter any further.

cross-examination continues:  ms mcdonald

Q. Now moving to a different topic altogether, plans.

A. Yes, ma’am.

Q. Now I want to start by just making sure we’re all talking about the same thing.  Can you confirm that the plan that gets submitted or got submitted under the Coal Mines Act 1979 was in terms of section 43 and we’ll bring that up on the screen and that’s MED00100203 and it’s page 41 and if you have a look at that, that’s the plan of land to accompany application for coalmining licence under the 79 Act, familiar with that?

A. I'm familiar with it, yes.
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Q. Actually it would be helpful if you just read out subsection 1 because I want to take you to another provision?

A.  “Every application for a coalmining licence should be accompanied by a plan that has the land delineated and identified on it by reference to the area of land and its legal description and by reference to its location in relation to cadastral boundaries, survey monuments, topographical features or existing coal mining rights as the case may require.”

Q. So that’s the plan that gets submitted with an application for permit or for a licence under the old system and it’s before any development work really has started, isn't it?

A. Generally ma'am yes, this was for a coalmining licence, it may have changed slightly for a mining permit, I don't know.

Q. I'll come to that.

A. Okay.

Q. I'll take one step at a time, and in your experience that would have been a fairly high level general topographical land type plan.  Agree with that?

A. It really consisted of a bit more than that.  We were given or had up to date cadastral maps in the inspectorate office for public reference in addition to topographical maps.  The main reason being was to avoid any overlaps on licence applications so it just saved a lot of toing and froing if you like to ensure that the applicant had got his boundaries right when he put the application in rather than overlapping somebody else.

Q. But, I think you really just touched on it there by saying making sure that he's got his boundaries right.  We’re talking there about a land plan, aren't we, a fairly high level land plan?

A. Yes we are.

Q. Not a detailed plan about the mine design or the development of mines?

A. No, nothing to do with that at all.

Q. No.  Now, if we come then to plan that’s submitted under the new process to Crown Minerals, the equivalent plan that’s submitted for the purposes of a permit and it’s CLO0010010, it’s the Crown Minerals Act, section 23 which is page 107.  That’s a provision which says, “Every application for a permit shall be in a prescribed form?”

A. Yes.

Q. And if we go to the prescribed form which is another number MED0100010004, pages 3 and 4, that’s the application for permit, isn't it Mr Hughes?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And if you go down that page a bit there's something there that says, “Land description,” then underneath that it says, “Plan, attach two copies?”

A. Yes.

Q. And if we go to the next page, the notes relating to that application under the heading, “Land”, if you just have a look, do you see that heading?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And if you read that first couple of paragraphs to yourself and my question is it’s essentially the same requirement as existed under section 43 of the Coal Mining Act in terms of the nature of the plan?

A. That's correct ma'am.

Q. So that’s a plan that goes in for a permit.  We come now then to what's been referred to as six monthly plans, because that’s a different sort of plan, isn't it?

A. I think yesterday ma'am we talked about six monthly and 12 monthly plans depending on the tonnage of the mine.  I think we established then the step between 12 monthly and six monthly was the production of 12,000 tonnes of coal.
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Q. That's right.  But, whether we are talking about a six monthly or 12 monthly, it’s a different plan to the permit plan, isn’t it?

A. Absolutely, yeah totally different.

Q. And the application plan.  And that was dealt with under the old legislation in section 150 and 151 of the Coal Mining Act?

A. I’ll take your word for that.

Q. And if – I’m sorry to do this, but if we go to the Coal Mining Act at section 150, MED001002003, page 105.  And I don’t want to get you to trawl through all of those, but those sub-sections under section 150 set out the nature of the plan and the things that it needs to show, does it?  Boundaries and –

A. That's correct yep.

Q. And the equivalent of that now is the Underground Regs, isn’t it, in terms of the description of the plan for that same –

A. Insofar as what’s required to be shown on the submitted plan madam, yes.

Q. And that’s the number there is CLO0010012967, Regs 11 to 13, yes Health and Safety Regs.  And if we go through to the next page please.  Regulation 13, the details of the – to be included in the plans.  Are you familiar with those?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And they, for intents and purposes, are the same aren’t they as the requirements for the equivalent plan under the Coal Mines Act?

A. Yes they are ma’am.

Q. And the responsibility for the six monthly, 12 monthly or the administration I suppose of that legislation of those plans falls with the Department of Labour doesn’t it, whereas the application for permit lies with Crown Minerals?

A. That's correct.

Q. So there’s really no material difference is there between – in terms of the plans that I’ve been talking about here, between the old system and the new system –

A. No there –

Q. – in terms of the requirements?

A. In terms of the content on those plans, no there’s not ma’am.

Q. And just to be absolutely clear, the permit plan doesn’t contain the sort of detail that’s required in the six monthly, 12 monthly development plans?

A. The plan that accompanies the permit –

Q. Yes.

A. – is an entirely different plan showing –

Q. Much more high level?

A. Yes, showing entirely different information.

re-examination:  Mr Stevens

Q. Can I just please start with some of the matters that my learned friend Ms McDonald raised with you Mr Hughes. 

Mr Stevens ADDRESSES THE Commission – mr hughes’ evidence from yesterday

re-examination continues:  Mr Stevens 

Q. Mr Hughes can I please read back to you a piece of your evidence yesterday.

A. Yes sir.

1120
Q. And it’s on page 279 of the transcript of yesterday and it was an answer to questions from Mr Hampton and it dealt with responsibility for safety.  And the question was, “Was that also the case through and under the Coalmines Act 1979 that the operator of the mine had a main opportunity to ensure that it was healthy and safe?”  And your answer was, “The manager of a mine is the paramount official at the mine.  That’s been reinforced many times in many forums.  Having proactive inspectorate during that regime made no difference to the responsibility of the person in charge of that mine.  There is no suggestion that an inspector of coal mines could you usurp that responsibility simply by his presence at the time.”  So the next question, “Right, so under both regimes there was either the operator or the manager who had main responsibility for ensuring health and safety at the mine?”  And your answer, “That’s correct sir.”  I’m sorry, those were questions from Mr Wilding I’m sorry.  Ms McDonald put to you this morning that the new legislative regime have changed emphasis so primary obligation for health and safety moved to the employer.  So  my question is, “Is it your view that the primary obligation shifted or always was with the mine operator?”

A. Sir, I think there is still provision in the Act for the primary responsibility for an operation to sit with the mine managers through, I won’t take the time to refer to the section, but it talks about a person in charge of a place of work.  Whether or not that’s a primary responsibility or not, I don’t know.  The ultimate responsibility obviously sits with the employer but primary responsibility sits with that person in charge of a place of work.  I think that’s how it’s couched under the Act.

Q. Sorry, I perhaps haven’t made it very clear Mr Hughes.  Under both the old regime and the new regime what is your view as to whether the employer had the primary obligation for safety?

A. Under the old regime are we talking about the, say the employer being the person employed the mine manager, is that what we’re referring to?

Q. Yes, it could be?

A. Yes, okay.  At a mine site to me the employer couldn’t have the primary responsibility for safety because it can’t be there on a day to day basis.  It must be the mine manager and I feel exactly the same way about in applying the Health and Safety in Employment Act.

MR STEVENS ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION – SUPPRESSION ISSUE
re-examination continues:  MR STEVENS

Q. Could I ask please sir that the feed be stopped, I wanted to turn to the questions on paragraph 33.3.  Mr Hughes, you were asked this morning some questions regarding your paragraph 33.3 and as I understand it you’d said your involvement and the person concerned at that paragraph was in the capacity of Inspector of Quarries.  Is that correct?

A. That's correct sir.

Q. In that same paragraph you expressed an opinion that the person concerned did not meet the person specifications and his appointment would not have been possible under earlier jurisdictions.

A. That's correct sir.

Q. I understood your evidence to be that that was directed at being an Inspector of Coalmines?

A. Yes, that's right.
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Q. And what please were those concerns that the personal specifications would not have been possible?

A. The main thing that I was concerned about was the lack of experience as a coal mine manager.  I'm aware that the person referred to there had some experience as a coal mine manager.  I think it was somewhat less than two months at a small West Coast underground mine.  I'm not aware that he had any experience beyond that.  The importance of that is that at that level of management, a person must be able to discuss with senior officials and others on authoritative matters related to mining and also has sufficient standing in the industry which to me is gained by experience as a mine manager.

Q. That’s all I wish to ask on that matter sir.

END OF SUPPRESSION ISSUE

Q. My learned friend, Ms McDonald, put to you the topic of whether inspectors should give advice and I don't want to misquote it but that was the broad context that I took her questions to be directed towards.  Is it possible to have section 30 of the Health and Safety in 
Employment Act brought up?

A. Sir, I have the clause in front of me if you are having difficulty.

Q. I am having some difficulties.  I wonder if section 30 could be highlighted please.  Section 30(a) are you familiar with that, Mr Hughes?

A. Yes, sir, I am.

Q. And specifically to help employers, employees and other persons to improve safety at places of work, the safety of people at work by providing information and education.

A. I see that, sir, yes.
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Q. Can I now please ask that document, and my friend did refer to it, DOL0100010001 and that’s the review of the Department of Labour’s interactions with Pike River Coal and the page is 127 and the paragraph is 464, the first half of that.  Mr Hughes, if I can just – this document was put to you and it was work that we understood that the Department of Labour, or a review that was undertaken of the inspectors, amongst other things, their interaction with Pike River Coal, can I just read the start of 464, “To summarise the inspectors and their interactions with Pike River Coal did not seek to involve the formal provisions of the law, while at first sight this might suggest some laxity of perhaps undue acquiescence with the company’s interest there is no suggestion that in practice this was the case.  On the contrary, inspectors used advice, persuasion and negotiation for good effect and in almost all circumstances achieved their safety objectives without recourse to either administer of notices or enforcement action.”  Now, as a former inspector to what extent did you consider your role was to give advice?

A. Yes sir, I think I outlined that in my brief.

Q. Sorry, to what extent did you consider it was your job?

the COMMISSION addressES MR STEVENS

re-examination continues:  mr stevens

Q. Mr Hughes, did you consider that part of your role under section 30 that I've referred you to?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You gave some figures yesterday on underground workers who have gas testers certificates of competence, I think you said, on average there was 71% at Spring Creek, you didn’t know about other mines.  Can you say whether or what the likely percentage would have been of underground workers holding that certificate of competence back when you were an inspector?

A. Yes sir, I would suggest between 10 and 20%.

questions from commissioner bell

Q. Mr Hughes, I'm asking these questions on the viewpoint that you are an ex chief inspector and the code of compliance manager at Spring Creek so I'd ask you to cover both of those options when you are answering please.  Just for my clarification a requisition, was that the precursor of a prohibition or improvement notice?

A. It did a lot more than that I feel sir.  It actually recorded the fact that you had been to the mine, where you'd been in the mine, anything you'd seen in the mine and anything that was required to be done.  I suppose broadly you could call it the precursor or the prohibition notice or an improvement notice, yes.

Q. Do you see it as unusual for a large gassy mine to have no compliance action of any sort taken over a period of five years?

A. That occurred to me when I read the previous note sir, that over a period I think from 2004 to 2011 or something like that, there was no notices issued over 21 inspections.  I found that very unusual.

Q. When you were an inspector did you carry out any unannounced inspections and had you been subjected to any at Spring Creek in recent times?

A. I don’t recall having been subjected to unannounced inspections during my period as a mine manager at any time in New Zealand.  When I was an inspector, yes, I did occasionally carry out unannounced inspections.  Because of some of those small operations it was very difficult to get in touch with the mine managers.  I don’t recall ever having carried out an unannounced inspection to a large gassy mine.
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Q. What evidence does an inspector leave at the mine to demonstrate that he has in fact visited the mine and if he's issued any compliance notices how is that tracked to make sure they’re dealt with?
A. I spoke briefly about that yesterday, sir.  The, under the Coal Mines Act we were required to leave a written notice of our inspection.  That was the requirement that came out of two Commissions of Inquiry, most recently the Commission in 1967 to leave a record that we’d actually visited the mine.  Those notices would be filed by the mine owner and there’d also be a copy kept my the inspector.  The notices, if there was any requisitions on them, would be followed up by letter to the mine operator and if there was a requisition there on the following follow up visit, which may only be some days later, a check would be made to make sure that that defect had been rectified.

Q. Have any compliance notices been issued to Spring Creek in recent times?

A. I'm aware of a prohibition notice having been issued on the 29th of June in respect of a frictional ignition.

Q. Are safety alerts or other information devices used by the mines as predicative to disseminate important safety information either in your time or today?

A. I don't recall any recent ones, sir.  In my time we used to get them via the CCIM in Australia and disseminate those to the industry.

Q. Does a mines inspector need the respect of the mine manager to do his or her job and what happens if he hasn’t got that respect?

A. I believe it’s very important to have the respect or the credibility of the industry in order to discharge that otherwise it does affect the inspector’s credibility if you like.

Q. This is probably a harder question, but do you have an opinion as to the numbers that there should be in today’s New Zealand mines inspectorate, coal mine inspectorate?

A. No, I don't.

Q. What do you think of the term “practicable steps” with reference to underground coalmining electrical and gas safety matters?  I'm sort of asking on the basis that methane is methane wherever it is.

A. That's right, sir, and to me the term “practicable steps” is like making a piece of rope.  How long do you want the bit of rope to hang yourself with because to cover all practicable steps is almost an impossibility, there’ll always be something that you may miss or be unable to cover and we’ve seen that time and time again both here and in Australia.

Q. So you think that some level of prescription is needed or useful within coalmining regulations for underground coal mines?

A. That’s certainly my opinion sir, yes.

Q. Just a last couple of points, what do you think are the benefits of a capable mines inspector providing a mentoring role?  I know you've discussed this in some of your evidence, a mentoring role to the mining industry?

A. I think it’s a desirable thing and I think it was certainly a very applicable thing and going back some years certainly when there were small mine operators in the area both in the Grey Valley and the Inangahua District and Buller mines being run by people with lesser certificates who didn’t so much rely on the inspector to provide advice were very keen to see the inspector come by and I'm sure my colleague Harry Bell will elaborate on that.

Q. Just one final question, I'm interested in the way EXITO operates today and I noted you mentioned in your evidence the term “professional conversation” and I was just wondering how it’s decided whether this professional conversation takes place and whether it’s required or not?

A. I'm uncertain sir.  I relinquished my warrant as an EXITO assessor some years ago when I became manager at Strongman Mine.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

commission adjourns:
11.40 AM

Commission resumes:
11.58 am

Mr Davidson addresses THE Commission
Mr Davidson calls
HENRY WALTER BELL (SWORN)
Q. Mr Bell good morning, your full name is in fact Henry Walter Bell?

A. That's correct.

Q. You’re known to all and sundry as Harry?

A. That's correct.

Q. And it’s not in your evidence but you were born in 1933?

A. Correct.

Q. In your 68th year.  What we are going to do – first of all I’d like you to record that which is not in the brief, you are also one of the family’s in that Allan Dixon who died in the mine, is your nephew?

A. That's correct.

Q. And what we’re going to do is you’re going to read your evidence through without interruption and then come back for some supplementary evidence as the Commission directs, we may lead that.

A. Thank you. 

Q. So would you just read first please the qualifications and experience which you hold under section A of your evidence on page 1.

A. (A) Qualifications and Experience.  First Class Mine Managers Certificate.  Underviewers Certificate of Competency, Deputies Certificate of Competency, Mine Gas Testing Certificates, “A” Grade Quarry Managers Certificate, A Grade Tunnel Managers Certificate, Proficiency and Certificate of Proficency in Mine Rescue Work, the longest serving member of the Mines Rescue (33 years), past Chairman of the Mines Rescue Trust Committee.  OSH Inspector of Health and Safety Act Inspector and member of the Mining and Quarrying and Tunnelling committee, re-writing regulations for the new OSH legislation.  EXITO registered assessor, mining tutor, Member of the Board of Examiners of Coal Mines.  

Q. Now I’m going to lead you in the next section Mr Bell, working backwards from today, you’ve been a mining consultant from 2000 to 2010?

A. Correct.

Q. And I’m simply going to pluck out some of the other references.  You worked for Solid Energy at the Terrace Mine in Reefton from September 2008 to October 2009 where you were mine manager?

A. That's correct.

Q. And supervised for them in the same mine in 2006?

A. That's correct.

Q. Under (J) you were acting inspector of coal mines and tunnels for the West Coast and Huntly areas until a full-time replacement was found?

A. That's correct.

Q. Between June and November 2001.  Between ’99 and 2000 you worked for Downer Construction New Zealand Limited on the Vector or Mercury Energy supply tunnel in Auckland City and you had responsibility for the overall production on three sites, 250 men, 24 hour a day, seven day a week basis.

A. That's correct.

Q. Go down to (N), you were Chief Inspector of Coal Mines for New Zealand 1992 to 1994, directly responsible to the Minister of Commerce, formerly the Ministry of Energy for ensuring all mines operating in New Zealand conform to the Coal Mines Act and Regulations in terms of safety, licensing, environmental concerns.  You attended the Chief Inspector’s Safety meetings in Melbourne in 1992 and Darwin 1993.

A. That is correct.
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Q. Under (o), as Inspector of Coal Mines and Inspector of Quarries and Tunnels for the Bay of Plenty, under (A)(o)(i) you were responsible for ensuring all mines operating in north island complied with the Coal Mines Act and Regulations in terms of safety licensing and environmental concerns, and for quarries and tunnels in the Bay of Plenty under the Mining, Quarrying and Tunnelling Act and Regulations. Next, you transferred in 1983 from Greymouth to Huntly because of your expertise in gassy spontaneous combustion mines.  You visited Newcastle and Wollongong areas to study for plan and introduction of longwall mining.  You wrote a set of rules for single entry driveage to be used in longwall development.  They were released by the Ministry of Energy one week per month in 1987 as a mining consultant for the Japanese/Greymouth Coal Company venture.  Over the page, go down to item R.  You were the mine manager at Denniston in Westport for three years, 1971 to 74, State Coal Mines.  Manger of three mines at escarpment Whareatea in Sullivan, employing 280 men in total and you were a tutor at the School of Mines in Buller.  To you, you were the Superintendant of mines at the Mines Rescue Station at Ohai in Southland in 1967 to ’69, five large underground mines in this area, moderately gassy and liable to spontaneous combustion.  And there you finalised your First Class Mine Managers Certificate and you were a tutor for the School of Mines and tutor for first aid.  (v) You were the Mine Underviewer at Liverpool Number 3 Colliery Greymouth 1966, 1967, Team leader Mines Rescue, Strongman Mine Disaster.  In 1967 you record an explosion occurred at the nearby Strongman Mine killing 19 men.  You were chosen as team leader for recovery of bodies in the ventilation of a section of the mine affected.  Previously you were Mine Deputy at the Strongman Colliery in Greymouth in 1965 and 1966 and you accepted the position after being approached by senior officials of the Mines Department to train and study for the First Class Mine Managers Certificate.  Go to the last section Z.  You began your career as a rope boy in 1948 at the Liverpool Number 2 Colliery Greymouth, State Coal.  By 1949 working underground trucking and horse driving.  And you graduated then through all phases of underground mining, shift work, building stoppings, et cetera, and became a face miner in 1953.  And you were one of the top producing miners at Liverpool.

A. That's correct.

Q. That’s the short capsulation.  Now would you read your evidence please straight through without qualification from paragraph 1, section (B) thank you?
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WITNESS READS BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPH 1,
SECTION B
A. Part 1, Pike River Mine.  Summary of my involvement with the Pike River Mine.  I was first involved with the Pike River Mine when Grant Mycvich of the tunnelling contractors, McConnell Dowell, Macdow as they’re called, requested that I informally review tender documents for the construction of the Pike River Coal Mine tunnel.  My next involvement was in June 2006 when I extracted coal samples from the outcrop, the blasting and sampling took place over a period of three weeks.  Then for an approximate eight month period commencing in September 2007 I was employed by Macdow as a part time tunnel supervisor at the Pike River Coal Mine (the mine).  I was involved in supervising the blasting for construction of the tunnel until I went overseas in April 2008.  At that point the tunnel had not reached the Hawera fault.  When I returned to New Zealand six weeks later I was told I was not required by Macdow as blasting had temporarily ceased.  Instead I took up a position with Solid Energy New Zealand as the mine manager at the Terrace Mine in Reefton where I worked from September 2008 until October 2009.  The next time I was involved with the mine was in or around December 2008 when the Macdow tunnel superintendant rang me to express concerns about the number of ignitions occurring during the tunnelling and sought my advice.  Samples taken at the Pike River in 2006.  I was asked to extract coal samples prior to the development of the mine.  The sampling process involved being flown in by helicopter on Department of Conservation land to sample and readily available to the coal outcrops.  It was apparent to me that if Pike River Coal Limited (PRC) had been allowed to extend the road two or three kilometres further they could have reached the coal outcrops and gone straight in at that point.  This would have been less expensive, quicker and a far safer mine.  It would have been safer because there would have been no need for the long single entry tunnel through this very difficult ground.  However, I do not know anything about the negotiations between Department of Conservation and PRC at the time or why the decision was made not to extend the road and access the seam where the outcrops were accessible.

Q. Mr Bell, we’ll just pause there and I'll reverse course from what I indicated.  You want to add to that paragraph, having read further material and been flown over the mine site, that you were not suggesting that the Department of Conservation had disallowed what you would have thought was a preferable route, there was no application made to that effect?

A. No, that’s quite correct.

Q. And you would also add to that that having flown over that ground you recognised the practicalities of access in maintaining a road to that higher position site would be problematical?

A. That's correct.

Q. So you qualify that paragraph of your evidence in that way?

A. That's correct.

Q. Right, go on to paragraph 8?

A. “The top five metre layer of the 14 metre coal seam underlying the island sandstone rock which is a green layer high in sulphur.  I was told by Jonny McNee, the geologist for Pike River Coal, to take samples from five metres down only so there would be no sulphur in the samples taken.  I do not know how these non-representative samples were used.  They did not reflect the standard of coal that would be available from the mine.  In my opinion it would have been very difficult to supply coal as per those samples from the underground mine.  In the case of an open cast mine such as Stockton, which is on the same seam, it is possible to keep checking the coal which has been extracted to ensure the coal containing the high sulphur has separated from the high standard coking coal and does not go in to make steel.  
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A. However, in an underground mine the extraction of top class coking coal from high sulphur coal is extremely difficult because if the mid-seam coal is taken out during extraction the top coal will fall and the top sulphur coal will then contaminate the whole product.  Johnny McNee, the Pike River coal geologist, suggested to me that the mining operation could involve removing the good coal and then the miners could allow the five meter layer of sulphur contaminated coal to collapse down with the roof and just lie I the mine.  I advised Johnny McNee that that would not be possible in an underground mine to just leave coal lying around because the weight of the roof stone would create a thermal reaction, the coal will then eventually catch fire with this process being increased by the iron sulphites in that coal.  Johnny McNee discussed other options with me which he said was being considered for dealing with the two types of coal, this was to bring out the high sulphur coal along a 10 kilometre pipeline to a separation destination.  The pipeline will then have to be closed, cleaned out and remove all traces of sulphur and then the good coal could be piped out.  That would've been very difficult, time consuming and expensive method of bringing out coal and possibly not viable.  I became very concerned at the expense and approach being taken to developing this mine.  When approached by friends who were considering investing in the mine I advised them not.  The expense was one factor but the approach which troubled me was the sulphur problem created by the coal with sulphur content for steel making.  I do not know what eventually decided about dealing with the sulphur coal but Macdow put in a conveyor belt to ring out the stone and initially that also brought out coal.  Eventually a pumping system was put in to slurry the coal the coal out.  The system is complicated as the water has to be taken out and then come back into the mine.  Frank Taylor, a surveyor involved with assisting Pike River Coal and getting initial consent, told me that the Pike line was designed by an Australian engineer on coal production estimates of 650,000 tonnes of coal per year.  Later I was surprised to hear Gordon Ward previous CEO of 
Pike River coal mines state that the system could extract 1.3 million tonnes a year.  Development of the tunnel and the ventilation shaft, Grant Mycvich of Macdow asked me to revive tender documents for the new Pike River tunnel development.  I noted at this time that two of the exploratory bore holes were omitting methane gas at 10 cubic metres per tonne of coal.  I have not been able to source copies of the original tender but to the best of my memory the tender referred to putting up a ventilation shaft in the stone and creating an intake and a return by way of two drive entries through the Hawera fault.  I will check this against the records when it becomes available.  In or around September 2007 I started work as a part-time shift supervisor with Macdow at the mine.  I continued in that role until I went on an overseas holiday in April 2008.  There were three shift supervisors who worked eight hour shifts around the clock and all needed A grade tunnel certificates so they could manage all the shot firing during the tunnel process.  In or around April 2008 I was shocked when Joe Edwards, Macdow’s engineering superintendent told me that at a meeting with the Pike River management he had been advised that the intention was now to proceed with one drive through the fault.   There was no longer to be a ventilation shaft in the stone which would have provided an adequate ventilation circuit and instead construction of that ventilation shaft was to be delayed until they went into the fault and into the methane gassy scene.  I told Joe Edwards that the single drive entry was not tenable for safety reasons and that the tunnelling needed to be stopped for entering the fault until the ventilation issue was resolved.  I told Joe that if I was still the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines I would not let them go through the fault with a single drive under any circumstances.  Joe felt this was an extreme position but as I said to him PRC did not seem to understand the seriousness of the gas risks they were now, and how essential ventilation was even at this early stage.
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A. The tunnel was around about 1.5 kilometres long at that stage and my calculations, the shot firing fumes were taken one hour to exit the portal as the mine air was moving at about point five metres per second.  Ventilation at this velocity could never have dealt with methane.  If ventilation is not fast enough then the methane just dissipates out of the air, hits the roof and rolls back up the tunnel away from the portal.  There is not exact rule for venting methane as various factors need to be applied but I suggested that because of the size of the tunnel and the air needed to be moving at a minimum of two or two and half metres per second in those conditions.  The ventilation ducting at the time was 1.4 metres in diameter.  This may have been sufficient for the stone drive work as it needed only to shift the shot firing fumes only but it would not handle methane which does not move downhill easily.  Even at these early stages the ducting was under extreme velocity pressure and we regularly had to renew the ducting, back-buy and was splitting and continually sowing up leaks.  Joe Edwards told me that he would immediately speak to PRC management and at his request I drew up plans for improving the ventilation system.  I drew up two options to deal with these problems but I never learnt of any response to those plans.  The two options I suggested were that two metre ducting be fitted from the surface rather than the 1.4 metre as this would provide twice the volume of air.  This ducting should enter the second stub down the drift.  With a Board and Brattice stopping fresh air could be established in that stub so that three or four fans could be set up in there, two 1.4 metres ductings would then be taken to the face.  The tunnel would still be utilised as the return but the fans would be protected from any methane passing back down the return and there would not trip out because they would be in fresh air.   The second one was the extracting fans be placed on the ribs just above the pit bottom before the fault.  These would suck methane out through a single 1.4 metre pipe which would transport the gas all the way out of the tunnel in the lay flat ducting.  The tunnel would then not be polluted by return air.  A risk with this option is that if the return air did reach 1.25% then the fans would be tripped out.  Obviously the air in the tunnel should never be at that level.  About three weeks before I left to go on an overseas trip Joe Edwards told me that he had spoken to PRC and that they had agreed my concerns were valid and they would make sure that the ventilation was effective.  Shortly before I left I was aware that no action had been taken and I was so concerned about the situation that I spoke directly to the technical manager for Pike River Coal, Udo Renk.  I told him that it would be nonsensical madness, as I described it, to go through the fault with a single drive entry because of the gas risks.  This was particularly important in this mine because the sluggish ventilation which existed and the uphill design of the tunnel made the essential removal of ventilation gas even more difficult.  There was no doubt in my mind that a ventilation circuit had to be set up before driving through the fault.  Udo Renk told me that he was aware of the problem and he would ensure that the ventilation would be improved.  About this time I spoke to Kobus Louw, the mine manager, about information that I had received that Pike River Coal intended only to shotcrete the tunnel where it went through the fault to reinforce it.  They had already reduced the roadway profile through the fault because of the problems they were having with the fault breccia.  I pointed out that Rolled Steel Joists sets had been made up by Macdow to support the tunnel through the fault.  In my opinion these were essential in the circumstances.  I noted to Kobus that shotcreting would not withstand an earthquake in such a major fault line as this was the only egress the men would be trapped.  In addition because they had narrowed the roadway profile at this point the risk was even more extreme.  At that time I was not thinking of the obvious risk to the tunnel of an explosion at that weak point.  I am aware that around that time Macdow were processing through the fault, Kobus Louw resigned and went back to South Africa.  2009.  About December 2008 Les Tredennick who was the tunnel superintendant for Macdow and who had been my immediate boss, telephoned me to say that the boys working in the drive were very upset at the number of ignitions taking place.  
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A. Les said they had been attending ignitions in the past fortnight, I was extremely concerned and I said I would contact the mines inspector immediately.  I rang the inspector and told him the information given me by Les Tredennick and my concerns.  The inspector told me that only one ignition had been reported to him.  I said that this information was extremely concerning and that he should stop the work immediately until the ventilation issue had been improved to his satisfaction.  I told the inspector that he could tell the mine staff that I was the whistle blower as I was furious and alarmed that this had happened after the warnings and discussion prior to me going to Bhutan.  He thanked me for passing on information and said he would deal with it straight away.  I asked Tim McKay the mine administrator to listen to this call because I wanted independent evidence that I’d made the call on such a serious matter.  Part Two, Mining in New Zealand.  A brief history of mining in New Zealand.  Coal mining in New Zealand started in the late 1800s; the Brunner seam as it is known was discovered by Thomas Brunner, outcropping in Grey River Valley.  In the late 1800s coal was found in the Buller areas of Millerton, Stockton and Denniston.  This was the same Brunner seam that extended through the Paparoa Ranges.  This seam contained a high grade coking coal which was mined initially by the Brunner Mine, Wallsend Mine and the Tynside Mine.  The Brunner Mine itself had a disaster explosion in 1896 killing 65 men and later the Dobson Mine was developed in this area.  I understand that a sub-issue identified by the Commission is the history of mine explosions which would have caused multiple fatalities in New Zealand and the details I have of any recommendations from inquiries into these events.  I have attached as document 1 a list of New Zealand mine explosions which caused multiple fatalities with a brief summary of the findings.  Coal was also found in the Kaitangata, Otago and Southland areas.  The Kaitangata Mine had an explosion in 1876 resulting in 34 deaths.  In Southland coal was worked in the Nightcaps and Ohai Districts, this coal was a good domestic coal being sub bituminous.  There is a vast deposit of lignite coal in Oamaru, Gore and the Mataura areas.  Coal was also worked at Shags Point which is now finished.  In the Greymouth area coal was found and worked at Runanga, Rewanui, 8 Mile Valley, 10 Mile Valley and small deposits at Fox River, Charleston and Heaphy’s in the Buller Gorge.  The coal in the Runanga area has numerous seams.  For example, the Brunner, Dunollie, Upper Rewanuis which has got five seams, A, B, C, D and E being all bituminous coal and the Lower Rewanuis also have five seams for example, the McCauthers, Ramages, Kimbel, Morgan and the Lower Morgan.  All these being high grade coking coals.  In the Blackball area, apart from small private mines, there was the Blackball State Mine and the Roa State Mine.  There were small deposits worked randomly at Murchison, Owen River, Puponga and the Collingwood areas.  Reefton has the geological phenomenon of having coal and gold in the same areas.  The Reefton coalfield as four main seams, mainly 1, 2, 3 and 4 seams.  The number 4 seam was the deepest seam and the highest calorific value.  This coal is sub bituminous and is a perfect domestic coal.  Gold mining is still active in Reefton now with prospects of advancing into more old areas.  The north island’s main coal deposits are in the Waikato, namely Huntly, Rotowero, Pukemiro, Glen Afton, Glen Massey, Wiakokau and Meremere.  In the King Country coal has been worked at Ohura, Bennydale, Whitawhenu, Mokau and Pirongia.  Up north coal was discovered and worked in Kawakawa, Kamo and the Whangarei area.  The majority of those area mines were worked by hand methods, ie pick and shovel and as a result the advance rate was slow so the amount of methane liberated was minimal.  Since the 1950s part mechanisation and hydro-mining improved the miner’s workload and higher tonnages have been produced with less manpower.  After the Brunner Mine disaster in 1896, the Commission of Inquiry demanded that a coal mines inspectorate be established similar to that in Britain.  
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A. This gave another pair of experienced eyes overlooking management’s safety issues.  The Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 [“the Act”] eroded this away as the current OSH inspectors are neither experienced nor carry out regular underground inspections which was the whole reason for their establishment.  In my opinion since 1992 coal mines have in effect been largely self-regulated with people who are driving for production links to establish appropriate safety regimes.  Supervision of mines in New Zealand prior to 1992.  I began inspecting coal mines in 1977 when I was appointed inspector of coalmines for West Coast and Canterbury.  I was responsible for ensuring that all mines operating in the South Island conformed with the Coal Mines Act and Regulations in terms of safety, licensing and environmental concerns.  I also saw an important aspect of my role being to provide mining advice and expertise on the day to day mining operation to the mine managers and the miners.  There were usually six inspectors in total when we operated, depending on which mines were active at that time.  For example, in the early 1980s there was one inspector in Huntly, two in Westport, two in Greymouth, and one at Dunedin with a chief inspector of mines based in Wellington having overall supervision.  Later the chief inspector of mines was domiciled in Hamilton to be nearer the action.  It was an important part of the inspector’s role to visit mines regularly.  There was a written instruction from the chief inspector to visit each large gassy mines weekly, small mines monthly, and opencast mines six weekly.  On those visits the inspector would check all the reports, walk around the mine, talk to the miners and the managers and personally carrying out gas level checks.  In particular he were to pay attention to the ventilation.  (a) He would check the position of auxiliary fans to ensure there was no recirculation; check all the stoppings visually to ensure they were in good repair; in every return seal he would – it’s not quite right, he would insert, but there would be a six metre pipe through the seal and he would test the air through the pipe valve.  This is now covered by a the Maiheke sampling tubes; we would always discuss with the men and the mine manager any proposed changes that were need; and we would address planning for the ventilation for the next stages of development.  I saw my role as an inspector as similar to that of a mine consultant.  I always checked everything myself and I had discussions with the miners and mining management about the conditions in the mine and about safety.  As the inspectors were experienced miners themselves the miners and the mine managers would seek information and advice from us.  Discussions were open and generally very positive.  We did not see our role as punitive but rather as supportive and advisory and critical to safety.  An example of the importance of having experienced mine inspectors is my experience of the Huntly Mine in the 1980s.  In 1983 I was transferred to the Huntly mines in the Waikato as this was expected to be the biggest producer of coal at that time.  Initially Huntly had been non-gassy as they were shallow but when Huntly West and East mines were developed they were deep and gassy mines.  The officials working at the Huntly mines were not used to gassy mines.  When I went to Huntly I found there were a lot of problems with gas testing and a limited knowledge of the officials there in relation to gas.  Many of the officials had the relevant gas testing certificates but they had no experience of gassy mines.  These gas testing certificates had to be renewed every five years but they were renewed purely on a basis of an eyesight test.  After the Strongman Mine explosion in 1967 the new Garford safety lamps had been introduced into New Zealand.  The previous safe lamps would explode internally at 5% of methane.  There was no way of measuring the gas when there was an explosion in the lamp so the gas level was just recorded as plus 5%.  The new Garfield lamps enabled the miner to extract an air sample by the use of a small vacuum suction socket.  The socket was inserted in the lamp and could measure methane gases of up to 20% with some accuracy.
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A. On my arrival at Huntly it quickly became apparent to me that although the lamps had been introduced for some time, nobody knew how to read them correctly.  I discussed the safety lamps with the Chief Inspector of Mines at that time was Jim Connew and training was put in place for me to train all the mining officials with the new lamps.  A further example of the decision making which was required of an inspector’s position is shown when I was called to the Huntly West Mine where a fire had been out of control.  I presided over the sealing of this fire and gave the mine manager written instructions that no personnel were allowed underground and the mine surface portal areas were to be fenced off.  This proved the correct decision as the mine blew up 36 hours later causing extensive underground and surface damage.  Dangers in legislation, qualifications and experience of the inspectors up to 1993, prior to the Act coming into force the inspectors went down each large gassy mine every week.  These were experienced miners trusted by the miners and the mine managers.  Neither the miners nor the managers would take shortcuts as they knew the inspector would be coming every week to walk through the mine and everything would be checked.  Since OSH, Department of Labour (DOL) took over in 1992 the calibre of the inspectors had slipped dramatically and because the mine inspections are few and far between and the management and men are left to self regulate.  I believe the miners need, and I have always needed that other pair of eyes looking over them and looking out for them.  I address the organisational structure of the agencies, the lines of responsibility and accountability, delegations and the job descriptions and performance agreement of relevant personnel in New Zealand.  Under the Coal Mines Act in respect they had to have at least five years’ experience of managerial experience of an underground coal mine and be the holder of a First Class New Zealand Mine Manager’s Certificate.  This has not been continued under Department of Labour.  It is clear from what has happened and what I know of the gas issues at Pike that the inspectors are not experienced in gassy mines themselves or in the mine management of gassy mines.  One reason for the non-appointment of experienced inspectors could be that Department of Labour lowered the inspector of coal mines salary and I understand that this was because the salaries were previously higher than their branch managers.  You cannot get highly experienced miners to do that job on such low pay when you consider the incomes available from mining.  Under the Coal Mines Act 1979 all mining licences and privileges were handled by the licensing division.  All applications were sent through to the coal mines inspector in that particular mining district.  He would review the application, check for any previous mining which had taken place there and inquire into the suitability of the applicant to see if he was technically and financially sound to be granted a licence.  The inspector had to be supplied with a six monthly plan and a plan of the applicant’s development intentions which the inspector would comment on if necessary.  This is now done by Crown Minerals without any support from people on the ground with the appropriate experience and qualifications to understand mine plans.  This was always a recipe for disaster.  The Pike plans should, in my view, never have been approved and would not have been approved as they were used prior to that new legislation.  Auditing rather than inspecting, the OSH system set up numerous regulatory forms detailing checks and reporting which need to be ticked off by the miners.  In my experience these forms were often just ticked without checks having been carried out.  The inspector would then audit these forms and would have no way of knowing whether or not the checks had actually been carried out.  Under the Act new roles were created for tunnels inspectors and quarry inspectors in addition to mines inspectors.  These new inspectors roles were heavily directed towards auditing rather than carrying out inspections.  The OSH inspectors would go to the office of the mine and review the reporting sheets completed by the miners and the health and safety officers.  They were required to tick off that the reports had been completed.  There was no provision for the inspector to check the conditions in the mine themselves or to ensure that the reports had been completely corrected by speaking to the miners.  It was certainly a requirement that the new inspectors went to the mines, however, for example Kevin Poynter the current OSH inspector of mines had at one point to cover Buller, Greymouth, Huntly and Canterbury.
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A. This meant covering four mines in Buller, four in Greymouth and six in Huntly, two underground and four open cast.  The Ohai, Mataura, Nightcaps, Otago and Canterbury mines were covered by the Mines and Tunnels Inspector based in Dunedin.  It would just not be possible to inspect that number of mines regularly as inspections should be made.  During that year I was acting as mine manager in Reefton, September 2008, October 2009.  I saw Kevin Poynter twice.  Once when he went down the mine with me driving him.  He would not have had time to walk around the mine and the other time was when he came through to introduce a new inspector and at that time he did not go into the mine.  When Bill Taylor was offered the inspector’s position in 2002 he held a Scottish mine manager’s ticket but had not managed underground mines.  I was asked to take the role of mines inspector for the South Island while Bill transferred to New Zealand.  I was offered a salary which was quite inadequate for the work and responsibilities and very much less than my retirement salary.  While carrying out this temporary role I was told by the Department of Labour that the department would not fund me, as there was no budget, to stay in motels while I was travelling to inspect mines.  I was told that my role now was to do more audits of the check lists to ensure they had been completed and make fewer inspections of the mines.  I was fully aware, as I believe that everyone else with experience, that the very nature of mining meant that the men did what they considered to be necessary checking.  There was a list to be ticked, it would regularly be ticked without reference to the actual requirement on the list.  The risk is obvious.  I said that if I was to carry out the role then I would need to continue to inspect the mines and talk to the men otherwise it was not possible for me to do the job as it had to be done.  Reactive as opposed to proactive management.  The requirements of the HSEA seemed to shift the health and safety focus for which I was familiar.  There was no requirement to ensure that the people with relevant experience and competence, advise or support the mining operation.  Instead there is an auditing emphasis and as an investigative and perhaps punitive role after the event.  Too late.  In my opinion this lack of intervention at Ahern’s tunnel and the Black Reef contributed to these deaths.  I have strong views about what I know about Pike River but much more needs to be known of the facts before I would express my considered view.  At Ahern’s tunnel the owner Mick Ahern was tunnelling, pipe-jacking, hydraulically pushing pipes through to form a tunnel, through a rubbish tip to make a culvert underneath.  He was using non-flameproof gear and was not aware that there was an issue of methane gas.  Methane production is a known risk at rubbish dumps and methane venting pipes are often installed to release the methane and stop the build-up.  It is believed that either Ahern’s illegal 240 volt lighting set up he used or the gas cutting equipment may have caused the explosion which killed him.  The other worker engaged had just gone outside and was not injured.  The tunnel was inspected prior to the accident by the DOL Mines and Quarry Inspector.  Robin Hughes, who was at that time chief inspector of coal mines, had to go and report on this fatality.  I believe the Ahern fatality and the drowning at Black Reef mine and possibly the Pike River disaster can be attributed in some part to human error and lack of experience of the inspectors and lack of regular mine inspections.  I do not know how many underground inspections were carried out at Pike River.  I managed the Terrace Mine at Reefton for one year and one inspection was made by the inspector.  There was a reluctance to advise and enforce safety matters.  Occupation Health and Safety inspectors are not allowed to give advice or be involved in decision making.  This is a management prerogative.  An experienced inspector of coal mines should have immediately understood the risks and the preventable actions necessary at Ahern’s tunnel and Black Reef and prevented the accident from happening.  A reactive instead of proactive approach is not appropriate for health and safety in the underground coalmining industry.  Lack of detail and enforceable requirement in the regulations.  The Coal Mines Act and the Coal Mines Regulations, Licensing Regulations, Electrical Regulations were repealed by the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.
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A. Because the Regulations under the HSE Act did not cover certain items we were told by the (then) Department of Commerce lawyers to us the repealed legislation as best mining practice.  The previous Regulations were specific.  The new HSE Regulations are mainly not.  While they require all practical steps they no longer say what those steps are.  Given my history with the mines I was extremely concerned at the reduced requirements of the HSE Act and Regulations.  As just one example, a previous requirement was that in the event that a mine manager was away for three days or more he was required to appoint in his place a person with similar mining experience and qualifications.  That appointment had to be approved by the inspector.  Under the HSE Act a manager is required only to appoint someone he considers to be competent, even if that person is not qualified.  This makes no sense to me.  A person might be qualified but incompetent, but to be competent you must be qualified.  Further concerns.  I have concerns about the following issues.  The closing of the dedicated mining schools and training through the polytechs.  This is because (a) a dedicated mining school set the standards and exams are all set and assessed to the Coal Mines Board of Examiners  The chief inspector of coal mines, who was always an experienced miner, was the chairman of the board and had a deep understanding of health and safety in that industry.  The board set the standards and exams annually based on what they as experienced miners considered essential knowledge and bringing to account history and then current knowledge of underground conditions. The individual mines could not decline to put their employees through these exams and set their own requirements, as they do today.  There was a nationwide standard which bore no relationship to individual judgment, nor financial constraint.  The change to written and takeaway open book exams very much concerns me.  My experience of this educational process is that much of the information provided by some students comes from the internet.  I am extremely concerned that some students do not understand what they have produced and there is no method of checking on their understanding.  Previously we had written an oral exam and during the oral exam we could find out whether the student fully understood what they had written.  The appointment of mining managers with mining degrees who need only one year’s mining face experience before acting as a mine manager is also relevant.  Most of the students work in the minute during their university holidays and gain practical experience.  I consider they should do part of that practice year as a deputy or an underviewer so they gain an understanding of management underground and may be able to gain respect from the workforce.  This is critical.  A mine manager without respect is ineffectual.  To gain respect requires that the men observe underground skills and knowledge and concern held for them by their managers.  Previously the Coal Mines Board of Examiners would ensure that
non-New Zealand trained mining managers prior to appointment would go through a professional conversation.  This would take place with two experienced New Zealand managers or inspectors who could judge their competence and have the experience to do so.  New Zealand mining conditions geologically are the most problematical in the world.  Overseas mine managers must prove, show an awareness of this and a willingness to educate themselves on the conditions here.  In the current environment PRC, for example, is able to elect whether or not to pay for its overseas officials to participate in a professional conversation.  Exclusion of coal mining from the HSE Act.  When the HSE Act came into force in 1992 the decision was made that the marine and aviation industries not come under the new legislation but retain separate controls.  Many of us in the coalmining industry requested that coalmining also be managed separately from HSE.  We did this by writing to the Minister of Energy, tell him that it won’t work.  Our reasoning was that you cannot audit a mine on paper.  You need to go underground and make direct observations on a regular basis.
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A. The change in the system removed the authority of the inspector and left the health and safety choices at the will of the individual mine owners.  In short, a consistent approach which would reasonably ensure that standards were set and met was abandoned.  This was a recipe for disaster.  Conclusion.  I provide this brief without access to records and evidence of Pike River’s operation other than those documents I would have available through my own contacts, discussion with counsel for the family as they have sought my assistance.  And speaking with many who have knowledge of the Pike River.  This phase one brief is thus restricted to systematic and specific planning and development issues within my knowledge.  I have knowledge of other facets of development and operations which direct or derive from others on which I will make comment on other phases of the inquiry.  I am relying on my memory to some degree and will review this evidence as reports and other evidence becomes available to me.  To the extent I give expert advice – expert evidence, I acknowledge that I have been informed of and I have the Codes of Conduct for expert witnesses under the High Court Rules and understand to abide by them and have done so in this brief.

THE Commission ADDRESSES WITNESS
examination continues:  Mr DAVIDSON

Q. Mr Bell there’s one or two other matters which we can deal with shortly that have arisen in the course of the hearing so far, relevant to your evidence and there are a couple of corrections to make.  The first point I want to deal with, however, going to have bought up on the screen a letter to the Ministry of Energy dated 23 October 1997 under FAM001231097001 and this is a letter I’d ask you to record that it’s a [Ex 6]  copy of the letter you wrote to the Ministry of Energy on that day?

A. Yes.

Q. I don’t think you’ve seen it for a while, in fact until this morning?

A. No.  No, that's right.

Q. Mr Hughes produced it.

A. That's right, I’m grateful for Robin for finding the copy 'cos I’d lost mine.

Q. Well now we’re back on song and you referred to this in your brief in general terms, and the letter will speak for itself, but you’ve read it again and does that still reflect the views that you hold today?

A. Certainly.  I anticipated it.

Q. Now I don’t want to read the whole letter out obviously for the record we’re not allowed to, but I want to pick out a couple of points in here.  In the second paragraph – well the purpose of the letter is stated in the first paragraph, you wanted the Mine Inspection Group (MIG) to stay with the Ministry of Commerce instead of going to the Labour Department that was the purpose of the letter?

A. Correct.

Q. And this is coming at the end of the transition phase in relation to mining, correct?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. And you immediately raised the point that the inspectors underground have to have five years experience as a mine manager before qualifying for the inspectorate?

A. Correct.

Q. You then went on to refer to the repealed legislation as to the practicable experience or practical experience required for a person before they could even sit for a certificate of competency under the Act and a minimum of eight years underground before you could even begin to be considered as an inspector.  That was the thrust of your letter?

A. Correct.

Q. The letter then seems to move to the fact that within the Ministry of Commerce there were experienced inspectors who didn't want to go down in status for – in monetary reward and salary and you then refer to some matters which I needn’t take you to but essentially they were a dispute between the State Services Commission and the Labour Department relating to – which included reference to mine inspectors higher salaries than those of the Labour Department.  Right?

A. Correct.

Q. We go over the page and you then said, “Mining is an entirely different industry to shops and factories and the coming of the 1992 Act did not change this.”  You seen make a point that Marine and Aviation Industries were left out of the Act in 1992 and you say the mining industry should also have been left out.
A. Exactly, yes.

1250
Q. Did you express that view at that earlier time when the legislation came through in the mining industry?

A. Not, not only me but, but all the inspectors.  We had meeting after meeting about it.  We complained and, but nobody listened.  They’d already made their minds up I think.

Q. And then in the fourth paragraph on the second page you refer to the mines inspector with background experience being called on to make judgment in certain areas that may be contrary to regulations and dispensation not given lightly and hard and fast rules were drawn up to safely achieve the situation -

A. Correct.

Q. – submission.  You take a bit of a dig at the inspectors in the fourth to last paragraph that reading from the papers they seem to, in your view, thrive on prosecutions and then you make a comment in the penultimate paragraph, “It’s my understanding that if mines inspectors go to labour they’ll do so to reduce salary.  I can tell you if that happens you will not get the calibre of inspectors this industry demands.”

A. Correct.

Q. Now on that last point, first of all I have to produce that thank you as exhibit C.

MR MOUNT ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION – PRODUCTION OF EXHIBITS

exhibit 6 produced – COPY OF MR BELL’S LETTER

MR DAVIDSON:
I should explain that the letter in the copy form I was given this morning, sir, the second page was faded to the point it was very hard to read.  It’s been retyped to make part of the exhibit.
examination continues:  MR DAVIDSON

Q. Mr Bell, in the area of correctional qualification your paragraph 61 has referred to the experience of five years’ experience of managerial experience underground coalmining and to hold a First Class 
New Zealand Mine Manager’s Certificate and you said that hasn’t continued under DOL.  Now you have since read details of the qualifications in particular of Mr Poynter?

A. That's right.

Q. And you've observed I think that he has had more experience underground than you had understood?

A. That's right, I, I knew Kevin managed the Stockton open cast for quite a few years but I didn’t realise that he had that, according to his CV, a couple of years in Huntly as an under-viewer.  I remember Kevin being there but I didn’t think he was there for two years but however I accept that.

Q. So you qualify your evidence to that extent?

A. Yes.

Q. Now on the same topic, you heard this morning Mr Hughes refer to the personal aspect of the qualifications for inspectorate positions?

A. Mmm.

Q. Now you have referred in your evidence to the process by which appointments were made and how one evolved through managership to inspectorate –

A. Yes.

Q. – to chief inspectorate?

A. Yes.

Q. I put it that Mr Hughes agreed that they were often contested positions?

A. That's right.

Q. Yours was a contested appointment I think.  Can you explain that?

A. Yes, when a mine manager’s or inspector’s job become vacant, it was advertised in the public service circular and I was the mine manager at Denison and because Denison was a non gassy mine it was, it was lower down on the scale for managers and the mine manager for Strongman Number 1 came up and of course myself and others applied.  I didn’t expect to get it because there was other guys were senior to me, not in me mining experience but senior to me on the graded ladder, as you like.  But anyway, I ended up with the job and I had five appeals against me, three of them were squashed.  One of the guys was given the same salary as me and the other guy took the appeal and of course the State Coal Mines Under Secretary who appointed me he defended the appeal and he lost so I got the job.  And then of course I went from there to the inspectorate.
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Q. Now related to a lot of the evidence to date, and Mr Hughes this morning, there has been a question raised of not just the qualifications, which you have referred, but also the personal qualities and attributes of an inspector, for an inspector.

A. That's correct.

Q. And in Mr Hughes evidence he’s referred to what’s called, “The person specifications for appointment as an inspector of coal mines.”  How was the question of the personal suitability of an inspector gauged when you were an inspector yourself and involved in the appointment of inspectors.  What were you looking for?

A. Well it was normally the Under Secretary of Mines and the head admin officer and the chief inspector would get the applications for the inspectors job and they would go through them and they would look if one of the applicants had vast experience in gassy mines for arguments sake, and one was spon com, and other guys might have had more [spontaneous combustion] experience but hadn’t been in a gassy mine they’d give it to the guy with the gassy mine experience.  That happened regular.

Q. Now Mr Hughes referred to the need for the inspector to have the respect of the men underground?

A. Yes, most important, most important.

Q. How did you go about gauging that if you’re one of those who was involved in appointing inspectors.  How did you measure that, or how did you know it?

A. Well generally the mining industry’s not that big and we all sort of knew one another and we sort of could form those opinions.  I mean you get some mine managers, inspectors that get on with people and you get some that don’t so it makes your job harder if you don’t.  I’m not saying that you’ve got to give into them or anything but if they respect you your job runs smoother and better, for them and yourself.

Q. When you were an inspector were you ever concerned about giving direct advice as to what should be done in terms of a plan or remedial work?

A. Yes, I, as, as I said earlier I, I was the manager of Strongman and then I got the inspector’s job in that district and the particular manager who was there at the time put his plan into me of his proposed developed for the next year like Pike was mandatory in those days and I noticed, I noticed on it that on one of my inspections with the under-viewer going round the mine with the under-viewer that he was going to split the two main rope road pillars, the rope road being the haulage in those days and I thought, geez you know so I, I just told the manager that he didn’t have it on his thing and I would never, ever agree to it and when I got back to my office in Greymouth the office lady said to me, “Oh, you've got to ring the chief inspector in Wellington,” so I rung the chief inspector and he said, “You've got a bit of a problem at Strongman Harry,” and I said, “Well not really,” and I told him and he said, “Oh, well good on you,” he said, “That’s what, that’s what we want.”

Q. You had the power?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. And you did exercise it?

A. Oh, yes, yeah.  I mean splitting, splitting pillars on the main rope road is, that’s your –

Q. Not done?

A. No, no.

Q. Now I want to come to an aspect that came up through Dr Newman’s evidence and to get a point of the question clear, stratigraphic analysis was not part of your game when you were underground, was it, as such?

A. No, no, we -

Q. You weren’t inseam drilling?

A. Yeah, part of our, our, one of the subjects in our exams was geology but it wasn’t up to the standard of Jane Newman or any of them but we, we had the basic knowledge of geology.

Q. When you listened to her evidence yesterday and you saw the split seams with the sandstone in between.

A. Mhm.
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Q. She referred to the circumstances in which the risks associated with thinking you've hit the bottom of the coal but beneath that lying another seam intersected in the sandwich by the sandstone seed?

A. Yes.

Q. And not knowing how that sandstone held in the sandwich would end or where it would end and she talked about some gas risk associated with those intersections, all right?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, you worked in the area of these seams?

A. Yes.

Q. In a number of mines?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you aware of that variation in the underground structures?

A. Yes, well the Strongman explosion in Greens Number 2, above Greens Number 2 is Greens Number 1 and when they developed there they thought it was the stone floor and they developed Greens Number 1 and they pillared it, then they found out that the coal lived under that, what they thought was their floor was just a big split of stone like Jane Newman explained, so then they developed Greens Number 2 and they started to pillar it of course and then in the 19th of January in 1967 they had the mine explosion in that section and all us rescue men, we knew what happened because we then could see it but the Commission of Inquiry didn’t come up with a – they come up with two scenarios.  They said, yes, it was probably a malpractice in shotfiring, which it was, don’t worry about that, it was, but they said it could've been gas come down from the top seam down the fault and that’s what Jane Newman’s talking about.  If you get splits in seams that’s the problem you get.

Q. And the fault is a major contributor to the possibility of gas coming surprisingly at you?

A. Yeah, we commonly call a fault in a gassy mine a gas reservoir because the country is ruptured and all the methane can get into all those cracks and fissures and then when you go into a fault it’s very normal to get a lot of methane and outbursts.

Q. Now that, we’ll come to it in a moment, a couple of questions, but that answer in part is an explanation or to do with what you say you were concerned with approaching the harbour of fault when you were working with Macdow directly?

A. Very concerned, very concerned I was, yes.

Q. Now, just to get towards the end of this part of the supplementary, in your evidence at paragraph 8 in talking about the Pike River Coal sampling you undertook you referred at paragraph 8 to the top five metre sample or layout of the 40 metre coal seam underlying the island sandstone rock, which is a marine layer high in sulphur.  Doctor Newman referred to the quartz, do you recall her evidence?

A. Yes I heard that, yes.

Q. And does that ring a bell with you, you know the quartz in this layer?

A. Yes because the Dobson Mine which is the same seam, the same island and sandstone roof, had two explosions and the inquiry, I think it was about 1935, there was eight men killed in the first one, and the inquiry into that was that they had a major roof fall and the roof falling into ports in the sandstone sparked and ignited the methane and blew the mine up.  Now, the second time was in the mid 1950s and fortunately it was on a weekend and there was no one underground and the mine blew up and there was nobody underground underground and it was put down to the same thing, frictional sparking from, from the falling roof because two lumps of quartz striking together give a very incandescent heat that’s enough to set off methane.
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Q. And apart from those incidents you referred to, have you come across such sparking from quartz interaction in other situations?  Have you seen it on other occasions?

A. No.  No I haven’t to be honest, no.  No.  Although what Jane Newman talks about the acid water in the quartz and the, the road header at the pipe that was sparking and igniting the methane all those – that’s the same thing, but instead of two lumps of quartz it was the cutting head of the road header that was causing the sparks.

Q. Now how do you – how did you address that risk of sparking from quartz sandstone or quartz layered deposits collapsing?  How did you address it?

A. Well I would – it’s not for me to say, but I think if I was going to – if the mine sold and however takes it over, they’ve got to –

Q. Talk about it generally, not about this particular case.  Just generally, how to address the issue?

A. Well, the road headers ought to continue, have a good water sprays on them that’s supposed to allay that, that sparking, but obviously at Pike River the sprays weren’t working or something because the…

the Commission addresses Mr Davidson - timing
Commission adjourns:
1.07 pm

Commission resumes:
2.00 pm

THE COMMISSION:
Mr Davidson, just before you continue you've identified these three further topics, the first one is the hydraulic mining issue and we have no difficulty with that, it’s a general issue that has been raised and of some significance.  The other two issues as we understood from what you said before lunch, the first concerning what you've termed the shatter zone associated with the fault, the Hawera fault and then the reference to documentation to do with 
McConnell Dowell as I understood it.  They both seemed to us to be matters which are concerned with the construction of the drift about which Mr Bell has given quite a bit of evidence and about which he said he’s intending to add to that evidence in the context of phase three and at a time when he has accessed all of the records.  We’re really questioning whether it isn't best that his further contributions on those two aspects are not deferred.

MR DAVIDSON:
Yes, sir, I accept that and we’re walking a line always between the two phases.  I'm sorry I haven't got right to the edge of it.  The last point, sir, can be disposed of, not substantively through the witness, it’s just that he’s given evidence that he provided plans to McDowell, he gave them the plan which he’s referred to in evidence.  The point simply was for him to confirm, which he can do right now, is that they do exist when they held by Mr Tredennick of McDowell, that was the only point I want to make, nothing more than that so, sir, I can do it from the bar.  The other point –

THE COMMISSION:
These are the two options you're talking about?

MR DAVIDSON:

Yes, sir, the two things he put, yes, the two options so that exists and can come into phase three..  The question of the shatter zone was a word which, an expression which is familiar to Mr Bell and it’s to do with faulting generally and to do with what Dr Newman was talking about at the intersections where the seams have the faults and it’s highly relevant to what’s going to come I accept in phase three but it relates to what she said as to the ability to work within the proximity to faults so if I can put that just as a general proposition, sir, I would like to, but…

THE COMMISSION:
Yes.

cross-examination continues:  mr davidson

Q. We’ll deal with that now Mr Bell.  I'm not asking you to comment on the specifics of the Pike River Mine but you have introduced in discussion with your counsel with counsel for the families, the expression shatter zone and am I right in thinking that is a, it is generally a zone within proximity to a fault in which there is a specific response from the miner?  Can you just explain to the Commission please what you mean by the shatter zone and what you do when you confront it?

A. Yeah, when you get a major fault like the Hawera fault it ruptures the ground, could be 100 metres, 50 metres away from it and it rakes it up and cracks it and then the inherent methane that’s always in the coal finds its way into there and our term if you like is we class as a gas reservoir so when you're approaching a fault you've always got to be careful in a gassy mine situation that you're going to get a lot more methane and possibly outbursts.
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Q. And is the shatter zone the area which has a relationship to the fault?

A. Yes, yes, it can be either side or just one side depending on whether it’s reverse or not or a normal fault.

Q. Reverse or?

A. Or a normal.

Q. Normal?

A. Yeah. 

Q. So you have to work that out, where it is?

A. Yeah, with the Hawera fault’s a reverse fault, yes.

Q. And what if any precautions do you take in that shatter zone?

A. Well, you've got to be very careful about the extra methane you're normally going to get, I understand that when they drove through the fault they didn’t get as much methane as they expected but once they got in the shatter zone, the proof’s there, they got all those ignitions.  Is that what you want to know?

Q. Yes thank you.  Now, the last matter very briefly, Dr Elder gave evidence about the hydraulic extraction process.  Have you had direct dealings with the hydraulic extraction?

A. Well, certainly sir.

Q. And in his evidence he refers at paragraph 28.2, “That by intent and design hydraulic extraction creates massive disruption to the subsurface condition.  The objective being to remove as much coal seam as possible, vertically and horizontally.”  Do you agree with that?

A. Yes I do.

Q. He then comments on the consequences being, and I'll just summarise them, “Loss of support to overlying ground,” that’s the first thing.  “Major changes in ground stress distribution and loss of strength.”  And thirdly, “Large releases of gas when the coal extracted and from the goaf.”  Do you agree with all those three?

A. I do, yes.

Q. So what are the particular responses needed to the ground stress and gas stress in relation to hydraulic mining, different from the ordinary continuous mining practice?

A. Well, in my brief you may remember I talked about being released one day a month for the Japanese Greymouth coal joint venture and the head Japanese mining engineer was a chap called Rock Adachi or Rakura Adachi, but we all called him Rock.  Brilliant mining man and he told me that when they were doing hydraulic mining in Japan if the monitor, when it starts up the water shoots out, it brings out copious amounts of methane or if they get a fall the fall wafts the methane out and they lost a man, although the monitor is there and the guy working, it’s all done by hydraulic hoses, he's working the levers to make the wand to up and down and around, it asphyxiated him so they had to then put the operator in a glass bubble, perspex bubble with his own air, that was their practice and this can happen if you get a major fall when you've got a big opening or, what's the other thing I was going to say, yeah, and like the Terrace Mine at Reefton was on a smaller scale than Pike or Spring Creek but at Reefton all they makes is a blackdamp, which is a deficiency in oxygen and quite often when they got a fall blackdamp would come out and you could feel it, you know, the oxygen might drop down to about 17% or some, you know, you're puffing a bit but it clears, you know, so if you don’t understand hydraulic mining these are things you've got to know.

THE COMMISSION:

There are three parties that have leave to question.  Is there any agreement about order?

MS SHORTALL:

Your Honour, I'm happy to go first if that helps, I've spoken with Ms McDonald and I understand that’s acceptable to her.

cross-examination:  ms shortall

Q. Mr Bell, just before I begin I'd like to just offer my condolences to the loss of your nephew sir.

A. Thank you.

Q. Now, five years ago Mr Bell in June 2006 you spent three weeks at Pike River extracting coal samples from the outcrop, that's right?

A. Correct.
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Q. And then in September 2007 sir you started work for McConnell Dowell on a part-time basis as a shift supervisor at Pike River, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And you stopped doing this part-time work seven months later, I think you said, when you went overseas in April 2008, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you’ve not done any work at Pike River since have you?

A. Only some lectures in their training room.  Just about a month prior to the explosion I went there for two Fridays and -

Q. And you provided some lectures to some of their staff?

A. Yes, health and safety lectures, or self rescues, all that sort of stuff, yes.  Mr White asked me come and do it.

cross-examination:  ms mcdonald

Q. Mr Bell, just a couple of matters.  If I can put the matter to you this way.  Just reading your brief of evidence and hearing you speak this morning is it fair to say that the main thrust of your concerns lie with the changes, the legislative changes and the corresponding changes in the system rather than a criticism of individuals.  Is that fair?

A. Yes, I’d say, I’d say it is fair, yes.

Q. Thank you.  Now you have - in your brief of evidence you’ve spoken about, sorry just bear with me, I’ll find the particular number, your paragraphs 35 and 36.  Have you got that there?

A. I have.

Q. You talk there about an incident in December 2008 relating to a number of ignitions and you raising an issue with Mr Poynter?

A. That's right.

Q. Now this may be a matter that can be dealt with more fully later on in the inquiry but I just wanted to ask you, have you had an opportunity of reading or looking at the review, the operation review document on the – 

A. I’ve seen, I have seen parts of it, yes.

Q. And if we can bring that up, it’s number DOL0100010001 and I’m looking from page 65.  And the document from paragraph 211 through to about 235 deals with that incident.  Have you read that?

A. I can, yes.

Q. You have read that?

A. Yes, I can read it now.

Q. It’s quite a few pages?

A. Yes, but I have read it prior, yes I have.
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Q. Right and without going through it in a lot of detail because people can read it themselves, but the point is that incident or that concern was dealt with in this report, obviously?

A. Yeah, yes it was.  Yes.

Q. And the upshot if you go to page 71 at paragraph 235, do you want to read – perhaps just have a look at that.  in summary, “Gas ignitions caused by inadequate ventilation were reported to Mr Poynter, this was a serious issue and Mr Poynter advised that the mine would now fall within the definition of a gassy mine under the Regulations.  The mine carried out an investigation, the result was that the use of the road header was stopped and the mine reverted to drill and blast with personnel removed from the mine.  In view of the mine’s decision there was no basis for Mr Poynter to use a prohibition notice.”  And then it goes on and points to the notation there.  Did you have regard to the detail that had been set out in this – well you wouldn't have seen this analysis when you prepared your brief of evidence would you?

A. No, no I didn't, but I’ve got to say that I was the one that was informed by Les Tredennick and I, I rung Kev – Kevin Poynter and I are personal friends, don’t worry about that, but I rung Kevin Poynter and I told him all about how I wanted them to change their ventilation and he listened to me and he thanked me very much.  And I said, “Kevin I’ll give you a wee bit of advice,” I said, “Stop them bloody mining until they fix the ventilation.”  And he thanked me very much and then I heard on the grapevine like you get in mines, that all he’d done was get them to take the, the road header out because it was causing the ignitions.  But, the core problem was the ventilation.  The methane shouldn't have been there.  And then I note, I note later on that they did say the ventilation was a problem and I’d told them that six months ago before it happened.

Q. And if you go back to page 70 of the document, paragraph 231, it records there, doesn’t it, that –

A. 231, yes.

Q. – Mr Poynter wrote again saying that he had only received advice on two ignitions and then Mr Low replying saying, “Don’t know you fed you that information, two ignitions, but I’ve been told subsequent by a number of people that there were at least 10,” and then Mr Low coming back saying, “I don't know where you got that information,” and then –

A. He got it from me.

Q. – the – yes.

A. Yeah, and I believe Les Tredennick he doesn’t tell lies.

Q. All right, but without getting into the detail, the point I’m wanting to make with you is the issue is dealt with quite fully in this operational review, isn’t it, the details?

A. Yes, yes.  I agree with that.

Q. Now the only other matter I just wanted to take you to was some clarification.  Paragraph 63 and 64 of your brief, where you are talking about plans, and we’ve had some evidence about this so I might be able to do this in a fairly shorthand way, but do you, do you accept that the – that under both the old system and the new system that a plan, a very high level land plan was submitted with the application for licence or permit?

A. Yes.

Q. And that’s a land plan?  A topographical plan?

A. Yes, I heard you ask Robin Hughes that and I, I agree with that, that's right.

Q. So if you heard me ask Mr Hughes that, do you agree with the matters that I put to Mr Hughes and his acceptance of those – that analysis of the way the legislation describes the plans?

A. Yes, I do, yes.

Q. Because in your paragraph 63 and 64 and it’s probably just the way that it’s been drafted, it seems to merge the two types of plans, but you, you accept there are two quite distinct types of plan?

A. Yes I do, but I’d like to say that I’ve – I resigned from chief inspector in ’93 and I’ll be honest because of the OSH Act, I just couldn't see it working and I resigned, so what actually happened after that I didn't take much notice of.  So if I said yes or no I might be wrong, so…

Q. That’s fine Mr Bell, thank you very much.
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cross-examination:  mr wilding

Q. If we could have summation number FAM0001/15.  And Mr Bell if I could ask you to look at the last sentence of the top paragraph, which is a continuation of paragraph 61 where you say essentially that it’s clear to you that inspectors are not experienced in gassy mines or mine management of gassy mines?

A. Mmm.

Q. Do I infer from that that you think that it’s important that inspectors who inspect gassy mines should have had working experience in gassy mines?

A. Yes.  I can qualify that quite simply.  I mean I could see they were going to have a problem, no-one would listen to me, Joe Edwards wouldn’t.  He went to Pike River, they said, “Oh we’ll fix the ventilation,” they didn’t do nothing.  If you read Joe Edwards evidence you’ll see where they changed fan, they put fans in the middle, the ductings were bursting with the pressure.  They were trying to fix the ventilation but they couldn’t because it wasn’t adequate right from the start.  That’s my argument.

Q. Well I’ll just stop you there.  What I’m interested to know is whether you think that an inspector who inspects a gassy mine should have had practical working experience in a gassy mine?

A. Oh, yes, yes.  If you remember in my brief I got transferred to Huntly for that reason because the mines there had turned gassy.  And I can follow on by saying that I refused to go to Huntly because all the inspectors were on the same salary so what they done they called me the senior inspector to get over it and that’s the only reason I went to Huntly because I appeal that the guy who was getting my job for East Coast Canterbury wasn’t good enough to go to Huntly but he was getting the same salary as me.  So, yeah, I can qualify it by saying that.

Q. Why do you say that an inspector inspecting a gassy mine needs to have had practical experience working in a gassy mine?

A. Well that’s where you learn how to handle the gas.

Q. And do you think that that’s something which can’t be learnt, for example through an academic qualification?

A. No you can’t learn that through an academic – you can read about and that but unless you’ve physically been there and done that it doesn’t sink in.  I can be honest about that.

Q. If I can take you to paragraph 65 of that same page.  As I understand it, and correct me if I’m wrong, one of your points here is that under the OSH system there are forms that miners have to tick off and that they sometimes don’t?

A. Yes.  They have restart checks for vehicles, lockdown checks when they lock them down, and although – I’d like to say that we have had people from Pike River who have been interviewed by the family lawyers and myself, I’ve been present, that know all about this.  I personally don’t really know but they say that the guys hop on the vehicles and just fill them in when they want.

Q. I won’t go into that.  But your point is that miners sometimes tick off things on regulatory forms without actually having done the work required?

A. That's right.  In my day we hand-writ our reports, we hand-writ them, now they just tick, tick, tick and they just do it, 'cos it’s simple.

Q. How do you say a mines inspector’s able to check whether the work on those forms have been done?

A. He has to take it for granted that it has been done.  He wouldn’t know.

Q. In your day did you check whether or not what was written on the predecessor to those forms was done?

A. Yes, that’s one thing you always, you always read the previous deputies report or underviewer or whatever he happened to be, you always read that so you knew what – and we always put the barometer and the temperature up top 'cos in a gassy mine if the barometer’s dropping you get ready to get more gas.  And these are the things that you, that we always done and you always done it in your own handwriting and you signed it and you don’t sign things if it’s not correct.  That’s my opinion.
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Q. So when you were a mine’s inspector your assurance that the work had been done came as a result of the detail having been written out on the form as opposed to a form simply being ticked?

A. Yes, yeah I feel and I know that it did work better that way.

Q. Could I take you please to summation page ending 16 and paragraph 70?  You’ve said there and I’ll paraphrase that you were told your role was to do more audits and make fewer inspections.

A. That happened to me twice.

Q. Right.

A. When I was in Huntly, the mining business manager he was called George Munroe, he rung me and then while I was – just before I retired in Huntly and he said, “Harry you’re doing too many inspections.  I want you to do more audits.”  I said, “I’m sorry George I’ve been doing inspections all me life, I’m finishing shortly and I’m still going to do them.”  And then when I leave for Christchurch, Margaret Radford, after I’ve been there after a month, she rung me up and said that they never had a budget for me to go to Westport or Reefton and stay in a motel, so that’s why it’s there.

Q. Now this was about 2002?

A. Yes that's right, yes.

Q. Are you able to recall the frequency of the inspections that you were doing at that time?

A. I never changed, I done exactly what I’d always done.

Q. So how many would that be per year or how many per month?

A. Well put it this way, I – Reefton had probably, there’s a lot of small mines, probably about seven or eight I suppose at that time.  So I drive up to Reefton, which takes just over an hour, I’d do a couple of mines, stay the night, the next day I’d do three mines, stay the night, do the other three, then I’d go through the Buller Gorge and do Heaphy’s Mine and New Creek and then I would stay in Westport and I’d go to Stockton.  Stockton was a whole day.  That’s a big mine and then the next day I go to a motel, the next day I go up to Dennison and I think – the impression I got although I’m only guessing was that he sort of wanted me to drive to Reefton do a mine and drive back again.  The next day do the same again and I just, you know…

Q. At that time, were you also having communications with mines by telephone and email and letter?

A. I don’t use a computer so I never, I never emailed, but yes certainly phone.

Q. Would you agree with the proposition that increased communication by phone or email or correspondence may reduce the need to visit a mine so frequently?

A. No, I don’t, I can’t agree with that, probably old-fashioned, but I can’t agree with that.

Q. Why can’t you agree with that?

A. Well that’s your job, you’re inspector of mines, you go inspect them.  the name of it tells you what you got to do.  Unless they’re going to call them audited mines, I don't know.

Q. Could I take you please to summation ending 17, paragraph 78?  You’ve, in essence, made a criticism as I interpret it, that the Health and Safety Regulations don’t say what steps are required.  Is that correct that’s a criticism of yours?

A. That’s a criticism, yes.

Q. And so I take it from that that you think that somewhere there has to be a document setting out what steps are required to make certain aspects of a mine safe.  Is that correct?

A. Dead right and then they’re normal in regulation so that that’s it, there’s no…

Q. Are you familiar with what’s meant by Industry Codes of Practice?

A. I am.

Q. Do you think that gap can be filled by Industry Codes of Practice?

A. Well in, in my day it was regulations and managers rules and I presume you could get a comparison between mangers rules and codes of practice, but, I, I suppose it could be, but they’re not mandatory codes of practice.
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Q. Would your concern therefore be that whatever’s set out to fill those gaps has to be mandatory?

A. Provided what's happened I think so, yes.

Q. Have you had any involvement in the development of any of the industry codes of practice?

A. No but I did do one for the Chief Inspector’s conference in Darwin.  They asked me to do a code of practice on self rescuers which I did.  That’s the only one I've done.

Q. If I can take you please to summation document ending 18, paragraph 81(iv), and could you please just read 81(a)(iv) and then perhaps just explain what's meant by that?

A. “Closing of dedicated,” is that what you want me to read, it out?
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Q. No, just to yourself where it starts, “The individual mines could not decline.”
A. Yes, I've been involved in maybe four or five professional conversations, these are mining managers or underviewers or tunnel managers that have come from overseas and to gain a New Zealand certificate they go through a professional conversation and they present their CV and talk about it and we ask questions and we decide whether or not we consider they have got similar standards to New Zealand  And we ask questions and Pike River has brought in quite a few South Africans and even Australian officials and I don't, I think there is a trans-Tasman agreement between us so it didn’t matter too much with Australian ones but we still went through it but the ones from South Africa and who they reap from Germany.  They had to go through it in great detail and at the end of it myself, my colleague and Liz Barrett-Cohen who she sort of not invented this but she’s the one that runs these professional conversations she would sit on it as well and then we would decide whether we thought the candidate was okay.  In most cases we found them wanting on a couple of things so we’d make them do the EXITO exam say for ventilation or whatever it was, they weren’t you know considered up to standard.

Q. So is your concern there that senior level staff, for example at the managerial level?

A. Mhm.

Q. Aren’t assessed to ensure that they have a sufficient knowledge of 
New Zealand mining conditions, New Zealand geology, New Zealand law?

A. Well the only exception that I know was Doug White.  I didn’t even know Doug White had even started.  He just came and started and no one examined him as far as I know.

Q. Without getting into that though, does that correctly identify the concern that there’s not enough assurance that overseas managers or senior mine staff have sufficient knowledge of New Zealand mining conditions?

A. Not geologically, no, no, that’s, that’s our biggest problem in 
New Zealand.

Q. And would you say that there needs to be a system to ensure that senior or overseas people do have sufficient knowledge?

A. Yes, I agree with that.

MR HAMPTON:
I wondered if I might be precocious enough to ask for leave to cross-examine or examine in three particular and hopefully quite narrow areas if the Commissioner pleases.  The first would be as to Mr Bell’s view as to a cable flash and whether he sees that as a notifiable event.  The second would be as to his view about three monthly inspectorate visits on notice.  The third would be, and it follows on from the other, the three legged stool and in particular the leg of the chief inspectorate.

LEAVE GRANTED TO CROSS-EXAMINE

cross-examination:  mr hampton

Q. Mr Bell, you've heard the conversation with the Commission?

A. Certainly.

Q. The first area to raise with you, a cable flash underground in a gassy mine, whether under the - well, let’s do it in two parts, under the old Mining Act and regulations a notifiable event to the inspectorate?

A. Certainly, it’s a flame underground.

Q. It’s a flame underground?

A. Fire or flash or whatever you like but it’s got the possibility of igniting methane or coal dust.

Q. Yes.  Under the new regime, particularly regulation 10 of the Underground Mining Regulations and that’s the shorthand for it, a notifiable event?

A. Yes, it’s, it’s about two or three down if I remember right, yes.

1435

Q. Secondly there's going to be evidence, and there already is some evidence about the inspectorate currently doing or aspiring to do three monthly visits to coal mines on notice and indeed it’s enshrined in the mining sector work plan for 2010/2011, I'll just give you the reference, it’s DOL0020010017/2, that’s the work plan 2010/2011, so there's no problem with my friend for the department that this hasn’t been drawn to their attention.  Given your experience over the years three monthly visits on notice as an inspector, your view as to that, adequacy of that?

A. Rubbish.

Q. Why do you say rubbish sir?

A. Well, three months is far too long and notifying them you're coming makes it worse.  I mean when I was in Huntly I used to sneak out and go back shift and all sorts because that’s, you know, I know, it’s a no.

Q. Sneak out and go back shift?

A. Mmm.

Q. I'm sure the Commissioners will understand back shift, they’ve been educated now but I haven't, what's a back shift?

A. Afternoon shift.

Q. Afternoon shift.  So would your view be, or how would you view the New South Wales Inspectorate view that I put yesterday and I gave you the reference yesterday as being DOL0100010001, page 46, “The assessment regime should include a sufficient pattern of announced, unannounced and back shift inspections to detect non-compliance with acceptable standards at any site and on any shifts other than day shifts, an expectation should be created that a mine may be visited at any time.”  Your view of that philosophy?

A. I completely agree with it, yes.

Q. Over your years of experience in the mine, right up from when you started to today, has your view on that changed?

A. Can you repeat that?

Q. Has your view on that changed over the years that you've been doing this work in the mines?

A. No it hasn’t changed, no, no.

Q. So it holds as good today as it did when you started out?

A. That's right, yes.

Q. Notwithstanding these advances and so called scientific mining methods?

A. No, it’s the more regular and the unannounced ones are the ones you want because when I was up the Ten Mile Valley in a wee private mine we’d see a light coming and it’d be the inspector.

Q. That was the first you knew it was coming?

A. Yeah. 

Q. No chance to put the house in order?

A. Oh, mine was always in order.

Q. One other aspect and my friend Ms McDonald touched on it today in talking to Mr Hughes, communication between inspectors and those in the mine should cover in particular operators and managers, what about the ordinary workers, the miners themselves, what level of communication should there be between inspectors and workers?

A. I can only speak for myself but I always talked to everybody, everybody round the mine.  Usually told a yarn or two.

Q. And were you an inspector in the days when check inspectors existed?

A. Certainly.
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Q. Communication with check inspectors, when you were doing inspections?

A. Certainly.  I’ve had them go round with me.

Q. Why?

A. Well I went to Liverpool Mumber 3, I can remember this vividly and the manager was Charlie Cotton and the check inspectors were Norman Torrick and Tony Mangin and they used to do a monthly check around the mine.  And they said, “Do you mind if we come around with you,” and I said, “It’s okay with me but ask the manager,” and Charlie agreed and they came around, the four of us went around the mine.

Q. And the value of that is what, in your mind?

A. Extra pair of eyes looking at things.  That’s the big thing about it.  I mean you can’t self-regulate mines like they’re doing now 'cos, okay I know Solid Energy have very good, we’ve heard Dr Elder, they’ve got very strict health and safety things but, you know, when you’re just production based it’s, well it’s…
Q. Have you a view about the bringing back of check inspectors as the suitability of that?

A. Certainly.  It worked good in the old days and I don’t know why it was changed.  But they - 

Q. Apart from the accompanying you as you’ve said as an inspector what did you see the value of check inspectors in the old days when it worked good?

A. Well apart from times like they went round on their own, but they always wrote a report.  And I remember one instance that the Huntly West Mine the check inspectors gave me a report after their examination and they were concerned about one of the haulage roads.  We never had mesh in those days, just butterfly straps and bolts.

Q. Just pause a moment.  What was the expression you used, “The hauling?”

A. The haulage road.  Yes, it was the belt haulage road, yes, conveyor belt haulage road.

Q. Thank you.

A. And they had in their thing that from a certain cross cut to the next one they thought the roof was very bad.  So I went with the underviewer and one of the check inspectors Bob Poaroa came with us and I grabbed a pick and sound the roof, they don’t do that now.  That’s what we always done.  And I determined, yes it was, because all the W-straps were buckling and that and they put RSJ sets up under that section, before it fell in.

Q. All right, just pause a moment.  There’s a couple of things.  Was there an obligation then for check inspectors to keep reports, make reports and keep them?

A. Oh yes, oh yes they always made reports.

Q. And were they made available to you as a mines inspector?

A. Yes they were, that’s how I learnt about – I was, yeah, I was inspector then, that's right, yes, yes.

Q. And so you see value in that system?

A. Yes, the manager got a copy naturally and we would read it, we went to the mine the manager would have all those books and that would be one of them we’d look at.

Q. So the extra pair of eyes that you speak of?

A. That's right.

Q. And the three-legged stool as a concept?

A. It’s fallen over, there’s only two on it.

Q. What’s the bit that’s missing?

A. Our union participation I suppose.

Q. And the owner and management leg’s still there, what do you say about the second leg, the Government regulatory inspectorial leg?

A. Well Mr Davidson circulated my letter I wrote I think, you can get your own, what I thought of the Government at the time.

Q. That’s your 1997 letter?

A. Yes.

Q. It speaks for itself, I don’t want to go through it I think.

A. Yes.

re-examination:  mr davidson - nil
questionS FROM COMMISSIONER BELL:

Q. Mr Bell I’ve just got one question for you.  I note in your document, section 81, part (d), I’m just talking about these professional conversations and the capacity for PRC, for example, is able to elect whether or not to pay for its overseas officials to participate.  Can you explain that a bit further for me?

A. 81(b).

Q. (d), sorry (d).  The final sentence there.

A. Yes, I see, over the page.
1445 

Q. Can you explain that a bit further for me?

A. 81(b).

Q. D.  The final sentence there?

A. I see over the page.  Just the last sentence, is that right?

Q. Yes.

A. “In the current environment PIC for example is able to elect whether or not to pay for its overseas officials.”  Yes well as I said earlier I interviewed quite a few in a professional state – professional conversations, I know Dave, Dave Stewart done some and the only one that wasn’t done was Doug White.  Now I know Doug White, he’s a brilliant manager and a great inspector and but I just don't know why he wasn’t given one.  The last one I took was Mick Lurch who was an Australian manager and I spent a day with him and, and I think that’s what they’re getting at there.  They seem to choose who they wanted to, to get done.

Q. Sorry for the clarification, every overseas mine manager coming into New Zealand must have a professional qualification?

A. Yes, but, there’s – I’m not quite sure, but there’s some trans-Tasman agreement has come in very recently that allows New Zealand/ Australians to interchange.

questionS from justice panckhurst:  

Q. Mr Bell can you help me with two matters.  When Mr Wilding was questioning you a moment ago about the use of codes of practice.

A. Yes.

Q. You referred to in your day and regulations and what you termed, “manager’s rules.”

A. Yes.

Q. Is a new one to me?  What are manager’s rules?

A. Well the manager sets his own rules for that mine.  I actually learnt it when I was over in Australia on things.  The Australian managers have always had manager’s rules for that particular mine and if a manager got transferred from that mine to another mine, the new manager would look at those rules that were, you know, applicable to that mine.  So you could say, in a way, they were sort of codes of practice, but that’s not what they were called anyway.

Q. So these would be things that were not covered by regulation, but nonetheless were essential standards –

A. Yes, that's right.  There weren’t mandatory.

Q. – that the manager saw for his particular mine?

A. That's right, yes.

Q. At the risk of being a bit personal, you’ve mentioned the impact of salary a few times on decisions you made during the course of your career.  I just wanted to get a feel for what you’re talking about, I hope the figures would be meaningless, but I notice for example that it was 1977 when you finished as mine manager at Strongman and first became an inspector - 

A. Yes.

Q. – on the West Coast was it?

A. It was, Greymouth, West Coast, Canterbury.

Q. And are we to understand that the salary scale at that time for the inspectorate was such that it was an attractive proposition to actually give up your job as a mine manager and become an inspector?

A. That's right, the grading for the hierarchy if you like, when you got to top, top management which was Strongman, you had two options.  You either went to a district manager or an inspector and it just happened that when I’d been at Strongman about three and a half years or whatever, inspector’s job come up so I applied for it and got it.

Q. What, an appreciable increase in salary?  Meaningful –

A. Yeah, well it was in those – it’s probably only about 1500 bucks a year, it doesn’t sound much now, but it was, was quite handy in those days.

Q. By comparison when you went back in the early 2000s, 2001 was it?

A. Two, to work for OSH?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, 202.
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Q. How did you judge the salary then?

A. Yeah, well, completely honest about it, when I retired as chief inspector I was on $74,000.  That was good money in those days and when Margaret Radford rung me, I was in Huntly then, she rung me and said that this new inspector couldn't start for three months and would I help them out and relieve for three months and I said, “Yes, I'll help you out,” and she said, “We’ll start you on $45,000.”  I said, “No you won’t, unless you pay me what I retired on I'm not interested.”  She said, “I can't afford to pay you that,” I said, “That’s all right.”  Anyway she rung me the next night and said she cleared it with –

Q. We don’t need to go into all the detail.

A. She cleared it with head office.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

MR MANDER CALLS

ALAN MILLETT SHERWOOD (AFFIRMED)

Q. Mr Sherwood, would you state your full name to the Commission please?

A. Alan Millett Sherwood.

Q. And are you a senior geologist in the New Zealand Petroleum and Minerals branch at the Ministry of Economic Development?

A. That's right sir.

Q. And have you worked for that department since 2006?

A. That's right sir.

Q. And I think you've described yourself as a resource geologist, is that correct?

A. Correct sir.

Q. Mr Sherwood, have you got with you today a copy of your CV?

A. I do sir.

Q. Perhaps if the Commission pleases, if that could just be produced as an exhibit.  I have copies for counsel that can be distributed.  

exhibit 7 produced – MR SHERWOOD’S CV
Q. So, just as a synopsis of your qualifications and experience can you confirm that you hold a Bachelor of Science degree, a Master of Science degree with honours, a Master of Philosophy, all those degrees being in geology?

A. That's right sir.

Q. And I understand from 1974 through to 1979 you worked as a coal exploration geologist for New Zealand Geological Survey at Huntly and that you were head of the Coal Geology section of New Zealand Geological Survey in Lower Hutt between the years 1980 and 1990?

A. That's right.

Q. During the 80s you undertook some consulting work for Pike River Coal on the resources of the Pike River coalfield?

A. I did.

Q. In ’95 through to 2006 did you work as an independent consultant for a number of businesses and entities including Geosphere Limited, Crown Minerals, Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences Limited and the Ministry of Research Science and Technology?

A. That's right sir.

Q. Now, Mr Sherwood can you confirm that you have made two statements of evidence for the purpose of these proceedings, for the record MED7770010001 and MED7770010006?

A. I can confirm that.
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Q. And have you assisted in the preparation of MEDs part of the joint legislative framework paper prepared by Government agencies?

A. I have.

Q. And have you also been involved in the preparation of MEDs so called tier 2 and tier 3 papers filed with the Commission which address the issues listed for the purposes of phase one?

A. I have.

Q. And again for the record, those documents being MED10001 and MED20001 respectively.

cross-examination:  mr WILDING

Q. Mr Sherwood, you didn’t have any involvement at the application stage of the mining permit for Pike River Coal?

A. No, I didn’t.

Q. But you have reviewed that file and as a result of that review you were able to talk to that process?

A. Yes, certainly.

Q. Could I just turn first to the structure of the branch which you work which is the New Zealand Petroleum and Minerals Branch, was that formerly known as Crown Minerals?

A. That's right.

Q. When did that name change occur?

A. Very recently, sir.

Q. This year?

A. Yes.

Q. Did what the branch does change at the same time?

A. Operationally, no, there is a transition from the way that that 
Crown Minerals was structured into a new structure that has been addressed by a capability review but inevitably that’s something that hasn’t been completed.  There’s a phase to undergo and we’re in the middle of that now.

Q. You were involved in assessing permit applications?

A. That's right.

Q. How many people within the branch were involved in that assessment?

A. In the minerals team which covers minerals and petroleum there have been six to seven people and a manager involved in that and we’re in a build phase on that as a result of the restructuring.

Q. When you say “in a build phase” to what level of people?

A. People come and go, sir, and at the moment we’re recruiting at the bottom end if that’s what you're referring to, new graduates and people without too much experience at this stage but there’s also some managers being brought in to populate the new structure.

Q. What’s the range of expertise of the people involved in assessing permitting applications?

A. In general there’s an imbalance towards inexperience at present.

Q. Does that mean that within their particular specialty they are less experienced and presumably younger?

A. That's correct.

Q. And what is the specialty, for example yours is geology?

A. The specialities are in the other commodities that the Crown regulates, most of which are gold, iron sand and the other commodities that the Crown permits.

Q. So within that Crown team assessing applications there isn't expertise in for example mine design?

A. No, sir.  Most of the expertise is in a knowledge of geology and of resources because that’s what we allocate but not in terms of mine design and their operation.

Q. And I will take it from that there’s also no one there whose got expertise in relation to health and safety?

A. No, sir.

Q. And if we can just talk about the process itself.  It’s correct that no one can prospect or explore or mine for coal without first obtaining a permit?

A. If the resource is Crown owned, that's correct.  If the resource is privately owned, they don’t need any permission or permits from us.
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Q. And in relation to mining, that permit must be obtained before the construction of the mine commences?

A. Before the extraction of any resource commences yes sir.

Q. Right, does that mean some construction work could begin?

A. In theory sir.

Q. In theory?

A. I think somebody wouldn't undertake the expense and risk of starting a construction without a mining permit to finish it off sir.  

Q. And although the power to grant permits is reposed in the Minister, I presume that that’s delegated to officials within the department?

A. That's correct.

Q. And so many of those officials would both give advice and then be responsible for signing off on a permit application?

A. There’s a single official within the group that has that delegated authority.

Q. Who’s that?

A. At the moment it’s Kevin Rowlands.

Q. And what’s the position occupied by him?

A. He’s, at the moment, manager of the petroleum unit because at the moment we have a transitional manager who would normally have that delegation in an acting capacity.

Q. And when permit applications are being assessed, that’s with reference to what are known as minerals programmes, is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And are there two programmes?

A. There was a programme, a 1996 programme for coal and a 1996 programme for minerals other than coal, they have now been amalgamated into a single programme.  Both programmes are still operational against the permits to which they were granted.

Q. Right, so that means the coal programme 1996 is still effective for permits that were granted pursuant to that?

A. That's correct.

Q. And that is only so long as the permit holder hasn’t elected to change to the new programme, is that correct?

A. And change to the new programme in its entirety sir.

Q. And that new programme is the Minerals Programme 2008?

A. That's right.

Q. Do either of those programmes require consideration of health and safety?

A. No they do not.

Q. Is health and safety a consideration at any stage of the granting process?

A. No it’s not sir.

Q. Do either of those programmes require consideration of the design of a mine?

A. Only insofar as a work programme that’s sufficient to meet the criteria of the programme is affected by that.

Q. We might come back to that.  When permits are granted, they can be granted subject to conditions?

A. Yes and most permits have conditions on them.

Q. Can you just outline, very briefly, the standard range of conditions

A. The generic conditions is usually a work programme which is – can be summarised as the right to extract a resource by varying techniques.  The description is usually quite general, it might be by open cast methods, it might be by underground methods.  There may be a production, minimum production figure, an average production figure of that sort.  There may be then conditions to report.  There may be a more expansive work programme that has more detail around it attached to that permit. So there’s various ways in which a permit document can be, can be set.

Q. And none of the conditions, presumably, would ever relate to health and safety either?

A. They do not sir.

Q. Just in relation to Pike River Coal, it’s the coal’s programme that applied 1996, at the time at which that permit was being assessed.

A. That's right.

Q. And that’s the programme that still applies?

A. Yes.

Q. And when the permit was first granted it required mining within a period of five years from the date of issue, is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And it was later extended to seven years?

A. That's right sir.
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Q. Has there been any change in the approach taken to the granting of permits since 1996/1997?

A. It’s a general question sir but I think we would say that industry standards have changed so that what we are given by way of application has changed, similarly we have probably changed with that to have a greater expectation of matters that we would consider in the grant of a permit.

Q. I might talk later about that but when you say information has changed, does that mean that you might get information in more detail than you used to?

A. Yes.

Q. And is it your expectation that you would be provided with more detailed information?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Are you able to describe the process that’s following nowadays when assessing a permit application?

A. From the beginning of application?

Q. Yes.

A. An application would reach us, we would assess it for a small number of basic matters such as a map of the permit area, that is simply a spatial stent of what's being applied for, a fee, that there is a work programme to consider and the land is available for permitting, in other words it’s not permitted by somebody else, it would be lodged in our permitting system and an acknowledgement sent to the applicant that we have done so and the application has been accepted.  That would then trigger the processes of iwi consultation, it would trigger the process of plotting the application area within our computerised GIS and it would trigger the process of a technical assessment by a geologist of the application.

Q. And am I right in understanding that nowadays you use a template to assist you with that process?

A. Yes sir.

Q. What's the purpose of that template?

A. The template sets out in a quite detailed way the provisions of the programme against which an application is assessed and so in many ways it does assist the technical assessment of the application against the criteria that needs to be considered that lead to a grant or a recommendation to grant or decline the application.

Q. Could I just turn to those criteria under the coal programme please, and can we have up on screen summation MED0010070001/73 and 74.  That’s the paragraph on the left hand side, 8.12 of the Coals Programme 1996 and does that set out the circumstances in which a permit must be granted?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And then on the other page, paragraph 8.13 sets out factors that must be taken into account in assessing whether to grant a permit?

A. That's right.

Q. And 8.12(e) refers to the requirement for an acceptable or approved work programme.  Are you able to explain what a work programme is?

A. A work programme is essentially a proposal to extract the resource and that boils it down to its simplest consideration.

Q. Are you able to outline briefly the type of information it might cover?

A. It would cover delineation for the resource, that there is a resource in fact to be extracted and it would cover a proposal that covered the general way in which the resource would be extracted.  Obviously at the first level that would be division of open cast as against underground mining, it could be both.  It would set out a general method of mining.  It would set out the area that was proposed to be mined so that we could judge it against the resource that the applicant knew about and that we might know about by other means, and so on.
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Q. And although I’m referring to the Coal Programme 1996 is there a similar requirement under the Minerals Programme 2008?

A. There is.

Q. And if we look again at paragraph 8.1(2)(e) it requires that the work programme be in accordance with good mining practice?

A. That's right.

Q. And is it the case that if an exploration permit is being sought then that work programme must be in accordance with good exploration practice?

A. That's right.

Q. And that good mining or exploration practice is a concept which applies to the Minerals Programme 2008 as well?

A. That's right.

Q. And is it also the case that if a permit is being upgraded from, an exploration permit for example to a mining permit that upgrade cannot occur unless the programme is in accordance with good mining practice?

A. That’s a concept applied sir, yes.

Q. So good mining practice is a key concept?

A. It is sir.

Q. If we could just go please to summation document MED0010070001/108.  And am I right that this section, section 14 of the ’96 programme sets out a partial definition of good explorational mining practice?

A. Yes.

Q. And would it be fair to say that there’s no difference between the definition but used under that programme and the definition that’s applied under the Minerals Programme 2008?

A. That’s fair to say.

Q. And it’s a point which we’ve already referred to but for completeness.  Paragraph 14.1 says that, “It should be noted that this section does not address those good explorational mining practice components which are not relevant to the functions of the Crown Minerals Act 1991.  In particular this includes those aspects of good explorational mining practice concerning health and safety matters and environmental matters?

A. That's right.

Q. So the Ministry’s view is that health and safety matters are not for it?

A. That’s our guidance on that sir, yes.

Q. And that environmental matters are also not for it?

A. That's correct.

Q. Could I just ask you to look at the first four bullet points under paragraph 14.1 on that same page, sorry, 14.4 sorry.  Is it fair to say that they have a focus on the activity that is being proposed or conducted?

A. Yes sir, the work programme.

Q. Right.  In assessing those matters could you tell me whether accounts taken of certain aspects of the design of a mine, and I’ll list them for you, whether or not there is sufficient strata control?

A. Wouldn’t consider that, no.
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Q. What about whether or not there’s pre-drainage of methane?

A. We wouldn't consider that.

Q. What about whether it’s intended that there be draining of methane during the operation of the mine?

A. We wouldn't be looking at that, sir.

Q. Nor presumably the ventilation system?

A. No.

Q. Nor the gas monitoring system?

A. No.

Q. Nor whether there’s a communication system?

A. No.

Q. I won't go on, but that level of detail isn't a matter that the Ministry involves itself with?

A. It’s not a matter of resource allocation, sir.

Q. Could we please have beside that page the next page ending 109?  Could you look at the last bullet point on page 90 so 14.4 the final bullet point and then the first bullet point on the next page?  Is it fair to say that they have a focus on the applicant or the contractor and that person’s skills, training, experience and ability?

A. Yes, they do.

Q. When assessing those would I be right then to assume that the Ministry doesn't assess whether or not that person has the skills, training or experience necessary to ensure that a mine will be designed so as to be healthy and safe?

A. We don't consider those matters, sir.

Q. How does the Ministry assess the skills, training and experience of the applicant?

A. I think in the first instance their track record is the easiest pathway into judging that so that somebody who is an established operator that we knew about would make it particularly easy.  For somebody that we knew nothing about we would ask for quite a lot of information to establish the credentials of the applicant.

Q. When you say you’d ask for information, from whom?

A. From the applicant, sir.

Q. Would you seek to obtain information from any other regulatory agency?

A. I can't think of any instance where we have sought that, sir.

Q. Are you able to describe how the good exploration or mining practice requirement was assessed in the case of the Pike River application for a mining permit?

A. The file doesn't let me see any particular way in which that was addressed except that the assessment of the application does note that all matters in the programme were considered in the recommendation to grant the permit.

Q. But you couldn't find anywhere on the file indicating where or how that consideration took place in so far as that good mining requirement is concerned?

A. No, sir.

Q. Are you able to explain how the distinction is drawn between health and safety aspects of good exploration in mining practice and the non-healthy health and safety aspects and I say that because the crux of some of the evidence we’ve heard thus far is that health and safety is an integral part of mine development and design?

A. I think that’s as you've inferred, sir, that’s very difficult to answer because at the end of the day when you get into the business of actually operating a mine, the two become inseparable, however our key consideration is the allocation of a resource to mine and so we are precluded by the programme from considering the health and safety aspects of the same information that might contribute to that.
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Q. Has the Ministry given you any guidance about where that distinction is drawn?

A. We’re guided by the application experience of the assessors and perhaps some other things sir.  It’s a little bit of case by case there.

Q. Are you able to express a view about whether it would be helpful for the Ministry to have access about – access to information bearing on the health and safety aspects of a mine and deciding whether or not a permit should be granted?

A. I think that’s outside the scope of the application, but the consideration could go the other way.

Q. If we could look at summation page ending 109, and just paragraph 14.5 please.  The first sentence of paragraph 14.5 is to the effect that when determining whether an application’s in accordance with good exploration or mining practice, the Minister may obtain expert advice.  Do you know whether the Minister or Ministry has ever obtained expert advice on that in relation to a particular permit?

A. Yes quite recently we’ve gone outside for additional expert advice on particular aspects of an application.

Q. And that’s when, presumably, the application raises issue which fall outside the expertise of those assessing it?

A. Or we want a peer review of something that was particularly important or complex.

Q. And the second sentence of that paragraph, says, “The Minister may also refer to industry guidelines, standards, codes, principles and practices related to good exploration or mining practice.”   Do you know whether there are any guidelines, standards, codes, principles and practices related to good exploration or mining practice?

A. There are many sir.

Q. And do you refer to those in the course of assessing permit applications?

A. We would occasionally yes.

Q. Do those include aspects of design of a mine which appear on health and safety?

A. No sir.

Q. Do you know whether the Minister or Ministry have ever considered promulgating codes relating to that aspect?

A. No sir.

Q. Do you know whether there’s ever been any liaison between the Ministry and the Department of Labour in relation to the types of guidelines, standards, codes, et cetera that it refers to?

A. Not particularly sir, no.

Mr Hampton:

Sir, I rise to my feet, the second last question, the answer doesn’t make it clear sir whether, no “He doesn’t know,” or no, “No such application has been made.  It was a equivocal answer to whether it’s ever been sought, with respect, and I think it should be clarified for the record sir.

the Commission:  

Mr Hampton would you like to interpose a question?  What’s your concern?

Mr Hampton:

Well my friend asked whether he knew whether advice had been sought on a – with the Minister, it asked for the Ministry had asked for a code to be promulgated, and the reply was no and it wasn’t clear from the answer whether he was answering no he didn't know, or no that had never been sought sir.  That’s the short point.

Mr Wilding:

I can do that, I thought that the answer was no he didn't know.
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cross-examination continues:  mr wilding

Q. Do you know whether the Ministry has ever sought for any guidelines, standards, codes related to good mining practice to be promulgated?

A. We didn’t have discussions on those matters sir.

Q. So that’s a matter outside your knowledge if it did happen?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you know whether the Ministry has ever considered whether it’s definition of good exploration and mining practice differs from that used by other regulatory agencies?

A. I've never been involved or have no knowledge of whether we’ve measured that concept against other practices, no.

Q. Could we please turn to same document, summation number ending 74.  If I could just take you to paragraph (j) which is in fact 8.12(j) which is a requirement, “That the Minister is satisfied that the permit applicant will comply with and give proper effect to any permit granted.”  How does the Minister or Ministry conduct that assessment?

A. Very broad question to deal with but we’d want to be satisfied that the applicant was capable of carrying out with work programme that was proposed is the key consideration and so once again somebody that we knew well, we could have more confidence in, somebody that we might have less confidence in we would probe to see how competent they were to us to give proper effect to their work programme.

Q. Does that involve consideration of their ability to effect a work programme within a certain timeframe?

A. It could do, yes.

Q. Does that involve consideration of the financial ability of the applicant to give effect to that work programme?

A. Yes sir.

Q. I might turn to that shortly, I just want to take you to paragraph 8.13, now paragraph 8.13 sets out factors that the Minister has to take into account in assessing applications.  Is that correct?

A. That's right.

Q. And are those same factors also taken into account under the Minerals Act 2008?

A. Yes.

Q. It says that factors the Minister will take into account, but not limited to?

A. Correct.

Q. Does that mean there are other factors that are taken into account as a matter of routine?

A. Not as a matter of routine.

Q. But there are sometimes other factors taken into account?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Are you able just to give us an indication of the range of those?

A. I think the best way to answer that might be that because New Zealand’s coal deposits are so variable there may be some particular aspects of exploiting them.  That could mean that we will consider other matters.  They could be matters of land access, matters of land ownership and the like.

Q. Can I just take you through some of those factors listed and the first one is the geology of the mining permit application area.  What level of detail was the Ministry interested in in relation to that requirement?

A. I think the important thing to consider in answering that is that the list of factors that are bullet-pointed there are matters to consider against the three considerations in the heading paragraph under which they sit, which are whether there's been a delineation of a resource, whether there's an acceptable work programme or whether the area applied for is appropriate and so the list is a consideration of those factors against – of the matters under the bullet points against those three considerations.  
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Q. So those three matters at the commencement of 8.13 narrow significantly the, for example, geological factors that might be considered?

A. They do.

Q. When assessing, for example then if we take number 4, estimates of coal resources, inferred, indicated and measured in coal reserves mineable in situ, recoverable and marketable.  Your interest is whether there’s enough information to delineate a resource at that level of certainty as opposed to whether there is a sufficient amount of information to properly plan and design a mine?

A. The two are fairly related.  One being the key to the other but, yes, and that’s the most important factor to be considered against the judgment of whether a resource has been delineated or not.

Q. But for example, you would’ve heard, because you were here as I understand it, evidence earlier on this week about the level of geological information and whether or not it was sufficient.  Your concern at this stage isn’t whether that geological information is in sufficient detail to enable the mine plan to be designed?

A. All of these things are related sir and the level of geological information obviously affects the way a mine will be designed.  It also affects the categorisation of coal resources in whatever classification scheme is used to describe what’s been discovered.

Q. Well perhaps we can put it in a specific context then.  Pike River, what was the level of geological information that you had?

A. The application was based on 13 drill holes, considerable amount of geological mapping and interpretation of those results over a period of something like 20 years.

Q. Was that information sufficient to enable a mine to be designed?

A. I don’t believe so sir.

Q. Right.  But it was considered sufficient basis, back then, for evaluating whether or not a permit should be granted?

A. I think it, I think it was enough to get it over the line because a resource had been delineated.
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Q. At the commencement we talked about there having been a change in approach and the expectation now being that there would be more detail provided and more detail would be wanted.  Would the level of information that there was for Pike River back in 1997 be enough to get it over the line nowadays?

A. If I was assessing an application with that level of information I would probably ask some questions about what that information was telling the applicant and how sure they were of what that information was telling him.

Q. And we’ve heard some talk about for example split seams and you'd be very familiar with those?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did the information provided by Pike River include detail about split seams?

A. No, it didn’t.

Q. And if I could take you to the fifth bullet point and the sixth bullet point which talk about the closed mining operations in various respects and just for really certainty, once again those aren’t directed at any consideration of the design of the mine or health and safety?

A. They can't ignore the design of the mine but my guidance on looking at those matters is helped by another part of the programme, sir.

Q. Which part of the programme is that?

A. That’s under 8.17 in the programme, sir, which asks that the work programme provide a general overview and an outline of proposals and indicative long-term mining plans.  That sort of language sir.

Q. If I could take you please to the third bullet point from the bottom, which is directed at project economics, particularly financial viability and technical constraints how is that assessed?

A. It’s usually assessed through a mining feasibility study, sir.

cOMMISSION adjourns:
3.36 PM

Commission resumes:
3.55 pm

cross-examination continues:  Mr Wilding

Q. We had just turned Mr Sherwood to the ninth bullet point project economics, particularly financial viability and technical constraints and I think you’d indicated that that’s normally assessed with reference to a feasibility study, is that right?

A. That's right.

Q. What is the expertise of the person within the branch or Crown Minerals as it was in the case of Pike River, who assesses that aspect?

A. Then or now sir?

Q. Beg your pardon?

A. At the time of grant or now sir?

Q. At the time of assessing a permit application, so back in 1997.

A. There was a senior person in Crown Minerals who’d had considerable coal exploration and coalmining geology experience, but I don’t believe he was intimately involved in assessing the application.  Other than him I don’t think, so far as I know, that there was a lot of coal exploration and mining experience in Crown Minerals at the time.

Q. Back then, was that bullet point assessed by anyone with expertise in the economics of coalmining?

A. I don’t believe so.

Q. What about nowadays?

A. I think that’s answered in two ways sir, that we expect a great deal of that information in detailed mining feasibility studies, we evaluate it to the best of our ability and if we feel there’s matters we need to consider that are outside of that expertise we would go outside to other experts for peer review.

Q. So to your knowledge has the Ministry sought external advice about whether or not the project economics and this is for any application you can recall, have been right?

A. That the economics of a, of an application were that the proposal was economic?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes sir.

Q. From what sort of person would they seek that?  A person what expertise?

A. Generally a mining engineer, but the way that we would deal with that would depend very much on the applicant’s own peer review process which is, is common practice today for them indeed to seek external and independent review.

Q. Can I just list some types of expenses which might be incurred in the course of the construction and operation of a mine to see whether they are matters that would be taken into account when accessing the economics?  Would the cost of the design of the mine be taken into account?

A. We’d expect a general indication of capitalisation as a rule, but for an existing operation we – because new permit applications can be for extensions outside an existing operation, it can require a new permit, that we wouldn't necessarily require very much information at all assuming – we would make the assumption that it was an economic operation otherwise they wouldn't seek to continue it.

Q. Right.

A. That’s at one end of the spectrum sir.

Q. Right.  So, would that mean, for example, that if someone made an application for a mining permit, you wouldn't give consideration to whether or not the staffing costs were sufficient?

A. We wouldn't look at that detail sir.

Q. Right, nor whether the costs associated with strata control were sufficient?

A. We wouldn't look in that sort of detail.

Q. I won’t go through a list of things at that level of detail then.  And that was the case both under the coals programme 1996 and also nowadays?

A. The same provisions apply sir.
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Q. Is account taken of the project timeframe when assessing the economics?

A. We look at the proposition of when mining is intended to start but we wouldn’t particularly look at the relationship between project economics and start up time.

Q. And I presume you also wouldn’t take into account then for example, the likely market price of the resource?

A. No sir.

Q. And in the case of Pike River Coal’s application, am I right in understanding that there hadn't been a full feasibility study done at the time at which the application was assessed?

A. That's correct.

Q. What level of feasibility study had been done?

A. A proposition was put forward in the application with a general indication of the way in which the deposit would be worked but there wasn’t anything that I would call a feasibility study with the application.

Q. And did your review of the notes disclose any consideration of that material?

A. The mining feasibility study was done in 2000 sir.

Q. What information was provided in relation to project economics?

A. Nothing in the application that I know of sir.

Q. Could I just turn to a different issue which is that of reassessment.  After a permit has been granted is there ever reassessment of those matters referred to in paragraph 8.13?

A. In general, no.

Q. If the Ministry became aware for example, that some of the information in the application was wrong, taking an example that the gas readings were significantly higher than that set out in the application, would that ever cause a reassessment?

A. No it wouldn’t.

Q. And what about if there's been an event for example, a significant cave in, would that cause a reassessment?

A. It wouldn’t because that wouldn’t be a breach of the work programme of the permit.

Q. Could I please ask you to turn to summation document ending 76.  The highlighted part is part of paragraph 8.21 of the Coals Programme 1996 and it sets out a requirement for a detailed work statement and mine plan to be provided annually.  Is that a requirement that’s also imposed under the Minerals Act 2008?

A. The Minerals Programme, yes sir.

Q. And I'll just read you the centre part of that paragraph.
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Q. And I’ll just read you the centre part of that paragraph.  “A detailed work statement and mine plan which is prepared by the permit holder annually can take into account results to date and enables the secretary to monitor that the recovery of the coal resource is in accordance with good explorational mining practice.”  Are you able to just outline the level of detail provided in the work statement which is filed for that purpose?

A. The work statement is filed on the vehicle of something called form 14.  It lists the criteria that the annual work statement must address according to the Regulations.  It provides for summaries of the work that is done to date.  A requirement is to supply a mine plan.  And by that I mean an outline of workings.  It requires a tabulation of resources and reserves and that’s sent to us and it’s lodged into our systems.

Q. And when we say, “A mine plan,” is that at a, and I do know that you’ve submitted a couple of examples, but is that required to be at a level of detail which shows, for example, the ingresses, the egresses?

A. It would show those, yes.

Q. Would it show the ventilation systems?

A. No it wouldn’t.

Q. Things such as methane drainage lines?

A. No, it’s not a plan that shows how the mine is being operated and the infrastructure inside the mine.

Q. Right.  It’s for high level resource purposes?

A. It’s for high level resource purposes sir, yes.

Q. That sentence suggests that having received those the secretary can monitor that the recovery of the coal resources in accordance with good explorational mining practice, how is that done?

A. Good exploration of mining practice is as long as a piece of string sir.  And the way in which we look at it is with regard to the work programme, which is to mine coal, and it’s to maximise the recovery of resource rather than to look at the particulars of the way a mine is run and operated.

Q. Well perhaps another way, what’s the process that you follow when you receive the detailed work statement and mine plan?

A. We just ensure that that information is given and we don’t now go back to the permit holder and approve anything that has been put before us.

Q. So it’s the fact that the information’s been sent into you that’s important?

A. It is.  It meets the compliance standard of supplying an annual work summary according to the conditions of the permit and the Regulations.

Q. Are you aware that annual work plans are also required to be submitted to the Department of Conservation and the Regional Council where conservations land’s concerned?

A. I am, yes.

Q. Do you receive those?

A. No sir, only when the same plans are supplied for those different purposes.

Q. Right.

A. And obviously a plan that exceeds our purposes is satisfactory.

Q. But you don’t seek those plans either?

A. No.

Q. And when you say, “A plan that exceeds your purposes”, does that mean that the plan required by conservation and the council’s is normally in more detail than the plan that you had received?

A. The one that the inspectors receive should be a lot more detailed than that that we require because it’s a plan of a working mine and all its infrastructure.

Q. And the Act includes a par conferred upon the minister to revoke a permit?

A. Yes sir.
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Q. What does the Ministry do to inquire into whether there are ever circumstances that might justify revocation of a permit?

A. The test for revoking a permit is quite high and I don't know of any coalmining permit or licence that’s been revoked for non-compliance in any way.

Q. Does the Ministry have a system for assessing whether or not there’s non-compliance that might justify revocation?

A. We don't have a system for that, no, sir.

Q. Do you know whether, for example, it receives or seeks coroners’ reports in relation to fatal accidents in a mine?

A. I happen to have read coroners’ reports on recent fatalities, sir, but not by way of a requirement of my, of executing the Act or the programme but because I expect to be informed on matters like that going on in the industry.

Q. And I'm presuming therefore that you also wouldn't receive for example accident statistics from any source?

A. No, we don't.

Q. Could I turn to another issue which is visits of mine.  Does the Ministry ever visit the operations in respect of which a permit’s been granted?

A. Yes, we do.

Q. What’s the purpose of those visits?

A. The purpose is, differs between exploration permits and mining permits.  For exploration permits there are quite formal work programmes that are, if you like, easy to monitor.  For mining permits, because the work programmes are quite generic and quite general our purpose is very much familiarisation with the operation but not from the point of view of an inspection of any sort.  It’s also to maintain relationships with permit holders and generally be involved in their business to the extent that we’re not at arm’s length.

Q. I'm assuming, and I don't want to be repetitive, that one of the purposes isn't to look at health and safety because that’s seen as the province of the Department of Labour?

A. We’re not competent to do so, sir.

Q. If in the course of a visitation something came to your attention which was a health and safety concern, would the Ministry notify that to the Department of Labour?

A. I think we would, sir, but I'm not sure I'd recognise one if I saw it.

Q. Is there any target for the number of visits that might occur either across the department or in relation to specific mines?

A. Not in relation to specific mines.  We’re expected to make a number of site visits to both exploration permits and mining permits each year but we don't have a target to inspect each mine on a regular interval.

Q. Am I right in understanding the target last year would have been 50 visits for the branch or unit as it was?

A. I think that’s right, sir, yes.

Q. And that target wasn’t met.  Is that right?

A. I don't think it was, sir.

Q. And that’s across all of the operations in respect of which permits are granted?

A. That's right.

Q. Can you give a broad indication of how many operations might be covered?

A. We, just in coal, sir, we have 50, about 50 coal exploration permits and about I think it’s 70 coalmining licences and coalmining permits.

Q. But when we say that there was a target of 50 across all operations, that’s not just coal operations?

A. That’s cross-minerals as a whole, sir, within which coal is included.

Q. Are you able to give a broad indication of how many operations there are across all permits?

A. Off hand I'm not sure of the figures, sir.

Q. How often might a mining operation expect to be visited?

A. We wouldn't visit each mine once a year, sir.  It would be less than that.

Q. Are you able to say how many visits there were to Pike River?

A. There were two.
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Q. And that would've been two since, presumably the exploration permit was granted back in the early 90s?

A. That – I think that's right sir.

Q. And just finally, although the answer to this may now be apparent, do you have co-operational links with any other regulatory agencies?  By you, I mean at the permit assessment level.

A. No we don’t.

the Commission:  

Are you wanting to ask something Mr Hampton?

Mr Hampton:

I seek leave sir to ask about, particularly about resources in the department we’re talking about.  Who does do the visits and more importantly perhaps, who it is who does the assessment of the permit applications, how experienced geologists there are to do them and how many they’ve got on their table.

the Commission:  

How many?

Mr Hampton:
How many they’ve got in front of them at any one time.

the Commission:  

We’re just struggling at the moment Mr Hampton to think that we haven’t heard about those topics.  Is…

Mr Hampton:
Well you’ve heard about – I’m sorry sir, Mr Sherwood has told us that there’s an assessment made of mining applications, permit applications, I just want to know how many geologists are available inside the department to do those assessments and what is the extent of the workload is for that person or persons.

the Commission:  

Yes proceed.

cross-examination:  Mr Hampton

Q. Mr Sherwood you’ve heard the question, you’ve told us about how permit applications are subject to assessment.  That’s done by a geologist is it?

A. That's right.

Q. And within your department how many experienced coal geologists are there available to do those assessments?

A. One sir.

Q. You?

A. Correct.

Q. And at this stage, how many permit applications have you got on your desk awaiting your assessment?

A. We get – if I can elaborate the answer a little sir, we get very few mining applications, mining permit applications.  I don't think we’ve got any mining permit applications on hand at the moment for coal.  I think we have about in the order of 15 coal exploration permit applications and inevitably a number of change applications as well sir.

Q. And in terms of the inspections and visits that you’ve just been telling Mr Wilding about, who do they fall upon?

A. For coal it would be me sir.

re-examination:  Mr mander – nil

questionS FROM CommissionER henry:

Q. You mentioned an applicant’s track record.

A. Yes sir.

Q. Do you mean the track record in that particular industry?

A. Yes I do.

Q. So if the applicant had a track record in another industry, even a very good track record, that wouldn't count?

A. I think it would count sir because it would show that they were able to get to grips with the sort of technical knowledge that was needed to execute a different business.  In other words they would know what they knew and what they didn't know and to extend the answer sir, we’d want to know what other technical expertise they might be engaging.
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Q. You mentioned the annual work statement and planning in answer to 
Mr Wilding, would it be unkind of me to say it sounds as if having received it you'd file it away?

A. That’s not too far from the truth sir.

Q. The coal programme you've told us specifically says that health and safety is not something to which you direct your attention?

A. That's right sir.

Q. Who drafts the coal programme?

A. I think my colleague Mr Robson will be able to answer that far better than me sir because he's been deeply involved in the process.

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER BELL:

Q. I have one very minor question Mr Sherwood.  When you're considering your geological assessment are you looking at spontaneous combustion propensity for coal?

A. No sir.

Q. Wouldn’t that be a factor in terms of the viability of the mine if it was constantly going to catch fire all the time?

A. Yes it would.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

MR MANDER CALLS

ROBERT NOEL ROBSON (SWORN)

Q. Can you state your full name please?

A. Robert Noel Robson.

Q. And are you the Manager Petroleum and Minerals Policy in the New Zealand Petroleum and Minerals Division, formerly Crown Minerals at the Ministry of Economic Development?

A. I am.

Q. And do you hold a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master of Science with honours in geology from the University of Auckland and are you also finalising a research thesis for a PhD degree in economic geology from the University of Melbourne?

A. Yes.

Q. I understand you've worked at MED since 2003?

A. I have.

Q. And prior to your present position you were the Manager Petroleum and Minerals Policy of the Crown Minerals Group at MED?

A. I was.

Q. And is it correct that in that role you were responsible for, amongst other things, the preparation of the Minerals Programme for Minerals (Excluding Petroleum) 2008, the so called Minerals Programme?

A. Yes.

Q. And is it also correct that for a short period last year you were the acting manager of the Minerals Permitting Unit?

A. I was.

Q. Now, have you completed a evidence statement which has been filed with the Commission, MED777001005/1?

A. I have.

Q. And have you also assisted in the development of MED’s section on the joint paper, the joint legislative paper CLO10001 and indeed the Ministry’s Tier 2 and Tier 3 papers, MED101 and 2001?

A. Yes.

cross-examination:  mr wilding

Q. Mr Robson, you were responsible for the preparation of the Minerals Programme for Minerals (Excluding Petroleum) 2008?

A. Yes I was.

Q. And you just heard the evidence of Mr Sherwood and that’s what we’ve been referring to as the Minerals Programme 2008?

A. Mmm, indeed.
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Q. And presumably the Minister does so following some advice from the Ministry that would be appropriate for a programme to be prepared?

A. Yes.

Q. Once the Minister gives that direction that a programme be prepared what’s the process that’s then followed?

A. The process is outlined in the statute between sections 12 and sections 20 and what that means is that the new programme or a replacement programme, if a programme’s been around for 10 years, as the existing minerals programmes had been, is drafted and into that draft is inserted the policy changes that the Government wishes to see take place.  And then that draft minerals programme is publicly notified, so in major papers and and so on it sent to all iwi in the country.  So in affect all public agencies and the public at large and iwi have a chance to see the proposal before them.  There is a period of 40 working days to receive submissions from any interested party and then the Ministry goes through a process of careful consideration of those submissions and a report is prepared on the recommendations to any changes to that draft minerals programme and that’s provided to our Minister and then there is a Cabinet process of sign-off to that document.  And if those, depending on what particular changes are made at that stage they’ll be made and there’ll be a revised draft put out for public information and then there’ll be a final Cabinet process and sign-off in council by the Governor General.  And at that stage the new programme or the replacement programme takes effect.

Q. Is there consultation with the industry in the course of that?

A. Yes, there is.

Q. How’s that done?

A. It is done during the period of the 40 working days public consultation.

Q. But how do you go about that industry consultation?

A. We’ll come to arrangement to hold a face to face meeting with different industry organisations and they’ll provide us with their views orally.  And following that their views will come to us in a formal manner by written submission.

Q. Is there consultation with other regulatory agencies which may be involved in or affected by the permits that are granted by the Crown, minerals?

A. Yes there is.

Q. How does that occur?

A. It occurs in two stages.  It occurs at the Cabinet paper stages.  So we will seek input from other agencies about how the policies may affect them and what’s set out in the Cabinet paper.  And secondly, any Government agency has the chance to see the draft when it’s publicly notified.

Q. Does that process involve the regulatory agencies assessing whether there are any omissions from the programme that should be included?

A. Omissions did you say?

Q. Mmm.

A. Yes, we could receive that advice from any number of interested agencies.

Q. Does it involve consideration of whether or not there might be any regulatory gaps?

A. If we’re informed that there are regulatory gaps then we’ll take that into consideration.

Q. Right.

A. And there is of course a chance to rectify that.
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Q. Might come back to that issue.  Section 5(c) of the Crown Minerals Act 1991 confers a number of functions on the Minister, includes in 5(c), the function of monitoring the effect and implementation of minerals programmes and minerals permits, has the Minister or Ministry monitored the effect of the Coals Programme 1996 and its implementation?
A. Well my view on how that programme is being monitored is that, well as far as the policy area goes we have taken note of where the programme may have been in effect of where industry may have raised an objection throughout its operation because of one clause or another or whether any other person may have such as iwi.

Q. Is there any formal process for monitoring the effect of the minerals programmes?

A. No, there’s no formal process other than keeping a data base of issues and addressing those issues when the programme comes up for review.

Q. Could we please have summation document MED0010070001/10?  Could we please have paragraph 10 in particular?  Now I've already asked Mr Sherwood some questions about whether the Ministry involves itself with health and safety and environmental issues and he said, “No.”  Rather than repeat those series of questions, do you agree with the views that he expressed?

A. In my, in the Ministry’s views we don't take those matters into consideration in the functions that we perform under the 
Crown Minerals Act.

Q. Now if I can just read the last half of that paragraph or part of it, “Prior to undertaking prospecting exploration or mining activities, a permit holder needs to ensure that any necessary consents under the 
Resource Management Act 1991 or the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 or any relevant regulations made in accordance with these Acts are obtained.”  That seems to suggest that a person might need to obtain consents under the Health and Safety in Employment Act.  Would you agree that that’s one of the suggestions?

A. Yes, it does.  It does say that.

Q. Appreciating that you were not the person who was involved in drafting this, are you able to say whether prior to making that statement the Ministry would have clarified with the Department of Labour whether or not any consents were required from it prior to undertaking any prospecting exploration or mining activities?

A. No, I'm not in a position to confirm that.

Q. Can you tell us whether, when the 2008 Minerals Programme was being drafted, the role of the Department of Labour was ever checked with it?

A. No, the role of the Department of Labour was never checked with it and that’s because the Ministry had a firm view that health and safety matters in employment were not within the scope of the Act that we operate under.
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Q. I understand that.  My point is whether or not anyone checked what the Department of Labour’s view was?

A. No, no-one did.

Q. Do you know whether the Ministry, either by itself or in conjunction with any other agency, took any steps to ensure that the health and safety aspects of a mine were assessed by a regulatory agency prior to the development of a mine?

A. No I, I don’t believe that it did because those issues were outside the scope of the Act.

Q. Are you familiar with a document called, “Comparative Review of Health, Safety and Environmental Legislation for Offshore Petroleum Operations?”

A. I’ve read it, yes.

Q. Could we please have CAC0011/41?  And could we please highlight the first two paragraphs under 3.5.1.1.  Now this is a review, Petroleum Operation Regulation obtained by the Ministry, is that correct?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And the crux of paragraph 3.5.1 is that the review is considered that there was a legislative gap in relation to health and safety information at the time of granting permits and they say this, and this is the first paragraph under 3.5.1.1, “With respect to health and safety (including process safety) this means that the permit is granted before any level of assessment is made of a permit holder’s health and safety credentials, experience or potential performance in the event of major accidents or environmental pollution incidents.  It would appear logical that this gap in information prior to the grant of a petroleum firm it should be remedied.”  That is presented as a legislative gap.  This report was only issued in September 2010.  Are you able to say whether the issue identified there, has ever been considered by the Ministry in respect of coal exploration or mining permits?

A. Currently the Ministry’s reviewing the recommendation that this goes to, but I’m not aware that, that thinking has gone as far as coal permits to date.

Q. I asked Mr Sherwood some questions about operational interfaces with other agencies at the permit assessment level, I’d like to ask you a similar question, but in the context of document MED0010070001/10.  This part of the minerals programme for coal from 1996, paragraph 10 in the paragraph we referred to earlier, but the centre of the paragraph has the statement with respect to Resource Management Act and the Health and Safety in Employment Act that the provisions of these two Acts compliment those of the Crown Minerals Act 1991.  Given that those two Acts were seen to complement each other do you know whether the Ministry did anything to put in place an operational interface between the Ministry and the departments responsible for those two Acts?
A. As far as the Ministry for the Environment goes I'm not aware of any, well, I guess in MOU, but I am aware that during the 90s up to about 1998 by virtue of the fact that the inspectorate resided with the Ministry of Commerce there wasn’t any MOU between Commerce and Labour.
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Q. And since then?

A. I'm not aware of any formal relationship that exists other than the fact that we can pick up the phone and speak to people there anytime we like.

Q. But that’s not done at the permit assessment stage with the Department of Labour?

A. Well, you're talking now about an operational matter and I don’t process permits.  

Q. I asked Mr Sherwood some questions about guidelines and codes and I'll ask you because you might have some knowledge that he wasn’t privy to.  

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know whether the Minister or the Ministry has ever taken any steps towards the development of guidelines and codes insofar as good exploration or mining practice is concerned?

A. Yes, the guidelines are set out in both minerals programmes.

Q. That’s the extent of it though, that which is apparent in those programmes?

A. Well, I can't see why one wants to develop a code in context of the Act.

Q. Are you able to say whether the Ministry has considered whether its view of good exploration or mining practice differs from that of for example, the Department of Labour?

A. Yes.  In my view that the main difference is that the elements, the health and safety elements, particularly work place health and safety, are not considerations within the framework of good exploration and mining practice that the Ministry has in the minerals programmes.  I'm sure they are in the context of health and safety, in fact I would say that they wouldn’t be considering good exploration and mining practice, they would be considering best practice in terms of work place safety.

Q. Just finally Mr Robson could I turn to a document by Macquarie Capital headed, “Issues identified by the industry affecting the exploration and development of the New Zealand Minerals Estate.”  Are you familiar with that?

A. Perhaps not, could you just –

Q. It’s a document prepared in May 2010 by Macquarie Capital as to the industry’s view with issues that affect the exploration of mining in New Zealand and it was arranged by Martin Jenkins who had been engaged by the MED.  

A. I'm not familiar with that document.  I think I've read it but of recent times.

Q. Perhaps I'll ask you a couple of questions in relation to it and if you're unable to answer it we’ll try and deal with it in a different way.

A. Certainly.
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Q. If we could have please paragraph 3.5.  This document of May 2010 describes essentially industry identifying four key weaknesses in relation to allocation of permits.  The second of those is, “There is lack of defined regulations or criteria for evaluating permit applications, creating uncertainty.”  Are you familiar with that?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to say what the response by the Ministry is to that issue?

A. I cannot give you a response that, you know, I can’t give you a Ministry response for it but I can give you my own response because to give you a Ministry response I’d have to go and talk obviously to other people there.

Q. Understood.  If you’re comfortable giving us your response please do.

A. But, you know, on first reading with that I would not share that view at all.  Now if we read it it is about regulation and criteria well for evaluating permit applications.  Well in fact you could be reading policy for evaluating permit applications and in fact we have two minerals, well there’s a range of minerals programmes, there’s two operating under petroleum, the ’95 and 2005 programme and New Zealand is one of the few countries in the world that actually has a formal policy document to be considered in the grant of allocated permits.  So many other countries have quite streamline legislation and within that legislation simply the decisions that the Minister is required to make are set out.  No policy guidelines are wrapped around them at all.  So I take a different view.

Q. As a result of that comment in paragraph 3.5 has the Ministry undertaken any assessment of whether or not the criteria is sufficiently defined?

A. Yes.  What you’re looking at is one of the many documents that currently feed into a work stream that has come out of the Government’s Petroleum Action Plan.  And that’s the review of the Crown Minerals Act, it’s pertinences, it’s regulations and programmes to see if they are, I guess, sufficient to deal with minerals and petroleum in New Zealand currently and going forward.

Q. Well I might refer to the next bullet point down and then ask you to say what’s been done about that, if anything, in the context of that work stream.  The next key weakness identified is some permits are allocated to parties without understanding the financial or technical ability of the applicant to deliver the work programme suggested.  Is that issue being assessed in the context of the work streams to which you have referred?

A. Yes it is.

Q. How is that being addressed?

A. That will be addressed during consultation with the industry when the next consultation paper around the review of the Act.  So the Act is being reviewed and the timing will be to go out with a new policy and the Regulations at the same time and to gauge industries response to that.  So that matter should be dealt with during that course.

Q. When is that?

A. The current timing of the review, at the moment there is a report back from our Ministry to Cabinet about the end of August and it goes to the scope of the review of the Act and also the timeline going forward.  And subject to Cabinet’s review on the scope and the timeline we expect to have another perhaps holistic round of consultation early next year, probably around February.
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Q. That fourth key weakness, Crown Minerals allows permits to be granted with inadequate or unrealistic (and unachievable) work programmes.  Is that a matter also being considered in the context of that work stream to which you've referred?

A. No, I can't confirm that.  I would have thought that that submission will be picked by the operational area of New Zealand Petroleum Minerals, particularly the petroleum group.  Do I agree with it, no.

Q. The next sentence suggests that there is, “A lack of appropriate technical and commercial experience within Crown Minerals to effectively evaluate the matters above.”  Has that been considered by the Ministry?

A. Yes, in fact in some ways that’s fair comment and that is the subject of one of the other work streams coming out of the petroleum action plan and that’s the capability review of the regulator and so currently that’s gone to looking at how efficiently we are able to conduct our business both in an operational level and a policy level and the outcome of that is, as you probably know, is the morphing of Crown Minerals into what’s called New Zealand Petroleum Minerals which is a different animal entirely.  It is or is to have a very strong commercial focus to it and so we’re in the process of gradually employing people with a strong commercial focus in their skill base, particularly up at the top.

Q. If I could take you to the same document please, summation number ending 15.   The fourth bullet point down has a concern that reads as follows, “Enforcement of permits and allowing flexibility without good reason was raised an issue.  Accordingly there is a perception that enforcement could be strengthened.”  Is that issue of enforcement of terms of permits been considered as a result of this?
A. Yes, it is in terms of the review of the Crown Minerals Act.  It’s one of the issues that are giving, that are being given careful consideration and so how that may pan is with a capability review and more people on the ground there will simply be more people power to look at compliance, to come to grips with it and there may also, there’s also a view that we may need to strengthen some of the enforcement provisions in the Act, perhaps some of the penalty provisions.

COMMISSIONER BELL:
Q. Mr Robson, just in your statement, section 21, do you think you're aware the process applied to assessing the Pike River mining permit application was different to our current practice to the extent that no template was applied by the geologist.”  Could you expand on that a little bit please?

A. Is this in my evidence, sir?

Q. Yes.

A. Could I take a minute to go to it?
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Q. Section 21.

A. Yes what I’m referring to here is in general a permit is granted subject to it being consistent with the policies, the provisions in the relevant minerals programme.  Now there are slight differences between the two – the 1996 programme and the 2008 programme which would operate today if we got that application today.  But I do not believe that they are of material significance.  What is different is that in order to assist the geologists, take into account and have regard properly to all matters listed in that minerals programme so that the decision itself is robust, we now use a template system.  There is an example of a template attached to my evidence and that sets out the gateways to the Act that have to be crossed and also the particular matters that need to be considered, chapter and verse, so that nothing is missed.

re-examination:  Mr mander

Q. I wonder if we could just have document MED100010001/14, it’s the last one that my friend Mr Wilding was referring to.  It’s the Macquarie Capital report and I think it would be page 5 of the electronic document.  I just want to get some context about the report, just below the box there’s a reference, “Martin Jenkins had been engaged by MED to perform an agency capability review to ensure that MED is well placed to facilitate the achievement of the Government’s goal of maximising gains from New Zealand’s petroleum resources.  So was this report developed for the purpose of the Government’s petroleum initiatives?

A. This report was, as I understand it, developed for the purpose of the agency capability review which was one work string falling out of the petroleum action plan.

Q. And at 1.2 it states, “Macquarie performed this review by interviewing current former and potential oil, gas and coal industry players in relation to their views on investment and development of New Zealand’s oil, gas and coal resources, focusing on oil and gas?”

A. It did.

Q. I think the next page, page 6, there’s a list of the participants and am I right in understanding that the findings of the report backs that were referred to by my learned friend, various criticisms or observations in relation to the permitting programme, they represented feedback from those participants and not in relation to coal?  Sorry just start again.  It represented the summary of the feedback from those who were interviewed by the consultants?

A. Yes it does.

Q. So there was no input from any other agencies or interested parties or anything of that type?

A. Not that I’m aware of.  I don’t even see any mineral players on that list.
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Q. I think just to be clear we do have Solid Energy there, don’t we, listed?

A. Yes, there it is.

Q. You also referred to the, described as the comparative review of health, safety and environmental legislation for offshore petroleum operations, that’s document CAC001-001-041.  Now, I wonder if we could go to page 40 of that document, it’s paragraph 3.5.1.  Under the heading, “Resource allocation,” and the reviewers state, “Currently the MED Crown Minerals decision to allocate a permit for petroleum prospecting exploration or mining does not by law require or enable any consideration of HSE issues prior to the grant of such permits.”

A. Yes, that’s a correct statement in my view but I'm not a lawyer.

Q. Well, that’s what I was going to ask you, does that accord with your understanding of the evidence you've given today?

A. It does.

Q. And similarly towards the beginning of the document, I think it will be page 2 of the electronic document, next page, page 3, if we look at E4 under, “Recommendations,” do the reviewers recommend that the Ministry of Economic Development Crown Minerals be legally empowered to require and consider relevant HSE information including strategic environmental assessments at the resource allocation stage insofar as it relates to offshore petroleum operations?

A. Yes they certainly do.
questions from justice panckhurst - nil
witness excused

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
5.05 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES ON FRIDAY 15 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

MS BEATON CALLS
COLIN THOMAS DALL (AFFIRMED)

Q. Can you confirm for me please that your full name is Colin Thomas Dall?

A. It is.

Q. You live here in Greymouth?

A. I do.

Q. And you are the Consents & Compliance Manager for the West Coast Regional Council?

A. I am.

Q. And I think you’ve held that position since 2003?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Mr Dall, I’m going to ask you please to read paragraphs 2 through to 8 of your witness statement that you filed with the Commission which deal with your qualifications and experience please?

A. I have a Bachelor of Science degree majoring in Chemistry, from the University of Canterbury, and a post graduate Diploma in Agricultural Science and a Master of Applied Science degree (Second Class Honours, Division I) majoring in Environmental Microbiology from Lincoln College.  I was employed previously by the Northland Regional Council and Otago Regional Council/Catchment Board and have over 24 years of professional experience in the field of resource management.  In the last 8 years I have managed the Consents and Compliance sections of the West Coast Regional Council, and have become familiar with the processing and monitoring of resource consents for mining operations, including underground coal mines.  In my role as Compliance Manager, I am also responsible for managing the council’s enforcement action in relation to breaches of the council’s regional rules and the Resource Management Act 1991.
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A. I have been involved in consent processing, monitoring and enforcement matters relating to the Pike River Coal Mine throughout the last eight years.  My evidence is via West Coast Regional Council response to the request made by The Royal Commission for information held by the West Coast Regional Council on the mine and West Coast Regional Council’s interactions between Pike River Coal Company which I’ll refer to as the “company,” and other regulatory agencies that may be pertinent to phase one of the enquiry.  In particular my evidence addresses the following matters identified in the Commission’s letters to the West Coast Regional Council dated March 25 and 20 April 2011.  The West Coast Regional Council’s regulatory role insofar is it involves underground mining generally together with an outline of a legislative and other regulatory provisions pursuant to which you perform that role.  The geography and geology of the area where the mine is situated, interactions between the West Coast Regional Council and the company and also inspection of the mine.  Interactions between the West Coast Regional Council and other regulatory agencies insofar as they relate to the company and relevant parts of the regional plans and rules at the date of issue of any resource consents in respect of a mine and its associated facilities at 19 November 2010 and currently.”

Q. Just Mr Dall for the benefit of those present, you have filed on behalf of the West Coast Regional Council a lengthy submission dealing with a number of those matters that you’ve listed?

A. I did.

Q. Now can you confirm that essentially the West Coast Regional Council had two regulatory roles relating to Pike River Mine, the first being that you were the consent authority responsible for processing the actual applications for resource consents?

A. That's correct.

Q. That’s under the Resource Management Act?

A. Correct.

Q. And secondly that you were the consent authority responsible for the monitoring and enforcing the exercise of those resource consents?

A. That's correct.

Q. Could you move forward please in your statement to paragraphs 30 through to 32 and read those to the Commission please.
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WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE FROM PARAGRAPHS 30 – 32

A. Underground coal mines and their associated activities in the West Coast Region typically require a range of resource consents under the Resource Management Act that fall under the jurisdiction of the West Coast Regional Council.  In broad terms these are as follows.  Land use consents under section 9(2) of the Resource Management Act.  I will add that that was previously number section 9(3) under the Act but that was changed in the last amendment to the Act.  And that’s for land disturbance, essentially earth words and vegetation disturbance unless mining is being undertaken under a mining licence.  Land use consents under section 13(1) RMA for undertaking activities in the beds of rivers and lakes including to use, erect, reconstruct, place, alter, extend, remove or demolish a structure in, on, under or over the bed, or excavate, drill, tunnel or otherwise disturb the bed.  Water permits under section 14(2) of the Act to take, use, dam or divert water.  Discharge permits under section 15(1) of the Act to discharge contaminants into water, or onto or into land, or into air.  The West Coast Regional Council is responsible for processing the applications for these types of resource consent and must do so in accordance with part 6 of the RMA.  However, the Resource Management Simplifying and Streamlining Amendment Act 2009 introduced alternative pathways for obtaining resource consents for proposals of national significance.  Nevertheless, all four applications made by the company for the above types of resource consents since these amendments came into force have been processed by the West Coast Regional Council.  The West Coast Regional Council must monitor the exercise of the resource consents it grants under section 35(2)(d) of the Act and take appropriate action, having regard to the methods available to it under the Act where this is shown to be necessary.  Such action may include formal enforcement action, including applying to the Environment Court for a declaration, section 311 of the Act.  Applying to the Environment Court for enforcement order section 316 of the Act or interim enforcement order section 320 of the Act, issuing an abatement notice section 322 of the Act, issuing an infringement notice section 343(a) of the Act for any of the infringement offences specified in the Act, in the Resource Management Infringement Offences Regulations 1999 prosecution for any of the offences specified in section 338 of the Act.
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Q. Now can you confirm that Pike River Coal Limited initially applied to the West Coast Regional Council for the first set of resource consents in mid 1998, June I think it was?

A. That’s the first main set of consents for the mine.

Q. And that was given the number RC98/21?

A. That’s correct.

Q. There was a period of several years, and you’ve detailed the history of what occurred with the resource consent process in your submission but there were a number of years before the company actually filed another or sorry applied for a second set of additional consents for the mine which is, as I understand it was in May 2002?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And that was given the resource consent number if you like of RC02020?

A. Yes.

Q. Now there was, as you’ve set out in your submission, a further period of delay for a number of reasons but ultimately resource consents were confirmed, I think, by the Environment Court by –

A. By way of consent order.

Q. By consent order, yes, on the 4th of August 2004?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you helpfully summarised in a timeline in an appendix 18 to your submission the consenting process for the second set of consents?

A. Yes.

Q. Just before we go onto the consent that’s of most interest today, can I just ask you to clarify at paragraph 86 of your submission under a heading of “Other resource consents,” you referred or you stated, “Most of these were, are for relatively small scale activities that the company obtained in relation to the development of the infrastructure for the mine,” and you go on to add that they were processed on a non-notified basis.  Are you able to tell us what those additional consents related to in a general sense?
A. Yes, I summarised those consents in appendix 3 of my evidence in chief.  They relate to activities associated with the construction and/or works on the access road, amenities area, dewatering plant, coal processing plant and rejects facility.  None of the consents relate to the underground mine directly itself.
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Q. With the mining permit that Pike River Coal had in which they were seeking resource consent, to your knowledge did the company ever raise with the West Coast Regional Council formally or informally any alternative proposals for the mine, for example, open cast?

A. In my review of council’s records it appears that an option for an open cast mine was basically ruled out from the onset and my understanding of that was basically because of economic viability and the impact of an open cast mine on the ecological values of the area.  

Q. When you say ruled out Mr Dall who do you mean by or do you know?

A. By the company.

Q. You've drawn my attention previously to a section in the document called, “An assessment of Environmental Effects,” which was prepared on behalf of the company by I think URS and provided to the councils including West Coast Regional Council and DOC?

A. Yes.

Q. That was in I think May 2002?

A. That's correct.

Q. I wonder for the benefit of everyone herein if that could be brought up please.  It’s WCRC0016.  That’s the document that we’re talking about there on the screen?

A. It is.

Q. Can I just get you to confirm Mr Dall that in that document, “Assessment of Environmental Effects,” section 5.22, the company there set out a number of what they’ve called alternative options, under the heading of, “Alternative methods,” and that’s in relation to mining and they state, “At a very early stage Pike River Coal Company investigated the various options available at the time to develop the coalfield,” and they go on to include firstly open cast mining, secondly underground mining using a road and facilities at the top of the Paparoa Range and three other options involving aerial ropeways and stone drive access from White Knight Stream which was the ultimate one proposed as I understand it for the mine plan.  Can you confirm – or if you’re aware whether the inclusion – first of all is the inclusion of alternative proposals in a document like this, a standard feature?

A. It is.
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Q. Is it required?

A. Under the Fourth Schedule of the Act, it should be included.

Q. And are you able to tell us whether any of those options were discussed with the West Coast Regional Council prior to 1998 or subsequently?

A. When I started with the council was at the tail-end of the consent process so, I can only rely on what I’ve come across in the records I’ve reviewed, but it doesn’t appear that those were discussed in any detail with the council at all.

Q. So did the – do I take it that the council had no input into whether or not any of those alternative options was a more environmentally sound one, for example?

A. Insofar as I was able to ascertain, that’s correct.

Q. Can you tell us please what, if any, was the evaluation process that the regional council used when – or uses, perhaps in a general sense, when assessing applications for consents for mining?  Do you look at the mine design itself?

A. To a degree, but only in the context of whether or not the mine design incorporates measures that are sufficient to avoid or mitigate any potential adverse environmental effects of a mine.  For example, in a case of Pike, subsidence on the surface of the land was quite a significant issue and so the council assess the adequacy of the measures in regard to avoiding or mitigating the effects of subsidence.  Basically it’s in the broad context of section 5 and the council’s function is under section 30 of the Act.

Q. During the consenting process are issues of health and safety addressed?

A. Yes, but only in the context again of section 5 of the Act which requires councils to manage natural and physical resources in a way or at a rate that provides for the economic, social and cultural wellbeing of people and communities and their health and safety.  In other words we would basically assess, if you like, again the adequacy of those measures to prevent potential adverse effects on public health and safety.  A typical example of that would be in relation to discharges from the mine, we would impose consent conditions such as water quality and receding water standards to protect the downstream users of the water.
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Q. Do I take it then from that that in the case of a mining application for consents that issues such of adequacy or otherwise of the proposed ventilation or emergency exits or numbers of egresses from the mine are not factors considered by the council in terms of health and safety?

A. In terms of workplace health and safety the West Coast Regional Council, and for that matter the Buller District Council and the Grey District Council don’t administer the Health and Safety in Employment Act.

Q. And just so we’re clear.  Who do you understand that would be?

A. At least the Department of Labour but I also understand that the Hazardous Substance and New Organisms Act may come into play so there may be other agencies involved in the administration of that Act.

Q. In the context of a mining application such as Pike River’s was there information sharing between the agencies involved.  And by that I mean perhaps initially between councils and DOC for example?

A. With respect to the resource consent process, which is different to the process for obtaining an access arrangement from the Document of Conservation, the resource consent process is basically a public process when an application’s publicly notified, which was the case with the Pike River consents for the mine.  That information, all that information that’s provided to the council is publically available unless there’s an element of commercial sensitivity.  And for those sorts of proposals, particularly given that it was on land administered by the department, the Department of Conservation’s an effected party and so that has basically access to all that information.  Now they will tend to be a submitter to the application and they, in my experience, will lodge a general submission outlining the department’s concerns with respect to potential effects of the mining proposal on conservation they use.  But that doesn’t necessarily equate to the department providing the councils with any reports it has commissioned in relation to the access arrangement process.

Q. In this particular case did the West Coast Regional Council have access to the consultant reports that DOC obtained for Pike River?

A. None of those reports were provided to the council as far as I could ascertain from my review of the files until or prior to the hearing.  But at the hearing there was, one of the documents was tabled, or provided at the hearing and also the Department of Conservation engaged consultants that had provided those reports to the department to present evidence at the hearing.

Q. And just so we’re clear.  This is a joint hearing isn’t it of –

A. That was a joint hearing for the Resource Consent Applications between the consent authorities which in the case of the first main set of consents were the West Coast Regional Council and the Grey District Council.  In the case of the second main set of resource consents that was the West Coast Regional Council, Grey District Council and Buller District Council.  And it was at the second hearing that that report was tabled.
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Q. Putting aside issues or environmental issues such as acid mine drainage and subsidence which I know were the subject of significant work and assessment by the councils and DOC,  was the West Coast Regional Council aware of the, at least one report that DOC had obtained which expressed more general concern over the mining proposal including concerns over the adequacy of data and information provided by the company?

A. As I eluded to or explained and just before there was a report that was provided at the second hearing and that’s for, that report covered various issues.  I tabled that if the Commission wants to –

Q. Are you referring to I think it’s Dr Murray Cave’s report of October 2000?

A. That's correct.

Q. The Commission has that thank you.  Were the concerns raised in that, rightly or wrongly, were they considered by the West Coast 
Regional Council in the sense of resource consents or conditions afterwards?

A. Yes, and I think effectively in regard to the issue of subsidence that was detailed in the decision on the second main set of consents by the hearing committee and that’s covered in, I’m just trying to find the correct reference, okay.  Yeah, that’s clearly evident in paragraphs 54 to 60 of the joint hearing committee’s decision on the second main set of consent applications for the mine which I included as appendix 17 in my evidence of chief.

Q. And that’s in relation to the issue of subsidence?

A. Yes.

Q. Yes.  What about the issue though, perhaps more specifically, about the concerns raised in 2000 and onwards about, and this is a general comment, a lack of data information as part of this mining proposal?

A. Again, that’s addressed by way of consent additions and it was addressed, known at the time that there was uncertainty and one of the measures, if you like, that was proposed early on was trial mining to basically get the harder data on the, what effects the operation may have on subsidence and, and effects on the surface.

Q. And the requirement for trial mining did make it through into the conditions of the consent which is RC2020/5?

A. That's correct.

Q. I wonder if we could turn to that please and bring it up on the system please, it’s document WCRC0020/1 is the first page.  Can you confirm Mr Dall that’s the front page of the resource consent, I think the most up to date one that relates to the second set of consents I think over the mine.  Is that right?

A. It is.

Q. Now there are, within this consent, some general conditions and some specific conditions?

A. That's correct.

Q. Can I ask you please first about some of the general conditions of interest and that first one will be on page 6 of that document so it’ll be 0020/6.  Do you see there, Mr Dall, the heading “Contingency and Response Plan”?

A. I do.
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Q. Can you, and you'll see it, section 9.2(e) a requirement on the company for a contingency and response plan which addresses a number of matters including at (e), emergency response procedures and emergency contacts during the event of power failure, fire, natural event or disaster?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain to us, is that a standard type condition in a mining consent or not?

A. Very much so, in fact it’s the standard condition in any development which is large scale and where there's a potential for escape or release of contaminants into the environment.

Q. And presumably, I know this to be the case, Pike River Coal did provide such a plan as is required by the consents to the councils?

A. That's correct.

Q. When the West Coast Regional Council received such a plan does it assess it or audit it as to whether it’s appropriate in the circumstances?

A. In this case the conditions don’t actually require the plan to be approved or certified by the regional council, nevertheless we will look at the plan obviously and make comments to the company.  They tend to be general comments, in particular we’re concerned if there are elements of the plan that have been missed out.

Q. Sure.  In the context though of the need for it to address emergency response procedures would that encompass the regional council considering whether or not the mine had sufficient exits for example, would there be an auditing of those type of detail in terms of safety?

A. No, not if it’s a workplace health and safety issue.

Q. There's another general condition which relates to the provision of annual work plans which we might actually come back to in a moment but could I refer you please to some of the specific conditions and if we go to 20/13 please.  That shows the actual land use consent RC2020/5 which permits the company to actually undertake underground coalmining activities on the mining permit, including particularly the construction of the stone drive, ventilation shaft and emergency exits?

A. That's correct.

Q. Can I refer you please to 3.1(a), (b) and (c).  I take it those are specific conditions on the company as to, well, as it says in the heading, “General site operation,” but in relation to 3.1(b) the requirement that, “The stone drive, ventilation shaft and emergency exits shall be constructed in accordance with good coalmining industry practice including any stabilisation works to prevent their collapse.”  Is that special condition a common one in mining resource consents or not?

A. For major applications involving large scale earth works, yes.

Q. Is there any auditing or assessment by a regional council as to whether the construction of such things as the drive, shaft and exits is done in accordance with good coalmining industry practice?

A. Not in particular.  This sort of condition would come into play if there was say an event which resulted from say a landslide and then we would investigate that matter and request a report from the consent holder and in that process we may seek expert opinion, if it’s a landslide then we may be looking at second expert opinion from a geotechnical expert, or you know as specialised expertise in that area and that’s when we’d then consider if enforcement action was warranted.
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Q. So are you saying that in the sense of after an event has occurred the council would or may then assess whether or not good mining practice has been –

A. That's correct.

Q. – brought to bear on the particular construction?

A. Yes.

Q. Can I get you please to refer to special condition 3.4 on page 20/14?  You see that there highlighted under the heading of, “Self heating test,” and it relates to a requirement that the company carry out tests for self heating properties of coal.  Is that type of special condition a common one in mining resource consent?

A. It is for underground mines and there’s good reason for that because there is obviously potential for mines to have underground fires and in fact there are a number of fires today that are still burning on the coast, including Millerton and Strongman 2.  Millerton I think has been burning or the underground fire at the Millerton site at Stockton has been burning for some 80 years, I recall.  

Q. To you knowledge were such monitoring and testing carried out by Pike River?

A. It was.

Q. And a report was obtained, I think wasn’t it from Dr Beamish himself who’s referred to in the condition?

A. That's correct.

Q. And provided to the regional council, that report?

A. It was.

Q. And is that assessed in terms of –

A. Well that particular report wasn’t, I mean given that it was actually done by the appropriate method and obviously the appropriate expert, the council didn't believe any further assessment of that was necessary.

Q. So the council I take it will often rely upon the independent expert reports obtained by an applicant such as Pike River?

A. That's correct.

Q. Rather than having its own expert staff available in-house or I suppose even externally to review those types of documents?

A. That's correct in some cases there are very few experts around anyway.

Q. I just briefly want to touch on the issue of trial mining.  In special condition 3.5 there are a number of special conditions imposed on Pike River Coal Limited requiring trial mining, it’s called.  Can you explain just briefly why that was considered appropriate or necessary?

A. Again because of the uncertainty of the geology and the extent of the information provided at the consent phase, it was considered appropriate to impose a condition on trial mining to make sure that, as I said before, that harder data was obtained before either like full-scale underground mining was – took place.
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Q. When imposing conditions as part of resource consents such as this one, is the financial impact of extensive conditions considered by the West Coast Regional Council?

A. Yes but only in regard to whether or not the cost of the condition is fair and reasonable.  The council has a duty, if you like, to ensure that the conditions that it imposes on a consent are fair and reasonable.  In this case I’m not aware of that situation being an issue with regard to the two main concerned application process for the mine.

Q. Moving on now to annual work programmes, and they’re required by the councils and also by DOC, as I understand it, well in relation to your council under condition 11.1.  They are received annually and they were received from Pike River Coal Limited?

A. That is correct.

Q. And in the case of Pike River Company the annual work plan that they produced effectively covered the requirements of all three councils involved as well as the Department of Conservation?

A. That's correct.

Q. When the regional council receives an annual work plan for a mining operation what does it do with it?

A. It depends on the consent conditions behind the annual work plan.  In the case of the plan for Pike the plan didn’t require certification or approval by the council.  It was mainly, if you like, a monitoring tool to give an indication to the council of where the mine was at in terms of its planning and what the works were proposed in the coming year.  There are sort of a number of items which we would look at and again make sure that the plans or the matters that were meant to be addressed in the plan were actually addressed in the plan.  So that’s the sort of assessment we would do.

Q. In terms of conservation issues you mean, for example subsidence?

A. In terms of, if you look at the condition there are a number of information requirements.

Q. Yes.

A. And that’s what, we’d make sure that the plan included all those information requirements and reporting requirements.  And, yeah, of particular interest to the council would be the, you know, where the mine was at in terms of rehabilitation, the sorts of systems it proposed for water management and how it addressed any problems in the previous year in terms of environmental incidents.

Q. So the annual work plans filed by Pike River were obviously received, checked in a sense but not evaluated or assessed in terms of whether, for example, the proposed work in the next 12 months was consistent with good safety practices or good mining practice?

A. That's correct.

Q. You said, I think just before, that with Pike River annual work plans there was no requirement for them to be certified or approved.  Are there circumstances where mining companies would have to have annual certification from a regional council.

A. There are and in some cases because of the council’s responsibilities under the Crown Minerals Act we still administer environmental matters relating to mining licenses and often those licenses may require approval or certification from the council.

Q. But that didn’t apply to Pike River Coal?

A. That wasn’t the case with Pike River.

Q. So that’s a change is it, I take, the current situation I mean of not requiring certification or approval is a change from previous practice?

A. Yeah, well I don’t know if it’s so much of change because the old mining licenses were granted under different legislation.

Q. Yes.

A. Now under the Rules Management Act effectively as case law’s developed the Environment Courts are not keen on having secondary approvals delegated down to councils or council officers.  So we try to avoid making plans, if you like, being subject to our approval but we will, and have done, made plans subject to our certification.  Now the difference between the two is that certification in the context that I'm talking about mean making sure that the plans have all the elements required to be in the plan.
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Q. So it is a checklist effectively or?

A. A checklist.

Q. What would be the outcome if a plan didn’t meet the checklist requirements?  What would the council do?

A. Well certainly we’d, we would meet – well it depends on the nature of the omission if you like from the plan or the problem with the plan, we would contact the company, probably via a formal letter just saying, “Well these are our concerns and please provide further information.”  That may include site inspections, certainly that’s the case with the Stockton Mining Annual Plan.  We often will do site inspections to go over issues.  There are cases where we’ve brought in external expertise to help us in terms of looking at the information provided.  A good example of that and probably a very pertinent example of that is that a few years ago we sought independent expert advice in relation to a subsidence monitoring programme for the Spring Creek Mine and we engaged Golder Associates to peer review the appropriateness and adequacy of that monitoring programme.

Q. Were there any situation – occasions, I'm sorry where in dealing with Pike River Coal Limited there were that the council brought in expert external advice?

A. No, but at that stage the company had not even basically started trial mining.

Q. To your knowledge though they had started I think the first phase of the trial mining regime at the time of 19 November.  Are you able to comment on that or not?

A. To a degree.  I mean we, we had to do annual work plans and it, there was a little confusion but they, confusing but they talked about a commissioning panel and that was the stage before the trial mining panel.

Q. I just want to move very briefly to get you to confirm that staff of the West Coast Regional Council, as you set out in your submission, were involved in regular site visits to Pike River Coal Mine and indeed there were a number of occasions where there was what’s called environmental non-compliance as I understand it.  None of those though related in terms of the resource consent 2020/5, the construction of the drive, the shaft and the emergency exits.  They were more related to discharges and things like that.  Is that correct?

A. Correct, it is.

Q. And just for completion, there was a visit by one of the West Coast Regional officers, a Paulette Birchfield, to the mine on the 
16th of November of 2010?

A. That's correct.

Q. I think you've provided to the Commissioner a file note prepared by 
Ms Birchfield where she refers to the visit being, I think her words were, “To assess underground infractructure.”  Can you comment on that?  Was this a formal assessment of what was happening underground?

A. My understanding is that it was a joint inspection with the 
Department of Conservation and there was an invitation to, to go underground and Ms Birchfield accepted the invitation but more to get an appreciation of the water management infrastructure associated with the underground mine.
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Q. Is that because of the difficulties that the company had been experiencing at various times over discharges and contaminants and things like that?

A. To a degree but it was just to gain a better appreciation of those systems.

THE COMMISSION:

Is there anybody who seeks leave?

MR HAMPTON:

I have an interest in asking about vertical drill holes, how many were in the original consent, the 2020 consent and if additional drill holes were required whether they had to have additional resource consents, whether if that was so they would be non-notified or not, how difficult in effect it would be to get such consent to do additional holes.

THE COMMISSION:

That is approved, leave is granted.  Mr Davidson?

MR DAVIDSON:

I have two questions, not two topics sir.  They are topics in each question.  The first relates to the condition, special condition relating to the island sandstone and the incorporation of such a condition in a consent associated with the stone drive, ventilation shaft and emergency exits and stabilisation works, to know how that was enforced or examined if at all, and the second is in relation to the emergency contingency and response plan condition and what was expected of the company in that regard.

THE COMMISSION:

Yes, you are granted leave as well Mr Davidson.

MS SHORTALL:

Your Honour, if I could just seek leave, I think I've perhaps got three questions, so one more than Mr Davidson, but it just relates to some evidence that the witness gave around, I think his words were the uncertainty of the geology and I just wanted to confirm with the witness that the West Coast Regional Council can revoke a consent to mine and that it didn’t do so as to Pike River and that would be all.

THE COMMISSION:

If that’s the extent of the applications perhaps we will start with you 
Ms Shortall seeing you have just foreshadowed what it is about, it is perhaps convenient to carry on.

cross-examination:  ms shortall

Q. Mr Dall, I think you've just heard what I'm planning to ask you but let me do it in the three questions.  You talked about some uncertainty of the geology and just so that I'm clear, the West Coast Regional Council was aware of some uncertainty of the geology as to Pike River, is that right?

A. That's right and that’s always been the case, even the company acknowledged that in its applications.

Q. And the West Coast Regional Council can revoke a consent to mine, can't it?

A. It can't revoke a resource consent.

Q. Can it suspend a resource consent?

A. It can't suspend a resource consent, what it can do is take formal enforcement action.  It can use, say for example, an abatement notice to stop mining.

Q. And did the West Coast Regional Council ever issue an abatement notice to Pike River to stop mining?

A. Not to stop mining, it issued an abatement notice to stop a discharge of coal fines to the, I think it was the Big River.

Q. But not to stop mining?

A. Not to stop mining.
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cross-examination:  mr davidson

Q. Mr Dall, my two questions are first if we could bring up please the resource consent 0020013.  Yes, looking at the condition 3.1, someone has considered the specifics of extraction of coal in relation to island sandstone, and (b) the stone drive ventilation shaft and emergency exits to be constructed in accordance with good coalmining industry practice.  Does the council consider the performance of those conditions in any way at all in the operation of the consent?
A. As I explained before, if there was a problem such as a landslide or subsidence, then that would be investigated and the matter would be looked into and that’s where the council would look at those conditions.

Q. After the event?

A. After the event.

Q. My second question is, you’ve referred to the condition in the consent with regard to a contingency and response plan for emergency response processes as a condition.  Is that simply a requirement that the company produce such a plan, that’s the extent of the condition?

A. Yes, the purpose for the plan was to ensure that the company had procedures in place in those events.  And it’s really a guideline of how they would respond and notify appropriate parties of that event.

Q. I have to ask a half question to finish that then, does the council consider the content of that plan?

A. As explained before, we would look at the plan to make sure it addressed the necessary elements, but that’s as far as we would go.
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cross-examination:  mr hampton

Q. Mr Dall, on the issue of drill holes, are they specifically covered in the resource consent, the 2020 resource consent the subject of vertical drill holes taken from the surface of the range down to the coal seam?

A. I’d have to just quickly look at the consents.  If you don’t I’ll just have a quick look.  Drilling isn’t explicitly identified in any of the land use consents but if you look at resource consents RC02020/1 it refers to a water-take for drilling purposes.

Q. A?

A. A water take for drilling purposes.

Q. And the 2021 document at page 13, in the section, “Sealing of the mine and engineering”, 3.2(a) simply refers to following the cessation of mining and prior to the expiry of the consent the stone-dry ventilation shaft and emergency exits in all drill holes associated with mining activity shall be sealed?

A. Mmm, that's correct.

Q. Seems to be the only reference to drill holes.  What I’m interested in really, this consent was granted finally in August ‘04 wasn’t it.

A. Yeah.

Q. The consent order of the Court?

A. That's correct.

Q. If subsequent to that a company wanted to put additional drill holes down, for whatever purpose, would they have had to get additional resource consent?

A. Not necessarily.  It depends on whether or not the drilling complied with the relevant permitted activity rules in the regional plan.

Q. Complied with the?

A. Relevant permitted activity rules in the relevant regional plan.

Q. So if they did then they could go ahead without bothering you folk?

A. That's correct.

Q. So not a difficulty to do?

A. Correct.

Q. That’s really what I was trying to ascertain, whether it would be difficult and expensive.  The answer from your point of view is, “No,” it would seem?

A. Well I can’t answer in terms of expense because the drilling might be expensive.

Q. Yes.

A. In terms of obtaining consents, obviously not.

re-examination:  ms beaton – nil

questions from justice panckhurst - nil

witness excused

mr mander calls

craig John LofLey jones (sworn)
Q. Could you state your full name to the Commission please?

A. Yes sure.  Craig John Lofley Jones?

Q. And do you present hold the position of community relations officer concessions based in Christchurch?
A. That's correct.
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Q. Now have you prepared and filed a statement of evidence for the purpose of these proceedings DOC777001005/1?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you have a copy of that statement with you?

A. I do.

Q. And you confirm the statement is true and correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now by previous arrangement Mr Jones is going to read through the statement.  I’ll get you to pause at various times and we can perhaps jump to more relevant parts so you won't be reading out the whole statement, so perhaps just from paragraph 3 if you could commence there please?

A. My background, while I originally come from Christchurch regular holidays of mine have been spent on the West Coast before I began work in Hokitika in 1994.  My wife and children belong to 
te runanga o Ngati Waewae, the kaitiaki runanga of pounamu and are born and bred on the West Coast and have had all their formative years in the Maori community at Arahura.  The searching for pounamu and enjoyment that pounamu provides play a big part of my whanau’s life on the coast.  I gained a Bachelor of Science degree at Canterbury University in 1990 majoring in geography.  I gained a Master of Science honours degree in 1992 specialising in coastal geomorphology.  For my thesis which studied coastal processes around the Barrytown coastline south of Punakaiki on the West Coast.  I have done a paper in 
Resource Management Law from Canterbury University.”

Q. Now from August 1994 through to February 1996 did you work for DOC on the West Coast as its mining officer?

A. I did.

Q. And then did you have a number of years at head office in Wellington before returning to the West Coast in 2000?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you took up the position of community relations officer mining, West Coast?

A. That's correct.

Q. Perhaps if you just read on from paragraph 13 please.

A. “For over 10 years from March 2000 to December 2010 I was based on the West Coast as community relations officer mining.  During this time I reported directly to the planning mining team leader who in turn reported to the community relations manager.  The community relations manager reported to the conservator.  When I started in 2000 I was the sole mining officer.  The number of mining officers increased over time to approximately six in 2010.  In this role I was the primary day today DOC contact for some applicants for access arrangements including Pike.  A considerable amount of my time since 2000 was taken up in processing the Pike applications and subsequently administering the Pike access arrangements.

Q. Just pause there.  During that period you were also involved in relation to access applications in respect of a number of other mining ventures in your region?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now in relation to the Pike application, is it correct that you visited various parts of the proposed mine site numerous times including upper Pike stream catchment drill sites?

A. That's correct.

Q. And did you go underground in the mine twice, including being at the two coalfaces underground on the 16th of November last year?

A. Yes.

Q. And there did you see the underground operations including the working of the continuous miner and hydro-monitor?

A. Yes.

Q. Now in paragraph 15 you've set out the various pieces of work that you were involved in, in respect of various applications involving Pike.  Is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. The first of which involved the preparation of the conservancy mining report in relation to Pike’s application for access arrangement.  Is that right?

A. Yes.
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Q. Now reading perhaps from paragraph 16 in relation to the preparation of that report.

A. I began work on the pipe application for an access arrangement on my return to the West Coast in April 2000.  An initial application had been lodged in 1998, but most of the DOC work between 1998 and 2000 had centred on participating in the Pike resource consent applications which were at the time I started subject to Environment Court appeals.  I was not directly involved in the Pike resource consent matters other than in attending resource consent hearings, in December 2002 and in March and April 2003, as an observer.  Although as some of the substantive issues were relevant to both processes, I worked closely with the conservancy solicitor, conservancy resource manager of planners and the community relations manager.  I began working on the Pike access arrangement application by reading the files and discussing issues with key conservancy staff.  I had initial meetings with Pike representatives Mr Ward and Mr Gunn in April 2000.  DOC’s focus in accessing applications for access arrangement is the matter set out in section 61 of the Crown Minerals Act.  The focus is on the effects on the natural historic and cultural values of a proposal on an area.  In July 2000 DOC decided to engage Dr Murray Cave to advise on technical aspects of the Pike application.  It was clear that the application was of significant scale and detailed technical advice was required.  I made the arrangements for Dr Cave’s contract.

Q. And are copies of those reports attached to DOC’s Tier 2 paper which has been filed with the Commission?

A. I received Dr Cave’s initial report in early October 2000.  Dr Cave’s report raised significant concerns about the information provided by Pike in support of the application and recommended that Pike be required to provide further information on a number of key issues.  Dr Cave’s report also discussed risks of subsidence from underground mining.  In October 2000 Pike submitted a revised application for an access arrangement.  This revised application covered an enlarged area due to the mining permit area being extended in August 2000 to include the access road to the mine.  The application also provided more information on other aspects of the mine, such as the ventilation shaft area.  A further addendum with additional information was provided by Pike in February 2001.  Applications were included as appendices to the conservancy mining report.  I attended several meetings with Pike, including a workshop on subsidence issues convened by Pike in December 2000.  Possible subsidence had been raised as a key issue in Dr Cave’s 2000 report.  I attended this meeting along with some other DOC staff including the community relations manager and the Resource Management Act planner.  At a meeting it was agreed that Dr Lax Holla would be engaged by DOC to provide further expert peer review on subsidence issues.  It was also agreed that Dr Cave would produce a further report on the effects of the proposed underground mining operations.  Particularly reviewing Pike data.  Dr Holla’s April 2001 and October 2001 reports are appended to the conservancy mining report.  While on a site visit with Pike and Dr Holla in March 2001, Dr Cave commented back to me on discoloured water he observed exiting from the pre-existing mine adit in the upper catchment area.  DOC then expanded Dr Cave’s brief to consider acid mine drainage, related potential impacts from the mine. 
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A. Dr Cave provided further evidence on this in his second report to DOC of July 2001.  In December 2001 DOC engaged Mr Peter Scott of HLA Enviro Sciences, an experienced geochemist to independently consider potential water quality issues raised by Pike’s consultants Newman Energy and Montgomery Watson, Phil Lindsay.  Mr Scott provided reports to DOC in March and December 2002.  Copies of Mr Scott’s reports were appended to the conservancy mining report.  Based on the advice from Mr Scott DOC advised Pike of the need to undertake further drilling, sampling and ground water modelling and that approximately six further drill holes were required.  Pike initially did not agree to undertake the additional drilling.  The issue of whether or not further drilling would be required was referred to the Minister of Conservation, with the Minister deciding on 30th of October 2002 that a further drilling programme was required.  I began drafting the conservancy mining report for the Pike application during 2001 based on the information gained primarily as a result of the October 2000 revised Pike application, the February 2001 Pike application addendum and the input of various consultants employed by both DOC and Pike.  I worked very closely with the conservancy solicitor, DOC technical specialists and the different resource management planning staff in preparing the report and liaised regularly with the Community Relations Manager.  In July 2002 Pike River reported via their consultants on the outcome of a risk management exercise that had taken place in early 2002 to establish dollar sums as potential financial safeguards, bond and insurance sums.  Upon receiving this I finalised a first draft of the conservancy mining report and I sent the draft to Pike to comment on 18th of June 2002.  Pike provided written responses on the draft in July 2002.  These responses were included in appendix A to the conservancy mining report.  I continued to revise the draft in light of this response and the further technical work being undertaken by consultants engaged by DOC and Pike.  Further drafts of the conservancy mining report went to Pike in August 2002 and December 2003.  DOC commented on all responses made by Pike in writing and amended the draft report as required.  The Pike responses and DOC comments on them were included in appendices B to D2 of the conservancy mining report.  The briefing paper and the accompanying conservancy mining report were submitted to the Minister of Conservation on 23rd of December 2003.  I did not prepare the briefing to the Minister but provided comment on it.  The conservancy mining report set out the proposal and evaluated it against the statutory criteria in the Crown Minerals Act.  It described the proposal, the conservation values of the area and the potential risks to those values of the mine.  It considered the objectives of the National Parks Act 1980 and Conservation Act 1987.  In considering the purposes for which the National Park, stewardship land and ecological areas are held.  It also considered relevant plans, proposed safeguards and identified other matters that the Minister of Conservation may consider relevant, such as resource consents and compensation.  It was accompanied by attachments included in seven folders which included all the background information relevant to the decision the Minister was required to make.
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A. In March 2004 the Minister of Conservation, Honourable Chris Carter, made his decision and approved the mine subject to negotiation of access arrangement documentation on acceptable terms to him.  The access arrangement.  I was heavily involved in negotiating the draft access arrangement, working closely with the conservancy solicitor and community relations manager.  I prepared a draft of the access arrangement for discussion with Pike.  I also sought comment from external consultants Dr Cave and Mr Scott in relation to conditions relating to subsidence and acid mine drainage in particular.  Amendments were made to the draft agreement on their advice, such as including further details on slope behaviour, baseline studies and trial mining.  Additional requirements to the emergency response plan and the subsidence management plan.  Mine site restoration related to water issues.  Water potential, acid mine drainage issues including water quality monitoring.  Detailed discussions with Pike were held focusing on issues such as subsidence and water-related issues, in particular potential acid mine drainage.  The 2002 URS report on risk was updated in March 2004 and its findings reflected in the access arrangement.  The access arrangement was signed initially on 8th of October 2004, a faxed version, and finally the original document by both parties on 21st of October 2004.  Te form of the Pike agreement is largely consistent with other access arrangements agreed by DOC.  It contains an agreement to enter the land subject to specified terms and conditions and a number of schedules.  

examination continues:  mr mander

Q. And you’ve set those out in a series of bullet points?

A. That's correct.

Q. Paragraph 36.
WITNESS CONTINUES READING FROM PARAGRPH 36

A. In recognition of the scale of the proposed mine the access arrangement contains a mix of prescribed detail and requirements for more detailed plans and approvals.  Clause 8 of the agreement sets out preconditions before entry to land and requires preparation of an annual work plan for the conservator’s approval.  There are provisions in relation to compensation, clauses 3 to 7, indemnities, clauses 18 to 21(a), insurance, clauses 24 to 25, and bonds, clauses 26 to 30.  Clauses 22 and 23 cover health and safety and require the permit holder to comply fully with its obligations under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992, that’s clause 22(a), and set out particular obligations with respect to public safety.  Provision is made for the area subject to the agreement or parts of it to be closed.  The clauses on insurances and bonds were based on the work by Pike’s consultants URS in 2002 and updated in March 2004.  Exploration access arrangement.  I processed Pike’s applications for exploration access arrangements in relation to the mining permit 41/453 in 2003, 2005 and 2006.  Most of these applications were for exploratory drilling activities.  The 2006 access arrangement is at tab 2.29 of the DOC Tier 2 paper.  These applications were approved by the Conservator under delegated authority.
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A. Mine establishment and operation phase.  Once the access arrangement was signed attention turned to the mine establishment phase.  In accordance with clause 49 of the access arrangement DOC appointed a liaison officer, Mr Mark Smith of West Circle Consulting.  Mr Smith was also the liaison officer for Oceana Gold and more recently has been contracted by DOC as the liaison officer for Solid Energy’s mine at Stockton and Amethyst Hydro road and tunnel works at Harihari.  Mr Smith’s role was to liaise between Pike and DOC in order to monitor the developments of the mine.  I worked closely with Mr Smith and was responsible for ensuring documents, such as work plans were put to the relevant DOC decision makers as required and for ensuring that all issues in the field were managed to the satisfaction of both DOC and Pike with respect to the conditions of the access arrangement.  As noted above, the access agreement requires Pike to prepare annual work plans in clause 8.  Pike prepared six annual work plans.  The process of preparing and approving work plans is set out in paragraphs 254 to 264 of DOC’s Tier 2 paper.  In summary Pike would prepare drafts and discuss these with the liaison officer.  If needed the liaison officer would raise issues with me and seek my views.  Through this process of discussion issues were resolved and work plans submitted by Pike for approval were all approved.  In early November 2010, Pike provided the liaison officer with a draft work plan for the December 2010 to December 2011 year.  At the time of the explosion DOC was yet to approval the annual work plan, but discussion were ongoing.  Generally draft versions of papers have not been provided to the Commission, but for completeness a copy of the draft work plan submitted to the liaison officer by Pike on the 8th of November 2010 is attached.  It was clear that Pike’s progress and mine development was slower than anticipated and often the work set out in the annual work plans was not completed within the period of the work plan.  Pike would then determine whether work should be included in the next work plan.  Provision for a second ventilation shaft and emergency exits are examples of this and are described in paragraphs 283 and 284 of DOC’S Tier 2 paper.  As noted above, the access arrangement, special condition 38, schedule 2, required Pike to prepare an emergency response plan covering risks such as explosion, fire and site instability.  I read these plans and provided feedback to Pike if factual errors were evident.  For example, I noted when reviewing the emergency response plan in 2008 that some of the contact names and numbers in the document were out of date and Pike was asked to update it.  I forwarded the emergency response plans to the liaison officer.  Variations to the access arrangements, work plans and resource consents.    As noted in the DOC Tier 2 paper, in the course of mine development issues arose that were not within the scope of the access arrangement.  These required variations to the terms of the access arrangement.  DOC processed and approved seven variations to the access arrangement between 2005 and 2009, covering such matters as water quality monitoring and the removal of trees.  
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A. I am familiar with the variations and can elaborate on these if required by the Commission.  In the course of mine development issues would arise that required amendments to the annual work plans.  These covered matters such as mine site pit bottom drill holes, felling or trimming of trees along the road route or at the amenity area where the Pike officers were for reasons such as safety or protecting the power line and were often required in response to change plans as work developed or due to a lack of detailed design at the time of annual work plan approval.  The variations to the annual work plans are attached to the DOC Tier 2 paper.  The processing approval of variations to access arrangements and work plans was the same as described above for the annual work plans.  The liaison officer was the primary contact point and I would be involved as required.  I was responsible for ensuring that the DOC decision makers were briefed.  Pike also periodically required variations to resource consents issued by councils.  On a number of occasions DOC was asked to give approval as an affected party under section 94 of the RMA.  I was responsible for preparing relevant documentation for the conservator in relation to these requests.  I attended liaison meetings which to begin with occurred approximately every fortnight at Pike’s Greymouth office.  Later the location of the meetings alternated between Pike’s Greymouth office and the mine site.  During the last two years of the mine’s development these meetings were held monthly, mostly at the mine site in conjunction with a site inspection.  These meetings discussed Pike’s progress, proposed work, any information or documentation to be provided by either DOC or Pike in issues raised during site inspections or by Pike’s monthly reports on matters such as water sampling and pest control monitoring.  Pike was responsible for recording the liaison meeting and minutes.

Q. There’s no need to read out the rest of the paper.  Just paragraph 58 I know there’s a matter that you formally in public just want to put on the record?

A. Yep, yep, on a personal note I knew the late Richard Holling who died in the mine as a friend since we worked together in 1984 so I just wish, send my condolences to the families.

COMMISSION adjourns:
11:34 AM

COMMISSION RESUMES:
11.50 AM

cross-examination:  MS BEATON

Q. Mr Jones, are factors such as the overall safety of a mining proposal something that is considered relevant in a general sense to conservation decision making?

A. In terms of the conservancy mining report health and safety matters in the Pike case were not mentioned.  The proposed mining operations were mentioned in the conservancy mining report, in terms of the access arrangement document there is a provision for health and safety in the general clauses at the start of the access arrangement.

Q. Yes.

A. It’s clause 22 and that states that the permit holder must comply with its obligations under the Health and Safety in Employment Act and also states that the Conservative may decide to close the area to the public for health and safety reasons, so essentially the department needs to manage the land and in doing so closes the land to the public to make it safe but the permit holder has obligations to make the mine safe, so it’s quite clear.

Q. So issues of whether or not the mine itself is safe is not something that DOC – 

A. No, we’re not experts in mining, we don’t police that aspect of the mine.  We are relying on the permit holder, Pike in this case and the Department of Labour to police and monitor safety issues.

Q. Now, the actual concept of an access to land, whether it be private land or Crown land, under an access arrangement is, as I understand it, governed by section 60 and 61 of the Crown Minerals Act?

A. That's correct.

Q. And there's the provision obviously for the Minister of the department to impose conditions, general and specific on the access arrangement?

A. Yes.

Q. We’ve got up on the screen section 60 and 61 that we just referred to.  You've already confirmed that issues such as the safety of a proposed mine or mining plan isn't assessed by DOC, when you look at section 60 is there the ability to consider that type of issue under for example, 60(c) and (d), (c) being the kinds of prospecting exploration of mining operations that may be carried out on or in the land and (d) being obviously the conditions to be observed by the permit holder, is there the ability for DOC to be able to take into account issues of overall safety and design under those?

A. I think you need to look at the issue in terms of the conservancy mining report first of all.
Q. Yes.

A. Like I said previously the proposed mining operations are stated in full in the conservancy mining report.  In the case of Pike ventilation shafts, emergency exits were noted in the conservancy mining report.
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Q. Yes.

A. In the access arrangement document that we drafted up those mine elements, such as the ventilation shafts, emergency exits were stated as being part of the mine in the schedule 3, so in that regard they are there.  They are part of the whole project.  We take those parts of the project and put it into an agreement to reflect what Pike need in order to do what they need to do.

Q. Just taking a specific example, for example the shaft DOC doesn't look at the proposed method of constructing a shaft so see whether or not it would be an inherently safe or appropriate one for example?

A. Not in terms of safety.  That’s up to Pike.

Q. So you rely upon the applicant or the – you're the applicant for the access arrangement to ensure that they have sufficiently covered aspects of safety and adequacy?

A. Yes.

Q. You will have heard discussion and evidence already about the concept of good mining practice.  Is that something that’s considered by DOC either in the conservancy mining report stage or the negotiation of the access arrangement stage?

A. Our consultant, Dr Cave, raised this issue with Pike in 2000, 
October 2000 and we were told by Pike it’s basically not the department’s role to be telling Pike how to conduct good mining practice.

Q. You're referring to Dr Murray Cave who –

A. That's right, correct.

Q. - we know DOC consulted and obtained a number of specialist reports on over the early 2000s through I think to 2006?

A. Yes.

Q. And in the Tier 2 paper that DOC has filed at para 187 is a reference there to Pike River Company’s view that Mr – sorry, that Dr Cave had exceeded his brief in his first report provided to DOC?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did you have any involvement in that period of time between DOC and Pike River about their concerns about the Cave report?

A. Yes, I did and based on the discussions Pike organised a workshop to discuss subsidence issues and as a result of that workshop they advised us that they were going to rely on inseam drilling to find out further geological information and also we agree that Dr Lax Holla would be involved and would essentially create specific subsidence conditions for the access arrangement for any, any possible future access arrangement that may be agreed.

Q. And from that point on there became more specific consideration of things such as acid mine drainage and subsidence for which Dr Cave, Dr Holla and I think a Mr Scott were engaged by DOC?

A. That is right.

Q. You've set out in your statement and I think it’s also mentioned in the Tier 2 paper that there’s now a standard operating procedure that the Department of Conservation has prepared for processing these types of applications?

A. That's correct.

Q. That’s something that I think was only finalised recently, 2010?
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Q. That’s something that I think was only finalised recently 2010?

A. That's correct.

Q. It was operating in a draft form prior to that?

A. Yes since 2001.

Q. And can you confirm that safety issues, in the context that I’m speaking of, the overall safety of the mine proposal, they’re not a factor that’s included within that standard operating procedure are they?

A. Not in terms of safety of the mine, no, that's correct.

Q. Prior to the first application that the company, Pike River Company, made for an access arrangement in 1998 and subsequently for that matter, was there any consultation that you’re aware of between the department and the company regarding their proposed mining approach, by that I mean underground mining, with a long stone drift of what was initially 1.8 kilometres I think and extended to 2.3?

A. That's right, they had initial – the first option was to go further up Pike Stream, near a slip area where I landed in Pike Stream, my first visit in by helicopter in 2000.

Q. And that would've been closer to the coal seam presumably?

A. Yeah, but – yes, but not by very much, probably only by 50, 100 metres maximum and it was far steeper in that area as well so the portal entrance would have had other additional stability issues for Pike to deal with.

Q. Are you talking about the first, I think, proposed area for the portal are you –

A. That's correct.

Q. – which shifted because of those land instability issues?

A. I believe so, yes.  When Pike and URS identified the area adjacent to White Knight Stream around the corner it did seem a lot more stable face to be able to tunnel into, correct.

Q. To you knowledge was there any discussion or consultation with the company – between the company and the department regarding whether open cast mining was an option?

A. It’s never been discussed.

Q. What about a, an alternative which has been raised in some of the submissions filed with the Commission that a road could have – sorry, an external access road up the area could have extended a lot further so closer to the coalface avoiding the need for a long entrance drift?

A. That’s never been discussed and the slopes in that area are very steep, over 30 degrees steepness, so…

Q. Given your knowledge of the area, would it have been economically an option for a mining company to have gone further up?

A. I don’t have any –

Q. External road is what I mean.

A. I don’t have any expertise in that.  I do know from when they got closer to the 30 degree angle slopes at White Knights Stream there was instability issues and there had to be a lot of benching and that part of the road became fairly expensive and time consuming for the company.

Q. And that’s to get to the portal where it presently is?

A. Correct.

Q. Now you have very kindly provided the Commission with this large coloured map that we have here and I think we are going to be able to bring it up on the system.  We’ll produce it as an exhibit.  Can you see that Mr Jones?

A. Yep.

Q. Now this is – can you just explain to us briefly what this is and how and what timeframe we’re talking about that it was created?

A. This was first created in 2004 when this particular version’s been subsequently updated, but essentially shows the red line is Pike’s access road up through Big River, Pike Stream to the mine portal and the stone drive is in yellow up to the yellow dot identified as the fan house, ventilation shaft.  And the brown area that’s outlined is approximately 300 hectares of area to be mined.

Q. That’s the permitted mining area as I understand it?

A. Yeah, that's right the permit sorry is in purple, there’s a purple outline –

Q. I’m sorry, right.

A. Yep.  That was what was granted by the Ministry of Economic Development in 1997 and also the extended area out to the south east where the road access where it was, that was granted in August 2000.  So essentially it’s about 2400 hectares the permit area all up.

1203
Q. So in terms of what is actually schedule 4 land, where there are some additional prohibitions on the Minister granting an access arrangement, which part of the planned area to be mined was included within that?

A. There’s the National Park area identified on the right-hand side of the mineral permit, yes it’s the area in yellow basically.  And the brown area where they’re proposing to mine is not underneath the National Park, it is shown as being underneath the stewardship area.

Q. So am I right that the western escarpment, and the western side of that escarpment is really the only portion of that area which is within that schedule 4 land?

A. That's right.  Yes.  The boundary of the National Park is the top of the escarpment and the four emergency exits as proposed by Pike and exit into the National Park.  Yes, the fan house and ventilation shaft are all in stewardship land.

Q. I’ll just get you to confirm then that it’s only those four proposed emergency exits out onto the escarpment that would be subject to the restriction in section 61(1)(A)(a) which prohibits the Minister of Conservation to accept and enter into an access arrangement over schedule 4 land except in relation to an activity that’s necessary for the construction use, maintenance of an emergency exit and so-on but it restricts that to a hundred square metre area of stripping of vegetation.  That’s your understanding?

A. That's correct.

Q. So it wouldn’t apply, I take it then, to any other alternative egress or exit within the mining permit area?

A. That's correct, it wouldn’t apply.

Q. Just finally in relation to those four proposed emergency exits just so everyone present is clear.  Those were proposed exits that Pike River Mine had intended to complete it various points of the mining programme but obviously they were simply by their location on the far outskirts of the area planned to be mined?

A. That's right.  They were expected to be developed later once the mining operations reached close towards the escarpment.

Q. Can I just get you to confirm.  In the company’s document, which we’ve already referred to this morning, called the “Assessment of Environment Effects of 3 May 2002”, it does refer to those exits as being limited to 1.5 metres high by 1.5 metres wide.  Is that a limitation that DOC had anything to do with?

A. We asked the company how big were these exits going to be and they told us that was the size so we imposed no additional restriction on it.

Q. That document actually describes it as mitigating the normal drive size of 3.5 metres high by five metres wide.  Do you know where those measurements came from?

A. No I can’t recall.

Q. Just back to an issue you raised before and that’s in relation to the expert consultants that DOC engaged, the three that we mentioned earlier.  What was the information sharing regime between Department of Conservation and other agencies of reports such as those?

A. You mean other Government agencies?
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Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, well, we’d always provide the report to Pike obviously but there was no regime to supply those reports to other agencies apart from obviously the opportunity for the Resource Management Act hearings of 2002 and 2003, where we certainly supplied the documents and the expert evidence.

Q. And we’ve heard from Mr Dall this morning that on behalf of the regional council they at least saw some of those reports at that period of time?

A. That's right.

Q. So I take it then from your answer that those types of expert reports aren’t generally provided, and weren't in this Pike case, to other agencies such as the Department of Labour or the Ministry of Economic Development?

A. No, that's right.

Q. Were those reports provided to the Minister as part of the conservancy mining report?

A. Most of them were, that's right.

Q. Do you know whether the early Cave report of 2000 was made available to the Minister?

A. No it wasn’t.

Q. I want to move now to the terms of the access arrangement itself please Mr Jones and if we bring that document up please, BDC0869.  Now, you set out in your statement, and I think it’s in the Tier 2 paper as well, that you were involved in a significant way in the ongoing discussions and drafting of the conditions of the access arrangement?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell me whether the potential financial impact of conditions imposed on an applicant is something that DOC will take into account?

A. In the negotiation phase if the applicant advised us that the amount that we had drafted up was of concern we would certainly take that into account.

Q. Are you talking in the context of a bond or something, are you?

A. Not so much as a bond but in compensation, yeah, or could potentially be in other cases bonds but yeah, it’s pretty much case by case.

Q. And how would that arise?  Would it be something that was raised by the applicant themselves?

A. Yes, that's right.

Q. If we could turn please to BDC0869/6.  I'll just get you to confirm that there are both general conditions obviously and specific conditions in the access arrangement for Pike River Coal Limited?

A. Yes.

Q. You can see 16 there which states, “Nothing in this access arrangement permits the permit holder to undertake open cast mining.”  Is that type of restriction something that’s generally included in mining access arrangements?

A. Well, normally we deal with open cast mining on the West Coast on public conservation land and there is a sister clause, if you like, for open cast mines that states they shall not underground mine unless it’s with approval by the conservator.

Q. Thank you, if you move now to BDC0869/7, the next page, and general condition 22, and you've already referred to this.  This is the requirement on the permit holder to comply with its obligations under the Health and Safety in Employment Act?

A. Yes.

Q. Is DOC involved in any way in auditing whether or not that occurs?

A. No.

Q. We see in 22(b) and (c) the factors that you've raised before in terms of protecting public, if they came to be on the land, that’s the conditions you’re referring to for completeness?

A. That's correct, yeah. 
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Q. If we could turn please to The twentieth page so it would be slash 20.  See at the bottom of that page and it goes on in some detail, “Special conditions relating to trial mining,” and I know that you're aware, Mr Jones, that there’s significant requirements in terms of the access arrangement about trial mining.  Now can you explain or do you know, had the trial mining process commenced at Pike River?

A. It was, it was made complicated by the fact that the original trial mining panel was to be out towards the pre-existing adit out towards near the escarpment and that was not the first panel area that was where 
hydro-monitor was working so it was the small bridging panel closer to the ventilation shaft essentially formed an interim trial mining panel so we could see how subsidence would occur on the surface.

Q. And that was the purpose of it, to assess subsidence from DOC’s perspective?

A. Well from our perspective, yes, but the company, from the company’s perspective it was in order to get coal more quickly.

Q. And is there, as I understand it, three phrases that Pike River Coal were using as part of this trial mining, the bridging panel you've discussed, then a commissioning panel, then a trial mining panel?

A. That's correct.

Q. The difference between those three?

A. Would be the level of, the width of the panel.

Q. Yes.

A. For the bridging panel it was 40 metres, commissioning panel 80 metres and the trial panel’s about 100 and, 160 metres wide.

Q. And to your knowledge, and I think you in fact went underground, didn’t you on the 16th of November?

A. That's correct.

Q. Was that to have a look effectively at the trial mining or the bridging panel?

A. That's correct.  It was my first time underground in an operating coal mine.

Q. We might come back to that, but just while we’re looking at special conditions could you please be referred to paragraph 20 – sorry, page 29 of the access arrangement and we can see there at, if we could highlight please 38 and 39, under the heading of “Emergency Response”, there’s a requirement on the permit holder to have an approved emergency response plan approved by the conservator?

A. That's correct.

Q. So I take it that the necessity for it to be approved means it was actually evaluated and audited by the department?

A. It was part of a checklist for approving authority to enter and operate and we, in that checklist we noted whether there was evidence of it being on file, but like I said previous in my, in my evidence I checked the document for accuracy and where there were obvious errors I ensured that Pike amended it.

Q. And just so we’re clear, when you say “accuracy” I think you referred to there being some incorrect names of -
A. Peoples.

Q. – people and phone numbers?

A. That's right, yes.  Udo Renk was mentioned in the 2008 emergency response plan and at that time November 2008 he, he no, didn’t work at Pike.  He’d left Pike for example.

Q. So the checking of the emergency response plan is, of those types of details rather than whether or not the plan itself was an adequate one?

A. Yeah, we’re not experts in emergency response plans for mines.

Q. In 38 there are a number of risks identified that the plan is required to control.  The ones listed at (e) which I’ll read in is, “the stone portal collapse or tunnel caving,” and (f), “explosion including underground explosion and/or outburst.”  Are those types of quite specific conditions or risks generally included in an access arrangement for a mining situation, underground obviously?

A. These were conditions suggested to the department by Dr Cave to be inserted into the access arrangement and we accepted that suggestion, so no they’re not normally incorporated into access arrangements or other underground access arrangements.
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Q. Move now to annual work plans.  You will have heard Mr Dall confirm this morning that his understanding is that in Pike River Coal Limited’s case, the annual work plan they prepared was done in a way that it met the requirements of both the regional council and district councils and also the Department of Conservation?

A. Yes.

Q. And I think there were five filed prior to 19 November?

A. That's right.

Q. Would that be right?  And a draft one for the 2000 – December 2010 to 2011 period?

A. That's right.

Q. And the purpose of annual work plan from the department’s perspective is what briefly?

A. Stating what the company have done in the previous 12 months and also stating what they’re going to do in the next 12 months.

Q. And if something they are going to do in the next 12 months requires some kind of amendment or variation to the access arrangement, is that normally mentioned?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And from DOC’s perspective, do you assess those annual work plans to see what the differences are from year to year?

A. Yes we do.

Q. We’re going to hear from the liaison officer Mark Smith shortly and I think he’s the one who does the initial liaison work between the company the department, including these annual work plans, but when it comes to assessing them, that as I understand is, was part of your role?

A. That's correct.

Q. You will have made a recommendation to the community relations manager it’s called?

A. In this case, the Pike work plans they would go to the conservator for approval.

Q. How are they assessed?  As I understand it you have an internal checklist that the West Coast conservancy uses?

A. That's correct, yep; every condition that requires a document to be supplied or a financial sum to be paid by Pike is noted as being in the checklist.

Q. And again the actual information provided by the company, is it assessed for accuracy –

A. Yes.

Q. – or just simply – it is?

A. Yes.

Q. In terms of safety issues, the proposals are they assessed?  General safety for example, ventilation shaft or second egress?

A. They’re assessed in terms of whether that information on the element is there or not.  

Q. Are there any consequences if there is, for example, in the previous 12 months plan a suggested feature to be constructed which isn’t over that period and when you come to assess it, what is the outcome – what is the consequence of a non-performance if any?

A. It’s – it is normally noted, but Pike’s operations had been going very slowly so it was quite common that what was meant to be achieved in the next year wasn’t in fact achieved.  

Q. When something’s not achieved, does that require a variation or does it – is it just included in the next plan for the next year that it will be –

A. That's right.

Q. – achieved in the next 12 months?

A. Just caught up in the next annual work plan.

Q. Just out of interest, how many variations were there to work plans and when would a variation be required?

A. There are a total of 144 work plan variations since December 2005 up to the time of the explosion.

Q. And what types of things would you need a variation for?  Would that be during the course of the plan itself would it?

A. That's right at any time for, for any health and safety matter that the company would raise, such as needing to stabilise a rock slope for a drill site or for felling a tree to protect the power line or the amenities area that they were work plan variations that came to the company and we signed them off very fast.

Q. So that’s health and safety considerations in the context of – to Pike staff in order they could safely construct a drill rig or for example fell a tree?

A. That's correct.
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Q. Now I understand that there needs to be some clarification in relation to paragraphs of the Tier 2 paper, 285 and 286 which relate to Pike River Coal Limited’s proposals to construct a second egress and emergency exits.  I think in your Tier 2 – in the department’s Tier 2 paper, paragraph 285, it states that it was not until 2009 that Pike River Coal indicated that a roadway would be developed towards the northwest to allow for a second air intake and egress to developed out into the Pike Stream Valley and it gives coordinates or estimated coordinates.  And it goes on to say that it was in the 2009 work plan that construction of that second egress was listed as work to be done during that following 12-month period.  I understand that overnight it’s been reviewed and that on review of the five annual work plans that were provided by the company that it’s been confirmed that reference to construction of a second egress has been included from the very first plan I think of 2005?

A. That's right, 2005, yes.

Q. That was proposed to be via an adit into the Pike Stream Valley.  And I think if we can pull that map back up, you have an understanding of where that was proposed to be don’t you?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you have a pointer in front of you, great.  Where do you understand that to be Mr Jones?

A. There’s two rivers heading out to the out catchment area.

Q. Just get you to pause there please.  You’re going to actually have to speak into the microphone, sorry.

A. Sorry.  Approximately that location there.

Q. Now I understand there are two streams in the location.  Is that right?

A. That's right.  There’s two northern branches of the Pike Stream in the upper catchment and at the end of the northwest branch there’s the
pre-existing adit.  This second egress was to be at the southern end of the northeast, east branch.

Q. And we’re not referring to a ventilation shaft are we, they were referring to a second egress?

A. They were referring to a second agress but elsewhere in the work plan there is talk of a airway.

Q. Yes.  So on review you’ve confirmed that reference to construction of a second egress was in every plan from 2005 and am I right that there wasn’t approval sought for construction in any of those years of that second egress until the 2008/2009 plan?

A. That’s right, there was no detail.

Q. And in that plan, if we can pull it up please, it’s GDC4078/31.  It says there for the first time that a second means of egress from the mine that approval is sought for construction of that in this 12-month plan and a separate work plan will be submitted for approval and a separate AA, which means access arrangement, variation will be applied for if required?

A. That's correct.

Q. Was there a separate work plan ever filed in that year?

A. No there wasn’t.

Q. What about in the following year because I think that provision effectively carries over to the next plan of 2009/2010?

A. No, there was no work plan variation for the second egress.

Q. Do you know why that was?

A. The company were well away from developing that number 2 roadway close enough to that particular second egress site.  And I refer you to figure 2 of the 2010 plan.  That shows where the mining activities were up to in relation to that second egress.
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Q. That’s this one you provided to me this morning?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. I'll just get that brought up please and there's no summation number for this may it please Your Honour but I will produce it.  so, that’s the plan you're talking about?

A. Correct.

Q. We can see the bottom right hand corner the mine end of the drift, the long drift and the mine workings, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. In relation to that can you indicate, perhaps again using your pointer, where it is that the second egress was proposed?  Right and in terms of when you went in on 16 November and had a look at the bridging panel that had commenced, whereabouts was that, can you say on this or not?

A. We went to two locations, the first one was approximately this area here.

Q. You're pointing to the beginning, the yellow part of what's called the commissioning panel?

A. No, to the left of that there's a roadway, that is my understanding where we were in that location, but I could be wrong precisely where we were but it was either towards the commissioning panel or along that roadway turning into the red, but we also went to the start of where the hydro‑monitor was working at the southern end of the bridging panel.

Q. Which is marked there on the map?

A. That's correct.

Q. And as I understand this ledger is that are the roadways marked in red what the company was intending to construct in the 2010/2011 year?

A. That's correct.  I'd actually like to say I don't know what part of the bridging panel we visited, it may well have been the far northern end where the hydro-monitor was working.

Q. Perhaps if we just produce these now.

exhibit 8 produced – AERIAL MAP OF pIKE RIVER

exhibit 9 produced – PLAN DATED 10.11.2010

Q. What is this map called Mr Jones, what would be the technical term?

A. It’s the title there, “Four year plan.”

Q. Right and that was attached, so we’re sure, to the 2010/2011?

A. That's correct, as figure 2.

Q. As figure 2 and your plan?

A. Yes.

THE COMMISSION:

Q. It’s also dated, isn't it, dated the 10th of November 2010?

A. That's correct.

cross-examination continues:  MS BEATON

Q. That must mean it was attached to the draft plan, was it?

A. That's correct.

Q. For the 2010/2011, December 2010/2011.

A. Work plan period, yes, that was attached to the work plan dated the 
8th of November but because of the size of the document we didn’t actually receive it until separately.

Q. Were there any discussions, to your knowledge, between Department of Conservation staff and the company about the delays in getting the construction towards and onto the second egress?

A. Not specifically about getting towards the second egress, no, not that I can recall.

Q. I understand you're also aware Mr Jones that the wording used within the annual plans in relation to the ventilation shaft, being an alternative means of emergency exit, changed between the first two work plans in 2005/2006 and 2006/2007 referred to, “While initially planned to be used as a second means of egress it was not suited as an emergency exit because it is at least 100 metres vertical and reliance was to be placed on the new adit egress instead.”  That wording changed, as I understand it, from this 2007/2008 annual plan where the company recorded the ventilation shaft as not being suitable as a permanent emergency exit.  Were you aware of that slight change of focus by the company over the course of the annual plans or was it something you took into account at the time?  Do you recall?  I can bring that up if that helps you, we do have them.

A. No, it’s not something that I recall specifically at the moment.
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Q. Changes like that, between an annual plan from one year to the other, would that be something that would usually be 

A. Yes I would've seen that and considered that at some stage during the changes of the plan, but just with regard to this specific issue now, I cannot recall.

Q. If DOC did hold concerns about any changes or lack of progress by a company in obtaining or constructing a particular part of their proposal, what were the options that DOC had to be able to deal with that?

A. Well we’re talking underground mining here and we’re not underground mining experts.  We understood the company were having difficulties with the ventilation shaft and we accepted that we were solely relying on what they’re advising us at the liaison meetings in terms of those problems, so we were – in terms of underground just really observers, watching what was going on and waiting really for subsi – potential subsidence effects in terms of how that could impact on the surface.

Q. I want to move very briefly to the issue about drilling.  Now as I understand it the access arrangement permitted Pike River Coal Limited to drill up to six vertical drill holes on -

A. Sorry could you repeat the question?

Q. As I understand it the access arrangement with Pike River Coal Limited permitted drilling of up to six vertical drill holes?

A. Which access arrangement are you referring to?

Q. The one that’s in force.  Did that change?

A. For the mining?

Q. Yes I’m sorry, yes.

A. Yeah, okay.  What condition has that six drill hole limitation?

Q. Is that not something that sounds correct, because if I’m wrong please tell me.  Was there a limitation in the access arrangement to your knowledge?

A. I can’t recall there being a limitation no.

Q. Okay, my mistake.  Do you know how many drill holes were undertaken by the company during the period since the access arrangement was approved?

A. Yes I do, the first drill hole drilled in the period of the mining access arrangement was done for pit bottom purposes and its Pike drill holes 22 to 24 and also Pike drill holes 27 to 29 and Pike drill holes 30 and 31.

Q. And that’s in relation to the mining permit, correct?

A. That's correct and I’m pretty sure there’s other ones as well, Pike drill holes 32 to 36 as well.  So Pike were looking at options for pit bottom and also for ventilation.

Q. Yes.  There was also an exploration permit as well for drill hole –

A. Exploration access arrangement.

Q. Access arrangement yes.

A. Yes in 2006, that's correct.

Q. And was that for up to six?

A. No, there was no limit.  That was a 20 year term and Pike under that particular access arrangement there was only three drill holes I understand that were drilled 30 – Pike drill holes 37 to 39.

Q. If a mining company wanted to drill more drill holes as a matter of making an application to vary the access arrangement or to amend it.  Is that how the process works?

A. If they wanted to drill further for pit – to look at pit bottom or other ventilation shaft issues, that would be under the mining access arrangement and that would need to be varied, but –

Q. To allow them to do that?

A. To allow them to do that and –

Q. If they wanted to drill further holes out into the coalfield?

A. That would be done under the exploration access arrangement and they would just need to put forward a work plan for those particular parts of the work.
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Q. With Pike River Coal Limited was there any occasion where they put forward a proposal either under the exploration access arrangement or the mining access arrangement to drill further holes which was not approved?

A. No, there was never any drill holes that weren’t approved.

MR DAVIDSON:
Your Honour I’d like to ask about the movement of the trial panel and the emergency exits as described  in the evidence.

THE COMMISSION:
Yes, are there any other applications that are –

MR HAMPTON:
Well perhaps check Your Honour, whether whether there is a record of the drill holes and what they were.  The witness seems to be referring to a schedule and I wonder whether that schedule is available to the Commissioner and whether it should be made available because it seems to have notations on it as to why the holes were being drilled, the purpose of the holes and presumably it’s got a timeframe on it as well as to when that application was made, might be useful to have seen, sir.

THE COMMISSION:
Well it’s quite a supposition there, Mr Hampton.  I don't know what the witness has been referring to but you'd like to ask?

MR HAMPTON:
I’d like to ask him whether it’s a document that might be useful to the Commission quite frankly, sir.  I’m probably more limited than Mr Davidson, sir, and I say that in a very specific sense.

cross-examination:  mr hampton

Q. Mr Jones, when you were referring to the drill holes just a few moments ago, were you referring to a record of your own or of DOC’s that set out the drill holes applied for and the reasons that they were applied for?

A. It’s based on a rehabilitation table for the rehabilitation status of each of the drill sites that have been drilled by Pike River.

Q. And is that in a schedule form or a table form in some way?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Has that been made available to the Commission?

A. I don't think it has, no.

Q. What extent of document is it?

A. It’s just Excel spreadsheet.  I'm certainly happy to be make it available.

Q. Has it got dates on it as well as to when the holes were drilled?

A. That's right, it’s got the date that drilling was completed on.

Q. And the total number of holes shown on that spreadsheet?

A. It’s got Pike drill holes 1 to 39 and Pike River drill hole 39 was completed in July 2009 but it doesn't include the seven Mitsui drill holes which were undertaken in 1993.

Q. I wonder whether, subject to whether the Commissioners wish to see it, I would suggest that that might be a document that should be relevant as a, relevant to summary of the holes and that would be the sole ambit of my questions thank you, sir.

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MR HAMPTON – DOCUMENT TO BE MADE AVAILABLE 

cross-examination:  MR DAVIDSON

Q. Mr Jones, I wonder if we bring up exhibit 9 I think.  Now as you've just observed, Mr Jones, this was received or prepared I'm sorry, drawn by Mr Hewitt in November, 10th of November or thereabouts last year and you visited the sites which you had a little difficulty getting precisely right but it’s somewhere around the commissioning or bridging panel.  Is that right?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Now we can see in the same depiction the trial panels that are shown in the area.  I think broadly where you marked with the laser pointer earlier on?

A. The original trial mining panels.

Q. Yes.

A. That were considered as part of the 2004 access arrangement were up in the north-west corner of the coalfield over there.
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Q. So that’s where you point on the other exhibit, exhibit 8 I think earlier, the previous picture that came up on the wall?  I’ll put it another way?

A. Yes.

Q. These panels that you see, the trial panels in the upper left of this depiction, is that where you understood the trial panels were to go earlier?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now the circumstances in which those panels were not developed but these other panels were developed, which you did visit, do I understand that you were told, somewhere you understood that this because the company wanted to get to the coal?

A. That's right, they wanted to get some coal more quickly.

Q. And where did that information come from to you?

A. We were advised at a meeting with Peter Whittall in December 2007 and we considered that proposal in terms of the access arrangement and Pike advised us that they would provide – 'cos our concerns mainly related to subsidence on the surface, they provided us information that the access arrangement would be complied with by undertaking these bridging and commissioning panels.

Q. So assessing and subsidence but no element of safety consideration as such in terms of the operation of the mine?

A. No, that's right.

Q. Now could I bring up please GEC4078/031.  We looked at this before, in this paragraph 5.3.8, the middle paragraph refers to the ventilation shaft being used a second means of egress but at 100 metres vertically not suited as a permanent emergency exit.  If that was so what was going to take its place if this was going to be in place for a period of time, not suitable for permanent exit, was there any other or additional exit discussed in the liaison groups that you went to, or meetings you went to?

A. It was the second egress.

Q. And were you involved in discussions about the unsuitability of it because it was 100 metres vertical?

A. No we weren’t.

Q. But you were told that was the reasoning behind Pike’s decision?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now in the first exhibit we’ve seen today, which is exhibit 8, which you produced, can we bring that up please.  We can see the proposed emergency exits marked, four of them, within the area to be able to be mined.  Do you see that there, the four points?

A. That's correct.

Q. And in your evidence you referred to something, I’m sorry I missed the exact detail when Ms Beaton put it to you, about the size or the diameter of those?

A. Yes, 1.5 metre diameter.

Q. And was there some variation to that agreed?

A. On size?

Q. Yes.

A. No, not in terms of the access arrangement, no.

Q. Do you have anything to do with setting the dimensions or the form of the emergency exits at all?

A. I recall asking Pike what were the size of the emergency exits going to be and their response was 1.5 metre radius holes.

Q. And is your interest confined to seeing how that effects the environment on the surface?

A. On the surface, correct.

Q. In your paragraph 43 you refer to your reading the plans when they were provided by Pike and in particular Pike was required to prepare an emergency response plan, including explosion, fire and site instability and your evidence is that you read these plans and provided feedback to Pike if factual errors were evident, so do I take that that doesn’t include any reading as it were for content or the merits if you like of those plans?
A. In terms of safety of the mine you mean?
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Q. Yes.

A. That's correct.

Q. So they’re factual errors you're looking for?

A. That's correct.

Q. And what are they, factual misstatement of the position, some factual misstatement about a description of the land for example?

A. That's correct.

Q. And as you've noted the point in your paragraph 42 you had referred to the provision of the work plans and the provision for a second ventilation shaft and emergency exits.  Again, is that just something that you would simply note but not discuss?

A. We may well have discussed it at a liaison meeting why it was being delayed but it seemed clear from the mine plans that they just simply weren't near close to the second egress, so it was quite clear from the plans we were being shown at the liaison meetings of why operations were going slowly.

Q. And finally, I need to ask this for completeness, now after Cave Creek the department brought down a lot of different standards and requirements in relation to its administration of sites which it’s responsible for, did it not?

A. You'd have to aim this question at my boss, Mike Slater.

Q. I'll leave that until later.

re-examination:  mr mander – nil

questions from COMMISSIONER HENRY

Q. Just to make sure I understand this, is it normal in your experience for trial panels of this nature of trial mining planned to be submitted and approved for an underground mine?

A. My only experience is in the Pike River case.

Q. If I understand it correctly, the purpose of that trial was to check for problems with subsidence?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. When the company decided to carry out mining much closer to where they were to it at the bottom, did that concern you in any way?

A. In terms of subsidence?

Q. Yes.

A. No because the levels of subsidence that they were proposing, because the panels were narrower, was going to be a lot less so we were talking minimal, what was described as minimal amounts of subsidence so no more than 600 millimetres maximum, whereas out in the trial mining panels it was going to be up to the maximum subsidence allowed, which was up to three metres.

Q. So were those panels, or call them what you like, that were actually going to be in mind were they in fact much smaller than the trial would have been?

A. Exactly, the bridging panel was only 40 metres wide.

questions from COMMISSIONER BELL

Q. Mr Jones, I've just got one question.  Dr Murray Cave had concerns over a range of issues in his report, he mentions, starting in your brief at section 19 some of these issues would impact on safety, now did DOC take into consideration with respect to the variations made by Pike to address some of Dr Cave’s concerns?

A. Could you repeat the question please.

Q. Dr Cave’s report, the initial one that’s mentioned in section 19 of your brief indicated he had a range of concerns to do with the Pike proposal.  Some of those concerns could in fact have resulted in safety problems to do with maybe not enough knowledge of the geology or problems with gas or whatever.  When you mentioned there was variations, you mentioned further in your evidence, variations were made with Pike, was there any safety improvements or any safety issues addressed in those variations?
A. Not to my knowledge no.
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Q. Was there any – would they have been referred anywhere else as a concern?

A. No where I know about.

Q. And when did Dr Cave stop advising DOC with respect to Pike?

A. Basically he finished up a formal arrangement when we had the access arrangement fully drafted, but we did ask him on an informal basis to comment on the pit bottom drill holes in January 2006.

Q. And what – could you tell us what his comments were, just briefly?

A. He didn't have any real concerns with what the company were proposing in terms of the location of the drill holes.

the Commission:  

Q. I just have a couple of questions Mr Jones.  I just wanted to understand Mr Jones there are two areas marked there, one of them is called a “Stewardship area,” that’s still an area for which DOC has responsibility?

A. That's right under the Conservation Act section 25.

Q. And the “Saxton Ecological area”, what’s its status?

A. It’s a specially protected area under the Conservation Act section 21.  So that particular ecological area’s held for its altitudinal sequence of forest values.

Q. The second matter concerns what Ms Beaton termed, “The impact of conditions upon the company,” do you recall her asking you about that?

A. Yes.

Q. And you answered with reference to, “Bonds which might be imposed as a condition of the access agreement or compensation terms which might become a condition of the agreement.  More generally the conditions in that agreement prescribed such matters as the size of the pad that could be constructed above the existing ventilation shaft and I haven’t got the meterage before me, but it is specified is it not in the relevant terms –

A. That’s right the ventilation shaft was –had a specified size back in 2004 and it was subsequently varied that size to take into account redesign of the detail of the ventilation shaft.

Q. I just wanted to have an appreciation, how did you go about setting those size limits and what was DOC’s attitude and approach?

A. Basically that was what the company said they required initially.  We had a figure in their application which stated this was the size of the ventilation shaft and fan house area that they required.

Q. A related issue, was there ever any initiative or proposal to have access to a site such as that by track?

A. There was mention, I think, of a survey line at one stage for subsidence monitoring but I can’t recall the details of that.

Q. The reason I’m asking is that we know that all of the drilling within the area had to be done using helicopter and bringing in a rig to undertake the drilling exercise.

A. Correct.

Q. I may be wrong, but it might’ve been more convenient perhaps for the company if it could've had access by other means?

A. A foot access track you mean sir?
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Q. Yes, or a road access even.  Was that ever on the table?

A. It was never on the table, sir.

Q. And do you know why that was?  Why there were never any proposals of that kind?  Had there been discussion for example saying that that wasn’t a possibility or?

A. No, Pike never discussed any potential for a road up there with me, sir.

Q. So you don't know what their thinking was about those aspects?

A. They never expressed any concern about not having any other means of access apart from maybe wanting an access track, sir, foot access track.

Q. So what was requested in that regard and what happened about it?

A. I can't recall anything specifically.  I'm, I'm hoping the liaison officer following me may, might be able to answer.

Q. So you don't actually know whether there was even discussion about an access track?

A. I remember it being mentioned at a liaison meeting but a lot of potential issues were discussed and that never actually was presented to us as a work plan variation.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES COUNSEL

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
1.00 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES ON MONDAY 18 JULY 2011 AT 1.02 PM

COMMISSION PANCKHURST ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION

MR MANDER CALLS

MARK DUNCAN SMITH (AFFIRMED)

Q. Could you state your full name to the Commission please?

A. Mark Duncan Smith.

Q. And you’re an engineer who resides in Hokitika.  Is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now Mr Smith can you confirm that you prepared a statement of evidence filed with the Commission, document number DOC777001005/1

A. I can, yes.

1305

Q. And can you confirm that the contents of that statement are true and correct?

A. Yes, I can.

Q. And you have that document with you today and can you read it please to the Commission?

A. Certainly.  Perhaps I should just skip to paragraph 3 since we’ve done the introductions.  Is that okay?  Would you like me to restate my name?

Q. No, if you start at paragraph 1 please?

A. Okay, sure.  “My name is Mark Duncan Smith.  I'm an engineer and I live in Hokitika.  I am the director and majority shareholder in 
West Circle Limited, an engineering consultancy based in Hokitika that provides environmental auditing, management system development, computer modelling and project management services.  The company has been contracted by the Department of Conservation for my services as liaison officer in respect of the Pike River Coal Mine since 
March 2005.  I hold a Bachelor of Engineering Honours in natural resources engineering from the University of Canterbury and graduated in 1989.  I have had extensive experience in the forestry sector and in particular off Highway Road building for various purposes.  My curriculum vitae’s at tab 2.52 of the doc Tier 2 paper.”

Q. That’s doc number – sorry, Commission number DOC0010020088.

A. “I'm authorised to give this evidence on behalf of DOC.  My role in respect of issues relating to the Pike River Mine is liaison officer for DOC and Pike River Coal and is provided for in clause 49 of the access arrangement.  I am also the liaison officer for Oceana Gold’s mine at Reefton and have held that role since July 2005.  I have set out a summary of my role in relation to the Pike River Mine below.  (a)  It was funded by the permit holder; (b)  I reviewed annual work plans and other documentation under the access arrangement or in respect of resource consent requirements or otherwise and provided advice and made recommendations to the conservator; (c)  I monitored compliance with (1) the work plans, (2) the access arrangement, (3) any other requirements of the conservator, (4) the restoration plan and ongoing restoration works regarding successful, progressive and long-term restoration and rehabilitation of the mine site and the land, (d) the contract provided that I was to liaise effectively and autonomously with the permit, the department, territorial authorities, other external consultants, insurance companies and bondsmen.  I could call on additional external consultants with special advice on matters reasonably raised by the permit holders, mining and mining operations carried out under the access arrangement with the prior agreement of the permit holder and the conservator.  The focus was on above ground effects of the mining operation.  The main environmental concerns were vegetation clearance, earthworks, contaminated water and subsidence.  Other issues of concern to DOC were pest control, birds and one rare plant species.  Over the years I have had frequent contact with both DOC and Pike staff and considered that I have a good relationship with both.  With DOC my main contacts were the mining officer, Craig Jones, the mining team leader Campbell Robertson prior to 2006 and the community relations manager, Chris Hickford.  With Pike I dealt mainly with the project manager, Les McCracken, and the environmental manager, Ivan Liddell.  The emphasis of my role has changed over time as the Pike project progressed.  At the start there was almost nothing on site, then over time the road, the seven bridges, the amenities area, the portal, the tunnel archway and the coal preparation plant were built.  During the construction phase I was on site two to three days a week when the tunnelling started in late 2006 I had less input as there was little to monitor or check on the surface so my involvement on site reduced to two or three days a month.  
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A. Over the two years prior to the explosion I only visited the site about once a month.  I attended liaison meetings which to begin with were approximately once every fortnight alternating between Pike’s Greymouth office and the mine site.  The meetings were often attended by DOC staff, usually Craig Jones, the mining officer, in that regard I mean the minutes were written by Pike, usually Ivan Liddell the environmental manager, distributed for comment and confirmed at the following meeting.  The minutes were then distributed within both organisations.  Prior to the liaison meeting on the 16th of November 2010 Craig Jones, Bruce Pryor, Paulette Birchfield  from West Coast Regional Council and I were taken on a visit to the coalface.  I had been underground in the mine before on the 10th of February 2009 and I was interested to see the mine in operation and the development since my previous visit.  The main purpose of our visit was to see the hydro-mining of the first bridging panel.  My impression while underground was that there was a steady breeze in the tunnels due to the ventilation, there was also a lot of activity around the roadheader where coal was being directly discharged into a sluicing channel.  During the last two years of the mine’s development the liaison meetings were held monthly, mostly at the mine site in conjunction with a site inspection.  The meetings kept us in touch on a regular basis and were an opportunity to discuss and deal with issues as they arose.  Effectively they were about how the work at the mine was progressing and the issues that were of interest to DOC that arose out of that.  Sometimes pending work plan variations were raised by Pike at the liaison meetings in terms of what was pending over the next month, but often Pike would not give much warning about what was coming up in terms of their future work plan variations.  Often work plan variations were required for unexpected events, for example, a tree needing to be felled or trimmed where there was a risk of it falling on a building, a road or a power line.  When work plan variations were requested the process was that Pike would send me a draft and I would then comment on it and forward my comments back to Pike.  An updated work plan variation application would then be sent to me.  I would then recommend approval to the mining officer who would provide further input and I would go back to Pike and advise if DOC had any issues.  DOC would either recommend approval of the work plan variation and draft the approval document and seek a decision or Pike would come back with a further revised application which would then get approved by the same process.  As an illustration of how issues were dealt with in early 2010 Pike, DOC and I discussed subsidence monitoring and planning for this.  A work plan was then developed by Pike and tabled for approval by DOC, we then discussed issues at two liaison meetings and Pike considered other options and prepared a revised work plan which was put to DOC for consideration then approved.  My role was to ensure that relevant issues were dealt with from DOC’s point of view, comment on relevant work plans, monitor compliance and provide Pike with updates on the status of any issues DOC was handling.  As an example the construction of the site B water intake and pump structures involved potential earthworks and streambed disturbance.  I was involved in discussing options for construction of the intake to minimise effects, reviewing the work plan for this and monitoring compliance with the plan during construction.  

Q. If you just pause there.  The rest of the statement sir relates to just a short summary of the witnesses involvement post 19 November and need not be read.  Just one matter of clarification Mr Smith, you refer to the mining officer in your statement, that’s a reference to Craig Jones, is that right?

A. Yes it is.

Mr Mander addresses the Commission – remainder of statement
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examination continues:  MR MANDER 

Q. So firstly Mr Smith, was it practical to build a road to vent shaft or further into the coalfield?

A. No I don't believe it was and that was because the terrain was very steep and geologically unstable.  On a steep slide slope the amount of earthworks required to build a road in that vicinity increased significantly.  The costs would have also been significantly higher and that unstable terrain required a lot more support works that would have required retaining walls and the like and because of the steeps slopes, water control would have definitely been an issue as well.  There was also known to be significant large rock hazards in that area so in my opinion I don't believe it, it was practical to build a road further in than what it currently was constructed to.

Q. Now was a track to the vent shaft ever considered?

A. Yes I believe it was.  Pike had a few discussions about tracks with us and we, but we never received a written application from them for a track.  They were considering a track as a means of access to the vent shaft site or as an emergency egress for personnel if they’d come up the vent shaft and were stuck there, and that would have been used in the event that a helicopter couldn't access the site, for example, in, you know, stormy weather or at night and they still needed to get people out.  They also considered building an emergency shelter near the vent shaft and having that there so that they could house people and give them shelter and food, first aid, blankets, bunks, communication equipment, whatever they needed at that site rather than having them walk out on a track.  And I believe that that plan for a shelter on the site was also dependent on the facilities that they would have planned for at the second emergency egress that they were looking at and depending what they could fit on that site would depend on what they constructed at the vent shaft site.  So it was – those things were certainly considered in the overall assessment of whether a track or a shelter or what form that, that might take, those activities.  I also note that it was possible to walk out of the vent shaft site without the track and that that had been done but it was apparently a three or four hour tramp in quite hard country so it would have been difficult.

Q. All right, and were foot tracks considered on the – anywhere else within the rest of the coalfield?

A. Yes, there were tracks considered.  There’s quite a few tracks constructed between drill sites.  Pike would often use old drill sites as helicopter landing pads and then build another drill site further away and will also have water take survey points, the vent shaft and other campsites dotted around.  So there were tracks constructed between those facilities.

Q. And that’s between which facilities?

A. Well, between – it would depend on what the facilities were in the area but between drill sites, between campsites and drill sites, between the vent shaft and the campsites.  So there was a whole lot.  There was not sort of any rule but there wasn't between, just between drill sites.  It just depended on where personnel needed to get between these facilities.  Sometimes these – they were pretty generally rough routes requiring minimal earthworks and vegetation clearing.  Then sometimes they were just routes through the tussock.

Q. The normal means of access to such sites?

A. Would be helicopter preferably ahead of tracks.

Q. And that’s because of what?

A. Well, because it was difficult to cut tracks and they would often only have a short term usage so a lot of effort required, and it was much more, it’s much quicker and easier to just locate people in a helicopter where that was possible.  It was just weather-dependent really.
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Q. Now, in relation to drill sites, we've heard evidence that they were approximately 10 metres by 10 metres for the drill site, but was that the whole of the area that was used?

A. No, because with each drill site the drillers would also need a campsite to camp in so they would have a little hut that was flown in by helicopter that they would camp in.  So there would be the drill platform and the drill rig, the campsite with the drillers hut and also we’d need a helicopter landing pad so that they could land the helicopter and people could get in and out of it.  Often the equipment was brought in with sling‑loads from a helicopter but we still needed to be able to land helicopters.  So there’s essentially three components to any drill site and we would try and use existing cleared areas, like old drill sites or existing helipads rather than cut new ones for each drill site required so it was a combination of things to minimise the impact of vegetation clearing.

Q. And when old drill sites were used would a track then be cut from that site to the new drill site?

A. Yes, as I just described before there’d be tracks cut, if required.  I mean if it was in tussock we wouldn’t need to cut a track but often we would need to cut a track between sites.

Q. And just to round off this evidence Mr Smith, can you confirm that in March of this year DOC was contracted by the receivers of Pike River to establish a 6.5 kilometre all-weather foot access track to the vent shaft?

A. Yes it was.

Q. And that’s now been completed?

A. Yes it has, yes.

Q. And the purpose of that was what?

A. Foot access to the vent shaft for gas monitoring primarily I believe, after the explosion.

cross-examination:  ms beaton

Q. Mr Smith you started your role as liaison officer in March 2005, so well after the access arrangement had been finalised?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. You said in your witness statement at paragraph 6(e) that you had the ability in your liaison role to be able to call on additional external consultants for specialist advice on matters reasonably raised by the permit holders mining and mining operations carried out under the access arrangement?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Was that ever required in the course of your liaison with Pike River Coal Limited?

A. I didn’t personally end up calling on them.  What tended to happen was that either DOC or Pike would call in those experts themselves and so rather than have me in the loop contracts would just be let to either Pike or DOC directly.

Q. Can you give us an indication briefly of what types of issues the external consultants were required to address?

A. The two examples I can think of would be for subsidence monitoring.  Pike engaged a specialist subsidence monitoring person to, or subsidence production person, to work on that aspect.  And also DOC engaged a water specialist to look at AMD issues.

Q. Which is acid mine drainage?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. You’ve said in your statement that your role was effectively to assess or liaise between DOC and the company on the above ground effects of the mining programme.  Do I take it that on issues, for example, set out in the special conditions to the access arrangement regarding the emergency response plan that it wasn’t part of your role to audit or assess the plan that the company produced?

A. We would certainly have a look at that plan when we were reviewing the annual plan and that emergency response plan formed part of our annual plan check. We would have a cursory look at it to make sure that it was complete and that it included the things listed in the access arrangement that it had to include but we weren’t safety experts and we weren’t auditing or analysing at any great detail.

Q. How did issues of health and safety play a part in your role, or did they at all?

A. Well I believe that health and safety was inextricably linked to a lot of things.  It’s very difficult to separate environmental issues, health and safety issues and production cost issues on a lot of things we were looking at.  For example, if we were clearing a drill site certainly there were safety considerations in which trees had to come down to enable safe access for helicopters.  We wouldn’t want overhanging trees over the drill rib or people operating but they were also offset with environmental considerations.  
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A. So we wouldn’t want to fell, you know, lots of large Rimu trees for example just to put a drill rig in a certain location, so between Pike and DOC and the drillers were would try and work out, and the helicopter operators, we would try and work out an optimum solution that allowed the job to be done safely while protecting the environment and being cost effective and meeting the driller’s requirements for a drill site that suited their purposes, so it’s hard to separate those things completely but certainly safety wasn’t our primary focus.  We were there to look at environmental effects.

Q. Turning briefly please to annual work plans and your role in relation to that.  As I understand it you were involved in initial discussions with the company regarding an annual plan including discussion and any suggestions that you might have and a draft went to the mining officer, Craig Jones, there may well have been further discussion and then ultimately it went to the conservator, Mike Slater for approval?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Just for completeness I think once approval is given then what's called an authority to enter and operate was granted?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. And that was on an annual basis generally?

A. Yes.

Q. Presently though post the explosion is it on a monthly basis?

A. We have a situation at the moment where there's a rolling authority to enter and operate because Pike’s still working on their 2010 to 2011 work plan.

Q. Right and just so we’re clear, the work plans filed by Pike River generally went from about December 2010, the latest one, through to December of 2011?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. We’ve heard evidence that there were a number of variations to Pike River Coal Limited’s annual plans.  Am I right that these variations would be sought, for example, when there would be masses unexpected, for example, as you said before, a tree having to be felled, is that the situation?  That wasn’t planned for?

A. Yeah, there was a range of situations, that’s certainly one of them, when unexpected, you know, like a safety hazard might arise for example, a tree might blow over or become a hazard but there were other situations often in the annual plan, at the time of writing the annual plan you might be a year away from undertaking an activity and the design information and the studies required on the ground to plan and set up that activity weren't in place so we would write in the annual plan that, or require Pike to write in the annual plan, that further detail would be provided prior to undertaking the activity and so the variations would be – the information would be tabled as a variation to the work plan just to provide the extra detail when the design information was available.  That kept the main document lighter too.

Q. Can you recall whether there were any variations that related to the second egress that was proposed by Pike River?

A. There were no detailed plans submitted on a second egress to DOC that I'm aware of.  It was only in the annual plan as a “to do” item.

Q. What about in relation to the ventilation shaft, were there variations required to the annual plan as a result of what occurred to that in February 2009?

A. Yes there were.

Q. I think that was when the issues of collapse occurred?

A. Yes.  I don’t recall exactly what the variations were for following the collapse but because most of the surface infrastructure and activities were already planned and approved at that point.  The collapse was underground so really unless there was any effect, there may have been extra trees required in order to fly the concrete in, I can't recall.

Q. So would it be part of DOC’s role, through you as liaison officer, to have any involvement in discussion or planning for example as to how a ventilation shaft was to be constructed?

A. Yes, where the potential surface effects, we would definitely have discussions with Pike on that, so when they were considering different options for construction of the vent shaft we were certainly involved in talking about that and the effects of each different option.
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Q. Were there any variations to annual plans, do you recall, in relation to drill holes, vertical drilling, surface drilling?

A. I don't recall any variations as such.  There, other than that – the drill holes were only mentioned as a number of holes to be drilled in the coming year in the annual work plan and so for each drill hole we would expect a detailed work plan for the drill hole and that, yes, is technically a variation so we would've had variations on those, yes.

Q. And in the way you gave your evidence before I take it that you were actually involved hands on with a lot of the occasions when surface drilling occurred?

A. Yes, yeah, I would be present for felling and construction of a drill platform normally.

Q. And when the company decided to conduct some further drilling, obviously there would've been a particular location that the company was interested in drilling down underground.  Just how much of an involvement did you have in terms of the actual location of a drill hole?

A. Essentially Pike would propose options to us and say, “Look we need to drill a hole in this location.  Is that okay?” and often we would go, fly to the site and, with a driller and a helicopter operator and a Pike environmental person or geologist and carry out a site inspection and see what the values were on site, what the issues were and between all of us we might tweak the site slightly or shift it depending on what suited to come up with an acceptable solution for everybody so that was kind of how it used to work and then we’d formalise that in a written plan and get it approved by DOC.

Q. Were there any situations where there wasn’t able to be agreement between the company and you on behalf of DOC?

A. No every drill hole that Pike applied for we approved.

Q. Was there any discussion that you were aware of where the company, I'm sorry, sought to do further drilling if there was no formal application made for example, was there any discussion that you're aware of?

A. Sorry, can you just repeat that question?  I've lost my –

Q. Sorry it was a dreadful question.  To your recollection, short of a formal application for further drilling, was there any other discussion of which you were a part regarding the need for further drilling?

A. No.

Q. Can you comment on how much cost to do this surface drilling?  How much it would've cost a company like Pike River?

A. I believe it was in the order of $100,000 per drill hole or per site I should say and I'm not sure exactly.  A site might have three drill holes on it for example and I couldn't give you a breakdown of it but roughly $100,000 for a single hole.

Q. And how long does it take for a drilling, for a drill hole to be completed?

A. That would depend.  If they were taking core samples it might take two or three weeks.  It just, it depended on the nature of the ground they were going through.  Hard rock took longer.  There might be issues or drill rods that stuck or various operational things but in that sort of order.

Q. And you said –

A. Up to six weeks.

Q. Sure, and you said earlier that there would be the need for the parts of the drilling rig and other equipment to be helicoptered in as well as staff obviously.  In terms of any permanent effects what would they have been post drilling?

A. Permanent effects are reasonably minor.  There’s a lot of alpine vegetation in the coalfield and that’s very slow growing so if a drill site was cleared in the alpine scrub zone it might take 80 or 100 years before it grew back so permanent sort of is a bit, how long’s a piece of string, but something in that order so I mean we would, I would do an assessment after the drilling operation and measure out the effected area on the ground, how much earth was disturbed, plants that were disturbed and work out a compensation area for DOC to then bill Pike for compensation for those drill holes.

Q. And how big is an actual drill hole?

A. I think as Jane Newman indicated about 10 metres by 10 metres, so half the size of this room for example roughly.

Q. Is the actual drill hole itself?

A. Oh, sorry the drill hole itself.  I think they’re, depending on the drill rods are using sort of 80 to 120 millimetre type range.  There’s several different sorts they use.
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Q. And once the drilling and the samples have been obtained, those drill holes are capped as I understand it.  Is that right?

A. Yes, yeah, they're grouted and/or capped depending on what, what’s left in the hole at the end.

Q. To your knowledge, is there any maximum limit, whether formal or informal, for drill holes in conservation land?

A. No, but would generally go on about a 10 by 10 metre area.

Q. Sorry, perhaps I wasn't clear.  In terms of the overall number of drill holes that a company such as Pike River could use?

A. No, there’s no restriction that I'm aware of.

Q. I want to move now to please to the issue of trial mining.  There are a number of specific conditions, as you know, on the access arrangement requiring the company to undergo a trial mining period, and I take it that was because of concern over the risk of subsidence and the ability as to how that could be properly monitored and dealt with?

A. Correct.

Q. Am I right that the trial mining became a three phase approach in the terms of a bridging panel, then a commissioning panel and then a trial mining panel?

A. Yes that's correct yes.  That was done with agreement from the Department.

Q. Can you remember when that was, that approach changed to that?

A. Well from memory it was late 2009, probably September-ish.  It was a process we went through.  It wasn't, it didn't just happen on one day.

Q. Was there a formal variation to the plan, do you recall or not?

A. I don't recall, sorry.

Q. And can you recall why it was that there was this change of approach?

A. There were several reasons from memory.  The first one was that Pike came to get some coal out early, it’s an extraction, and for cash reasons.  They also came to test their hydro monitor equipment.  The trial panel as marked in the access arrangement is a long way from pit bottom so they would have had to mine roads a long way to actually get to the trial panel area.

Q. If I just pause you there.  I think we're going to bring up in front of you on the screen a copy of the four year plan that – do you have it in front of you there on the screen in front of you?

A. I don't yet, but –

Q. Oh, you don't.

A. Someone could help us with that.

MS BEATON: 

Sir, I can indicate to the Commission that in fact the projector itself is not working but the screens were.  We had assumed that the witnesses would be as well. I'm sorry about that.  Perhaps if I can give you a copy.   

THE COMMISSION:

Well is there any reason why the witness can't go down to counsel’s bench where there is a microphone and view a screen there.  Is that an option or a?

MS BEATON:

That is an option sir, or else I can give him an actual hard copy and we can do it that way perhaps, thank you.   

Mr Hampton ADDRESSES THE COMMISSION:

examination continues:  MS BEATON

Q. So you have that plan in front of you which was produced as exhibit 9 I think on Friday.  You will have seen that before I take it?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And am I right that the, that the area that you’re discussing, the trial panels, which was initially proposed by the company, are those in the green and yellow in the top, the middle of the top of that plan?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. But that the bridging panel that had actually commenced was the red portion that we see in the mid-bottom right of the plan in, in the red?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. And is that the general area I think that you yourself and Craig Jones and some others were taken on the 16th of November?

A. Yes it is.

Q. But I think you were telling us for the reasons that you were aware of, that this new three phase approach was going to be taken to the trial mining.  You mentioned costs.  Were there other factors?

A. Yes.  It was a – one of the things we discussed was a sort of a conservative approach to developing the mine and the trial panels, and one of the major impacts we expected the mine to have was on surface subsidence on conservation land.
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A. So we were quite in favour of the three-phase approach, starting off with a very narrow bridging panel first and then Pike would have a chance to assess how the geology behaved and we could do some subsidence monitoring if – and we didn’t expect any but if there was some we would get an early indication with this very small panel.  Then if they moved to the second phase of the commissioning panel, which was essential a wider or double the width panel, that gave us another staged approach where we could again get information about how the strata behaved, how the subsidence worked on the surface and what the effects might be without going to a full-scale trial panel.  And then the last phase was to go to a full-scale trial panel.  And I guess Pike were interested in that approach too because the access arrangement had a whole lot of requirements that the trial panels would trigger.

Q. Yes.

A. Once they had started those they would have to produce a whole lot of reports and detailed information about subsidence and geological behaviour, which I think they were happy to do and they would’ve had to do as part of the bridging and commissioning panel as well but perhaps to a lesser extent.

Q. Right, so there still would’ve been that requirement for notification and monitoring that is set out in quite significant detail in the access arrangement?

A. Yes.  And there’s a subsidence management plan which we were involved in, in developing with Pike and those requirements are all set out in that as well.

Q. Do you understand Mr Smith that once they got to the third phase of this proposal that the trial mining panels would still be in the same location as shown on this map or were they to change?

A. No, I believe they were there because - they were originally set up to be there because of the vegetation types on the surface and because it was in a tussock and low scrub zone it would be much easier to assess the effects of subsidence on the surface without the trees interfering, what you could see, and without any risk of forest toppling over.  So that’s I believe why those trial panels are where they are located.

Q. So that was still intended to be the trial mining location?

A. Yes it was.

Q. Whose idea was it to have this three-phased approach to the trial mining?

A. Pike River proposed that to the department.

Q. And you said, I think earlier, that that was approved or effectively agreed to by the department.  Can you tell me during the course of that liaison and those discussions was the fact that that would mean that extraction of coal was occurring without this proposed second egress being completed?  And I take it that’s simply because, the road as we can see there marked in the red, just wouldn’t have existed at that point?

A. That's correct.  And the second egress wasn’t something that myself or DOC considered as part of that.  From our point of view that was up to Pike to manage that issue and do as they saw fit in that regard.

Q. And did Pike ever raise that issue directly with you or anyone else from DOC to your knowledge?

A. Well we were certainly aware that they had an intension to build a second egress.  They’d given us an indication of where it might be and that they were working towards that and planning for that and they’d done some initial surface investigation of that location but we were essentially waiting for them to table a work plan for that activity with us.

Q. And you’re aware, I know, that in the 2008/2009 work plan and then 2009/2010 work plan there was an indication there from Pike that they intended to construct that roading and that second exit in that 12 month period?

A. Yes that's correct.

Q. And that they proposed to file, or to submit further plan approval or the documentation required for that to occur?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. Which didn’t as I understand it in either of those years?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q. As I understand part of your role, and you’ve said so in your statement, is to actually monitor compliance with the annual plans and the access arrangement.  When there was, as we know in relation to the second egress, effectively a non-compliance with the work plan, what if anything was the outcome from your perspective in terms of monitoring, what did you do?

1345

A. We would raise it with the company, with Pike and in almost every case they would address the issue and get it back into compliance if you like.  That was the general approach.

Q. So where for two years there had been a proposal that the second egress would be constructed, hadn't been and I'm conscious that 
19 November intervened at the end of that plan, were you involved specifically in discussions about that second egress?

A. No, I think that example is slightly different because – I may have mis‑answered your question before, but where an activity hadn't occurred we wouldn’t require it to occur.  If this sort of example happened a lot the mine was much slower in its development than was originally planned.  The road was, you know, it took a lot longer to build, everything took a lot longer to build than was in the original plan and so if things weren't built from the department’s point of view it wasn’t really an issue so we didn’t require them to then, you know, hurry up and build it by the end of X year, that was really an issue for their scheduling, their project scheduling.

Q. Finally, I just wanted to ask a few questions about the use or the intended use by Pike of the ventilation shaft as a potential emergency exit and I know that you're aware of the fact that there was a change of wording and perhaps emphasis used by the company over the course of the five work plans that were filed prior to the 19th of November, and what I mean by that is a reference initially by the company as the shaft not being considered suitable as an emergency exit and in later years the wording changed to not being suitable as a permanent emergency exit.  At the time that that wording changed were you aware of the change in emphasis contained within those plans or not?

A. Yes I was.

Q. Was there discussion about it with Pike River?

A. I don’t recall specifically but in all likelihood there was.  We would've been interested in what their alternative plan was.

Q. And do you recall what that was?

A. The alternative plan to an egress from the vent shaft was essentially the egress that’s shown in this map you've provided or in a similar layout, that layout changed a few times but it’s essentially the same thing.

MR HAMPTON:

I seek leave if I may sir just to ask a couple of questions in relation to the plan which I think is formally exhibit 8, it’s been so marked, that’s the one that was up on the screen.  First, I want to understand who was involved in these discussions about the change of approach.  Secondly, where the second egress would physically have emerged, come to the surface, the terrain there and thirdly, when was it that this proposed second egress was first shown in the annual work plans, I'm not absolutely certain when that was sir.

THE COMMISSION:

Leave granted.

cross-examination:  mr hampton

Q. In answer to Ms Beaton you've told us about this change of approach to where the trial mining was to take place.  Who were the actual persons involved in the discussions that were had over this change of approach?
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A. Well I can't speak for Pike because there would've been a lot of internal meetings and things within the company to make that change, but from DOC’s point of view it would've been myself, Craig Jones, Ivan Liddell the environmental manager for Pike.  There was a subsidence expert, 
John St. George from the University of Auckland who prepared technical information and recommendations on this, to Pike and that information was provided to us and there may have been the Pike technical managers as well at the time but I don't recall who that was at the time.

Q. And this you've told us, was over a period of time, approximately how long?

A. Three or four months probably.

Q. And can you put a time on that, those three or four months?  When?

A. From memory I believe it was mid to late 2009 so something like July to September 2009.

Q. And do you know from your contact with Pike whether Pike were talking to other agencies or Government departments about this change of approach?

A. No, I don't.  I know that at some point there was an intention to involve the West Coast Regional Council in the subsidence discussions and we were very nearly at that point where they were going to be invited to come on board as part of the subsidence working group which is specified in the access arrangement.

Q. Can you help us on two aspects of this second egress shown on the plan?  Do you recall when it was first shown on these annual work plans, which of the work plans?

A. Not, not specifically.  It may have been shown in the 2009/2010 that would've been the earliest from my recollection but I, sorry I can't recall.  I’ll have to go back through the old plans and check.

Q. You would have them all in your records?

A. Yes, DOC would.

Q. DOC would?

A. Yep.

Q. So between yourself and DOC you'd be able to supply to the Commission, if it was required, the record of when this second egress first showed up in DOC’s records?

A. Certainly.

Q. Looking at the plan where the second egress is shown, do you know physically where it would've emerged, what sort of country it would've emerged into?

A. I haven't visited the site but Pike described it as being near the bank of Pike stream and just upstream of the vent shaft by a few hundred metres and on a steep sided hill on a, probably on a terrace with steep, in steep country so it would've been limited ground and –

Q. Limited ground meaning what?

A. Well limited space to flat area, ground area to build anything so it would essentially have come out of the hillside onto the, onto the small terrace where they could've located some emergency equipment or whatever was needed at that point.  These are all the things we were waiting and expecting the plan for, all this detail to come from Pike at the time of the explosion.

Q. So you never had seen any actual plans of how physically access was to be had from the outside to that second egress?

A. No, the only description we’ve got is, is it were to be a barred door to prevent access and with, with mesh on it as well so that birds couldn't go into, into it but other than that we have no detail at all.

Q. When you realised in the course of these discussions that if there was a change of approach that meant the second egress wouldn't be reached and built or the place for it to be reached wouldn't be reached or a place for it to be built wouldn't be reached, sorry.   Did you or DOC raise any concerns about that with the company?

A. Well the only scheduling information that we had was what’s shown on this plan.
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Q. Yes or no.  Just answer the question please.  Did you raise any concerns on behalf of yourself and/or DOC with the company about the second egress not being built?

A. No.

Q. Can I ask why not?

A. Because the only scheduling information we had showed that these things are all to be built in the same year and the detail of exactly when that timing was we weren’t aware of so we couldn't really comment plus I had no reason to be concerned.  We are not underground miners.  We had no knowledge or experience on which to base any concerns in that regard so we didn't raise any concerns.

re-examination:  MR MANDER - nil
QUESTIONS FROM justice panckhurst:
Q. Just one matter I was going to ask you about Mr Smith.  Did you have any reason to liaise at all with the local Department of Labour Mining Inspector?

A. No, none at all.

Q. Do you know him?

A. No I do not.

questions arising - nil
witness excused

MS McDONALD CALLS

JAMES RICHARD MURPHY (AFFIRMED)

Q. Can you confirm then please that your full name is James Richard Murphy?

A. Yes I can.

Q. You are from Wellington and you are employed by the Department of Labour as the Workplace Health and Safety Policy Manager?

A. Yes indeed.

Q. And can you just confirm for me that that involves responsibility for the formulation of policy advice for the Government on the Occupational Safety and Health legislation that’s administered by the Department of Labour?

A. Yes.

Q. How long have you been in your current role?

A. Just shy of three years.

Q. And I think you have had 10 years’ previous experience in policy and operational policy positions with the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Social Development, is that right? 

A. Yes indeed.

Q. Now can you also confirm that you have had some management responsibility in the development of the Department’s or the joint Government paper presented for this Commission?  That right?

A. Yes, it’s a joint paper, Tier 1 paper and also the Department’s Tier 2 and Tier 3 papers.
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Q. And the Tier 2 paper for the record is DOL0000010001, and just while the number’s coming up for the Tier 3 paper I’ll get you to confirm that you also are aware, are you, of the operational review document that’s been submitted to this Commission?

A. Yes.

Q. And that number for the record is DOL0100010001.  Just in relation to that operational review document are you able to just briefly for the Commission indicate the purpose of that report and who completed that review?

A. Yes, the report was commissioned by the department after the explosion with a purpose of reviewing the department’s operational interactions with Pike River with a view to provide information to the Royal Commission and also for any internal learnings that might be had from having the work reviewed independently.  It was done by two Australian experts, Professor Neil Gunningham and Dr David Neal.

Q. And just to read into the record that Tier 3 paper that I mentioned earlier is number DOL0000020001.  Now could you confirm Mr Murphy that you’ve completed a brief of evidence on this inquiry?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you got a copy of that with you?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And that brief I think is dated the 20th of June 2011?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you confirm that the contents of that document are true and correct?

A. Yes I do.

Q. I’m not going to ask you to read it and I think if you stay there please and answer any questions, thank you.

A. Thank you.
cross-examination:  mr wilding

Q. Mr Murphy, aside from the policy unit do you belong to any other committees or groups relating to health and safety?

A. No sir.

Q. If I could just turn to the department’s health and safety function.  Does that cover all of the workplaces in New Zealand?

A. Yes it does.

Q. How many workplaces?

A. In the region of 450,000.

Q. Do you know roughly how many employees are covered by those?

A. In the region of two million.

Q. And does the department have any system for identifying the industries or sectors that have the highest injury rates?

A. We use information that is drawn from a number of sources, from the departments own data, also from ACC data and from Stats New Zealand from the injury chart book.  So we have a number of sources we draw to gather information.

Q. Are you able to tell us what the result of that work is in terms of the injury rates for certain industries?

A. There is generally recognised that there are five industries that are
over-represented in the injury, deaths and serious injuries.  Those are the construction sector, the agriculture sector, manufacturing, fishing and forestry.

Q. Where does mining come in relation to those?

A. It doesn’t feature in those.  It comes further down the list but obviously what we do know is that when things go wrong in mining they’re often catastrophic.

Q. Has there been any work done to your knowledge about the injury rate in relation to mining?

A. Work done in the sense of?

Q. Work done in the sense of working out the injury rate of the mining industry?

A. They do, yes there is.  The same processes are used for a range of industries and the mining industry is one of those that is counted.

Q. Do you know the accident rate within the mining industry?

A. Not without reference to the documents, no.
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Q. Could I just take you to a document and ask you to clarify something.  It is CAC0004/28, this is appendix 1 to a document called, “The Work Place Health and Safety Strategy for New Zealand to 2005,” published in June 2005 by the Department.  Are you able just to describe the purpose of that document?

A. Sorry, I have nothing on the screen at the moment.

Mr Wilding ADDRESSES the Commission – WITNESS MOVES TO COUNSEL BENCH FOR VIEWING document 

cross-examination continues:  Mr Wilding 
A. Sorry, could you repeat?

Q. With apologies for the inconvenience, you should have a document before you headed “Appendix 1, Key Statistics for Work Related Disease and Injury in New Zealand?”

A. Yes.

Q. Now that is the first appendix to a document provided or published at least by the Department called, “The Work Place Health and Safety Strategy for New Zealand 2015,” June 2005?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able first just to describe the purpose of that Work Place Health and Safety Strategy?

A. The strategy is to focus government and other agencies and interested parties in prioritising and working towards reducing the work toll in New Zealand and it sets out priorities for a 10 year work programme and interventions.

Q. If I could just ask you to look at the right hand column of appendix 1?

A. Yes.

Q. The third to bottom bullet point says, and I will read it, “The highest injury incident rates are in the mining industry, construction industry, and agriculture, forestry and fishing sector.”  That seems to suggest that as at June 2005 the mining industry was included within the industries that had the top five accident rates?

A. The issue there is one of difference in interpretation of account.  What this is, is a ratio per numbers of people in the industry, the figures and the reference I gave you earlier related to overall numbers of injuries and accidents in terms of numbers of people harmed, whereas this figure relates to the ratio between the numbers of people working in the industry, so the fact that mining for example has only around 1000 people working in the industry overall and only around 450 working in underground mining would explain the difference in the way in which the numbers are interpreted or used.

Q. But it is within the top five in terms of the accident rate per employee?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know whereabouts it figures in that top five?

A. Not off hand, no.

Q. Could I just ask you to outline some aspects of the policy unit that you manage.  How many people in that unit?

A. It’s a slightly moving feast but around 11 or 12 at any one time.

Q. And they all report to you?

A. Yes.

Q. And to whom do you report?

A. I report to a general manager who’s also responsible for employment and immigration policy.

Q. And how many people within the policy unit are policy advisors?

A. In the unit overall or just in my team?

Q. In the unit overall?

A. I would say probably, in our group there's probably about 45.
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Q. Can your policy unit decide the issues that it wishes to focus on?

A. Not of its own volition.  It can have conversations with ministers around what it’s, what the Government’s priorities are.

Q. Does that mean that it generally gets directed to look at specific issues?

A. It’s a iterative process I would say, ministers are obviously looking for advice.  They’re looking for information on how they might direct their energies and resources and the energies and resources of their agencies so they would look to us for advice but ministers would make final decisions.

Q. Does it have any role in providing internal policy advice?

A. Yes.

Q. What is that role?

A. It’s a role we, obviously the Department of Labour has a strong operational focus and so our engagement with our operational arm is very important to us both as an information source to us to determine where we need to prioritise our policy resource but also from the point of view of working with them to operationalise policy so that policy decisions are turned into working realities on the ground.

Q. What does it do to ensure that its policy advice reflects issues that are raised at a grassroots operational level?

A. We establish work programmes jointly with them.   We establish agreed priorities across the operational side and the policy side and then we seek to engage with ministers in finalising a work programme.

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MR WILDING – WITNESS MOVES BACK TO WITNESS BOX

cross-examination continues:  MR WILDING

Q. Does the policy unit include, as a function, identifying regulatory gaps?

A. Yes, it does.

Q. Could I just ask you some questions about the relationship between the policy and operational functions in a bit more detail.  First, is the relationship currently the same as that back in November last year?

A. The relationship is much the same, although the structure has changed.  Prior, at the time of the explosion in November the policy and operational parts of the organisation in relation to health and safety were part of the same group.  They were both part of the workplace group.  A structural change occurred on the 1st of December which separated those two, separated the policy function from the operational function so the policy function now sits with a separate group.

Q. I just want to look at how policy issues are raised.  Are you aware of a group called the Mine Steering Group?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. Are you able to describe its role briefly?

A. Only brief in that it was an operation, it is and was an operational function which I didn’t relate to personally.  Its role was for people involved in mining inspection group inspections to come together with the mining specialists and the relevant operational managers to consider and develop a work programme for mining inspection and related activities and reported to a leadership group within the old workplace services which is now currently the labour group.

Q. How would that Mine Steering Group raise policy issues?

A. They would raise them through their management channels.  They would raise them first of all in the, presumably in their mining, in the steering group itself and they would be escalated then through to the workplace services leadership team who would then make a decision as to whether or not that was something to be raised at a policy level.
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Q. And would it then be that team that would raise it as a policy issue with your unit?

A. Yes.

Q. And how would the mines inspectors raise policy issues?

A. Again, through that channel.

Q. But starting first with them, then raising it with the Mines Steering Group?

A. Yes.

Q. And you're aware of the position called the senior advisor high hazard?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you briefly describe that position?

A. It was a position that was created in 2007 I understand to provide additional technical and specialist advice and support to mines inspectors.

Q. And how would the specialist advisor raise policy issues?

A. Through, well I guess through initially the, to test their thinking, with the Mining Steering Group and then up through the channels that I've just described.

Q. Without going into detail at this stage, are you able to list for us the policy issues that have been raised by any of those three, the Mines Steering Group, the mines inspectors, and the senior advisor high hazard?

A. To my knowledge there haven’t been any.  There's been none raised with me.

Q. And when you say, to your knowledge, does that mean to your knowledge going back to when you started?

A. Yes.

Q. And you started in 2008?

A. September 2008.

Q. You haven’t checked to see whether there were any raised prior to then?

A. We undertook as I assume you'll get to at some point, the review between 2006-2009, so there would have been discussions with people involved on the operations side of mining in that review, but since the conclusion of that review I am not aware of any other issues having been raised.

Q. I'm still just wanting to explore some of these various structures.  There's a body called the Workplace Health and Safety Council?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to describe what its function is?

A. That’s a tripartite council made up of representatives from Government, from employers through Business New Zealand, and through workers through the New Zealand Council of Trade Unions.  It’s a representative body who have a responsibility for monitoring the workplace health and safety strategy and providing independent advice to Government, to the Minister of Labour on health and safety issues.

Q. And when was that formed?

A. From memory, it’s about five years ago.

Q. And do you attend its meetings?

A. Yes.

Q. In what capacity do you do that?

A. I attend as the policy manager for health and safety in the department.  The department provides the secretariat to the council and we also provide advice and papers to the council periodically.

Q. And how often does it meet?

A. It’s scheduled to meet quarterly.  In the last year it only met three times.  The fourth meeting was cancelled because it coincided with around the election time, but it’s generally scheduled to meet four times a year.

Q. Is that a body before whom the issue of health and safety in mining could appropriately be raised?

A. Yes.

Q. Has it ever been raised before that committee?

A. Not in my time, and having checked back through the records, no it doesn't seem to have been except obviously since the explosion.

Q. Are you able to give us a flavour of the issues that have been raised since the explosion in relation to underground coalmining before that council?
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A. Council’s met just the once, well no sorry, it’s met twice since then.  It met last Thursday but of course I was here so I wasn’t able to attend that meeting so I don’t know what the nature of the discussion was there.  The previous meeting there were obviously expressions of concern of what had happened and a request to be kept in touch and briefed on the outcomes of the investigation and any other changes or any other activity that the department was undertaking.  It will be fair to say also that the CTU representatives were, you know, raising sort of issues of the levels of worker participation, as they had in previous submissions, and so they were also concerned about workers in the industry.

Q. I presume that minutes of that will be available?

A. Yes, they’re available on the department’s website.

Q. Does that body have the power to commission work or research?

A. Yes.

Q. Has it done so?

A. No.

Q. If I could just turn to another committee, the National Occupational Health and Safety Advisory Committee.  Are you familiar with that?

A. Yes.

Q. And is that known as NOHSAC for short?

A. Yes.

Q. When was that formed?

A. Haven’t got the documents in front of me but I think it was somewhere around 2004.

Q. And what was its composition?

A. It was essentially composed of academics and researchers with health and safety interests and backgrounds.

Q. And what was its role?

A. To undertake research and again as an advisory body to Government.

Q. Was it independent?

A. Yes.

Q. So it could decide what areas it wished to focus on?

A. Yes it could.

Q. Do you know whether any of its work focused on the extractive sector?

A. Not specifically, no.  Sorry, yes I do know that it didn’t specifically.

Q. And I understand that that’s been abolished?

A. Yes it was wound up probably two years ago now.

Q. Are you able to say why?

A. When the Government changed about three years ago they did a fairly widespread review of various advisory groups that had been set up under the previous administration and they decided that it was more appropriate to rather than have a standing committee establishing its own research agenda that it will be more appropriate to have a work commissioned on a as needs basis and not have a standing committee to do that piece of work.

Q. Since then has work been commissioned on an as needs basis?

A. Yes it has, yes.

Q. When we say, “Work,” what sort of work do you mean?

A. Pieces of research.  As an example, we’ve been doing some research on occupational health surveillance systems.  We’ve also been doing some research on, it’s like social sort of issues in workplaces, workplace bullying, fatigue, those sort of issues.

Q. And that’s research that is directed by Government is it?

A. It’s directed by Government through the department, yes.

Q. Are you able to give us an idea of the volume of research that was undertaken by NOHSAC?

A. They produced, I think, around 12 reports from memory.  So they undertook a fair volume of work during their life.

Q. Are you able to say whether anything’s been done to utilise that research?
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A. A number of things have been, and now are being, applied.  We are developing an occupational health surveillance system which was first recommended by NOHSAC, that will be, we’re just putting the finishing touches to that model this year and it will be implemented next year.  It’s probably the most significant in recent times and there are a number of others but I'm not familiar with – I couldn't recite them off the top of my head right now.

Q. But its research isn't being lost, it’s still being used?

A. No, that's right.

Q. Could I just turn to the transition of the mining inspector and group to the department in 1992 to 1998 and I know you weren't involved in that but you did have of course managerial responsibility for the department’s response to this Commission.  Are you able to describe the estimates of the costs and cost savings from prior to the transition?

A. I can give you some ball park figures, I think there was around three and a half million in the previous MIG regime and that reduced when the transition came over to the Department of Labour to somewhere around two and a half million.  The three and a half million was funded from a levy specifically on mine operators and on the industry.  That ceased at the time of the transition and the current funding is from general appropriations from the health and safety levy that is charged on all employers so there is no longer a mining specific levy.

Q. How did those cost savings come about?

A. As I understand it they came about because the scale and scope of the work of the inspectorate under the MIG had been significantly reduced and there were seen to be some cost savings likely to be applied by having the health and safety covered entirely by the Department of Labour.  

Q. When you refer to this scale and scope of the work, was part of that essentially referring to Crown Minerals taking over some of the functions and other functions then done under the Resource Management Act?

A. Yes and subsequently then other functions being undertaken by the Extractors Industries Training Organisation as well.

Q. Are you able to say whether prior to that transition there was an estimate of the benefits and disadvantages attached to it?

A. There was considerable debate I understand around the time of transition and the transition did take an extensive period of time because of the difficulties and the challenges of negotiating a satisfactory transition.

Q. Are you able to tell us what the estimated benefits were?

A. Are you talking dollars or are you talking about?

Q. No, I'm talking about benefits in terms of ensuring health and safety?

A. The change was premised on the fact that the one Act, one responsibility or one authority sort of principle which was that health and safety under the HSC legislation will be best managed in a single agency with prime responsibility, that that agency was the department.

Q. When you refer that that’s essentially New Zealand’s adoption of the Robens model?

A. Yes.

Q. So in terms of the regulatory regime a hierarchy starting with the Health and Safety in Employment Act supported then by regulation, then supported by approved codes of practice?

A. Mhm.

Q. And presumably then supported by other less formal guidance?

A. Forms of guidance, yes.

Q. And that hierarchy was presumably the hierarchy which it was intended to enact and have put in place?

A. Yes.
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Q. In advance of the transition, do you know whether there was any identification of any potential disadvantages in terms of ensuring health and safety of workers?

A. There was quite a strong lobby of opinion around the potential loss of, the sole focus in this and the expertise of the previous mines inspectorate.

Q. You say “lobby,” lobby by whom?

A. By people in the industry and by people who were current, who were inspectors in the mining inspection group in the, in Commerce.

Q. What did the department do in relation to that lobbying?

A. The departments effectively, well in terms of the lobbying I mean it did, the issue is really around how we’re going to implement the system once the decision was made.  It was one of implementation rather than making any decisions around responding to the lobbying.  It was a question of the department had the responsibility and it was then the responsibility to implement the new system.

Q. So in implementation, how did the department respond to the concerns which were indentified by those doing the lobbying?

A. Well first of all the, significant number of the people who had previously been doing the work in the mining inspection came over to the department and so that level of expertise was still available to the department and subsequently we have retained specialist mining inspectors within the department.

Q. When you say “a significant number came over,” that was at the initial stages of the transition?

A. Yes.

Q. And a significant number also left –

A. They did.

Q. – towards or by the end of the transition?

A. Yes, indeed.

Q. And when you say you've retained specialists, are you able to say how many specialist underground coalmining inspectors there were at the end of the transition, so 1998?

A. The numbers are, depending which documents you read the numbers are a little bit variable but generally seven was, is an indication of the numbers that came over.

Q. When you say “came over” –

A. Came over –

Q. – in 1998?

A. Yes.

Q. And in 1999 do you know how many there were?

A. No.

Q. And how many are there now?

A. Two.

Q. Has there been any work done by the department to ascertain whether the ratio of inspectors to the number of mines is the same as it used to be under the Mining Inspectorate Group regime?

A. When I say there are two, I mean I think what we’re saying here are there are two underground mining inspectors.  There are a significant number of other inspectors who have responsibility for some of the other functions that were a part of the old mining inspectorate you know for tunnels, for quarries and for open cast mines so there are more generalists able to operate in those areas as well.

Q. Just to perhaps repeat or rephrase my question.  Do you know whether the department has done any work to ascertain whether the ratio of inspectors to the number of mining operations is the same now as it was at the time of that transition?

A. In terms of the comparisons, no, I'm not sure about that but I do know there has been quite a lot of assessment done in terms of whether or not the current deployment is adequate for the existing number of underground mines and the decision has been, yes, that it is adequate for that purpose bearing in mind that we’re not really comparing apples and apples with the level, the responsibilities that inspectors had under the old regime to their current role.

Q. Can you just explain a bit more about what work has been done in that regard?

A. In relation to assessing whether or not the current two inspectors is sufficient for the four underground mines.  Is that, sorry is that the question?
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Q. Well, whether the number of inspectors is sufficient for the number of operations for which they are responsible?

A. The bulk of that work has been done not in the policy unit.  It’s been done in the operational side, so I don't have that detail I'm sorry.

Q. Do you know whether at the end of that transition of the Mining Inspectorate Group to the department, there was a post-transition review of whether the costs and benefits were realised?

A. There’d been a number of reviews.  I'm not sure whether that was a specific part of that review.

Q. When you say, “a number of reviews,” are you able to just explain what reviews there have been?

A. I'll just need to refer to my brief if I may.  There was a review in the year 2000, which led to amendments to the HSE Act.  Sorry, this was not specific to mining, and then there was the review in 2006, 2008, 2009.

Q. But you're not aware whether there was any specific review directed at the issue of whether the estimated costs and benefits of the transition to the Mining Inspectorate Group were in fact realised?

A. No.

Q. I just want to look at the period immediately after that transition, and given the difficulty with the screen, I'll perhaps read out what is quite a short paragraph from the department’s Tier 2 paper, 10 May 2011, paragraph 165, and the summation number is DOL000001001/52?

A. Sorry, can you give me the paragraph number again please?

Q. Paragraph 165.  Just while it’s coming up I'll read you the short paragraph.  Paragraph 165.  “The number of serious harm notifications from the sector to the inspectorate rose steadily during the period 1999 to 2005.  The department’s principal response was to support the establishment of Minex, the National Health and Safety Council for the New Zealand Minerals Industry.”  Do you have that paragraph before you?

A. Yes I do.

Q. Now if I could just clarify something first.  The reference to “serious harm notifications,” is presumably a reference to the notifications required pursuant to section 25(2) of the Health and Safety in Employment Act?

A. I think it’s 25(3), but yes.

Q. And that requires notification of serious harm incidents.  Subsection (2)(b) also includes as matters to be notified accidents of a kind or description required by regulations made under section 21.  In 1999 the Health and Safety in Employment (Mining-Underground) Regulations were issued and regulation 10 of that set out a variety of types of accidents which had to be notified?

A. Yes.
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Q. Are those accidents also included in the serious harm notifications to which you have referred in paragraph 165?

A. Not necessarily, no, because there are a number of things that needed, there was an obligation to report under the Regulations that don’t result in accidents.

Q. So 165, the reference to serious harm notifications is to, serious harm notifications aside from those that were also required to be notified pursuant to the 1999 Regulations?

A. I’m sorry, no, can you go back again and read, ask the first question again because I may have given you to the wrong answer to that?

Q. The issue is, does the serious harm notification referred to there –

A. Yes.

Q. – include the notifications that from 1999 were also required as a result of Regulation 10 of the Mining, Underground Regulations?

A. Yes, sorry I misunderstood your question, yes.

Q. It does include those?

A. Yes.

Q. You have said that the principle response is to support the establishment of Minex, and when I say, “You,” I mean the department.  Are you able to say why that was chosen as the principle response?

A. The issue I think at that time was seen to be that there was a gap in the regulatory framework which was around having established the Regulations in ’99 the next tier within the regulatory framework was around codes of practices and guidelines and so the question of the establishment of Minex to provide the mechanism to develop those codes of practice and guidelines was seen to be a significant piece of the framework that was missing and therefore that was where the energy needed to go.

Q. Well I think when we talked about the hierarchy before we talked about it as having the Health and Safety in Employment Act, then the Regulations, then approved codes of practice and then guidance?

A. Yes.

Q. So would the next tier not have been considering the issuing of approved codes of practice?

A. The approved codes of practice have a particular definition and require Ministerial approval.  They are a part of the framework that is not widely used.  There are probably under 20 approved codes of practice right across all industries at the moment.  There hasn’t been one for at least the last 10 years.  Generally speaking the reason for that has been that approved codes of practice do take a long time to develop.  They are also very difficult to change, requiring Ministerial decision-making.  So what the practice has become over recent years has been to develop codes of practice which effectively have the same sort of effect in terms of setting out an industry expect - you know, what’s recognised as industry codes but without the formality of Ministerial approval.

Q. You’ve raised a couple of issues there.  One is the long time in relation to approved codes of practice and the other is the same effect?

A. Mhm.

Q. Are you able to say when the Minex codes of practice were issued?

A. Minex has issued one code of practice in relation to mining and a number of guidance documents underneath that.

Q. And do you know when the Minex code of practice was issued?

A. I think it was in 2008.

Q. So three years after the end point of this increasing notification period?

A. Minex was formed in 2006 and that was, so I came, yes, fairly swiftly after that period of time.

Q. And when you say that codes of practice have the same effect as an approved codes of practice, can we just look at this specific example.  Minex is an industry group, is that correct?

A. Yes.
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Q. So it represents the views of the industry as opposed to the views of the workers within an industry?

A. I'm not sure they would accept that, the development of their code of practice and their guidance would need to reflect engagement with the work force.

Q. Well, do you know whether workers in an industry are entitled to be or are actually members of Minex?

A. No, I'm not, I don't know about that.

Q. In assessing whether or not a code of practice might have the same effect as an approved code of practice did the department assess the extent to which codes of practice might fairly represent the rights and duties of both employers and employees?

A. The – sorry, can you repeat that question?

Q. Do you know whether the department assessed whether or not the Minex code of practice fairly represented the rights and duties of both employers and employees?

A. The department doesn’t actually approve the code of practice, it’s essentially an industry in consultation but the department doesn’t approve the code of practice.

Q. But presumably for the department to take the view that a code of practice has the same effect as an approved code of practice, it must undertake some assessment of whether or not that’s the case in the context of a specific code?

A. Yes.

Q. How does it do that?

A. It does that by engaging with Minex and also with interested parties to determine its view.  It’s used by the department as, if you like, the demonstration of all practicable steps as an indication of adherence to a code of practice, would be the decision, would be the thing that the department would assess as against all practicable steps to ensure a safe work place.

Q. Do you know whether there was a review by the department of the Minex code?

A. There would've been but it wouldn’t have been in through the policy group, it would be through the operations side.

Q. So I presume you're not in a position to say whether the Minex code had the same effect that for example, an approved code of practice might?

A. It’s generally recognised as having that same effect.

Q. You're not in a position to say in relation to the Minex code?

A. No.

Q. I want to stay really around that timeframe.  In 2006 there were then two deaths in underground coalmining as a result of two different tragedies.  Is that correct?

A. That’s true.

Q. And that led to the review that you referred to earlier I think as the 2006 to 2009 review?

A. Yes.

Q. And although that review was called the 2006 to 2009 review as I understand it the single regulatory change recommended occurred in 2010?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able just to explain why that review took that period of time?

A. The review was pretty much concluded in 2008.  The initial report back to the Minister with the outcomes of that review occurred late in 2008 at a time when there was an election and a change of government and so the findings and the papers were then reconsidered by the incoming government in early 2009.
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Q. Does the department assess the priority which should be afforded to reviews such as that review?

A. Yes.

Q. And what's the process it has for assessing that priority?

A. It’s essentially what’s, if it’s a Minister’s priority it’s the department’s priority, and so the assessment of the priority given to it in 2006 was that it was directed by the Minister.  It was to be a thorough look at the system so there was a balance to be had between speed and between thoroughness and so a two-year period of time to review, to consult, to consider, to put - have public consultation processes is not unusual.

Q. Do you know whether in assessing that priority regard was had to that increasing rate of serious harm notifications to which we referred earlier?

A. Yes.

Q. And did the department have any reason to believe that that increasing rate would not continue to increase?

A. No.

Q. Do you know whether in assessing that priority, regard was had to the fact that mining was in the top five industries in terms of the injury rate as referred to in Appendix 1 of the Workplace Health and Safety Strategy?

A. Yes.

Q. The regulatory impact statement at the time that the regulation was introduced or just prior in 2010, said in respect of that regulation, and its DOL0010020482/4, that overall the estimated impacts are slight and the potential safety benefit is significant as it could avoid a tragedy similar to one of the fatalities in 2006.  In assessing the priority to be afforded to that review, was regard had to the seriousness of the consequences which it was sought to be prevented?

A. Yes.

Q. And so what was the priority that was allocated to it?

A. To the review or to the implementation of the regulatory change?

Q. To the review?

A. To the review, the – it was a major piece of work on the policy work programme and had the appropriate resource allocated to it, a dedicated resource.

Q. What was the resource allocated to it?

A. The resource was a senior advisor working full-time on that piece of work supplemented by a significant amount of manager input and support from other members of the team.

Q. It was responding to the fatalities in 2006.  Did the department set a time frame within which the review must be completed?

A. It precedes me so I don't know whether that was the case, but no I'm sorry I can't say.

Q. Could I just turn please to the sources of information for that review, and perhaps if you could outline what the sources of information were?

A. Could I - I will need to refer to my brief if I may.

Q. Certainly.

A. Perhaps if I -
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THE COMMISSION:
Q. Where are you?

A. I'm on, I'm at paragraph 156.

cross-examination continues:  mr wilding

A. And it’s actually covered in my detail in the Tier 2 paper on page 68 of the Tier 2 paper.

Q. I think you're probably looking at paragraph 263 are you?

A. Yes.

Q. On DOL0000010001/72.  I do appreciate you weren’t directly involved at that initial stage –

A. No.

Q. – but what were the sources of information?

A. The sources of information were essentially our engagement with sector people, our own mining inspectors, a cross-section of industry parties including Solid Energy, EPMU the miners’ union, and Minex the extractive sector health and safety council.  We also undertook a review of international jurisdictions, similar international jurisdictions to develop a consultation document, subsequently discussion document, which raised a number of options for improving health and safety outcomes in the industry.

Q. How were the mines inspectors involved in that review?

A. I wasn’t around at the time so I couldn't say what the process was but they would've been consulted and had their views sought.

Q. Are you aware of whether they expressed any concern in relation to the process?

A. No, I'm not aware of that.

Q. Are you able to say whether there was any consideration of their mines inspection reports?

A. No, I'm not aware of that sorry.

Q. Do you know whether the Mine Steering Group was involved in the review?

A. Yes, it would've been.

Q. And in terms of the involvement of employees, if I could just ask DOL0010020323/7 to be called up.

A. Do I need to come down and review that?

coMMISSION adjourns:
2.59 PM

Commission resumes:
3.16 PM

cross-examination continues:  mr wilding

Q. Mr Murphy the page you have before you DOL0010020323/7 is page 7 of the Summary of Public Submissions on the discussion paper improving health and safety hazard management in the underground mining industry and that was one of the documents in that 2006 to 2009 review?

A. Yes.

Q. And am I correct in understanding from that table that the worker representation on that was, the fourth from the bottom EPMU, third from the bottom NZCTU and then two workers.  Is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did the department undertake any work to ascertain what percentage of workers in underground mining were represented by those four?

A. No, not specifically, except that recognising that the EPMU is the recognised union for mine, that covers mining.  But we didn’t check how many miners are members of the EPMU.

Q. How was the participation of workers sought?

A. Through the union and through the CTU and through a public consultation process.  So it was a public consultation process that was open to anybody to submit.

Q. When you say, “Public consultation,” was that by way of public advertisement in a paper?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Was there any consideration of public forums or employee forums?

A. I wasn’t around at the time so I couldn’t say.  I don’t know the answer to that I’m sorry.

Q. When conducting this type of process does the department do anything to assure itself that the responses are properly representative of the group being focused on?

A. Sort of in general terms, yes.  I think in terms of the specifics of this particular situation we would recognise that EPMU was the recognised Miners Union and would be speaking for miners.
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Q. Do you know whether, as part of that review process, there was any consideration of the accidents and serious harm notifications?

A. Yes there would've been.

Q. Do you know whether it involved any analysis of the accident and serious harm incidents in large and small mines?

A. My understanding was that the analysis showed that the issues of concern were primarily in small mines.  I haven't got the data in front of me but that was where the representations under the information would indicate that that was the biggest problem.

Q. Does that mean that there will be a document somewhere which shows that there was an analysis of the types and natures of accidents across all coal mines, both large and small?

A. I would imagine that would be the case but I haven't seen it myself.

Q. Are you in a position to say whether one of the sources of information was accident compensation accident information?

A. Yes it would be.

Q. If I could just turn to the recommendations following that review, am I right in understanding that there were two recommendations, one was directed at increasing regulation of small mines?

A. Yes.

Q. And small mines meant those with fewer than eight workers.  Is that correct?

A. I think the definition we used was fewer than 15 workers underground at any one time.

Q. And the other recommendation was directed at employee participation.  Is that correct?

A. Yes, there were more than two recommendations actually but those are the two primary ones.

Q. Are you able to say why, aside from the employee participation recommendation, there weren't any recommendations that encapsulated larger mines?

A. Well, there were recommendations that encapsulated larger mines but they weren't for regulatory change, they were more round development of technical guidance and developing more systematic approaches to managing health and safety but they were to be progressed through guideline development rather than through regulatory change.

Q. When you say guideline development you mean industry codes of practice?

A. Well, industry, not specifically codes of practice but industry developed guidelines, developed in conjunction between the department, the industry and employee organisations.

Q. When you refer to other recommendations I wonder if we could have DOL0010020445/11?

A. Yes, I've now got that.

Q. And when we talk about a recommendation encapsulating larger mines do you mean that contained in paragraph 3.2?

A. Yes, that’s one of them.

Q. And this is the ministerial briefing paper of 2 July 2009 which I presume was the paper which contained the recommendations.  Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Could we have beside that please the next page, so summation number ending 12.  When you say that’s one of them are you able just to show us where the others are?

A. As you see from the one on page 10, recommendation 3 was for the Minister to agree in principle to develop a regulation requiring the operation of smaller mines to document their health and safety system and hazard management plans.  
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A. The Minister did not agree to that, but what she did agree to was to effect the changes by way of guidance.  There was the agreement to raise the level of managerial competency required for small underground coal mines.  That was recommendation 4, which was agreed.  And then to agree that the department should address worker and union concerns about quality of employee participation in underground mining by improving the information and promotion of the employee participation framework in the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992.

Q. But my point is that with the exception of the employee participation, the recommendations are directed at smaller mines and don't encompass non-small mines.  Is that a fair comment?

A. There is an earlier noting recommendation number 2, which talks about note the Department of Labour’s mining operational work programme already underway includes work with key stakeholders to develop technical guidance, including guidance about systematic approach to health and safety management.  So that relates to all mines.

Q. And that was noting something which was going to be done?

A. Yeah, so that was again a guidance to be done, developed through guidance.

Q. If we could take you please to paragraph 34 of the same document summation ending 7?  Paragraph 34 says, “The role policy debate lies between the two other options for improving a systematic approach, whether to regulate for a documented system or to address inconsistent practices in smaller mines by way of guidance or an ACOP?”

A. Yes.

Q. First, what is meant by a documented system or document safety system?

A. It’s a system whereby the company would outline their systems and processes for managing their health and safety risk.

Q. So it’s more significant than just a health and safety manual?

A. Yes.

Q. And New Zealand law doesn't require that?

A. No.

Q. And ACOP means approved codes of practice?

A. Yes it does, yeah.

Q. If I can take you please to paragraph 36.  The first sentence there, “Professor Gunningham’s research indicates that requiring a documented safety system is an international best practice option for underground mining in general.  However, the research raised a question about whether a regulated system is the best option to improve health and safety practice for SMEs in general.”

A. Yes.

Q. First, who is Professor Gunningham?

A. Professor Gunningham, Neil Gunningham, is an academic and researcher in Australia who is well-known for his work in regulatory systems and particularly in high hazards and mining in particular.

Q. And SMEs?

A. Small and medium-sized enterprises.

Q. Isn’t it implicit in his sentence there that an international best practice option for non-SMEs for underground mining would be to have a documented safety system?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to say why that wasn't recommended?

A. The scale of most mining operations in New Zealand is significantly smaller than they are for the Australian mines and so for, generally for pretty much all of New Zealand’s mining operations, in Australian terms they’d be considered small.

Q. If I could take you to paragraph 38 please?  If you could just read that to yourself?
A. Yes.
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Q. And the crux of that is that the department was going to take into account the potential use of documented health and safety systems when reviewing other areas such as high hazard facilities in energy safety.  Is that a fair comment?

A. Yes.

Q. Why did it decide, if it did in fact decide, not to include in those industries to be reviewed the larger underground coalmines?

A. Sorry, can you repeat that question?

Q. Why did it not decide, if it did indeed decide, not to review in future their use for underground coalmines, of a large scale at least?

A. I don’t think we have actually made that decision.

Q. But at that time there wasn’t a decision made that there would be a review of that issue with respect to large mines?

A. No.

Q. And that’s still undecided?

A. Yes.

Q. If I could take you back to paragraph 36 please.  The second sentence refers to Professor Gunningham’s research, “He cited the 2007 Digging Deep Research by the New South Wales Mine Safety Advisory Council which found that particularly for the smaller sites regulation and enforcement by inspectors was a major driver for implementing an occupation health and safety management system.”  First, are you able to say whether Professor Gunningham’s view in that regard was fed back to the mines inspectors?

A. The mines inspectors have access to this information. 

Q. Do you know whether it was drawn to their attention?

A. I’ve no reason to suppose it wouldn’t be but I personally didn’t do that.

Q. Given the emphasis that seems to be there placed on enforcement by inspectors do you know whether there was any reconsideration as a result of that to the approach taken to enforcement?

A. I’m not sure that that will be the case because I think that the department would’ve always recognised that the role of inspectors was significant in enforcement in all underground coalmines.  So I don’t think that what Professor Gunningham was saying would be new to the inspectorate.

Q. If I could take you to summation page ending 12 of that same document.  This is recommendation six, “Agree that the department should address worker and union concerns about the quality of employee participation in underground mining by improving the information and promotion of the employee participation framework in the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992?”

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to just tell us how that was implemented?

A. Well it’s still in progress of being implemented so the work is being done currently.  That has involved some international, a look at what’s happening internationally, current developments in that area, a discussion paper is being developed and we’ll be being consulted with worker representatives over the next couple of months.

Q. When did that work start?

A. Work started about six months ago.

Q. Post the Pike River tragedy?

A. Close to, I’m not sure whether it was immediately preceding or immediately post.
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Q. If I could just take you please to another page in that, which is summation ending 13, its appendix 1, paragraph 5.  First to Crown Minerals and it says, “They, being Crown Minerals also carry out regular site visits to mines.”  Are you able to say whether Crown Minerals was consulted before the comments about what it does were made?

A. No, I can't confirm that I'm sorry.

Q. Would it be usual to consult with another Government department before making comments in a paper such as this about what that other Government department did?

A. Absolutely, yeah.

Q. If I could just turn to an earlier step in this review process and this time a briefing paper of 16 February 2007 and if we could have on screen please summation DOL0010020261/5 and beside it /6.  Are you familiar with the briefing paper of 16 February 2007?

A. It does precede me but I have seen it.

Q. It is part of this same review process.  If you could just read to yourself please paragraphs 17 and 18.  Would you agree that the crux of those paragraphs is that first it thought that there was some ambiguity or lack of clarity in the regulations, yes?

A. My sense of reading that is that it’s actually less, it’s more about the term, the duplication of the same sort of standard and the regulations as it is in the Act rather than, that’s the way I’d read that.

Q. Well –

A. That it was more a duplication.

Q. – it says in paragraph 18, “To improve the clarity and reduce ambiguity, the all practicable steps references could be removed from some of the regulations which set particular requirements (in some cases it would be retained).  The above statement,” and it refers to the preceding paragraph, “would change to the, “every employer shall make a plan at every operation.”

A. Yes.

Q. Has that been done?

A. No.

Q. Are you able to explain why, if the department had identified that as an issue in 2007, it then didn’t feature as an issue in the briefing paper of 
2 July 2009 and the recommendations contained in that?

A. My assumption, and it is only an assumption, is that on further testing it was felt that the requirement was less ambiguous than it was at first thought and that the wording was still clear enough to be able to be interpreted.

Q. But just for the record, you don't know?

A. No.

Q. If you could just look at paragraph 20, just read that to yourself.

A. Yes.
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Q. So the department identified then three things which it said could result in improvements.  One was providing more details (prescriptive) standards for how certain requirements are to be met and you agree that that didn’t seem to be reflected in the briefing paper of 2 July 2009 an in particular its recommendations?

A. I think what we’ve got here are ideas at an early stage of development which found their way into the consultation and discussion document, when then through that process would have been tested and so it wouldn’t be surprising that all the things that were identified as potential areas in 2007 may not have, after that process, come through into final recommendations.

Q. When you say consultation does that mean, and rather than taking you laboriously through each of those three, that there wouldn’t have been sufficient agreement by those who had made submissions?

A. That these ideas, among others, would've been tested in that process and there would have been differing views and in final analysis they didn’t come through as being recommended.

Q. So I take it those three matters there, and the second and third just for the record, increasing monitoring and conformity requirements and third, increasing notification requirements for high risk activities, haven't been addressed in the sense that there's been no change in that regard?

A. There's been no regulatory change, no.  I should just say the first around the more detailed standards, the issue there is more around the vehicle for doing that whether or not that is through regulation or whether that’s through guidance.

Q. This was in 2007, has that issue been resolved yet?

A. No.

Q. Just while we’re talking about timing, can I turn to a different issue which is the promulgation of regulations.  As I understand it from the department’s Tier 2 paper, paragraph 173, probably don’t need it on screen but for the record it’s summation number 0000010001/54, it was noted that from 1992 to 1996 the mining industry was without any sector specific regulation.  Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And then when there was regulation in 1996 that was by way of Health and Safety in Employment (Mining Administration) Regulations which were issued on 11 August 1996?

A. Yes.

Q. And what they did essentially was reinstate the competency requirement that was in place prior to the introduction of the Health and Safety in Employment Act?

A. Yes.

Q. And that meant that the industry was still without prescriptive regulation regarding specific hazards?

A. Yes until 1999.

Q. That's right, until the mining underground regulations of 1999.  So we have timeframes of over three years and over six years in relation to the introduction of each of those two pieces of regulation. Was a substantial amount of that timeframe attributable to a lack of accord between the industry on the one hand and workers on the other regarding whether there should be regulation and the content of that?

A. That was certainly part of it.  I think there was also some uncertainty for the regulator in terms of what would be the appropriate levels of prescription or appropriate levels of regulation versus guidance and codes of practice so I think all three parties I think were struggling a little bit at that time to determine what the appropriate level of regulation would be for the industry.  It wasn't just in relation to mining it will be fair to say.  It was an issue that was felt across a range of industries.
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Q. Does the department have a system for dealing with a lack of accord between industry and worker groups so as to ensure that the promulgation of, for example, regulations isn’t delayed or stymied?

A. The system is really one of engagement, one of consultation, and one of testing the views of the parties against what is understood as best practice.  We will test that with other international jurisdictions and ultimately we’d recommend then to a particular course of action to Government, some of which may mean Government being faced with conflicting advice from other concerned parties.  There would also be attempts to, in certain situations, to see what level of consensus can be arranged for over time.

Q. Can I just try and ascertain the weight that might have been attached to a couple of documents during this process.  One of the documents is a report of the Labour Committee First Session Forty-fourth Parliament 1996 titled, “Inquiry into the Administration of Occupational Safety and Health Policy”.  Are you familiar with that?

A. Can you repeat the reference please?  I haven’t got it in front of me so it’s a bit hard –

Q. “Inquiry into the Administration of Occupational Safety and Health Policy”, Report of the Labour Committee.

A. Of what year again, sorry?

Q. 1996?  It is -

A. I'm familiar with it but I'm not sort of having it in front of me no it’s...

Q. It is covered in the responses for which you had managerial responsibility.  I wonder if perhaps I could take you to a particular page, DOL0010010023/5?  Now this is the report, not the Government response which dealt with certain recommendations.  It says, and it’s the last paragraph highlighted before you.  “In general, it has to be accepted that there are a few specific industries/workplaces which may require their own, at least partly prescriptive, regulations (for example, mining).”  Are you able to say what impact that comment had or might have had on the speed with which hazards-specific regulations were developed?

A. No, I'm sorry I can't say what weight would have been given to this in that process.

Q. It may be a similar position for the next document but I'll put it for completeness.  Could we have exhibit 3 I think it is please, and perhaps page 17?
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Q. Probably won’t have seen this but correct me if I’m wrong, it’s a document that the Ministry of Commerce titled, “Review of the Recommendations from the Wardens Inquiry into the accident at Moura Number 2 Mine Queensland on Sunday August 7 1994?”

A. No I’m sorry I haven’t seen this.

Q. The second to last paragraph reads, “The Review Committee recommends that due to the high level of risk to employers arising from mines fires and explosions, specific regulation dealing with these matters be urgently addressed.”  This was in 1996, so again three years before hazards specific regulation came in?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you in a position at all to say what weight, if any, that had in terms of the speed with which regulations were developed?

A. No I’m sorry I can’t answer that.

Q. Could I turn please to a different issue, which is the development of approved codes of practice.  And you gave us a brief outline before but can you just describe the processes by which they’re developed?

A. They’re developed in consultation with the department with industry stakeholders, employers and unions, workers and they’re submitted through to the Ministry of Labour for endorsement and for promulgation.

Q. And I presume that one of the roles of the department is to give advice to the Minister about whether or not an approved code of practice should be developed?

A. Yes.

Q. And if the Minister agrees then the department’s role would be to develop that?

A. Yes.

Q. And so one of the functions of the department would be to identify whether there’s a need for an approved code of practice?

A. Yes.

Q. And there isn’t an approved code of practice in relation to underground coalmining?

A. True.

Q. Do you know whether the department has ever made a recommendation to the Minister that there be an approved code of practice developed for underground coalmining?

A. No.

Q. No you don’t know or, no there has never been a recommendation?

A. No I don’t know of a time where there’s ever been recommendation, certainly not in my period of time, last few years.

Q. And if there was it wasn’t something that came to your attention in the course of your managerial responsibility for the department’s response to the Royal Commission?

A. No.

Q. Are you able to say whether the mines inspectors or Mine Steering Group for high hazards advisor have ever expressed a view about whether an approved code of practice should be developed for the underground mining industry?

A. No in my time they haven’t.

Q. Are you able to say whether there’s been consultation in relation to other regulatory agencies, for example Crown Minerals or the Department of Conservation or ACC as to whether or not an approved code of practice should be developed for the underground mining industry?

A. Again, not since I’ve been here in the last three years.

Q. Is that an issue which is being considered as a result of the Pike River tragedy, the issue being the development of approved codes of practice?

A. Not specifically, although obviously in the light of events the department will be considering any and all options really around strengthening the framework depending on the outcomes of the Commission and the work that we’re doing currently to review again the current framework and our operational practice.

Q. I suspect again this is probably before your time and therefore outside your knowledge but with that caveat I’ll raise it anyway.  If we could have on screen please summation document DOL0010010023/5.
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Q. Could I ask you please just to read the centre two paragraphs starting with, “Codes were universally seen as valuable.”

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know whether, in response to that, the department issued codes of practice?

A. Sorry, can you date this document again for me please?

Q. Sorry this is, “The inquiry into the administration of occupation of health and safety policy of 1996.”  It’s the report of the labour committee rather than the Government response?

A. Yeah, my understanding is that the response to this was the establishment of Minex and that the industry was to with the establishment of Minex was to develop the codes and the guidance would support them.

Q. That was about a decade later, but accepting that you weren’t involved at that stage, that’s not a criticism.  Is it within your knowledge as to whether as a result of this, and this is back in 1996, the department reassessed the administrative and technical resources that it had available for the development of codes?

A. I'm not aware of what was happening at the time.  I'm just aware that in 2007 there was some additional resource put into that for, and development of standards and guidance material so in the intervening years, no I don't know.

Q. Well if we move forward perhaps to something slightly more contemporary which is the workplace health and safety strategy for 
New Zealand 2015 published on June 2005.  If we could have please CAC0004/16 and if we could highlight that part and I'm sorry this hasn’t come through very clearly but action number 4 of the department is, “Develop, review, align and evaluate standards and guidance (such as codes of practice and guidance) within the legislative frameworks of the HSE Act and the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act so that they are clear, relevant and effective”?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to tell us how that action was implemented?

A. The department set up its, set up a discrete team of people to do this in 2007.  There is, the department has around 1500 standards, guidance material documents so there is a team of people working on that suite of guidance material updating, reviewing and so it’s an ongoing process.
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Q. How does the department decide the particular industries upon which it’s going to focus?

A. Generally speaking that’s used through – they have essentially a triage system where they look at the various elements to it being, what are the industries that are the priority industries and those were the ones that we talked about earlier and also looking at the legacy guidance material as to how old it is, how relevant it still is, how much practices in particular in industries and workplaces have changed so what's the level of involvement, sorry, what's the need for refreshing, renewing or in fact in some cases deleting standards and guidance material so all those things would be taken into consideration in setting the priorities and determining what gets done when.

Q. Do you know if underground coalmining featured in that?

A. It’s currently featuring in that, absolutely, yes.

Q. In what way?

A. The current guidelines are being reviewed and new guidance material is being developed.

Q. For underground coalmining?

A. Yes.

Q. What guidance material is there?

A. What guidance material is there, they’re the Minex guides.

Q. So once again not a department document?

A. No.

Q. Still at quite a systemic level could we turn please to the review of the Workplace Health and Safety Strategy for New Zealand to 2015, CAC0001/16.  If we could highlight the paragraphs under the heading, “Knowledge.”  This is part of the summary of the submissions of the review conducted in 2009 of that 10 year strategy?

A. Yes.

Q. And under the heading, “Knowledge,” there's reference to standards and guidance published by the Department of Labour were often incomplete or out of date.  “Numerous submitters said that a lack of up to date guidance, approved codes of practice and other standards is a significant barrier to businesses meeting their legal obligations and as such is a barrier to the implementation of the strategy.”  Are you able to say what the department has done in response to that issue?

A. As I've outlined in my earlier response, the establishment of the standards team in 2007 was driven by the recognition by the department of these issues and they are now working their way through those standards and guidance material to update them and refresh.

Q. Although I think you'll probably give the same ultimate answer to the next question I'll refer to it really just for the record.  If we could have document CAC0002/24, this is a 2008 document prepared by NOHSAC, to which we referred earlier, a report to the Ministry of Labour, the efficacy of RHS instruments.  If you could perhaps just read to yourself those three paragraphs?

A. Yes.
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Q. Now do you agree that the crux of those comments again is concern about the lack of approved codes and guidance?

A. Yes.

Q. And would I assume that essentially that is being responded to by way of this work that was started in 2007?

A. Yes.  I guess in the specific situation of underground mining by the role of Minex as well and the industry and the terms of development of guidance material and an approved code or codes of practice.

Q. It refers there to issues as including a combination of a lack of resources (financial and technical).  Have more resources been put into the development of approved codes?

A. In sort of the development of codes and standards, yes absolutely.  Sorry, what was the date of this NOHSAC report?

Q. This is 2008?

A. Actually since then no.  I mean the additional resource was put in a year ahead of that and so that would be at the same level as would have been the case in 2008.

Q. This refers to a lack of technical resources?

A. Mmm.

Q. Do you know whether the department has reassessed its technical expertise to provide approved codes and guidance?

A. That was done as well in 2007.

Q. And what was the result of that?

A. Well with results specifically in relation to the, into mining was the establishment of the specialist high hazards technical advisor.  There were three other technical advisors in other industries appointed at the same time.

Q. And the Department hasn’t issued any new approved codes since when, in any area? 
A. I think probably since the late ‘90s, I think, about ’98-’99.

Q. Now down the bottom of that page of the same 2008 document, are four issues identified.  A lack of criteria for prioritising the development of codes, inconsistent development methods, difficulties in reaching consensus when developing approved codes, difficulties in removing outdated OHS instruments once approved.  Are you able to say whether they have been addressed in the context of this 2007 work?

A. Yes I can and I think certainly there are now, there is a greater degree of consistency in the ways in which we're using developing guidance material and reviewing it.  As I say, we haven’t been developing approved codes and one of the reasons for that was that final bullet point or final point there was around the difficulties in removing outdated instruments once approved, which is one of the reasons why we are not currently developing approved codes and just going for codes and guidance material because they are easier to update and they are easier to keep fresh.

Q. What’s the difficulty to which you're referring updating an approved code?

A. It’s generally the additional requirements about ministerial approval.

Q. Just how long does that take?

A. There isn’t – well it’s variable really and I think it just creates an additional sort of layer of, dare I say, bureaucracy.

Q. Is there written documentation available setting out the policies and procedures relating to this 2007 work to which we've referred?

A. There is an annual work programme for the standards team.
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Q. But do you know, for example, whether there’s a written policy that could be supplied setting out the criteria for prioritising the development of codes?

A. Not sure about the development of codes but certainly the review and maintenance of codes.  I’m not sure whether there is something there around the development of codes.

Q. Just before we leave this document, if we can turn to the next page ending summation number 25, in brief top sentence.  “Another factor identified is a disconnect between the professional disciplines and government agencies.”  Are you aware of that issue?

A. I’m not aware of the context here that we’re talking about.

Q. It’s a continuation of that list, so it’s just other issues that have impacted on the development or non-development of codes and guidance material.  If it’s an issue you’re not aware of we’ll move on?

A. No, I’m aware there’s always room for improvement in the relationships and the connects between government agencies and other organisations, there is room for continuous improvement in those areas.

Q. Could I just turn to a different issue, that of New Zealand Standards.  Are you able just to explain the purpose very briefly?

A. I probably should sort of qualify this by saying that this is not my area of expertise.

Q. Right.

A. And the standards setting arrangements within the organisation are dealt with in the sort of operational sort of part of the organisation so I’m not familiar with their practices in any detail.

Q. Right, well thank you for that.  Would you be in a position to know whether the department has ever sought the development of New Zealand standards in relation to underground coalmining or any aspect of that?

A. No I’m not aware of that.

Q. Can you please go to CAC0001/10.  This is part again of the summary of written submissions of the 2009 review of the workplace, health and safety strategy for New Zealand for 2015.  And halfway down under the heading, “Balancing proactive and reactive inspection functions,” is the following.  “Feedback about the role of the department’s inspectorate covered a range of views.  Some submitters felt there should be more advisory visits to business by health and safety inspectors with the aim of suggesting and supporting improvements in practice.  However other felt that more enforcement visits were needed,” and it continues on.  Are you in a position to explain the department’s policy approach to advisory visits?

A. It’s more an operational policy sort of issue but as you would be aware, the emphasis in the legislation is around employer responsibility for their workplaces and for the role of the inspector sort of changed significantly with the introduction of the legislation and so the responsibility for inspectors now to provide advice is now not recognised as a primary role.  That sort of advice is a matter for employers to obtain independently of the regulator but I’m mindful that inspectors do provide suggestions and engage with employers around how they might best met their obligations.
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Q. Given that feedback has that policy issue been reconsidered to your knowledge?
A. The policy of the role of the –

Q. In relation to advisory visits?

A. We’re starting to get into sort of the operational area now which I'm not close enough to be able to comment but the issue of the role of the inspector in a more proactive sense as opposed to the enforcement after an event there is a balance to be had and the inspectors still do a significant amount of proactive work.  Whether that extends to advice is another matter.

Q. To the extent to which the legislation doesn't expressly require the giving of advice, is that a matter that has ever been considered by your policy unit?

A. The issue has really been canvassed a number of times in terms of the change of emphasis in the role of the inspector vis-à-vis, the role of the employer in ensuring health and safety in the workplaces so the view that the department has is at this stage is that the balance is appropriately covered in the legislation and articulated in the legislation.

Q. That’s not a matter that your unit has ever considered though for the purpose of giving advice to the minister?

A. Not in recent times.

Q. I was going to ask you some questions arising from that document in relation to proactive and reactive functions but once again would they be more for the operational side rather than you?

A. Yes, they would.

Q. Just to another issue which is that of information sharing between state agencies.  Has your unit ever looked at whether or not the legislation allows for the sharing of information relevant to health and safety between the other state agencies who might hold information bearing on that?

A. There’d be no barrier as far as I would be aware.

Q. So it’s something which could be effected at an operational level?

A. Yes.

Q. Another issue, are you aware that one of the possibilities is that no regulatory agency is required to approve the plan and design of an underground coal mine?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that an issue which has ever come to the attention of your unit?

A. No, not in my time anyway.

Q. I asked you at the beginning about the identification of regulatory gaps and that was a function that you indicated your unit had?

A. Mmm.

Q. Is that the sort of matter that might be regarded as a regulatory gap?

A. Yes, I would say it would be.

Q. But to your knowledge it’s not a regulatory gap that’s been identified by the unit yet?

A. No.

Q. Final two issues, first are you aware of the Health and Safety in Employment (Petroleum Exploration and Extraction) Regulations 1999?

A. Yes.

Q. Now they require that for essentially offshore petroleum installations there be what’s described as a safety case?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with that concept?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able just to describe it briefly?

A. It’s a requirement for the operators to describe the safety systems, the safety processes around the design and the operation of the facility and to have those submitted to the regulator.

Q. Do you know whether that’s been looked at in relation to underground coal mines?

A. It was one of the specific issues that was consulted on in the review between 2006, 2009.

Q. But didn’t form a recommendation?

A. No, the recommend – there wasn’t a recommendation to introduce it for mining, no.
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Q. Are you able just to précis why that was?

A. It was felt to be still an emerging regulatory tool.  It hadn't been used in mining anywhere else that we were aware of.  The issues why it was introduced particularly in the offshore petroleum industry I understand was more to do with the environmental risks associated with that particular industry.

Q. That review was two years ago.  Has the use of a safety case been looked at since in relation to underground coalmining?

A. It’s being looked at again as we speak, we’re seeking further advice internationally about that.

Q. Just finally, you'll be aware that the maritime and aviation industries have their health and safety administered separately?

A. Yes.

Q. Has the possibility of a separate administration regime for underground coalmining been considered by the department?

A. No.

cross-examination:  MR HAMPTON

Q. Mr Murphy, just on the safety case –

THE COMMISSION:

Mr Hampton, I don't know that you have got leave at the moment.

MR HAMPTON:

I'm sorry sir, I thought I had it in writing earlier on sir.

THE COMMISSION:

You do, yes, I'm sorry, I am looking at the plan and you are right, my apologies.

MR DAVIDSON:

Sir, I don’t have leave but I should claim now in making an oral application.

THE COMMISSION:

Sorry Mr Hampton, if you'd like to resume.

cross-examination continues:  mr hampton

Q. Just on safety case and it falls within sir the general purview of the leave allowed, on safety case, if I could have DOL0010020323/9 and this was the part of the Ministerial briefing paper that Mr Wilding referred you to earlier.  The submitter feedback there about the safety case regime?

A. Yes.

Q. EPMU, the union were supportive of the idea of safety case, weren't they?

A. Yes they were.

Q. More than supportive, they were strongly advocating for it to come in?

A. Yes they were.

Q. And it’s the middle paragraph on that page that summarises that, union submitters, it’s about halfway down, “Union submitters supported the safety case option alongside worker check inspectors.”  You see that paragraph?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you agree that consistently over the period that you've gone back looking, the 20 odd years since the Health and Safety in Employment Act came into force, the union have consistently advocated for regulations that are prescriptive, both as to hazards and as to processes in the underground mining industry?

A. Yes, I would accept that.

Q. And certainly have consistently supported the retention of the inspectorate in the form that it used to be, the mines inspectorate, the government inspectorate in the form it used to be, haven't they?

A. Yes, absolutely.

Q. But they’ve often been a lone voice, isn't that the case?  It’s a rhetorical matter.

A. That's right.
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Q. A couple of things though just arising out of your evidence today.  I thought the Department was down to one inspector, Mr Firmin?  Mr Poynter has left hasn't he?

A. Yes he has.

Q. Well have we got two inspectors or one?

A. Sorry we've got one inspector right now.  We've got one vacancy.  Mr Poynter did leave a few weeks ago.

Q. Were you here last week Mr Murphy?

A. For the latter part of, for Thursday and Friday I was here.

Q. You would have been aware from what you heard on Thursday-Friday, that apparently mine plans, plans for underground mines are received by the Department and go, amongst other things, to the Mining Steering Group?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it a concern of yours as to what happens with those plans or is that operational rather than your sector?

A. It is very operational, yes.

Q. Do you know whether alongside the mine plans that does the department get the sort of annual work plans that we've heard about on Friday and again this morning or earlier on today that DOC seem to get?

A. Again, that was with – if they were to come to the department they’d go to the operational arm.  I wouldn't see them I'm sorry sir.

Q. You don't know?

A. So I don't know sir.

Q. Turning for a moment to codes of practice and discussion about that.  There are no ACOPs for underground mining at the present time?

A. No.

Q. There hasn’t been since the change of the regulatory regime?

A. No.

Q. Can I have up please some evidence that was given on behalf of the union by Mr Drezner, EPMU0006/15, paragraphs 54 and 55?

A. If it does help Mr Hampton, I think I do know the paper that you're referring to.

Q. I'll start reading it if I may.  We have it now.  Paragraph 54, “Various attempts have been made over the years by industry participants to develop a code of practice in place of an ACOP.  A draft code of practice for underground mining and tunnelling was produced by New Zealand Minerals Industry Association in April 2000.  An industry code of practice for underground mining and tunnelling was also produced by Minex in 2009.”  If I just go down to – do you agree that that occurred?

A. Yes indeed, yeah.

Q. Fifty-five, “It is understood by EPMU that a number of other organisations, including Solid Energy, have developed draft codes of practice.  It is important to note that a widely accepted code of practice for underground mining does not exist.”  Do you agree with that statement?

A. No I don't think I do.  I think the Minex code is recognised generally as being the code of practice for the industry.
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Q. All right.  “The EPMUs position has consistently been that any agreement on a code of practice should be in the form of an approved code of practice with the involvement of the Department of Labour and that a code of practice produced exclusively by employers, organisations will not provide appropriate guidance on these factors.”  Pausing there.  You would be aware that that’s the union position that’s been put to the department on a number of times over the years isn’t it?

A. Yes sir.

Q. “It is of note that neither draft code, those are the two that I referred to earlier, makes any reference to employee representation in any form.”  Do you agree that that is so?

A. I have no reason to think it wasn’t so sir if that was in the – I haven’t seen the document in recent times but I’ve no reason to doubt that, that’s true sir.

Q. “At the time the Minex Code of Practice was developed the EPMU made the decision to withhold support for the code.  The EPMUs decision was based on the absence of any employee participation and the code lacked detail.”  Are you aware that that was the reason that the EPMU would not support that draft code?

A. Yes sir.

Q. So when you said earlier that the Minex code was generally recognised, recognised by whom please?

A. By the industry and by the inspectorate.

Q. Any employees support it?

A. Obviously not from the union sites sir.

Q. Any other employees support it?

A. I don’t know sir.

Q. Beg your pardon?

A. I don’t know.

Q. Come to your evidence please at paragraph 109, which will be DOL777001003, sorry, if we can.  Rather than putting it up I’ll ask questions off the paper.  Have you it in front of you Mr Murphy?

A. Yes I do sir.

Q. Paragraph 109, it ends /15.  You comment at the start of that paragraph about the initial delays in development of regulations.  And in the second sentence you say, “Initially the accepted view was that most of the provisions contained in earlier enactments or regulations would be reinstated in support of the Act?”

A. Yes sir.

Q. Now that was across employer, employee, inspectorate wasn’t it, the accepted view?

A. That’s the way I would have interpreted that sir, yes.

Q. Then you go, “However, over time this was seen to be unnecessary.  May I inquire, seemed to be unnecessary by whom?

A. In this context I think that means the department sir.

Q. Certainly not the union’s view was it?

A. No sir.

Q. Was it employers view at that time?

A. Look I obviously wasn’t around during that discussion so I can only assume, I’m interpreting this as being the department’s view sir.
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Q. And it goes on to say, “Over time this was seen to be unnecessary and even unfeasible.  Unfeasible in what respect?

A. I think unfeasible in the sense that the regulation, the previous level of prescriptions were inconsistent with the principles and the, of the new legislative framework.

Q. The Robens approach?

A. Yes.

Q. But if you didn’t have approved codes of practice and approved guidance underneath in your Robens approach, what protections were there?

A. I think as we heard earlier today and last week, sir, there is recognition that there was a gap in the framework between 1992 and 2006 initially and then 2000 and – sorry, 1996 and 1999 when the regulations came into force.  What we heard last week if I recall was that at an operational level the inspectorate and people involved, workers and industry, were still tending to use the previous framework and the previous legislation and regulations as the test for all practicable steps so I, but I do entirely accept your point.

Q. Surely the old Act and regulations and the guidance they gave should have remained feasible until you had ACOPs and proper guidance in place underneath?

A. I think what I'm saying, sir, is that to all intents and purposes those were still being used as the default position.

Q. I’ll move, I don't – we’ve spent enough, in many respects about policy and so but I do want to have a look at the 06 to 08 review where the department commissioned and I think in your, it starts in your brief at about, the relevant part that I want to talk to starts at about 
paragraph 162.  In 162 you say, and this is at the briefs with the summation /23 at the top of it, “Before making final recommendations the department consulted its technical expert in mining.”  Who was that person please?

A. At that time that would probably have been Johan Booyse.

Q. And did he make a report on this at all, on this aspect?

A. Not to my, not a written report sir I don't think.  I may stand corrected on that.  I don't know for sure.

Q. The department commissioned a review by Professor Gunningham?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And he reported in June 2009, and it’s the document DOL0010020402/1.  Have you a copy of - if we can get it up, thank you. Two things in particular out of this report if I may, Mr Murphy.  First, in terms of hazards if we could go to the document with the page that ends /6 which is under the heading, “Contextual advice regarding technical standards,” and the second paragraph down, if I could highlight that please, “Nevertheless,” just read that if you would, I should read it aloud, “Nevertheless there is still a valuable role for prescription in general and technical standards in particular in adducing a minority of hazards concerning which there is no or very few viable alternatives to applying a particular tried and tested method to control risk.  Such standards may have particular value with regard to highly technical issues such as those involved in electrical and mechanical engineering.  In the case of mine safety many jurisdictions still rely heavily on technical standards with regard to those two areas in particular.”  Did the department take heed of that particular part of Professor Gunningham’s report formulating its views?

A. Yes it did and yes it is still.  There is work currently underway to develop technical standards for underground mining.

Q. When might we expect something to emerge from the department about such issues and what form will it take?

A. They will take the form of guidance material and standards and I'm told that these may take a year or more to produce.

Q. A year from hence?

A. As I understand sir, yes, bearing in mind again this is not my area of responsibility so I'm not able to be definitive other than to report what I've been told.

Q. I just want to get it right, we’re two years on from this report now and you tell this Commission that it’s going to take another year to get some guidance out of the department about these technical issues.  Is that it?

A. That’s what I'm saying sir, yes.

Q. Is that satisfactory sir?

A. I'm not in a position to comment on that sir, I'm sorry.

Q. Professor Gunningham also was asked to review the literature about employee participation, wasn’t he?

A. Yes indeed.

Q. And in talking about both hazards and about employee participation Professor Gunningham commented on the fact that, at least a couple of times in his report at page 3, at the bottom of the page, the last paragraph, a couple of times and in particular at this page he refers to the most advanced Australian states, that’s in terms of mine safety regulatory framework as being New South Wales and Queensland?

A. Yes.

Q. And he says, “What is distinctive about those two is the extent to which they have regulated specifically in relation to OHS management systems and imposed requirements relating to major principle hazard management plans, such an approach has a great deal to recommend it and approximates best practice.”

A. Yes sir.

Q. Does that go alongside the other quote I put in front of you earlier, that you're working on it?

A. Sir, we’re not actually working on regulating for these specific issues that Professor Gunningham talks about.  

Q. What did you decide about that suggestion that that approach in 
New South Wales and Queensland has got a great deal to recommend it and approximates best practice?

A. We did suggest, we did recommend to the Minister that we do regulate for regulating around management systems.  The Minister decided that she would rather have that done by way of guidance rather than by way of regulation.
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Q. And what guidance has come down?

A. We are still working on that sir.

Q. When will that be forthcoming?

A. By the end of this year.

Q. So two and a half years on?

A. Yes sir.

Q. In relation to this review by Professor Gunningham, you say at paragraph 171 of your evidence, in paragraph 1, subpara 1, or I should go to 170 first.  In 170 you say, “In relation to the concern about the adequacy of employee participation the department didn't recommend check inspectors’ approach advocated by the union and employee submitters.  171. The reasons for this were (1) the literature did not confirm it as a best practice option for mining.”  That’s what you say?

A. Yes sir.

Q. The literature that you refer to there is the literature reviewed by Professor Gunningham?  

A. Yes sir.

Q. Have you recently gone through Professor Gunningham’s report, that one that we still have up on screen or part of it.  Have you recently gone through it, the June 2009 report?

A. I did about three months ago sir.

Q. Can you tell me where in that report Professor Gunningham concludes that the literature does not confirm check inspectors as best practice for mining?

A. Sir, I haven’t got that in front of me.  I can't begin to hazard a guess.

Q. All right.  Well can I have please that document at page 15/15 please, and the next page I probably need then up as well, 15 and 16 thank you.  Do you see at the bottom of that page 15, Professor Gunningham writing, “There is a considerable literature (though very little of it with regard to underground mining) which suggests that worker participation in the identification, assessment and patrol of workplace hazards is fundamental to reducing work-related injury.”  And then further on page 16, “Turning to the literature the large majority of empirical studies in Western Europe, which again barely touch on the mining industry specifically.”  The literature is largely quiet isn’t it on mining and check inspectors?

A. Yes.

Q. So how do you draw a conclusion that the literature didn't confirm.  It’s simply silent on it isn’t it?

A. Yes, that, that would be fair comment, yes.

Q. Well, isn’t it a little over-egging to put a positive spin on it, say it didn't confirm.  It didn't do it either way did it Mr Murphy?

A. No, that’s fair comment sir, but you know the comment there was that it – there wasn't evidence to suggest that it was a best practice option.  That was the point we were making.

Q. In fact, Professor Gunningham throughout that report endorses enhanced employee involvement doesn't he?

A. Absolutely.  As does the department sir, and as does the legislation.
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Q. And Professor Gunningham in the sort of instance I’ve already referred you to in that report refers to both Queensland and New South Wales –

A. Yes.

Q. – as being best practice?

A. Yes.

Q. Both of which include in their regimes chief inspectors?

A. Sir.

Q. Was that drawn to the Minister’s attention?

A. Yes sir.

Q. So the Minister’s – just before I go to the Minister’s response.  Can I take you to paragraph 172 of your evidence, the summation reference /26.  In paragraph 172 starts with, “The Ministry of Economic Development’s Tier 2 paper describes the earlier legislation, including workmen’s, inspectors and workmen’s national inspectors that were authorised by the Coal Mines Act.”  Do you see that?

A. Sir.

Q. The next sentence, “The 2006 review noted the existence of the earlier provisions but did not draw conclusions on how effective the provisions were?

A. Sir.

Q. Did nobody turn their mind back to what it was like pre the abolition of the old Coal Mines Act, did nobody do a review of that?

A. Yes sir we did but what we’re saying is that the evidence was not clear as to what the benefits accrued were from the previous regime compared to the current regime.

Q. In doing that review did you, for example, speak to former Department of Labour check inspectors of mines like Mr Harry Bell, Mr Robin Hughes?

A. Their views were already well known to us sir.

Q. As being supportive of chief inspectors?

A. Yes sir.

Q. What was the hindrance to accepting their views as chief inspectors and inspectors going back a long time about the effectiveness of chief inspectors?

A. I’m sorry sir, can you ask the question again?

Q. Well Mr Bell and Mr Hughes were in favour of chief inspectors?

A. Yes.

Q. And they had long experience as mines inspectors and then as chief inspector?

A. Yes.

Q. What was the impediment to accepting their views as to the utility, the usefulness of chief inspectors?

A. I mean with respect to those gentlemen sir it was also known that they would have favoured a return to the old regime as well.  

Q. The old inspectorate?

A. The old inspectorate and the old regulatory and legislative framework and so we’re now operating in a different regulatory space.

Q. So new room, sweeping clean and tidy?

A. No, those are your words sir, not mine.

Q. Well the end result, if I can come to it, of the Gunningham Report and then the briefing paper to the Minister in July ’09 was the Ministerial release of November ’09, which is I think probably mentioned in your paragraph 175.  “The Minister of Labour rejected a proposal to regulate to require small mines to formally document their safety hazard management processes.  Instead the Minister agreed to increasing available guidance?”

A. Yes sir.
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Q. And as part of that, was there a letter put out by the Minister DOL0010020462 of 12 November 2009?

A. No, sir, that was actually a letter that went out in my name.

Q. In your name sorry.  After the ministerial decisions has been made?

A. Yes, this was a letter that went to the submitters, to the review sir.

Q. Can we have in particular /2 please, page 2, under the heading if those two paragraphs under the heading, “Minister’s decision, employee participation,” the minister considers that that existing legislative framework under the HSE Act already provides a good basis for effective employee participation.  She does not agree to a regulatory change to introduce check inspectors, nor for an improved code of practice for employee participation specifically in the mining sector.  The minister has agreed that the department should engage with the mining sector to develop a strategic approach to improving employee participation which could involve formal or informal guidance with practical information on how the H and SE Act applies.  What has been done to develop that strategic approach?

A. That’s still in development, sir.  The department is working on that currently and has a discussion document.  It will be discussing with the sector and union representatives in the next month.

Q. What state was that, guidance as at November last year when Pike blew?

A. That was, that work hadn't been started at that point, sir.

Q. A year on and you hadn't started on it.  Is that what you're telling us?

A. Sorry, sir, say again.

Q. A year on from this note –

A. Yes, sir.

Q. – and you hadn't started on it?

A. That's right.

Q. That’s what you're telling us?

A. That’s what I'm saying, sir, yes.

Q. The department has recently got a further report from 
Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal I think it is DOL0100010001.  Have you got that with you Mr Murphy?

A. No I've got it in my bag sitting over there, sir.

Q. We’ve got it on camera.  I think the page numbers correspond with the summation number so if I could have 116 please.  I just want to look at paragraphs 427 to 429 if you could highlight those three please, 427 starts, “These generally negative views are consistent with the findings of the mining review on approving health and safety hazard management in the underground mining industry which express concern as to the quality of employees’ participation in health and safety in mines and on the lack of procedural guidance on employee participation.”  
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A. It also pointed to a tight labour market resulted in fewer employees, experienced in hazard management being available.  428.  The inspectors expressed doubts about the value of their interactions with safety representatives.  Mr Poynter told us that he did make efforts to contact health and safety representatives but that he rarely learned anything of value from such interactions.  He’d never been contacted by a health and safety representative and took the view that people being elected maybe good people.  They don't understand the role.  Sometimes I hunt them out.  The comments I get back is usually, “No, I'm fine.”  It’s an artificial environment.  You pull them out but their manager is around the corner so it’s not ideal.”  Mr Firmin also told us that safety representatives rarely made much of a positive contribution.  Do those passages give you concern about, from the Department of Labour’s perspective, about employee participation in these matters of health and safety in underground mining?

A. Absolutely.  I think if health and safety representatives are not being supported in their workplace and they're not contributing to the health and safety in the health and safety environment then that is a matter of real concern.

Q. There's a real culture problem there isn’t there?

A. Residing?

Q. In a mining industry that at present considers health and safety as a top‑down issue rather than being involvement of all and sundry?

A. I mean organisational culture is usually influential in ensuring that people feel, workers particularly feel as if they've got a contribution to make, and that does come from the top sir yes.

Q. I just wanted if I could, to refer you to a Workplace Services Practice Note Health and Safety issued by the Department of Labour, numbered 2010/001 and its document reference is EPMU0012 issued March 2010.  Mr Anderson tells me he thinks that’s the number.  He’s not sure.  If I'm wrong then I'll leave the issue if we can't find it.  I'll just quote it for the moment if the Commission’s pleased.  Are you aware of the practice note we're talking about Mr Murphy?

A. No I'm not sir.  That will –

Q. That would be operational?

A. That will be operational

Q. Probably better off to ask Mr Firmin about it.  

THE COMMISSION: 

Mr Davidson, you're wanting leave.

MR DAVIDSON:

Yes I am sir.

THE COMMISSION: 

What issues are we talking about?
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MR DAVIDSON: 

Sir, it really stems from one proposition, but it’s in five parts and it’s not lengthy but it is this.  It stems from the fact that Thursday week last, as I’ve advised you sir, we received a report made by Professor Gunningham and in it we learned of information that we do not have access to in any other form.  And the material we see has given rise to considerable concerns for the families relevant to this phase and I think probably the answer to a question given by Mr Murphy today identifies it when he said that the integration of the policy arm of the department with the operational is very important to us.  And what I want to explore sir is the policy that has been set and described, including Ms Haines brief of evidence very briefly, and who’s not giving evidence in person here against the provisions of the report.  Firstly, in relation to the achievement of policy with which Mr Murphy will be concerned.  And secondly, with regard to the internal response of the department to the linkage between the policy and operational to which Mr Murphy contributed.  He’s one of the person’s who reportedly who spoke to Professor Gunningham and Mr Neal.  And then sir I want to pick up the points already made with regard to the Mining Steering Group has come up in evidence through a number of witnesses now, in relation to that group’s role in considering the safety of plans, either annual or working plans.  So that in those three ways sir I seek leave on matters which of great importance to the families.

COMMISSION PANCKHURST ADDRESSES COUNSEL – TIMING OF WITNESSES

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
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COMMISSION RESUMES ON TUESDAY 19 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

WITNESS JAMES MURPHY ON FORMER OATH

cross-examination:  MR DAVIDSON

Q. Mr Murphy, just so you've got sort of a chart of where I'm trying to go in the next short while.  I'm trying to get before the Commission the linkage or otherwise between policy and operational issues around mining and it falls within this Commission’s warrant that it is concerned in this phase to be, to look at the recognised practices at the incident date in 
19 November.

A. Yes.

Q. Now my understanding is that your role is to formulate policy advice on occupational safety and health as the department administer, right?

A. Yes.

Q. So you're drawing on your knowledge across a whole range of sectors for that?

A. Yes.

Q. And to do that you have to know what’s going on on the ground?

A. Absolutely, yeah.

Q. So you're getting feedback into policy for the formulation of policy from agriculture, marine farming or farming obviously and mining.

A. Yes.

Q. And somehow from all those sectors having to come up with policy that works.  Am I right that your aim is to be responsive to what is happening on the ground?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And so you have to understand what’s happening operationally to do that?

A. Yes.

Q. Otherwise an absolute vacuum in coming up with policy?

A. Yes, the – it comes from both directions.  The operational side provides with information.  We also take advice and guidance and direction from Ministers, the Ministers of the day.
Q. But to come up with policy that, leave aside the political component of a policy which the Government of the day or the opposition opposes, when you formulate policy you presumably read the signs, the information, the intelligence network that comes to you from each industry?

A. Yes.
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Q. And who actually does that?

A. The normal channel for that will be – you want me to talk specifically about mining or?

Q. Yes, just tell us who puts information into your policy considerations, from where?

A. It comes through the various parts of the operational side who interact with industry, so we have sector advisors who provide us with information, we have in the case of the mining sector we have the steering group who provides information through to their management team which then, if they feel there is a policy issue to be pursued, that will then come through to the policy team.

Q. Am I right in thinking that that mining steering group is for you a prime instrument of advice as to issues to which policy may be directed?

A. It is a major one, but they don’t have a direct line into the policy team, they have a line through their management structure to our team.

Q. We’ll come back to that group in a moment but when you came to this role you came out of the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Social Development and Department of Child, Youth and Family?

A. Yes.

Q. In a previous decade, was that a health and safety role?

A. No sir.

Q. And prior to that?

A. Prior to that I was a social worker.

Q. A social worker?

A. And a social work supervisor and manager.

Q. So, and I'm not trying to load the question, but you're not actually a specialist in health and safety as such?

A. Absolutely not sir, only in the last three years.

Q. Have you been trained for that?

A. For health and safety?

Q. Yes.

A. Specifically, no sir.

Q. So how did you approach your role when you have no background for it?

A. My role, the reason I was employed was because of my background in policy and in operational policy and in policy development.

Q. I know you've only been there two years, I think September ’08?

A. Yes, coming up three years now.

Q. Two years and a bit at the 19th of November last year.  Where do you look to for your prime advice as you go about your work regarding mining?  Where do you look to?

A. I look to the advisors that they’ve got in the national office who are in contact with the mining inspectors.

Q. All right, now presumably you have to have a driver for policy and am I right at least in part in thinking that you look at the Act and you look at the provision for the need for all practicable steps to be taken to protect the work place?

A. Yes sir.

Q. That’s your sort of footprint for formulation of policy I presume?

A. That’s the touchstone sir yes.

Q. How do you achieve, the question you ask yourself is how can we by policy achieve the attainment of all practicable steps?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And reasonable, as your evidence indicates at paragraph 16, it’s reasonable steps in terms of practicability but that brings to account the harm that may be done by failures?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And so catastrophic harm obviously is a correlation between that and the reasonableness of the step that maybe taken?

A. Yes sir.

Q. You can't apply the same reasonable test on the facts to mining as you would to an industry with less specific concerns of catastrophic failure?

A. No sir.

Q. Now, as I listened to the evidence yesterday it seemed to me that the precipitating factor for most recent changes as they affect mining welfare generally, were the two incidents in 2006 at Black Reef and Roa?

A. Yes sir.
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Q. And this stimulated the Minister of Labour to ask the department to assess health and safety in underground mines.  And am I right that at the end of the day a process which began, if you like, in 2006 by those incidents, we have some resolution in terms of small mines, steps are to be taken in relation to small mines, regulation of those?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And employee participation.  That’s the product of that 2006 or those incidents and the review processes that followed that time?

A. Those were the two critical things.  The most significant things were identified, sir.

Q. Now Ms Haines who has a brief which is in our records here, has given evidence in her brief that the department has a range of tools to achieve its targets, safety targets, and that range of tools are industry-specific again.  You've got different measures of attainment or ways of attainment?

A. They’re a mix of generic and industry-specific.

Q. And would you agree with her statement that in the exercise of those tools or use of those tools, there must be a proportionate focus on potential for harm, a proportion of the focus on potential to harm?

A. Yes sir, absolutely.

Q. For the record, that comes from paragraph 29 of her brief.  Now, with that background I want to turn to the report that was prepared by Professor Gunningham and Mr Neal and which was provided to the department I think on or about the 4th of July this year?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you were a participant in the material that went into that report?

A. I had a brief interview with the authors of the report sir, about a 20 minute interview with them.

Q. Did you read the draft report before it came down as a final report?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you had the chance to make comment?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And although I'm going to go into it very briefly in the time I'm allowed here, is it reasonable to say that you identified immediately in this report some very significant gaps in the operational attainment of the policy goals that you set?

A. You'll need to refer me to the piece that you're talking about sir.

Q. I'll go to them as I need to, but I just want to ask you the question because I want to know if, when you read this report, you recognised, for example, that you have inspectors in the operational side who are telling the reporters that they are coming up short for lack of resourcing and lack of training?

A. Sir.

Q. Now I'll come back to the specifics, but I do need to understand if you registered concern when you read that report?

A. Yes sir, absolutely.

Q. And it’s premature to have implemented action based on this report, but clearly for you in policy you must be now concerned that operationally quite apart from what happened at Pike River, there are significant operational issues at which to attend?

A. Sir.
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Q. And here I do need to understand this statement you made yesterday, “Integration with the operational arm is very important to us.”  That, am I right, means you have to have detailed knowledge of what’s going on in the operational arm and you have to understand it?

A. Sir.

Q. Now if we go back to what has come in the evidence already in Robens report.  It seems from Professor Gunningham, and its Dr Neal I’m sorry, that New Zealand embarked on a process following Robens, belatedly but with particular enthusiasm, now is that with the knowledge you have a fair comment?

A. Yes sir, absolutely.

Q. And the Health and Safety in Employment Act was product of that deregulatory environment.  That’s what it’s all about?

A. Sir.

Q. And it seems from these estimate or reporters Gunningham and Neal that in its initial version the Act was stripped, I’m referring to paragraph 46, the page reference for the record is DOL010001001/18, was stripped of some of the key measures recommended by Robens, not least tripartism, that’s the three-legged sword, worker participation and an independent executive?

A. Yes.

Q. Stripped of those things?

A. Mmm.

Q. And it was regarded so the reporters say at paragraph 46 of that page, “Is a necessary evil when the predominant public policy goal was to enhance business competitiveness.  Now the report then says that essentially, in paragraph 48, “The department’s interpretation of the Act, can we bring up paragraph 48 please, can you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. It places positive duties on employers and other senior officers in their own workplaces effecting the approach that self management in health and safety by business is preferable to relying on visits by inspectors to ensure compliance.  “No matter how frequent those visits might be the duty to ensure the safety of the workplace is placed on employers and others are set out under the Act in regulations and not on the department.”  So there’s been a policy choice made here by way of preference there for not to rely on visits by inspectors as the old regime perpetuated.  That right?

A. It’s not entirely correct sir.  I mean that’s the position as envisaged by the legislation sir.

Q. Yes.

A. So the department’s view, and that is an accurate reflection of the department’s view, is based on the legislation not on a policy decision.
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Q. Right.  But if we go to paragraph 52, which is at page 20 of the same document, some senior officers of the department, and it may have been you, tell us, says that a regulator such as the department as it is today would engage with a company as an issue arises and would ask the questions which are set out in paragraph 52.  Second line for example, they encounter methane, an inspector provides advice rather than directing them what to do, the inspector might ask, “Have you got a system to manage gas outbreaks?  Is it adequate?  How are you going to deal with the risks we know will flow in outbreaks?”  They might even suggest where the company might find the outside expertise to enable them to deal with the problem.”  Now, that’s the approach that you understand is taken in terms of policy?

A. It’s not a policy position sir, if I can just clarify, you referenced at the start of your questioning around the boundary between policy and operations.  This falls very firmly in the operational policy area so it’s how does, at an operational level, how do they give effect to policies, so this is an operational perspective.

Q. Well, as I said before, I'm trying to gain the linkage between the policies that you help formulate and the operations so does that reflect what you understand as the way in which policies are attained?

A. Yes it does.

Q. You’ll always beat me on policy Dr Murphy, it’s not a long suit in mind so please correct me where I stray.  I just now want to go onto the linkage between again the policy that comes down and the actual day to day play.  Is this unfair to put to you that you really have not had any extensive involvement with mine plans or work programmes in the mining sector?

A. No, that’s actually correct.

Q. And so have you ever been briefed on the implications of what mine plans are and why they are provided by a company such as Pike River?

A. Yes sir I'm aware of that and however it would be fair to say that it’s not critical to my role, it’s much more significant for the people who are operating the inspectorate and not as critical for the policy people to understand the intricacies of the mine plan.

Q. Well, in the attainment of policy, which is now in the legislation, what do you know at all about the way the mine plans or work plans are in fact processed by the department?

A. I know nothing of that sir, it’s not in my role.

Q. There's never been a discussion by you with anyone in operations about that?

A. No sir.

Q. Were you aware or are you aware for example as to whether anyone within the department looks at mine plans for the purpose of assessing safety and design?

A. I would imagine that they would sir, the regulations do require that plans are lodged with the department and I would expect that the person receiving those would consider them.

Q. Well, now if we have a look at the documents which are the minutes of The Mining Steering Group and for the record they are at DOL0020020011/1 and they go through to 27, and this is for the record Dr Murphy, don’t be concerned about the numbers here.  We have some information about the way plans and work programmes are dealt with by The Mining Steering Group which you think they would be looking at?

A. Yes sir.

THE COMMISSION:

Mr Davidson, I'm just concerned at this line with this witness, the next witness is a member of this group.  In light of the answers Mr Murphy has already given that he has no involvement with mine plans I'm just wondering where and what profit there is in this?

MR DAVIDSON:

Sir, I rather expected you might ask me that at this stage.  My answer is that I only have one question to put to Doctor Murphy about this and that is this;

cross-examination continues:  mr davidson

Q. With regard to page 17, as you believe that they would be looking at mine plans, that’s what you've said, isn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. Page 17, should come up on the screen, you'll see at subheading, “Storage of Plans,” there, do you see that?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you'll see towards the end of the first paragraph, three lines from the end, four lines, “The mining industry uses a package called Vulcan, Crown Minerals have this system, every year they get a plan showing what the workings will be.  They would let us look at theirs if we had the capability.”  Now do you see that?

A. Yes, sir I do.
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Q. Now I don't imagine you've read that before or -

A. No, sir.

Q. – or appreciated the implication or inference has been drawn from it.  It would seem this is an internal recognition that there’s no capability to look at these plans, these work programmes.  Do you see that?

A. I do see that, sir, and I'm not in a position to comment on it.  It’s outside my knowledge.

Q. And not a criticism, but this is a group from which you derive much of the information you need as you helped form that policy?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Now I’ll leave the topic on this basis that when one reads the minutes which are in I think March and September of 2010 through those pages, it can be seen there that this group does not assess plans either the mining plans or work programmes in the context of safety.  You can't say otherwise because you don't know?

A. No, absolutely sir.

Q. Now the next point is with regard to the culture of the mine or the culture of any workplace, is it something that you accept generally for health and safety purposes is a vital, if not the vital ingredient of safety?

A. Yes, sir, it absolutely is.

Q. And even though you've only been in this job for two years that would've, you’d have learnt that almost on day one I imagine?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Culture is a hard thing to regulate, isn't it?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. And Gunningham and Neal make this point in their paragraphs at 21 and 22 but they identify there what I'm going to put to you is a crucial element of the work you do as you try and link policy and practice when they say in 21, which is at page 12, if you just read that and I'm going to just take you to the second sentence, “At Pike River Coal for example it may be of some concern there was a series of incidents suggesting there may have been a gap between the company’s paper systems and actual practices underground,” and then it goes onto the principal point of my question at 22, “These writers, these reporters don't explore safety and culture and relationship between those two at length but they say this, ‘For present purposes the main point is that it would've been exceptionally difficult for the inspectors to address issues of safety culture because,’’ and they’re my words, “the inspectors visited the mine only occasionally and so only obtained snapshots of what was going on there.”  Now you'd have read that, that part of the report?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And to make this cross-examination simple, do you accept that that’s an accurate description of what the inspectors are able to do?  To visit occasionally and just take snapshots of what’s going on underground?

A. Sir, with all due respect I'm not in a position to answer for the inspectorate.  I just don't have the knowledge of that, sufficient knowledge of that role.

Q. Well here are reporters saying that’s what they’ve derived from their discussion -

A. Yes, sir.

Q. - with the department, with inspectors, that’s what they’re telling you.  This report’s written for you, isn't it?

A. It’s written for the department, sir, and it’s written for the 
Royal Commission.

Q. Yes.  Now if that is so, and we can come to it through other witnesses, it’s in very stark contrast to what you heard from Mr Hughes and Mr Bell, isn't it?  You heard their evidence?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Well you heard the evidence of the number of inspections for example –

A. Oh, yes.

Q. – they made?

A. Yes, yep.

Q. The weekly inspections of large mines?
A. Yes.

Q. Now I just want to make sure you and I are on the same wavelength on this.  This I am putting to you in a sentence exposes the dramatic difference between the system which applied under the dismantled inspectorate and that which is now undertaken?

Q. My comment on that would be that the previous regime was heavily weighted in favour of regular inspection visits and with inspectors taking a very hands on role in terms of day to day management of hazards and risks in the industry, the change that was made was made with a view to establishing a greater degree of independence of the inspectorate from the mines, from the mine operations, and for mines to take more ownership of their own health and safety issues and to manage them with their own health and safety managers, with consultants if there was a need, and for the inspectorate to take a more enforcement and advisory role or a less of a daily hands-on or weekly hands-on role.
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Q. And in that statement there is an assumption that in the transfer of that responsibility for knowledge and the eyes on the underground mine, there will be an effective transfer to a duty-ower who will carry out an equivalent task, equivalent role?

A. Yes.

Q. And that's a massive assumption isn’t it?

A. I’d no indication sir, that mines are not able to fulfil that role, that mine operators are not able to fulfil their health and safety obligations.

Q. Have you read all of this report?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Well it seems that Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal have in fact adverted themselves to the organisational structure within the department at paragraph 32 of the report, and it says there, you see that?  “In mining as in other low frequency, high consequence areas specialist inspectors play a crucial role.  However, the current structure is not fully recognising utilising that expertise.  Under the mining steering group structure coordination takes precedence over expertise.  That priority should be reversed.”  That would be a matter of concern to you would it not?

A. It’s a matter of concern to the department overall sir yes.

Q. Now I want to explore with you what I'm going to put to you is an inherent problem in the way the Act is administered and as it affects underground mines, and I want to take you to this report at paragraph 60, which is at page 21.  We are going to paragraph 60, which is pages 21 and 22.  So looking at 60, “The regulations themselves are a mixture of prescriptive and performance based requirements.  Though notably less prescriptive than, for example, the New South Wales comparators.  Nevertheless, we are told by longstanding senior departmental officers that in so far as substantial prescription remained the regulations were ‘mixing oil with water’.  It was gradually realised you can't do it and it’s not going to work and so there was a shift to codes of practice and guidelines.”  Now that’s coming from senior ranks within the department and as a person involved with the formulation of policy it’s a matter of concern to you I take it?

A. Sir, I've no sense of the context of the person that gave this statement.  I'm not able to really comment on it.

Q. You understand what is being said there don't you?

A. Oh absolutely yes.

Q. Now if we then look at the codes of practice.  They are dealt with and I'll abbreviate this.  It’s paragraph 61.  Indicates a failure of industry to develop its own codes expeditiously.  So the Department of Labour put some approved codes of practice in place, but none for the mining sector.  In your brief time in the job have you been able to ascertain why that was the case, why the mining sector was excluded from the development of codes of practice at that time?

A. It wasn't specifically excluded sir.  There were a number of other sectors that didn't have codes of practice developed, but as we said in evidence yesterday and previously, the question of the responsibility for development of codes and of guidance was moved to industry and so there was – the department did take a more hands-off approach to that and we're now thinking that actually we were too hands-off and hence the recommendations that we should get more engaged in the development of those things.
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Q. Well thank you for that because it shortens what I want to ask you.  At 61, it relation to there being no approved codes for the mining sector introduced the answer or explanation is attributed principally to resource constraints rather than lack of willingness on the department’s part?

A. I think there it was more fundamental issues sir.  As I say, which was whose role it to develop them.  Certainly resource constraints are always an issue but I think the more fundamental question was whose role was it to develop them.

Q. Well what happened then, we know we had the Minex codes and guidelines, they came into play, at paragraph 63.  And there the tension between, well conflict of interest between industries concerned are minimised costs and the public and work interest in improved occupational safety and health outcomes.  That’s the tension? 
A. Yes it is sir.  I would say, however, that Minex does have worker representation on its board.  There are two EPMU members on the Minex Board.  So it’s not entirely true to say that it is entirely driven by the mine operators of mine companies.

Q. The point is made though isn’t it?  The point is made to be alert to the tension between the company’s aspirations and fundamental health and safety issues?

A. There is a tension there, yes sir.

Q. If we look at 64, this is the feedback given these reporters, and the last four lines of paragraph 64, “According to former senior departmental officers we thought Minex would do it, that’s with regard to guidelines and advice, that they made trade-offs, there wasn’t much punch, we expected too much of industry standard setting.”  You’d have picked that up fairly rapidly after your appointment to your job?

A. No I didn’t sir.  It has been drawn to my attention since then.

Q. Look at paragraph 67 before I leave this point.  And these are the reporters saying that, this is at page 23, “For some time it appeared that the department, the position of the department, perhaps de facto rather than as a matter of formal policy was that it was the industry through Minex that had the capacity to engage in technical standard setting and guidance document development rather than the department and the department would not make any contribution to such standards or endorsement.”  As one of the mines inspectors told us, as for the Minex underground mines code of practice we had no input.  We had a look at it.  We felt we should go through it properly but we never did.”  Again, there’s a disjunct here between the department’s surveillance and contribution to what has been a transfer of responsibility to industry.  Stands out a mile doesn’t it?

A. Sir, I’m not in a position to comment in terms of, I’m not close enough to the development of the codes.  They’re not part my team, our teams of work programme, they are in the operational realm so I’m not in a position to directly comment on that.

Q. So anything really operationally that I ask you now, or was going to ask you, such as the senior advisor high hazards extractives is not something of which you are familiar at all?

A. Only tangentially sir.

Q. Well I’ll leave that then.  Now on this topic, discreet topic, as to the approved codes of practice.  At paragraph 70, page 24 of this report it records that in recent years the department’s expresses no enthusiasm for the development of approved codes of practice, whether in mining or other areas.  Is that a fair comment?

A. That reflects the comments I made yesterday in my evidence sir I think, yes.

Q. And then if we go to paragraph 76, this is the reporters as experts in this area, advising the department before the Commission that these codes of practice have some advantages but the most important thing is that there is a good quality guidance material available.  And I want you to go to the last seven lines of paragraph 75?

A. Seventy-five or 76?

Q. Seventy-five, sorry 76, beg your pardon.  Just read it to yourself first please.

A. Just starting where it says, “The end results,” sir?
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Q. The paragraph reading, “The end result is that a performance,” I'll read it, “And systems-based approach that was intended to be underpinned by much more detailed guidance in the form of codes of practice industry guidelines and to a lesser extent regulations remain under developed for too long, in consequence not only some duty holders, particularly small and medium size enterprises, but also inspectors themselves lacked and to a significant extent still lack sufficient guidance in discharging their respective responsibilities.”  This is nearly 20 years after the Act came into force, isn't it?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And in this critical and catastrophic industry when things go wrong this report is identifying a major gap between the policy intention expressed in the statute and attainment?

A. Yes.

Q. On the ground?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Were you aware of that disjunction before the Pike River explosion on the 19th of November last year?

A. I was aware from the review that we did between 2006, 2008, 2009 that there were issues around the number and quality of the guidance material and hence the recommendations that were supported by the department and the Minister around strengthening the guidance material that was available.

Q. And right now, because much is still going on even in respect of the report that began its life in 2006?

A. The review began its life in 2006.

Q. The reviews?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Yes, well then the report in 2009?

A. Yes.

Q. And it’s going through an iteration now with work being done to amend its particular recommendations?

A. Yes.

Q. As adopted, we’re still some time away, perhaps a couple of years away from even fulfilling those policy objectives derived from that report, are we not?

A. No, the two to three sets of guidance are anticipated to be completed in the next few months, the more technical guidance material will probably not be until the middle of next year.

Q. All right, now I want to just briefly ask you a couple of questions on resource allocation, by that I mean people allocation, and at paragraph 145, if we go to 144 first and it refers there to an approach with a new focus on harm reduction and improved health and safety outcomes for the 2010/2011 year.  “Five industry sectors which were based on analysis of consistently above average fatal and major injury rates and justifying particular attention,” mining was not one of those prior to Pike River?

A. Yes sir.

Q. So that’s working off the statistics of the number of injuries and fatalities in these identified sectors?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And because mining is a small industry in terms of numbers, I think there's 450 underground miners?

A. Yes.

Q. They turned out to be forestry, agriculture, fishing, manufacturing and construction and if we go to the further part of paragraph 44 we see that, and it emphasises there that, at the top of the page, “The fact that mining wasn’t in this group arguably illustrates one of the limitations of a risk-based approach when it comes to an industry prone to low frequency, high consequence events.”  So the risk profile, according to this paragraph, may not suggest the need for higher investment of regulatory resources even though the consequences are frequently catastrophic in this industry, it’s a numbers game?
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A. For the purposes of that particular plan yes sir it was a numbers game and it was, but that wasn’t, does not in any way reflect the department’s commitment to resource our involvement in mining.

Q. I understand that, but the reporters are simply saying that these industries may get specific identification as opposed to a smaller and more catastrophic, potentially more catastrophic consequential industry simply because of numbers.

A. So the decision around the five priority sectors was essentially based on the size of those sectors and the number of injuries –

Q. Yes.

A. – and serious harm and fatalities that were occurring in those sectors, that’s true.  What it doesn't reflect though is that the department still had its commitment to mining.  It had just done a review of the regulatory system.  It had work programmes through the Mining Steering Group focussing on mining so there were substantial activity going on in the mining sector.

Q. Well in paragraph 146 I disclose or display my political naivety by asking you to first of all acknowledge that paragraph, 145 I'm sorry indicates that the question of allocation to the mining sector of two mining inspectors and a senior advisor hazards extractives the question is raised, was that a reasonable one?  And the answer is introduced in this way.  “In answering this question it must be remembered that resource allocation is a zero sum game.  Had the department determined to deploy more mining inspectors then some other industry sector would have been denied those resources.”  Is it really that circumscribed by an appropriation that something that’s thought to be needed has to be traded off against some other safety issue or objective?

A. The reality is for all Government agencies that are working within finite resources that priority setting and priority allocation of resources is an ongoing issue, sir.  It’s the reality in which we live.

Q. On an issue involving the safety of people with consequences such as we see at Pike River, that is still the case?

A. The department’s resource is finite, sir.

Q. And your personal response to that in terms of telling me your health and safety objectives?

A. I'm saddened by that, sir, but that’s the reality in which we live.

Q. Well the other reality with which I wish to close this cross is the resource available to the inspectorate.  I know you're not involved in the inspectorate but you are now, particularly after the last few days I guess acutely aware of the difference between the inspectorate function as it was and that which it is today.  I take it you are aware of the differences?

A. Absolutely, sir.

Q. And if we look at page 46 of this report and at paragraph 148 we see this report or comment made to these experts that the inspection was shorter than the inspectors would have liked.  “You should go underground and you should audit, you're looking at two days, but I didn’t have two days.  I’d allow the best part of a day at a larger mine.  I didn’t have time to do an audit.”  One of the inspectors also made the point that, “In a less resource constrained world a higher inspection rate would be desirable.  Under our legislation we’re not responsible to make the workplace a safe place from work but more visits would give us a higher opportunity to spot non-compliance.  It’s a small shot.  You only see what you're seeing on that day but more visits are not practicable.  So we have a lack of resource because these men do not have the time to make the inspections as even they would like.”  That’s an example of that expressed view.  You see that?
A. Yes I do sir.
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Q. And then in the next paragraph the point is made, “Even if more resources were available,” it goes on to explain at paragraph 149, “There is a severe scarcity of potential mining inspectors and it’s exceptionally difficult to recruit and retain such specialists.”

A. True.

Q. So you've got a resource issue and you've got a manning issue in terms of expertise?

A. Sir.

Q. And you have an issue as to the way the function is carried out as well?

A. So I accept that.  I would, however, draw your attention to what Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal say, the latter part of paragraph 146, where they say that the current inspection rate is not substantially different from those of the two Australian coal mining states, that’s New South Wales and Queensland, and more substantial than Tasmania and does not appear to be unreasonable.

Q. Yes.  I'm not making that comparatively.  Fair enough you should make that point.  This is from an inspector, a current inspector?

A. Yes, I understand.

Q. In fact the only current inspector.

A. Yes.

Q. And on the same vein and finally in this context before I close, paragraph 391, which is at page 108.  And these reporters, I should make it plain to be fair to the inspectors who are currently engaged and have been engaged, the inspectors are held by these reporters to be energetic in absolute safety, but the comment is made, “Each of the significant issues dealt with in chapter 6 of their report at Pike River arose because the mine took the initiative to contact the inspector.  These issues did not arise, for example, from a proactive visit, a scheduled audit or in response to an accident.”  Now you understand the inference to be drawn from that comment.  The inspectors respond that it did not proactively identify the issues within the mines.  Do you understand that?

A. I understand that sir, but I also am aware that there are other parts of the report that do talk about the number of proactive visits that the inspectors did make.

Q. And again to revert to the evidence of Mr Hughes and Mr Bell, they each gave evidence regarding the effect of their proactive visits?

A. Sir.

Q. And what they there identified and how they took it up with the mining company or business?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Finally, two very small but important points.  At paragraph 456 of this report, before I ask the question, is at page 124.  Does your policy concern include an understanding of the training of people in workplaces?

A. Not specifically sir.  The training issue is in the mining industry particularly an issue for the industry through EXITO, the industries training organisation.

Q. So the process of training and how they do it and what results they achieve, it’s not something that you consider is a matter of policy?

A. Not as a matter of policy sir, no.

Q. It could come to you as an issue if it was identified as problematic?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that right? 

A. Yes sir.

Q. See, at paragraph 456 Mr Slonker who was a former mine manager at Pike River, said that with regard to Pike River, fifth line, “Such training, full underground induction did not extend to contractors and this was an area where the company, in his view, failed miserably at least in the time he commenced with Pike River Coal.”  Now just take that for what it is at the moment, it may be contested, of course, but is that a matter which when you read it, generates in you as a policy person a need for a response, investigation?

A. Probably not in a policy response sir.  I think I’d be more concerned if I was involved in the industry training organisation that it would require a response.

Q. Finally, at paragraph 426 at page 115, I turn to the question of worker participation.  Mr Hampton asked you about this yesterday you'll recall?

A. Yes sir.
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Q. And the reporters here say, “A number of senior departmental representatives expressed the view that worker participation in Health and Safety New Zealand was immature, that health and safety representatives commonly lacked a good appreciation of their role and responsibilities and that they rarely made a significant impact on health and safety outcomes.”  Goes on to comment about the statutory powers provided for by the Act are seriously underutilised.  Now is that a flag to you in terms of policy as to the need for the employee contribution of participation?

A. It’s a flag to me sir that the provisions of the Act are not being taken up and one of the concerns that we identified in the review was exactly that point.

Q. And is it paragraph 428, does that reflect it, is that your understanding.  Mr Poynter who’s not in this part of the hearing advised the reporters he’d never been contacted by health and safety representative and took the view that people being elected may be good people but don’t understand the role.  Sometimes I hunt them out.  The comments you get back is usually, “No, I’m fine,” it’s an artificial environment, you pull them out but their manager’s round the corner so it’s not ideal.  It’s not an encouraging perspective is it?

A. No sir that’s his clear experience of, and it’s not encouraging at all.

Q. I just want to put this final proposition to you.  Nearly 20 years on from the passage of the Act the philosophical change that it introduced in the case of mining is not reflected, it would seem from this report, in a cohesive and unified response to health and safety issues by the employee, the duty-ower, the company and the regulator.  That’s the perspective that one gauged in this report.  Would you accept that?

A. That is one perspective sir, yes.  I think that the report also has a number of positive things in which it comments, on which it comments to.  But, yes, there are still gaps in the regulatory system and there are still gaps in translating that into effective health and safety practice.

Q. Thank you.

re-examination:  ms mcdonald

Q. Mr Murphy, just going back to one or two matters of Mr Davidson was putting to you.  He referred you, if we could have back up on the screen the operational review document, and you were then taken to paragraph 456 of that just a few moments ago.  The reference to that document is 0100010001 and the paragraph number was paragraph 446.  The page number of the report is page 124 of the report.  You were taken by Mr Davidson directly to the sentence starting about four lines down with, “However, according to former mine inspector Nigel Slonker?”

A. Sorry, mine manager I think it is, yes.

Q. Mine manager sorry.  And my friend referred you to Mr Slonker’s apparent views about training.  Could you just though read out the first couple of the sentences of that paragraph?

A. “As regards to training of Pike River Coal employees there was no plausible basis for such action.  The company provided workers with a three week induction course before they were permitted underground and there would’ve been no basis for suggesting that such a programme did not meet the requirements under the Act.”
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Q. And another paragraph, I just want to take you to one or two paragraph where there’s perhaps a different view or a little more context which in related paragraphs that you weren’t taken to, going back to paragraph 391 on page 108 of the same report, just get you to read out that paragraph there again, Mr Davidson took you to that paragraph but I draw your attention to the last sentence?

A. This relates to the inspectors, their dealings with Pike River entitling inspectors to believe that they were with an employer who was voluntarily compliant.

Q. Paragraph 146 on page 45?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr Davidson took you to paragraph 145 and then I think he took you to paragraph 148, you yourself picked up a point from paragraph 146, one of the paragraphs in the middle of the two that Mr Davidson took you to?

A. Yes.

Q. Can I take you to 147 please, relating to the number of inspections, could you just read that paragraph out please?

A. “The scheduled quarterly inspections were far from the only contact the inspectors had with the mine, appendix 4 shows the pattern of visits to Pike River Coal by the inspectors and indicated that Mr Poynter was engaged in more frequent visits in response to various incidents and issues, for example, as we explore in more detail in chapter 6, he engaged in a joint visit to the mine in May 2008 over a methane issue and subsequently Mr Firmin visited the mine twice in the few days at that time.  There was also a wealth of email and telephone correspondence between the inspectors and the mine, the flavour of which is captured in our discussion in chapter 6.”

Q. So is that one of the paragraphs that you alluded to a moment ago when you indicated you'd thought there were other sections of the report that spoke of proactive visits?

A. Yes indeed.

Q. You were again, I think by Mr Davidson, referred to paragraph 68 of the report on page 23 and this is in relation to the Minex issue?

A. Yes ma'am.

Q. But can I take you to the paragraph immediately before that one, paragraph 67?

A. Yes.

Q. No, it was paragraph 67 that was put to you but paragraph 68 that wasn’t, I'm sorry.

A. Okay.

Q. So if you could just familiarise yourself with those two paragraphs, we could have both of them up on the screen please.  

A. Yes ma'am.

Q. You'd like to comment on, you were taken to 67, would you like to comment on 68?

A. It may be just best if I just read it.  “The departmental position shifted when a new senior advisor high hazards extractors was appointed in 2008.  It was intended that the senior advisor would liaise actively with Minex in the development of further codes.  However Mr Booyse had told us that initially he’d made little progress in engaging Minex and that the organisation didn’t welcome a dialogue with government, nevertheless in his view the position of Minex changed with a change of leadership within Minex and for a period prior to the senior advisor’s resignation in February 2011 the prospects for constructive engagement between the public and private sector seemed much more promising.”

1100

Q. Now, just moving on to a couple of different matters.  Yesterday at one point you were asked some questions and gave some answers relating to the ratio of inspectors to the number of mines.  Do you remember that?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And I just want - last night looking back at your answer to that which was fine but I think it would be helpful if you were able to just elaborate a little more on the work role or the work that then, the two inspector positions that you referred to, one currently vacant, their responsibilities and the responsibilities of the other inspectorate or other inspectors that you referred to and what work they do?

A. Sure, my understanding and Mr Firmin may, is much more – will be much more authoritative on this, is that the two inspectors’ primary responsibilities were for health and safety in underground mines, underground coal mines.  They did have some wider responsibilities in terms of other mines, surface mines and quarries but that they were supported in their work above ground and with quarries with support from other inspectors who were also involved in those areas of work.

Q. But it’s fair to say I think, isn't it Mr Murphy, that if a matter, if a serious incident arose the two mining inspectors would be needing to attend to those, not those other –

A. Oh absolutely.

Q. - health safety inspectors that you referred to?

A. Yes, absolutely.

Q. Now can I take you back to a document, and this is again just a context issue really.  You were referred by Mr Wilding to the summary of written submissions document, I think it’s 0001/10 “Review of workplace health and safety, a summary of written submissions,” and I just want to take you to a couple of pages in that.  If we could go please to, well the first – are you familiar with the document?

A. I was yesterday.

Q. You were yesterday.  Well we’ll find it and bring it up.  I think that’s the document you were taken to yesterday.  Do you remember that?

A. It’s one of the documents, yes.

Q. Yes, and I just wanted to point out if we go to page 5 of that document, this as I read it, and I'm asking you to confirm your understanding is a document containing a summary of written submissions and there were a number of submitters?

A. Yes.

Q. And that screen that’s up there, page 5, shows doesn't is that there were 58 submitters?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we go to page 10 again please and the particular issue there, you’ll recall Mr Wilding putting to you related to the heading there half way through the page, “Balancing proactive and reactive inspector functions?”

A. Yes.

Q. And I’ll just get you to confirm that there appears to have been seven submitters who addressed that issue, so seven out of the 58?

A. Yes.

Q. And then the second sentence refers, doesn't it to “Some submitters felt that there should be more advisory visits…” et cetera and is your reading the same as mine that that will be some of the seven?

A. Yes, indeed.

Q. And can you say or not from your recollection of this summary of submissions that there was a range of views expressed in that document, some positive?  I’ll take you to page 8 –

A. Yes please.
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Q. – if that would help.  The heading, “Better collaboration and relationship building”.  Have a look at that one?  The group of submitters cited improved collaboration on a number of different levels between Government agencies, between Government and industry, within industry and within workplaces?

A. Yes.

Q. And perhaps don't need the document up for this unless you require it, but the Gunningham report that you were asked a number of questions about, and that's for the record DOL0010020402/1, can you confirm from your knowledge of that document that it is a discussion document in effect, a summation of literature.  That fair?

A. Are we talking here about the Gunningham report that supported the outcomes of the review?

Q. The literature review?

A. The literature review, yes, yes.

Q. And while it refers to a range of views expressed from literature and discusses them, is it fair to say that it is not a document that is conclusory?

A. It was a significant influence in the outcome of the review and the recommendations that we made.

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER BELL:
Q. Mr Murphy, taking the section 10 of your statement, can I just ask how many prosecutions have been launched against the mining industry under the current legislation?

A. I don't have that information to hand sir, I'm sorry.  We can find you that, sure.

Q. I wouldn’t mind finding out.  Moving on to section 16, I'm just interested in the reasonable practicality of the legislation, the policy side of that.  There’s five subsections, 16.1 to 16.5.  is there any weighting on those things there?

A. They are all to be considered sir.  They're not in any ascending or descending order.  They all need to be considered to test for the practicability test.

Q. What concerns me is if something like gas monitoring for an underground coal mine was too expensive, would that make it not reasonably practicable?

A. No sir.  For something as critical as that, you couldn't operate in a mine without.  The regulation would absolutely require it.

Q. So this could not be used as a reason for not having a comprehensive gas mining system?

A. No sir.

Q. Just another quick one.  Section 65 of your statement.  It says there it’s an offence for an employer to fail to take all practicable steps to ensure that the person appointed as a manager of an underground coal mine holds the required certificate of competence.  What happens if he takes all the practicable steps but he still can't find someone?  Does that mean the mine can't operate?

A. My understanding would be that that would be a breach of the regulations sir, yes.

Q. And the mine could not operate?

A. Yes sir.

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER HENRY:
Q. Mr Murphy, I'm assuming as policy manager you've got an intimate knowledge of the Health and Safety Act?

A. We're going to test that, I feel.

Q. I was interested in your history of the department’s thinking about approved codes of practice, which have received a fair thrashing at this hearing so far.

A. Mmm.

Q. The Act itself, the object of the Act says that the object is to promote the prevention of harm?

A. Sir.

Q. And it lists various ways by which that might be done, and one of them is setting requirements that relate to taking more practicable steps and they are flexible to cover the different circumstances.  Does that, in your view, refer to the setting of requirements by the department as the administrator?
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A. It would refer to the setting of regulations that would stipulate requirements which would be very much the department’s responsibility.  It would extend to other requirements through approved codes or codes of practice which could be done by the department or could be done by industry and similarly with guidance material.

Q. There's another part of the Act, I think its section 20 that talks about approved codes of practice?

A. Yes.

Q. And it sets out the process by which they are drafted by the department, the secretary puts them up to the Minister?

A. Yes.

Q. The Minister takes time, I assume that in practice the department takes time to get comments from the industry and others and then after a period of time it’s signed off and gazetted and that becomes an approved code of practice?

A. Yes.

Q. Did I hear you yesterday say that that was not a very good process and if so, if I'm right on that, what are the problems with it?

A. It’s not been practice for a number of years to develop full blown approved codes of practice and codes of practice without the Ministerial approval has been the norm largely because of the inflexibility of approved codes once they’re established, more so than the process of getting to them.  It means that they’re very similar in status in some respects to regulations in that to change them then requires a significant amount of rework and codes of practice are able to be more flexibly tweaked and changed without going through the full blown process.

Q. Wouldn’t a code of practice in itself, even if it wasn’t approved, if you'd issued a code of practice wouldn’t that require the same amount of rework?

A. Without the Ministerial component, yes sir.

Q. So is the problem the Ministerial component?

A. It adds another dimension to it sir, that’s without adding necessarily any additional value.

Q. So have you looked to see whether other administrations or even thought about making it part of the secretary’s independent statutory function to issue codes?

A. No we haven't considered that yet.

Q. A separate topic.  I thought I heard you say yesterday that it wasn’t the job of the inspector of mines to give advice and that the employer needed to take their own advice, is that a fair summation?

A. It is sir, I think the issue around advice is a definitional one to some degree.  I think that what the boundary between the inspector providing information and sharing ideas and providing advice is often a very wavy line and I think the intention of the legislation was clearly to ensure that the responsibility for decisions around health and safety rest firmly with the duty holder and with the employer.  The inspector is available to assist and to ensure that the employer has information that might help them to make those decisions but the question of advice is one that is strictly speaking now becomes a matter for the employer, to seek their own independent advice rather than seek it from the regulator.

Q. Is it a fear that if you give advice, if the inspector gives advice it might transfer the responsibility in some way to the department for example, in a prosecution?

A. There's an element of that sir, there is but it is more around the question of where the responsibility rightly sits in the legislative and regulatory framework.

Q. It might be pretty difficult for the employer if there aren't adequate codes of practice and so on to take their own advice, do you think?

A. They would have access I would imagine sir to alternative forms of consultation and advice.

Q. You’re talking specialist?

A. Yes.

Q. Some specialist advice?

A. Particularly technical specialists.
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Q. I just want to finish off by making sure I understand the policy reviews that you’ve been through, because you’ve done quite a lot of policy reviews since the big review of 2006/2008.  That review came out with, as has already been put to you, really part of that was an emphasis on small mines?

A. Sir.

Q. And there’s an assumption in there somewhere that big mines were able to manage their own affairs without that special help that was to be given to small mines.  Is that right?

A. Should say that the review didn’t start out with a premise of reviewing specifically small mines, it was a review of the regulatory framework as it applied to mining generally and the issues that were identified were more apparent in small mines.  And they were issues around scale, they were issues around their access to adequate support and guidance.

Q. Is it possible that since the main submitters were large mines that you finished up with a situation where they convinced you that they didn’t need regulation or prescription?

A. There’s a possibility sir.  We did test that however with looking at the international jurisdictions and we tested that with Professor Gunningham’s analysis as well.  So although the submissions were a significant part they weren’t the only factor in determining the analysis and the recommendations that were made.

Q. And you did a review in 2009 I understand in which you looked at the strategy to 2015 for health and safety?

A. Yes.

Q. I think Mr Wilding mentioned it to you yesterday?

A. Yes, that was a review of the strategy not a review of specific reference to mining sir.

Q. And out of that review this year in March the department issued the national action agenda?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Of 2010 to 2013?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And that’s the one that I think Mr Davidson talked about with the five priority industries?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Now you issued that in March after the disaster at Pike?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Under that strategy the mining sector isn’t given the priority treatment that the other sectors are to be given?

A. Sir.

Q. In terms of focus of resources and collaboration and so on, do you still feel comfortable about the mining sector being excluded?

A. Not entirely sir, no, not at all.  The situation was that the review was done and the recommendations were written towards the end of 2009, the explosion occurred on the 19th of November.  At that point the document had pretty much been finalised.  It was held back obviously in the wake of the explosion and the aftermath while we thought long and hard about how we now reflected what had happened in the action plan.  In discussions with the Minister we decided that we would proceed with the action plan because the issues facing those industries were still critical and needed to be addressed and that we would not pre-empt any outcomes of the investigation, the Royal Commission, and that we would await those outcomes before determining what the next work plan and action plan would be, specifically for mining, and that we would deal with that in a way that was specific to mining and not try to wrap it up in a wider strategy that mining now is going to get its own individual industry attention.

Q. The final question I’ve got, it’s a small one regarding Mr Gunningham’s comments about zero sum game, which when that was put to you, I’m not sure who put it to you now with everything else going on but you answered in terms of resource allocation and said that the difficulties that Government departments, which I’m very familiar with, where you allocate your resources, where you put the last dollar, given that you never have enough money to do everything that you would like to do.  Now in answering it in terms of resource allocation isn't it correct that the department, as with other departments, can allocate money within classes of outputs.
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. So it wouldn't be true, would it, that if you were looking for $100,000 or whatever it was to employ an extra mine inspector you would necessarily have to take it out of the focus, the resources that you're applying to the five priority industries or indeed any other industry.

A. It would, my understanding sir, it would need to come from the baseline, the $38 million from, that the department has to fulfil its health and safety obligations and so it would come from other parts of that system.

Q. It would come from other parts of that system –

A. Yes.

Q. – it wouldn't necessarily be a frontline person who would be taken out of it.

A. No, it could come from anywhere within that resource allocation.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

coMMISSION adjourns:
11.21 AM

 COMMISSION RESMES:
11.39 AM

MS McDONALD CALLS

MICHAEL KERRY FIRMIN (SWORN)

Q. Mr Firmin, can you confirm that your full name is Michael Kerry Firmin?

A. Yes.

Q. And you are currently employed as a health and safety inspector with the Southern Region of the Labour Group Health and Safety with the Department of Labour?

A. Yes.

Q. You have made I think three briefs of evidence for this inquiry?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm going to ask you to read two of those and simply refer to the third one.  Can I take you to your first brief of evidence, which is DOL7770010005.  I'll just get you to confirm that’s your – have you got your brief of evidence in front of you?

A. Yes, just not sure of the number.

Q. Don't worry about the number.  That’s – need to worry about that.  If you could perhaps just, in fact if you refer now perhaps to your second brief of evidence which is DOL7770010007, and that's your qualifications in this brief of evidence isn’t it?

A. Yes.

Q. And could you just confirm for me that the reason you completed that second brief of evidence was to provide further information to the Commission on your qualifications and your experience?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now the first brief of evidence which I'll get you to read shortly, you set out your role as a health and safety inspector and what it involves, but before reading that could I take you please to your qualifications brief of evidence, the one ending in 0007, and read that aloud to the Commission?

A. It’s just the qualifications one?

Q. Yes, if you read that first?

A. “I, Michael Kerry Firmin of Dunedin, inspector, swear I provided a statement for the phase one hearing of this Royal Commission dated 22nd of June 2011.  This is a supplementary statement to add further detail of my qualifications and experience as other witnesses have made comments in questioning the qualifications and experience of the current HSE inspectors at mines.  I have a Bachelor of Science Mineral Technology from the Otago School of Mines (1977) and a Post Graduate Diploma in Health Science, Occupational Health from the Otago University.  In 2008 I gained a NEBOSH International General Certificate in Occupational Health and Safety.  This is a globally recognised qualification offered by an established independent United Kingdom Examination Board and focuses on international occupational health standards and management systems.  In 2010 I completed MINE7033 Minerals Industry Risk Management, a Postgraduate diploma offered by the Minerals Industry Safety and Health Centre of the University of Queensland.  Passing this course is deemed by the Queensland Coal Mining Safety and Health Committee to demonstrate adequate compliance in establishing and maintaining risk management as required for the statutory position of mine manager and senior site executive under the Queensland Coal Mining Safety and Health Act 1999 and the Mining and Safety and Health Act 1999.  
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A. Practical experience.  Before becoming a warranted inspector in 1995 I had 15 years experience mining and mining-related industries.  While I was studying at the Otago School of Mines between 1974 and 1977 I worked at Peko Underground Mine, Tenant Creek, Northern Territories, Australia.  Number 5 Experimental Mine, Underground Gold Mine Rotowaro and the Open Cut Iron Ore operations at Dampia and the Open Cast Mine at Mt Tom Price, Western Australia.  After graduating I worked for State Coal Mines and Coal Corporation from 1978 to 1993.  I worked at Marne’s underground mine and variously as a trucker, clipper, winch man, contract miner, I worked for State Coals, Rock Mechanics Technician as a mechanised miner at the West Underground Coal Mine before moving to the East Underground Coal Mine where I was a mechanised coal miner, mine deputy, underviewer and coal handling supervisor.  It was while working for State Coal Mines I gained six years experience to sit my first class coal mine manager’s certificate.  After leaving Coal Corporation between 1993 and 1994 I was a jumbo nipper, underground for a mining contractor, Elton Contracting at Telfer Western Australia, a coal handler technician for Solid Energy New Zealand and spent two to three months as mine manager of Moody Creek Underground Coal Mine near Greymouth in New Zealand, which was then privately owned and later owned by Todd Energy.  It was at the time New Zealand’s largest privately owned underground coal mine employing about 20 people.  At 1994 to 1995 I worked as a team leader in refractory specials at Thermal Ceramics in Huntly.  This entailed batching high temperature cements for use in steel making and aluminium industries.  I hold the following certificates; a first class coal mine manager’s certificate 1984, a gas testing certificate current which qualifies me to test gas in underground mines, a New Zealand A Grade Quarry Manager’s certificate, a Shotfire Certificate, an A Grade Tunnel Manager’s certificate, an approved Handlers of Explosives, expired and a first class Mine Manager’s certificate.  In summary I have underground experience in board and pillar, scrape and loader, road header and continuous mine operations including mine deputy, underviewer and coal mine manager.  I have geotechnical experience in underground coal mines.  I have surface experience in crushing, screening, washing and dispatch plant.  I have underground hard rock experience as mine labourer, contractor, jumbo nipper and open cast hard rock experience as an engineering assistant.  I have explosive experience in underground coal, underground long holes, tunnels and open cut blasting, I have been a machinery operator operating MPV, PETs, light diesel vehicles used underground to transport men and materials.  I have operated road headers, shuttle car, front-end loaders, truck and roof boulder, I have completed mines rescue BG174 breathing apparatus run by EXITO, but not part of the rescue team.  I continue to up-skill myself through shorter courses and have completed courses in the following; International Safety and Rating system ISRS, Safety Management Systems and I'm halfway through training to be an ISRS accredited safety order, Australian centre for Geomechanics, ground support and mining courses through Coal Corporation and the Department of Labour such as Train the Trainer, Accident Investigation, Managing and Supervising People, Investigation Skills, Prosecutions, Orico Explosives, Health Monitoring Equipment, Four Wheel Drive, ATV and First Aid.  

Q. I'll take you now to your main brief of evidence.  You've got your main brief of evidence in front of you, I think it’s fair to say that the matters covered in your more detailed qualification brief are dealt with in a general way in paragraph 4, you probably don’t need to read out paragraph 4, I think that’s right, isn't it Mr Firmin?

A. Yes, it’s good, yeah. 
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Q. So if you come and then start reading please from paragraph, leaving out 4 and start at paragraph 5 and this is your brief of evidence dated the 22nd of June 2011. 
A. I then went through a number of jobs including mine labourer, coal mine manager, and 18 months as team leader in Thermal Ceramics, Huntly, New Zealand.  On the 1st of July 1995 I was employed by the Ministry of Commerce and appointed a health and safety inspector under the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 with the responsibility of inspecting quarries.  My duties as an inspector included inspection of quarries for compliance with the Health and Safety in Employment Act and to assist employers and employees to improve safety in quarries, mines and surface coal mines.  I have been employed as a health and safety inspector with the Department of Labour since 1998.  My health and safety certificate of appointment warrant issued the 3rd of October 2006 covers all coal mines, mines, quarries and tunnels.  Prior to this I have been issued with a health and safety certificate of appointment warrant in 1999 which covered coal mines, surface mines and quarries.”

Q. And tunnels.  Did you complete the sentence?

A. Oh, sorry, “and tunnels.  My role as an inspector involves assisting employers and others to improve workplace safety by providing information and education, carrying out investigations involving workplace accidents and complaints, undertaking routine inspections to see whether or not there has been compliance with the HSE Act and its regulations.  Although I am based in Dunedin, I cover the area from Rakaia River to Bluff.  Kevin Poynter and the other health and safety inspector who inspects mines, quarries, and tunnels share inspection of the North Island sites alternating over a six month period.  The extractive operations have been risk assessed to determine which sites had most inherent hazards.  Recently this internal risk assessment of tunnels, mines and quarries in our area was updated to include risk management and was used to determine what priority and frequency to do inspections.  Underground mines rated in the high risk category because of the inherent hazards that are associated with this work.  Methane and the use of explosives were seen as increasing the risk.  The Mining Steering Group which I am part of decided that inspectors would aim to proactively visit underground mines and tunnels approximately every three months, surface mines and high risk quarries every six months and other quarries where time permitted.  We would also have discussions by phone or email with mining companies between those visits.  It is very much an open and ongoing relationship with companies.  The other mining inspector and I inspect all underground coal and metalliferous and open cast mines, quarries and tunnels.  About a year ago the Mining Steering Group decided we would train other health and safety inspectors to inspect quarries and this is a two year project which is ongoing.  On a proactive visit to a mine I would almost always contact the mine in advance to tell him I was going to visit.  This is to ensure people were organised to assist me and to take me down into the mine.  If it wasn’t arranged in advance I might spend significant time waiting at the mine while they arranged these things.  Generally I would start the visit with a face to face catch up with the mine manager or assistant manager about some of the issues we’ve emailed about or discussed since my last visit, for example incidents of harm.  I would look at the current mine plan to find out what work had been done since my last visit.  Some issues might arise out of the mine plan, for example the company might explain problems they’d encountered which led to a change in the plan.  My priority was to go underground to do a physical inspection and sight the hazards myself as this would prove the systems were working and I wanted to check the mine was safe.  If I had not previously been inducted at the mine there would be an induction process before I went underground.  At the control room I was check the Maihak monitoring results and perhaps the gas book.  When I went underground I would check out such hazards as ventilation, stone dust, and roof support rib conditions et cetera and trying to get as many of the areas as possible – try to get to as many as the areas as possible, especially the faces of the mine.  If I knew from my correspondence with the mine that there had been an issue with a particular hazard I would check that, for example if there’d been an email about with a company that they had put a seal over it working because of a fire I would check the seal.  I carried a methanometer with me and would check the gas reading for any areas of heating I went round.  
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A. As I went around I would talk to section managers.  I would observe the minders doing tasks.  For example, if I went o the face I might watch them bolting the roof or load a few cars of coal.  I sometimes ask if the health and safety employee representative, rep, was available and tried to talk to them to see if there were any issues, but they weren’t always available on shift.  I have only had one health and safety rep raise any issue with me at an underground mine.  Sometimes an inspection would include a theme inspection where I would focus on a hazard, such as conveyor guarding or stone dusting.  I would check on the hazard underground and then went outside, investigate the company was addressing this hazard, ie ask the company to prove to me it had adequately stone-dusted and checking the monitoring results.  If I needed further information I would ask the company to send it to me.  It wasn’t a systematic audit of their own procedures, it was a type of audit of the controls in place to see how the company was managing the hazard.  If I identified an issue I would discuss this with the company and how it dealt with a hazard and what all practicable steps might be under the HSE Act.  I would have regard to a number of things.  The general guidance of the HSE Act and regulations, the codes of practice, the Minex guidelines and the Australia and New Zealand standards, Australia guidelines and what is best practice by reference to other mines and Australian practices and my own training and knowledge.  West Australian regulations were helpful at the metalliferious mines, so was the Australian Minerals Industry Handbook.  I would usually spend around four to six hours underground.  After the underground inspection I would debrief with the mine manager on anything outstanding from my last visit, anything I had asked them to do or any issues arising from my inspection.  We would go over anything coming up and what the company intended to do over the next three months.  I always ask the company, “Where are you going next?”  I might request them to provide me with further information such as risk assessment reports and Trigger Action Response Plans (TARPS).  The total visit might take between six and eight hours.  If I had time, particularly if I had travelled to another region, I would try and fit in a visit to a second site such as an open-cut mine, which would usually take one and a half to two hours.  

Q. I think that sentence read, “I will try and fit in a visit that day?”

A. That day, okay.

Q. Carry on.

WITNESS CONTINUES READING BRIEF OF EVIDENCE 

“That day I will then write up my notes and upload them to the department’s INSITE system when next in the office.  I also keep a record of phone conversations I had with the mines companies.  I would rarely enter phone calls into the computer system, only when I thought they were a critical part of the inspection.  I keep a notebook in which I make handwritten notes of my inspections and most phone calls.  Notes on INSITE can be seen by other inspectors.  If I had an issue about anything at the mine I want to discuss I would ring other mines inspectors or the high hazard advisor.  It was a general inspection issue I want to discuss, such as a machine guard, I might ask one of the other health and safety inspectors.  In addition to proactive inspection visits, I also visit mines, quarries and tunnels where there is a report of serious harm or other serious incident.  This usually occurs because the company have notified of an incident but occasionally we receive complaints to the office which we investigate.  When I am visiting a mine following a serious harm notification my focus is on investigating that incident and hazard and ensuring the company has addressed the hazard and whether enforcement action should be taken.  Sometimes I would supply information to the mines, which I would record in INSITE.  Enforcement action.  There are a number of enforcement tools available to inspectors under the HSE Act.  If I use a prohibition notice under section 41 it stops activity occurring.  I can issue an improvement notice under section 39 which forces the company to address the failure within a certain period.  The department uses the Braithwaite Triangle which involves looking at the attitude of the employer and determining the appropriate regulatory response.  If the company is considered a leader in health and safety issues and highly likely to make changes to fix the failure the issues is dealt with through a negotiated agreement that I make with the company.  If the company is unconsidered and uncooperative one of the other enforcement options like a prohibition or improvement notice might be used instead.  Companies that we used negotiated agreements to achieve improved performance were the ones that were proactively working to achieve high standards.  They recognise that mining is a high risk industry and are usually doing whatever they can to avoid accidents, including cooperating with the inspectors, relying on expert advice and training their workforce.  The approach using a modern regulator is also to problem-solve to improve safety.  This is a true…”
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THE COMMISSION:
You need not read that Mr Firmin, thank you.
examination continues:  MS McDONALD

Q. Thank you Mr Firmin.  And in relation to your briefs of evidence can I get you to confirm that your third brief of evidence, which is number DOL7770010008, is – you've got a copy of that there.  Can you confirm that that is your brief of evidence?  You have signed it, dated the 14th of July 2011?

A. Yes.

Q. And the purpose of that brief, which I won't ask you to read, but if you could confirm that that provides information to the Commission in relation to certain accident notifications to the Department of Labour that were referred to in Dr Elder’s evidence?

A. Yes.

Q. Now just a couple of other brief matters.  You will recall the evidence given by Mr Hughes last week?

A. Yes.

Q. And you will recall in particular in relation to a paragraph in his brief of evidence, I think it was paragraph 33(b) from memory, where he made mention of the fact that you are the person referred to in that paragraph although you're not named in relation to an appointment to a coal mine inspector’s position?

A. Yes.

Q. Who interviewed you for the coal miner’s inspector’s position?

A. For the coal mines inspector’s position I was interviewed by Robin Hughes.  At the time I think he was Chief Inspector of Coal Mines, and Andrew Ready, and I think there was a person probably from human resources.  I'm not sure who that person was.

Q. And Mr Hughes gave evidence that he was not part of that interview panel for your appointment of the position of coal miners inspector.  And just to be clear, did you at any stage apply for a position and were interviewed for a quarry inspector position?

A. Yes I was interviewed for the inspector of quarries.  That would have been about three and a half years earlier in June 1995.  At that interview was the Chief Inspector of Mines, Ron King, and the manager of the South Island Rob Storey, and a member from industry who retired.  I don't know his name.  

Q. And just so it’s absolutely clear.  There were two positions, quarry miners and coal mine inspector?

A. Yes.  I think there the quarry position was 1995 and I'm pretty sure the coal mines inspector was 1999.

Q. And Mr Hughes was on the interview panel you've said for the coal mines?

A. Coal mines inspector’s job.

MS McDONALD:

Sir, I've touched on matters that related to a paragraph in Mr Hughes’ brief of evidence that are subject to the suppression order.  I did that sort of without thinking, although I don't think the matters that I've covered necessarily transgress the issues that were raised in those paragraphs so I didn't –

THE COMMISSION: 

Well it just raises the status.  It was an interim order that was made.  Are you wanting it maintained or?

MS McDONALD: 

Not in relation to that particular paragraph that relates to Mr Firmin, certainly not sir.

examination continues:  MS McDONALD: 

Q. Now the other matter, just for completeness Mr Firmin, can you confirm that while I think it’s the case that you have visited the Pike River Mine you were not the inspector responsible for inspections at Pike River.  Is that right? 

A. Yes.  I remember about the time of the accident I think I would have finished doing the inspections about May or June 2008.

Q. And Mr Poynter took over?

A. Mr Poynter was the Inspector of Coal Mines for the coal mine.

cross-examination:  MR WILDING

Q. Mr Firmin, just to follow on question in relation to your interview for the position of a quarry inspector, who do you say the Chief Inspector of Mines was at that time in 1995?

A. That was Ron King, yeah.
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Q. So to the extent to which Mr Hughes might say that he was the Chief Inspector of Mines in that period, do you say that he’s wrong?

A. No, in those days we had Chief Inspector of Mines, Chief Inspector of Coal Mines and in 1995 I'm not sure who was the Chief Inspector of Coal Mines, could've been Ron, probably was.

Q. Could I just turn to the mines inspectors and their place within the department and their number?  Am I correct in understanding that the mines inspectors don't form a separate division within the department?

A. That's true, yeah.

Q. And that at the moment you're the sole mines inspector?

A. That's true, yep.

Q. And we’ve heard that Mr Poynter, a former mines inspector has recently left?

A. Yeah.

Q. Presumably he left voluntarily, did he?

A. Yes, I think an opportunity came up and he took it.

Q. Do you know when he gave his notice?

A. I think he’s been, he’s left about two weeks ago and he gave a month’s notice as far as I know, just as far as I know.

Q. Do you know what the department’s doing about trying to find a replacement for him?

A. Yes, they’ve already advertised.  I think that closed quite recently, the Friday or something like that.  It was a bit of a, they did do a good job and they were trying to find a replacement quickly or they’re going through that process.  They haven't got anybody yet.

Q. You've referred in your evidence to the role of a mines inspector in relation to inspecting mines.  Do you have responsibility under other legislation, for example Hazardous Substances and 
New Organisms Act?

A. Yeah, I'm a health – I'm a warranted Hazardous Substances and 
New Organisms inspector.

Q. Are you briefly able to outline what that involves?

A. Well in compliance with the, the HASNO Act of the regulations.  If we go on site we can look at the hazardous substances under the HSE Act but we can also look at it under the requirements of the other legislation, that’s the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act.

Q. When you say you can go on site, is that limited to the types of operations that you have responsibility for as a mines inspector, in other words mines, quarries and tunnels or does it include other types of operations?

A. The warrants are actually open now.  I think is that what you mean?  So we can go anywhere.  The letter of appointment I think that’s more in relation of what you can visit, you can inspect so it might restrict other people from going to those places.

Q. So your hazard substances role is broader than just inspecting mines, quarries and tunnels?

A. I guess so, yeah.

Q. You've referred to the different regions that you and Mr Poynter, when he was there, were responsible for.  Are you responsible for all of the different types of extractives operations that occur within your region?

A. Yes, I sometimes hear that we are coal mines inspectors but, no we have the duties of mines and that’s hard rock mines, underground and open cut and simply with coal mines and open cut tunnel, tunnel operations and quarries.  Quarries are the biggest part of that.

Q. Are you able to say how many operations fall within the region for which you are responsible?

A. I think I had something like at least 240 quarries, some of them are real small ones which I haven't counted, one hard rock underground mine, one hard rock open cut mine, about three alluvial mines.  They start and stop and five open cast coal mines, that’s in my area but we’re also responsible for the area in the North Island in relation to whatever we’re asked to go to so we tend to just to focus on the hard rock mines and underground mines and the tunnels, the high risk ones are in the North Island.
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Q. When you say you’re also responsible in relation to the North Island does that mean that part of your duties include conducting inspections or responding to incidents in relation to extractives operations in the North Island?

A. Yes, that’s true.

Q. And is that a responsibility that when Mr Poynter was there was shared with him?

A. That's right, yes.

Q. Are you able to say how many operations there are in the North Island of all types?

A. Well, I think we just concentrated on the high risk ones, so there was one underground coal mine, there was two underground hard rock mines and I'm not sure, I think there was four or five open cut coal mines, tunnels vary, especially round Auckland, there may be three, four tunnels operating at one time.

Q. How many quarries were there?

A. We didn’t really get into the quarries but quarries tend to be associated with people so the more population the more number of quarries.  I think the total number of quarries in New Zealand is something like 1000.

Q. Is anyone at the moment inspecting quarries in the North Island?

A. There wasn’t anybody for ages or as people left but at the last Mining Steering Group meeting we asked, we ran a training course, we weren't that, it was a response because they weren't getting visited, the general workplace people would do that and so we ran a training course over three days and I think the project was to last for at least a year.  It wasn’t going to be an ongoing project as far as I knew, perhaps two years, I had heard that it might be canned for this year.

Q. Just turning to Mr Poynter, are you able to say how many operations there are in the region for which he was responsible?

A. I think a similar number to mine, to me but he had more underground coal mines and more open cut coal mines.  In that particular area there would be a higher number of medium to moderate risk operations but a lower number of low risk operations.  

Q. Is there a plan for how the work that Mr Poynter was responsible for is going to be undertaken while a replacement is being found?

A. I guess that’s yet to be formulated.

Q. But does that mean at the moment that you potentially have to respond to matters right across New Zealand?

A. Yes in terms of some of the work, if it was at a mine, open cut mine and it was a vehicle accident, then perhaps with discussions we could let someone else do that which has already happened, but generally, you know, if there was an underground situation, yes, it would be me.

Q. Just turning to a slightly different topic.  I think that you've been present yesterday and last week and you would've heard some evidence given about the salaries and the impact of salaries in relation to mines inspection.  Without telling me what your exact salary is are you able to give an indication of the range of salary of a mines inspector?

A. The health and safety inspector range is something like $50,000 something to $76,000.

Q. Are you able to say how that compares to the range of salaries of someone in the mining industry who has a comparable level of skill and experience?

A. You mean as an inspector or something?

Q. Well, if an inspector was employed in the mining industry so not as inspector but in a position appropriate to his or her qualifications and expertise, do you know how much that person might get?

A. We’ve heard a few salaries in Queensland and New South Wales, Western Australia, seen some of their salaries, the Northern Territory and those states I think are slightly less or less.
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Q. But you don’t know, for example, how much someone with the qualifications and experience for mines inspector might get if they were employed by a mining company to do a specific job?

A. As a manager?

Q. As a manager for example.

A. Okay, no I’m not sure of the exact (inaudible 12:13:22)

Q. And to whom do the mines inspectors report?

A. Well we were, until very recently, we reported to our team leader in the local office, in the regional office but as a result of that internal review we’ve now started to report to a senior high hazards person, who we’ve just employed.

Q. And when you say, “In the regional office,” that means you and Mr Poynter would’ve reported to different people?

A. Yes.

Q. And did the people to whom you reported have mines expertise?

A. No.

Q. And you say that’s changed as a result of the recent review and that’s the review that we’ve heard evidence about by Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal?

A. Yes, that’s true.

Q. And so now you report to who is it?

A. John Kay, he’s based in Christchurch I think and does some work up, and time in Wellington head office.

Q. And what’s his job title?

A. I think it’s senior high hazards advisor.  I think he’s taken over the job from John Kay, sorry, from Johan Booyse.

Q. When did Johan Booyse leave?

A. About, I’m not too sure, around Christmas time, February or...

Q. When was Mr Kay appointed?

A. I’m not too sure either actually, quite recently, maybe two months ago, something…

Q. Does he have specialist mining knowledge?

A. He doesn’t have a first class ticket.  I’m not sure if he’s worked underground.  I don’t think he’s worked underground in that capacity but he’s worked for Solid Energy and I think he’s worked at some mining companies in Australia as some sort of, as a health and safety management role, I’m not exactly sure of his CV.

Q. I presume we can obtain it if need be.  If I could just turn to the issue of budgets, and I’ll touch on this a couple of times today.  But first is, is there a budget for mines inspectors?

A. I wouldn’t know sorry, yes.

Q. Do mines inspectors have a budget that they can use or that they have to operate within?

A. No, everything is controlled by the team leader or the manager in the office, they hold the budget.

Q. And that’s a matter outside your knowledge?

A. Yeah, although that’s changed now with John Kay, he’d probably have a budget.

Q. Could I just turn to other types of inspectors within the department.  What are the other types of inspectors who would be involved in inspecting the extractives industry?

A. I think they were drawn, they were selected by their managers in each regional office and the people who they thought were suitable were asked to go on a course and they ranged, I think, from a variety of backgrounds.  Some of them had been there for a reasonable amount of time, reasonable experience, some reasonably new, some were construction, some were general workplace.

Q. But in terms of inspections of the extractive industry, so let’s define matters, underground coalmining, opencast coalmining, tunnels and quarries, that’s done at the moment by you?

A. Yes.

Q. And part of that would normally be done by quarries inspectors as well?

A. Yes, we used to have quarries inspectors, they would do the quarries.

Q. When did you last have a quarries inspector within the department?
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A. Probably Alan Best.  I'm not sure who was the last to leave.  It would have been a few years ago, maybe five years ago.

Q. The department presumably has a range of other types of inspectors, for example, an electrical inspector?

A. We just appointed an electrical inspector yes.

Q. “Just appointed.”  Does that mean it’s a new position or a position that had been unfilled?

A. I think it’s a new position.

Q. Do you know if that person’s role will include inspecting electrical parts of coal mines?

A. I believe it will, yes.

Q. When was that appointment made?

A. Probably only four or five months, I'm not sure, yeah.

Q. Who’s the person who has been appointed?

A. Jerry Ryan.

Q. Have you spoken with Mr Ryan about whether he’ll inspect electrical components of coal mines?

A. Yes.  He phoned me and organised some – we had some training together.  And there was an issue on standards, electrical standards, so he’s getting to grip with how electricity works in mines.  Hasn’t been down a mine yet, but yeah.

Q. Are you able to say how his inspections will work be performed?

A. Not really.  I get the impression he’s going to try and work with the extractive industries.  I'm not sure of the exact role.

Q. And there's one electrical inspector, is that right? 

A. I guess so.  That could be a guy in Hamilton that was an electrician.  He does give advice on electricity and probably does respond to those sorts of things.  But I think we do have contractors available as well that we, if we want to bring them in for an accident we got a contractor in the local office. 

Q. Have you ever been involved in doing an inspection of the mine or a mine at the same time as an electrical inspector?

A. Yeah, we used to have the services of the energy safety service and they would come around and help us do the inspection.  They would do the electrical part of the inspection of the mines.

Q. That electrical safety service was of the Ministry of Commerce and then MED?

A. Yeah.

Q. And that’s transitioned has it through to the Department of Labour?

A. It was an agreement where they decided that they would be totally separate and not assist us.

Q. And the department presumably has mechanical inspectors, so inspectors who look at mechanical issues?

A. No, we don't have anyone.

Q. Do you know if it’s got inspectors who look at workplace fatigue?

A. Yes we would have similar people that tend to rest - to focus on those health issues, but of course we all do that as well as general workplace, yeah.

Q. To your knowledge, have they ever been involved in inspecting the issue of workplace fatigue within an underground coal mine?

A. No I don't think so.

Q. And are there inspectors who deal with, for example, ergonomics?

A. We would all deal with ergonomics, but I guess some people tend to specialise in that area.  But we've also got the facility in most offices of a doctor, a departmental medical practitioner you could for advice on those sorts of things.

Q. That person’s not involved in conducting inspections but rather giving advice to the inspectors?

A. Yes.  If you wanted to, you could ask them to come with you, you know, had an issue to the…
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Q. I presume that hasn’t happened though insofar as underground coalmining is concerned?

A. There's no reason I couldn't, I have used the DMP at the open cut mine where I am, but there's no reason why if there was an issue we couldn't take somebody from the local office to the coal mine.

Q. And DMP?

A. I think its Departmental Medical Practitioner, it’s a position under the Health and Safety in Employment Act.

Q. Do you think there’d be benefits in some of these other inspectors, for example, an electrical inspector inspecting the electrical components of a coal mine at the same time as you do?

A. I think it’s a bit too specialised.  I think you would need training, what I can understand, the little bit of training that I've had, it’s quite different from the electrical reticulation for outside, not for – in areas not considered coal mines.

Q. I'm dealing with a slightly different issue which is whether you think it would be useful for there to be joint inspections so involving both you and for example an electrical inspector together attending a mine, to conducting an inspection?

A. If it’s an open cut mine, yes, or I think the underground you'd have to get someone that had more knowledge than an inspector would have in the Electricity Act type qualifications.

Q. So even if an electrical inspector was going to accompany you underground you think that that electrical inspector would need some specialised knowledge related to the mining industry?

A. For underground coal, yes.

Q. Why do you say that?

A. I'm not an electrical engineer but the way that the electricity is reticulated is quite different and the flame-proofing et cetera, it would be totally new to an electrician I think.

Q. Right.  Just turning to a couple of other positions or groups.  We’ve talked about the senior advisor, high hazards, what’s his role?

A. Well, he was an advisor that or the position was an advisor I think to the managers and to us and he was to work, or they were to work with all these industry bodies or around mining, considered mining work.

Q. That was based in Wellington?

A. That was based in Wellington.

Q. And I presume when it was Mr Booyse that he wouldn’t have conducted inspections?

A. No, he started to become an inspector and then he said he didn’t want to do it anymore.

Q. And do you know whether Mr Kay will be involved in conducting inspections?

A. No I don't know, I don’t think so.

Q. And are you able to describe the nature of the relationship that there was between the mines inspectors and the senior advisor high hazard?

A. Well, Johan had a just purely advisory role and we would talk over things that we’d like to do but he had no budget, no authority.  I think that frustrated him in his efforts to try and work with us within the industry.

Q. When you say things that you'd like to do, what sort of things?

A. Well, sometimes we talked about the Minex guidelines, getting together and forming a joint response to those rather than me just commenting, as an individual it wasn’t quite seen right for the department so if we got together as inspectors and thought this is what we think, perhaps we should give this to Minex, well there was no budget for that, there was no time restraints and what was really required of us was to do the inspections so if he’d been in charge of us then he could've said, “Right, you guys, we’ll meet next week and we’ll do this.”
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Q. So you wouldn’t turn to him for example for specialist underground coal mine advice?

A. Yes, he had a first class ticket, he worked in mines as manager all over in South Africa.  He was hard rock but where he worked it was Alluvial, it was Alluvial gold which had been buried.  And above that was a carboniferous layer and he said it was full of methane so he had that background, even though it was in gold.

Q. Now we heard yesterday about the Mine Steering Group briefly, and you’re a member of that?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to explain why that was formed?

A. I think it was rumoured at the time of the two fatalities on the West Coast and I think that the manager there, the regional manager, decided it would be a good idea to get us guys together and see if we could sort out any issues because there seemed to be issues in terms of inspections or whatever, so yes.

Q. I’d like you to turn please to a document DOL0020020011/1, and this should come up on the screen before you.  Now we don’t have a formal document setting out the role and purpose of the Mine Steering Group but could you please just look at those five bullet points under the heading, “Role,” and confirm whether that accurately sets out the role of the Mine Steering Group?

A. Yes, it looks right.

Q. And how often does that meet?

A. The plan was, I think, three months, every three months.

Q. When you say, “The plan?”

A. It didn’t always happen.

Q. Were written minutes always taken of the meetings?

A. I think so, yes.

Q. So there should be written minutes going back to about 2006/2007?

A. Yes, something like that.

Q. And are those written minutes circulated to each of the members?

A. Yes, think so.

Q. So each member should have a copy of them?

A. Yes, I guess so.

Q. And presumably the written minutes would also be stored electronically by the department?

A. Could be, yes, they should be somewhere.  I’m not sure if anyone was really responsible for, I guess someone would’ve taken over his files.
Q. Aside from the members of the Mining Steering Group do you know who else the minutes are circulated to?

A. No, we basically just go through the minutes, have our meeting and any issues taken from that, hopefully to other people, but who actually gets a copy of the minutes, no I don’t know.

Q. There’s no formal document that you’re aware of which sets out which people, positions in the department should receive a copy?

A. No.

Q. Does the Mine Steering Group have a budget?

A. No, well not as far as I know.

Q. Is the lack of a budget an issue which has been raised by it?

A. No I think that the expenses are basically in travelling to get to the meeting and the managers at the office had agreed to let people go to those meetings so it was taken out of the general budget to go to these meetings.

Q. But I take it if it identifies a need, for example, for training it doesn’t have a specific budget which –

A. No.

Q. – it can then apply towards that purpose?

A. Not as far as I know, no.

Q. If the Mine Steering Group has issues that it wishes to raise at a level higher than it with whom or with which group does it raise those?

A. Again I don’t know.  I guess it would depend on that particular issue.  I can remember for the third inspector I think that one of the service managers was going to take that to a group, the Westmark Group I think it’s called, WSMT Group. 
Q. We might turn to that later on but WSMT, do you know what that stands for?

A. Strategic Management Team, the W, I’m not sure what the W is, yes.
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Q. When you said, “It depends on the type of issue,” for example, if the Mine Steering Group had concerns about the regulatory framework, so about the law and regulations and codes of practice, do you know with whom it would raise those?

A. No, I think the actual process would be perhaps depend on what we, decide that we would take that to.  Shall we give this to policy or shall we take it up you know, it will probably just be discussed there.  I don't know the formal process.

Q. Do you know whether the Mine Steering Group has ever raised issues in relation to the regulatory framework?

A. I'm not sure on that.  I know we discussed it.  Johan wanted to get it changed.

Q. Have you or can you recall whether other mines inspectors, so inspectors rather than the Mine Steering Group have ever raised issues in relation to the regulatory framework?

A. There’s been quite a few things in the regulatory framework that we’ve wanted to, to have addressed over the years.

Q. Without going into detail at this stage are you able just to list those?

A. Well I remember there was the, there was the exemption in the 1995 Regs for rollover protective structures.  They wanted that exemption removed from the mines inquiries.   There was the business about coal mines inspector – coal mines manager for a small mine which was changed.  You could be a deputy and then you’d need to be an underviewer to manage a mine.  I can't think of any others at the moment.

Q. Can you just explain what the exemption was to which you're referring?

A. Well when I joined the department at the Ministry of Commerce in 1995 they were drawing up the regulations for mining for the extractive industries, surface regulations, surface mines and underground mines so when the 1995 regulations came out there was an exemption put in there because they knew that the mining regulations would deal with that issue then the mining regulations never came into being.  This is for surface operations.

Q. And what was the particular exemption?

A. Rollover protective structures on mobile plant.

Q. There’s an exemption saying that in certain circumstances or for certain operations they weren’t required?

A. I think it’s had the required, there was a requirement and they said except mines and quarries, straight exemption.

Q. Could I just ask you some questions about external relations?  If mines inspectors have concerns that are relevant to the role of another regulatory agency, for example Crown Minerals or the Department of Conservation, do they notify that department or agency?

A. Repeat the question?

Q. Well if as a mines inspector there was a concern that you might have which would be relevant to the role of another regulatory agency so for example Ministry of Economic Development, Crown Minerals or the Department of Conservation, would you notify it of that issue?

A. Yeah, I think we have to, yeah.

Q. Has that ever been done to your knowledge?

A. I think the one we often get into is we have to notify that local authority sometimes if we come across anything that might not comply with the building code that sort of thing but not, not so much in Crown Minerals or Department of Conservation, no.

Q. Have you notified the building authority of any concerns?

A. Not myself, no.

Q. Do you know whether there’s a written policy that deals with notification of concerns to other regulatory agencies?

A. I think there is, yeah.

Q. Is that something that you've seen?

A. No, just that I've heard about.  There’s quite a few policies but it would be there for me to look at it if I came across something that I was concerned about or, I’d ask other people.

Q. Are you aware of whether any other regulatory agency has ever raised health and safety concerns in underground mining with the Department of Labour?
A. We've worked with DOC on a couple I think.  Yeah, Lands and Survey, there was an issue there a while back.
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Q. Well do you know whether any regulatory agency including the Department of Conservation has ever drawn a health and safety-related issue to your attention or that of another mines inspector?

A. Probably not, no.

Q. Have you been given training by the department about the role of other regulatory agencies, for example, the Department of Conservation and the Ministry of Economic Development?

A. No.

Q. So would you know whether you have information that might be relevant to their roles?

A. I think just a common sense approach really.  If you thought that there was something that might be relevant to them, then you would bring that up.

Q. Do you know whether in a mines inspection level, there has ever been an attempt to form an operational link with other regulatory agencies?

A. Yes I think that was one of the things we brought up at the Mining Steering Group quite often, especially Crown Minerals because of their work plan.

Q. Can you just explain what was done in that regard?

A. It was brought up a few times at the meetings but I think the last time it was brought up was Johan was going to work with Crown Minerals to try and get in their work plan a lot more information in relation to the mining aspects, which they probably had the power to do under the Crown Minerals Act, so...

Q. When say, “in their work plan a lot more information in relation to mining,” are you able to expand that for us?

A. Well for a licence or a permit I think every year they have to submit a work plan to the Ministry of Commerce.  So we were hoping to form some sort of relationship with Crown Minerals to get that work plan to include some of the development work in some sort of detail so we could get that for us to look at for design, et cetera of mines or what they were going to do for that next year even if it was an operating mine.

Q. So what were you hoping to do if you received that information?

A. Well it would allude us to any problems, it could do.

Q. And has that link been established yet?

A. No, I think Johan was working with that.

Q. Do you know if that’s an issue that Mr Kay is going to continue to try and progress?

A. I don't know, but I would presume that he would, yeah.  I don't know.

Q. Do you have operational links with the Mines Rescue Trust?

A. Operational links.  What do you mean by that?

Q. Well, do you have a working relationship with the Mines Rescue Trust?

A. Not as such, no, but I mean as inspectors I try and go to Mines Rescue, you know, to talk to them and keep in with them because they are a good source of knowledge, yeah.

Q. How often would you have communication with the Mines Rescue Trust?

A. The trust or the Mines Rescue office?

Q. Well, either?

A. Either.  I would say at least once a year, maybe a couple of times a year.  I try and go - every visit I’d try and get to - in Huntly I'll try and get to the Mines Rescue, but there's been so much pressure that’s one of the ones I tend to leave off.  The new guy up there I haven’t, I just met, and he’s probably been there 18 months. 

Q. And when you say you try to get to Mines Rescue, where do you mean?

A. I usually pop into the office and say hello.

Q. So where is their office?

A. There's one in Huntly and there's one on the West Coast.
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Q. Do you know whether the department has any memorandum of understanding or any other document with Mines Rescue dealing with how they interact in the event of an emergency?

A. No, I think that was one thing that Kevin actually brought up recently, that we really need to do a whole management process around that.  That was before Pike.

Q. Are you able to say whether there's been any meeting or joint training between the mines inspectors on the one hand and mines rescue on the other hand, as to how to deal with an emergency?

A. No, I don’t, I'm not aware of any of that training.

Q. What about the police, do you know if there's any memorandum or other document that deals with how the police and the department will interact in the event of an emergency?

A. No, I don’t know of any document.

Q. I just want to talk briefly about how employees and representatives can raise concerns with the mines inspector and obviously they can raise concerns when they see you going about your inspections.  Are they able to raise concerns anonymously?

A. Yes.

Q. Does the department have phone numbers that are published that are available to people to ring if they have concerns about health and safety?

A. I guess, in the phone book, you know, where else you might see the number I wouldn’t know, I think probably about the only place really.

Q. Right, so for example, the department wouldn’t have you give out pamphlets to people at mines saying if you've got a health and safety concern just ring us on this number?

A. No.

Q. Putting to one side the issue of form enforcement action including considering whether or not to issue improvement or prohibition notices, when concerns are raised by employees at a mine how are they followed up?

A. Raised as a complaint?

Q. Yes, if they raise a concern?

A. Complaints, perhaps if I deal with that, if it would be a formal complaint well then we would go on site generally to investigate that complaint.  Sometimes people might just give you, no, I don’t want this as a complaint but can you look at such and such, you know, so they don’t want it to the same level.

Q. Have any employees or health and safety representatives, to your knowledge, rung the mines inspectors and made a complaint?

A. Could you repeat that one, did you want specifically health and safety reps or?

Q. Well, no, I'll deal with it in two parts.  To your knowledge have any employees at an underground coal mine ever rung the mines inspectors to say that they have a complaint or concern about health and safety?

A. To my knowledge no, I don’t think I have had any from an underground coal mine.

Q. Has any health and safety representative to your knowledge from an underground coal mine rung and raised a concern?

A. Underground coal mine?

Q. Yes.

A. No.

Q. Now, the department gathers statistics in relation to health and safety in underground coal mines, is that correct?

A. They would probably, which statistics do you mean, fatalities or?

Q. Well, what statistics does it gather?

A. Okay, then the other part is the requirement under the Regs for an accident register to be sent through every six months.
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Q. That’s the accident notifications required by section 25 or is it of the Health and Safety in Employment Act ?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. Could I just take you to part of the Mine Steering Group Committee minutes of 10 July 2009.  I apologise, it’s quite small on screen.  There’s a heading down the bottom of the page, which is five of eight, headed, “Notifications.”  So it’s the page on the left-hand side of the screen, it’s now been highlighted.  First sentence, “Douglas Lynn has finished the final plan for notifications in the mining sector.”  Are you able to say what’s meant by, “Notifications?”

A. In the past what’s happened is if there was an accident the mine would normally just notify the inspector but that was not how the system worked for the rest of the Department of Labour.  So they wanted to bring us in line with the rest of the Department of Labour so if you had notified of an accident you’d ring the 0800 number, I guess complaints too.

Q. So does that mean that people used to notify accidents directly to you but now they’re going to notify them through the 0800 number?

A. Yes, but what happened in practice was they tended to do both or everything they tended to air to us we kept telling them, “No, you have to go back to the 0800 number.”

Q. And has that plan now been implemented?

A. Yes.

Q. And presumably it’s in writing so a copy will be available somewhere?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Then says KP, which I presume is a reference to Kevin Poynter, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Mentioned a problem that accidents that are not given to health and safety inspector (extractives) may not be:  and if you could just read paragraphs 1 through to 4 to yourself.  Would it be fair to say that the upshot of the issue that Mr Poynter was raising was that the recorded statistics might not be accurate for the reasons articulated there?

A. Yes, the danger is because the person is not from a mining background as well that they may not recognise that some of these things that required under notifications that related just to mining, in other words not serious harm, but that was a matter of training I think so that the managed to work through those issues.

Q. Because the importance of that is identified in the third paragraph down where it says, “JB, and I presume that’s Johan Booyse, said that it was important to get this information as it can be used in the accident prevention targeting.”  And so has that issue now been resolved?

A. Well it was largely training in the sense that the people at the 0800 number had to make sure they recorded that information properly and then we could use it.  Whether we’re using it or not that was something that Johan was going to work on.
1253

Q. Well as to the first, do you know whether there’s been any review as to whether or not those 0800 people have correctly identified the data?

A. I think generally it’s been okay because what tends to happen is they do both, the mines are doing both they tend to give it to us so we wait for the 0800 number to come through so if there was any problems we’d try to sort them out.

Q. But to the extent to which people might not do both, ie might not ring you also then that may still be an issue?

A. Yeah, I guess it could.

Q. And as to the second matter that you said Mr Booyse was looking at, are those accident statistics ever analysed to see whether there was a pattern of accidents in relation to a particular style of mining?

A. Not as far as I know, we didn’t do any of that work.

Q. And so presumably it’s not analysed either to see whether there’s a pattern of accidents at a particular mine?

A. There’s usually not enough to get a pattern but if there was quite a few accidents coming from a particular mine then the inspector would probably pick that up I think.

Q. We might talk in a bit more detail later about accident notification.  Could I just turn to whether and, if so, how the department reviews its mine inspection function.  Putting to one side the review that’s occurred post Pike River, do you know whether the department has a formal process for reviewing the mines inspection function?

A. No, I don't know.  It was in the past was left to the senior advisor to come up with an action plan and our action plan stayed the same basically for the last five years or so.

Q. You joined in 1995.  Since that time has there been a review of the mines inspection function?

A. I guess we better say 1998 for DOL, since 1998 there was a review I think when we first came over in the first year they sort of got us together and said you know, “How’s it all going?” and that was the last I think.

Q. That was just after the transition of the –

A. Yeah.

Q. – mines inspectorate group.  Was that a formal review?

A. George Munroe run it.  I guess he did.  It was just basically you know how we’re fitting into the office that was about all it was really I think so, yeah.

Q. Does the department have a system for reviewing its own mines inspection performance when there’s a serious injury or fatality in a mine?

A. We review our performance?

Q. Mmm.

A. No, I don't think we would, not formally anyway.  We’d certainly do it informally.

Q. Does it have a system for reviewing its mines inspection performance when there’s a criticism of that function made by for example the coroner or the Courts?

A. I'm sure there is, yeah.   That would probably go to the people who deal with that sort of thing and get back to us as it, you know.  The department would have some sort of procedure I would think for that.  I'm not aware of –

Q. So when you say “am not aware of it,” it’s not a review process that you've been involved in?

A. No.

1258

Q. Could I just turn to another Mine Steering Group minute and this is document number ending 12 please?  Now this is part of the minutes of 31 March 2010, and you'll see that half way down and if we could at least highlight that.  There's a statement, “Dave Bellett gave a presentation in his findings and learning from the Black Reef Mine investigation.”  Who is Mr Bellett?

A. He’s a health and safety inspector in the Christchurch office.

Q. With responsibility for the extractives industry?

A. Well, with the fatality at Black Reef I think the inspector was taken off that case and Dave Bellett was seen as a really good investigator and given that responsibility.

Q. So he’s not someone with mining specific expertise?

A. No.  More investigation skills.

Q. And that Black Reef tragedy happened in 2006?

A. I think so, yeah.

Q. And is this the first presentation that to your knowledge, was given to the mines inspectors about that?

A. I think it was kind of like a final sign-off, you know.  We’d gone through the Black Reef investigation quite comprehensively and at various stages we would have been given information about that and reports.  So this was sort of the final one where he said, “Right that’s it, this is what I've learnt and this is what I had to go – went through with the investigation.”

Q. Early in 2010 though had there been a review of the mines inspection function in relation to or as a result of Black Reef?

A. This is the one that we've referred to a few times with the – what we asked industry is it, the review?  Yeah.

Q. Right.  But as a result of that and prior to 2010 was there a review by the department about the performance of its inspection function?

A. Oh, no I don't think so.
THE COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
1.02 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES:
1.59 PM

cross-examination continues:  MR WILDING 

Q. We seem to be missing the screen which is unfortunate because I was just referring to part of it, but we'll continue anyway.  For the record we were on summation document number DOL0020020011/12.

THE COMMISSION:

Ms Basher has just emerged.

cross-examination continues:  MR WILDING 

Q. And just while that’s – there we are.  Thank you Ms Basher.  This is an extract of the Mines Steering Group minutes which refer to the Black Reef Mine investigation.  In the first bullet point down it says, “Dave,” being Mr Bellett we assume, “identified inconsistencies and holes in current processes and discussions ensued.”  Are you able to recall what those inconsistencies and holes were?

A. I'm sorry I can't remember, no.

Q. He also refers to highlighting process inadequacies.  Are you able to recall what they were?

A. No I'm sorry.

Q. Mr Firmin, just the fourth bullet point down, noted that file notes regarding inspectors’ visits essential.  Was there some sort of an issue about whether or not satisfactory notes were being taken by the inspectors at the time of the Black Reef incident?

A. I think so.  I know I’d been there about eight months before and my file notes were, what I did wasn't the best really.  I need to improve those.

Q. How do you take file notes?

A. I find that everyone’s got their own way of doing that.  I just have a little notebook and scribble down some jotter points and then when I go back after the inspection I write them out fully then as contemporaneous notes, writing down as people are talking to me as I'm going around.
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Q. I'm going to take you to a document DOL0020020011/6.  This, I think, is an extract from the minutes of 13 September 2010.  And under the heading, “General,” the third bullet point down is “Johan raised the issue of real-time check sheets and it will require plus minus $10,000 for a real-time check sheet.”  I’m just wondering if check sheets are the sorts of things on which notes might be taken.  Can you recall what they are?

A. No, honestly I can’t, I’m not sure what that one was about either.

Q. There’s a reference right above it, “The quarry check sheet was discussed and Clive mentioned that this sheet is to be used for a year before any changes will be made.”

A. Oh okay. 

Q. Does that perhaps help?

A. Yes, perhaps that’s what it is, yes.

Q. What’s the quarry check sheet?

A. It’s quite a good little check sheet that I think the Waikato office developed and it’s got, the first page is a whole lot of areas of the mine and you tick off whether they’ve got that or not.  And then the next sheet is questions relating to their hazard management and different aspects around the mine and I’ve put up what sort of score they got.  And I think there’s a final page which I’m not sure what that relates to, but yes that could be that he’s talking about there.

Q. And is that specific to quarries is it?

A. It was.  Because we weren’t getting round the quarries and they’d given us the general workplace guys for at least one year, maybe two we, they decided they’d use that check sheet and do as many, I think we all had to do 10 audits each, including me and Kevin.  And, yes, it was just for quarries although Kevin tried it on a couple of open cast mines as well and it was quite good he said.

Q. If I could just take you to another document DOL0020020012/1.  This may or may not be the document to which you referred?

A. Yes, that’s part of it.  That’s the second page, if you like.

Q. So we might be able to get both pages on screen.  So that’s the document to which you refer headed, “Workplace assessment?”

A. Yes, there is actually another page with a little tick box, there’s about 50 of them you have to tick and this one gives you a score and this one’s graphed, yes.

Q. The department can no doubt supply that.  And they’re used in quarrying but they’re not used in underground coalmining?

A. No.
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Q. No.  And is the department developing a check sheet or its equivalent for use in underground coalmining?

A. Not that I know of, no, you've got to almost, you know, that was one of the things Kevin and I were talking about, perhaps getting something similar for the open cut mines, that would fit quite easily and then perhaps the underground.

Q. If I could just turn to the issue of training of mines inspectors and we have written material as to certain requirements, so I needn’t cover that but do you know whether there's initial training required by the department when an underground mines inspector first joins?

A. Yes, the process in a sense for coalmining, you're basically deemed qualified or sufficiently trained for that but in terms of a health and safety inspector role is a general role and you go through that, it takes anywhere between 12 and 18 months usually.

Q. And during that training process are you also involved in conducting inspections?

A. I think that would be up to the service manager or your team leader to see that you do that or not.

Q. Without going into any detail are you able just to give us a flavour of the types of topics that that 12 to 18 month training covers?

A. I think there's basically three core modules, could be more now but the first one is sort of the Health and Safety Act I think and the interpretation of that, the next one I think is like Machine Guarding, the third one I think is Health and Hazardous Substances or Health, yes, I think that then is the HASNO, you have to do the HASNO training as well.

Q. Does the department have any policy requiring that inspectors and coal mine inspectors in particular have ongoing professional development?

A. No, it’s hit and miss, whatever you can get.

Q. So does it require that inspectors have training overseas for example with particular inspectors in Australia?

A. No, although if you push for it you can get it, I've just got it, got two days.

Q. You've just got it?

A. I just had two days a while back, yes, which took a wee while to get, 10 years to get but never mind.

Q. Where was that?

A. That was in New South Wales, a couple of coal mines, underground coal mines.

Q. Was that last year, was it?

A. No, that was just recently, yes, perhaps training, just going around with another inspector.

Q. Was that valuable?

A. It was good.

Q. Do you think that more training of that type would be useful?

A. Yes, it would be really good, especially audits, you know, we’re not in the area of doing audits at the moment, we’re looking at doing it, but to go round with another inspector that’s doing an audit would be good value.

Q. What do you mean by audit?

A. Well, you know those auditors that came over and audited the mines in New Zealand, a systematic audit, you know, a particular process or particular hazard, even using their own company’s procedures to audit them.

Q. Right, now they audited the four underground mines in New Zealand.  Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. So for example, they included Roa and Spring Creek?

A. Yes.

Q. And as I understand it those audits involved several people conducting a systematic audit over several days of the coal mines.  Is that correct?

A. No, I think it was just two blokes in Queensland and I think probably only a day, I'm not sure how long they spent at each mine.

Q. Right and if we take for example, the Roa Mine would you be aware if they had first a one day familiarisation?

A. Yes, I think they did, yes.

Q. And then there was another day when they went back and conducted the audit?

A. Yes.

Q. And then there was more time in the office writing up the reports and that was a fairly comprehensive audit in the sense that it looked at the whole of the systems which the Roa Mine had in place.  Is that right?

A. Yes, I think, you know, it was an assessment of the mine.
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Q. Whereas the way you conduct your inspections, it’s really one inspector on one day.  Is that right?
A. Yeah, I think inspections are important too you know as audits and I think that internal report basically said, “Okay well if you had a choice between the two you should really check the mine first rather than check systems.”

Q. Are you able to say whether there are advantages to the types of audits that were conducted on those underground mines following the 
Pike River tragedy. 

A. There were advantages?

Q. Whether there were advantages to that type of approach with several inspectors at a time compared to the single inspector approach?

A. It’s one of the tools you know if you can audit, if you can inspect, if you can look at culture surveys things like that, all the different approaches that you can try and find out what’s going on.

Q. If you can, does that mean that at the moment you're not in a position to do that?

A. Yes, I think we, well we talked about it at the Mine Steering Group meeting that perhaps Johan, Kevin and me would go out and do some audits but again we were, you know there was lack of funding and it was just something that we’d work on once we well could get some funding for that and put into the action plan for next year which we’re hoping to get done.

Q. I think the mining business plan for 2010 and 2011 refers to the aim to conduct a joint audit each year or a joint inspection each year and I'm presuming that that hasn’t been put into place?

A. No, that plan was sort of only finished quite late in 2011.

Q. Do you know when that plan was issued?

A. It hasn’t really been issued.  I think it’s really for next year.  I think it’s actually sort of drawn up during the year and really that plan I think is going to relate, would've related to 2012.

Q. We’ve rather diverted from the topic of training and if I can just go back to that briefly and ask for document number DOL0100010001/98 and this is part of the review of the Department of Labour’s interactions with Pike River Coal Limited by Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal.  If I could just ask you to read to yourself please the indented part of paragraph 346.

A. Yeah.

Q. You're welcome to read it if you want to but I'm not going to ask you to but does that fairly describe your views in relation to training?

A. Yes, I was a bit frustrated there at various times because I wanted a structured professional development rather than just a hit and miss sort of a thing and sometimes people’s approach was that, well you know it’s the employer’s responsibility not yours to identify their own hazards 
et cetera.  You just go and audit them.

Q. I take it from an earlier response that there’s not yet a structured professional development policy in place?

A. No, no not that I know of.

Q. Just turning to issues of competence testing and critiquing.  Are mines inspectors required to demonstrate their competence from time to time and have that reviewed by the department or anyone else?

A. I’m not sure what you mean.  I guess at the end of the year when you have your review, or your six monthly review and a full yearly review, they have a whole lot of factors that they judge you, to see whether you have achieved or not achieved or exceeded and I guess if you weren’t performing it would be noted there.
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Q. That performance review though isn’t a review of the adequacy of the inspections carried out by an inspector?

A. No.

Q. Has the department to your knowledge carried out any review aside from post-Pike River as to the adequacy of the inspections carried out by the mines inspectors?

A. No, I wouldn’t think so.

Q. And I take it you wouldn’t have been involved then in following along another inspector for the purpose of critiquing that inspector’s performance?

A. No.

Q. No.  Could I ask us please to turn to document DOL0020020011/24.  And if we could highlight the bottom paragraph, “Inspector’s development,” downwards.  This is page 7 of what appear to be the minutes of the Mine Steering Group of 10 July 2009.  And you’ll see it describes some training that was to be recommended.  First it says, “This had been discussed at the managers meeting on the previous day,” presumably meaning training had been discussed.  Where it says, “The managers meeting,” which group is that?

A. That was the managers meeting that, the managers that met at the Mine Steering Group, they’d meet either the day before I think, yes, the day before.

Q. Are you involved in that?

A. No, the technical guys, that was Kevin, me and Johan, would meet and they would meet the day before to discuss what they had to discuss about how we worked.
Q. So the people at that meeting aren’t people with specific mining expertise?

A. No.

Q. And where it says, “While the group would like to recommend a larger amount of training, four areas were to be recommended this year,” the group referred to is that group who met the day before is it?

A. I suppose so.  The group would like to recommend…

Q. Beg your pardon?

A. I’m just trying to read it.  I’m not, it’s a little bit vague isn’t it.  While the group would like to recommend a large amount of training, four areas.  I’m not sure which group they’re referring to, whether they referring to the Mine Steering Group or the previous day one.
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Q. And it says, “JB,” presumably Johan Booyse down the bottom, “To look for opportunities for funding and for appropriate courses et cetera to increase inspectors’ development ASAP.”  I presume it would be correct to infer from that that certainly to your knowledge there is not a budget for training of mines inspectors within the department?

A. Yeah, as far as I know.

Q. That was in 2009.  I might not need to take you to the next minute in 2010 if you can answer me that.  Was that still the case in 2010 that there wasn't a specific budget?

A. As far as I know there was no budget, yeah.

Q. And is there a budget now, to your knowledge?

A. Not to my knowledge, yeah.  Could be.

Q. But not that you're aware of?

A. No.  I haven’t been told of any training.

Q. Could we please have documents DOL0020020011/16 and 17 please.  If we could highlight the top paragraph under “Continuous Professional Development”.  It starts off by saying, “Mike presented information as discussed at the CCIM regarding certificates of competence.”  First, is the “Mike” a reference to you?

A. Yeah, I’d say so.

Q. And what’s CCIM?

A. That was the Conference of Chief Inspectors of Mines.

Q. Can you just describe what they are?

A. The Chief Inspectors of Mines in Australia and New Zealand and Papua New Guinea get together once a year and I must have gone to that meeting.  That must have been what was in New Zealand.  So they get together and they discuss the sort of issues that affect chief inspectors such as trying to get one legislation and national mines safety framework.  A lot of its Australia stuff, but we're full members of – New Zealand’s a full member of that now. 

Q. And does generally one inspector from New Zealand attend that each year?

A. Generally, yeah.  I think this year because we ran it in Rotorua, I think the three of us went to help drive people around and stuff.

Q. But normally it would be just the one?

A. Yeah, just the one, the chief would go to that.

Q. It refers in the next sentence to COCs.  What are they?

A. Certificates of Competence.

Q. And they are required for the mines inspector?

A. You are required to have your First Class Mine – well, it’s a recommendation to have a First Class Mine Manager’s Certificate.  The newer ones I think – sorry, that’s right, was at the conference they talked about professional development for mine managers and I thought well it probably relates to inspectors as well, and they had to do so many hours of professional development each year.

Q. Do you know if there’s been a time when someone’s been an underground mine inspector and hasn’t had a First Class Certificate of Competence?

A. No, they've all had them I think except for, you know, in the sense that I think one guy didn't have a New Zealand one but he had a British one.

Q. Now just the final paragraph.  “A plan needs to be developed for how (2/3) inspectors will be trained and supported in professional expertise in the next 18 months.”  Was that plan a plan for the training and support of underground mines inspectors?

A. Yeah, that was a proposal.

Q. Has a plan been developed?

A. No.

Q. Are you able to say why not?  If you're not that’s fine.

A. Yeah.
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Q. If we could turn to page 17, highlight the paragraph please, “Storage of Plans.”  I take it that the storage of plans refers to the storage of mine plans that are required to be sent into the department by mine operators?

A. Yes.

Q. And so that’s an important matter?

A. Yes.

Q. And of course training is an important matter.  The first sentence of the last paragraph reads, it’s in relation to the debate about keeping mine plans and the costs of that, “Discussion around necessity and cost with value of this system and whether such money would be better used for professional development.”  Does that really illustrate the position that the mines inspectors were in of having to seek funding and balance it between two important matters, in that case development on the one hand and an appropriate system for storage of mine plans on the other?

A. Yes.

Q. Could I move on please to a different issue, which is the process of inspecting mines and you've already told us how you go about that but does the department have written procedures that are required to be followed when inspecting mines?

A. There’d be written procedures in relation to every work place, a general one.

Q. Right, so they’re not specific to the underground coalmining?

A. No.

Q. More specific to the extractive sector?

A. Mmm.

Q. Is that an issue that’s been considered to your knowledge?

A. No, no.

Q. If we could turn please to the same DOL reference but ending page 1, the third bullet pointed role, “For the Mines Steering Group is to be responsible for improving the consistency of approach by mines inspectors in relation to regulatory checks and visits.”  I suppose one way of improving consistency might be that joint visit to which you referred.  Is that right?

A. It would be one way, yes, it could.

Q. Aside from that are you able to say whether the Mines Steering Group has done anything to improve the consistency of an approach by mines inspectors?

A. No, not really.

Q. If I could just turn to the types of visits that you might make of premises or operations.  In your witness statement I think of 22 June this year you've referred to a proactive visit and that means one which has been initiated by the department, does it?

A. Yes.

Q. As a matter of routine essentially?

A. Yes, we’ve got so many to do each year.

Q. And what's meant by a reactive visit?

A. I guess that would be a complaint or an accident investigation.

Q. And in your evidence you indicated that the proactive visits were organised in advance.  Do mines inspectors ever carry out inspections without having organised them in advance?

A. No but it’s up to, you know, the person I guess, we should do more of that.  When I first started at Commerce it’s got announced but we should do more of that, yes.

Q. How long ago to your knowledge would it last be since there was an unannounced visit?

A. Coal mines or mines or?

Q. Of an underground coal mine?

A. Underground coal mine, none really.
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Q. So I suppose one of the issues is that if an underground mine operator has knowledge of a visit then the operator might ensure that the mine is operating well on that day?

A. Yeah, that’s always a risk I guess.  I guess that’s true, could be.

Q. Have the mines inspectors given consideration to unannounced visits?

A. Yeah, it was something that as a quarry inspector I used to do all the time and then I think there was sort of, well it just developed away from that, somehow we fell away from it.

Q. And just turn to another issue to do with inspection.  I think in your witness statement you indicated that a visit to an underground mine might take six to eight hours whereas that to an open cut or open cast might take about one and a half to two hours.  Is that right?

A. A small one, yeah, a real small one in a two or three band outfit.
Q. Would it be fair to infer from that that the inspection of an underground coal mine is more complex than the inspection of an open cast mine?

A. Yeah, I think there’s more hazards, you know higher risk.

Q. Are you able to describe the factors that make it more complex?

A. Just all the hazards I guess associated with an underground mine.  The fact that you've got you know the atmosphere is limited.  The movement around the mine, you're in tunnels, you know the air you're breathing is the air you take down, all that sort of stuff.

Q. So there’s more to check?

A. Yeah, not just you know getting underground et cetera you know where you get the small open cut you can just drive up and see the manager and go for a you know a walk around the mine, drive round part of the mine.  You know the underground miner’s mine plans, you start in the office you know get your gear and getting underground all takes time and getting to various places takes time.

Q. And is there a wider range of hazards that might be present in an underground mine compared to an open cast mine?

A. Yeah.

Q. And presumably a wider range of things therefore that need to be mitigated?

A. Yeah.

Q. And that would include things such as the mitigation ensuring there was proper strata control?

A. Yeah.

Q. Proper pre-drainage of methane?

A. Yes, you might be able to just drain, just get rid of the methane with ventilation rather than methane drainage pipes or?

Q. And a proper ventilation system?

A. Yeah.

Q. Proper gas monitoring system?

A. Yep.

Q. Proper communication systems.  Sorry, yes?

A. Yes, yep, sorry.

Q. Properly placed emergency equipment?

A. Yep.

Q. Sufficient number of ingresses and egresses?

A. Yep.

Q. And I take it that those matters really need to be incorporated into the design of a mine?

A. Yes, you want to get those right at the design stage.

Q. And the health and safety aspects therefore it’d be fair to say are not really able to be separated from the design of a mine?

A. True, yeah.

Q. Have you been informed by the department as to whether or not the appropriateness of the design of a mine is considered by any regulatory agency aside from the department?

A. Sorry what was that one?

Q. If the department informed you as to whether any regulatory agency considers the design of a mine and its appropriateness?

A. No, no, I guess that’s basically us from a health and safety point of view.
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Q. And at what stage does the department become involved during the planning, design and development stage of a mine?

A. If it’s a new mine they are required to notify under the regulations.  So then that would be sent to the inspector and the inspector would go through the material that’s sent in, which would be basically a hazard management plan and design plan, and normally they’d met you before they started the mine and talk over any issues.

Q. And that’s the notification required pursuant to Regulation 8 of the Health and Safety in Employment Mining Underground Regulations 1999?

A. Yes.

Q. And is it fair to generalise and say that that notification usually occurs about 14 days before the commencement of the construction?

A. It’s up to the employer because there’s no time stipulated.  Yes, I think I had one recently, it was about a month before.

Q. So, particularly in the case of larger mines, by the time the department receives notification presumably the design’s already been finalised?

A. Yes, more or less.  You could stop it if there was some major issue but, yes, I guess you look at the design and you tend to say, “Okay, well how are we going to manage this design?”

Q. Because presumably by that stage most of the construction works would have already been put out for tender as well?

A. Well perhaps, yes.

Q. Has the department ever on receiving notification looked at the contents of the notification and said, “No, sorry this can’t go ahead in its current form?”

A. There’d be nothing to stop the department doing that.  But to my knowledge, no, there’s not that many mines start up, so…

Q. Am I right in saying that the notification required by that regulation doesn’t actually require the department to be provided with detailed information as to the design of the mine?

A. No often they won’t give you that, you have to ask for it.

Q. Right.  So you just get notified that construction’s going to happen and then it’s left to you to find out when it’s going to happen?

A. Yes, I guess so.  Sometimes they might invite you out and give you a Powerpoint presentation but, you know, the detail and that we’re not involved in.

Q. And so in essence the department’s role isn’t to approve the design of the mine but rather it conducts some inquiries to see what’s happening and raises some issues if they’re obvious?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it a concern that there’s no approval of the appropriateness of the design of a underground mine?

A. Yes, it’d be a lot better if they came, if we were more involved in that process and not just that particular part of the process but if they were going into a new area, to develop a new area, a new panel, a new section of the mine, it would be good to be involved at that stage.

Q. And being involved at that stage would require some notice being given to the department.

A. Yes I guess, but then they would have to run that with you what they were going to do.  I guess there becomes dangers of becoming part of the approval process but I guess you could word your involvement in such a way as, “We’ve noted the plan and we accept that you’ll mine it in a safe and efficient manner,” or something like that, make sure they take responsibility for it.

Q. Could we just turn to DOL0020020011/6.  And if you could just read the first five bullet points under the first paragraph.  Does that essentially set out what you’re required to be notified of?
A. Is that the regulation?  Is that how the regulation is broken down?
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Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, okay, yeah.  But, of course, that’s not really enough.

Q. No.  Well I'm just drawing it to your attention because the next paragraph says, “Additional information is required, for instance ground conditions, depth, method statement, support if applicable.”  Is that other information which the inspectors say they could usefully receive at that notification stage?

A. Yeah.  We often have to go back to them and ask for that sort of information.

Q. “Ground conditions” is probably self-evident.  By depth, does that mean the depth of the proposed workings?

A. I think yeah, you know, from the surface probably, rather the length of the tunnel, but I think it’s probably depth.

Q. Are you able to explain what’s meant by “method statement?”

A. I guess that’s the method you're going to use to actually mine that tunnel.

Q. And “support if applicable,” et cetera, what does that mean?

A. I guess that's your roof support.

Q. And if we can just turn to the next page ending 7, and the first paragraph.  “It was decided that these information can be requested but it is essential to make it clear that the information is not for approval.”

A. Yeah.

Q. Is that accurately set out –

A. Yeah.

Q. – the department’s approach?

A. Yes, I think if you accept approval and say it’s approved, then the danger is they say, “Oh, it’s been approved.  We don't have to do anymore with our health and safety.  It’s been given an okay by the Department of Labour so we won't do any ongoing hazard management.”

Q. And you are also required to be sent mine plans on a regular basis?

A. Yeah.

Q. And there's a similar approach taken in relation to that, i.e. the department doesn't approve them?

A. Yes, we don't approve them in a sense.  By sending it to the department doesn't mean we've approved it.

Q. So what's the purpose of receiving them?

A. You can look at the mine plan and you can look at anything that might give you a concern.  It does show where they are going to go for the next year.  You look at the ventilation, there’s a ventilation plan.  So by looking at the plans you can get some idea of what’s happening or the ventilation circuit.  So its pillar sizes, tunnel widths, panel widths, all this sort of thing.  So you might think, “Oh, I've got a concern here,” so you can raise it with the employer.

Q. So what do mines inspectors do on receipt of those plans?

A. Basically then once the mines inspector, usually just the one mines inspector for that area will take the plan and he’ll have a look at it to see if there's any safety aspects that he’s concerned about.

Q. And if there are concerns, what then happens?

A. He’d bring the manager in and discuss it with the manager and clarify any issues or take whatever action needs to be taken.

Q. And are you aware of circumstances where that has occurred following receipt of mine plans?

A. No, not really.  The mine plans are generally what’s already been built, so you’ve probably been underground so you know the area reasonably well.  The area where they are going to mine will be dotted on that plan, so that area you haven’t got a lot of information really, but no generally a mine plan is not really enough information.  Sometimes - I remember one time discussing it with somebody and they said the pillar width there was a bit narrow so they brought that up with the manager and he put extra support in one of the roadways.
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Q. So to be able to effectively consider whether or not there are issues arising from a mine plan you'd actually need a mine plan of what's going to be done over the next for example, year?

A. Yes, you get a dotted version of where they’re going to go but you really want to know what controls they’re going to put in place and how they’re going to mine it.  You want some sort of authority to mine document or some sort of hazard management plan for that particular development.

Q. Do you know if there's been any consideration by the department of requiring that sort of information to be provided?

A. Not as such, I guess you could always ask for it, you don’t get the plan, you tend to ask people what they’re going to do but the only trouble is that plan is submitted once a year and if they deviate from that plan you won’t know about it.

Q. When you say the plan is submitted once a year I presume that some mines will expand more swiftly underground than other mines will?

A. Yes.

Q. So once a year might be sufficient for some mines but other mines you might need to get mine plans on a more regular basis, more frequent basis?

A. Yes, I mean that’s up to the inspector, they’re updated every six months so I mean the mine up the road from me submits their plan every six months.

Q. You may have been here I think last week when evidence was given as to the complexity of large modern underground mines?

A. Yes I think so.

Q. And we heard that there are a variety of different specialities that were needed to design a mine.  Do you think that the department would need additional types of specialist expertise in order to evaluate the design of a mine from plans?

A. When you talk about the design you mean right from scratch, a new mine?

Q. Right from scratch?

A. Yes, you know, like the electrical reticulation, that would be quite a specialist area, all the underground factors and the geology et cetera, you can't see a heck of a lot from a mine plan, you’d need the whole proposal really to ascertain exactly what was going on in terms of the design.

Q. If I can just now turn to your conduct of the inspections of a mine and you've already described the process you follow but is there any particular philosophy or approach that you use when you inspect a mine?

A. I'm not sure what you mean here?

Q. What do you set out to do when you inspect a mine?

A. Well, I guess the amount of time you've got is important, if you live locally and you to the mine quite regularly then you might be looking at different aspects but like the mine at Huntly I tend to do the basics to make sure that the ventilation and roof support are checked out at each phase so it’s definitely a mine visit underground but I, you know, if you lived closer then you might pick on whatever issue that has arisen lately, it might be they’ve got a new diesel bay underground or you might check on the magazine, it would depend if you've got a bit more flexibility with your visit.

Q. If we take Spring Creek for example, are you familiar with that mine?

A. Reasonably familiar.

Q. In the six hours or so available for an inspection what proportion of the underground workings would you be able to get around?

A. Probably all the working places, generally, there's probably only about four or five, working phases in the sense they’re producing coal, there might be back-bye work, fitters working somewhere else but you might not get to those.

Q. And what underground systems would you be able to realistically look at in that timeframe underground?

A. It’s not so much a systems thing, it’s actually what you physically doing, a physical inspection of that work place.  You might look at the deputies, the section manager’s reports that he's doing, there’ll be a bit of a systems there in terms of what ventilation controls and roof support controls are in place, to see whether they’ve been done.  They generally do carbon monoxide make so you'd look at to see whether that’s been done.  The roof support, generally we’ve got extensometers in the roof and they’re to monitor those and there’s trigger action response plans for those where there’s been a reasonable amount of movement, then they’ve got to do certain things, check to see if that’s been done.
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Q. Would you share the view that you'd be able to look at for example the fact of strata control and whether or not there’d been some movement but you wouldn't be able to assess whether or not the overall design of the strata control was sufficient in all the range of potential circumstances?

A. Sorry I didn’t quite catch the first couple of words there?

Q. Would you accept the view that in the course of your inspections you'd be able to check that there is strata control, you might even be able to check from sensometers, for example, whether there was some practical issues with it but you couldn't check whether the overall design of the strata control was sufficient for all the likely range of circumstances?

A. I guess so.  You know you, I would imagine at some stage you would've seen the geotechnical assessment of what was required for their strata support so you would have that.  If you didn’t, if you didn’t know what that was then you, well you would ask for that outside so you'd have an idea of what the overall picture was in terms of you know the geology and the types of support you'd need.

Q. So in the course of your inspection would you look at other documents, for example those Geotech documents?

A. Yeah, well at some stage you would, maybe not that particular visit but you would, yeah, at some stage you’d think right this time I might do strata support.  Can you show me your geotechnical appraisal and your assessment and design?

Q. What are the range of documents that you'd look at?

A. Well you'd usually get a consultant into design their roof support or their strata support so it comes down generally to standard operating procedures and trigger action response plans in relation to the amount of movement that you would get from your extensometer and it’d be the type of extraction as well.  That would be over partial extraction for the coal mines in Huntly rather than a hydro monitor so the design, that of the partial extraction system that will be written down what the ideal is, what the design is and you could, if you wanted to you could check that with what was actually going on underground.

Q. When did you last look at a Geotech report for example in relation to strata control?

A. Two or three years ago I suppose.  It wouldn't have changed much since then, before that maybe 18 months and then they had a partial collapse so we suggested that they go back to the strata control to reassess to see whether the design was adequate.

Q. And without talking about Pike River at that stage, when considering the ventilation system would you also seek to look at ventilation design reports?

A. Well ventilation would, in relation to the fan, what it was designed to do that sort of thing.  If it’s designed to produce a certain flow and the difference in pressure you'd be, you could look at that but generally you'd be looking at just a quantity, how much, how many cubic metres per second that a fan’s going to deliver and if it’s you know in the area that you associated with that type of gassy mine then you'd be reasonably happy with that.
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Q. So you wouldn't go back to the design to look at the overall adequacy of the design of the ventilation system?

A. It’s pretty important there, like they’ll send you the ventilation plan, that really is the design, where the air goes and how it moves around the mine, different panels and regulators and over-cast and under-cast and things.

Q. And do you have expertise in ventilation?

A. Just with your first class ticket, that’s one of the paper, and after that you can specialise again in ventilation engineering, but no I haven’t done that.

Q. And during your inspections do you look at the accident register that’s required to be kept by mine operators?

A. Sometimes.

Q. And those registers are required to record two different types of events aren’t they?  One is accidents that have caused harm?

A. Yes.

Q. And the other is accidents that in different circumstances might have caused harm, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And that differs from the types of accidents which have to be notified to the department.  Is that correct?

A. That's right, yes.

Q. Because that’s a much narrower category, being essentially serious harm incidents?

A. Yes.

Q. Or else events of a type that have been prescribed as requiring notification?

A. Yes.

Q. And would it be fair to assume therefore that the accident register required to be kept by companies contains more information and more accidents than that which you’d expect that company to notify to the department?

A. Yes.

Q. By looking at the information contained on the company accident register is it possible to identify with some operators certain trends in relation to accidents or patterns?

A. I haven’t done that but we often look at the - because they have to notify every six months you get a big sheet, maybe 100-odd accidents, and sometimes you go through that and look for some trends.  It’s very hard to sort of pick out a trend from that, you really need someone with more time that what we have to go through those and they might be able to do that.  I mean you generally do it quickly but, you know.

Q. Do you think it would be helpful for the department to receive notification of that broader category of accidents that are required to be kept and recorded by the operator?

A. Yes, we’d get the data but we don’t do anything with it really, yes.

Q. So it would be helpful to analyse that?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that something which is being considered?

A. I think at various stages we have, yes, we’ve kind of looked at doing it ourselves but there just hasn’t been time.

Q. Do you know whether the department gathers accident compensation information, or claims information, relating to a particular mine and compares that with the accident notification information that the department receives?

A. Yes, we do that.  I think the managers have got access to that.  We have actually had access to that ourselves there for a while.  I don’t know why we stopped getting that but, yes, you could go through that and you could see if they’d had an accident notified to ACC and whether it should’ve been notified to us as well.

Q. And have those types of circumstances been picked up on?

A. They have been.  I haven’t personally.  There was one in an open cast, in a small quarry but generally I haven’t found any myself.

Q. I wasn’t clear whether that’s still done.  Is there a system within the department which requires that to be done?

A. I’m not sure.  I think it’s the manager.  The only time I’ve noticed is, the manager now picks up sometimes in the office and comes in and says, “Oh,” so maybe that’s the system.

Q. If I could turn please to workplace culture.  I think you’d accept that workplace culture is a very important aspect of health and safety?

A. Yes.
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Q. Has the department given any training to the mines inspectors about how to go about assessing workplace culture?

A. No they haven't but just recently there's a small document came out on safety culture with a questionnaire in it, which could be quite good value to try and use if you can take it round the mine maybe, it’s something that was an issue that we wanted to do about six years ago, trying to assess management culture and employer culture.

Q. So this is a questionnaire that gets handed out to people at a mine?

A. Yes, well handed out to people, it’s a general workplace one, I wanted to change it.

Q. Do you know if that’s going to be utilised in underground coalmining?

A. There's no plan as such, that was something that we might be able to bring up at the Mine Steering Group meeting and use.

Q. You made reference in your witness statement to health and safety representatives and essentially, as I understand it, a lack of raising of concerns by them?

A. Generally, yes, I mean they generally say, look, there's no problem, like we have good communication with our managers and I haven't really got any issues for you, they all seem quite happy at their workplace actually, you know, I'm not sure why.

Q. Does it surprise you that the health and safety representatives aren't raising concerns or concerns more frequently?

A. They say a couple of times that I've spoken to them, “Look if we’ve got any concerns we raise them with our boss and, you know, they’re dealt with then and there.”

Q. And when we talk about raising them with the boss, under the Act as I understand it health and safety representatives can raise a matter with the employer and the employer then has to take that into account.  Is that right?

A. Yes, although are you talking about a written notice, that hazard notice?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, they can write a hazard notice and if they want to they can notify the inspector about that notice.  I've had one.

Q. Right.

A. At an open cut coal mine.

Q. And what did you do in response to that?

A. I said, “Look, okay, I was actually due to go to that place in two weeks time, I'll come and have a look then get in contact with you,” which I did, he happened to be shift and he says, “No, it’s all been sorted Mike, once I wrote the notice at everything,” and the health and safety officer or manager said, “Do you want to come with us on our visit?”  So he came round, did the inspection with us.

Q. Just on another issue, do mines inspectors when conducting their inspections look at the ratio of experienced to inexperienced workers?

A. No, no, that’s a good point though.

Q. Is that something that’s been considered?

A. I know the company’s consider it, it’s something that I could audit really.

Q. In the course of those inspections do the inspectors speak with workers to assess the adequacy of their experience and training for the particular job they’re required to do?

A. You could do it informally of course, I think generally you sort of just have a bit of a chat rather than, you know, you might ask them there about their experience, you sort of talk, if you do talk to somebody it’s sort of a general sort of discussion and hopefully if they’ve got any issues they’ll raise them with you.

Q. Right, there's no formal system for gathering information about the training and adequacy?

A. No, not really.

Q. Are you aware whether to your knowledge mines inspectors have ever said to a mine operator that a particular employee has not been adequately trained for the job?

A. No, not to my knowledge.

Q. And so I take it from that that to your knowledge the department’s never taken enforcement action against a mine operator for having inadequately trained workers?

A. An accident investigation might identify a lack of training so that that, to my knowledge, I think we have looked quite seriously at training, suggested training but I'm not sure what enforcement action’s ever been taken.
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Q. Could I just turn to the issue of the frequency of inspections.  And at paragraph 10 of your witness statement of 22 June.  We don't need to have it on screen, but just for the record DOL7770010005/3.  You say that the extractive operations had been risk assessed to determine which sites had the most inherent hazards?

A. Yeah.

Q. What was the purpose of that risk assessment?

A. Because there was limited amount of resources in the sense of an inspector’s time we thought well we had to justify why we would want to visit certain places more frequently than others, so we did the risk assessment and showed that these places were high risk.  That therefore when we came up with that number then we could justify that visit and say that these need to be visited at least, I think that was the point, at least four times a year.  That way we could do some planning and budgeting.  The other way the attitude was, “Well, do you really need to go that often because they are well managed?”  You know, you look at some coal mines, they are well managed.  “Do you really need to go that often?”  Well managed and why do we need to go four times a year, three times a year?

Q. And when we say “four times a year,” that was the inspection frequency that was set upon for underground coal mines, is that correct? 

A. Yeah, that's right.

Q. I'm just going to call up a document, DOL0020020003/1.  It’s a document headed, “Mines, quarries and tunnels – indication of hearing risk.”  Is this the risk assessment document that’s used?

A. Yes, that's right, yeah.  And I notice like this year I think we're looking at getting that down to six visits a year.

Q. And this was developed by the department was it?

A. This was developed mainly by one inspector.  Well we had this for years because we needed to rate the risks of each workplace and then one of the inspectors, John Moran, brought this up to help justify how many times we would visit a place.
Q. And is this designed to look at how often a particular style of mining, for example, underground versus open cast should be inspected or is it designed to look at whether a particular mine should be inspected more often?

A. I think a particular mine.

Q. So is this used to assess, for example, whether Spring Creek should be inspected more frequently than Pike River?

A. No it wouldn't be that level of accuracy or sophistication.  It basically falls very quickly into anything underground is high risk and then moderate risk would be some of the open casts.

Q. And just correct me if I'm wrong, but does it work by simply putting the figure, for example, operation type surface zero, underground 50.  If it was underground of 50 in the rating column?

A. Yeah.

Q. And you add all of those up, and the total will mean that it will fall into either a low, moderate, significant or high risk category as set out at the bottom?

A. Yeah, and then depending on the severity of risk, then the number of inspections that you hope to do.

Q. And when did the inspectors start using this?

A. We've always had it in terms of risk, but I think it was probably about three years ago when people at the Mining Steering Group started to challenge, “Well, do you need to go to these places.  How long do you need to go there?”  And they weren’t sort of trying to stop us, just saying, “Well do you need to do this?  You need, there’s less inspectors why do you need to go to these places this often?” so.
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Q. And if we look at some of these, for example, Number 8 Management, best practice, mostly effective, not always successful, poor performance, unlawful.  Is the information from that derived from your knowledge of the operations as a result of previous inspections?

A. Yeah, it was purely a subjective thing really.  It was not sort of for the mines to know about in a sense.  It was just something for us that we could judge whether we needed to go because some of the lower risk operations might be badly managed so they would then be picked up by that school.

Q. Are you familiar with an assessment system used in Queensland, the Mine Inspection Planning System, also called MIPS?

A. No.

Q. I won't take you to the document but I will read it out for the record.  The Department of Labour’s Tier 2 paper at paragraph 153 DOL000010001/50 describes the number of inspections carried out in the year to 30 June 1997 as averaging 8.7 inspections per year per underground coal operation.  As I understand your evidence the targeted frequency is now four inspections per year?

A. It was four.  I think this new year, the new plan, the one you talked about the mining plan I think that was six, wasn’t it, but we haven't started that yep.

Q. If we put that proposed plan to one side, it’s four.

A. Yeah, okay, yeah, four.

Q. Are you able to say that, whether there’s anything that the inspectors do or any aspect of how they go out, go about their operations that means that that reduced level of inspections offers the same assurance of health and safety as the previous level of 8.7 on average?

A. No, it’d have to be less I think.

Q. But what I'm getting at is there anything that you do which means that four inspections a year now would be sufficient?

A. Well it’s hard to know what’s sufficient.  I mean it’s a funding issue.  That’s like I mean I, we did as many as we could.  I, well I don't know how you’d determine sufficiency.  It’s what the Government I guess decide that they want to fund for, how many inspectors.  The more inspectors you have the more visits you can do.  What’s an adequate number?

Q. I think Mr Bell rejected the proposition that other communications for example by email or phone –

A. Oh, yeah.

Q. – might mean that inspections don't need to be carried out as frequently.  

A. I see.

Q. Were you here when he gave that evidence?

A. Yeah, probably, yeah.

Q. Do you have any comment in relation to that?

A. There’s nothing better than an underground inspection but, no, you can do a lot of good work by email and phone I think.  I mean nothing beats an inspection, no.  You know I think if someone sends you a procedure and they say, this is what we’re doing and you email that it’s you and you email it back and you look at it, that could be a really good thing to do.  It may result in saving an accident or whatever but I guess inspections are a core business.  I guess you have to say eventually we can't afford that many ,how many that is, you know, what’s an adequate number I quite difficult to determine really.
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Q. You described in your evidence the different enforcement mechanism and the approaches that might be taken.  And I won’t go over that again but I’d just like to give you an example so that you can explain why a particular approach was taken, if it’s within your knowledge.  If you could turn please to DOL0020020011/11.  If you could look at the top paragraph.  First, you’d be familiar with Regulation 23(2) of the Health and Safety in Employment Mining Underground Regulations which set out requirements in relation to egress?

A. Right.

Q. Is that section 23(2), sorry Regulation 23(2) requirement interpreted by the inspectors as meaning that an underground mine must have two egresses?

A. Yes.

Q. Now I just want you to confirm first that the mine referred to in that paragraph is not Pike River?

A. It’s not Pike River.

Q. It describes a situation in which a small mine was allowed to operate without a second means of egress as it wasn’t practicable for the company to install second access.  Are you able –

A. That was discussed in detail, and no, an improvement notice was written and they were told to get a second egress.

Q. That was the minutes I think of 31 March 2010.  When you say, “A notice was written,” do you know when that was written?

A. 2010 I, no, about nine months ago maybe, something like that.

Q. Right.

A. Yes, probably October maybe.

Q. Because that references is in the Mine Steering Group minutes of 31 March 2010, and if I could take you to document ending 7, which is part of the Mine Steering Group minutes of 13 September 2010, so some six months later.  And down the bottom it says, “Improvement notice was discussed and possible solutions to the question of a second egress.  The inaccessibility of a second egress was discussed in terms of the Chilean and the Christchurch 7.1 earthquakes.  Now first I want to make clear for the record that you are not the inspector who was involved in this particular mine.  Is that correct?

A. Yes, I was the inspector for this – Kevin went there six months and then I went back six months, yes.

Q. And so when you went back, by that time had an improvement notice been issued?

A. I discussed the issue, Kevin brought up the issue and then the feeling was that, no they had to have a second egress.  So it was my turn to go back and I said to Johan, “Look, would you support me on this and it looks like have to put an improvement notice on them.”  And so I went back and talked to him and he said, “Well I’ll appeal it if you do that.”  And we did it, we wrote the notice.
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Q. There was about a six month gap without one, are you able to –

A. – I see, that would just be between Kevin bringing it up, perhaps I was talking about it and then waiting for the next visit.

Q. If I could just turn to another issue which is that of guidance when conducting inspections.  In Mr Poynter’s witness statement he refers to sources of guidance for him as including regulations issued under the Coal Mines Act 1979 which was repealed?

A. Right so what was the question again, I missed that sorry?

Q. Well, just first by way of background Mr Poynter’s witness statement, paragraph 18, one of the sources of guidance that he uses when conducting inspections can include regulations issued under the Coal Mines Act 1979?

A. Okay.

Q. So that’s going back a fair way in time?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you look at those regulations as well when you conduct your inspections?

A. Very rarely really, occasionally you might come across something that you go back to the old regulation but I find that you're saying perhaps as an approved code of practice or something, it’s a bit hard to use them, it’s just a bit hard because the responsibilities are often under the other legislation, there's good stuff in there but, yes.

Q. I suppose that’s what I'm getting at really because you also refer to a broad range of material including quite a lot of Australian material.  Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And would it be fair to say that one of the reasons you do that is that there's no single New Zealand code of practice that sets out appropriate standards?

A. Yes, there's very little guidance material in New Zealand so you go looking for it somewhere else.

Q. I take it it would be helpful to you when carrying out your inspections to have good New Zealand guidance material?

A. It would but in a sense you would be duplicating what’s already there, if you've got a really good guideline that they’ve produced in another state of Australia I guess it doesn’t make much sense to develop your own, although you might need to adjust that slightly but what would be good is to have say a website and reference to that so that people can go to that guideline, so if for instance refuse chambers, you could say well the guidance can be found at this particular website although sometimes they change and then people could click on that and get that guidance.

Q. Right.

A. Like the MDG guidelines, I think a lot of the companies use those themselves, it’s the New South Wales guidelines for coal mines, underground coal mines.

Q. Right, in fact I think if we go to document DOL0020020011/25 and this is page 8 of the minutes of the Mine Steering Group meeting of 
10 July 2009 and if we can please highlight the paragraph, “Mining Website.”  Does that reflect the issue to which you have referred, which is JB, presumably Johan Booyse said there is a lack of information on the DOL website for mining and then setting out matters that it could include?

A. Yes, there's been a lack of information there for quite a while.
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Q. Do you know whether that issue’s been addressed yet?

A. I haven't had a look recently to tell you the truth.

Q. One of the roles of the Mines Steering Group is described as, “To assist with departments’ development of industry standards, guidelines and operating procedures.”  Are you able to tell us what it’s done in that regard?

A. Have you got that?  What was it again sorry?

Q. Yes, sorry.  Perhaps if we turn to DOL0020020011/1.  You’ll see that the last role or bullet point is described as, “To assist with departments’ development of industry standards, guidelines and operating procedures.”  Are you able to tell us what the Mines Steering Group has done in that regard?

A. It’s been one of a few times and I think they did approach the people within the Department of Labour.  Maybe that was that person that was quoted before, and was - name was there before, and try and get information put onto the website, but I think Johan said it wasn't easy.

Q. Are you able to say whether the Mines Steering Group is currently seeking to develop standards or guidelines or codes?

A. Not the Mines Steering Group.  I think policy are developing it, yeah.  I guess one of the problems perhaps with the Mines Steering Group, we would have liked a senior person to be there to make things happen a bit easier.

Q. Right.

A. Yeah.

Q. When you say, “a senior person,” what do you mean by that?

A. Well, one of the regional managers used to come along.  I think we asked for the senior’s boss to come along perhaps and help.

Q. When you refer to policy in relation to guidance and standards, have you been consulted about the development of standards and guidance or codes?

A. Yes.  The one that we have developed from the New South Wales Small Mines Manual.  That was sent out to us all recently and asked for comment.  When the senior advisor left they put me on their standards committee so I have a small input onto the standards committee, the Australian Standard Committee.

Q. The Australian Standards Committee?

A. Yeah.  You know how you the New Zealand standards and Australian standards, yeah.

Q. Are you currently being consulted in relation to the development of any codes or standards or guidance by the department?

A. Just that one that was sent out recently for the Small Mines Manual.

Q. Can you just describe what that’s for?

A. That was a result of the, you know, the Black Reef and the survey and they decided to get some guidance material for small mines.

Q. When is that due to be completed?

A. I understand soon.  I don't know much more.

Q. Before moving on just to the last few topics, can I just try and recap the things that, as I understand it then, underground coalmining inspectors do?

THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES MR WILDING

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
3.30 PM

COMMISSION RESUMES:
3.45 PM

cross-examination continues:  MR WILDING 

Q. Mr Firmin, I just wanted to do a quick recap really just to check that we’d captured all of the various things that a mines inspector does.  They inspect underground coal mines?

A. Yes.

Q. And then also have responsibilities for inspecting coal mines above ground and quarries and tunnels?

A. Yes.

Q. They have also a role under the hazardous substances legislation?

A. Could I just go back there a little bit?  And the underground hard rock and the open hard rock.

Q. Thank you.  Just interrupt me if I've missed things out?

A. Oh sorry, yeah.

Q. And I'm sure I will.  They have then responsibility under the hazardous substances legislation?

A. Yes.

Q. They presumably have to do a number of notes and reports as a result of those two roles?

A. Yes.

Q. They also conduct duties by phone and email with mine operators?

A. Yes.  Actually I probably should just add there that they are important and you can do a lot of good things there.  I might have under-rated them when I talked to you before.

Q. Then also have to conduct investigations in relation to breaches of the Act?

A. Yes.

Q. And presumably if there's enforcement action taken you need to be involved in the preparation of Court proceedings?

A. Yes.

Q. And also attend the Court proceedings and give evidence?

A. That's right.

Q. You have to consider accident notifications?

A. Yes.

Q. Presume if there are fatalities you’d need to prepare for and appear before a coroner sometimes?

A. Yes.

Q. Although we haven’t particularly touched on it, you've got an educational role?

A. Yes.  You know, you need to keep yourself upskilled so that requires study outside work hours.

Q. And also conduct educational visits to mines operators as well.  Is that right? 

A. Yes, information visits more than perhaps the education that we used to be involved in.

Q. Information visits they are called?

A. Yeah, yeah.

Q. And is there a target for the number of those that have to be done each year?

A. Yeah.

Q. How many is that for last year?

A. Well I think this year I had 70 compliance assessments and it’s 60, I think, information visits, something like that.

Q. And then presumably you have to attend these internal meetings such as the Mines Steering Group meetings?

A. Yeah, and office meetings.

Q. Is there any significant activity or task that I've left off that?

A. It’s pretty good.
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Q. And the work at the moment is done by you and was by two mines inspectors and I think the Mine Steering Group has considered the issue of whether there is sufficient mines inspectors?

A. We’ve brought that up often in terms of sufficient mines inspectors but recently we asked for that third one.

Q. If I could perhaps ask for document DOL0020020011/21, and these are parts, in fact page 4 of the Mine Steering Group minutes of 10 July 2009, paragraph 3.  Questions were asked, “Why a third inspector had not been appointed.  Funding had been available for
John Walrond and where had this funding now been placed.”  So that was at a time that Mr Walrond had left presumably?

A. He retired, yes.

Q. Did the Mine Steering Group ever find out what happened to the funding for replacement for him?

A. What they told us is that there was a mistake, they should have applied to get that position straightaway and it might’ve been kept over, yes.

Q. And I see from paragraph 5, and the fifth paragraph down, and I’ll just summarise it.  At that stage the Mine Steering Group had a concern that the number of personnel available to conduct inspections was not sufficient?

A. Yes, I think when John Walrond left that really put pressure on us.  We’d always wanted at least four inspectors and a chief inspector and maybe an advisor.  Once we got down to this level it’s a bit tough.

Q. If we take you to document ending 19 in that same series.  This is part of the minutes of the Mine Steering Group meeting of 10 December 2009.  And can we see from that under the heading, “Mine inspector vacancy,” that Margaret was preparing a case for replacing John , ready to be taken to the WSMT on 28 January?

A. Yes.

Q. And who’s Margaret?

A. Margaret Radford, she’s the service manager in Canterbury West Coast.

Q. And who’s Sheila?

A. Sheila’s the regional manager for the southern region.

Q. And the case that was being prepared was a written document.  Is that correct?

A. I don’t know, once Margaret said she’d, you know, that was the end of documentation I saw.

Q. If I could just ask for DOL0020020022/1 to be put on screen.  This is a document to WSNT from Department of Labour Mine Steering Group, so that’s the group on which you sat, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Dated 12 February 2010.  And the purpose is stated, “The purpose of this paper is to provide some context around the current resourcing issues faced by the department in regards to underground mining, open cast mining, tunnelling and quarrying.  The situation if left in its current state poses significant political, reputational and service standard/delivery risks to the DOL.  The extractives industry is seen as a high hazard industry?”

A. Yes.
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Q. First, have you seen that document?

A. I think I might have actually, I'm not too sure though.

Q. Does that paragraph capture your understanding of the concern that the Mines Steering Group had?

A. Yes, I wish we had done that for the previous inspector as well that left.

Q. And if we could turn to page 3 of that document, it says, “DOL data shows there are approximately,” and then it identifies over 950 types of operation and says, “It is the expectation that the current mining inspectors (2) service these various sites both proactive and reactively.  It is impossible to provide a full service to each of these sites within the current inspectorate number”?

A. Yes, I agree with that.

Q. And those two mining inspectors were you and Mr Poynter?

A. Yes.

Q. I'm not going to go through this document in detail really because it speaks for itself but the overall purpose of that document was to secure a funding for an additional mines inspector.  Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And that was unsuccessful?

A. So I heard, yes.

Q. You referred to a chief inspector just before.

A. A chief inspector?

Q. Well, referred to an additional inspector, someone to be reported to, if I could just ask you to turn to DOL0020020011/6, under general first bullet point, “Kevin suggested the option of the mines inspector reports to a chief mines inspector.  A discussion followed and Craig mentioned the challenge of budgeting.”  That is the concept that you referred to essentially of having a –

A. Yes, we discussed that amongst ourselves quite often and the service managers said that they wanted the control in their own area but we thought there was big advantages in reporting nationally to a chief mines inspector and having somebody who was technically capable at that level and had the funding and resources to direct us to whatever, audits or any activity that we decided to come up with, combined inspections, safety, culture surveys, anything that we could come up with that would help the department, it might be better sourced with a chief inspector.

Q. And that was an extract from the minutes of 13 September 2010 of the Mines Steering Group and there isn't, is that correct, a plan for a chief mines inspector?

A. I'm not sure I can say about that, I think there is.

Q. You're not certain?

A. John Kay did say to me that there was, he was looking at the idea, yes.

Q. If I could take you to another issue and can we have document ending 24 of that same series.  This is an extract of the Mines Steering Group minutes of 10 July 2009, could we please have up the section two thirds of the way down, “Mining Review Consultation?”  Can you just read that to yourself please?
A. Yeah.
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Q. The reference to mining review consultation, is that the reference to that 2006 to 2009 review –

A. Yes.

Q. - that was referred to yesterday in the evidence of Mr Murphy?

A. Yes, I think so.

Q. And it says, “This was discussed, the feeling of the group.”  And I'll just stop there.  “The group” means the Mines Steering Committee?

A. Yeah I think so, yeah, the Mines Steering Group.

Q. “The feeling of the group was that the process for feedback on submissions concerned the group because of the limited time for feedback.  This reduced the opportunity for quality feedback.”  Whose feedback is being referred to there?

A. That’s the inspectors’ feedback.  We were given very little time.  In fact, I was out in the field for three days.  When I got back I got the email to say, “Could you consult,” like I was out in the field so I never got to consult.  That’s how much time we had.

Q. So how much time did you have?

A. There was two days, I think, I had to give them feedback within about two days.

Q. And that was feedback in relation to that review?

A. That was in one of the emails, yeah that they'd sent out.

Q. Did the mines –

A. I think the feeling was they really wanted industry to take ownership rather the inspectors to take ownership of the consultation.  It was an industry document.  Well, I don’t know that’s – I'm not sure why we never got much time.

Q. Did the Mines Steering Group give feedback?

A. There was an opportunity, I think just personal emails.  I was out of the office when I – that was the only time I think.

Q. If we could just take apart that section but stay on the same page.  Just finally, there's a heading, “Professional and technical issues”.  The second to last paragraph reads, “JB,” presumably Johan Booyse, “said there are issues with the issuing of COCs – presumably Certificates of Competence?”

A. Yeah.

Q.  “There needs to be an auditing process by the DOL on the requirements used by EXITO before issuing COCs.  This was discussed and a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) needs to be agreed between DOL and EXITO on this matter.”  Can you just explain that issue?

A. I'm sorry I can't recall what that one was.

Q. Do you know whether there is an MOU between the department and EXITO?

A. No I don't.

MR HAMPTON: 
If the Commissioner pleases.  Without wanting to prolong matters, one or two discreet areas I would like to ask about and try to keep it pretty contained sir.  First, is as to run by Mr Firmin the New South Wales philosophy as already put to a couple of witnesses and see what his view as to that and as to unannounced inspections.  Secondly, to look at –

THE COMMISSION: 

So what’s the New South Wales philosophy that you're talking about?

MR HAMPTON:

To raise an expectation of visits by inspectors at any time, in effect, sir.

THE COMMISSION: 

Yes.
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MR HAMPTON:
And in relation to that I might explore with Mr Firmin as well the 
New South Wales’ visit post Pike in terms of his interaction, if there was any, with the chief inspectors in the New South Wales system.  Secondly, on resources I wanted to put from the Gunningham Neal report and it’s page 36 the departmental structure under which he sits and get him to explain where the man he actually reports to sits in that structure.  Thirdly, and perhaps it relates to the first topic, the three monthly inspections on notice and in fact put to him the current work plan 2010/2011 for the inspectors which indicates underground coal mines and underground gold mines being treated effectively on the same level of inspection, three monthly and, lastly, I don't think there is any need to go further on a lot of the matters that Mr Wilding has covered so comprehensively, seeing I started to hear running to ask some questions about, sorry second to last thing, this is the second to last thing, ask some questions about the Spring Creek incidents and in particular cable flashes and that is Mr Firmin’s third brief or third proof of evidence that’s been provided and then, lastly, just some general statistics from him that he can as to, since 1998 when he became an inspector of mines improvement noticing any prohibition notices issued by him to underground coalmining, underground mines or coal mine operators.  They’re the topics, sir.

MR DAVIDSON:
Your Honour, sir, I, firstly my endorsement was to have him set about the thoroughness and examinations taking place so the matters I have to ask may be further reduced by his questions but they’re very limited.  They’re no more than 10 minutes and the first matter, sir, relates to the resource available to the inspectors, what technical expertise resource is available to them.  Secondly, the dealing with plans and in particular the work plans and, thirdly, a matter raised in Mr Firmin’s evidence and referred to in the Gunningham report as to the credibility of the inspectors, how they perceive it, how he perceives it, how it’s gained.  They’re the three matters, sir, and I’ll be no more than 10 minutes.

MS SHORTALL:
Your Honour, I would have two topics that I believe also would take me no more than 10 minutes to cover if the Commission was to grant me leave to ask them.  The first topic would involve just several questions to Mr Firmin about the chronology of interactions between the department and Pike River concerning mine development and the second topic would involve showing him just two conclusions that are drawn in the review by 
Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal just to ask him whether he agrees with those and as I say I don't think it would take any longer than 10 minutes.

THE COMMISSION:
Sorry, the chronology of interactions?

MS SHORTALL:
Yes, Your Honour, there has - the Gunningham and Neal report includes an appendix which lays out the chronology of interactions that the department had with Pike River.  There’s a list of both visits and other interactions, emails phone calls et cetera.  Like Mr Firmin has described that he didn’t conduct any visits after 2008 but I just wanted to confirm with him several of the details in the reports around the number of visits and interactions that occurred.  It would be a very quick line of questioning.

MR NICHOLSON:
May it please, sir, Commissioners, I seek leave to –

THE COMMISSIONER:
Sorry, your name?

MR NICHOLSON:
Nicholson, sir.

THE COMMISSIONER:
Thank you, Mr Nicholson, my apologies.
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MR NICHOLSON:
I seek leave just in relation to Mr Firmin’s experience in that he left the mine because there’s been suggestion in the report that the Department of Labour has received from Professor Gunningham about the adequacy of Pike’s management of contractors at the time of the mine developed through the Hawera fault.  I just want to ascertain whether this witness was actually still involved in the undertaking inspection of the mine at that stage and if so what his thoughts are on that.  I don’t think he was there sir but I wanted to clear it off so that I can then later on seek to examine Mr Whittall on the issue but I don’t want to have left it and not ask here.  I’d anticipate sir probably only being about two minutes.

MS MCDONALD:

Just before the Commissioner confer I wonder if I just might be heard in relation to one matter, well perhaps two matters that my friends have raised.  The matters that Mr Hampton identified, particularly in relation to exploring Mr Firmin’s third brief of evidence, I just want to be clear about that.  So that material was put in to assist the Commission in relation to matters that were the subject of evidence earlier, well last week, I wouldn’t have thought that the matters in that brief fall within the scope of phase one if what Mr Hampton’s contemplating doing is exploring those particular incidents.  I just make that observation.  And if the matters that my friend, I’m sorry I’ve forgotten your name.

THE COMMISSION:

Mr Nicholson.

MS MCDONALD:
Would seem to me sir to fall into phase three, realise the matters is before the Commission is but I just wanted to make those points.

MR HOLLOWAY:

Further to my friend Ms McDonald, while I don’t have a view on the application Mr Hampton has made in relation to Mr Firmin’s third statement that concerns some of the recent events at Spring Creek and it was indicated earlier, during last week sir, that Solid Energy would provide further information about some of those events.  We still plan on doing that and would put any further evidence in the coming days.  Some of the events are still being investigated sir so we aren’t in a position to do that yet but plan on doing so if that assists.

MR HAMPTON:

I can put my friends mind, both at ease.  I only want to ask about cable flash because it arises in that context.  I’m not going to ask the details of the incidents if the Commission pleases.  I understand that they both want to respond and there may be some further evidence from the union on that aspect anyhow.  But I just wanted to ask on cable flash itself, the definition of, as it were, where it sits within an underground mining ranks.

THE COMMISSION:

That’s the lot?  We’re just going to retire very briefly.  We’re not asking counsel to leave, we’ll only be a few minutes but we thought rather than having a huddle here we may just have a discussion outside the doors of the Court, so we’ll only be a few minutes.

Commission RETIRES:

4.14 PM

COMMISSION RESUMES:
4.18 PM
THE COMMISSION:

We are just conscious that Mr Firmin has already been questioned for a prolonged period and as somebody observed a fairly exacting series of questions have already been put to him by Mr Wilding, however Mr Hampton you are granted leave in relation to the matters you have raised.  The one exception is we consider that Mr Firmin has already dealt with the issue of surprise visits and made perfectly plain what his view is about that and we see no profit in that being revisited, either generally or with reference to New South Wales given the answers he's already supplied, but your other topics concerning check inspectors, resources and the most recent work plan, the definition of the cable flash and the statistics in relation to enforcement and related notices you may question on.  We may be quite stringent about compliance with the leave term.
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MR HAMPTON:

Yes I understand, Commissioner.

THE COMMISSION: 

Mr Davidson, likewise your three matters – resources, work plans and the credibility issue that identified – you may question on those.

MR DAVIDSON:

Thank you.
THE COMMISSION: 

Ms Shortall, your two matters – the chronology of interactions and also the two conclusions from the internal review, you may question on.

MS SHORTALL:

Thank you.

THE COMMISSION: 

Mr Holloway, you have your two minutes as well.

MR NICHOLSON:
Nicholson, thank you sir.

THE COMMISSION: 

Nicholson, I'm sorry.
THE COMMISSION: 
And Mr Holloway, your concern has probably been met by Mr Hampton’s response.  He is limited to the issue of the cable flash, so it really meets your concern as I understand it?

MR HOLLOWAY:

Yes.  They're not concerns.  Really just an indication that that evidence will be forthcoming and to assist the Commission.

THE COMMISSION: 
Yes, well we're well aware of that.  Now, Mr Hampton.

cross-examination:  MR HAMPTON 

Q. Mr Firmin, you told us about post-Pike explosion, your visit to New South Wales, your first training as it were, for 10 years I think you said?

A. No.

Q. Or something you'd been asking for for 10 years?

A. Yeah, yeah.  I probably should say the department have given me quite a bit of training, yeah.

Q. In that visit that you made to New South Wales, did you come across the check inspector’s role or the role that the check inspectors play in the New South Wales system?

A. No.  I didn't meet the check inspector at all.

Q. You didn't?

A. No.

Q. So you haven’t had any direct experience yourself with check inspectors?

A. In New Zealand, yeah as the interviewer.  At least one time I can remember going around with two check inspectors.

Q. Played a valuable role in those days?

A. Yeah.  It depended on the check inspector I think, you know, but yeah it was good.

Q. Secondly then, a lot said about resources within the department that you're now in.  Karyn I'm sorry it’s not one of the documents I told you I was going to use, but if you could get it up, it’s the Gunningham recent report, the 2011 report.  So it’s DOL0100010001, page 36 I think it is.  This is described by Professor Gunningham, Dr Neal as being the departmental structure.  Does that look right to you, Mr Firmin, once you’ve had a bit of a look at it?

A. Yes it looks right.

Q. You're right down, you and the then Mr Poynter were right down in the bottom left corner here?

A. Yes.

Q. The rung above you, your team leader?

A. Yes.

Q. Not involved in mining as such?

A. No.

Q. The role above that, service manager.  Not involved in mining as such?

A. No.

Q. The layer above that, regional manager.  Not involved in mining as such?

A. No.

Q. And then we come back, one, two, three, three tiers above you.  Fourth tier, senior advisor, the vacant Mr Booyse.  I don't mean it in an offensive way, but the position now vacated by Mr Booyse?

A. Yeah, he was a mining person.

Q. He was a mining person?

A. Yeah.  He had no –

Q. And in that – sorry.

A. He had no jurisdiction over what we did or a budget or anything like that.  He was just an adviser.

Q. So in that whole departmental structure that goes up above Mr Booyse’s position, another one, two, three layers I think, perhaps more, no other person in the hierarchy with mining experience?

A. No.
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Q. And in the bottom right hand corner we have Mine Steering Group, and of the persons two possible chairs plus eight others, possibly with an alternative, perhaps nine others, only the then two inspectors, yourself and Mr Poynter plus Mr Booyse with his experience, are the only ones in that Mines Steering Group with mining experience?

A. Yes.

Q. And from what you've been telling Mr Wilding, say for example about the obtaining of a third inspector, those with mine experience in the minority, their voices drowned out?

A. We were certainly in the minority when you consider all those people in that group to oversee or look at what the two mines inspectors did, there seemed to be a whole lot of other people there as well but that structure has since changed with the review, Gunningham/Neal review and now I report directly to the senior advisor position.

Q. The position vacated by Mr Booyse?

A. Yes.

Q. And is anybody there yet or not?

A. Yes, we have John Kay there, I'm not sure how long the appointment is for.

Q. You said in answer to Mr Wilding that the proposed plan for the coming year was to make up to, what was it, six visits a year to underground coal mines?

A. Yes, I think so, yes.

Q. You think so, well can I have put up then please, and this is one I think I did give you notice of, DOL0020010017/1 and 2.  Is that the mine sector work plan that we were talking about for the 2010/11 year?

A. That is the plan but I think you might have – I don’t think that’s the latest one.  This one doesn’t talk about audits either, does it?

Q. You're looking at page 2 at the moment?

A. Yes, I think Mr Wilding had a – did your plan have – I'm not allowed to ask questions.

Q. Well, just deal with page 2 then at the moment, “Activity plan for 2010/2011,” the boxes that are there, if we could bring them up please.  “The mines will be proactively visited as follows,” and then we’ve got, “Underground coal mine, underground gold mine, open cast coal mine and metalliferous mine and quarries.”  The four types.  Do you say that’s changed since, there's been a change to this programme?

A. I'm pretty sure it has, yes, I think it has.

Q. In what respect please?

A. Well, I'm sure we were talking about doing inspections every two months, to be really sure, I remember my manager emailed us with the changes we would like to see, I think they were put in.

Q. It’s the only document I've seen posted by the department that seems to be the work plan.  My concern was Mr Firmin that underground coal mines and underground gold mines seemed to be virtually treated in the same way in terms of regulatory of inspections.  Has that been the case historically in your time?
1630
A. We give them very similar inspection regimes where we could in the sense that we were going to, this tends to relate to our visits to the 
North Island so we’re up there for a week so that we’d target right, we’d first target the coal mine and then the gold mine.  Gold mines, coal mines would be, would have more hazards than the gold mine if that’s the point you mean, yeah.

Q. They’re a far higher risk than a gold mine, aren't they?  Coalmining, underground coal mines?

A. Yeah.

Q. And that’s my point.  Isn't it wrong from an inspector’s point of view to treat these two in the same way because that was the practical effect wasn’t it?  If you visited gold mines and coal mines –

THE COMMISSIONER:
What do you mean Mr Hampton?  Are you talking about open cast coal mines or –

MR HAMPTON:
Underground coal mines, sir.

cross-examination continues:  MR HAMPTON

A. I’d agree with you.  Underground coal is more dangerous than underground gold but they’re both dangerous.  If we can get to them every three months, yes, let’s do it or every two months.  I wouldn't worry about the difference.

Q. Do I take it you accept that underground coal mines, with their additional hazards, ideally should be visited more than once every three months.  Is that what you're telling us?

A. We looked at the regime for inspections and, yes, we would like to do them more than three months.  We thought, I thought it was two months.

Q. But resources are the problem?

A. Yes, and then whether you can actually make it.  You could plan to do that but if got reactive work then you might not, might miss it out.

Q. Since 1988 when you became a coal mine inspector, can I ask how many improvement notices under section 39 have you actually issued to underground coalminers?

A. I don't know.  I did prepare something for general, the 
Extractive Industries, not that.

Q. Sorry, you did – I'm not –

A. I didn’t specific –

Q. Yes, well tell me what you're referring to because I don't know what you're referring to?

A. Okay, I didn’t specifically, I always thought that I might ask this question so I wrote down what I’d done off INSITE site for the last five years but I didn’t differentiate between coal, hard rock, quarries.

Q. Within the last five years can you recall issuing improvement notices to an underground coal mine?

A. Oh, probably.

Q. Probably?

A. Yeah, probably.  I'm not sure.  To, I, I vaguely, I remember putting the list up and there was 16 prohibition notices for the Extractive Industries in that five years and I get a quick look and three of those prohibition notices were for coal mines, the small underground coal mines.  

Q. I was asking you about improvement notices for a start.
A. I don't know.  I can't help you.

Q. Have you got statistics at all for improvement notices.  Not with me.  I could find that out though.

A. You could find it out.

Q. If the Commission were interested they could inquire through counsel assisting?

A. Yeah.

Q. So the next category was how many, since you started in ’98, how many section 41 prohibition notices have you issued to underground coal mines, you can only tell me at the moment about the last five years?

A. Yes, our system seemed to only just be able to go back to five years.

Q. And underground coal mines in the past five years?

A. Three from memory.

Q. Sorry?

A. Three from memory.

Q. Three from memory?

A. Yeah.

Q. I'm sorry I thought you looked it up on the system?

A. I did but I just wanted to make sure that if I say three I want to be sure.  I've had a quick look at the list so I could be wrong.

THE COMMISSIONER:
I wonder if we can resolve this.  The request will be made, Mr Hampton, it will be limited to the five year period for the reason that’s been given but if you can confer with counsel as to what statistics you're interested in we’ll request Mr Firmin to extract them.
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cross-examination continues:  mr hampton

Q. The last topic Mr Firmin.  And it comes out of the discussion you probably heard last week about cable flashes.  You have opined in your third brief of evidence that your view is that cable flashes underground in a coal mine are not notifiable events under Regulation 10.  Is that right?

A. That's right.

Q. If you have a cable flash, you have a bang and a flash and a flame and the smell of burning don’t you?

A. Sometimes.

Q. Well isn’t that a fire by definition?

A. I think fire by definition, if you look for a fire by definition, which becomes almost a technical exercise, a rapid persistent chemical change that releases heat and light accompanied by a flame, especially exothermic oxidation of a combustible substance, burning fuel or other material, I think the idea of a fire associated with a cable flash is a bit ambiguous to say a fire.  I think it’s a discharge of electrons, discharge of electricity, so I wouldn't think that would fit very well as a fire.

Q. The definition you gave the Commission, where did you get that from please?

A. I think I just googled it.

Q. Sorry.

A. Google.

Q. Googled it, when?

A. I don’t know, a couple of days ago.

Q. Couple of days ago.  Have you spoken with your Australian equivalents about cable flashes and how they would see those events?

A. I spoke with a senior high hazards advisor.

Q. When?

A. Two or three days ago.

Q. In Australia or in New Zealand?

A. New Zealand.

Q. In New Zealand.  You haven’t spoken to your Australia’s contemporaries?

A. No.

Q. Your peers in Australia?

A. No.

Q. Have you spoken to, for example, the previous chief inspectors, such as Mr Hughes and Mr Bell who we’ve heard from last week?

A. I heard Mr Hughes’, what he thought it was, defined as a fire.

Q. And you disagree with him?

A. Yes, I’d like to agree with him because I think they should be notified but I think that the regulation to say a cable flash is a fire and the fact that I haven’t been notified by anyone in the industry means the industry haven’t determined that they were a fire.  And then when I went to the mine to investigate these cable flashes I asked them why they hadn’t notified and they said well there wasn’t a requirement to and I said, “Well what about section (b),” and they said, “Well no, it’s not a fire.”  So it’s ambiguous and I think really the question should be perhaps brought to the senior advisor and we maybe could get it put into the code of practice or something.

THE COMMISSION:

I think we’ve probably exhausted the topic Mr Hampton.

mr hampton:

I was just warming up sir, thank you.  I’ve finished thank you Mr Davidson.

cross-examination:  mr davidson

Q. Mr Firmin, just so you’re aware of it I’m council for the families for Pike River.  I just want to pick up the three points I’ve identified to the Commission.  Today you’ve used expressions which have attracted my attention.  I’ll give you a couple of examples, “Nothing beats inspections, inspections are our core business.”  Am I right in thinking that you are the source of this comment, and I’ve even have it brought up on the screen but in the report by Gunninham and Neal at paragraph 148 your sited there for the reference, I’ll read this in, it’s 010001001/46 where the reporters say, “These inspections were shorter than the inspectors would have liked.  You should go underground and you should audit it.  You’re looking at two days but I didn’t have two days.  I allowed the best part of a day at a larger mine and I didn’t have time to do an audit.  That is your expressed view to the reporters.  Is it the same view you express to this Commission?
A. Yes.
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Q. Secondly, in terms of the resource available to you, and this is, please understand it’s an open question to you, Mr Bell has referred to the situation which applied in earlier times, you came to the board I think in 1995 with the Minister of Commerce and then 1998 when you transferred to the Department of Labour, is that right?

A. Yes, 1995 as inspector of quarries.

Q. Now, we heard Mr Bell’s evidence of what the chief inspectors were able to do, indeed were directed to do under the system that applied prior to that time?

A. Yes.

Q. And I'm just going to, for the record, record that in paragraph 50 it was an important part of the inspector’s role to visit the mines regularly and the instruction from the Chief Inspector was to go to gassy mines weekly, small mines monthly, it’s a world apart from where your resources and time allowed you to go?

A. That’s true, yes.

Q. And when you have that time you can do what he described at paragraph 51, you can check all the reports, walk round the mine, talk to the miners and managers, I'll come back to that, and personally carry out gas level checks, you'd look at the ventilation, check the stoppings, return seals, you'd put a six metre pipe through and test the air through the pipe valve, you would discuss with the men and mine managers any proposed changes that were needed and you would address planning for ventilation for the next stage of the mine.  Am I right in thinking that that was far beyond your capacity in terms of time available to you?

A. Yes, perhaps a different role too.

Q. It is a different role because it was differently directed, but when you talk about inspections you've referred to the report of Gunningham and Neal to carrying out an audit when you go down the mine, to make a thorough inspection when you carry the knowledge with you of a mine intimately and of the men you need more time and more skills available to you, do you not?

A. Than what we have now?

Q. Yes.

A. We would like to have done more in terms of audits and combined inspections and other activity such as perhaps targeting certain things like roof support or ventilation, but again I guess it’s the limited resources thing, how much time do you spend and does the employer take responsibility for that and a Robens’ philosophy so, yes, we do as much as we can given the resources.

Q. I'm not asking you about Robens, I'm asking you what you believe as an inspector who endorses the inspection process would like to do?

A. Right, well, I'd like to spend as much time as I can at the mine and do as many different things as I possibly can.

Q. Now, secondly, you used the expression, “We thought there was a big advantage in reporting to a chief mines inspector.”  Who is the, “We?” You and who else?

A. Kevin.

Q. Kevin Poynter, and was that because you wanted to have the expertise of someone of high qualifications underground running the ship?

A. Yes partly and lots of other reasons, you know, but yes.

Q. Am I right, you don’t actually have five years underground management experience?

A. That’s true.

Q. And Mr Poynter does have experience underground of that kind, doesn’t he?

A. He has, he's more experienced, management experience than me.

Q. You're aware that under a different system that five years underground management experience was required for an inspector?

A. It was part of the requirement for someone to apply for the job but I guess they may have appointed someone that didn’t have that depending on the interview.

Q. Well, that’s a real guess, isn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. Mr Bell has given his evidence that that’s what was required?

A. It’s part of the requirements, yes.

Q. Now, the next brief topic is plans, I want to clarify what you've actually said overall here.  You were asked about the receipt of plans as the inspectorate, mine plans and also work programmes, they’re two different things, aren't they?

A. Yes.
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Q. And when you were asked the question about who looks at the plans to consider the safety aspect, your answer was you thought basically us from a health and safety point of view.  Now when those plans come in, as I understand your answer to Mr Wilding’s question there’s no time restrictions placed on when they arrive with you measured against when the working is going to start or the work is going to start?  They could arrive the day before.  Is that right? 

A. Yes.  They are submitted every year.  You are talking about the projected plan for the next 12 months?

Q. Yes, the work programme, yes.

A. Yeah.

Q. So you have mine plans which record the status of the mine -

A. Yeah.

Q. - on an annual basis and you have a work programme as well?

A. No.  All you get is the projected –

Q. Yes, all right.

A. – development on that plan.

Q. Now, have you ever written back to an applicant or a mining company and said, “This issue I will not endorse.  This proposal I will not endorse in this annual plan in the projection?”

A. All we would see on that plan is the projected development of the roadways.  The work plan you would have to ask them for the work plan if you wanted to comment on it.

Q. Are you aware that work plans used to be submitted by mining companies?

A. No.

Q. We'll come back to my question.  Have you ever written back to a mining company reporting with plans and said, “This aspect of what you propose to do or what I see in this plan I will not endorse, or I want to have a meeting with you to deal with the health and safety issue?”

A. No, but I have looked at the proposals when I've gone to the mine.

Q. So there's no occasion when, as Mr Bell has expressed a view in his evidence, that there are occasions when he would have said, “I will not approve that plan?”

A. No, I've never come across that situation.

Q. Am I right in thinking that in some respects you also believe that to gain credibility, you need to have further professional development and training?

A. Yeah.

Q. Am I right also in thinking that is firstly a heartfelt belief that you are in some respects not at the technical skill level you require to address some of the health and safety issues in mines?

A. Could you repeat that question?

Q. Do you feel that you lack some expertise in dealing with some technical issues within the mines?

A. I think it would be fair to say lack some expertise, but you can make yourself up with the current state of knowledge, a slight difference.

Q. At paragraph 346 of the Gunningham and Neal report, and just for the record it’s 01000100198.  You're quoted again and you are quoted as saying, “The mines inspectors therefore are particularly disadvantaged under the current training regime, seeing themselves as specialists without a generalist inspectorate,” and then there's a piece that’s attributed to you, and I take from that next section, I don't want to read it out, that the approach from management, that is management within the department, is that you just need to check people’s systems and any inspector can do that.  But when you go to a mine to do ventilation, I need qualifications to ask is it adequate?  You have to have continuous professional development.  I need to be competent, up to date with developments.  That’s what you're saying isn’t it, that you have to raise your level of expertise and be trained so you can have credibility when you go into the mine to talk about technical issues?

A. Yeah.  I think I agree with that.

Q. Well 10 years I think you said you’d been to one - your application to go to one of these advancement courses was granted, once was it?

A. No I think that was.  I’d been waiting 10 years to get to go to an Australia mine to visit an Australian coal mine.

Q. But certainly this is your comment and so it’s speaking from your –
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A. Yes, I think the comment, I think the comment was that there was a feeling when I asked for that sort of training why should we train you when we’ve got, the responsibility lies with the employer to make sure that their ventilation, that their geotechnics are all adequate so it was hard to actually get someone to approve the request.

Q. I'm just going to come back to finish off on a, to bring these topics together.  Nowadays when the mine plans are filed with you, have you resolved the questions which are set out in the Mine Steering Group minutes that we’ve been taken through today, you've been taken to them for some hours now, have you resolved the question of what you're required to do with them?

A. Well the problem for us is sometimes people send in the plan and think that that’s an approval for our, of their mining procedures et cetera and that’s not quite what it’s about.  It’s letting you know what they’re going to do in terms of the direction of mining.

Q. Have you decided within your group what you should be doing with them?

A. I think it’s just been left.

Q. It’s just been left?

A. It’s just been left to the inspector what he does with it.

cross-examination:  ms shortall

Q. Mr Firmin you've been asked some questions about this independent review of the department’s interactions with Pike River which has been referred to as the Gunningham and Neal report, haven't you?

A. Yep.

Q. And what I’d like to do, sir, is just show you two statements from that report so for the record if I could get paragraph 410 of the report it’s at DOL0100010001/112, it’ll come up in a minute, sir, and if I could just have 410 highlighted.  Perhaps to save your voice, Mr Firmin, I’ll just read this and I'm going to ask you one question on it and this is from the Gunningham and Neal report, I'm reading directly from this independent review.  “What did occur at Pike River Coal was that the mine of its own initiative, an initiative which we see repeated through the period identifies specific issues confronting it and provided detailed justifications for its proposed systems for dealing with those issues.  It’s submitted these to the inspectors who then subjected them to detailed expert scrutiny and posed relevant questions.  Where they identify the need for additional information or expertise it was provided.  The fact that the mine took the initiative of informing inspectors about emerging significant safety issues – testing for methane, ventilation, flameproof equipment, a new hoist and the use of explosives – and provided their proposed systems gave inspectors a measure of confidence that the mine was discharging its duties.  Upon receipt of the responses to these questions and modifications, where necessary, what emerged was a statement the…” and I believe that may be a typo being “that,” “…all practicable steps had been taken, a negotiated agreement or a statement that the proposal was prohibited.”  And my question to you, Mr Firmin, is whether you agree with that conclusion which is being drawn by the two independent experts here.

A. Yes, I think it would, we had a feeling that Pike River were the sort of people that would negotiate an agreement with the way to deal with the agreements, to deal with the issues that we would raise with them because they were, that the type of people that seemed to want to help to –

Q. They took safety seriously, sir?

A. They took safety seriously, yeah.
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Q. Can I just turn you to paragraph 454 of the same report and for the record it’s located at DOL0100010001/123 and it runs onto 124.  It’ll come up in a minute, Mr Firmin, and perhaps just again to save your voice I’ll just read this statement again directly and quoting from the independent review, “To summarise the available evidence suggests that overall the company was responsive to the recommendations of the inspectors and went to considerable lengths to implement them.  As Mr Poynter told us, I can't remember them ever saying no, I'm not going to do that.”   My question to you Mr Firmin is whether you also agree with that conclusion borne by the independent experts in their review?

A. I agree that the company were responsive to the recommendations, they didn’t always agree with me but they responded to the extent that I was happy with their answers.

Q. Now, up until recently Kevin Poynter was the other health and safety inspector inspecting mines, quarries and tunnels, wasn’t he?

A. Yes.

Q. And Mr Poynter has substantial experience in the development of mines on the West Coast, didn’t he?

A. Yes, well actually I'm not – he was the planning engineer, I'm not that familiar what projects he developed.

Q. Well let me just bring up very quickly Mr Firmin, I just have a couple of questions on this, just for the record I'm referring to a page marked DOL0100010001165 and do you see there Mr Firmin that it’s a curriculum vitae for Kevin Poynter?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we just come over to the next page, so for the record 166 of the Gunningham and Neal review, there's a section, “Career highlights,” do you see that Mr Firmin?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we just come, it’s about the sixth point down, do you see a reference there to Mr Poynter managing feasibility studies for Spring Creek Underground Mine and gaining Solid Energy and government approval for the development of Spring Creek?  You see that sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And the next section refers to development and management of Stockton Mine from a small 200,000 tonnes per annual coal mine to two million tonnes per annum making Stockton the largest producing coal mine in New Zealand?

A. Yes.

Q. And you'll agree with me Mr Firmin that both Spring Creek and Stockton are on the West Coast?

A. Yes.

Q. Now, you last conducted an inspection of Pike River in 2008, didn’t you?

A. Yes.

Q. And Mr Poynter handled the subsequent inspections, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you understand Mr Firmin that a chronology of the department’s interactions with Pike River is included as an appendix to Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal’s report?

A. Yes.

Q. And that summary includes a list of visits to Pike River, doesn’t it 
Mr Firmin?

A. Yes.

Q. And just so I'm clear, Pike River hit coal in October 2008, didn’t it?

A. I'm not too sure.

Q. Okay, do you have any reason to believe that’s not right sir?

A. No, that’s probably right.

Q. If we perhaps just bring one page up onto the screen, I'm just going to ask you a couple of questions, it’s 141, for the record I'm referring to the page at DOL0100010001/141 and this is the page sir that follows in the report, a heading, “Appendix 4 Summary of Interactions,” do you see a heading, “Visits,” there?

A. Yes.

Q. And I'm not going to ask you to go through all of these Mr Firmin but on my count I counted eight visits in 2008.  Do you have any reason to believe that would be wrong?

A. No, I think, oh, in 2008?

Q. In 2008 I counted eight visits?

A. In 2008?

Q. Yes.

A. Was there?  Okay.

Q. That would be twice the targeted frequency.  Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And again, this is just off my count from this list that was in the independent review done by Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal, I counted four in 2009.  Do you have any reason to believe my count would be off sir?

A. No.

THE COMMISSION:
Ms Shortall, if he’s got no knowledge of those, they’re undertaken by somebody else, he can't verify a record and I think we can assume you have counted correctly.

MS SHORTALL:

Thank you Your Honour, I'm just making the point that this is where the visits are laid out.

cross-examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. Let me ask you just a couple more questions Mr Firmin.  In addition to identifying visits Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal’s report also identified other interactions that the department had with Pike River leading in to the November 19 2010 explosion, doesn’t it?
A. Yes.
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Q. Let me just ask about 2008, given that that’s when you were still doing some inspections and having interactions.  Well actually Mr Firmin, were you still having interactions with Pike River following 2008, even when Mr Poynter started doing visits to the mine?

A. Kevin yes, and Johan and I often would discuss what was going on at Pike River so there’s be lots of emails et cetera and probably teleconferences et cetera.

Q. Let me just ask you about a couple of questions just on those emails and teleconferences.  I think you gave evidence earlier that a lot of good work can be done by email and phone.  Do you remember that?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Do you recall, sorry Mr Firmin we’ll just pull up, I’ve got three questions for you, that’s it.  We’re just looking at an example Mr Firmin of the interactions that are listed in appendix 4 of the Gunningham and Neal report and it’s small print I appreciate but you’ll see there’s a listing of some emails and memos and calls et cetera here.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And again in 2008 I counted up a 116 interactions between the department and Pike River?

A. Okay.

Q. And do you have any reason to believe sir that my count would be incorrect.

A. No, there was a lot.

Q. And then your name continued to appear through 2009 and 2010, I counted 69 interactions in 2009.  Any reason to believe that would be incorrect?

A. No, that’s be correct.

Q. And I counted 123 interactions in 2010 before the 19 November explosion.  Any reason to believe that would be incorrect sir?

A. No, that’d be correct.

THE COMMISSION:

Mr Nicholson.

MR NICHOLSON:

Sir, I’m delighted to tell you my friend’s covered off my questions so I’m happy to sit down.

re-examination:  ms mcdonald – nil

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER HENRY:

Q. Mr Firmin, I was interested in your response a few minutes ago that said that somebody said to you, ‘Why should we train you when the responsibility lies with the employer?”  is that an accurate rendition of what you said?

A. Yes, I guess perhaps one person or, you know, rather than perhaps the department, yes, but they were the sort of person that was at the meeting who weren’t going to support my application.

Q. I’m assuming that the Department of Labour has the normal type of performance agreement between you and your manager and that you discuss your performance?

A. Yes.

Q. Halfway through the year perhaps and then have a round up at the end of the year?

A. Yes, true.

Q. And in there you would have a training plan I assume?

A. No.

Q. No.  Is there any development plan for you in that agreement?

A. No.  Sometimes the department might have a plan where they’re going to put all the inspectors through communication or some training but mining specific, no, and just specific to me, no nothing.

Q. Is there a standard form that is used?

A. I don’t think so.  And I think if you want some training you apply for it to your manager.

Q. So there’s no section in there on training and development?

A. There’s a section on what has been done.

Q. Yes.

A. You record any that you’ve done but I don’t think there’s a section for what you want.  You can write that in at the bottom.  I’d like such and such a training, you know, and put forward a proposal but it’s just in the generalised section.

QUESTIONS FROM COMMISSIONER BELL:

Q. Mr Firmin, I’ve got a few questions for you.  The first question, you mentioned earlier on about training of health and safety inspectors to inspect quarries.  You remember that?

A. Yes.

Q. How big a task is it to convert a health and safety inspector into a quarry inspector?
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A. Well I don’t think you can in a sense that we weren’t very happy with this idea and it was only sort of a stopgap measure because the quarries just weren’t getting inspected so the idea was to keep them away from the quarry faces that they could do a lot of the work around the quarry plant in terms of hazardous substances as well but in terms of guarding, even perhaps some of the mobile plant but inevitably the training sort of went to a bit about geology and benching et cetera so there was some of that but the target was to, if anyone had an issue with a quarry face that they would ring, that they would bring that to the inspectors with mining experience and we would perhaps make a visit but a couple of times I think Kevin brought up the fact that there was some quarries that needed visiting but then there wasn’t the money for the mines inspector to go there so it’s a bit of an issue that and really we weren’t that comfortable with it.

Q. My next question is to do with taking it further what Mr Hampton was saying.  How many prosecutions have you launched or been involved in in your time in the inspectorate?

A. I think nine, nine or 10, one failed.

Q. Are any of those underground coal mines?

A. Yes, one, one I think.

Q. And without naming the mine, what was that particular prosecution to do with without naming the operation?

A. It was a fatality.  In the end we couldn't blame the, we couldn't link the fatality to their lack of procedures, following their own procedures so we prosecuted for not following the procedure which was a health and safety issue.

Q. Earlier on Mr Wilding was talking about a small mine with no second means of egress?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember that part of Mr Wilding’s statement?  

A. Yes.

Q. Why did you need to wait six months to go back to visit the place again before issuing a prohibition notice or an improvement notice?  Couldn't you have done that straight away rather than waiting six months?

A. Yes, he could've.  I think the inspector went to the mine and wrote them a letter and then he brought it up with them and then he went back and discussed it and the owner hadn't done anything so he’d written a letter, he went back, he hadn't done anything and then it was my next visit I think so he said, “Look he hasn’t done so up to you what you do about it,” sort of thing.

Q. And on that same topic I sort of noted that you asked Mr Booyse for his support before you issued that notice.  Was there some concern that you hadn't been supported in the past when you were issuing these sort of things?

A. No, I think it was more that it was a very small hard rock, underground gold mine and he was trying to so, there was some evidence to say that he might be able to use the stope as a second mean of egress and Johan was much more experienced at it, than I was with underground hard rock so I said, “Well you come in and we’ll have a look and make sure that that’s not acceptable.  Doesn't sound acceptable to me.”

Q. So it was more of an extra bit of technical advice from Booyse –

A. Yeah, yeah.

Q. – rather than a requirement for any support?

A. Yeah.
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Q. Just finally, you mentioned there’s an electrical inspector has been appointed to the group or to DOL but he has no experience with intrinsic safety or flameproof or anything to do with underground coal mines?

A. Nothing.

Q. Isn’t that an enormous gap to have in an operation where, as you know as well as I know, underground electricity needs to be carefully monitored?

A. It is and it’s probably going to take him four or five years to get accountable with working in coal mines I would think and some – a lot of training.  I think they’re going to use him in other places as well, so it’s not just for us.

Q. And just finally, your talked about the new high hazards advisor, who also has got I understand, limited underground coalmining experience, I could be – is that the case?

A. From my understanding yes, he’s the safety manager person, I haven’t seen his CV I’m not a 100% sure.  I understand the appointment might be for a short time.

Q. But he has no statutory role does he?  He doesn’t have anything –

A. No, none, not an inspector, not –

Q. I’m just trying to work out where he fits into the scheme of things, because if he doesn’t have the expertise to provide advice to you, he doesn’t have a statutory role, I’m not even sure what he does?

A. Well without perhaps going too far into how he’s been appointed, I understand that it could be just a six month appointment so he can put procedures in place to get somebody.  That was what I was told, but he’s very good and he might be kept on, I’m not quite sure of his exact role.

questions arising - nil

witness excused

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
5.11 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES ON WEDNESDAY 20 JULY 2011 AT 10.00 AM

MS SHORTALL CALLS

PETER WILLIAM WHITTALL (SWORN)

Q. Could you state your full name to the Commission please?

A. Peter William Whittall.

Q. And do you presently hold the position of chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited in receivership?

A. I do.

Q. And had you been the chief executive of Pike River for around six weeks at the time of the 19 November 2010 explosion?

A. Yes I had.

Q. Now, have you prepared and filed a statement of evidence for the purpose of these proceedings?

A. Yes I have.

Q. And is that statement marked PW0/1 through PW0/25?

A. Yes it is.

Q. And do you have a copy of that statement with you?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And do you confirm that the statement is true and correct?

A. Yes I can.

Q. Mr Whittall, if you could turn to page 1 of your statement and I'm going to have you read it to the Commission, at points where we refer to exhibits we’ll stop there, the exhibit will be displayed and I will ask you some additional questions just so that you can explain to the Commission which each exhibit shows, so if we start at paragraph 1 on page 1, could you please read your evidence aloud?

A. “My name is Peter William Whittall, I am the chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited in receivership, otherwise known as the company.  I hold a Bachelor of Engineering with honours in mining engineering and a Master of Business Administration from the University of Woollongong in New South Wales, Australia.  I am registered in New Zealand as a mines surveyor and a mine manager for both coal and metalliferous mines.
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A. I am qualified in New South Wales as a coal mine manager and mine surveyor.  I'm a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a board member of the Minerals West Coast.  I have been employed by the company since February 2005.  I was originally appointed as mine manager and then became general manager of mines in 2006.  In January 2010 I relocated from Greymouth to the company’s head office in Wellington.  I continued in the role of general manager, Mines until October 2010, when I was appointed to the role of chief executive of the company.  The previous chief executive, Gordon Ward, resigned from the company in September 2010, having held the position of chief executive since January 2007.  The company was placed in receivership on 13 December 2010.  Since that time, the number of employees has reduced from 174 on 19 November 2010, to 17 on the 22nd of June 2011.  On 8th of June 2011, the Royal Commission requested that I produce a witness statement, providing an overview of the operation of the Pike River Coal Mine, otherwise known as “the mine”.  My evidence is constrained by the limits of my own knowledge and the knowledge of those staff still remaining at the company.  I have endeavoured to provide as much information as possible in the amount of time I have had to produce this statement.  Part A: Overview of the Mine Site.  Geographical location and geology.  The Pike River coal deposit is located on the western side of the Paparoa Ranges under Crown-owned land administered by the Department of Conservation, about 46 kilometres northeast of Greymouth on the West Coast of the South Island.  The northern portion of the coal deposit is under land which is part of the Paparoa National Park.  I understand that the mine is one of 13 underground and open-cut coal mines in this area.  Attached and marked “PW1” to “PW6” are true copies of a number of maps and photographs and a diagram.  “PW1” to “PW3” are maps showing the location of the mine.”  

Q. If I could just pause you there, Mr Whittall.  PW1 is now being displayed in the courtroom.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this first exhibit shows?

A. The exhibit is a general map of the West Coast, showing New Zealand generally and also where the mine sits on the West Coast and picking out Greymouth, Westport to the north and the Pike River Mine sitting in the Paparoa Ranges roughly half way between the two.
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Q. And if we could go to PW2, the second exhibit, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Just a more detailed map, taken from Kiwi maps, so it’s just a general publicly available plan, just using the pointer to show Greymouth down in the bottom left hand corner and the Grey Valley going off to the northeast, Blackball about halfway this plan with Roa Mine just above that.  The Solid Energy’s mines are Spring Creek and Strongman in this area to the west and Pike River Mine runs off the valley and sits up in the Paparoa Range about the middle of the plan here.

Q. And if we go PW3 Mr Whittall, could you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is a plan prepared for the Department of Conservation some years ago and used in presentations which shows the mine permit area in pink, outline over a topographic plan.  It shows the mine road coming up from Logburn Road through the coal prep plant area and then going up the valley all the way to the portal, which is the entrance to the underground operations.

Q. And if I just stop you there for a moment Mr Whittall.  Just so it’s clear for the record, the portal area is marked by the green dot with a yellow interior.  Is that correct?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Sorry, I didn’t mean to interrupt you, continue.

A. From that portal area the red lines indicate the tunnel going through and the dashed red line running roughly north-south is the alignment of the Hawera Fault.  So to the west of that Hawera Fault is the coal measures, the black line indicating the escarpment and the green line indicating the National Park area, the edge of the National Park.  Also shown on the plan are just some blue dots up the valley which indicate bridges that were built.  It’s not comprehensive there, there is a couple missing.  The Terrace Bridge is missing off that plan and the pink road down the bottom is just the easement road that we used through the Van Der Geest Farm before the Logburn Road was completed or the additional parts of the Logburn Road was completed.

Q. And just so I’m clear Mr Whittall, we will come later to talking about the coal preparation plant, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And there’s a reference here to the amenities area which you will describe later in your evidence as well?

A. Yes I will.

Q. And you’ll also provide further detail about the portal area and the tunnel, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. If I could just take you back sir to your brief, we were at paragraph 8 and you had just finished reading the second sentence.  Could you pick up the sentence beginning PW4?

A. “PW4 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records showing the Paparoa Ranges.”

Q. And sir, if we could now look at PW4 which is being displayed.  Can you explain to the Commission in more detail what we are observing?

A. Yes, the photograph looks essentially from the southwest towards the northeast, and that’s showing the escarpment of the Paparoa Range with the Pike Coalfield underlying it.  The Paparoa seam is somewhat visible in the bottom tree area down there, it’s not quite as good on the wall as it is on the picture in front of me.  The Brunner seam runs through and I think the next photo we look at will be, give a better indication.  The Brunner seam runs roughly through the middle there and this is showing the basin of the coalfield falling away from the escarpment and Mount Hawera and a number of the larger mountains of the Paparoa Range is shown in the background.

Q. And if could bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  Can you pick up again at paragraph 8 reading from the sentence beginning, “PW5?”

A. “PW5 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records showing both the Paparoa and Brunner coal seams running through the Paparoa Ranges.”  
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Q. And Mr Whittall if I could just turn you to PW5, which has now been displayed and can you confirm that we are looking at both the Brunner seam and the Paparoa seam overlaid on the image that was just shown at PW4?

A. Yes, indicatively, it’s very hard to put those lines exactly on the plan so it’s done for illustration purposes but roughly that shows the interburden between the two, it’s about 200 metres in this area and so the Brunner seam sits up above, higher in the escarpment and the Paparoa seam runs roughly along the tree-line.

Q. And if I could take you back to paragraph 8 of your brief and if you could read the last sentence in that paragraph please?

A. “PW6 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the Paparoa and Brunner coal seams.”

Q. Sir, if we could look at PW6 which has now been displayed, could you explain to the Commission in more detail what this diagram shows?

A. Again, a representation of the Brunner and Paparoa seams used for illustration to shareholders et cetera, it just shows the depth really of the two seams, both outcropping on the western escarpment, the surface topography is not accurate so just pictorial but it shows they’re quite deeply in-sized in the topography, the Brunner seam sitting variously 100 metres to sort of 200 metres in this area and the Paparoa seam underlying it by another couple of hundred metres, both of them truncated on the east by the Hawera Fault.”

Q. Can I just stop you there.  Is that demonstrated by the red line on the diagram?

A. Correct, so the Hawera Fault, as we’ve heard in other evidence, is an upthrust fault of about a thousand metres dislocation so the stone on this side is about a thousand metres higher than the equivalent stone to the west of that so the – to the east and the west.

Q. Just for the record I'll identify that when you say this side you're referring to the side that’s on the diagram marked near the wording, “Pike River Tunnel,” is that right?

A. Correct, which is the right hand side of the diagram and represents the eastern side of the coalfield.  So the only other thing shown on that plan are the pit bottom area in stone and the tunnel itself coming out from the right hand side on the incline, it’s about one in 11, it comes through the Hawera Fault some hundred odd metres before it comes up underneath the coal seam and it exits the coal seam to the west of the Hawera Fault.

Q. Just to provide the Commission with a sense of perspective Mr Whittall, can you roughly explain the length that we’re looking at here, from the point at which the tunnel passes through the Hawera Fault through to the western escarpment on the diagram?

A. Yes, on this particular cross-section it’s about two, a bit over two kilometres so the coalfield is about six and a half kilometres north to south and its widest, it’s a bit over two kilometres and it narrows down to about a kilometre wide under the National Park in the north but in this particular area west of the tunnel it’s about two, maybe two and a half kilometres wide.  It varies given the escarpment, it’s so variable.

Q. And while you’ve described that the topography identified on this diagram is not precise can you give the Commission some sense from your understanding as to what the steepness of the topography is?

A. It varies, the coal seam itself running north to south varies between 15 degrees and up to 30 to 40 degrees in slopes so it’s quite steep, but it does vary, there's a basin, a natural basin that occurs from the western escarpment into a low point and the low points by design, where the tunnel is, so targeted to intersect.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief and we were at paragraph 9 
Mr Whittall.  If you could continue reading from there please.

A. “The Pike River coal deposit is New Zealand’s largest known deposit of high fluidity hard coking coal.  The company was planning to produce coal with some of the lowest ash content of the world’s coking coals, at one percent once processed through the coal preparation plant, and with very high fluidity, being a measure of how well the coal becomes fluid at high temperatures.  The advantage low ash coal is that it uses less energy and results in less wastage in the process of manufacturing coke.  Coke is an essential ingredient in the blast furnace steel making process and is form when coal is heated at super high temperatures.  I'll now go into an overview of the key aspects of the mine and will start with the access road.  The company has constructed more than 11.5 kilometres of above-ground access road, including seven bridges.  The roads include a sealed 3 kilometre two lane road from Logburn Road to the coal preparation plant, otherwise known at the CPP, and approximately 8.2 kilometre road from the CPP up to the Pike Valley to the amenities site and onto the mine entrance.  Near the CPP is a controlled access gate.
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A. From the access gate the section of road leading up the Pike valley is largely single lane with passing bays.  Only certain parts of the road, including the bridge approaches are currently sealed although the remainder was planned to be sealed.  Attached and marked PW7 to PW9 are true copies of photographs, obtained from company records, of the access road.”

Q. So if we start, Mr Whittall, with PW7 that is now being displayed.  Are you able to identify where exactly this photograph was taken?

A. Yes, that photograph’s taken just around the corner from the council’s Logburn Road, this is the extension off Logburn Road and where it first goes onto the road constructed by the company.

Q. And does this photograph, Mr Whittall, provide an example of a section of the road that is currently sealed?

A. That's correct.

Q. And is there a speed sign in this photograph sir?

A. Yes, there is.  There’s a speed sign on the corner there.

Q. And were those speed signs that were put in by Pike River?

A. Yes, as part of the road construction.

Q. If we could turn to the next image PW8 can you identify, Mr Whittall, what section of road is shown in PW8?

A. Yeah, that’s a section of the road between the coal prep plant and the amenities area.  It’s the section of road, the bridge that’s shown in the lower portion of it is the Lower Pike Bridge so it’s the longest of the bridges that spans the Lower Pike Stream and the road is roughly single lane all the way up through there, it’s an old hanging swamp area and has previously been logged and what you can see in the distance at the far end of that road is pretty much the corner where we go from previously logged area into the old growth forest as it goes around that corner.

Q. So we’re looking up towards the amenities area?

A. That's right, we’re looking up the Pike Valley, yes.

Q. And, Mr Whittall, am I seeing equipment or machinery on the bridge.  Is that right?

A. Mostly construction equipment, this is when the road, this photo’s a couple of years old now so the equipment there was probably to do with the laying out of the pipe.  You can see the pipeline which we’ll show later just being made in that section.  It’s not, doesn't appear in this part of the road yet so this would've been equipment associated with the pipe laying.

Q. Just so I'm clear for the written record, Mr Whittall, the area you're marking is where the pipeline is shown is about half way in the diagram PW8?

A. Correct it’s from the widened area on the other side of the, on the northern side of the Lower Pike Bridge extending for it’s like several hundred metres up that road.

Q. And we’ll talk about the pipeline later in your evidence –

A. Yes.

Q. – but can just for clarity at this point can you identify to the Commission what the purpose of the pipeline would be once constructed?

A. That’s the slurry pipeline to take coal from the mine down to the coal prep plant.

Q. And Mr Whittall there are two what I’ll call bald patches to the right-hand side of the road.  Can you give any explanation as to what those show?

A. Yeah, they’re different things.  The widened area just to the east of the road on the other side of the Pike River Bridge is a pond, you can't quite see the pond behind the trees, but there’s a number of ponds all along the pipeline which we’ll come to later as well that are there for emergency dumping of in this case they collected some runoff from the road from a sediment control.  They’re also available to take dumped slurry should we need to dump it out of the pipeline to prevent it entering the streams and the other one is just behind it.  Further to the north up the road there’s a large vegetation area so when we constructed the road we would clear all the vegetation off the road and then take it to a central dump point.  There were several of them along the road and all that vegetation was stockpiled and then we put some dirt over the top of it so that vegetation sits there for the next 20 years and rots down and mulches down then we use that potentially, or someone will to rehabilitate the road in the future so what we’re using to rehabilitate the road is the natural bush that was there before, so there’s a number of those cleared areas.

Q. And just to provide a sense of perspective, Mr Whittall, can you approximate the distance of roading that we are observing on the exhibit at PW8?

A. The road easement through there is about 20 metres wide so you're looking at about a 20 metre wide easement and you're probably looking a bit over a kilometre of road in that picture, maybe a kilometre and a half.

Q. Thank you, sir, if I could  bring you back to page 3 of your brief and I believe we’re at the heading just above paragraph 12, if you could start reading again there please.

A. “The CPP and bath house facilities.  At the beginning of the access road is the CPP.”

Q. Sorry, sir, I just realised that there was another photograph of the road that we should show you first so let’s just turn to PW9.  I don't think we displayed that one for you so I’ll just interrupt you there.

A. Mhm.

1020

Q. And can you explain to the Commission what we're looking at, PW9?

A. That’s back down the valley a little bit from the previous photo.  So if you look to the top of that photo and go around that corner, a couple more corners you'd come to that bridge that we just looked at.  So what you can see in that photograph is the slurry pipeline being installed on the right-hand side of the road sitting on little concrete plinths to keep it level, and you can see a jersey barrier or Armco rail on the left-hand side of the road.  From a safety point of view, just at high points along the road we installed those.  And you can also see the power supply to the mine site that runs up the valley, the 33,000 vault lines that are on timber poles running through there as well and the workmen you can see in the background are all involved in the construction of the pipeline.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  Now we’ll return to your brief, and if you could start reading at paragraph 3 from the heading just above paragraph 12?

A. Sure.  “The CPP and bathhouse facilities.  At the beginning of the access road is the CPP, Logburn substation and the main bathhouse facilities.  I describe the CPP and Logburn substation in more detail later in this brief.  The bathhouse facilities provided an area where miners could change into their mining gear before being transported up to the main amenities area, and an area where they could shower after their shift.  Attached and marked PW10 and PW11 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records showing the CPP and bathhouse facilities.”

Q. So if we start with PW10, which is now being displayed Mr Whittall, could you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows? 

A. Yes.  This is a photograph taken from the gantry of the coal prep plant.  So where the coal would drop down onto the stockpile, so you can't see them below you but in another photograph you'll see that in the background.  So this is a photograph with - looking at the coal immediately in front of us has been placed there by loaders rather than by gravity underneath the conveyor.  The conveyor coming up on your left-hand side of the photo is the conveyor one that comes out of the coal prep plant and joins up with the one that the person taking the photograph is standing at.  Also in that foreground area or in the middle of the photo is the coal prep plant itself.  It doesn't take up a very big footprint, it’s quite small in area but it’s three storeys high and uses a gravity system which we'll come to in a moment as well.  In the background on the right-hand side is the Logburn substation and you can see, just make out, might use a pointer, you can just make out, coming in from the right-hand side are power lines and a concrete power pole.  That’s the 110,000 vault system coming in from the Atarau substation out on Logburn Road into the substation here, which is our main substation that converts power from 110,000 to both 33 and 11,000 vaults.  The –

Q. And that’s the station, so just for the record just indicated in the top right-hand corner of the photograph?

A. Correct.

Q. Thank you.

A. So that was built as part of the project and from there 33,000 vault power lines run up the valley, which was just shown in the previous photo and also 11,000 vaults are used for the prep plant itself and supplying power to the bathhouse area.  Also in that photograph on the back left-hand side of the coal prep plant is the bathhouse facilities that we've just spoken about and what can't be seen behind the prep plant is the main carpark and some stores area there as well.  In the foreground or maybe on the right-hand side of the prep plant is a stack-out conveyor for stone.  So the coal prep plant separates the stone from clean coal.  The clean coal comes up the conveyor to the left and the stone goes off to the conveyor to the right.  There's some water clarification tanks in front and a couple of pieces of equipment.  One’s just a Merlo like, basically a tractor with a gib, and the other one’s a loader that’s used for moving coal around on the site.

Q. And just on the right-hand side of the photograph at PW10 Mr Whittall, do I see a road coming in from right to left?

A. Yes, the road that comes in is from the front gate.  So that’s coming from Logburn Road and it goes off to the left down through the cutting and goes up to the amenities area from there.

Q. And on the left-hand side sir, there looks to be a water pond perhaps of some sort.  Could you explain that?
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A. Yes, on the left-hand side there is the emergency dump pond.  So again in the next photograph we’ll see where the pipeline comes in the side of the coal prep plant but on this picture you can’t quite see it.  A pipeline comes up from the valley along to the end of the, into in the culprit plant but were the prep plant to stop suddenly without planned shutdown then you would need to dump the pipeline.  If the pipeline itself blocked for some reason then you’d use the other dump ponds we talked about earlier but if you wanted to just drain the pipeline not into the prep plant then you could use this emergency dump pond which can contain at least I think two dumps from the whole of the pipeline back up into the mine.

Q. And Mr Whittall, we’re going to talk later in your evidence about certain positions within Pike, including terms like the mine manager and the CPP manager.  Does the photograph at PW10 provide any orientation as to where lines of responsibilities for those positions start and end?

A. Yes, it was a bit of an arbitrary exercise at one stage when we’re first constructing the mine as to where the mine manager’s jurisdiction would go to and it was decided that the mine manager because the term, “mine” as defined takes into account all the things on the surface as well to do with the mine.  But we made a point just at the top of the hill here, which is on the outside of the emergency dump pond and runs along the hill and takes in the bathhouse but the mine manager that’s responsible for the mine is responsible for the underground mine plus all surface facilities except the coal prep plant and the, this is run by the coal prep plant manager and all the transport et cetera is not the responsibility of the mine manager, the underground mine manager.

Q. If we could look at the next exhibit, PW11, which is now being displayed Mr Whittall.  Could you explain to the Commission what the photograph at PW11 shows?

A. Yes, that’s the coal prep plant but it’s a photo that I’ve kept in circulation for a long time because it was taken before the plant was just finished but without the walls on it’s a lot easier to explain.  So what you can see coming in from the right-hand side, this is looking back up, just from over here you can see that conveyor going off to the right and then there’s another one coming off from it, well that long conveyor is where that other photograph was taken from.  So we’re looking now from the other side of the prep plant from the earlier photo was taken from.

Q. And just for the written record, the first conveyor that you marked on the photograph at PW11 it looks to me like a black pipe perhaps of sorts running up the right-hand side?

A. Correct.

Q. And connects to a horizontal conveyor that runs –

A. Correct.

Q. – along the back of the CPP?

A. It’s not a pipe, what you’re looking at is the roof of the conveyor which stops the rain and water washing onto it.  So this is taken from across the road near the bathhouse, near that substation.  And just in simple terms without going into all the technical aspects of the prep plant but effectively the coal slurry comes in from the right-hand side into a small coal sump, there’s a concrete bunker underneath.

Q. And that’s just for the record Mr Whittall, just on the left-hand side of the structure?

A. I’ll try to be more descriptive.

Q. No you’re doing very well sir, I’m just adding in a few points.

A. So the concrete bunker sits on the left-hand side of the prep plant as we’re looking at, at the bottom.  There’s pipes running up the outside of the wall on the left-hand side of the prep plant and there are pumps, pumps the coal which is less than 35 millimetres in size because that’s what comes down from the mine out.  It pumps it up to the top, to the third floor, it goes through a cyclone up there and the cyclone is effectively a gravity, it simulates gravity by running the coal round in a very fast rate in circles and the light coal comes out of the top of that, drops down onto a shaker dewatering device and then the coal separates from the water, drops all the way down the bottom and feeds onto the conveyor and goes out as clean coal onto the stockpile.  So nothing has to be done to it, it’s effectively washed to being pretty much 1% ash coal, it’s beautiful.  The coal comes down so that the heavier coal, which is either rock in itself or coal with dolomite or some other stone pollution with it, comes down into a crusher and we crush to about two millimetres.  And from there it goes through another process which you can’t see, it’s in behind here, and then separates out the stone and the coal and again the coal goes out onto the conveyor.  The superfine goes into those big tanks you saw on the other side of the plant and those fines get dropped out.  So effectively all the coal, in simple terms, ends up on this conveyor going out onto the stockpile and the stone ends up on the other stack-out conveyor that drops the waste or the reject away onto another separate stockpile.
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Q. And, sorry you -

A. I was just going to say the equipment that you can see in the foreground is really only to do with the construction of the plant.  The plants a little bit different now, we’ve actually installed another conveyor which can feed from the stockpiles using a like little dump and it feeds up into the plant directly so if you went up there today you'd see another conveyor on the outside of that plant that was built a year or so later.

Q. And we would also see cladding on the outside of this structure?

A. That's right, as you did in the other photo, it’s a green cladding, correct.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 3 and there's a heading just above paragraph 13, if you could start from there again please?

A. “Amenities area.  Mine facilities for staff and equipment, otherwise called the amenities area, are located some seven kilometres up the Pike Valley and approximately 1.2 kilometres from the mine entrance.  The facilities at the amenities area include mining and engineering offices, an operations control room, an emergency response room, an administration building, including some bathhouse facilities, a workshop, stores and a mining personnel services building.  As I mentioned earlier the main miner’s bathhouse was situated near the CPP.  Attached and marked PW12 is a true copy of an aerial photograph obtained from company records of the amenities area.” 

Q. If I could take you now Mr Whittall to PW12 which has been displayed and perhaps just to orientate ourselves if we start at the bottom of the picture, I see a road coming in.  Can you just orientate us as to where we are?

A. Certainly.  We’re now looking at the southern side of the amenities area.  The road coming in on the bottom right-hand corner is coming from the upper Pike Bridge and so we’re going up the valley towards the mine entrance, as we go from the right-hand side of the photograph to the left‑hand side of the photograph.  Again this is an older photo.  It was a nice uncluttered one to be able to show the buildings, although there's a couple of things on there that have been built since.  In the bottom of the photograph you can see a white circle, that white circle is actually the base pad for the large water tank that now sits on top of that, that receives the water from the coal prep plant and also receives it from the stream just nearby there, and just below that photo which you can't see is the main pump station, big pump house, that pumps the water up into the mine so it receives the water out of that tank and pumps it up into the mine, that’s no shown on this picture.  The building in the bottom corner, in the bottom middle of the photo, is the McConnell Dowell offices, they were the largest contractor on site as they did their construction of the tunnel, so they had their own offices and admin staff and computer access, so they were kept physically separate, they’re just across the road and there's a building just below them that’s the dry store which would've been, ultimately is it Pikes, but it was used by McConnell Dowell for their dry stores equipment for going underground.  Just taking along the road, directly opposite McConnell Dowell is a little road going into the right, below the first of the retaining walls, what can't be seen behind that tree or that little tree-line is a couple of buildings, one of the McConnell Dowell bathhouse facility and also some contract offices which we use for our hydro monitor insulation crew because we put so many engineers on there wasn’t enough room for them to fit into our main offices, so we set up a little project team down there, in the last year or two.  The retaining walls do mark two other levels in the mine.  If we go up the road again, running from the right to the left in behind the tree-line, these are all – I didn’t hear Mr Smith’s evidence yesterday when he was talking about the construction of the site, but this area here, the amenities area is pretty much bordered by Rimu and big Podocarp so we sort of pushed it out as large as we could with DOC’s permission and then fitted in amongst without taking the next line of large Podocarps if you like so it’s ringed by big Rimus.  This road coming up from up to the right, sorry, to the left then swings in at the first of the main levels.  On that level is a number of buildings, I'll just run through what they are for you.  This first building which is pretty much in the centre of the photograph houses a number of staff, the environment manager Ivan Liddell was in there.  The human resources manager, 
Dick Knapp, the safety and training manager Neville Rockhouse and their teams were in that building, the safety training room was in there, for inductions and those sorts of things, the mines rescue room was in there and that was used during the emergency as the mines rescue central hub of operation if you like and general breakout rooms and there was some other training people et cetera in there, so they were basically environment, HR and safety training in that building.  Then there's a covered walkway and barbecue area and things were put in there as a bit of amenity for our staff, a long way from anywhere.  
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A. There's a covered walkway, runs along the front, although it’s not really clear, probably just because of the shadows but all in behind the tree there taking out the major section of that lower carpark area is the main amenities administration building and coming in the front, you can see some cars parked in the front of it, that’s just all the crushed gravel carpark.  In that building was housed the secretary PA, the probably the speaking at the time of, on the 19th of November is the easiest as to sort of people that were in there -

Q. Yes.

A. - because that did vary slightly.  We had the site general manager in there.  We had the engineering manager, the technical services manager, the technical services team so surveyors, geologists, Geotech engineers, those sort of people.  We had the finance team in there, so accounts payable were in there and also the project engineers so the guys who were looking after hydro installations and other things.  I had an office in there that used to be, I used to be in there permanently when I worked on site but after I relocated to Wellington I kept a office in that building although I relinquished the larger corner office to Doug.

Q. And when did you relocate to Wellington, Mr Whittall?

A. January 2010.

Q. Sorry, please continue.

A. So that was basically administration so we kept all of the senior managers together in that building so between those two buildings and the technical team so the engineer, if you then on the right-hand side of that lower deck there’s another bath house and that bathhouse was used by the staff that were located in that area so the management team and the engineers and some of the underviewers I think had their bath, their lockers in there as well and also visitors could use that bathhouse so that was a male bath house.  There was a smaller ladies bathhouse inside the main building.  Then there’s a covered walkway that goes up onto the top of the levels and you walk along the front of that retaining wall and so starting on the left-hand side of that deck this building here on the left-hand side shaped like an L, in the bottom part of that L section housed the lamp room, so cap lamps, rescuers and it also had some meeting tables and display tables for deputies and underviewers to address the guys.  It was a muster area at the start of shift for the guys to go to, while they’re getting all their lamps on they can be addressed by their crew leader or the shift co-ordinator.  Also in that room which now houses the gas chromatograph and all the other technical stuff was also the underviewer’s room where they could have their files and computers and desks et cetera.  Physically also in there was the production or mine manager’s office as well although at the moment he’s housed down in the other building since November but he was up there where the workforce were.  The, physically separate so you can't walk from one to the other, you go out one door and just where that car is parked to the middle of the apex of that building –

Q. That’s the L building just in the top corner.

A. The L building.

Q. Yes, sir.

A. Yep, we’re still talking on that one, is where the tag board is that we send a lot of photos of.  That’s when the guys come out of that door to get in their underground transport, that’s where they would go to.  Then you'd come back in another door and that top right-hand corner of the building is the control room and we’ll see some photographs of that later as well and then past down the hole way past the control room is the engineer’s office so there’s a bunch of engineers in there and there’s also another contract engineer’s room so free for when we get some larger contractors on site they’ve got somewhere to go and use computer facilities as well and there’s also an emergency room in there as well in addition to the control room but for first aid emergency which has got bigger doors that open out onto a concrete pad for an ambulance to pull up at for example.  That’s also our designed helicopter landing pad.  We’ve got several helipads up the valley, one down at the coal prep plant, one that’s half way up the road was pretty much where the end of the road was where we looked, a long road that went off into the distance where it just turned the corner and I see it went into the over-cut into the native bush, there’s a helipad there and the other helipad is this area here on the top deck.

Q. And just for the written record, Mr Whittall, you're identifying the concreted area in front, on top of the location identified with the 
L building.  Is that right?

A. It’s actual gravel there, compressed compacted gravels, yep.  The next building beside it is actually just a covered area and it houses underneath it the underground mine transporters, the graders, load hole dumps and that, we’ll come to those machines later but so it’s a refuelling area so there’s fuel, water and washdown areas for men’s boots and things like that so when they get out of their vehicles when they’ve come out of the mine and so they clean off before they go into the lamp room.  Just to the right of that there’s the main store.
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A. So that houses all the small stuff that you'd use on a daily basis, but there's also big racks in there for motors and other larger pieces of equipment.  There's a small mobile hoist crane in there for moving stores around, so the store man, purchasing officer and stores clerk, et cetera are all housed in there.  In the building next door to it there is a concrete apron on that one and it’s a three-bay workshop, double storey workshop with a crane in there and that’s got an electrical area and a mechanical area.  So that’s used for – we do small repairs on site.  Mostly, if gear’s in need of large repair it gets sent away, but otherwise we can do minor repairs and servicing in there as well, so that’s used for both mechanical and electrical servicing.  Also in that photograph is in the middle of it at the top, up against the bush is a concrete bunded area, which is a refuelling area.  So it’s got environmental sort of tanks that can collect spillage in that area.  So there's a bunch of gear and oils and other things stored in there which, if they leaked, they would just be contained.  And then there’s a building to the left of that.  It looks like it’s got a striped roof, which is just skylight type roof, that’s why it looks striped.  But that was used by McConnell Dowell as a workshop, but in more recent times the mine’s taken it back over as McConnell Dowell has reduced their presence on site and I think now houses chains, slings, et cetera in one area and electrical cables, from memory, in another part of it, so it’s just a small storage workshop.  And then on the left-hand side of that there's a bunch of shipping containers variously used for different things.  I think those ones are particularly McConnell Dowell ones and there's one there now that’s got all the gas gear that’s, in my hack system, been used.  That’s pretty much all that’s in that photo.  There's just general stuff, like there's roof bolts here on the left-hand side.  On the side of the road there is some mesh on the side there, but this isn’t the main storage area for all of our large consumables, that’s through the back down at the coal prep plant.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  Let’s come back to your brief and we're still on page 3.  There's a heading just above paragraph 14.  If you could start reading again from there?

A. This is the access tunnel.  “Access to the coal deposit is gained via a 2.3 kilometre tunnel, driven uphill at approximately a five degree angle or 1 in 11 to intersect coal near the lowest point of the coal seam.  The tunnel is 5.5 metres wide and 4.4 metres high and was developed using a drill and blast operation.  The tunnel serves as the primary access to the mine for personnel and materials, and as the primary intake ventilation.  It also houses the water, compressed air and power services, and the coal slurry pipeline.  During the construction of the tunnel and the pit bottom in stone area, the tunnel also housed a conveyor belt for transporting rock.  This was planned to be decommissioned in the near future.  The entrance to the tunnel is known as the portal.  The tunnel is bolted and meshed along its entire length with a portion also being fully lined with sprayed concrete, otherwise known as shotcrete.  Attached and marked PW13 to PW15 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records, showing the portal and the tunnel as it was being developed.”

Q. If I can take you Mr Whittall, to the first of those exhibits marked PW13, which is now displayed.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  This is a photograph taken from a helicopter of the portal area.  What you can see going or just to orientate yourself, the actual whole underground on the portal is the area roughly in the middle of the photograph.  The trees have been removed and the face of the, the rock face has all been bolted and sprayed and supported.  In the foreground you're looking over the top of the White Knights Stream, which is one of the iwi’s sacred streams that we've had to take account of in the construction of the mine.  So the retaining wall there is not so much a retaining wall for the ground as it is, is a delineating barrier.  So there's just a row of retaining wall blocks there that keep all of our operations on the inside of that.  It’s quite a narrow little place.  It’s only about 15 metres wide so there's not a lot of space and we can't go further up the valley there.  It washes away into the cliff face.

Q. When you say “further up the valley,” again –

A. To the right-hand side.
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Q. – it’s just to the right-hand side of the photograph, thank you.

A. So the White Knight Stream’s coming in from the right-hand side flowing downhill and about 60 metres to the left of this photo is the confluence of the White Knight Stream with the Pike Stream coming in from the upper reaches of the Pike Valley.  So what you can also see in that photograph is the temporary conveyor, although I say temporary it’s been in there for a couple of years, several years now, since early 2007, so it’ll be taken, was to be taken out earlier this year had we been still in operation.  That conveyor was used for rock, so it was used during the construction of the tunnel and we’re still using and had been still using it for bringing rock out of the tunnel to keep it separate to the coal that was being flumed out and slurried out by the pipeline.  The truck just looks like it’s delivering something, it’s not of material importance.

Q. Perhaps just to orientate for the written record.

A. The truck on the left-hand side.

Q. Left-hand side, thank you.

A. Bottom of the photograph.  Behind that truck is a bin.  That acts as a surge bin for the rock that comes out of the mine and Fergusson’s had a contract to clear that bin regularly and routinely and they hold it down the road and that’s one of the reasons we hadn’t sealed the road yet, just the approaches to the bridges because we’re still trucking rock with heavy trucks over the last few years and once that was finished we were to seal the rest of the road.  In the middle of the photograph you can see what are two fans.  This photo’s a couple of years now, those fans were there for the construction of the tunnel, they’re parallel forcing fans, and you can see the duct or the tubing running around the corner into the tunnel, a slightly orangey colour, that’s the duct work.  This was – we’ll come to later in the statement about the shaft but that was originally used for the tunnel.  It was taken down and then reinstalled when the shaft collapsed so we could use it for ventilation for the period through until July ’09.

Q. And when you use the term, “Forcing ventilation,” Mr Whittall, what do you mean by that?

A. The two ways of ventilating a coalface, we’re sort of going off topic a little bit but the two ways of ventilating a face area is either to draw air away from that face and allow natural pressure to replace that air, so you have air coming in as it’s drawn out from the place or you can force air into the place and that positive pressure then that air just flows back out.  So because we were driving a tunnel it was more normal practice in a tunnelling situation to have forcing ventilation and that’s what we did.  So those fans were there, they forced air into the mine and then the air just came naturally out of the tunnel itself.  Also in that photograph are the McConnell Dowell buildings just next to the portal entrance where they had some facilities for their guys, some reporting area, they kept the cap plants there, and there’s also electrical distribution board set up for power for their boomer.  We’ll come some of the other equipment that was in the tunnel.  There’s also our compressed air, the large compressors.  The Pike compressors are also housed in that area on the right-hand side, although this photograph may predate their installation.  What else is on that photograph?  The other thing that’s - just to note some of the other features of it.  There’s like a box sump just to the left-hand side of the entrance, all the water that comes out of the mine, and this was in Mr Jones’ evidence the other day, he talked about doing a visit to have a look at discharges et cetera.  So the discharge from the tunnel came out, when it was just flowing on the ground, came out to that collection point just there and it went underground by tunnel, sorry, by pipe then back down to the left-hand side of the photograph.  And what’s not shown just to the left of this is dump pond number 1, pond 1. And that’s a dosing pond where there’s a little, doesn’t come up as blue on this photograph very much but there’s a little blue hose running against the escarpment there and that actually has a flocculate running up through it, that was pumped into that sump, that started the process of dropping out the solids so by the time the water ran down to the pond, about 50 metres from there, then it would start to be separating out and can could dose it with sulphuric acid or whatever else we had to do to make it clean for discharge.  So that’s the sort of thing that Craig and his off-sider or the other lady who was taking his job were up there looking at.

Q. And just to provide a little more context for some of the evidence that’ll come later.  Mr Whittall to the extent driftrunners were being used to transport men into the mine, can you just show with the pointer where they would travel?

A. So this was men or materials or a personnel drift so just what’s again not shown off to the left-hand side of this photo is the White Knight Bridge, so all traffic would go across that bridge and could either turn left and go down to the pond or turn right, which is just here, only just barely off photo.
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Q. On the far left side.

A. On the left-hand side of the photo and that truck has come from there.  It would drive up through the middle of the photo and then if they’re going into the portal area they’d just park in this area.  Otherwise they would turn to the left under the conveyor, this is a raised conveyor, it’s not as easy to tell in two dimensions but that’s up above the road, and driftrunners put LHDs, whatever would drive under there and would drive up into the tunnel beside the conveyor belt.

Q. And just one more question on this photograph Mr Whittall, we talked earlier about a tag board, you identified that at the amenities area, was there a point in time at which there was also a tag board here?

A. Yes there was, during the construction of the tunnel, while it was a single entry we had tag board, McConnell Dowell managed that process, so we had restricted number of people and you carried your own tag and you could put it on the board, you know, a determined number of slots and once all the slots were filled you couldn't go underground.

Q. If I can turn you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW14.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is a photo of the tunnel being constructed by McConnell Dowell.  From memory the photo is only about 50 metres underground, something of that order of magnitude.  This is early on in the tunnel’s life so this photo was taken probably late 2006.  The equipment in the tunnel, the things in the photograph that you can note, the employee at the front left hand corner is the McConnell Dowell supervisor, he's got the lime green top which were all the McConnell Dowell guys.  The machine in the middle of it is an Atlas Copco Twin Boom Jumbo, so it’s a piece of equipment that’s used multipurpose, it’s electro-hydraulic so it runs off electricity but all the controls of it are hydraulic and it’s got two booms or two arms operated by two separate operators, one on either side of the machine, standing up inside the cabin area, which is up in here so there's no one actually up in there at the moment, or there could be but he might be just standing behind that rack on the back of it.  

Q. And is the cabin area that grey marked area?

A. That's right, so you're looking in the back windscreen not the front windscreen of the machine.  What you can see is below, reasonably clearly, running horizontally across the roof section of the tunnel is one of the booms and running sort of diagonally from the machine upwards is the other one, so there's two booms shown there.  They run independently and, as I said, they had two operators who operate them.  The process they would go through is to, I know Mr Edwards’ submission has gone through a lot of detail of the process of drilling and blasting, but this machine would be used to both drill out the face so that the holes would be drilled into the face, which it’s not doing at this stage, so into the face meaning into that area in front and then the blast would be loaded up, the shot would be fired, cleaned up, and this is in the post clean up mode, there you can see the face is nice and cleaned up, and then that machine would then be used to drill holes to place roof support and that’s what it looks like it’s doing at the moment, drilling a hole to put a bolt in to secure that mesh.  Because this was quite early in the tunnel, the first 50, 80 metres of the tunnel, nearly 100 probably, was all quite broken ground quite close to the surface and also had to be shotcreted and shotcrete is a spray on concrete mixed with a fibre, sometimes a steel fibre, only an inch or so long, and sometimes a nylon fibre depending on the mix, and that’s sprayed on so basically the fibre acts as a reinforcement but we also have mesh on the rib so that acted as a secondary reinforcement.  And in this area the shotcrete was sprayed on at the discretion of the URS consulting engineers or consulting GEOs to McConnell Dowell, variously between 25 millimetres and up to 100 odd millimetres thick depending on how much strength they needed in that particular part of the tunnel.  Out of the back of the machine it shows up well on the photo on the screen, but up on the wall it’s not quite so clear, there's some cables, there's electrical cable and hoses running out.  The one on the right hand side is the electrical cables so it’s got a trailing cable and there's another one just going into the back there, which would be its water supply.  The light on the right hand side would just be a normal electricity, so because this is well and truly in the early stage of the tunnel, there's no gas or anything so it’s just a single construction tunnel and so that would've been a normal electrical supplied light.
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Q. If I can take you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW15 which is now being displayed.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is the same Jumbo but taken from in front of so this is a lot further up into the tunnel.  It’s adjacent to a, looks like it’s adjacent to a little cut out stub on the right-hand side it’s again hard, it’s easier to see on the TV screen that it is on the wall but the roadway is slightly wider here so there may have been a cut out, slightly wider for something else in that area.

Q. Actually, Mr Whittall, if I just interrupt you there.  Could we turn the lights off perhaps for this one because it may be easier for everyone to see the further detail?  Thank you.

A. So in that photo there’s a man standing there so that gives you a height of that roadway it’s about four and a half metres high.  This area has been bolted and meshed but it’s not shotcreted.  There’s a couple of pipes on the wall there.  They look like they’re not, well certainly the bottom one’s not coupled up to anything and the top one it’s hard to tell whether it’s been coupled up and in use or not.  They’d obviously come back out to do some secondary support with the rig of they’ve moved it back out of the face while they’re blasting.  It’s not at the coalface but it has got its stabiliser bars deployed so it looks like it’s there doing some additional bolting work and someone’s been up in front of it to take the photo.

Q. And the floor condition in this part of the tunnel, Mr Whittall, can you make any observation about that?

A. I did talk before about the water coming out of the tunnel and that’s pretty typical.  The tunnel was fairly wet but variously wet so a lot of the ground water would be discharged quite early on in the tunnel’s life.  Some places continue to drip and run for a long time and still do now and others dripped and ran for a little while and then dried up so the floor variously was quite damp.  Further out in the tunnel, in the main portion of the tunnel, and after it had been constructed for a while you're able to get the grader to get a nice camber on the road and there was a trench dug down this right-hand side of the photo or the true left side as you're looking up the tunnel and that took the water into that point and collected it and it ran out the tunnel into that sump but further up into the mine where it’s flatter and you're still working all the time then you'd get a lot of water dropping onto the road and it was quite wet.

Q. If I could just bring you back to your brief, Mr Whittall, we’re on page 4 and paragraph 17 and if I could have you read that last sentence just before we talk about the exhibit.

A. “Attached and marked PW16 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the tunnel in relation to the coal seam.”

Q. So we now have PW16 that exhibit up and displayed, Mr Whittall could you explain this to the Commission?

A. Yes, we produced a lot of diagrams like this again for shareholders and others to understand where we were at.  This has come out of a quarterly or an annual report.  It was taken or its vintage is when the mine was at, or tunnel was at 2174 metres in so hence remaining section of tunnel so at this stage we had tunnelled up through the pit bottom in the stone area is off to the right-hand side of the diagram, the 2000 metre mark is there.  We went through the Hawera Fault at about 2090 metres from memory.

Q. The Hawera Fault is marked on this diagram?

A. Hawera Fault is marked on here as the dashed green, red and white line running diagonally through the picture.  The hard rock on the right-hand side is the Gneiss that we’ve spoken about in previous submissions which is a metamorphic hard basement rock or sometimes I think 
Dr Newman was referring to it as a basement rock.  Then on the, that’s the eastern side of the Hawera Fault.  On the western side of the Hawera Fault we go into the coal measures.  What’s actually happened here, because the Hawera Fault is such a large upthrust, thousand metre upthrust fault it’s actually got what’s called fault drag on it and it has dragged the coal seam which would have typically continued to trend downwards.  It’s actually dragged it up and this fault drag all the way to the surface is coal exposed to the surface edge, so it’s quite a dislocation in this area of the coal seam so what that meant was we’d done a lot of drilling in this area in particular to understand that.  
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A. We drilled holes from the western side of the fault down through it to pick up the fault interface and also from the western side over in the centre of the drawing to understand what that was going to look like so ultimately we understood that when we drove the tunnel through rather than coming into the normal flat projection of that coal seam, we’re actually going to be coming into the Paparoa coal measures or the Brunner coal measures below the Brunner seam and have to continue tunnelling through hard rock up into the base of the coal seam roughly where it flattened out, which was our strategy and there’s a borehole, from memory PRDH9, which is the intersection point where the tunnel is aiming for.

Q. Just to give some sense of perspective here Mr Whittall, what’s the size of the tunnel that’s been driven through?

A. That’s five and a half metres wide by 4.5 metres high.

Q. Thank you.  And let's come back to your brief.  We're at page 4, just the heading above paragraph 18?

A. Sure.  “Pit Bottom.  Adjacent and connected to either side of the access tunnel, an additional 470 metres of stone drive was developed, commencing approximately 1700 metres along the tunnel as part of the pit bottom in stone facilities.  To the north side of the pit bottom in stone excavation, mine infrastructure for coal collection, crushing and underground coal transport was constructed.  The slurry pipeline commenced here and extends to the CPP.  The southern area was mostly dedicated to the water storage, high pressure pumping systems and electrical infrastructure associated with the hydro-monitor system.  Pit bottom in stone is located several hundred metres down the tunnel from where the access tunnel enters the coal seam at a low point in the basin of the coal seam.  This allows for the coal to be slurried downhill from mining operations.  Attached and marked PW17 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, showing the pit bottom in stone in construction.”

Q. Can I just pause you there Mr Whittall.  We're looking at PW17, that’s now being displayed.  And can you explain to the Commission what we can see in this photograph please?

A. Yes, this the large slurry slump under construction.  When we chose to put pit bottom in stone, it was to allow some very large wide excavations to be done in a stable environment and this particular sump is the roof height’s 11 metres high in there and the road is up to eight metres wide in stone.  So all of the – it was driven in several passes from the other direction so that we were able to excavate the roof area as a tunnel and we were able to bolt it and fully shotcrete the roof area up above and then we came back and did another pass through the bottom and took out the base and those are actually walls about three quarters of a metre thick of concrete to actually give structural integrity to the walls, and on the other side, similarly on the right-hand side, and what you're looking at is a McConnell Dowell Construction employee building the framework for the end of the slurry sump so the coal – we'll look at some other diagrams in a moment which will explain it better, but the coal would enter this sump from where the photographer has taken the photo, and the coal would be built up as a slurry against the end wall that’s yet to be constructed here, and there’d be a couple of pipes, one higher one and one lower one, installed in that before that end wall was put in, and that’s where the coal would be discharged to the slurry pumps.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I can bring you back to your brief at page 4, the bottom of paragraph 19.  I think we're about to talk about some of those other images you just referenced, but if I could have you read just the last sentence of your brief at paragraph 19 before we do so?

A. “Attached and marked PW18 and PW19 are true copies of a 3D video and a diagram, obtained from the company records, of the pit bottom in stone facilities.”

Q. And if we just pause at the start of that video Mr Whittall.  I believe as we look at it, there maybe a couple of places where you would like us to pause so you give some more detail.  So if you just say “pause,” we'll attempt to do that and then we'll end with a diagram which is PW19, which will be static and you may be able to speak to it in more detail?

A. It might be easier if I just maybe point out some things before you start the video, then I'll just let you run it right through on this one.  So what you're looking at is the tunnel coming up from the right-hand side, the bottom right-hand side, coming up through the tunnel, and you can see it’s sort of wedge-shaped to give the impression of it going uphill, and it goes up and enters through and disappears off to the left-hand side as it goes up towards the Hawera Fault into the mine.  So the number of features of this pit bottom area, it’s all in stone drivage so it’s all in the Gneiss.  Its position was reasonably flexible.  We kept on mining until we got to the point where we could get really good rock conditions and we’d done a lot of boreholes in that area as well to determine that.  
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A. So what you're looking is on the north side, we’re on the south side orientation now, on the north side the coal would come in from the top left hand side of the photo, of the picture, in a flume, an open steel trough, it would come into the first of the holding pens and that’s basically just a surge point that would take, if all the power dropped off, would take all the coal that was fitted into the flume line above it, so basically a dump pond, it wasn’t meant to do a lot of storage.  So coal would drop into there.

Q. And just for the written record we’re travelling along the top from left to right?

A. Yes, the most northern roadway there, and we’re travelling from left to right, through that storage surge bin, out of the bottom of that surge bin comes two open fluid lines with gates on either one, so you'd have one or the other open at a time, and it would go – assuming we’re receiving coal out of the closest one to us at the moment, the coal would come out of that flume, would come around the corner and would go into one of two large crushers, McKlenner hand crushers.  There's two there and that’s why there's two outlets from the storage bin, just as a 100% redundancy, so you only use one crusher at a time but if you had to maintain one and one breakdown you can open the other gate and put the coal through the other crusher, so we built a duplicate system there.  The coal would bypass, if it was less than 35 ml, so it didn’t get crushed again because that was the optimum size to go down the slurry pipeline.  If it was larger than 35 ml it would go through the crushers and would be broken up so that the water and the 35 ml coal would go straight onto the lower flume that sat below the crushing station.  The larger stuff would go through the crushers and then rejoin the smaller material in the flume and as a discharge from the crushing station into that large sump and the chap that was taken the photo of before, building the end wall, was basically in this large excavation here and from the bottom there to the top there's about 11 metres high and about eight metres wide.  It’s quite a large area.  On the downhill side of that is a series of slurry pumps, they’re in series rather than parallel so the coal would actually go from one to the other and there was more there than was required.  They’re all sitting on concrete plinth but there was enough pumps there to pump the coal down the pipeline.  We’ll talk a bit more about the coal pipeline later visually but just to understand at this point, because the pipeline was about 11 inch inside diameter but we matched the coal slurry pumps to the size of the pipeline because it had to transport the coal from this point nearly 10 kilometres to the coal prep plant and there's a lot of up and down in the road but it’s actually about 300 metres vertical elevation difference between this point and the coal prep plant, so even though it goes up and down the roads there's enough head to transport water.  There's also enough head to transport coal because our coal is really light, it’s only 1.2 kilograms so it’s 1.2 specific gravity.  However, because there's dolomite and rock and other things that get mixed up with it, if you just allowed it to go into gravity that would settle out, so while it could gravity feed all the way to the prep plant we actually have a series of pumps that pump it at about four and a half metres a second, from memory, that’s quite a high pressure and quite a fast flow down the valley, so we have all these pumps lined up, but over time the pipeline wears and by only wearing several millimetres getting slightly larger it actually reduces the pressure on the pipeline enough that we had to have an extra pump there just for the wear in the pipeline over time, so there's an extra plinth and an extra pump there than what’s required.  Then there's the electrical installation that goes with all of those pumps.  All the bullet starters and motors and everything else to with them.  on this side of, the south side of the pit bottom and stone area –

Q. So now we’re moving into the bottom lower part of the photograph?

A. Into the lower part of it with the central tunnel being the access if you like, through the middle, so there's the north side of pit bottom and stone, the south side of pit bottom and stone was for stuff going the other direction.  We looked at that concrete pad at the amenities area and I said there was a pump station just below that, off the picture, that pumps water from there up into the mine and up into a big holding tank here, so this is what we call a fluming water pond, so the water here would be for low pressure washing of coal away from the coalfield, continuous miners rather than the hydro monitor, so in this picture there's a number of pumps as well and these pumps, the water comes up the tunnel from the bottom right hand corner to the top left, it comes around that corner into this sump, it looks like a really big swimming pool of really nice crystal clear water, out of the bottom of that there’s these pumps, they going to go round the corner and then they go off up into the mine and that’s the water that’s used for fluming water.
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Q. And those pumps, just for the written record Mr Whittall, they’re in the second column perhaps that comes on the south side?

A. Yes, the second roadway.

Q. The second roadway down there, thank you.

A. Correct, yes, or second cut-through.  So that’s where those pumps are.  There’s electrical installations in the top one, the main substation for the mine is in there.  And there’s a number of electrical installations in that area as well.  So just to give an orientation, there’s a video that runs with this as well that you might get a bit better perspective.  It’s a bit hard in two dimensions.

Q. We’ll play that now perhaps.  

VIDEO PLAYED TO THE COMMISSION
A. Gives you a perspective of the excavations that were done there and the size of, it was quite a large civil construction.  McConnell Dowell did all the civils, pit bottom area and they brought in their own civil construction experts to do some of these large jobs.  There’s about 470 metres of additional stone drive that we originally weren’t going to put in the, that wasn’t the original tender and it added quite a number of months to the construction.  But the alternative was to try and put some of those large wide drive-ages into the coal on the western side of the Hawera Fault which we’d started to understand how badly broken it was and I had lost confidence in its ability to have a life of mine stability so this was a much better option.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I could bring you back to your brief, if we can come to page 5, there’s a heading just above paragraph 20 and if I could ask you to start reading again from there please.

A. “The ventilation shaft.  The mine’s ventilation shaft is located to the west of the Hawera Fault as part of the pit bottom in coal development.  The shaft was originally constructed as a raise bore shaft measure approximately 4.2 metres in diameter.  However a failure of the lower portion of the shaft during construction, due to the de-lamination of micro fractured stone prior to supporting, meant that the lower portion of the shaft was in-filled and abandoned and the upper section of the shaft was connected to workings via an Alimak raise measuring 2.5 metres by 2.5 metres.  Two further surface connections, one intake and one return, were planned just west of the current workings.  Attached and marked PW20 is a true copy of a diagram obtained from company records showing the ventilation shaft and Alimak raise.

Q. So if I could turn you now Mr Whittall to PW20, the exhibit that has just been displayed.

A. Mmm.

Q. And can you also explain what this diagram shows to the Commission?

A. The diagram here is the shaft, the upper section is the original raise bore shaft, the lower section’s the Alimak.  The surface contour again is quite arbitrary and the helicopter was shown there with a bucket hanging off the bottom of it representing the thousand flights it took with buckets of concrete up to fill the plug, fill the plug with concrete in the shaft.  The raise bore was done with a single pilot hole and there’s a number of other bore holes at the location for data as well.  And the top 30 metres, although it’s not shown here, was drilled in a rig and then pumped with concrete, actually with a slurry grout into the strata and it took several thousand bags of grout into that hillside to stabilise that colliery area.  Over about a eight-month period that was constructed.  Then the pilot hole was drilled down to where the roadway was going to be.  The roadway was then driven to the bottom of the pilot hole and the ream head attached to the rods –

Q. And so just for the written record.  The roadways are marked by the light grey drawing coming from the left side of the diagram?

A. At the bottom of the diagram, correct.  And then the raise bore, which is a big circular head, was rotated with picks on it, it was rotated and drawn back up the shaft forming a 4.2 meter hole in the ground essentially.  
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A. One of the things that has to be assessed when you look at a raise bore is the ground’s ability to stand up without support until such times as it can be supported, depending on the ground it may not even need to be supported and all the assessments that were done indicated that that would be case by the consultants to the people doing the construction but what we found happened was once we’d finished raising the shaft we had to put a hoist in the top and then start working from the top down, so this is McConnell Dowell were doing the construction, start working from the top down and bolting as you go because you can't go straight down it because the men would be exposed to the unsupported walls but while they were doing we started to find slabs of rock at the bottom of the shaft which we didn’t know where they came from.  They just landed at the bottom of the shaft and it was problematic we started digging them out but we thought once, if we can keep ahead of it then by the time they would get down to that point they’d just bolt it up and we’d be okay, but they started getting bigger and bigger size of a sort of billiard table lumps of rock coming down so we stopped and put video cameras down the bore hole, down the shaft, lowered them down and found that there was an area around the 68, 70 metre mark had started to unravel basically like micro fractured rocks had started slabbing off the sides and we couldn't bolt, or McConnell Dowell couldn't bolt and mesh their way down fast enough to stop that from perpetuating and eventually it got ahead of our ability to muck it away and it filled up and blocked that bottom and once that happened we had to go back to forcing ventilation which we’d just come off, once we’d made the hole through.  Ultimately that continued to, it basically self supported, choked itself off but by the time we got down to the bottom area the excavation or the tunnel which had been 4.2 metres wide, the shaft, was now over 11 metres wide and it was unsupportable.  We couldn't safely get men out there to do anything with it.  We looked at all sorts of robotic options and just couldn't do anything so ultimately the decision was made to fill it with concrete, stabilise the top of it, abandon it, which was a real shame and then put another go around it effectively and reuse the top section which was very stable and had been bolted and meshed all the way down and had no issues but it was just once it started to unravel without anyone there to stop it, it kept on going, so what’s also shown in that diagram is the Alimak raise that was done and I think there’s some description of the Alimak rise, if not in my evidence it’s certainly in Mr Edwards’ submission as to the methodology, but the Alimak raise was done around that section just far enough off standing off the shaft not to be affected by the ground that had already started to collapse to give us a roughly stable enough ground for the Alimak guys to work in but still very broken in that area.

Q. Thank you, Mr Whittall, if I could bring you back to your brief, we’re on page 5 and ask you to start reading from paragraph 21.

A. “The pit bottom in the coal area adjacent to the Hawera fault is a series of permanent life-of-mine roadways which house water storage and pumping systems as well as providing access to the mining areas to the west.  Attached and marked PW21 is a true copy obtained from company records of a 3D digital flyover of the mine.”

Q. So we’re going to show this flyover now, Mr Whittall, and I’d ask if you could just perhaps describe to us what we’re looking at and if you'd like us to pause at any point then please just let us do so.  Perhaps before we start we might just orientate ourselves as to where we are?

A. Certainly.  This is a digital video if you like taken from our electronic database which shows, they’re all topographic photos so that the photos are true and accurate as far as the, what we’re looking in the topography and once we, we do underground in this flyover as well and the tunnel is also orientated exactly out of our database so it’s all survey correct but it shows up as a digital image rather than as a true photograph.  The black line is, apologies, that’s a little bit annoying it wasn’t cleaned up as well as I would've liked so that’s actually the flightpath that we’re taking on so you track a flightpath on the computer and then what we’d be looking at is if we were flying in a helicopter or something and we’ll be flying along the black line so it’ll look like it’s snaking off in front of us which is where we’re going to but it has no relevance to the actual pictures we’re looking at, so we’re now on top of the escarpment so if we start the video.

VIDEO CONTINUES TO BE PLAYED
A. I’ll do it, it goes reasonably slow to start with so I can just orientate you.  You can see where, we’re actually flying slightly to the west and about to go over the edge of the escarpment so you can see it’s quite a steeply dipping basin of coal, the coal seam 100 odd metres below us there, what you're looking at in the background is the, is actually pretty much the line of the Hawera fault projected to the surface so it forms a crest of the escarpment.  Now is the western escarpment and the basin of the Pike coalfield.
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A. We're coming onto the escarpment where we showed you the Brunner seam before and the Paparoa seam down in the tree line.  All the white areas are just areas that we didn't digitise in for the sake of this video.  They would be there otherwise.  What you're looking at well and truly in the background of that photo is the coal prep plant down on the Van Der Geest Farm and the narrow sort of area of green colour coming up the valley is the Pike Valley.  So that’s the Pike Valley over there.  So now flying along the edge of the escarpment and we'll come down to the upper reaches of the Pike Stream or fly down the valley and you'll see we're following that little black line.  So you can see it’s very steeply incised, very steep cliffs, very, very narrow ridges.  There's some old drill rig sites there.  They just sit on the ridges, the only place you can really drill.  In the middle of the photo coming into view is the shaft.  So that’s our shaft.  It’s about 50 metres.  Maybe we could just pause there for one second.  The shaft side itself is on the side of a ridge.  What you can't see very well here, is actually a deeply incised gully running down there and another deeply incised gully running down there.

Q. Just on either side of the shaft?

A. On either side, so sorry yes.  Just to the east and to the west of the shaft site.  So the shaft sits on a ridge, very narrow ridge, and we had to excavate out quite a deep platform for it to sit on, and the helicopter pad is that little orange bit above it.  So there's a little pad where the helicopter can land.  The next pad down, there's a big retaining wall.  That’s why it took eight months to excavate and develop up there before we were ready to start the actual shaft.  And then further down, and we'll talk, we'll show you the Slimline shaft comes into the commentary a bit later, but it’s positioned on another little flat nose further down the same ridge, so we're quite restricted in where we can put things up in this environment.  Some of the other drill holes we talked about earlier for the pit bottom in stone, which is back along the valley.  Pretty much the tunnel runs along that valley from where the shaft is back into the top of the photograph and followed the Pike Stream pretty much sub-parallel to that.  So to get to the drill sites for those other holes about pit bottom, you needed to land up at this site, walk down into the stream, walk along the river, and then climb back up the hillside to the site.  It’s extremely difficult terrain to access and very deeply incised all the way.  Thank you.  So the video on our fly down roughly down the Pike Stream and you'll see it’s quite steep all the way.  Just a little bit of colour coming into the view is the portal area so we'll go past that.  We'll follow that black line and we'll swing around the amenities area and come back again.  It’s about 1.2 kilometres from the amenities area up to the portal.  There's the Pike Stream running down there through the valley.  And the buildings we've just previously described earlier, the training buildings and the amenities.  We're now driving up along the road.  That was a very difficult road to install up the side of the mountain and down around over the White Knights Stream.  You can see the confluence there on the left.  Then we go underground.  This is a true representation of the tunnel so it gives you an idea of the difference between the tunnel and the surface topography.  So you're looking at the underside of the Pike Stream running through there.  The big green on the right is a projection of the Hawera Fault, so we're going to go through that.  You can't see through it at the moment because in the computer it forms a barrier with the coal seams to the right.  So we’ll fly through there in a minute.  This is the pit bottom area we just showed in the previous video.  So now we'll go through the Hawera Fault and we'll come out into the coal measures but not into the coal itself.  So we're in the sedimentary rock.  Apologies.  It may get a little disorienting for a moment.  Can we just stop it there for a second, thank you.  Because the other one that I showed you was an engineer’s graphic, sounds very nice and smooth and pretty, this is straight out of our database.  So the roads are as they were driven, so they're quite – all the bumps and hollows and hollows in the roof, et cetera are as they were actually drilled, so this has been picked up by our surveyors, put into our database and then recreated out of that.  
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A. So it shows that it’s quite a broken area down around this pit bottom area where we’ve come through the Hawera fault.  The two things you can see, you can see the shaft coming in the top, from the top of the middle of the picture here, it’s shown as being truncated where we feed it so they’ve taken the bottom section of the shaft out because it’s now filled in, and you can see the Alimak on a slight incline going up and coming into the side of the shaft.  We’ve since bottom-filled that slight bit of shaft with some gravel so you don’t actually come out into a big hole like that, you come out onto a flat area.  The other thing you can see in that picture is the Slimline shaft which we’ll talk about shortly as well.  It’s about a 600 millimetre diameter large backroom bore hole basically.  That was drilled from the ridge just down from the shaft as well and comes into the pit bottom area and it will be shown on other plans later on.  You can also see the steepness and elevation of some of these roads, they become a bit more apparent as we swing around it again.  So, what we’re looking at now is back to the east, back down the tunnel alignment roughly, with pit bottom in coal, we talk about, is down to the right there.  Basically all of what you're looking at is the pit bottom and coal area and the roadways that are closest to here, from roughly that larger roadway that runs through the middle of the drawing, this side of the two shafts, from there up, the other roadways that run in stone in the groundman area, which we’ll also talk about later, so you can continue please.

VIDEO CONTINUES TO BE PLAYED

A. See the tunnel coming in from the left hand side now as we’ve come across to the other side of pit bottom.  You see how high up these drivers go, above the shaft, they were up in stone and coal mostly.  This black line here, and you'll see other black lines coming in, this is actually a bore hole from the surface although the computer has shown it going right through it doesn’t in fact do that.  That’s the grizzly bore hole that you'll see often in our gas monitoring information, and you'll see a whole bunch of other bore holes in the background there that have come down into the strata.  You see the hydro panel off in the background, we’ll see that a bit closer in a moment.  This is looking from the south side of the pit bottom south, so these are all the high pressure water pumps and the electrics for the hydro monitors are down in this area, over onto the right hand side now as we look at it.  In the middle of the photo now you can see two roadways going from the centre road across to the right hand road, that’s the two raw coal sumps that were excavated most recently.  The road on the right that’s not connected was stopped coming up the hill and the roadheader is currently constructing that road back downhill to join it, the hydro panel, you can see all the different colours that the surveyors like to use for different phases of extraction as they’ve gone in there and surveyed it, and the roadway very much closest to us in the photo is where the ABM 20 was.  Give you a bit of an idea of orientation and height and distances.  You can see the hydro panel is extracting back downhill from what's in the centre of the photo now, back down to the right.  

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
11.28 AM
COMMISSION RESUMES:
11.47 AM

examination continues:  MS SHORTALL

Q. Mr Whittall, I think we ended at page 5 of your brief and if you come to paragraph 23 and just start from the heading above that please.

A. “Administration And staff.  At the time of the explosion the majority of company staff were based in Greymouth at the mine site.  Some additional corporate staff were located in Wellington.  Most of the company’s management team were based at the mine site office, including the site general manager, the human resources manager, technical services manager, coal preparation plant manager, environmental manager, safety and training manager, engineering manager and production manager.  Other employees at the mine site included human resources, technical services, health, safety and environment staff, engineering staff, production staff, CPP staff and administrative staff.  At the time of the incident there were 69 miners ranked hierarchically from underviewers, deputies, senior miners, experienced miners, miners and trainee miners.  The company’s head office is situated in Wellington.  At the time of the incident staff working at the head office included various members of the management team, including myself as chief executive, also the company’s chief financial officer.  There was a small number of administrative staff based at the company’s head office.  The statutory mine manager was based at the mine site and oversaw the operation of the mine site.  The statutory mine manager managed predominantly the underground operations of the mine and supervised the health and safety aspect of the mine operation.  The statutory mine manager as at 19 November 2010 was Douglas White.  Mr White was employed in January 2010 as the operations manager for the mine, to whom the statutory mine manager position reported.  Upon the resignation of the incumbent mine manager, Mick Lerch in June 2010, Mr White commenced responsibilities as the statutory mine manager on 26 June 2010.  This was intended to be a temporary appointment until a replacement mine manager could be recruited and appointed.  Before he was appointed s the operations manager for the company Mr White was the Deputy Chief Inspector of Coal Mines with the Department of Mines in Queensland.  When Mr White took over the role of statutory mine manager, a contract development manager was engaged in a
non-statutory role to assist him.  On 13 September 2010 Stephen Ellis commenced with the company as production manager.  It was intended that he would become the statutory mine manager.  Although qualified in the United Kingdom he was unable to assume that role until he became qualified under New Zealand legislation.  Mr White continued to hold the statutory position until such time as Mr Ellis obtained his 
New Zealand qualification, which was after 19 November 2010.  At the time of Mr Ellis’ appointment Mr White was operations manager and his direct reports were the productions manager, safety and training manager, engineering manager and CPP manager.  This effectively gave Mr White control of and responsibility for the mine’s operations from the coal face to the coal train.  Following my appointment as chief executive in October 2010 Mr White’s role was changed to site general manager and he expanded his responsibilities to include the departments of environmental, technical Services and Human Resources.  The role of site general manager was not the same scope as my previous role of general manager mines.  The role of general manager mines, especially in 2010, was additionally and largely focussed on shareholder interaction, capital markets and other corporate functions.  Attached and marked PW22 is a chart which I have created showing some of the management positions in the company and the dates that those positions were held by various people.”  

Q. If I can just stop you there Mr Whittall and turn your attention to PW22, which is now displayed and ask you to explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows.

A. Yes.  I’ve created this chart, it doesn’t show all of the management positions of the company but ones that are relevant to the more operational aspects of the site and it’s divided into different years.  The year’s not exactly the same width, they depend on how many people filled the roles in each of those years, and they go from top to bottom, are some of the key roles in the company, and from left to right and in different boxes the people who held those roles at different times.  And you’ll note that in some places one person holds multiple roles.  So I'll just go through it from top to bottom.  
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Q. Yes please.

A. So the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas was Gordon Ward when I started with the company.  He held sort of a dual role.  He was employed by New Zealand Oil and Gas as the general manager and based in Wellington of that company, but he also was the general manager of Pike River Coal, albeit he wasn't employed under our payroll system if you like.  There was no one under the Pike River payroll system at that stage.  He held that position until the end of 2006, January 2007, at which time he transferred across full-time to Pike River Coal and left his position with New Zealand Oil and Gas and he became the chief executive of Pike River Coal and relinquished his position with New Zealand Oil and Gas.  He stayed in that position until October the 1st of 2010 and when I was appointed on October the 2nd and held that position through until the start of the receivership and then changed, but this diagram goes through till the 19th of the 11th on the right-hand side, so it does –

Q. So Mr Ward was your boss, Mr Whittall?

A. Yeah he was my – I directly reported to him from when I started in early ’05 and I'll come to myself in a moment.  So Gordon, he’s the red bar.  He goes across from left to right until the first week of October 2010 when he had resigned from the company.  My role as chief executive commenced then and went through until as chief executive of Pike River Coal Limited until the 13th of December when the company went into receivership.  My role as general manager I haven’t split out my first appointment which is as mine manager because I thought it might have been confusing.  My original position was appointed on the 21st or so of February 2005 and my title was mine manager.  We didn't actually have a mine, it was just the title and it wasn't a statutory position, it was an organisational position.  But within a year I’d moved to the general manager’s role, so I just included that one role right through.  So in my role as mine manager, originally in that first 12 months I reported to Gordon as did our environment manager who I'll come to later, and the contract manager or project manager, Les McCracken, who was a consultant to the company, and we all reported through to Gordon for that first 12 months and then after 2006 that changed.  My role as general manager mines, meant it was a reasonably flat organisation as you'll see in the subsequent plan and all of the people that we subsequently employed after that because it was quite small at that stage, reported through on a flat structure to myself.  So as we recruited an engineering manager, tech services manager, all those roles reported through to me, and after 2006 so did the environment manager as well.  So my role as general manager went from February 2005 through until my appointment as chief executive as the start of October 2010.  A site general manager role didn't exist up until my appointment as chief executive and Doug took that role over or was appointed to that position from the start of October 2010 as well, so his role changed. It probably is easy to explain it and I think we explain it slightly in words later, but during my period as general manager until the operations manager’s role was appointed, so up until Nigel Slonker’s role in 2009 each of the management team had reported to me as general manager and I’d reported to Gordon along with a number of other transport logistics and other financial managers.  The operations manager role came into being in about April 2009 and the first appointment to that role was Nigel Slonker.  As the mine had got more complex and we had more reports, I created the role of operations manager and the operations manager’s role was to have responsibility for the four areas of production as the production manager and the statutory mine manager.  Also reporting to him was the safety and training manager and the engineering manager and also the coal prep plant manager.  So he basically gave the operations manager responsibility from the coal face right through to the coal going onto the train, and with support from the engineering and the safety and training department.  So that was the ops manager, and the first incumbent was Nigel.  He was with us from April till September 2009.  He resigned with a few months’ notice for family reasons, personal reasons, and in the absence of anyone to fill that role I had the pleasure of taking over both the operations role and also the statutory manager’s role at that stage.
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A. So, that’s why my name appears in three different locations at that period.  After I recruited Doug White to that role, he started in January 2010 and he became the operations manager with the previous same spread of responsibility which was, Doug’s role was to have responsibility for the mine manager by which time we had a separate manager under Doug, Mick Lerch, who was below the coal prep plant manager, the environment manager and the safety and training manager.  Doug continued in that role of operations manager through until his appointment as site general manager and even though those bars overlap I suppose theoretically that one stopped and the other one finished as his other one commenced, at about the first week of October.  On the line which is marked, “Tunnel manager,” as we heard I think from one of the inspectors, the tunnel started off as a tunnel rather than a coal mine because there was no gas in it and it was operated under the same health and safety legislation but as a civil tunnel rather than as a coal mine so when we started the mine in 2006 it was actually started as a tunnel and I had attained my first class metalliferous manager’s ticket which allowed me to become a manager of a tunnel as well as a metalliferous mine, and so I was the first tunnel manager if you like.  We appointed the project manager from McConnell Dowell who had an A grade tunnel manager’s ticket as the acting manager so he had an appointment which allowed him to be in control of the tunnel when the tunnel manager was absent, so that meant that backshifts and weekends and anything else, he was in control if I was off site, he was in control but while I was there I held the statutory position of tunnel manager, and I did that until such time as I can recruit our first mine manager, other than myself, so we were all sort of a jack of all trades in that first year or so of the project.  So, Kobus Louw was recruited out of Sasol, the large South African coalmining company, and he came to us in about February 2007 and he was appointed, once he got his qualifications ratified in New Zealand, he was appointed as the tunnel manager and stayed in that statutory position right through until the end of the tunnel and the tunnel was completed as a civil tunnel in about September 2008 and then it was converted to a coal mine, so it was declared to be a coal mine under the Coal Mines Legislation and Kobus became the mine manager rather than the tunnel manager, and Kobus continued in that role so there was no longer a tunnel manager.  Kobus continued in that role until his own resignation to go back to South Africa and rejoin Sasol in 2009.  So he’d been with us about pretty nearly two years.  
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A. Dropping onto the next line which is the mine manager which is the statutory legislated position.  Kobus held that position as we just discussed.  When he resigned we then had to find a replacement.  I was unable to – sorry, Nigel Slonker had previously interviewed for Kobus’ position a year before and so I knew his availability and had kept in personal contact with him so when Kobus put his notice in I contacted Nigel and went through another interview but pretty much he was available to come that time.  He had declined the job before for financial reasons in Australia so I got an interim manager, Mick Bevan, joined us.  He was a contractor by a company called Pelorus in Australia and he joined us for several months and then after Nigel started I kept Mick for quite a while as a sort of an extra mining person on site which was good.  Nigel joined us as the both stat manager in his own right and he also carried the role of operations manager which meant that he had the other three departments reporting to him as well remembering at this stage we’re only, had only just got into coal not very far and we were just developing a few of the roadways around pit bottom.  Nigel started when the shaft had been collapsed and we were doing the Alimaks so he started in the middle of that so it was quite a small operation at that stage.  When Nigel left I didn’t have the ability to get anyone back like Mick Bevan.  He was unavailable to me and I didn’t want to get someone else who could just do the job for a couple of months as a caretaker so I assumed the role of statutory manager for myself again for several months while we went through the recruitment process to replace both the operations manager and the stat manager and by this stage the mine, even though it was only quite tiny, we’d got into coal and there was gas and other sort of normal mining things to deal with so the company decided to split the role of operations manager from the role of statutory mine manager and we recruited two positions that time.  Mick Lerch joined us in December 2009 but it took him about a month or so to get his gratified, his certificate of competency via both the mutual recognition system and also the professional conversation system that Harry Bell referred to earlier and I relinquished the role of mine manager to Mick Lerch I believe on the 5th of January 2010 from memory and he continued on in that role.  Unfortunately he had a similar issue to Nigel Slonker as far as where his partner lived and other personal reasons and he resigned reasonably early into his tenure as well which was very disappointing because these roles are often hard to fill and hard to find good people so he left which put Doug in a similar position to what I’d been in.  Doug was there as the operations manager but he was also a very experienced mine manager and he took over that role while we went and recruited another mine manager to report to him and he stayed in that role and was still in that role on the 19th of November.  The role of production manager isn't on this table but that’s the role that I spoke previously Steve Ellis taking, but Steve has since got his ticket in January but at that stage wasn’t able to be appointed as the statutory manager.  The technical services manager was a role that we needed very early on and that was one of the roles we brought on in 2005 at the same time we brought on our human resources and technical services and engineering managers all started in the same month back in 2005.  Guy Boyes was our first technical services manager.  He was ex Solid Energy, ex worked on the West Coast, degree engineer when we recruited him he was working for BHP or BMA in Queensland and he was an experienced coalminer or his career was in coal so he came on board as tech services manager.  He stayed in that role until 2007.  He did stay with the company beyond that but he stayed on in a senior technical role and we appointed another technical services manager, 
Mr Udo Renk.  Udo Renk was another degree engineer out of Germany with a lot of experience all in underground coal and also some other related coal industries as well as direct technical management and he stayed with us until the middle of 2008 and went, they’d relocated countries to another job.  We interviewed and offered the job to Pieter van Rooynan who joined us in January 2009 although Pieter was unable to join us immediately for his own company reasons.  We recruited him out of Africa and so we waited for him.
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A. In the interim we employed Terry Moynihan as a contract into that role, he was a very experienced mining engineer, domiciled in New Zealand but with New Zealand and Australian experience and he filled that role and then stayed on with the company right through until the explosion as both a technical manager and also as the project manager of the hydro project and other things, so Terry stayed with us pretty much from that point right through to current or until the 19th of November.  
Pieter van Rooyan held that position until he resigned after two years in the role, just a couple of weeks before the mine explosion, in early November and he went for a change of career to Oceana Gold and went back into surface drilling and other works and went back into that area.  Ivan Liddell was the environment manager from the week after I started, so he started the same time as I did and reported to Gordon Ward at that stage for the first year or so then reported to me from 2006 and he was still with the company through until January this year.  
Neville Rockhouse was our safety and training manager, just to explain the gap because it would be something that I would note myself, that there wasn’t a safety and training manager earlier on.  Safety and training manager is a fairly significant role to any company like ours and we actually had been recruiting one for a year and a half, I wanted one to start back in October ’05 but I was unable to find a suitable candidate.  Had a lot of applicants but rejected them all, very disappointingly and went through about three or four different recruitments.  I met Neville, I think it was the end of 2005, who showed a great interest in the job, but was contracted, had some contractual issues of his own in his own company and wasn’t able to join us, but he was still around the following year and I still hadn't found anyone that I was willing to appoint and so we waited for Neville and Neville joined us in 2006, at the end of 2006 I think, December and stayed with the company through until this year.

Q. Let’s come back to page 7 of your brief, paragraph 33 and I'd just ask you to read the last sentence of that paragraph before we look at the exhibit that’s just been displayed?

A. “Attached and marked PW23 is an organisation chart, which I have also created and which I understand represents the organisational structure of the company as at 19 November 2010.

Q. So if we just come to PW23 as it is now displayed and if I could ask you just to generally explain what this organisational chart shows?

A. I understand, to fiddle on it, it’s a little bit small on the screen but I'll speak in generalities and I may be able to get you to expand some areas for me, maybe if you could please expand the top area around the chief executive area?  This is dated at the 19th of November so that we described that we’d had a change of leadership and a change of organisational structure to some extent in the weeks prior to this, the month prior to this.  So, at the time of the explosion I was the chief executive domiciled in Wellington.  My direct reports included chief financial officer, Angela Horne, the supply chain manager, Scott McKay, Doug who looked after the site as the site general manager, we’ve talked about, we had a relationships manager, Alan Ambler and a coal marketing consultant, Bob Reynolds, who was based in Australia, were my direct reports as well as a PA in Wellington.  If you can go back out again please, maybe just pick up as much as you can on the left hand side just to make it a bit clearer, I won’t spend a long time on this org chart.  So, on the left hand side the yellow is the financial team, reporting through the chief financial officer.  In Wellington there is one, there was a couple of accountants, a senior accountant and a systems accountant and on site, reporting through the financial accountant, were the accounts payable team and reporting through the CFO was the stores and purchasing coordinator in the stores and other stores-related activities on site reported back through the CFO, who came down to site every fortnight or so from Wellington.
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A. Also on that diagram, which is the start of the team reporting through to the site general manager, is a human resources department, human resources manager, resources advisor and the training co-ordinator.  The training co-ordinator had been a very recent change, although it’s shown on the org chart here we’d done a restructure about the same time that Doug took over the site general manager’s role before that Neville’s role was safety and training manager through until, pretty much until about October, I think, of 2010 and then we moved the training function into the human resources department and Neville’s role changed to health and safety manager rather than safety and training manager.  So that was a reasonably new change for Adrian to report through that line although it was the same person.  The environment manager had a small team but he also had all the pond operators that looked after that pond 1 and all the acid dosing et cetera.  If we can maybe move over to the right please slightly.  Terry Moynihan I mentioned earlier who came on as a technical services manager and stayed as a project planning manager.  His whole team were all contractors apart from Nick Gribble, and I’ll come to Nick.  The rest of the team were all there specifically for the implantation of the hydro system and the attendant works, so all the installation of the engineering view underground, all of the major, not civil construction, although some civil construction, the ponds underground et cetera, a lot of the work McConnell Dowell were doing and a lot of the work the contractors were doing that were underground at the time of the explosion all reported back through, actually probably all of them reported back through this team here with Terry Moynihan.  The only person in that team who wasn’t a contractor was Nick Gribble.  Nick had previously been our engineering manager and it had been agreed that he would step sideways into a role with that team and Rob Ridl came on and he’s on another part of this diagram.  So Mick’s in there as an employee but all the others were there as contractors for that particular project.  Also on that diagram you can see the technical services team.  As I’ve mentioned earlier, Pieter van Rooynan resigned in early November, or left early November, so the role of technical services manager was vacant at the time, was being filled temporarily by Greg Borichevsky our technical services coordinator.  He was an experienced Geotech engineer and mining engineer, been with us for a little while and was, well coincidentally I suppose, we’d actually made an appointment on the day of the 19th of November for the new tech services manager out of Australia and he’d accepted that job that morning so obviously he didn’t end up coming.  So that role had just been filled.  In that team is the – the technical services covers things like in this case mining engineering.  So the mining engineer’s role was to do the mine planning, the mine scheduling, mining projects, essentially all sort of mining/engineering related activities.  The geologist in there Jimmy Cory was spoken about by Dr Newman earlier last week.  His role was to do, both looked after all the inseam drilling so that area wasn’t part of that team.  The Valley Longwall guys reported back through Jimmy and he was our resource geologist basically, liaised with the people doing our resource assessments like Golders and also did all the stratagraphic work and all the other underground work.  We’d appointed a Geotech engineer, specialist Geotech engineer, a degree engineer who looked after all our strata control works.  That previously had been done by URS in the tunnel and then was done just by a geologist with consultants but because we had reasonably complex geology and also I wanted to make sure we had enough technical support to our operations team.  We’d actually recruited Huw Parker out of URS he’d been on site already as a Geotech engineer so he had quite a bit of experience with us and we offered him to swap over to a permanent employee with us.  So he did so.  And we’d also just recently taken on another graduate geologist out of Canterbury University Chris McKie and he’d been with us a while as well.  We had a surveyor that, the diagram, I don’t think you need to go too much lower, I’ll just explain it, it’s on the larger diagram.  We had surveyor Callum McNaughton was a very experienced mine surveyor.  We contracted him out of Australia.  Reporting to him was our own surveyor who was very experienced younger guy but he hadn’t got his ticket yet so we couldn’t appoint him as the stat employee, statutory position under the regulations.  
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A. And then also just very recently we’d appointed another assistant surveyor, so there's quite a large technical services team.  Maybe if we just go out to the larger view because there's no names in these areas.  We will just point to them more generally.  Underneath the site general manager, remembering at this stage we didn't have a statutory manager other than Doug.  So we've got Steve Ellis sitting here as a production manager on the same line as the underviewers, but that would have changed as soon as Steve got his ticket.  So on this production area we've got the underviewers, so there was a number of those that ran each shift.  Underviewers or shift coordinators depending on their qualification.  Below that were the deputies and in some cases there was deputies on shift but there was also crew leaders on shift that had the same organisation responsibility but not the same safety or statutory responsibility. And then each of the shifts reported to those, whether they were on the nine hour shifts, rotating shifts, or whether they were onto 12-hour shifts depends on whether they were a coloured crew or whether they were an alphabetical crew.  Further to the right of that diagram is the engineering department.  Robb Ridl had commenced with the company several months earlier having been employed by us back in 2006 for some period less than a year before becoming the engineering manager at Spring Creek.  So he worked for them for several years and then rejoined us not too long ago in around the middle-second half of 2010.  This restructured department was a function of Robb joining us and he restructured the department, had changed some personnel and created some new positions that the company had supported, where he was able to identify areas that had greater engineering support need, and that's why you'll see a number of these things were vacant.  It wasn't because they had previously been there and were waiting to be filled, they were just newly created positions, where previously chart Peter Sinclair and Mike Scott had shared the load, we actually created a number of other positions at a senior level and was putting in a new maintenance manager in above Mike and the chart was managing his seniority but bringing in another senior role as an electrical engineer which had previously been covered by both Mike Scott and Nick Gribble who is also an electrical engineer but was now sitting over in the project team.  Then you go down to your shift engineers and you have your trades crews on each of the shifts, and you can see they're the same colour designation as the other shifts are for the general workforce and an operations team.  Over on the right-hand side of the diagram, again I don't think you need to blow it up unless the Commissioners would like to see it anymore clearly.  If you're okay I'll continue.  The coal prep plant is down the right-hand side.  Johan Klopper was the manager down there, and he had a team of a process engineering degree, he had a metallurgy degree, a process engineering degree, he hadn’t been that long with us either and he reported through Johan and then there was different crews.  Again you can see a similar colour scheme to the others as well as an Ikamatua crew that looked after our coal loading facilities at Ikamatua.  And then on the right-hand side was Neville’s role.  This diagram still says “safety and training manager”.  I'm not sure if Neville officially had changed to health and safety manager or not, but either way, and he had an assistant with him in that department as well.

Q. Thank you Mr Whittall.  If I can bring you back to your brief, and we're at page 7.  And if I could just ask you to start reading again from the heading just above paragraph 34?

A. Certainly.  This is “Part B.  Mine plans.  “Plans for the specific development of the mine changed in detail over time but have fundamentally and principally remained the same.  The mine plan has always included the same fundamental design for a single access tunnel and ventilation shaft in the early stages of mine development.  Most changes to the mine layout were made in response to surface impact restrictions and improved knowledge from exploration data.  Boreholes were drilled in various areas around the current mine area to determine the best direction in which the mine should be developed as well as to provide information of the coal seam and geological structures.  Attached and marked PW24 is a true copy of a mine plan, obtained from the company records, showing the location of surface boreholes as at the 19th of November 2010.  The bore hole locations indicate the surface collar position rather than the seam intersection.
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Q. If I can just take you Mr Whittall to this exhibit, PW24 which is now being displayed, and just as a preliminary question to give some context to what we’re looking at Mr Whittall, can you explain to me how does a mine plan get generated at Pike River?

A. This is a plan, so this is a historical plan, so this is an ‘as is’ plan or ‘as built’ plan.  Mr Firmin yesterday talked about plans being submitted to him which would have existing workings and projected workings, so depending on what the purpose of the plan is, all the future workings are loaded into our computer system.  Our computer system, we use Vulcan and Vulcan is both a geological and a survey database, we have bought packages for both so they, within the one computer system we have all of our geological data and all of our survey data for both our projected mine plans and also as roadways are driven the side walls of the roadway and the roof and the floor of the roadway are all picked up with electronic survey equipment, and that’s why you'll often see, this plan doesn’t show it, but future workings are shown usually as pretty much parallel roads, whereas these ones are all pretty bumpy and that’s because the surveyors have actually picked up the physical ribs so this plan is located in three dimensions, with northern eastings and an RL, reduced level, and therefore the plan is accurate.  It’s supposed to be within two metres, I would suggest this one is probably accurate within hundreds of millimetres given the modern survey equipment that we use.  Then all that information is then in the database, so then when a plan is needed to be generated it can be generated essentially with whatever information you want on it in different layers.  So, if you want, in this case this is quite a simple bore hole plan so the base plan is called up and then you overlay with a layer of bore hole data which is pretty much all that’s on this one.  You can overlay it with all sorts of geological data or infrastructure data which we’ll see later on another plan.

Q. And just to orientate ourselves on PW24 Mr Whittall, can you just mark for me where the hydro panel is located?

A. Yes, the hydro panels are here to the north, so the shaft of the tunnel is coming in from the middle of the right hand side of the plan, up through pit bottom in stone and pit bottom in coal and then the roadways go up to the north west where the hydro panel in the north and the other further extensions are out to the west.

Q. And on PW24 Mr Whittall do I see references to PRDH, do you recognise that term?

A. Yes.

Q. What does it stand for?

A. Pike River Drill Hole.

Q. And I also see references to M for example, on the far left hand side there's a M4 reference.  Do you recognise that term?

A. Yes, that was a series of seven holes drilled, I think in 1991, 
Dr Newman referred to those the other day and the M stands for Mitsui and that’s who paid for – a Japanese company that paid for those holes to be done.

Q. And there's also, if I just take you to the right hand side, bottom right, there's a reference beside PRDH 30 to “Grizzly?”

A. Yes.

Q. Can you provide a little context to that term?

A. Yes, a grizzly is a mining term, it’s a steel frame effectively that’s like a mesh frame and a grizzly is usually where you drop rock or stone onto and a grizzly, depending on what size rock you want and how big you want the bits to go through, it’s like an ore pass so in this case the grizzly was sitting on top of the conveyor boot end and the load-haul-dumps, which we’ll come to later, would come back with a bucket of material and they would drop that bucket of material on top of the grizzly, all the small stuff would fall through the holes, the holes on that grizzly were probably 300 ml squares, like that, and a big steel frame thing it is and then anything that didn’t fall through it, the guy would either get up there with a sledge hammer and break it up or a jack pick or the bucket of the machine, they’d take those really big rocks off it and break them up elsewhere, ideally that’s what they’d do otherwise they damage the belt.

Q. And there's also a reference here to the Slimline shaft, do you see that Mr Whittall, beside PRDH39?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you provide some context as to what that reference means?

A. So the Slimline shaft was the orange line that came down in that plan that we looked at earlier, and the Slimline shaft, I'm not sure if we come back to it elsewhere so if you'd like I can describe what it was.  When the shaft collapsed, the main shaft which you can see, PRDH14, 31 and 13 are all pointing to that same spot, a little bit higher up the plan on that same ridgeline that we looked at on the aerial photograph.  
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A. With the shaft collapsing we were on forcing ventilation and we’d already got pretty much as far as in as we really wanted to go in forcing ventilation.  It was probably further than was originally intended in the tender and once we hold the shaft through and we’re able to exhaust up the shaft that gave a great relief to the volume of air available to the mine.  When the shaft collapsed and we had to go back on to forcing ventilation we went back down to sort of lower volumes at the face.   We still had statutory minimums, but statutory minimums are always just that.  They’re just statutory minimums.  You don't really want to operate at that level so we tried to conceive a way that we could get more air into the mine.  We looked at doing a small raise bore but the time it would take him, again it was available to us in New Zealand to do that was not much.  It’s not a very big industry here so we conceived the idea of back, what’s called back-reaming a bore hole, so you drill a bore hole down into a roadway and then attach a reaming head onto the bottom of it, a bit like a raise bore but in this case using an ordinary drill rig and because of the pad up there it was pretty small, we could only use a standard drill rig and because rigs are pretty tight in New Zealand we could only use what was available to us well so we got a drill rig, worked out what its pulling capacity, what its total breakout capacity was of the rig which is not an easy known thing, drillers in New Zealand don't tend to know those sorts of things about their machines so we designed a series of reamers for that rig, drilled a hole down and then basically rotated it and pulled the rods out, I think the original hole was drilled at 90, 90 or 95 millimetres and then we attached about 110 millimetre reamer on it and pulled it back up through the hole and then I did it again with 120, 150 and it got up to, we managed to get up over 600 mil before the machine just couldn't lift any more and then we had a hole through to the surface so what we were able to do with that was we lined it and I think that actually comes up elsewhere in the presentation as well but we, because of the strata and the fact that we’re just pulling this thing blind it got a bit of a kink in it so we weren’t able to get a 600 mil liner down it which is what we wanted so we had to survey the hole and found that we could get a 450 mil steel tube down it and that would negotiate the slight bend in the bore hole and so we left it open on the outside but it was just there in case there was some rock collapse and we didn’t want to block the hole so what we originally did was put an auxiliary fan, which we’ve got a photo of later as well, on to the surface and acted like as a little exhaust shaft and that brought another 13 or 14 cubic metres of air into the tunnel so we’re still forcing in but we were sucking out from there as well and then we had the idea that we could, just may as well put the fan underground because then you didn’t have to worry about helicopter access to it so we built an elbow for the bottom of the shaft, bottom of the slimline and connected up a auxiliary fan to it and so we were still forcing air into the tunnel but we were exhausting air out via that point.

Q. And, Mr Whittall, just a couple more questions on this exhibit.   Does it show, PW24 does it show all of the surface bore holes in the Pike River coalfield?

A. Oh no, it just shows the ones that are on this plan so the plan’s only a subset of the coalfield, the numbers there while there’s a lot of large, higher numbers there there’s a lot of, lot that are missing out of that plan obviously.  There’s plan, there’s drill holes out to the west and to the north.  There’s not a lot to the south.  There’s a few but that wasn’t planned to be operated for a number of years so most of the bore holes are out to the west and to the north.

Q. Are you familiar, sir, with the term mining control zones?

A. Yes.

Q. Are there any mining control zones shown on this map at PW24?

A. No, they’re not shown on here, no.  There’d be another layer, an overlay that you can do them.  The mining control zone is, were conditions placed on the mine as part of the resource consent and it, it was a, the mining control zones were placed as barriers against the escarpment, as barriers against steep slopes, against barriers against permanent water courses and as barriers against what they’re called internal rock faces were like basically big sandstone cliffs and all of those things to protect and also one against the Hawera Fault.  So they’re basically zones and each control zone had a different angle of draw, so a different angle from the surface that you went out on a certain angle whether it was 26 and a half degrees or 33 degrees and then you projected that line down to the seam and it was that area that you weren’t able to do certain things in.  You couldn't extract coal or if you did you could only extract enough to create a different substance profile to where you didn’t have that mining control zone.
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Q. And although not shown on PW24, are you generally familiar with where some of the mining control zones were located?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you just give us an example perhaps?

A. Yes.  There’s a mining control zone for a number of different things.  Some of them overlap so you can have a stream and an internal rock face and a steep slope so that they actually overlap quite a lot, but there's quite a large mining control zone runs pretty much through this area here.  I think it sort of boulders out and comes back in, comes across there and back up into this northern area.  So there’s quite a large mining control zone there for a permanent water course and also for a, I think there's a steep slope there as well.

Q. And so just so I'm clear for the written record Mr Whittall.  Would the zone that you've just drawn, would that include some of the space between PRDH25 and PRDH8?

A. Yes, most of that area actually.

Q. So that was not an area that was going to be mined?

A. Well it’s going to be – there's going to be roadways developed in there, but it’s not going to be extracted or, if it was, you can see we've got a little extraction commissioning panel here, and there was going to be another small commissioning panel here, but –

Q. And when you say, “here,” you're talking about –

A. Sorry.  So one where the current plan is and then one roughly back from PRDH6 back in that area, there was going to be a commissioning panel there as well, and the difference being that the commissioning panel was quite narrow and had quite low effects on the surface and through discussion with DOC the substance impacts were going to be adequate for the mining control zone whereas typically those mining areas wouldn't have been otherwise attempted to be mined for probably another 15 or 18 years.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  We’re on page 7 at paragraph 35, and if you could just pick up reading from there please?

A. “The changing development of the mine can be seen in various feasibility studies that were undertaken, including plans from feasibility studies conducted in 1998, 2000 and 2005.  Attached and marked PW25 to PW27 are true copies of a number of historic mine plans, obtained from company records, which form part of various feasibility studies.”

Q. If I could bring you, Mr Whittall to the first of these, which is PW25.  Do you see a reference in the top corner to “Mine serve feasibility study 1998?”

A. Yeah, “Minserv” it is, yeah.

Q. Excuse me, Minserv?

A. Yes.

Q. And just so I'm clear, you joined Pike in what year sir?

A. 2005.

Q. So this is seven years before you joined the company, is that right? 

A. Yes.

Q. Now notwithstanding that you were not a company employee at the time that this historic plan was made available, are you able to explain to the Commission generally what it shows?

A. Yes.

Q. And could you do so please?

A. So this is a plan not of a dissimilar area to what we just looked at a minute ago.  The – maybe if it’s best up on the board – you can see the tunnel coming in from the right-hand side.  The Hawera Fault is this line running from just close to where the words “Minserv feasibility study” are, back down to the bottom of the plan.  You can see that that was intended to locate the pit bottom just west of the Hawera Fault.  Actually I maybe incorrect because I'm looking on an odd angle.  It looks like the Hawera Fault is actually the drawn line which does go from the same point but it curves back along and comes back roughly through where that “R” for “regulator” is and down through the words, “emergency sump”.  That other line is actually a gridline, my apologies.  So you can see the Hawera Fault running down through the plan and it’s got a number of features on the hard rock side of the Hawera Fault and a number of features on the coal side.  The ventilation shaft at that stage was intended to put down where PRDH4 is and it’s got some pit bottom areas.  The blue would be intended to be intake air, so fresh air coming in.  The red would be the return air, and you can see two mains going off, “flume way and intake” I imagine it says at the top of that plan because that’s the blue, and then the red would have been the return air coming back across.  These crosses are overcast where like air can go over the top of this and underneath there as well and it comes back to the shaft.  There's a number of other boreholes located on here and then quite simplistic big sets of mains running off into other extraction areas.

Q. Mr Whittall, do you recognise the name, “Minserve”?

A. I do.

Q. And what's your understanding of Minserve?

A. Minserve is a company owned by Dave Stewart, who’s done some consulting work for us as well.  He’s a New Zealand-based milling engineer.  I think he’s currently the chairman of the AUZIMM, the organisation in New Zealand.

1235

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW26.  In this one do you see at the top a heading, “AMC feasibility study 2000?”

A. Yes I do.

Q. And do you recognise the term, “AMC?”

A. I do.

Q. And what’s your understanding of that to?

A. I’m not sure, I used to think it was Australias Mining Consultants but ,that may well be what it is but they used the acronym AMC Resource Consultations, they’re Australian based company.  The next plan you show me will be Minarco and AMC was the precursor to Minarco so the same principles of the company, they just had a name change.  So they did this feasibility for Pike River, for New Zealand Oil and Gas in 2000 and this shows a larger area.  This shows the majority of the resource within the main body of the seam, not taking into account the area to the north which is under the National Park.  So again you can see the tunnel coming in from the right-hand side going through the Hawera Fault.

Q. And just for the written record so I’m clear Mr Whittall.  Is the tunnel the single blue line coming in?

A. Yes, it would appear.  The single blue line running in from the right-hand side of the drawing coming into a box area which they haven’t shown any detail in on this plan.  They just show it as a box which could be of a pit bottom area.  And then it shows these sort of rectangular shaped areas or parallel sections of road without much colour in them would be the mains roadways.  I recall from reading this particular report that they’re all expecting to be just two roadways wide, so there would be a pillar of coal running up between those with double roadways running out as the trunk roads into different areas and different styles of extraction of coal, all these little parallel boxes, rectangular boxes all over the place, would be the hydro monitor extraction areas.  

Q. Let’s turn to the next historic mine plan Mr Whittall, PW27?

A. Yes.

Q. And I think  you just referred to this being the Minarco one.  Are you familiar with Minarco?

A. Yes, Minarco were engaged with Pike River Coal when I joined the company.

Q. Because this is 2005 right sir and you joined in 2005?

A. Correct.

Q. Now can you just describe to the Commission what PW27 shows?

A. Yes.  This was a plan drawn for the exec – the number down the bottom is 5.2, means it was a diagram 5.2 of the executive summary of the feasibility study done in 2005.  And the executive summary was published in January 2005 and so I started in February, so about the same time that this was published.  Again the plan shows the single tunnel coming in from the right-hand side about the middle of the picture in blue again.  This time though showing a bit more detail around the pit bottom area, so that’s what it looked like, or that’s what it was intended to look like when I started, that’s the first drawing I saw of the mine site.  

Q. And when you’re referring to that sir you’re circling?

A. Yes, I’m circling an area just immediately to the west of the end of the stone drive.  So you can see the stone drive comes through the Hawera Fault and extends for a couple of hundred meters, as it ended up doing, and then there’s a range of roadways driven in and about that area with no extraction shown.  And then there’s a number of roadways going away from pit bottom.  Different to the original, to that previous one in 2000 which just showed two roadways and the more stylised one back in ’98 which was just two roads everywhere.  This shows quite a number, shows four roadways going away so by this stage the consultants had started to do some ventilation modelling and putting a bit more detailed thought into the feasibility study rather than just saying, “Look we’ll take a couple of roads here and a couple of roads there,” they’ve actually, looks like they’ve done some quite detailed design work as to where they would put roads.  The red lines on here besides the Hawera Fault are the projections of the main faults that were known from both the outcrops and the surface drilling and also surface mapping that was done.  So you can see they outcrop onto the escarpment at a number of places.  This black line being the coal outcrop and the pink line running on the inside of that is the National Park boundary which runs along the escarpment, which is above the outcrop.  Pretty much it.

Q. Let me bring you back to – sorry did you have something more.

A. No, I said that’s pretty much all the features of that plan.
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Q. And we bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 8, paragraph 36, if I could ask you to read that paragraph and then we’ll show you another mine plan?

A. “Attached and marked PW28 is a true copy obtained from company records of the current mine plan.  This plan shows the intake and return of air in the mine and identifies the location of gas sensors and various machinery.”

Q. So, let’s turn to this exhibit, PW28 that’s now being displayed.  

A. Yes.

Q. And just to give some context here Mr Whittall, when did you first see this plan?

A. Earlier this year.

Q. So after the 19 November explosion?

A. Yes, I understand that it was generated at someone’s request post the explosion but I'm not sure.  I was going to say it was just given to me when I asked for a plan with all the things shown on it, that’s all.

Q. So, what I'd like you to do Mr Whittall is see if we can just work through some of the terms that are on here so that we can orientate ourselves, and there is a legend that’s towards the left hand side of the plan?

A. Sure.

Q. There's just several terms there and perhaps if you could just give us a brief explanation to the extent you know as to what they mean and then we’ll come and look at the plan?

A. Sure.  

Q. So, if we start with the first of those, and perhaps if you could just work us through each of those Mr Whittall and then we’ll come back to the plan?

A. Certainly.  The first one is a return ventilation roadway.  Return is the standard industry term for air that returns from a working face or a place where air has been used into the return airway and goes back to exhaust, so whether its exhaust shaft or drift or some other point, so it’s basically stale air, not dissimilar to but completely the opposite colouring to the way it would be described in the human body, as blue and red going to and from the extremities, but in this case red is used air, so it’s going back to the exhaust shaft.  The next one is the intake of ventilation roadway, an intake being – coming from fresh air and unused air so the blue air hasn’t passed a working face essentially, is the simplest way to put it, and so a ventilation plan would typically show returns and intakes on the plan.  The thin red line is called a return ventilation can or bag.  I'll make this comment later as well, the mining industry, especially the coalmining industry, has evolved out of many different nations and typically, depending on whether the root of the mine has been developed out of and the first people who worked there were Welsh or Scottish or English or South African or Australian, different terms get used for the same thing in different countries, but also in different coalfields and different mines within a coalfield all called the same thing, different things, so there's terms on here that I typically wouldn’t even use but have been drawn by the surveyor or by the mine manager.  But in this case return ventilation can or bag would indicate a ducting register that’s going from the face back to a point, usually to an exhaust auxiliary fan, a can being – I would typically call it a flume myself, but now that we’ve got steel flumes for water that got confusing, so we’ve gone to can, so it’s basically a steel or, in our case, fibreglass tube about 600 millimetres in diameter and about three metres long, that just lets air pass through it, and bag is usually another term for brattice which you can see brattice down below as well, and it’s typically a cloth or, in our case, like a wax impregnated polystyrene type plastic.  Intake ventilation can or bag is the same but it’s more likely having a forcing, so you would attach it to the end of a fan to force air to the face.  The seal in this case means a stopping, so it’s basically a wall that’s built across a roadway to prevent air travelling from one road to another.  A seal is more generally a permanent structure used to seal off an area and in my parlance I would call these ones that are drawn on this plan stoppings, and I haven't seen a plan from Pike River with the word seal on it before, this was quite, I was quite surprised to see it there, so someone, whether he was one of our German or Australian or Kiwi operators has called it a seal but it’s typically a stopping, would be more commonplace.  
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A. The brattice is drawn as a squiggly line to indicate that it’s not structural, it’s just hanging there tacked on to a frame of some sort and it would be used to give temporary ventilation, direction so whether it’s to direct air to, into a certain area or whether it’s to put up a temporary seal across a roadway then you'd use brattice.  The door indicates that that stopping, which is the solid line, has got a device that you can get through.  Typically it’d be, that type of door would be a personnel door so it’d be small enough for a person to be climb through, you open it and shut it again.  A regulator with the R across the road is a ventilation device again and it regulates the amount of air that can go through.  It’s basically an oriface plate but it’s built out of timber or plaster and a typhoon fan is a fan that we use to force ventilation in.  It’s a smaller thing, runs off compressed air and you could attach a intake ventilation can or bag to it and force air up into a working area if you wanted to.

Q. I'm just going to work through some of the other terms on this mine plan so that we all understand what the terms mean.  I see a reference to a restricted zone and a non-restricted zone.  Do you see that in red with arrows?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what those terms mean?

A. To my understanding again it was, it was drawn on the plan and I wasn’t familiar with it having been put there but this is, like I'm not in control of this plan, this is the mine manager’s area of responsibility but the, to my understanding from looking at it the non-restricted zone would indicate an area where equipment that wasn’t or gear that wasn’t flameproof could operate, it’s unrestricted, it would've been done to allow non‑flameproof installations to be put in with certain sensor backups 
et cetera on them but unrestricted insofar as what you could use so it also allowed us to drive a land cruiser type piece of equipment up into the mine and it could drive into that area but it couldn't go any further than the restricted zone.

Q. So let’s just start on the right-hand side.  I'm just going to draw your attention to a couple of terms and ask if you can provide us with some explanation.  There’s a reference there, the top right, to pumps 
PU101-105.  Can you explain that reference to the Commission?

A. Yes, they’re the slurry pumps that we showed in the diagram earlier that would be, that are installed on the concrete plinths there to pump the coal from the mine down to the coal prep plant.

Q. And just beside that, Mr Whittall, to the left is a reference to gland pumps PG201-205.  Can you explain that term?

A. Those gland pumps to my knowledge would be, when they're talking about gland water it’s often, the term is used to pump fresh water into another pump so that you can give it a fresh charge so that the seals are getting fresh water through them so those gland pumps would be there to provide fresh water flushing through the main slurry pumps.

Q. And just below that, Mr Whittall, there’s a reference to crusher CR102.  Are you able to explain the reference used?

A. Yes, so CR102 and the one below it CR101 are the two crushers, the two McKlenner hand crushers that receive the coal and small stone from the working faces.

Q. And just in the section of the mine plan at PR28 there’s a reference to a switchboard.  Do you see that?

A. Yes, that would be the electrical switchboard that is for the crushers.   The one that’s just off the diagram below PU101, 105 would have a similar identification of switchboard and probably electrical starters there as well but it’s, that would be for the other pumps so that one there would be for the crushers.

Q. And in this section of PW28 there’s also a reference to a substation.  Do you see that, Mr Whittall?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you explain what that reference would mean?

A. A substation is an electrical distribution centre just like a substation you see on the road so the one that was out, or looks a lot different, the one that was out on the, on Logburn Road that received the 110,000 volts and then changed it down into 33 and 11 went up the valley at 33 to another substation at the portal entrance and that then sent the power underground at 11,000 volts up to this substation and this substation receives that main power supply up the tunnel and then from there it would have power distributed to the fan and also to the other distribution boards underground.
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Q. Now if I just work you from right to left on the plan at PW28.  I believe we’re travelling down the tunnel.  Would that be fair?

A. Up the tunnel.

Q. Up the tunnel, thank you.  And we’re going to go past the grizzly.  Do you see that Mr Whittall?

A. Correct.

Q. And there’s a reference to a gas monitoring station at GD, I think it’s 301.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.  Because the arrow’s going the opposite direction it’s actually not in the tunnel, it’s actually pointing, if you see it, off to the left.  So that gas monitoring station is located back up in the other roadway.  So even though the words are there it’s actually pointing over here.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what the term, “Gas monitoring station,” means Mr Whittall?

A. That would be a place where there would be a gas monitor.  The different between that and the gas sensor, my understanding would be, I’m could stand corrected because again I hadn’t seen this plan before, the gas sensor is, which you’ll probably ask me about next, is the actual detector head, so that’s where the sensor is, but the gas monitoring station is more likely where that’s reporting to.

Q. So if just, an example of the plan at PW28, do you see a reference to, “CH4 sensor near surface?”  It’s just to the north of a reference to the main ventilation fan?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Can you explain what that term means, CH4 sensor?

A. In that particular case it’s saying that there is a CH4, which is methane, which is just a chemical symbol for methane, and it’s saying that it’s in the shaft and it’s near the surface.  So it’s not on the surface of the shaft, it’s just indicating that it’s just below the collar.

Q. And there’s several other references on the plan at PW28 to CH4 sensors Mr Whittall, I’m not going to take you around all of them, I’m just going to get an explanation of some other terms that appear on this plan just for the record.
A. Yes.

Q. If we drop down directly under that CH4 sensor near surface reference you just described?

A. Yes.

Q. I see a reference to drive 4 fan.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you have an understanding as to what that term means, drive wall fan?
A. In that case the main ventilation fan, this is the one that was nearly installed, the actual fan blade’s set in here.

Q. And when you say, “Here,” you’re –

A. Sorry, in the centre of that in-section just below your CH4 sensor near surface that’s the top of the old shaft, or the main shaft.  Next to it’s the Alimak shaft, back on that in-section next to the word, “gas monitoring station,” is where the physical fan impellors are installed and then there’s a wall next to it and then the actual ventilation fan motors are set there.  The fact that the drive for the fan is located over here I can assume is that would be the electrical installation for that.  I can’t exactly say how that set up was done.  I’m not fully familiar with the layout of that particular fan, yes.

Q. And if we drop further down in this section of PW28 there is right towards the bottom I see a reference to a, “variable speed drive.”  Does that term have any meaning to you?

A. Yes, that whole area down there is the installation and that substation associated with the transformers and everything all in the switchboard, all that installation is for the high pressure water system for the
hydro monitor, so that southern area there has got all of the installations for the monitor system.

Q. I want to stay in this general vicinity of the mine plan at PW28 Mr Whittall.  I see a reference to a filter bank, it’s at FL501/2 I believe?

A. Yes.

Q. There’s an R for regulator, do you see it?

A. Yes.

Q. It’s right in the middle?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain what a filter bank refers to?

A. Yes, it’s the filter bank that was installed to do a final cleanup of the water that goes into the high pressure pumps for the hydro monitor.  So the water received comes from two places.  There’s actually a little shaft, or large bore hole just in this point just above where you directed me before to the switchboard and variable speed drive, that receives water down from the upper reaches of the Pike Stream.  That water from there goes up to that filter bank and receives a final filtration before it goes back down into the high pressure pumps because the high pressure pumps, being very high pressure, they require very, very clean water.  So that filter bank has got bank filters on them that take out micro fine particles.
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Q. And just moving towards the left on the plan at PW28, there are two references to auxiliary fans.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And we'll talk later about these further, but can you give a brief explanation as to what those terms mean?

A. Yes, the auxiliary fan is a term used for an electrical fan used underground where the main fan, whether it’s on the surface or, in our case, had just be re- or installed the new one underground, provides a primary ventilation for the mine and would ventilate all connected roadways to take air or to direct air up into roadways where there is no circuit, so you can't go around a loop and draw air around it, it’s basically a single road so there's no way for air to go up and back again unless you direct it there.  So the auxiliary fan is a fan with an inlet and an outlet and it essentially creates a negative pressure so that you could draw air up into a blind stub and then suck it back out through the ventilation cans or flumes and exhaust it out into a return roadway.

Q. And just in the same section of the plan at PW28 there's a reference to a typhoon fan.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you explain that term too?

A. So that was the one that was in the legend.  A typhoon fan is a small device that hangs on the wall that’s connected up to compressed air and forces air up.  In this case because there's an auxiliary fan located there and they were using that to ventilate that long stub and so to assist with the turbulence in the roadway and to stop layering of gas, a typhoon fan has been installed to force air up to the face and then the auxiliary fan then draws air away from the face so it creates a better ventilation flow.  Less leakage on the auxiliary fan.

Q. I just want to ask you about a couple more terms that are used on the plan at PW28?

A. Yes.

Q. And if we head towards the right, I see some references to “distribution boxes?”

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see those?  Can you explain what a, “distribution box,” is?

A. Yes.  Again there are multiple terminologies for the same thing, but in this case a distribution box is an electrical enclosure, a flameproof electrical enclosure which receives power into one side and then distributes power to multiple places.  So it’s like a multi-board in your house where you'll run 1000 vaults into one.  So it’s not a transformer, so it doesn't change the power, but you'll put 1000 vaults into one side of it and then have multiple plug outlets to it usually to power continuous miner, auxiliary fan, pumps, a number of things, drill rig, will all be plugged into a distribution box.

Q. Now as we move into that top left-hand corner of the plan at PW28, maybe we could just highlight that for a moment, and there are several references to pieces of equipment or machinery.  Do you see a reference to a Waratah roadheader?

A. Down the bottom, yes.

Q. And we'll come back to it.  In your evidence I think you speak further about that Mr Whittall, but I just wanted to identify that for a moment.  So that's located at RH001, right?

A. No, the number of the machine is RH001.

Q. Thank you.  And can you describe its location to me?

A. Yes, it’s located in the A heading of those sort of roadways and its driving back downhill to make the connection with that other previously driven roadway.

Q. And if we just move to the top right there's a reference to a Waratah guzzler.  Do you see that Mr Whittall?

A. Yes I do. 

Q. And just for the purposes of the record we'll talk about the particular machinery later in your evidence, but can you describe the location of that guzzler?

A. Yes, that guzzler is just up about 25 metres from the edge of the hydro extraction face and it’s up in B heading of the first panel, which is our first extraction panel.
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Q. And if we just pull back out for a moment.  Just two more questions on this plan Mr Whittall.  There's a reference in this highlighted corner of the mine plan at PW28 to a Valley Longwall drill rig, do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you just for the record explain the location of that drill rig?

A. Yes, the drill rig was located in a stub that was driven specifically off to the left, so a stub is just a short roadway and it’s been put in there so that that road can be continued on while we’re drilling, so the Valley Longwall drill rig was located in that little short roadway and they would be drilling out of that stub, up roughly parallel but in a radiating way as away from where that Waratah continuous miner, CM002 is.

Q. And there's a reference I believe at this section of the plan at PW28 to two continuous miners.  Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you talk again in more detail later about these pieces of machinery, but can you just describe the location of each of those continuous miners for the record?

A. Yes, so the CM002 is parked in a stub, which is, both those stubs are ventilated by that auxiliary fan there, and the CM002 is heading out to the west and continuing on with the mains development.  The ABM continuous miner, CM041 up to the north is driving one of the roadways for the second extraction panel.

Q. I just want to ask you about one other reference on this mine plan 
Mr Whittall.  There's a reference there to a CH4 sensor and you talked about this previously and just for the record I am in the top left hand corner of the mine plan at PW28.  It’s also a reference to CH4, CO sensor reading at DB004 for bleeder door control.

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to provide any explanation as to that term or the series of terms that are used in what I just read Mr Whittall?

A. Yes.  The CH4 is a methane sensor, CO is carbon monoxide, so it’ll be a different sensor.  Both of those, it’s saying that they are being read or displayed at DB004 which is distribution box, which is also shown in that highlighted plan down here, down in that roadway, about halfway down the plan to the right hand side of the highlighted section, and they are there for the bleeder door control which is what that distribution box has been placed there, to my knowledge.  The bleeder door is a device which was being installed, or had been installed but had not been commissioned or, put it this way, was not being used to the best of my knowledge, it may well have been commissioned but it wasn’t being used.  It was an idea of a way to allow additional air to be dumped into the return roadway should there be a need to so there would be a concept that the door would actuate automatically based on the readings of those CO or CH4 sensors were picking up.

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
1.04 PM

COMMISSION resumes:
1.59 PM

examination continues:  ms shortall

Q. Mr Whittall, if I could take you to page 8 of your brief, we were just about to start paragraph 37 when we broke for lunch so if you could just start reading from there, thank you.

A. “Considerable further development was proposed for the mine.  Attached and marked PW29 is a true copy of a plan obtained from company records showing future development.  As illustrated the extent of the development undertake to date comprises only a small portion of the overall development that was planned for the mine.”

Q. And sir, just using PW29, exhibit 29, as a reference.  Could you just explain that last point, that the extent of the development undertaken as of the 19th of November comprised only a small portion of overall development that was planned for the mine?

A. Yes.  On the plan, it can’t be shown up on the board, even that’s not the whole of the mine.  The mine extends, or the planned mine extends probably another kilometre or so to the south of this plan.  So these grids are approximately one kilometre and it would extend at least a kilometre further to the south and again almost a kilometre or so to the north as well.  The whole of the mine that had been developed so far is just this small area down in the bottom right-hand corner where the access tunnel is pointed out and the pit bottom is pointed out we’ve just gone up there and started in the first of the commissioning panels.  So the mine was quite small and had only just really started to break away from the pit bottom area.

Q. And just to provide some context to the extent that there have been some evidence around a planned second egress.  Just by way of context could you identify where on this map that location would be?

A. Yes.  This map doesn’t actually have that marked on there.  On the original, probably the 2005 plan, that area was somewhere in here.  Actually it’s roughly the same spot and at the moment we have other plans that show just in that area there below the cross as of the grid adjacent to those two main developments.  That main north development there’s a valley that runs up through the middle there and – 

Q. Just for the record Mr Whittall so that we’re clear?

A. Mhm.

Q. Later on, we’re just looking at, when you refer to the crosshairs, you’re talking at the, work down from the top of the map, you’re talking about the second cross section.  Is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And just south of that?

A. Correct.  

Q. Thank you, please continue.

A. So about a couple of hundred south of that east/west gridline into the side of the main roadways there’s what’s called a sub-crop where the coal comes close to the surface and would be able to accessed via a small 10/15 metres drift to the surface there.  So that’s we were planning.  The mine was currently developed in this, sorry, in this area to here.

Q. And, “To here,” is just in the –

A. So this plan is not the same as the plan you showed me before and this plan was chosen to show the extent, it’s not the current mine plan.  So if you look at the two together it’s hard for, potentially for the Commissioners to correlate between the two plans.  You’ll notice that on the plan that you showed me earlier it continued out to the side and then went to the north, out to the west, and then went to the north whereas in this one we go to the north and then the west.  So this is just an older version of an extraction plan showing the future workings.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief, page 8.  If you could just start from the headings above paragraph 38 and continue reading please?

A. Certainly, this is part C, mining process.  It will cover mining and excavation of coal.  The mine has been developed as an underground coal mine.  As I mentioned earlier the coal seam was accessed through a 2.3 kilometre upwards sloping tunnel starting from the end of the access road.  Once mined coal was to be transported as a water/coal slurry via an open steel trough or a flume line to the pit bottom coal processing area and then onto the CPP.  The mine was designed with a production capacity of up to 1.3 million tonnes per annum of saleable coal or approximately 1.5 million tonnes of run-of-mine coal.  The mine was established to produce coal using two mining techniques, roadway development and hydro-mining.  Roadway mining was planned during steady state operations to produce between .2 and .4 million tonnes per annum and hydro-mining was planned to produce between .8 and .9 million tonnes per annum.  Both techniques had been commissioned and were in use by November 2010.  
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A. Roadways are constructed by heavy cutting machines (roadheaders and continuous mining machines) and also by drilling and blasting in stone.  Roadways were initially developed in the coal seam around pit bottom and then driven through an area of rock and dislocated coal in a faulted zone called a “graben”.  There was no alternative to driving the roadways through the graben.  Roadways in this area were built for the life of the mine and therefore needed to register at a constant grade to ensure the coal would wash downhill without pumping from the uphill mining operations.  Attached and marked PW30 is a true copy of a diagram, obtained from company records, of a roadway.”

Q. So if I can just turn your attention to exhibit 30, PW30.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes this is a composite put together again for a shareholder briefing.  So all of these things wouldn't necessarily be in any one roadway at the same time but they were used for illustrative purposes.  So what you can see in this diagram is you're looking into a roadway going away into a distance.  The coal mine floor is a coal floor.  So we mine about half a metre to a metre off the base of the seam so we always have a coal floor.  Looking from left to right – sorry, to orientate it then, the roadway is about five metres wide and about 3.3 metres high in dimension.  The drawing or the schematic, the way it’s drawn, shows the void of the roadway with black ribs on the left and it also shows as a cutaway, as if you're out in the coal seam somewhere looking back in on the roadway.  So on the left-hand side there's little square white plates which are the ends of the rib bolts, the rib being the same as a wall, rib or wall, and the roof is the roof.  In other parlances it’s called the backs or something but we call it the roof and the ribs.  So these white squares are the ends of the rib bolts.  If you go to the other side of the roadway you can see from looking from within the coal those same plates, but you can see the bolt extending into the rib and they're used to support the coal rib to stop it from flaking away and breaking into the roadway to keep it nice and vertical and to stop it falling on people basically.  They extend 1.8 or 2.1 metres into the rib depending on the ones you use.  We use – or even 1.5.  I think the ones we were using were 1.8s but they could have been 1.5s in some areas.  Still sticking to the outside of the roadway, you can see on the roof, you're also looking from within the coal seams so you're looking at the top of the roof plates that are attached to the roof bolts, and the roof bolts also extend up into the roof of the coal.  Because we're mining the lower section of the coal seam our roof is also coal.  They extend up into the roof some 2.1 metres, they’re a seven foot bolt.  They're a high tensile steel bolt and they're basically used as a dowel but a pretension dowel through the layers of strata.  In this case because it’s a solid coal seam without a lot of layers in it, they're essentially just performing tension in the roof.  They use an araldite glue, effectively, so a two-part resin glue, and you put the resin up into the hole, then put the bolt in and spin the bolt which breaks the cartridge and glues the bolt into place.  So what's not shown on there for clarity is that those bolts would also be bolted through sheets of mesh that would also be on the roof and you'll see those in other photographs.  So that's just a stylised schematic of the roof supporting the rib support.  On the left-hand wall or the left-hand rib of that roadway is a ventilation duct which we called before a can or a ventilation duct.  It’s shown here as a single solid tube, but in effect it’s a series of sections of tube variously between two and three metres long, ideally three but sometimes you have shorter ones, and they're connected and they slot one inside the other.  They just have an overlapping tapered section.  And they go together and you build them towards, as the fact progresses, and then as you retreat – sorry, when you go to another roadway you just go and collect them and move them off and use them in the next roadway over.  So they would be coming from the coalface and going out and they would be connected up to an auxiliary fan.  Also in this roadway you can see two pipes, in this case, water and compressed air pipes.  Variously, different sizes in the mine.  They could be either a four inch, six inch or eight inch depending on what their needs are.  Typically, the water would be in a four inch pipe and compressed air would be in a six inch pipe in this area, but in the larger trunk roads the water would probably be in six as well.
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A. The coal mine floor we’ve talked about, on the far side of that roadway is a coal flume, that’s a steel trough we use for transporting coal from the working face.  We had been using load-haul-dumps and we’ll come to that later, but the intention of the flumes which were going from central location, where all the coal is brought to, was to have those running right up to within 15 metres of the coalface for the continuous miners and others to transport straight into.  So they are about 500 millimetres wide and about 500 millimetres deep and they take a water slurry of about 25% coal to 75% water, so there's quite a lot of water in there.  Each face was supplied with about 4000 litres a minute of water, they would act as a fluming for the coal that was sending down there and the hydro panel, we’ll come to, was about 9000, so as they go out they still all collect in the same flume, so in the coalface, although that’s shown as full, you would probably typically only be running 100 ml deep or even less in those flumes.  That’s all the things that are in that drawing.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 9 paragraph 41, if you could continue reading please?

A. “The initial roadways were developed using a combination of two narrow head continuous miners and one roadheader.  Continuous miners are large mechanical coal cutting machines, weighing 80 tonnes, which cut roadways nominally 5.2 metres wide by 3.6 metres high.  These machines were used in the more difficult broken coal seam conditions adjacent to the Hawera Fault.  The machine’s configuration required the five metre wide roadway to be cut in two passes.  Because of this these machines are variously referred to as narrow head or double pass machines.  The continuous miners and roadheaders that were initially used by the company had significant manufacturer design issues and proved to be unreliable and inefficient.  Attached and marked PW31 and PW32 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of a continuous miner and a roadheader.”

Q. So if we start with PW31, that’s just been displayed Mr Whittall, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is one of the Waratah continuous miners.  Its function is to develop roadways.  If you're doing other extraction types you can use the coal to cut pillars and actually recover more coal than just roadway development but typically they are a roadway development machine and they’re used that way at Pike River Coal.  So, this machine is about an 80 tonne machine, 75-80 tonne machine.  The principle of it is that this head rotates in a forward direction so it rotates in the direction of the roadway advance and it’s got a number of picks on the top, so you can see all the yellow picks, it’s a cutting head and it’s ideal for cutting coal of strength up to 20 megapascals, maybe a bit less strength.  Ideally you don’t want to go to the very hard rock with this because it’s actually cutting the full width and if you get into hard rock then it puts a lot of load on the head so you really want to be around the 20 megapascal which is similar to concrete.  The loader blade on the front, so when the head goes up and down you can see this hydraulic ram in the middle, silver shiny bit in the middle of the machine, that’s used to lift the head up and down and the machine will cut in an up and down motion and the coal will fall to the floor.  As the head rotates, it’s rotating into the face, it will, as it gets down lower it will also scoop the coal back onto this loader blade area which is quite shallow and these discs spin and they drag the coal to the centre.  The coal goes down through the central part of the machine on a chain conveyor, a steel conveyor chain, it drags the coal through the middle and discharges out of the back on the tail of the machine.  So, this machine has quite a shallow shovel and that’s so that we can get quite close to the face for melting so it’s to allow good strata support.  Also on this machine you can see on-board bolting rigs, so we have the machine designed with one roof bolt rig on either side of it and also just behind that is one rib bolt rig so that the guys don’t do hand‑bolting, they do it all hydraulically using the machine’s power source.  
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A. Also on the side of the machine, coming from the back of the machine, the operator would climb up the ladder, not necessarily the operator of the machine, the machine is remote control, so the operator can stand anywhere to operate it but typically they’d stand either behind it or they’d stand on the platform to operate it somewhere they can get a good view.  But when the roof-bolt operator comes up he’d climb up the steps, walk along the platform and then walk into this area in behind the bolding rig.  This is a side shield that we had installed on the machine and this is actually on a hydraulic slide as well.  So this hydraulic slide can push out and this pushes up against the rib or the wall of the coal seam, it protects the operator while they stand there and operate the drill rig from any – because at this stage the bolting rig’s just behind it and because you can’t get the side-bolting rig any further forward you need to protect the operator from unsupported rib so we had it designed with side shields on the machine as well.  They’re only used on the side, because this is a narrow-head machine they’re typically only used if you have to bolt it two passes so you cut out and you bolt and you can push it out to the rib there on the side of.  When you pull the machine back and go to the other side to cut out the other side of the roadway then you would use that other shield, they wouldn't reach both faces on these narrow head machines.  The machine has all its electrics on board.  The blue enclosures there are flameproof enclosures.  It has a trailing cable that powers it, it’s an electric machine, runs on 3.3 thousand volts, 3.3kv, and it’s track mounted.  And that’s the main parts.  It’s got onboard gas monitoring which trips the machine off at one and a quarter percent general body and that’s interconnected with the electrics of the machine.  And it’s got onboard computers for interrogation and the operator can either look at their own operational control bank or they can operate it using the controls on the machine as well and interrogate it electronically if it trips off and find out why it trips off for example.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW32.  Can you explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows please?

A. Yes.  This is a roadheader.  A roadheader’s not dissimilar to a continuous miner.  They essentially are designed to do the same thing, which is to cut a roadway.  They’ve got a couple of fundamental differences.  One is roadheader’s typically have a head that spins perpendicular to the cutting face and they’re usually a tapered head.  You’ll see that’s why they call it, they often call it a pineapple.  It’s sort of wider at the back, narrower at the front, it’s got some breakout picks on the very front of it, got a much, because it’s a much smaller head where the other one was three metres wide, and we’ll have a look at an ABM later, but because it’s 3.3 meters wide there’s quite a lot of load on the head so it can only cut with a breakout force enough, and I said ideally sort of 20-odd MPA coal.  The roadheader can break out a lot harder than that, possibly 80, up to 100 megapascals of strength, which is really really hard stone.  Our Island sandstone by way of example is nearly 200 megapascals, really really hard, roadheader won’t break through that.  So this roadheader was used for roadway development.  It’s got a much longer loader blade and typically it’s always a challenge to work out how to put a bolting rig on these things.  I’ve had bigger rigs in other places where they get knocked off and it’s quite difficult, so the design concept it’s come up for this machine, it’s got a big triple-acting ram that sits right back in the length of the machine and you can see where the operator is back on the drill rig, he can deploy himself and his rig all the way forward right up onto these loader blades so that the drill rig is actually sitting right up here in the middle and then it’s got a ram that comes out the bottom of it onto the loader blade and up to the roof so that the operator can bolt the roof quite close to the face and that gives better support rather than having unsupported roof.  So that was a really good design feature of this machine.  The machine’s also
electro-hydraulic the same as the continuous miner.  They have both come from the same base manufacture, Vert in Germany and they are assembled and built by Waratah in Newcastle.  So they’ve got all the same electrics and other things.  Slightly different traction system and a few other features to the continuous miner but we’ve bought, we bought one of these and two of the continuous miners.  On the flat on normal grades the roadheader’s a lot slower because you can see it’s cutting area is quite small, takes you longer to cut the profile out but once you get into steep ground or difficult ground or cutting and breaking away. 
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A. Because of the boom on this doesn't just go up and down, it goes left and right, they're much better for breaking away around tight corners or where there's stone in the floor or intersecting faults, et cetera, so our fleet initially had two continuous miners and one roadheader.

Q. Is this piece of machinery Mr Whittall, something that was purpose built for Pike?

A. Yes.

Q. And there are two men aboard the machine here?

A. Just for the photographer I believe at that time because this machine has been pulled back to pit bottom area because it wasn't being used, and I think to give some dimension a couple of the operators jumped on it.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief please.  We're at paragraph 42 on page 9 and if you can continue reading.

Q. “In mining to the west, away from the pit bottom and west of the graben structure, coal seam conditions were significantly better for roadway development.  This allowed for the introduction of a single pass wide head machine (Alpine Bolter machine or ABM20).  The significant reliability issues that arose with the initial continuous mining machines did not occur with the ABM20.  The ABM20 is a single pass mining machine ideally suited to good conditions, repetitive cycles and long, straight roadways.  The ABM20 had the ability to cut and bolt at the same time, thereby reducing the production cycle when compared to double pass machines.  The improved performance resulting from the ABM20 was such that a second ABM20 had been purchased by the company for delivery in late 2010.  Attached and marked PW33 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, of an ABM20.”
Q. So if we take a look at exhibit 33 to your evidence Mr Whittall, could you please explain what this image shows?

A. Certainly, this is an ABM20.  I'm not sure that it’s actually the one that was delivered to Pike as this photo was supplied by the manufacturer some time ago, but essentially it’s just a continuous miner the same as the other machine was.  Its features are roughly the same.  It’s a remote control machine.  Its main difference is that it’s a much bigger, wider and heavier machine.  It’s probably close to 90 or 100 tons.  The head is the full width of the roadway so the machine instead of cutting out the face 3.3 metres wider than pulling back, instead of pulling back and then going to the other side of the roadway and cutting out the remaining sort of 1.4 odd metres to make up the five, this cuts I believe 4.9, I think it’s five actually, maybe 5.1 metre wide face in one go.  The head just goes up and down like the other one.  This has slightly different supports.  I didn't point out on the other machine but the top of the drill rig on the other machine that I showed you had a separate ram that goes to the roof and provides temporary support for the operators, so when they're standing there putting the bolts in, the roof immediately above them is supported.  On this machine there's two rams with a bar across the top, and that actually supplies the temporary roof support for the operator who is standing on this rig.  So he’s got some canopy support above his head holding the roof up from bits and pieces of daggy stuff that would fall down.  On this one, you can see the side shield actually has a hydraulic ram that pushes out and provides that side support.  Where we had a separate ram and a discreet plate coming out, this comes out hinged from further back, but otherwise this is a four-rig bolter.  There’s one, two and there's two on the other side as well, so it can do four bolts, and they pivot left and right so they can – whatever arrangement of bolts you want to put in the roof, they just swing left or right to be able to put those bolts in, but other than that the machine is of the same concept, essentially the same.

Q. Are these features that you're describing standard on this type of equipment, Mr Whittall?

A. Yes on the ABM20.  We bought it as a reconditioned.  With the continuous miners out of Waratah and the roadheader, we went out to tender and they offered a purpose-built machine for us.  In this case we went looking for what was available on hire and this machine was coming off hire and had just undergone an overhaul in the workshop in Newcastle I believe.

Q. And are there certain safety features on the machine?

A. All the machines have methane detectors.  On this machine there's two.  There’s the general one and a quarter percent methane detector and there's also a two percent head detector which will cut power off to the machine.  The head detector’s usually located up closer to the working face.  
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A. You expect to get billowing gas in and around the head so they’re set at a high level, as per legislation, they’re set at a higher level to allow for that billowing and random gas that’s not necessarily filling the general body so it doesn’t get anywhere near the electrics of the machine, which are much further back and the one that’s back there is the one and a quarter sensor.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief and we’re in paragraph 42, if you could just read the last sentence there please?

A. “Attached and marked PW34 is a true copy of the photograph obtained from the company records of the tunnel roof showing the results of using the AMB20.”

Q. So if we take a look at exhibit 34, which has just been displayed, can you explain to the Commission what we are viewing?

A. Certainly.  Again, it is a bit harder on the wall than it is on the screen but if the Commissioners could understand that by looking at my pointer, in the middle of the photograph there is a corner of the face in about a one third of the way from the left hand side and the face is described, it’s about five metres wide by 3.3 metres high and both sides of the roadway show some of the rib coming back towards us on the left and some of the rib coming back towards us on the right, and the mesh on the roof extends to within a quite close distance of the face, and the face is just within a few hundred millimetres of the mesh at the face there.  What you can see very clearly is vertical lines in the face, very close together.  They’re the pick marks from the continuous miner.  The coal is extremely hard in this area and very, very fine grained, so the ribs are beautiful and vertical, really lovely and the roof is nice and horizontal and because we’re doing a single pass you don’t get the same step over that you would in a double pass machine, so you've got nice verticality and horizontal roof, very good conditions.  The sort of dark circle, just to explain, that’s the end of one of the vent tubes that’s been run up the rib and this is a standing place, the machine’s been pulled out of there so it’s where the white marks, white is all the stone dusting that’s been done, so when the machine is finished in a stub it’s pulled back and you can see a bit of rope hanging on the roof, that was probably a venturi or some other sort of air blower hung off the roof there and they’ve just cut that when they’ve come out of there and left the place and stone dust, that’s what you would class as a standing stub.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to page 9 and you were about to read paragraph 43 of your brief, continue reading from there please?

A. “All machines were equipped with on-board roof bolting equipment to enhance safety and efficiency.  At full production the mine was scheduled to operate three roadway development units, contributing 20% of the coal production.  The principal mining method at the mine was hydro mining.  Hydro mining utilises a powerful water jet known as a hydro monitor which cuts the coal from the seam and washes it into a water race known as a flume.  Hydro mining was a method used once access was gained to a working panel.  Attached and marked PW35 to PW38 are true copies of photographs and a diagram obtained from company records of hydro mining equipment.  

Q. So if we start with PW35, could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  The hydro monitor itself is referring to this unit, the silver unit at the front, it looks like a water cannon, is a water cannon, and it has a nozzle on the front, there's a lot of technology in the nozzle because it actually directs water at a very high pressure up to 40 metres away and the water pressure and, by way of example, would be strong enough to put a hole in a concrete wall 40 metres away, so it comes out like a ray gun if you like, like a very strong beam of water.  Typically the hydro monitor is just housed on a sled and previously in other operations it’s just placed on a sled and that sled is held in place with timber props or whatever else and held in place in its position with pipes.  Pike wanted to have some 21st century safety features on the machine so we chose to house it within a mobile roof support, so this is a temporary support we bought out of Australia, we actually shipped the monitor from Japan to Pike and then shipped it off to Australia and had it mounted in a purpose-built temporary roof support.
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A. So this machine is run off umbilical cords back to the guzzler which we'll show in another drawing, so this acts at the operating face of the hydro panel.  It's got hydraulic masts on it and a beam across the top and it also has hydraulic rams that come out the bottom so that when you jack this up to the roof, you're not putting all the pressure on the tracks, so it sort of picks itself up and sits there freestanding.  The monitor goes up and down, the head goes up and down and swivels left to right and can be operated back at the guzzler, 15/20 metres away and the reason we put it into this sled arrangement or into this mobile roof support arrangement was to allow the operator to be able to go up to the face, while this is isolated, you wouldn't go up there while it was operating, but you can isolate it and go up to the coalface and view the void that they're mining without risk of roof support, without risk of roof failure, or less risk of roof failure, and giving them some active support on the goaf edge.  That's probably the main features of that unit.  We've got two –

Q. Are there any others?

A. We've got two -

Q. Safety –

A. We've got two of those.  We've got a third monitor that we just keep in the store but we've got two complete units like this.  No, that's the main functions and features of that.

Q. Any other safety features on this piece of equipment?

A. We've got it made up with rudd links all over it so that it can be pulled back out if it, if the roof was to fall in, it's kept chained back to the guzzler and so if you want it to pull it back out you can actually drive the guzzler back, which I know we haven't seen the photo of that yet but it's quite a big beast, it can drive back down the roadway, it'll pull this with it.  So we've attached all rudd links all over it so that we can pull it under quite a lot of strain without someone having to go in there and dig it out.

Q. Let's turn to the next exhibit, PW36.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes it's, this is more a precursor to the next one, which is a little bit harder to understand unless you've seen a stylised diagram.  What this is showing is that the monitor is housed in this mobile roof support.  The roof above it is coal.  What's not shown on here is that that would be fully bolted in meshed coal, 'cos it's sitting in a roadway.  The hydro monitor itself is putting out high pressure water and it's creating, it's blasting the coal basically, it's breaking the coal with its breaking force of the water and it, as the coal is broken it washes down the roadway and it washed past the monitor and basically a river of broken coal.  As it does that it's actually cutting out to the left or the right, depending on where you're mining with it which way the dip’s going, and then, so therefore the coal that it's mining in the gap between the two roadways, which is usually about 20 metres wide, is all unsupported.  So as it breaks it, the roof will eventually just fall in.  Where it's breaking the roadway itself, it has to actually shoot through the mesh and bolts and break the ground around those roof and bolt - mesh and bolts, so you start to create a void in the roadway that you're in and this is what you'd call a goaf edge, which is quite close to the edge of where the monitor is and that’s why we made that roof support there because otherwise someone would be coming up here to check on the monitor or to move it and they'd have to be standing basically where you've already started damaging the roof.

Q. Let me take you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW37.

A. Yes.

Q. And could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is looking up into the first of the hydro-panels from the guzzler.  You can see the ribs on the right-hand side of a roof above all meshed and bolted and you can see some broken mesh on the left-hand side where the monitor has, and this is the monitor sitting in the middle.  You can see all the hydraulic hoses coming out of the back of it and you can see that it's lifted up in the air where the hydraulic rams have gone up to the roof and the hydraulic rams out of the floor, there's four of them so it lifts it up like a little robot, so it's sitting proud on the floor.  That allows the coal to wash underneath it as well so it's sort of building up on the machine and getting in amongst it.  The coal could wash underneath it.  There's a, you can see a rope from the roof coming down and holding up the hoses that are running into the back of the machine and that, the white beam coming out of the left-hand side of the monitor is actually the spray of water going out into the goaf as it's cutting the coal.
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Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW38, and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a guzzler, so named by its manufacturer at Waratah.  This is taken in Newcastle at the manufacturer’s plant.  It’s essentially sitting in the roadway, which would be facing uphill, so this what you call the
in-bye end or the coalface end –

Q. And just for the record?

A. On the right-hand side.  On the right-hand side of the picture you can see, although it might be hard to understand.  What you’re looking at is on an oblique angle to the front of the machine you’re actually looking at the edge of one of the two doors and there’s another one on the other side.  And the two doors open up, they overlap, and one opens out to the right, the other one opens out to the left and they continue to push out until they hit the walls of the roadway, the ribs.  So the machine itself is about three metres wide and the doors are probably another metre and a half wide each, maybe more, maybe two metres wide, and they push out and push into the ribs and that forms a seal against the side roadway.  They also have guillotine rams on the bottom of them so they can ram down into the floor and that forms basically a seal on the roadway.  So any coal washing back, water washing back down the roadway is directed by hitting these doors up over a lip and into the receival area for the coal.  The coal that runs through the middle of the machine just using gravity, so it’s just water, washed out.  Remember the monitor’s putting, at the moment, on the 19th of November it was putting out 4500 litres a  minute but that was still to be ramped up to 9000 litres a minute so there’s a lot of water flowing down there, nine cubic metres.  So the water and coal slurry flows through the machine.  On the back of the machine there’s a breaker just rotating sort of picks and that breaks the coal up to – and the intention is to break it up to less than 200 millimetres.  And then the flume line is connected directly to the back of the guzzler and it breaks the coal up.  It’s got rudd links and other things on it.  You can see some safety signs for noise because it’s quite noisy.  And this here is a ram, remembering this is actually operating in quite a steep roadway and so this ram that goes up to the roof blocks against the roof and stops it being pushed away by the force of water or anything else hitting it as it comes in from the front.  That’s a mobile machine, it’s track mounted.  The rudd links on the front, once you shut these doors, can be used to tow the hydro monitor back down the roadway, otherwise it can be just direct driven but with its own tracks, it’s a remote control unit.

Q. And is this a standard piece of machinery Mr Whittall?

A. No, that was the design and built for Pike.

Q. And are there any other safety features on this piece of machinery?

A. It’s got gas monitoring on it and its got computer screens on the other side so you can monitor all the work of the monitor at the face, so you can monitor the monitor.  And it’s got communication through to the pump system so that if you want to – because the operator that’s operating up here is operating both this, he’s operating the monitor so he can operate the feed for the water to his area as well.  So if needs to turn off the high pressure water he can communicate electronically back to the main pump system.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief, we’re at page 10, paragraph 45, and if you could continue reading please.

A. As the coal face is located uphill from the portal the gravity assisted flume was able to be used to move the coal all the way to the underground crushing station.  From the underground crushing station it was pumped via slurry pipeline down the access tunnel and onto the CPP approximately 10 kilometres away.  Coal was normally transported from the coal face using load-haul-dump or LHD machines or ram car haulers which transported the coal to a common gurgler or dumping point where piped fluming water would wash the coal via flumes to the pit bottom.  This system was starting to be replaced with flumes laid up into the panel to receive the coal directly from the continuous miner eliminating the need for LHDs in this process.  This was the intended process for the mine in steady state.  Attached and marked PW39 and PW40 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of a load-haul-dump machine.

Q. So if we can start with the PW39.  Could you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  This is one of our juggernaut LHDs, there’s a number of brands in the market.  Well there’s not that many because they’re quite a unique machine and they’re not a big marketplace but this is a juggernaut brand, part of the Valley Longwall Group now, UL001, so it was our underground loader number 1, this is our first one.  We actually had six underground, we had eight at one stage, we only owned two of them and we leased others.  
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A. So the machine is about a 10 tonne capacity.  In this picture it’s got a coal bucket on the front of it so it’s quite a large bucket for taking lower gravity, specific gravity material.  They are mono-filled tyres rather than air filled tyres.  The operator sits in the cabin there in the middle of the machine so he’s got a steel roof canopy above him.  He would open this door in the middle of the one with a little sticker on it in behind the front wheel and climb into his cabin.  So this would swing out full height and he would step into the cabin and sit in a seat there facing sideways so his back would be to this.  These machines come with a steel packing plate behind the operator with a steel roof canopy.  Some of them are optional extras, others are standard.  Depending on your roof height in the mine you can have different features to your machine.  They have got intrinsically safe lights on them, fire extinguishers.  This machine has a fire suppression system on board which can be activated automatically if it detects, like if its fuseable plug gets burnt out, or it can be operated manually by the operator by hitting a switch.  So it’s got a dumping system on the motor so it will automatically suppress fire if it was to catch fire.  It’s also got on board gas monitoring, gas guard system and it’s straight out of Australia, to Australia/New Zealand standards.

Q. And when you mentioned the optional extras point Mr Whittall, were there any budgetary constraints that the company faced regarding the design of these types of pieces of equipment?

A. I've used armcos and juggernauts and wagners and all sorts of machines in the industry, and I find the juggernauts to be the best, so we bought the best, yeah.  These are the QDS system which is a quick detach system.  So you can actually have a bucket on the front or you can have a set of forks on the front or a gib on the front.  So we bought all those attachments as well, so there’s a full suite that goes with these things.  They're a great machine.

Q. Thank you.  Let’s turn to the next exhibit PW40.  And can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit PW40 shows?

A. This shows the machine’s been working for quite a while because it’s not nice and white anymore.  This machine’s parked or is operating right next to the portal area at the entrance to the mine.  He’s got a load of material in the bucket.  The operator’s in the cabin.  You can see him there, his coupling it on and the only other features of that which you couldn't see on the other one, you can see some chocks there sitting on the top, which are used to chock the wheels of the vehicle, but other than that it’s the same machine, just in a different orientation just doing its work.

Q. Sir, just so I'm clear.  By reference to “chocks,” what do you mean?

A. Just like wheel chocks to stop – if you had to stop the machine on a grade you could chock the wheels to stop it getting that initial rollaway.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief.  Page 10, paragraph 47.  Could you continue reading please?

A. “The company has four driftrunners purchased from the Australian company, Specialised Mining Vehicles Pty Ltd.  The driftrunners were used to transport up to 11 miners to and from various locations in the mine.  In more recent times, miners were also transported in the unrestricted zone in Toyota Land Cruisers.  Attached and marked PW41 is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records, of a driftrunner.”

Q. Let’s turn to PW41?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a driftrunner.  There's only a couple of different varieties in the marketplace and I've used driftrunners at quite a number of mines I've worked at.  They're a personal transporter, they're purpose-built for the underground coal mining industry.  They have a driver and an offsider in the front and another nine people in the back.  In this case, they're all visitors.  You can see they're all in their white gear.  The SMV vehicle is also part of a Valley Longwall stable of companies now, although they weren’t always.  The operators if they've got a front windscreen they've got some materials, racks on the roof, although I didn't tend to use those very much because we had low pipes in the pit, et cetera.  They're a diesel vehicle.  They have a water scrubber system.  So all the diesel vehicles have the same sort of features.  They're all water scrubbers and have, in this case the operators and the passengers sit separately.  So, you can't put your hand through from one to the other.  So the passengers in the back have emergency stop buttons in the back of the machine as well in case there's some reason they need the vehicle to stop automatically, they can actually stop it by pushing a button.  
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A. The machine has on-board gas monitoring as well in case it was tried to be taken into a gassy area, so it’s got a gas-guard system as well and it’s also got automatic fire suppression on it as well.

Q. And when you use the term, “water scrubbers” sir, what do you mean by that?

A. It’s a system by which the exhaust from the vehicle is passed through a wet scrubber system to stop incandescent particles from the diesel motors entering the ventilation.

Q. You talked about the windscreen at the front Mr Whittall, is it glass on those side panels as well?

A. No, no typically you'd try not to.  It’s an issue of you want as good a flow through ventilation as you can in these vehicles.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to page 10, paragraph 48 of your brief and ask you to continue reading please?

A. “Various other equipment was used in addition to driftrunners and LHDs to support the operation of the mine.  This included lighter duty tractor style machines, Brumbys, and a mine grader for road maintenance.  Attached and marked PW42 to PW44 respectively are photographs obtained from the company records of a Brumby, a mine grader and an auxiliary fan.”

Q. So, if we start Mr Whittall with PW42, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  It’s a Brumby. The LHD I showed before was a 10 tonne machine, it had a 10 tonne capacity.  The Brumby is typically about a four tonne machine, four and a half tonne, so that means that that’s the load they can pick up with their bucket and still be stable.  These are similarly a QDS machine, it can have other forks and gibs attached to them.  Again, they’re a single operator machine but in this case the operator faces forward, a smaller machine, they don’t need the same – they’re not used for towing as much which the other LHD was, so the operator doesn’t typically look behind the machine as they drive and they’re not an articulated machine, which the other one was, and that’s why sitting sideways is very good for those because you can actually see as you’re going round a corner, much better, whereas the Brumby is a fixed chassis and they’re just basically a tractor for underground, that’s essentially what they are.  They just cost a lot more than tractors, because they’re purpose-built for underground, has the same safety systems as the other, you can see a fire extinguisher in the middle, they have the gas-guard system on it and you can actually see it on this one, that little box there.  In the middle of the drawing, just underneath the canopy, and so they had the same gas detection system and also had the same fire suppression system on the motor was well.  They’re a standard machine.  I'm not sure that we had to do a lot of changes to the requirements, they’re pretty much an off the shelf machine from SMV.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW43.

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. This is a mine grader.  This is, normally I believe they get an ordinary CAT grader and cut it down and modify it, so this is the right grader.  It’s purpose-built for underground.  It’s got all the same features.  It’s a lot lower profiled than one you'd see on the road, but it’s used – we used it for grading our main roads on the surface but essentially it’s been bought for underground road grading, so it’s a purpose-built machine, the same thing, fire suppression systems on it, gas detection systems on it, which is quite unusual, I've not had a grader with gas detection before because usually they’re operating out of your main intake airways, but it was a standard that we decided on when we bought all of our equipment and you can see again on, which is not normal, but it’s probably quite a common theme now with the right graders, it’s also got a QDS system on the front, so you can attach like a stone duster or some other hydraulic equipment to the front of this machine as well.  

Q. Thank you.

A. So all of those were bought brand new, they’re all bought for Pike.

Q. Let’s turn to the next exhibit, PW44 and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is an auxiliary fan.  In days of old an auxiliary fan of itself was just a fan sitting on the ground which had its impellor and its intake and outlet and a small electrical switch box and then separate to that you'd have the starter and supply.  This one’s been built as a single unit.  It’s a large capacity fan so it’s a, I'm pretty sure it’s a 21 cubic metre per second fan, I may be wrong if it’s an 18, but I’m pretty they’re all 21s that we bought.  
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A. So it’s capacity to put fan air through an open circuit so no flumes restricting the airflow, is 21 cubic metres per second.  So it’s got the onboard electrics and a flameproof enclosure for its electrics there and the starter and everything else.

Q. And that’s the blue area?

A. The big blue box in the middle of the auxiliary fan.  And the number of the fan, its plates are there.  In the middle just above the flameproof enclosure the electric motor for the fan is on the front of the unit and the actual fan, you can see not quite as clear here, you can see some little radiating wings on there, they allow you to change the pitch of the veins in the fan and they would be used to adjust the airflow through it and to fine tune the fan.

Q. And I think I can read the word, “Vale,” perhaps written on the machine.  Is that right?

A. Vale Engineering are the suppliers of that, they’re a New South Wales based engineering company that supply very, very good quality gear to the mining industry.  So this has similarly got fire suppression on it as well and it’s also got a gas guard system on it as well.

Q. Can I bring you back to your brief, we’re now at page 11, paragraph 49 and could you please continue reading?

A. “This is dealing now in pipeline.  The coal slurry pipeline is made of extruded seamless steel pipe.  Water would flow naturally under gravity but to ensure an adequate velocity was maintained in the pipe to keep the coal and heavier stone dilution in suspension the material was pumped down the pipeline at high speed.  The pipeline discharges into a coal sump at the base of the CPP.  The slurry pipeline provided environmental, safety and cost-efficiency benefits by eliminating the need to use coal trucks to transport coal from the mine to the CPP.  The CPP is situated approximately 8.2 kilometres from the mine tunnel and is situated on 87.5 hectares of company owned land.  The CPP was designed to operate whenever the mine was working to ensure a 24‑hour per day operation.  The CPP received all of the raw coal from the mine through the coal slurry pipeline and washed the coal to remove diluting rocks and deliver a clean dewatered product.  The clean coal was separated with higher ash components further crushed and processed to remove stones and other debris.  It was then screened and dewatered.  The dewatered clean coal was loaded onto a product conveyor and delivered to stockpiles, four conical stockpiles of approximately 15,000 tonnes each, ready for collection for coal trucks and transport to the Ikamatua road-to-rail facility.  Part of the technology in the CPP was an elemental analyser to perform continuous on-line, real-time and precise analysis of coal moving on the coal conveyor belt.  In parallel to the slurry pipeline running from the mine another pipeline carried clean water from the CPP back up to the mine.  Settling ponds situated near the CPP were used to settle the water before it was carried back to the mine.  Clarified water was treated, tested to ensure compliance with resource consent conditions and then either recycled to the mine or discharged into the nearby Big River.  The water recycled to the mine formed part of the water reticulation system which along with water drawn from streams supplied water for the hydraulic monitor and for fluming coal.  Attached and marked PW45 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records of the parallel coal slurry and water pipelines.”

Q. And if we could just take a look briefly at this exhibit, PW45.  Can you please explain Mr Whittall to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  It shows two pipelines.  The one on the left is the coal slurry pipeline.  The brackets it uses are much more robust.  It’s a 11 inch pipeline extruded, meaning it’s seamless so it’s not wound pipe it’s just been pushed out of one big long inger of steel.  We bought that from Japan, all those pipeline, so it’s very high grade steel.  It’s sitting on a series of concrete plinths down the side of the road.  But the pipe beside it is ordinary black steel pipe. 
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A. Its 12 inch diameter, slightly larger and it just has a much lighter gauge bracket because it doesn’t take the same pressure and it’s for returning clean water back up from the coal prep plant to that large tank near the amenities area.  The little brackets that are sitting on top, you can see, look pretty flimsy, they’re just there to keep the pipe settled if it gets any surging in it, but essentially they sit in grooved sections of the concrete plinths and the concrete plinths are bolted to the ground.

Q. Thank you and if I could bring you back to your brief, page 12 paragraph 57, could you please continue reading?

A. “At the time of the incident the CPP had produced 65,000 tonnes of saleable coal which included a period of operating at full capacity.  On average the coal was sold as hard coking coal.  Transportation arrangements.  The company built a road-to-rail coal facility near the town of Ikamatua, approximately 22 kilometres from the CPP.  Coal was transported from the CPP to Ikamatua by truck and discharged into a road hopper.  The coal was elevated up onto a conveyor with a mobile plough which could form a stockpile of approximately 15,000 tonnes of coal.  An under-stockpile reclaim conveyor took the coal up into a surge bin for discharge into train wagons.  Trains accessed the site via a purpose-built rail loop which came off the main Grey Valley train line.  A train with between 30 and 45 wagons, each carrying approximately 50 tonnes, transported the coal to the port of Lyttelton, situated on the east coat of New Zealand’s South Island.  The Port of Lyttelton had a stockpile area allocated for the company’s coal and this was where the coal was loaded into Panamax vessels for export.  The truck, train and port services comprising the coal transport system were provided by third parties contracted to the company.  The company had two transport providers.  The Nelson-based TNL Group trucked coal from the CPP to the Ikamatua rail loadout facility and Solid Energy New Zealand Limited transported the coal by rail from Ikamatua to the Port of Lyttelton.  Attached and marked PW46 to PW49 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records showing the rail loadout facility.”

Q. If I could just stop you there Mr Whittall and ask you to take a look at PW46, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Certainly.  Appreciate it’s a bit busy so I'll just explain it to you with a pointer.  The rail line is coming in from the top left hand side of the picture and going out around the middle of the bottom of the photograph.  That’s the main line that runs between Stillwater and Reefton so Greymouth, Stillwater would be off to the left and the Reefton line continues on down to the south of this photo and then off to the right hand side.  The white scribbly looking overlay is actually the facilities that have been put onto this picture.  The rail loop which was purpose-built for this is the only one in New Zealand actually that exists, comes off the main line, so a train coming up if you imagine from Stillwater, coming in from the left would leave the main line at the start of that first yellow box, C009, and would leave the main line and run parallel to the main line for some several hundred metres and then it goes around the curve and as it comes round the first of the curves it’s pulling its 30 or 45 wagons.  You'll see more in the photos that follow, but there's a white box, a rectangular box showing with main storage platform in yellow pointing towards it and the lower access road running just down beside it.  That’s actually just a box showing where the coal stockpile is.  So, we’ll look at other photos that will make this clearer but the system would be that the train would pull the wagons through that point, as it got to the top side of where the rectangle is, you can see the line is starting to head there to the north, it would pick up about 20% load of the coal through the bend that sits over the rail line, which we’ll look at again shortly, and then it would continue to pull that train very slowly, a couple of kilometres an hour, through the rail loop and all the way around the loop until such times as the engines would back almost at its own tail, so back almost ready to join the loop again.  By that stage it was designed that the last of 45 wagons would be through.  
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A. If there was only 30 wagons it would just stop a bit sooner.  The diesel would then uncouple from the back or from the front of the train, would drive around, pick up the back of the train and then heading back out of the loop would load each of the wagons with another 80% of their capacity, so the other 40 tons of the 50 ton capacity.  The rail loop was designed in such a way that it was all downhill, so the train pulled the empty wagons into the loop and then when it pulled the wagons out they were always in tension so there was no clunking like you'd get in a rail yard.  So as they pulled out and loaded up, the train continued in tension, pulled through until it got back parallel to and almost onto the main line, by which time the train would be full and it would continue out onto the main line and go away.

Q. Let's turn to the next exhibit, which may give a little bit more context as you've mentioned, PW47.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  I actually said in my brief that it was a photograph but it’s actually obviously a diagram or electronic diagram.  This is taken with a view looking from within the rail loop.  And so you can see in the background on the right-hand side is where the truck would discharge its coal.  It would then go down, come up the conveyor which is coming up the right-hand side of that stockpile and out along a horizontal conveyor which a plough would then deposit the coal variously along the length of that section, which would give about a 15,000 ton stockpile.  It’s not a conical one like over at the prep plant, but it’s made up with a ridge long stockpile.  Underneath that is a conveyor tunnel which was constructed into the ground, a concrete bunker, and there's two drawdown points underneath that stockpile.  They would draw down onto that conveyor.  It would come out of the ground around the middle of that photo or the right-hand third.  The green is the roof cover or the side covers to stop wind blowing coal off the conveyor and it goes up the elevator conveyor, up to the top of the surge bin, and the surge bin holds about 50 tons, about the same size as a wagon so you could have the first wagon ready to go.  You can see the control room from the tower there and the other operating rooms there.

Q. Just on the left-hand side of the photo?

A. On the left-hand side of the drawing, correct.

Q. If we –

A. The train would pull through that rail line, which is the black line running roughly through the bottom section of that diagram.

Q. If we turn to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW48?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is taken from where the truck would discharge into the coal hopper, and you can see the conveyor, elevator conveyor going up.  You can see the stackout conveyor in the top right-hand corner of the photo and the concrete pad is shown there when there was only a little bit of coal in there, and in the background you can see the elevator conveyor coming back out from underneath and you can see the train loading bin in the very far background.  The other thing that’s of note in that drawing is that the system was set up and quite a lot of conversation, as Mr Rockhouse will recall, when we were building this as to what the safest way to do that would be, given that someone has to work in that tunnel while there’s a coal stockpile above them, and we didn't really want a multi-person, like there's not enough work over there for a couple of people.  So we ended up making that with two means of egress out of that tunnel.  So that little box there is actually an exit way out of the underground tunnel and that’s where –

Q. And that little box is just for the written record –

A. The little box on the right-hand side of the photo about half way up is actually the fan exit.  So there's an exhaust fan in there and a ladderway that comes up from the tunnel underneath the coal stockpile into that, so you can get out that way if you wanted to.

Q. And if we can turn to the next exhibit PW49.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. So again just to complete the orientation of what we've been looking at.  That shows a coal train being pulled through the loop.  You can see the diesel still at the front of it, KiwiRail, and the train is still going back out of a loop towards the main line.  The coal trucks would come in from the top left-hand side or half way down that plan, that photo, discharge their coal and you can just see the road coming down on the right-hand side amongst the power poles and they would go out underneath the raised section of conveyor and out again.  And you can see the CPP operator in the orange overalls and next to the control room where the bin would be discharging into that train.

Q. Thank you.  If I can just bring you back to your brief, Mr Whittall.  We're on page 12, paragraph 61.  Can you please just read the last sentence of that paragraph?
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A. “Attached and marked PW50 is a true copy of a pictorial representation obtained from company records of the company’s transport arrangements.”

Q. And if we now turn to PW50, which is being displayed, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this is just a simplify – a number of the factors we've been talking about.  On the left-hand side of that diagram is the coalface if you like, the coal was transported back down the two kilometres of tunnel, a 10 kilometre slurry pipeline from within the tunnel to the dewatering and coal prep plant, out of the stockpile, trucks to Ikamatua and then railed 250 kilometres to Lyttelton, stockpiled again at Lyttelton and then on to Panamax vessels out of Lyttelton.  So it's just a pit to port diagram. 

Q. Thank you, and if I bring you back to your brief at page 13, can you please continue reading from the top of that page?

A. Certainly.  “Part D, Details of a Mine Operation, electricity systems, 62.  Electricity was used to power the CPP pumps, the mine’s ventilation system, mining equipment and for the offices and workshops.  Electricity was supplied to the mine from a high voltage switching yard installed on Transpower’s (the New Zealand national high voltage electricity grid operator) 110,000 volts national grid at Atarau Road.  The switching yard took power from the national grid line running from Reefton to Dobson.  From the switching yard, a 7.5 kilometre electricity line runs to a main substation at CPP, called the Logburn Substation.  This substation supplied power to the CPP and up to the mine portal.  From the Logburn Substation, 33,000 volt lines run up the valley to the portal area where another substation distributes power to the amenities area as well as 11,000 volts to the underground workings.  Fully insulated and extra strength Hendrix power cable has been used on the last four kilometres of line to the mine portal to increase line integrity from falling trees and conversely to minimise damage to native trees from fire or discharge should the cable be brought down by storm damage.  The use of Hendrix cable also reduced the setback distance for trees from the power line, thus reducing the need to clear vegetation along the line.  Attached and marked “PW51” is a true copy of a photograph, obtained from company records of the Hendrix power cable.”

Q. If we could turn to look at that exhibit, PW51 Mr Whittall, can you please explain to the Commission what it shows?

A. Yeah, that's taken probably I think on top of the bin that we saw earlier near the portal, the big green rock bin.  That's looking back across the White Knight Bridge with Pike Stream down on the right-hand side and pretty much on the confluence of the White Knight Stream and the Pike River Stream.  The cables, the two cables you can see hanging in the distance are one feed coming up the valley from the Logburn Substation, so it runs all the way up the valley to the substation right next to the portal  and from there, because it's 33,000 volts, we then ran back 1.2 kilometres to the amenities area, rather than put another substation in down there and that runs back 11,000 volts back to another transformer at the amenities area and also transports the power underground, and so what we're looking at is in this drawing is the Hendrix cable.  A Hendrix cable is a system of insulated cables as opposed to a normal power supply out on the road with three, three‑phase power which would be uninsulated so if you grab two of them, you would get electrocuted.  These are insulated power cables, they're basically like extensions cords run through the air but they're still three-phase power and what they, you can see, if we just choose this area here, just -

Q. So just an area to the right-hand side?

A. Yeah, so we’ll choose the first coupling next to the timber power pole in the middle of the photo for ease of reference.  The top wire is actually a catenary wire, so it's a very strong but thin piece of wire that supports the cables, so it's just there for hanging off.  The – underneath it you can see a bracket with three cables running through that bracket and they just basically act as a spacer to keep the three cables from twisting around each other.  
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A. The weak point in the system is where the catenary wire is attached to the pole and that’s intentional so that if a tree were to fall on this power cable system it would rip the catenary wire off the pole and the whole cable would drop to the ground and because they’re heavily insulated cables they can touch each other without sparking, they become safer for personnel who have to deal with them but they also have allowed us to reduce the setback distance for trees because a lot of the, I think it said in the brief four kilometres, that’s pretty much where we started the old growth forest, so a lot of the trees on either side of the road are four, five, six hundred year old podocarp so we left as many as we could and this allowed us to keep the area very well tight where the road is, and the other one is just the same, it’s just going back in the other direction.

Q. If I can bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we’re on page 13 and if you could pick up reading from the heading just above paragraph 64 please?

A. “Communication system.  The communication system to and from the underground mine included fibre optics, telephones and an AMPCONTROL Voicecom intercom system.  I understand that the Voicecom system was installed in September 2010.  The phones underground could call anywhere on company premises.  A sheet was stored with each telephone setting out various numbers including the emergency 555 number at the top of the sheet.  The Voicecom intercoms are equipped with four buttons to control the transmitting and calling functions and they also have liquid crystal displays to assist with trouble shooting.  A speak button, as well as a call local and call exchange buttons respectively allowed communication with the control room or all local sections.  From the amenities area a fibre optic cable ran down to the base of the Pike Valley.  From here the communications were transmitted by radio wave to a repeater outside Greymouth, then to a receiver in Greymouth and then into the terrestrial telecommunications systems.  Compressed air and water systems.  Compressed air for the mine was supplied via pipeline from two large compressors installed adjacent to the access tunnel portal at the White Knight Stream.  Compressed air was reticulated throughout the mine and was used for small compressed air tools as well as for portable ventilation devices and dirty water pumps.  In addition to a fluming and monitor water system I described earlier dirty water lines also ran throughout the mine to remove pooling water.  Because the mine was developed uphill most waste water would run downhill away from the face and this had to be managed away from wheeling roads.  Water was also collected in the access tunnel but ran freely downhill to the portal where it was directed to Pond 1 to be dosed with flocculent and either lime or acid as required so that it was within the acceptable range to be discharged into the Pike Stream.  Inseam drilling.  Inseam drilling provides critical data on geological and coal seam conditions hundreds of metres ahead of each working coalface.  It allows for more accurate, efficient and targeted exploration and coal seam delineation than surface drilling.  This enable primary access roadway development in thick seams and greater certainty in mine planning.  Inseam holes drilled through the rock graben intersected a nine to 11 metre Brunner seam consistent with the geological model and confirmed the absence of significant faulting in the first production target area.  Inseam drilling was used at the mine to define the coal seam where pit bottom in coal was developed and to define the first hydro areas.   Attached and marked PW52 is a true copy of a photograph obtained from company records of an inseam drilling rig, similar to that used by the company.

Q. If I could just pause you there Mr Whittall and take you to PW52 which has now been displayed.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes, this rig is not one that was being used at Pike but it’s of a similar nature, this photo was supplied to us a couple of years ago by Valley Longwall, it’s obviously going to another company in China.  It’s essentially a track mounted inseam drill rig.  It’s not a rotary drill rig although you can rotate the rods to connect them together.  It’s essentially a rig set up for down hole motor, I'll explain that in a second, but the machine itself is quite a large robust machine with track mounted, and you can see the tracks along the bottom here, go up around through there, got rudd links for lifting it so you can lift it on and off transporters.
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A. It’s got temporary roof support and also used for locking the machine into place so that you can operate it without it being moved around.  Once the rods are on in the hole you don’t want the machine moving at all.  At the front you’ve got a rod, a set of jaws that actually, rod clamps, to hold the rods in place while you drill, while you spin the next rod on.  This is a through motor so that the rods would be placed through the middle of this motor and then – 

Q. And that motor’s just to the left-hand side of the –

A. Yes, and you can see the brown or brass runners on the stainless steel tube, that runs backwards and forwards.  This motor would go backwards and forwards, there’s a chain slightly visible in the middle and this would be drawn up and back.  So it’s on a chain that’s pulling the rig up and back from both directions.  So the rods would pass through that then pass through the ripper jaws at the front and then into the hole.  The rod itself would have a down-hold motor on the front so the bit that actually drills the hole is at the face of the hole.  Other rigs, which are called rotary rigs, this back here, the motor itself turns and spins the whole rod set, which is okay for drilling 80 metres or 100 metres but you end up with too much torque on the rods themselves.  So anything you’re going to drill to distance, a rig like this would drill two kilometres in a coal seam.  So this is typical of the machine that was being used at Pike.

Q. I bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we’re on page 15, paragraph 73.  Can you please just read the last sentence in that paragraph?

A. Attached and marked PW53 and PW54 are true copies of diagrams obtained from company records indicating inseam drill holes.

Q. And if we start with PW53.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  Again, the main, it’s good to ignore the future workings as they change almost every plan I put up because that’s the nature of coalmining.  But what it does show is the existing roadways as they were at this time.  You’ll recall just by area that the hydro panel  was roughly where the ends of these two, hydro panel one is roughly at the ends of where these two drill holes are around the centre of the drawing just below the second horizontal line down from the top of the plan.  The black lines with little blobby bits on the end are in the same drill holes and so they start from the terminus where the roundish part is, the oval shaped part, and they go out into the seam.  They are identifying different structures.  The first couple we drilled are quite close to the Hawera Fault.  One was drilled to the north to alleviate any structures that might be associated with the fault and the next one was drilled out to the west.  And it was in drilling out to the west that we first located the graben structure which is a, I will actually show it I think at a later diagram, might be easier to explain it then.  These holes are then drilled to various locations, often they’re terminated at faults.  Once you’ve drilled out quite a long distance, depending on which angle you hit a fault at, it can be quite difficult to penetrate that fault so typically you might drill it again from a closer distance, get better penetration strength, because the down hole, not that whole motor but the motor on the drill rig is not only pushing against the face but it’s got to push the weight of all of those rods sitting on the bottom of the hole as well so the further out you get the penetrations gets more difficult.  But as you can see one of the holes we drilled, which I can’t recall the number, I think it may have been eight, has drilled, went about 600 metres out into the strata and was a very successful hole that gave us some good information well and truly out to the west of where we were planning on working.  And you can see we had similar success with some good long holes going out to the north.  Drill holes, as I said, in Queensland, Commissioners will be aware of, that holes up to two kilometres have been successful but in nice unbroken seams.  We sort of always expected that our holes would be of the order of 500 to 600 metres given the nature of the broken strata in the West Coast.

Q. If I could take you to the next exhibit, PW54.  Can you please explain Mr Whittall to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a side elevation of PRDH8, sorry, PRDH8s is the surface bore hole that comes down through the middle of it.  I can’t remember the bore hole, it may well be number 8, actually it is, it’s just shown on the little diagram on the right-hand side.  So this is bore hole, inner seam bore hole number 8.  
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A. This was actually put on the board by Dr Newman the other day and she correctly identified the fact that the drill hole was emanating from the coal seam on the side even though that wasn't actually shown on this diagram.  The coal seam is back up at the elevation where the black hole or the black line starts from the red line, the red line being faults, known faults or identified faults, and the browner line around the middle of the plan is identified as a minor fault.  What this shows is that the drill hole was drilled from the east.  So as we go left to right we're going from the east to the west.  And typically you would drill out, and as you drill out you would drill up into the roof.  The downhole motor has an elbow on it just back from the motor itself with about a one and a half degree bend in it, so by orientating that drill rod or that bend, you can drill a hole upwards or downwards, only quite slowly because you don't want a big kink in the thing because it’s all steel pipe.  So you drill up to the roof first because you're pushing the hole up and then you drill up until you hit something, whether it’s the roof of the seam or a fault or something, you don't know whether you're going to hit so you define the roof as you go out.  So this hole would have been drilled, firstly with a branch touching a fault here.  It’s gone through, hit roof and they kept on going until they hit coal again, that’s why they're able to define that little area there.  They then pulled back and branched down and gone up, stayed within the coal seam.  They were looking to get out a long way here, and then they've branched up to the roof, so it made a roof contact.  This is now to the right of the words “in-seam drill hole,” and then they've kept on going and branched up to the top again and branched and branched and then gone out through another fault, and by that stage they're probably reaching the end of where they really wanted to get and because they've now gone through a number of faults, you're increasing the risk of losing your rods down the hole because it gets stuck out the other end.  You've got about $250,000 worth of downhole motor alone sitting out 600 metres away, which you probably won't get back a long time, so it’s a trade-off between going as far as you can and not losing your gear.  So then when you come back you drill downwards, and the reason you do the downhole on the way back is you can use gravity to let the hole drop downwards.  If you tried to do the uphole on the way back, the rods would keep on pushing further and you wouldn't be able to go up.  The only way to do it is to go down and then up again so it’s much simpler to go up first and then go down. So you can see a number of branches have gone through this fault to delineate the fact that there's a significant step down in the coal seam out here and a major dislocation, and we've drilled down through it here as well and come back.  So essentially you're using the in-seam structure to validate your surface boreholes.  So as you'll see, we've drilled past borehole eight here.  We already knew that there was a structure in the borehole because we've got a surface borehole and so you tend to use your inseam drilling.  It’s not an either/or process.  You don't drill surface drill holes or in-seam drill holes.  You drill surface drill holes and you drill inseam drill holes to infill the datasets and validate your geological model.

Q. Bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall.  We're at page 15.  And if you could just start from the heading above paragraph 74 and continue reading please?

A. “Gas drainage.  The predominant gas in the Brunner coal seam is methane.  Generally, the seam is quite gas permeable and therefore gas within the seam, which ranges from negligible in the east to approximately eight cubic metres per tonne in the west (with an average of 4.1 cubic metres per tonne across the permit area), flows quite freely from cut coal and roadways.  The roadways had an active programme –

Q. Sorry sir, if I just catch you there.  I think “the company” not the roadways, paragraph 74?

A. Sorry, yes thank you.  “The company had an active programme of inseam directional drilling with inseam boreholes radiating out over 600 metres in length.  The borehole information was used for seam definition and mine planning. During drilling, gas was drawn away from the hole’s collar using a stuffing box to capture the gas and direct it into a gas drainage line.  Following completion of the hole, the remnant boreholes were attached to methane drainage lines.  This assisted the drainage of gas from the coal, ahead of mining operations.  The gas was either vented to the surface via a gas riser borehole, or free vented into the mine’s return ventilation to be diluted and exhausted from the mine using the main ventilation system. 
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A. Ventilation.  During the construction of the access tunnel ventilation was supplied to the face using forcing system with the main fan or fans located on the surface adjacent to the portal and directed to the face with flexible ducting.  The return air travelled back down the access tunnel.  This was acceptable as the tunnel was not in coal and not producing gas or coal dust.  When the mine entered the coal seam and connection to the shaft was made underground auxiliary fans exhausted up the exhaust shaft.  This would have remained the system until such times as the emergency backup fan was installed on the surface of the shaft, except for the collapse of the shaft which meant the return to a forcing ventilation system until the completion of the Alimak raise.  The emergency backup fan, designed to act as a backup to the main fans to be installed underground was of sufficient capacity to ventilate the mine until the first of the main fans was installed.  More recently the first of two main underground ventilation fans had been installed near the base of the shaft and was exhausting air up the shaft.  The surface fan was then set up to serve its intended purpose as a backup fan in the event of an underground fan failure.  Tests undertaken by an independent laboratory showed that the mines coal had a lower inherent propensity to spontaneously combust, meaning the coal itself had a low likelihood of self heating in normal atmospheric conditions.  Gas Monitoring.  Two different methods of gas monitoring were planned for the mine.  Real time monitoring and tube bundling.  Real time monitoring measures and transfers data immediately to the control room.  Real time monitoring is used to measure data such as carbon monoxide and methane levels and provides information in order to generate a quick response.  The real time system is used to measure a discrete number of points where immediacy of information is important such as electrical installations or main fans.  This system was in place and functioning at the mine.  Tube bundling is a system of individual plastic tubes which run from unique locations in the mine all the way to the surface analyser with unique samples under negative pressure from a small surface pump.  The analyser switches between tubes or samples and can take between 30 and 45 minutes depending on the length of the tube, to generate a sample.  Tube bundling is helpful for measuring trends over time in intake and return roadways as well as inaccessible areas such as the goaf.  The goaf is the waste area formed after the extraction of coal allowing the unsupported roof to cave in.  Tube bundling was planned to be implemented at the mine as it increased in size and started to form its first goaf area.  Tube bundling was included in the 2010/2011 budget.  There was also a number of other different types of monitors and sensors in operation.  Real time monitors were installed at various locations in the mine, including at the portal, pit bottom, the surface of the ventilation shaft and the grizzly borehole.  I understand the monitors variously measured methane, oxygen and carbon monoxide along with air and ventilation velocity, however not all were measured at each location.  There are a number of monitors in the pit bottom.  In addition there were monitors on fixed and mobile plant.  I understand that the monitors were calibrated under the control of the engineering manager.  The gas sensors in the mine were wired to a controller which took readings of the gas levels.  The monitoring equipment installed at the mine is an automated mine gas analysis system that took readings every 20 seconds.  The controller read and digitised output.  The central control and management system of data readings is called SCADA, an acronym for Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition.  
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A. The SCADA database and software is linked to a screen which presented the data and allowed for monitoring and controlling of the readings.  Some gas sensors were set to alarm at pre-set methane levels while others were designed both to alarm and also to trip power at pre-set methane levels.  The real time monitoring system alarmed when certain pre-set gas levels were detected.  I understand that several gasguard monitors installed in designated locations in the pit bottom were able to trip all underground power if methane levels reached a preset level in any of those areas.  I also understand that a monitor was located in the return airway of the hydro extraction panel which monitored methane levels and reported these to the hydro monitor guzzler.  The monitors on the continuous miners and auxiliary fans, however, were set to trip power to the device when a pre-set level of methane was detected.  These were not monitored on the surface as part of the real time system, they were responded to locally.  The exhibit marked PW28 that I referred to at paragraph 36 showed the location of gas sensors.”

COMMISSION adjourns:
3.30 PM

COMMISSION RESUMES:
3.46 PM

THE COMMISSION: 

Ms Shortall, just before you begin, I meant to raise this before we rose for the afternoon adjournment.  The Commission is just a little concerned as to whether we have sufficient time to complete Mr Whittall’s evidence, and to guard against the possibility that we may run out of time we are contemplating commencing early tomorrow morning at 9.00 am and having a slightly longer day and we may also look at the hearing times on Friday, both in relation to the start and even the finish time if need be if that’s going to make a difference in terms of completing matters this week.  So I'm just raising that now.  I may enquire of you again at 5.00 pm before we rise just to see whether there are any acute problems in relation to starting early tomorrow morning because we are anxious to do so if possible, so I'll just leave that with you.

MR DAVIDSON:

Sir, may I just add one further element to that.  That from the families’ perspective there'll be no issue at all about starting early and finishing late.  The issue in their minds is whether the hearing will resume next week and the reason for that is travel for the families who come at a distance.

THE COMMISSION: 
Travel?

MR DAVIDSON:

For the families who come at a distance to the hearing.

THE COMMISSION: 

At a distance.  Yes, sorry I didn't hear that.

MR DAVIDSON:
Because they have to leave work and make arrangements and so on for that purpose.  So if that’s a contemplation sir, it would be very good to know what the Commission’s position is sometime, later on today or tomorrow morning.

THE COMMISSION: 
Well, if the worse came to the worse, we would have to reconvene at some stage next week.  It may not necessarily be on Monday but for the moment the plan of action is to address matters in the way that I've outlined rather than to capitulate to the default position that you've just hinted at.

MR DAVIDSON:
I'll sit down sir, and get on with it.

examination continues:  MS SHORTALL: 

Q. Mr Whittall, if I can take you to page 18 of your brief.  The heading just above paragraph 90, and ask you to continue reading from there please?

A. “Shift operations.  I understand that as at 19 November 2010 the company operated under a system whereby there were three mining crews known as A, B and C crews on nine hour rosters.  There was also a 12 hour roster containing four crews.  These rosters were kept entirely separate.  The 12 hour roster ran seven days a week whereas the nine hour roster operated five days a week.  I understand that A, B and C crews had 20, 23 and 19 members respectively as at 19 November 2010.  The mining industry has specific terms to describe the hierarchical positions held by the miners.  The manager of a shift is known as the underviewer or shift coordinator.  The underviewer oversees a shift.  Deputies are the underground supervisors to whom the miners report.  A deputy reports to an underviewer.  Both underviewers and deputies have defined roles and responsibilities specified by legislation.  Depending on their experience the remaining miners are designated as senior miners, experienced miners, miners, or trainee miners.  I understand that the miners worked in teams of between approximately four and seven members.  Each team had a crew leader who was responsible for the safe and efficient operation of their team’s operation of the mining machines.  Supporting the mining crew were electricians and fitters.  I understand that some of these support personnel were attached to the A, B and C crews and others worked the 12 hour roster.  
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A. I understand that the tradesmen who worked on the 12 hour roster were broken up into green crew, yellow crew, blue crew and red crew and permanent dayshift crew.  Also on these crews were miners who operated the hydro panel.  There were also external contractors who worked in the mine.  Their hours of work varied.  Contractors who went underground worked on specific projects as required and they were not usually attached to a company mining crew.  Movement underground.  Before each shift went into the mine a briefing was conducted.  The briefing was an opportunity for the underviewer to brief the crew going underground as to what was going to happen on the shift.  Crew leaders and other persons, such as departmental managers, the underground mine manager and the hydro coordinator may also have talked to the crew.  In addition to the briefing as to what was to occur on the shift other matters may also have been discussed with the crew.  Toolbox talks were a formal method by which the company communicated to its miners any matters that needed to be brought to their attention.  If an incident had occurred in the mine, that may have formed the basis of a toolbox talk.  Another example of a toolbox talk might be to highlight or remind crews about operating procedures or some housekeeping matters.  Oftentimes the toolbox talks were used to proactively raise matters with the crews.  Anyone could initiate a toolbox talk.  The talks did not have to be generated by management.  The company also operated a tag board.  The intention of the tag board was to provide a mechanism for recording who was underground at any given time.  The process that the miners went through at the start of each shift was to get their gear ready at the main bathhouse.  They then took the bus to the lamproom.  There they took their lamp and self rescuer.  The miners generally kept their tags on their belts or hung them next to their lamp.  When they left the lamproom to go underground they were supposed to put their tag on the tag board.  Attached and marked PW55 to PW57 are true copies of photographs obtained from company records of company miners in their typical mining gear.

Q. Mr Whittall, if I can take you to the first of those exhibits, PW55, and can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is a photograph taken looking into the back of man transporter, a personnel transporter.  The previous photo we showed was just of the outside of the machine.  So in this machine you can see a number of personnel.  They’re all Pike River employees, they’re all in the same coloured overalls and they’ve got Pike logos on them.  The chap on the left is one of our underviewers, had his name on his uniform, and he’s wearing a standard set of overalls with Australian standard reflectors.  So they’re an industry standard reflector for underground use.  They all wore hard hats which are coalmining hats as opposed to hard rock hats, they’re a slightly different shape.  They had a clip on the front, you can see that silver metal in the middle of Dean’s hat, Dean’s the guy with the orange vest, which is where his cap lamp would clip onto.  The other guys have got their cap lamps on their heads whereas his is around his neck and just hanging down in front of him, that orange thing just above his arm.  All those machines are individually seated, they’re not bench seats, so each person’s in a seat and each seat has a seatbelt.  Dean, you can see that black stripe running across his chest, diagonally across his chest is his seatbelt.  And the others have got, they’ve all got their air muffs on because they’re supposed to have them on in the vehicles because they’re quite noisy.  Some guys are wearing their rescuers and pouches, the chap with his back to Dean has a big blue pouch on his belt so his dragger, self-rescuer would be in that pouch.  It’s a bit hard to see in that photo, it’s a lot easier on the screen, but that’s a blue pouch there.  Other’s had them threaded onto their belts directly.  They all wore usually a variety, depending on whether they brought them from other mines or not, a variety of harness belts.  This harness belt here would have around its waist the rescuer on one side and the cap lamp on the other, or the camp lamp battery.

Q. And just for the record, you’re identifying Mr Whittall the person sitting at the back?

A. Correct.

Q. On the right-hand side of the photograph?

A. With the red harness bracing on, correct.  The other features of that machine, you can see the seatbelt buckle on this chap with his seatbelt going across his lap and they’re all lap slash belts so they came from a point of anchor above the shoulder and then were anchored in the vehicle.  
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A. Some of the people faced backwards and others faced forwards.  The other safety and other specific items in that vehicle that you can see, they do actually have a ridge in there for a roof to be slid in and you can see at the front, there's a piece of perspex that’s been pushed back and we originally did use those all the time for rain cover but found that as people were getting in, because they had their caps on, they would often head butt the perspex and it caused a couple of incidents so they’ve now been pushed back out of the way and the guys put up with a bit of rain as they’re heading into the mine.  Just behind Dean is a first aid kit that sits in between the seats for use in the back of the vehicle where it required and also Dean is wearing his safety, personal safety lock on his strap, which is used, he’d have a key to that, he's the only one that would have a key to that, and that would be used if he wanted to lock out a piece of equipment underground, as per out lock out procedures so he would carry that around with him and if he wanted to isolate a machine he would use that lock.  They’re the main features of that photo.

Q. And if I can bring you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW56, can you also explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. So this is taken at pit bottom, this is two McConnell Dowell employees.  They wore their own McConnell Dowell uniforms with their logos on the left breast and they’re standing, the chap on the right that was their civil supervisor at the time, when they were explorating the pit bottom area and that’s the two gentlemen, they’re similarly attired, they’ve both got industry standard reflective striping on their overalls which Pike required them to have once we went into the coal operation, and that particular chap is wearing a different style of belt, just an ordinary belt with his lamp and his rescuer on his belt.  

Q. And if I can bring you to the next exhibit Mr Whittall, PW57, is this another photograph of people dressed in typical mining gear?

A. Yes it is.  That was a couple of visitors from the Department of Conservation and Minister for Labour that visited the mine, and similarly we issued them with overalls if they didn’t bring their own.  Sometimes we issued them with paper overalls, like they’re a particular type of protective clothing, but otherwise if they thought they were going to be in the pit and getting pretty dirty we’d give them a set of Pike overalls and that’s pretty typical attire, so they have their gear on.

Q. If I could bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we were at page 19, paragraph 104 and can you please continue reading from there?

A. “When miners came out of the mine the process was reversed.  They collected the tag off the board, took their lamp off and hung their tag by the lamp or onto their belt.  The tags were all individually photographed.  Each miner’s photograph was printed on their tag along with his name.  The tags were not individually numbered.  Health and Safety Plans.  The company employed Neville Rockhouse as the safety and training manager in December 2006.  Mr Rockhouse remained in that position until earlier this year.  Mr Rockhouse has an extensive background in mining and holds a number of health and safety qualifications.  
Mr Rockhouse developed a systems based health and safety system to be implemented at the company.  In addition, in July 2008 
Adrian Couchman was employed as the company’s training and safety coordinator.  The company had a number of types of health and safety procedures.  The type of procedures used depended on the nature of the situation it was intended to cover, with each procedure resulting in a plan for that activity or type of activity.  Job safety and environmental analyses (JSEA) were undertaken for infrequent or one-off tasks.  A JSEA is a systematic review of the processes involved in carrying out a specific task.  Its purpose was to break the task down into a series of discrete tasks that formed a logical sequence.  Each step in the sequence was then assessed to identify the hazards.  Each identified hazard was then further assessed to develop a solution for the management of that hazard.  This information was then recorded so that it could be analysed after the job was complete and any necessary refinements could be made.  If a job was to be performed frequently a JSEA was replaced with a safe operating procedure or SOP.  SOPs were developed specifically by the company for the unique environment that it operated in.
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A. An SOP was developed by assessing all potential hazards that could arise in the operation of the particular item of equipment or task concerned.  These hazards were then incorporated into the training associated with that task.  SOPs were unique to certain areas of work and as such, not all employees were trained in each SOP.  SOPs were generally developed out of broader reaching management plans.  The development and implementation of management plans was undertaken by supervisors.  The supervisors planned their work and executed management plans consistently to provide a safe working environment.  The content of management plans were determined by the responsible manager who developed, amended and finalised the plans.  The SOPs required by a management plan were then developed for each repeated task.  Risk assessments were carried out before a particular activity was undertaken.  This was done regardless of whether the activity was a one-time activity or a repeated task.  A risk assessment is similar to a JSEA in that it was used to identify particular risks involved in the planned activity.  The risk assessment could be a lot larger and more complex than that required for a JSEA and could result in the development of a number of management plans and SOPs.  Risks were assessed and plans put in place for the mitigation and reduction of each risk.  The end result was to identify whether the risks associated with a particular activity were manageable in the circumstances.  A completed risk assessment could result in a permit to work being issued, which specified the work methods to be followed.  It provided a predetermined safe procedure and contained a record that all hazards had been identified and assessed.  A procedure was developed to report and manage incidents or accidents. The first step was for the person who witnessed or became aware of an incident or hazard to report this either immediately, (if imminent harm was a possibility) or at the end of the shift, (if imminent harm was not a possibility).  There was a policy of prompt and accurate completion of incident accident reports.  These reports were used to develop safe procedures to prevent the reoccurrence of the incident and to influence the development of SOPs and management plans.  As a result of the risk assessment process, a number of risk management plans were identified as necessary for the safe operation of the mine.  These included, but were not limited to the following: (a) the mine manager’s rules (which were general and specific rules and guidance for all employees, contractors and visitors working or visiting the mine site and covered both surface and underground operations); (b) the emergency response management plan; (c) the hazard management plan; (d) the health and safety management plan; and (e) a plan showing the location of fresh air base, self-rescuers and fire-fighting equipment.  Monitoring of mine working and operations.  The control room was in control of the underground mine and of the surface area from the portal to the CPP, including the controlled access gate.  The control room oversaw all gas monitoring, critical care, first aid, the allocation of explosives keys and detonator keys (which must be signed in and out), handing out gas detectors, dealing with gear requests from underground, dealing with repairs required underground, sending in fitters, giving advice on machines or issues arising underground, doing reports, checking deputies’ reports and responding to deputies’ phone-ins every two hours.  Outside of normal office hours, the control room also received incoming calls to the mine. Attached and marked PW58 to PW60 are true copies of photographs, obtained from company records, of the control room.

Q. If we just turn to the first of those exhibits, Mr Whittall, PW58.  Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yes.  This is looking through from the hallway that runs up the side of the control room.  It’s of the control room window that the general workforce would go to, it’s a sliding window.  It’s looking through into the control room.  The control room operator, Barry’s sitting there at his desk.  Arranged around behind him to the right of where he’s sitting is a number of screens and also out of the picture to the left would be a number of other screens.  So the room is ideally kept locked.  
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A. Sometimes they open it, depending on the shift, but it's meant to be a clean secure place for the control officer to operate unencumbered by, you know other people sort of walking through that office, it's not a throughway to anywhere.

Q. If we can turn your attention Mr Whittall to the next exhibit, PW59, can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Yeah, it's taken a different time with a different control officer sitting there but a bit closer.  It's the same chair in roughly the same location.  It's shown in that photo a number of monitoring screens, the one on the left has got a spreadsheet open which the control officer may well have been filling in.  The phone that he would normally use as the normal control room phone is behind him on the desk and next to him is also a cordless phone which he can use if he has to leave the office, on backshifts especially when there's no one else much, he may leave the office to do something and takes the phone with him, so it's put through to him.  On the windows you can see a number of plans have been taped up of the mine.  One reasonably recent plan.  He's got his phone lists, he's got a notice board in front of him, the emergency management board behind him is not the emergency response board which is out of picture off to the left with all the, with all of the folders that would be given out, and were given out in the event of emergency, but what you can see in that photo is a whole range of different forms that we use for internally.  A number, such as, unplanned strata collapse, so if there was an unplanned strata collapse underground, then the control officer would be able to reach up and grab that and he'd have instructions in there what to do and who to report to and what forms to fill out.  There's others there called, “Acknowledgement of gas alarms, pit bottom strata control, plant breakdown, pond and control room, alarms”, other things like that, so basically kept those things to hand.  The screens in front of him on the right-hand side are a range of different things, he can pull up different things under different screens so it gives him, he's just a lot of screens so that he doesn't have to scroll through from one to another but he can actually keep track of multiple things at the same time.  And then out of picture, where the photographer has been standing there's also another couple of screens that he can use.  So he can, got a wheelchair and quite a long tabletop so he can looking at multiple things at the same time.

Q. And if I can bring you Mr Whittall to the next exhibit, PW60, where there are some additional screens I believe.

A. Yes.

Q. Can you please explain to the Commission what this exhibit shows?

A. Again, taken slightly around to the right from where the other photo was taken.  It shows the control arm operator discussing the SCADA looks like the gas tracking on the screen and he's going through that with one of the project engineers that was on that list of contract engineers in the hydro team.  So you can see there he's got the four screens and you can also see on the right of the photo yet another screen showing more SCADA information.  There's a radio in the middle of that desk, and outside of the window you can see a number of machines that are being parked there.

Q. Thank you, can I bring you back to your brief Mr Whittall, we're on page 22 and if you can just start reading from the heading just above paragraph 116, and that's actually the last paragraph in your brief that you need to read sir.

A. “Other work within the Mine.  In the weeks prior to the incident I understand that there were a number of other projects happening underground (other than extraction and development).  These included constructing an overcast, commissioning the main ventilation fan, excavating a roadway stub for the new dirty water cyclone bay, installing underground pipelines for fluming water and dirty water, and carrying out construction work on the new sump wall and pump bay in the Pit Bottom South sump area.

cross-examination:  mr mount

Q. Mr Whittall, I think you understand that the Commission has divided this inquiry into four phases.

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Phase three will deal with the immediate cause of the explosions in the mine and with matters such as the compliance with health and safety procedures.

A. I understand that.

Q. The purpose of phase one has been described as a scene setting exercise to establish the context, so I just want you to understand that questions at this phase will be directed to establishing the context for what is done later in the inquiry.
A. I understand.
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Q. The first topic I'd like to raise with you is the context of your involvement at Pike River.  Prior to starting at Pike I think you had something like 24 years experience in the underground coal mine industry?

A. That's correct.

Q. I think initially you worked as a mine surveyor.  Is that right?

A. Correct, I was a trainee surveyor, yes.

Q. Prior to coming to Pike you'd been at BHP in Australia?

A. Correct.

Q. And the most recent underground mine project you worked on I think was at the Dendrobium Mine if I’ve pronounced that correctly.

A. That's right, Dendrobium.

Q. D-E-N-D-R-O-B-I-U-M.

A. It’s an orchid.

Q. Could you tell us just briefly what your role was with that project and later with the mine itself?

A. Yes.  I was, prior to that project I'd been a mine manager operating mines and I went onto, within the same division of BHP Illawarra Coal I joined the Dendrobium project when it was going from concept or prefeasibility study into feasibility study, the semi role with that project initially was as the mining manager on a feasibility study for a new underground coal mine to produce five million tonnes per annum.  I started on that project with an engineering manager, as my peer, and we both reported to a project director and we were the three permanent employees at the start of that feasibility study.  I continued on through that feasibility phase and was responsible for the mine design and mine aspects of that, so ventilation design, roadway design, strata control, letting of contracts or preparing to let contract, so getting budgets together for the drifts that had to be done.  There was two 1.2 kilometre tunnels to be done, a shaft, very similar things to Pike.  I was then there as part of the feasibility team that wrote the feasibility document and I was responsible for what turned out to be about a 600 page feasibility study into the mine and I was the author of several chapters and the editor of the document.  The project was approved by BHP’s board and then I became the mine manager to start the construction of the tunnel, of the two tunnels and the underground operations and continued in that role as the statutory manager of the mine and covered technical service and other issues as the mine was developed and I stayed working at that mine until we’d developed both tunnels, the shaft and the entry ways into the first extraction panel.

Q. When you started at Pike in February 2005, I think you said there wasn’t a mine to manage at that stage?

A. No.

Q. But your title was mine manager.  If we look at document DOA.012.03472 on page 13, there was a description of your role by Minarco at the time they prepared one of their reports.  So if we just bring that up on the screen, page 13.  It’s page 11 of the document, about halfway down the page, we can see there there was a description, this is January 2005 of your principal tasks at Pike.  They included managing and guiding the underground mine construction contract, planning production operations organisation and awarding contracts and a number of other functions.  Were they the matters that you were taken on to do at Pike?
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A. Yes, essentially as you see this document’s a January 2005 document and my name was in the document because I’d already accepted the job but I hadn’t started with the company at that stage so this was put together without my knowledge, if you like.  But essentially I was brought on to build the mine so the feasibility studies had been done and all the concepts of what was going to be done was done.  The chap below there, Les McCracken as the project manager had joined the company as a consultant the year before and he was responsible for preparation of the tenders and being the engineer to contract for those.  So I was basically brought on to build the mine because all the consents had been achieved in August the year before.

Q. At that time Pike was, I think, 72% owned by New Zealand Oil and Gas?

A. That’s my recollection, yes.

Q. And you’ve told us earlier that the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas Mr Ward had been responsible for the Pike project?

A. Yes, he’d been responsible for the project for quite a number of years and he’d been appointed as the general manager of New Zealand Oil and Gas I believe early in 2004 when he relocated back to New Zealand and was responsible for the project and therefore was my boss.

Q. Are you able to say in general terms whether Mr Ward had any particular previous experience in underground coalmining?

A. No he certainly didn’t have any previous experience in underground coalmining, no, other than through his studies of this project.

Q. Now one of the documents that our analysis team has produced is a chronology of the board appointments to Pike River.  I’d like to show that document and perhaps we’ll produce a copy for the record so that we can refer to that as an exhibit.

WITNESS REFERRED TO chronology of board appointments document 
exhibit 10 produced – chronology of board appointments pike river company

Q. Can we see from that document that the four board members when you joined in 2005 were Tony Radford, Ray Meyer, Graeme Duncan and Stephen Rawson?

A. Correct.

Q. Mr Radford I think was also the chair of New Zealand Oil and Gas at that time?

A. And the chief executive of New Zealand Oil, yes.

Q. In general terms did he have any background in underground coalmining to your knowledge?

A. Not to my knowledge, no.  Tony was like Gordon, I think they were both financial backgrounds in the oil and gas industry.

Q. The next is Professor Meyer, he I think was the deputy chair of New Zealand Oil and Gas at that stage?

A. I understand.

Q. He’s clearly very qualified in engineering?

A. Mmm.

Q. To your knowledge his background in underground coalmining specifically?

A. None that I’m aware of, no, he’s a professor of mechanical engineering.

Q. Mr Rawson, the fourth on that list, he also I think was a director of New Zealand Oil and Gas?

A. Yes, I understand.

Q. And again no background particularly in underground coalmining?

A. I understand he works for Mighty River Power in the electricity industry.

Q. The fourth member, Mr Duncan, had as I understand it worked for a company called Minarco that we’ve referred to today.  Is that right?

A. He was one of the directors of the company and one of the owners of the company, yes.

Q. And that company had been involved in certain feasibility and prefeasibility work, which we will discuss in more detail.  Is that right?

A. For Pike River?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes.

Q. Do you know anything more about Mr Duncan’s background in the coalmining industry in Australia?

A. I don’t know specifically where he worked but I do know he’s a mining engineer.  He’s worked in coalmines as an under manager.  I don’t believe he was ever a mine manager, I don’t think he achieved his First Class Ticket but he was a competent mining engineer.  When I met him he had done probably a lot of the feasibility work.  There was another partner of his in Minarco that was also heavily involved in Pike and Graeme was and still is active in the underground coal industry.

Q. When you joined in 2005 are you able to say what priority the board and senior management gave to ensuring that the company had access to advice from people experienced in West Coast underground
hydro-mining?
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A. My understanding, and this is my understanding, from my earliest dealings with Graeme Duncan was that he had quite extensive experience himself in West Coast.  I don’t know what – I don’t believe he’d ever worked underground.  My understanding was his experience was at due diligence level.  He’d been working on the West Coast, he told me, 15 to 20 years, but I don't know in what capacity.  Certainly not as an employee of any company on the West Coast but as sort of looking at Solid Energy’s assets and working in that area.  And similarly he had staff that had also done work on research on the West Coast but he hadn’t worked himself.  The other people that were involved in the project when I started here, Frank Taylor who Harry Bell mentioned the other day, with 40 odd years experience on the West Coast, was the first person I met over here, and he showed me around and was engaged by Pike River to do various works associated with the drilling programmes that were being done and acting as the face, if you like, of Pike in Greymouth and Peter Gunn who is also mentioned, who are previous submitters, was a geologist of note or previous experience with Solid Energy and a lot of West Coast experience.  He actually met with me when I was being interviewed for the role in Christchurch and took me through the geology of the coast and Pike specifically and still stayed active with Pike through until probably about 2009 I suppose.

Q. If we can look at PW22, which is the chart of the various positions within the company.  I think you referred to the fact that initially your title was mine manager but you then changed within a year to general manager, mines?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there any functional significance in that change of title to general manager, mines?

A. Yeah.  The function significance was that when I first started I reported to Gordon Ward and so did Les McCracken as the project manager and so did Ivan Liddell as the environment manager, and after a year we started – and also by then we’d recruited - in late 2005 we’d recruited our engineering manager and our tech services manager and it just became obvious that as we started to move towards starting to go underground and putting all these contracts out, that it was not logical for Gordon Ward to continue to have site-based people like Les and Ivan reporting to him. He didn't have any expertise in the areas that they were expert in.  He did continue probably mostly in the environmental area to keep a stronger oversight because he’d had a lot of dealings with DOC and even after Ivan started reporting to me, he probably had a reasonably close association with Ivan but it made more sense for me to start operating as the overseeing manager looking after all of the operational aspects.

Q. So in an operational sense at the mine it was you who had primary responsibility for what was actually happening?

A. Yeah, from a responsibility point of view that's right.  I reported through to Gordon as the CEO for all approvals and my signature level was quite low and the company kept a very tight control over authorisations, so Gordon was the authorising signature for most of the works I did.

Q. We can see that the positions, mine manager, statutory position picks up in late 2008 and I think you've explained that that's because that was the time at which Pike became a mine?

A. A coal mine, yes.

Q. Is it fair to say that leading up until that point in 2008, you were the person with the primary operational oversight over what was happening at the mine site?

A. Not really because you see in the line above it there is a tunnel manager and Kobus Louw was the tunnel manager of the hard rock portion of the mine.  So my role in that regard in relationship with Kobus didn't change.  I was his boss in that I was the general manager.  He was the tunnel manager and had legal authority over the mine site, the physical site, and the tunnel and all its  statutory operations such as ventilation, strata control, all that sort of work, and Mr Firmin yesterday talked a lot about his relationship with Mr Louw and you'll notice that he didn't talk about me for that reason because the relationship between the inspector and the mine is always with the mine manager, so in that regard Kobus was responsible for all underground operations and when it became a mine or a coal mine nothing really changed in that regard, he just moved.  There was no change in responsibility; it was just the fact that what he was responsible for changed, slight difference.
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Q. If we put to one side what McConnell Dowell were doing with the tunnel, in terms of the planning for the mine and the work that was being done in preparation for the mine, would it be fair to say that that was what fell in your job description?

A. Yes, I maintained the technical services manager’s position, reported to me right through until Doug was appointed to the site general manager in October 2010 and that’s, so that’s the future planning and the medium term planning for the mine.  If you cut into say long and medium term planning, fell within the position of the technical services manager and short term planning, whether we turned left or right, all the attending issues of permits to mine and everything else, fall into the mine manager’s role.

Q. If we look at that position of statutory mine manager, between late 2008 and mid 2010 there were six different people in the role over roughly a two year period, perhaps an average of only about four months each.  Did that cause any operational problems for the company?

A. A lot of frustration I must say, frustration in trying to get continuity.  One of the things that the mine manager does, not from a – from a systems point of view it was frustrating, a couple of people were consistent right through there so Neville was consistent right through, from a health and safety management system point of view there was a continuity of oversight and I was consistent all the way through, so from the big plan or the big picture and where the strategy and where the company was going to from the mine operations point of view, there was a consistency of personnel.  Also there was only one change of engineering manager, that’s not shown on that drawing, but Tony Goodwin had been there from October 2005 until early ’09 and then we had one manager right through until 2010 as well.  So a couple of other roles were very consistent.  The actual statutory position frustratingly did change on a number of occasions but when the mine manager’s rules are set in place and management plans are set in place then each manager that comes in manages to those same rules unless they go and do a review for some reason.  I think the biggest continuity issue with change of manager is actually personnel management, so getting guys used to who the boss is, the way they work, what sort of reporting standards they want, those sort of interpersonal issues and leadership with the middle management and things like that.  Those are the things that are frustrating when you keep changing leadership in the manager’s role.

Q. Did any of the mine managers who left over that period raise concerns about unresolved safety issues prior to leaving?

A. With me?  No.

Q. If we look at the period from the mine becoming an underground coal mine through to January 2010, I think you said you were based at the mine site for that period?

A. Correct.  I moved to Greymouth in February 2005 and I left in 2010, January.

Q. From January 2010 were you primarily based in Wellington?

A. I lived in Wellington but I travelled to the mine site through the earlier part of the year most weeks.  Initially when I first went up there one of the conditions by which the board agreed to me relocating was that I would continue to act as the general manager on site and try to be down here Tuesday to Thursday most weeks.  That did become other pulls on my time from the shareholder briefings et cetera, et cetera and capital raisings, so there was weeks where I didn’t come down but I then moved it to fortnights, I then moved back to fortnightly and tried to make sure I was at least here fortnightly during that period but weekly was more often in the first part of the year.

Q. Your office at the mine site, was that right next door to Mr White’s office?

A. My office was the corner office next to my PA, which was next to the front door and then I had an anti-office which I used as a meeting room and then the mine manager’s office was the next one down, that was Doug’s office.  
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A. When Doug became the, and I kept that office when I moved to Wellington as well but it was used by others if they needed to because I was down there every week and when Doug became the site general manager I gave him my front office, which was close to the walkway and I took my previous meeting room office as my office, just to be able to keep gear there.

Q. Was that in October 2010?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there a weekly operations meeting at the mine site?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that on a Wednesday?

A. Correct.

Q. So your usual Tuesday to Thursday –

A. Well it did vary over the life of the mine but as of the 19th of November it was a Wednesday meeting, yes.

Q. So your usual Tuesday to Thursday trips would encompass that weekly meeting?

A. Where I could, that’s why I tried to be there across that period.  Yes, that’s correct.  If I was able to I would always attend it.  Some days I was there but I couldn’t attend the meeting, I had other reasons for not attending it but I was usually there when it was on.

Q. When your duties took you away from the mine was it standard for you to have daily telephone contact with Mr White or with the staff at the mine?

A. Yes it was.  Didn’t always happen but it was a normal routine, we’d usually check in.

Q. I want to deal with the context leading up to the change in your role in the last quarter of 2010.  You’re aware I’m sure that New Zealand Oil and Gas commissioned a review from a company called BDA in May of 2010?

A. Yes I am.

Q. That review in fact ultimately compromised three reports dealing with both technical and management issues?

A. Yes, I’ve read those reports.

Q. I’d like to refer to you some aspects of the first report that they provided and ask you whether they reflected some of the practical pressures on the mine at that time, in late 2010?

A. Are you asking me whether comments I made in May 2010 reflected October 2010?

Q. Whether they reflected pressures that were affecting the mine as at that time in mid 2010?

A. In 2010, yes.

Q. Yes.  So if we look at NZOG0064, page 2, and if we look in particular at the second paragraph.  BDAs comment was that the project has been severely delayed on its planned programme of construction development and ramp up to the target mining rate of one to 1.3 million tonnes per annum.  After starting the access road construction in early January 2006 and the tunnel in September ’06 the project remains in the early stages of development of underground coke and coal resources with development well behind schedule.  And the first production panel’s yet to be developed.  The project has experienced a sweet of unexpected technical and operational difficulties in the completion of the initial mine development.  Now we’ll move onto the bullet points in a moment but would you accept that the severe delays referred to by BDA were difficulties that confronted the company at the date of this report?

A. It had in that time, yes, absolutely.

Q. Perhaps if we focus in on the bullet points where BDA referred to some of the factors.  The first is encountering more difficult geotechnical conditions than expected in the access tunnel.  Next, the tunnel cost approximately 100% off budget and completion around two years late.  The collapse and subsequent recovery of the main ventilation shaft.  The unanticipated presence of a graben or upthrust stone block in the initial coal development.  Detection of gas from the Hawera Fault forcing early use of flameproof equipment, limited availability of suitable contractor equipment, delivery delays then commissioning issues of selected underground equipment and financial collapse of the contractor.  Is it fair to say that each of those factors had effected the ability of the company to deliver on the anticipated production levels at the date of the report?
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A. All but one of them, I'll agree with, also there's a couple probably need qualification if that's, would that be acceptable?

Q. Certainly.

A. The tunnel cost approximately 100% over budget and completion around two years late.  One of the issues there is that the scope of contract was varied to include 470 metres of underground stone driveage and that was then included in the contract and there was a lot of high wire driveage and you saw many millions of dollars spent in that pit bottom area that wasn't originally in the budget.  So that was a business decision to do that, rather than locate it in the coal, which wasn't part of the contract.  The other thing is that says, “Completion around two years late.”  On a linear programme I would agree.  The actual inference that could be drawn that the tunnel was two years longer in development is not true, it only took two years in total.  It was probably about a year longer, given that, also the scope, but it did take a lot longer than expected so I agree with that, it's just not quite written the way it happened.  The other one is the detection of gas from the Hawera Fault forcing the early use of flameproof equipment is actually quite completely incorrect, the Hawera Fault yielded to actually no gas and we had expected to go to full flameproof equipment about 50 metres before the Hawera Fault and in effect we went to full flameproof electrical equipment in the tunnel by choice, just because it was going to be easier while we were down doing the stonework in the tunnel, in the pit bottom and stone, but we actually were able to continue on using non-flameproof equipment much longer than we expected to because we did that with protection systems and through, or discussion with the inspectors, so I don't agree with that at all.  It wasn't unforeseen and we actually went a lot further with non-flameproof equipment and very safely.  They would be the main issues that I'd taken exception with in there, yes.

Q. If we move to –

A. But the rest is fine.

Q. Sorry, go ahead.

A. But, sorry I said the rest is reasonably true, yes.

Q. If we move to page 3 of the report, electronic page 3, and look at the second paragraph and the attached bullet points, BDA commented that there were several areas in the management area where there had been difficulties and where issues persisted and they refer to remuneration and staff turnover, reporting and management accounting, organisation structure, resolution of technical issues and management skills and capability.  Now appreciating that this is phase one rather than phase three and so there maybe issues that you'd like to speak in more detail on at a later stage, would you accept that in general terms that list is a fair summary of some of the difficulties the company was facing at that time?

A. If some, not that, yes that there were others as well but not that I understand all of those ones, especially the organisation structure, I didn't understand when BDA put that into report and they weren't able to satisfactorily explain to me what it was they had an issue with at the time, but the others are certainly issues.

Q. If we turn to page 7 and section 2.5, BDA said that, “From brief observation and limited discussion, the management personnel appeared to be reasonably competent and knowledgeable with regard to the project and its particular issues.”  Now I don't imagine that’s a sentence you'll take too much issue with.

A. No.

Q. The first sentence of the next paragraph, “An impression gained during the site visit was that there was a general area of despondency or resignation which may be understandable under the circumstances and may reflect a feeling that the equipment units are so poor that the efforts to get them to work effectively are largely wasted.”  Was that something that you had also perceived at the mine site?

A. A qualified “yes”, and I'll explain, I was quite, I was surprised, disappointed yes, but you would be anyway so that's a given.  A surprise to see that comment made by John McIntyre but they were onsite for a day to do this review and they talked to a limited number of people who were available.
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A. I did raise that issue and it’s always hard when sort of the boss asks, “Did someone say that,” because obviously you'll get a different response.  But I did try to get through other channels.  Was that really a perception because I was quite concerned and it wasn't the general perception that I got back through another way of finding out.  However, I would agree with the fact that the continuing problems with the Waratah machines was very depressing.  One huge difference between when this report was written and had they done the same thing several months later, was getting to the other side of the graben and the introduction of ABM20 which lifted everything, but certainly.  I think saying, people had a – I can't see the words directly in front of me on the screen, but being concerned or having a very low feeling generally I don't think was ever the feeling I got.  I actually found the place, but you could ask others, a very buoyant and driven place to work especially amongst the management team, the senior management, so I didn't have that feeling and I did go there every day.

Q. If we look at the last paragraph on that page, there is reference to the reasonably strong technical background of the board and executive management, but if you look at the second sentence, BDA’s comment was that their impression, correct or otherwise, was that there was more of a focus on the market than on the project and a lot of effort being expended on presenting the project to the broking community and to others at that time.  Was that fair comment in your view?

A. I think it’s a matter of whether it’s either or.  I think it’s true that there was a lot of effort being expended by the chief executive and myself as well I suppose, which is why I said I was often not able to get down to the mine site because I was on road trips or other things for capital raising, that there was a lot of effort being expended into that area.  We’re a listed company, we're a small listed company, and the reality is presenting to our market and presenting to the shareholders is a reality.  The comments there by BDA reflect on the board and executive management and so I’d qualify it by saying a part of my job as general manager is to make sure that all of that didn't detract from Doug or any of the senior management’s ability to do their job.  All it meant was that I had less time sitting in the office next door to him and more, but it didn't change the way he did his job or the focus of the operational staff.

Q. If we turn to the next page, page 8 and section 3.  At the top of the page we see the comment, “In broad terms, the Pike River operation had a difficult beginning and many of the management issues appear to relate largely to the litany of technical challenges that have beset the operation since before the decision to proceed.”  Is that a comment that you would consider fair?

A. It says, “Before the decision proceed,” which is back in July 2005.  I would accept that any coal mine or any large project before it starts has a large number of technical challenges, roads into the mountain and developing an underground coal mine in a sub-alpine environment are technical challenges.  I don't think it reflects whether those challenges were met or planned for though.  So yes, I’d agree there were a lot of technical challenges with this mine.

Q. If you look at the sentence in the highlighted section that we have, the last sentence of the first paragraph.  “BDA advised in its original review in 2006 that the project was not considered bankable largely as a result of the considerable uncertainties that the project faced due to the difficulties associated with determining ground conditions and geotechnical aspects in the stone drive mine access, the Hawera Fault and within the coal measures themselves.”  Do you understand that reference?

A. To their 2006 report?  I can't categorically say I recall the link between this and the original review in 2006.

Q. Had it been your understanding in 2006 that BDA had in fact advised the project was not considered bankable for those reasons?

A. No I don't recall that.  Having said that, the report they did in 2006 was to the chief executive and the board for the IPO, which is why they were originally brought on, it wasn’t necessarily to me or to the operational staff.
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Q. Had anyone said to you in 2006 that considerable uncertainties the project faced in terms of the geo-technical aspects of the stone drive, the Hawera Fault and the coal measures, were issues of concern?

A. Had anyone said that to me?  I understood there were issues of concern but they were technical issues of concern.  I think the reference of BDA there is as to its bankability which is an issue of financing, which is an issue for the CEO and the board.  My issue was to build the mine so I understood very clearly their issues of geo-technical challenges and we’d just spent, at that stage, a year tunnelling through some very difficult ground and were putting bore holes down to gain more information.  Mining is a technically challenging occupation.

Q. The next paragraph says, “BDA considers the most fundamental issue for immediate attention is to get the project to a point where it’s capable of achieving its stated objectives.”  And it goes on to say that, “The primary and most urgent task would be for Pike River Coal to provide the means of getting the mine operation working by addressing critical equipment issues.”  Fair comment in your view?

A. Yes.

Q. There is then a table which refers to a number of specific matters labelled, “Problems,” with their consequences.  If we highlight that table, these were the tunnelling contract, pit bottom location, inseam drilling, pay rates and training, development equipment, CPP and the hydraulic monitoring system.  Once you've had an opportunity just to look at that in general terms, the next paragraph says, “Current senior management has not been able to deliver the Pike River Coal project on schedule or budget, in part due to decisions described in the table above.  In BDA’s opinion this level of performance may be expected to continue unless there is a change in senior management direction.”  Fair comment in your view?

A. I'm not quite sure how to answer that.  I did have some discussions with John McIntyre after this report and we also put some submissions back to them with our opinion, given that this was submitted without discussion.  Certainly some – I don't know that, other than the equipment side of it, the change in senior management’s direction for the underground mine was to continue on, really most of the operational issues were starting to be resolved and with changes of equipment et cetera, so I'm not really sure of what BDA’s overall message was trying to be with that sentence.

Q. There then followed 11 recommendations.  I don’t intend to go through all of them, just to highlight on page 9 that recommendation 2 was to retain the current project management on the grounds that it would be counter-productive to institute changes in management.  I take it you would accept that that was an appropriate recommendation?

A. Yes.

Q. And then on the next page, page 10, recommendation 11 was to consider hiring an underground contractor.  Did that recommendation surprise you, given that hiring an underground contractor would effectively be asking someone else to mine the coal rather than Pike?

A. Yes, well, yes, that’s exactly right so to one extent you get an underground contractor, it may be, and some mines do this, bring in a roadway development contractor and they do the extraction themselves for example, so they’d do longwalling but they have someone else do their roadway development, depending on the extent to which that was considered, whether you basically kept your senior management team and hired a company to mine the coal for you, whether under joint venture or some other way, or whether you just brought in operational people to do roadway development, there's a range of those opportunities.
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Q. The very next day, the 20th of May 2010, BDA issued a second report which was focused on technical aspects.  And I just want to direct your attention, and this is NZOG0065, you attention to page 4 of that please.  In particular the highlighted section on the screen and just to ask you whether you consider this is fair.  And so the first bullet point is referring again to the severe delays, a string of unplanned technical and operational problems.  Second bullet point, the fact that underground construction at that point was incomplete, although most of the fixed plant was nearing commissioning.  And then the third bullet point, that BDA considered that in spite of those difficulties the Pike River project was technically sound.  Based on their brief site visit they said that there were certain identified areas within the operation where BDA considered that it was necessary to make changes to some of the practices and projections.  Do you consider that those comments by BDA were fair?

A. Yes, given that this was May 2010, yes they were.

Q. The next page of this report, sorry, this is in fact still on the bottom of the same page, page 4, refers to the geology and the resources and the reserves and refers to a study undertaken by RDCL in March 2010.  If we go over the page to page 5 of the document, we can see that the RDCL review concluded the global resource estimate was substantially unchanged from 2006.  But the second bullet point BDA said with respect to the reserve status BDA was of the view that the structural complexity of the deposit was still largely undefined, although inseam drilling was providing data to establish a more reliable model.  As a consequence the mine is still in a state of flux, leaving some uncertainty over the reserve estimates.  Did that accurately reflect the position in May 2010?

A. Yes, well nothing had changed.  The resource and reserve statements of 2006 had different, as Dr Elder took us through the other day, there’s different levels of reserve and resource estimates and those categories haven’t changed since the 2006 review and BDA makes the point that certainly there’s been gained from additional drilling and seam drilling rather than going backwards.

Q. In June 2010 BDA issued a third report, which we have as NZOG0066.  Do you understand why it was that they produced a third report at that stage?

A. No, but when they did the original they came on, video were engaged through Pacific, someone, Pacific Roads I think it was, who was engaged by New Zealand Oil and Gas to look at Pike as one of their assets.  So previously BDA had worked for Pike River Coal on works.  In this case they weren’t working for us so there wasn’t a lot of discussion, they came in, did their review, went away and wrote their report.  When they gave us, I think they gave us an advanced copy of the technical report so that we could look for factual errors, which we did and made comments backwards and forwards.  I never saw a copy of the management report until it went to NZOG and then I saw it because it came to me via I think by John Dow.  And then I’m not aware of why they did a second technical report unless it was to correct our pushback or our commentary on some of the issues raised in the May report.

Q. Still dealing with the context of your appointment as chief executive later in the year.  Mr Salisbury of New Zealand Oil and Gas has filed a statement which we have as NZOG0068.  If we look at page 35 of that statement, paragraph 137, he says that in August of 2010 he attended a meeting with Mr Dow and Mr Radford where Mr Radford and I conveyed New Zealand Oil and Gas’ loss of confidence in both Mr Ward and Mr Whittall and suggested that Mr Dow consider taking an executive role within Pike River to replace Mr Ward, which he did not want to do. Had that loss in confidence been something that had been expressed directly to you?
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A. No.  The first time I was aware of that was when I read Mr Salisbury’s submission to the Royal Commission.  Just the opposite.  Mr Salisbury and I spoke often and Mr Salisbury directly indicated to me he has potential for me to maybe assume a CEO’s role with Pike and once I did, congratulated me roundly on the event and was glad of the change and glad of my taking the role.  So the first time I became – I certainly was not aware of that via Mr Dow or Mr Radford, both of whom are directors of our company, and both of whom were decision makers in appointing me to the role.  So no, that was quite an interesting thing to read, a submission.

Q. And the following month, September 2010, Mr Ward resigned?

A. He did.

Q. Now I don't want to press this point, but are you able to shed any light fairly on the reasons for that resignation?

A. No.

Q. There was, I think, a meeting on the 27th and 28th of September 2010 where New Zealand Oil and Gas were advised that Pike River was about to run out of cash, and I can refer you here to the evidence of Mr Jones, NZOG0069, page 14.  Page 57, we see that Mr Knight explained that Pike River was forecasting an increase in its working capital shortfall from the previous estimate of between six and 12 million to between 20 and 24 million.  Paragraph 58.  “One reason or the increased cash shortfall was that Pike River’s Indian-based shareholders having received shipments of coal from Pike with higher than specification ash content had to decline to take further out of specification coal in the short term.  As a consequence, Pike’s next shipment would be delayed until December 2010, which contributed to the financial shortfall in the interim.  Pike River had commenced planning for a capital raising to address the shortfall but expected to run out of cash in advance of a capital raising being completed.”  To your knowledge, was that the correct position in late September 2010?

A. Well since you've read the whole clause I'll make comment on a couple of things in that clause.  One of them, Mr Jones, interesting that he has the opinion or has drawn the conclusion that our Indian-based shareholders didn't take the coal because of its out of spec ash.  That was never conveyed to me.  Gugaret had taken the first two shipments of 40,000 tonnes and they had a contract to take up to or 10% or 400,000 tonnes.  They’d taken all of our shipments to that date and said that they would continue on with their other sources of coal rather than take Pike’s coal and because Saurashtra were not scheduled to take our coal they declined to take it.  They weren’t intending to take it till the following year.  Both of them, remembering these were 20,000 tonne shipments, they would have to take a 40,000 tonne vessel to New Zealand to pick them up which was even more exacerbated by the Japanese customers who would have to take a 60,000 vessel to New Zealand.  So I don't agree with Mr Jones’ view that that reason that they declined to take the coal.  However, on his comment on the cash shortfall, he’s correct in that we were still spending our cash at the mine site unrestricted as in everything they'd done was being done and the budgets that had been put in place were in place.  So therefore delays to production therefore delays to cashflow had an impact on the cash reserve the company.

Q. Now you were appointed, I think, in October 2010 as the chief executive?

A. Correct.
THE COMMISSION: 
I raised before we began this session the issue of starting at nine in the morning.  Is there any difficulty in relation to that, and I understand  Mr Whittall you have been consulted about that proposal.

MR WHITTALL:

I'm fine with that Your Honour.

THE COMMISSION:

Thank you, we'll retire until 9.00 am.

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
5.00 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES ON THURSDAY 21 JULY 2011 AT 9.00 AM

WITNESS PETER WILLIAM WHITTALL ON FORMER OATH

cross-examination continues:  mr mount

Q. Can you recall when it was in October 2010 that you took over as CEO?

A. My recollection is the 2nd of October.

Q. Later that month there was an operations report updating, I think, the board on the position with the company?

A. That's correct, there's an operations report every month.

Q. And if we could look please at DAO.003.11590, this is the operations report updated to 20 October?

A. Yes.

Q. If we could zoom in on the production and projects table in the middle of the page.  I think it shows that production perhaps to the 12th of October was running at 246.7 as opposed to the budget of 686.5 and presumably that’s thousand tonnes is it?

A. No, that’s actually metres.

Q. Sorry, cubic metres.

A. No, not cubic metres.  Metres of advance, linear metres.

Q. The table on page 5 of that document, is that the same table or is that a different measurement?

A. I don't have that table in front of me.

Q. Looks to be the same table on page 5 is it?

A. That would be because section 1 that you showed me first is the executive summary, so it would have just been cut and pasted into the first section.

Q. At the bottom of the highlighted section there we see that the table reflects the budget for 2010/2011, but that future tables would reflect the reforecast budget.

A. That's correct.

Q. Is that correct? 

A. That's right.  The 2010/11 budget was the approved budget that was put forward in May and approved in June.

Q. Is it the case then that as at mid-October 2010 the actual production figures were running at something like 36% of the budget?

A. For that period yes, mathematically yes.

Q. And I think it’s the case that even under the reforecast budget the figures would still be below where you would want them to be on a budget?

A. That's correct, but the difference being that the reforecast budget was coming in at the time when a change of equipment to the mine was allowing us to reforecast at slightly higher rates than had previously been able to be achieved.

Q. We heard yesterday that there was a particular ship that had been delayed until December 2010, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. If we move now to the operations meeting report from the 17th of November 2010, and it is DAO.002.15016.  I think we can see on the first page of that meeting that you were not in attendance at the meeting?

A. That's correct.
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Q. But I wonder if you can help us with the table on page 8 of the document.  Can you help us with what coal SOH means?

A. Could you zoom out and let me see the context that that’s placed in please?  The exact acronym doesn’t spring to mind.

Q. The table then shows a series of locations and a total, is that indicating a volume of coal that is available at that time?

A. Yes it is.
Q. And the indication still required for next vessel, with a figure 40,040, does that indicate the amount of coal that is required for the ship that is scheduled to leave in December?

A. Yes, and in this context I’d imagine SOH would refer to stock on hand.  So this is a balance that the logistics manager has put together to see where our coal is sitting at the time and what we needed to do to get a full size Panamax rather than a 40,000 tonne vessel, which the Indians have been more willing to take, the 60,000 tonnes for Japanese customers.  So he was looking at the reconciliation of what we’d need to if we wanted to take a full Panamax to Japan.

Q. To the best of your knowledge does that table show that as at the 17th of November 2010 there were another 44,000, and just help us with the unit there?

A. Metric tonnes.

Q. Forty-four thousand metric tonnes required in order to meet the shipment due to leave in December?

A. That's correct.

Q. Do you know, based on the production figures at that time, how long it would require an order to achieve that required amount of coal?

A. I can’t say sitting here because it was very dependent on the start up of hydro and how much we were going to get out, how quickly that panel was retreated.  There’s a panel, the hydro panel wasn’t on the critical part.  In other words, it didn’t matter how quickly it finished it couldn’t go to the next area until that roadways were developed.  So if it was extracted more quickly then that would help with the shipment but it wouldn’t help with the overall annual tonnage because it would still remain the same.  So the panel was going as quickly as it could for its commissioning and all the other checks we had to do and it was just going to be a matter of the ship would have to go where the ship went.

Q. Is it fair to say that the rates of production through to the 17th of November had been below what you would have liked?

A. Certainly.

Q. I suppose what I’m wanting to ask is whether that figure of 44,000 tonnes still required was looking achievable at the 17th of November 2010?

A. I think it was more likely that the - in a discussion I’d had with the marketing manager was, given that the days at the port would have to be closed down over Christmas, and I think there might be some other commentary either in this document or another one where it just talks about what Lyttelton would be doing over Christmas and when we could run trains and what infrastructure was available that if it wasn’t going to be available in the earlier part of December or before mid December then it was more likely going to be more pragmatic to try and ship it in mid January anyway.  So this was a mathematical exercise to see what we could do if we wanted to do a 60,000 tonne shipment but the vagaries of when ships are then available from the customer, because they’re the one who supplies the ship, becomes a negotiated position.
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Q. Was this a shipment that had originally been intended to leave in November?

A. Yeah, at the time when you set a forecast for the year and you discuss customers and you try to look to what, when ships are going to be available and when you can fill them you set a schedule, usually set a desk case schedule because that gives the customer an idea of when they might need to start arranging ships, giving them short notice that you've got coal and you need a ship doesn't really help them, so we try and set a schedule.  It’s at least optimistic and it’s forecast for shipping and then if there’s delays you just keep a relationship with those customers and they send the ship elsewhere or they don't engage in the first place so, yes, also the fact that the commissioning of the hydro panel was taking longer.  We left, went on dayshift for a little while then we went on to two shifts and we’d have a few stoppages with the filter banks.  I think Ms Shortall asked me to point where they were on the plan yesterday and they’d been supplied to an incorrect spec so we had to wait and get those fixed so there’d been some commissioning start up delays with the hydro panel.

Q. In terms of the company’s cash position in November 2010 we saw yesterday in Mr Jones’ statement NZOG0069 and perhaps we’ll start at page 14 just to recap.  At page 14, paragraph 57.

A. Is this his submission to the Royal Commission?

Q. It is.  It appears the position was that in September a cash or working capital shortfall was set to increase from between six and 12 million to between 20 and 24 million.  Is that correct to the best of your knowledge?

A. I can't verify those figures but it’s not outside my expectation for that or from my recollection anyway.

Q. If we turn to page 15 and paragraph 61, is it correct to the best of your knowledge that the cash shortfall predicted for December had increased to $54 million?

A. Now that’s, my recollection is based on repayment of some funds as well so we’ve had to factor that in and this was becoming, had become a funding issues obviously a month or so earlier which is why we were in discussions with New Zealand Oil and Gas and a bank.

Q. The proposal as at mid November 2010 was to attempt to raise 
$70 million in capital?

A. That's correct, yep, and that was being finalised on the 
19th of November.

Q. I think it’s correct that the IPO documents had said that the expected costs to develop the mine would be approximately $270 million?

A. Yeah, that’s my recollection.
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Q. Are you able to say what that figure was in fact by mid November 2010?

A. My recollection is it was well into 300s, I can't remember exactly.  Close to 350 would be my recollection.

Q. The first shipment of coal, I think, was in February of 2010?

A. That's right.

Q. And clearly, of course, the mine had started to produce some coal?

A. Yeah, that was roadway development coal, that's correct.

Q. In various documents we see reference to the term “steady state.”  Could you explain that term to us?

A. Yeah, steady state is when the miner has installed everything it’s going to install and the equipment’s running to the expected - well you may still have some efficiency issues to deal with but you've actually got the business built and doing what it’s supposed to do, and the base case for Pike was to have three development units running and the hydro installed and running as a nine cubic metre per minute device, which at this stage on the 19th of November we were still running that at half capacity, we were still building the sumps for the second part expecting to have hydro up to full capability whether we ran it that way or not by the end of the year, December, and we were changing out or we’d already changed out one ABM and had the second one on its way and would expect to be running as a two to three unit mine by January with – so steady state as far as operational capability would have been achieved early in 2011 and then continuity.  So steady state which is your million tonne a year where you don't have delays between panels, would have only been achieved after we got out to the western side of the lease because we were taking small areas of coal that weren’t able to be done continuously because there are such gaps between where they are because of all the mining control zones, so probably 2000, late 2011/2012 to reach full steady state.

Q. So the position in mid-November 2010 was that you were still some months at least away from steady state or perhaps up to a year away from steady state?

A. Steady state production capability in the equipment probably months away.  But steady state as in predicted so you can work out what your annual costs per tonne would be on average, et cetera and get starting to build some historical records, that would be 12 months away.

Q. I want to take you back to paragraph 9 of your witness statement for this enquiry, where you describe high fluidity hard coking coal?

A. Yes.

Q. I just wonder if you could explain some of those terms for us.  Can you first of all explain the different grades of coal that there are?

A. Not my area of unique expertise.  As a mining engineer we tended just get it out of the ground and someone else looks after it from there.  So the areas specifically of coal generally is coking coal and thermal coal are your two broader categories.  One is used for power generation and one is used in a steel making process.  The coking coal is used for steel making.

Q. Just pause there.  What is the coal that we might use at home in a fireplace?

A. They're thermal coal typically.  Pike’s not very good for your home fireplace.  Too hot and it’s too fluid and we'll come back to that term of fluidity in a moment.  So coking coal is a coal that's used to make coke.  That’s why it’s called coking coal.  And that’s done in a coke oven and they heat it to a very high temperature, you know very low oxygen environment so it doesn't actually burn off, it just heats and bakes and drives off all the volatile matter from the coal and the gases and you get coke oven gas from that, and you are left with a more, drier, lighter product which is much more intensely carbon and then that's used as a feed to a blast furnace to act as a carbon input to the iron to make steel.  So uniquely coking coal is used for – you can burn it in your fireplace but it’s too high a grade to worry about doing that.  It’s much better value for steel making.  I'm sure historically they just had coking coal and thermal coal, but as coal prices have increased and steel making is a very technical matter, various grades come up especially in the recent years where we have the semi-hards, semi-softs and there's all these subgrades.  There's anthracite is another grade above coking coal, but if we just stick to coking coal.  
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A. So there's hard coking coal, there are some coals that are classed as premium, but again this is a market definition where people are prepared to pay a little bit more.  So you have premium coke and coal, a hard coke, they’re all hard coking coals, semi-hard and then you go into the semi-softs and they’re just different attributes of the coal but give those definitions.

Q. Without asking for a lengthy technical description, can you tell us the essential differences between hards, semi-hard, semi-soft coke and coal?

A. No, I’d rather not display my ignorance of those technical matters of coal.  It is a very technical area.  Actually before I came to Pike River I knew virtually nothing about it other than I used to mine hard coke and coal and that’s what it was used for, didn’t have a very good knowledge of that, it’s not something as a mining operative person you would really get into.  My knowledge has obviously greatly increased through working at Pike because I’ve had to work with our marketing manager, but again we have a marketing manager that understands those.  The people who really understand it the most are the people who buy the coal.  So the guys who make the coke and work for the steel works
et cetera know exactly whether they want to buy and they have a far greater technical understanding of the coal.  At the end of the day we’ve got a coal mine and we produce the coal.  We can take it to the customer and say, “Look, this is what we think it is,” but it’s actually more what they think it is that drives it failure, not what we say it is.  So when we do our marketing and our coal testing, despite some other statements to the contrary I made here last week, we actually take the coal as samples to our customers and say, “Well, you rate it,” and they do the lab work on it and it’s actually them who comes back and categorises it to us as to what sort of coal it is.

Q. Can you explain the term, “Fluidity,” that you’ve used?

A. Again, in my mining engineers terms, fluidity is a bit what it sounds like.  It’s actually a characteristic of the coal that when you heat it in the coke oven it actually flows, it becomes in a fluid state.  And in a very high fluid coal if you put no other coals in with it you’d end up with a molten mass and that’s why I say I’ve had the experience of putting into our fireplace in my home, in a Shacklock, and all it does it go into a big molten blob and start burning through the grate, its’ very hot and it gets very molten.  So therefore it’s used as a blender to a lot of other coals.  The example I use in other forums to explain it is it’s a bit like baking a cake without an egg in it, you’d end up with probably all the smells and flavours but it doesn’t stick together.  If you just put an egg into a cake, which is your high fluidly mix of coal, maybe five to 10% and that’ll actually binds with other coals together and actually helps the coke stick together much better in the coke oven and therefore in a blast furnace.

Q. What does permeability refer to?

A. There’s a number of terms which are used to describe the ability for gas or other products to move through coal.  Permeability, if you can imagine, is like the holes in a sponge.  It’s how much the coal can absorb of water and gas.  You have other terms like transmissivity, which is the speed at which gas can move through the coal or water can move through it but the permeability is a measure that’s usually measured in a term called millidarcies, or darcies but coal is measured in millidarcies.  That’s what the permeability and how much therefore it can absorb into the coal.

Q. The coal you were starting to mine at Pike, was that high permeability or low permeability?

A. High permeability, they’re very high permeability.

Q. What are the implications of that in terms of methane?

A. Well it’s good, it’s got its challenges.  One of the advantages is that it gives off its gas quite freely, so issues of outburst and other things like that don’t really eventuate.  It means you’ve got a good draw-down of your gas, it means you can degas an area.  Eventually you can degas the whole mine over a much shorter period with some long bore holes, you’ll continue to drain gas, it’ll migrate over a long distance to get to that lower pressure in the bore hole.  The disadvantage of it is that it’s really hard to get a good draw-down to make that gas level lower because it keeps migrating from other parts of the mine because it’s quite permeable.  So your gas ribs in a lower permeability environment where gas stays in the coal so you would have a lesser outflow into your roadways whereas in a high permeability the gas will continue to bleed into your roadway.

Q. You’ll recall that Dr Elder said in his evidence that Solid Energy concluded on average Pike River Coal was likely at best to qualify only as a semi-hard coking coal which sells internationally at prices discounted significantly below premium hard coking coal.  Do you have any comment on that statement?
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A. Oh, only on, I'm not aware of what Dr Elder’s experience is with our coal.  I have no idea what he’s based that on or his motive for making those comments.

Q. I’ll move to a new topic now which is the state of the project to develop Pike at the time that you started and I appreciate of course that your knowledge may be limited as to things that were done before you arrived at the company?

A. Certainly.

Q. But there is a one page simple chronology that I’d like to refer you to which we’ll show on the screen now and I have a hard copy as well and perhaps if we produce this as exhibit 11.  I have some other hard copies for counsel if that would assist.

exhibit 11 produced – chronology development of Pike River mine

Q. Now in general terms you'll see that the chronology has a gap between January and April 2005 and so that first group of events between 
May ’95 and January 2005 all occurred before you started at Pike?

A. Yes.

Q. When you started did you familiarise yourself in general terms with the work that had been done earlier on the coalfield?

A. Some work, some wasn’t available to me and some you don't know what you don't know so I was only, I was given a file which had the AMC2000 report in it and at the time I started I only read that like many months later actually because when I started I’d just given the 2005 one which is far more relevant to get to know.  The main advantage of the 2000 report was it had all of the environmental appendices that had been done for the resource consents so I familiarised myself with the existence of those although the environment manager started at the same time as me so that was his job, basically he got those to review to I suppose hit the ground running reasonably quickly and as has been pointed out there was a fairly tight expectation of timetable to achieve and given that Minarco were in and about the project and all over it with a report being submitted at the time or being worked on at the time then that was where I got most of my knowledge from.

Q. If we can look very quickly at the first document on that list NZOG0002, this was a pre-feasibility study done in 1995 by CMS.   Do you know who CMS were?

A. I'm not, I wasn’t aware of that document until I was asked to have a look at it in conjunction with the Royal Commission.  I’d never heard of it before and I haven't heard of CMS either.

Q. I just want to highlight a couple of things from that early report.  On 
page 5, second to last paragraph, it was thought in 1995 that the total capital required for the project would be just under $30 million and it was thought that the rate of return would be just sufficient for the particular project.  Do you have any comment on that estimate in 1995?

A. It was going to be cheap wasn’t it, mmm.

Q. On page 17 of that report in the middle of the page you'll see under the heading, “6.6 stone drives,” it seems to have been contemplated in 1995 that there would be two stone drives for the mine, a man and materials drive and then a steeper return with the coal water mixture pipeline that could be used as an emergency exit out of the mine and then you'll see that somewhat optimistically perhaps it was thought that the cost of the stone drive would be a little under $2.7 million.  Had you been aware of this initial proposal to have two stone drives when you started?
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A. No and the most, the earliest report I've ever read was again only a month or two ago in conjunction with due diligence for the sale of the mine, was one that you've got here on the third point which is a Minserv one which I only became aware of a couple of months ago as well, and that one only had a single tunnel in it so until I saw this CMS report a few days ago I wasn’t aware, no one ever had that discussion with me.

Q. After you started at Pike do you recall whether there was any discussion about having two stone drives into the mine and out of the mine?

A. No.  The length of this drive at 865 is consistent with some other correspondence I did see, which revolved around I think either the ’97, sorry, the ’98 or the 2000 report where they discussed having the portals further up the valley but discounted those because of the terrain, so that’s why they’d only be 865.  Obviously they were going to start them from a lost closer to the coal area and have two shorter drifts, but no, when I started the Minarco design and the approved design was all based on a single drift.  

Q. If we move now to the report you've just referred to, the Minserv report in ’98, that’s NZOG0005, if we turn to page 7 and again halfway down the page you'll see the paragraph saying, “The access roadway will be a single entry stone drift five metres width and three metres high.”

A. Yes.

Q. You mentioned this a moment ago, obviously there had been a change in the plan between 1995 and 1998, are you aware of the reasoning behind that change?

A. No, as I said, I wasn’t aware of either of those reports until one several months ago and one several days ago.  One thing I would note though is although I haven't heard of CMS, both reports look like they’ve come from the same person, either that or they’ve just borrowed the first one and retyped it, because they’re almost word for word the same report with the same style or the same drawings in them, but have some different content and this is one example where there's different content so it looked like it either had the same author or someone’s just edited the first report.

Q. If we move forward now to 1999 at a document that’s not actually on this list, DAO.022.01463.  This appears to be a company release, I'm not sure if you've seen this document before?

A. No.

Q. If we look on page 3, paragraph 2 at the bottom, it was said at that stage in 1999 that the development of the coal mine would require 30 to 40 million dollars and on page 8 of the document we see a development timeline and I think you'll see there it was contemplated at that stage that the decision to start mining would be around January 2000 and the first shipment of coal would be July 2001.  If we look now at page 17 you'll see that the personnel involved at that stage were Mr Ward, 
Mr Duncan and Mr Gunn.  The first question is whether you have any comment on either the budget or the timeline that was being contemplated in 1999?

A. I have no comment on this document or the content of it because I haven't seen it before.  I will comment it’s been done, it looks like an internal document by New Zealand Oil and Gas to maybe preliminary market the company, I'm not sure.  Mr Ward was part of New Zealand Oil and Gas, the other two were both consultants but both had been on the project for a long time.  The timeline, it would be predicated on having resource consents which weren't granted until August 2004 so even step one of the project couldn't have started until then, so this was obviously pre-empting a resource consent that was not granted for some years after this.  
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A. The timeline between a decision and coal cutting would seem very short given the reality of what it actually did take in hindsight, and the budget I would have to say even when I came on in January 2005 or February 2005 was still only rudimentary budget but done at quite a high level and hadn’t been done as a line by line project budget which is what I did when I came on board.

Q. Is it fair to say that with the benefit of hindsight the earlier estimates of cost and time required to build this mine were overly optimistic?

A. I'm sure the authors of this document may think so, but that wasn't me and I wasn't involved.

Q. To what extent when you joined in early 2005 was there still a sense of optimism that the mine could be produced relatively cheaply and relatively quickly?

A. Yeah I would have to say that there was always an expectation that the resource consents would be or access agreements would be granted on the very first day that they might be due and that contracts let at a certain price would be able to be delivered at that exact price with no contingency, so I think that was an error of the leadership of the company, yes.

Q. If we look now at the 2000 feasibility study which is NZOG0007, this, I think, is the document that you said you were first given when you started at Pike.  

A. Sorry.  That's right I was given a file.  I wasn't given this document and said, “here sit down and read this,” it was pretty much an electronic file of a whole bunch of documents, one of which was in this – was actually given to me by the project manager, Les McCracken and this was contained in that group of files as background reading, but as I said I didn't really read it for a little while because it was superseded before I even started.

Q. The June 2000 feasibility study, I think, was contained in three volumes.  Does that sound right to you?

A. I think it was more than.  I think it was four actually.

Q. A total of between 300 and 400 pages.  Does that sound right?

A. Yeah, that would sound right.

Q. We can see on the front of it, it was completed by AMC.  They changed their name to Monaco you've already said?

A. Correct.  Graham Duncan was the principal of AMC.

Q. We've heard through other evidence that Minarco produced this report in return for equity or a shareholding in the company?

A. That's how I understand it although I wasn't party to those negotiations at the time.

Q. If we go back to exhibit 11, which is the chronology, we can see that between the time of that feasibility study in 2000 and your commencement in 2005, there was a lengthy period while the resource consents and access arrangement were secured?

A. Yes.

Q. The document we see in January 2005, project update, to your knowledge was that, effectively, an update that took place because the access arrangement and resource consents were finally in place?

A. I couldn't categorically say if that was the reason but that would be my understanding, yes.  A number of things happened as of that.  Once they got the resource consents in place in August and the principles of the access in October ’04, the company set about recruiting a mine manager and an environment manager.  Myself and Ivan were eventually appointed to those positions, and I understand that Minarco then went ahead and did the next phase of the feasibility.

Q. We can see on the chronology that in May 2005 Minarco produced the final project update?

A. Yes, May.  I think the final one was actually June, but it maybe that the final one was May.
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Q. If we look at NZOG0020 does that appear to be the final project update from Minarco?
A. It does.  As I say I just, I had in my mind that there was a June version to tidy up some issues but, yes, that would be essentially the large document that was produced out of the executive summary that was done in January.

Q. Now is it fair to say that generally this report painted a favourable picture of the prospects of the mine?

A. I think the prospects of the mine were favourable.

Q. And if we look on page 57 for example, the sentence underneath the three bullet points, “This report provides strong support that the current Pike River Mine design is very conservative and is a very robust basis on which to commence operations.”

A. Yes.

Q. Is that consistent with your understanding of the tenor of the report?

A. It is in that the conservative view that Minarco took or that Pike too at the time was based on the ability or the extraction areas and the large amount of mining controls which was an expectation we’d be able to extract more coal than was currently approved given that the substance had been taken a very conservative view of so Minarco held the view that there was an upside to what was being proposed so therefore they held the view that it was a conservative plan.

Q. We’ll just look at one other similar comment on page 28 of the document, just under the heading “Project upside,” look at that sentence, “The Pike River project has been evaluated on the basis of a target mining area that has been well defined by exploration drilling, outcrop sampling and surface mapping.  For the purpose of this review Minarco believes the approach is conservative and supported by available data.”  Again consistent with your understanding of the report?

A. Yeah, and that’s how the project was presented to me as well, yes.

Q. We said earlier that Minarco had completed the feasibility study in 2000 in return for equity and that’s your understanding I think?

A. Well that’s how you put it and I understand that they achieved equity through a quid pro quo type rather than actual investment in dollars although there may have been some investment in exploration work and other things so there may have been money changed hands.  I'm not sure.  I’d never inquired to the details of that and I was never offered those details.

Q. Would it be consistent with your understanding that, as you say in return for their work on the feasibility study, they received something like a 25% shareholding in the company?

A. No, that’s not my knowledge I thought the, I thought when I started that Minarco – sorry, New Zealand Oil and Gas held about 75% and the other 25% was held by something in the order of 25 or 30 other shareholders, some of which were brought together by the principles of Minarco as a group of investors out of Australia but I remember the original shareholder listing that I saw had quite a number of individual shareholders from New Zealand and Australia so I don't recall it being a 25% Minarco holding but I stand corrected but I do recall there being quite a list of people which would indicate that they put equity in rather than just work for, in return for equity.

THE COMMISSION:
Q. I note, Mr Mount, that the Commission’s own chronology which has been distributed is consistent with what Mr Whittall has just said.  It actually records the remaining 28% are held by 31 private New Zealand and Australian shareholders.  That is what you're referring to.

A. Yes.
cross-examination continues:  mr mount

Q. If we leave aside for the moment the precise figure that the individuals from Minarco held as shareholders?

A. Yes.
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Q. Was it certainly your understanding that they were shareholder in the company at the time of the May 2005 project update?

A. Yes, at least two of the principles and one of the senior engineers witness Minarco to my understanding held shares.  Again, I don’t know whether they put money in for them or bought them or how they were achieved.

Q. In July of 2005, if we just return to exhibit 11, the chronology, there was a final mine plan and financial model presented to the board of Pike?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that a document prepared by you and Mr Ward?

A. We authored the document.  You’ll find, I think if you did a word search there it pretty much largely reflects the Minarco reports.  So one of the jobs I got when I first started besides working with Mr McCracken on some of the contracts and tenders that had to go out was to start looking at the investment decision that the board would have to make.  And the basis of that investment decision was effectively paraphrasing the Minarco document, given that I had been there a few months I wasn’t able to do of my own research.  But the works interpretation of that document were put into that which myself and Mr Ward as my boss authored.

Q. So you relied substantially on Minarco’s work in proposing the mine?

A. Almost entirely, even though I’d only started there in February, mmm.

Q. Clearly your recommendation to proceed with the mine was accepted by the board and work commenced?

A. Yes.  Just to clarify when you said, “I relied entirely on Minarco,” I was brought on board because of my background, at that stage 24 years experience and qualifications so I didn’t blindly accept what I was told, but I was prepared to put my name to what they were proposing.  I had no knowledge of the lease or coal quality or any of those aspects of it or the financials that Mr Ward had done but costs and doing preliminary reviews of budgets and was it a sound mining principle and were there, you know, accesses and all those sorts of things, could it be built that way, it appeared a logical and robust plan to make.

Q. To your knowledge had various other options been considered and rejected, for example, open cast mining?

A. I’ve never seen a document and I’ve never seen a report that analysed that.  I know I asked obviously the same, well not obviously, but I did ask the same questions when I started because it was like, “Well how are we going to build this thing,” you know, when I first was brought over for a look at the mine site, job interview wise, between Christmas and the New Year of 2004.  My only access was to fly over the site and have a look at it and ask questions of Mr Taylor, we talked about the other day, at the time about how things can be built and what was likely to happen.  At that stage I formed the view that visually it didn’t look like you’d be able to open cut and mine and the plans had already put in place, as you’ve shown the documents, for many years, had already been contemplated as an underground mine.  I was brought on board to built it, not to start a re-evaluation of what other options there were.

Q. If we look briefly at a report by URS in 2002, NZOG0015 on page 84.  They address the question of whether an open cast mine had been considered.  And if we zoom on paragraph 1 –

A. Sorry, could you just remind me what document I’m looking at again?

Q. Certainly.  Perhaps if we go to page 1 just to remind you?

A. That would be helpful please.

Q. This is a report by URS?

A. Yes.

Q. From May 2002.

A. Yes.

Q. Entitled, “Assessment of environment effects for Pike River Coal Field Development?”

A. Yes.

Q. So if we go back to page 84, the heading there is, “Alternative Methods,” and they’re describing other options that may have been considered.  The first of which was open cast.  It is said in that paragraph that Pike River decided that on the basis of the potential scale of environmental damage open cast mining did not warrant further investigation.  Is that consistent with your understanding of the position?
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A. It’s only consistent with my anecdotal understanding of what the position was, I don’t recall ever reading this report or ever seeing it but the position, as I said, by discussion was that it wasn’t going to be an open cast mine and I didn’t see anything in my first months that made me say, stop, have you thought of this, we should explore it more.  It didn’t warrant it in my mind.

Q. In his evidence Dr Elder said that at that time, and I think he was referring to at the time of the mine planning and initial development, so perhaps around the time of 2005, open cast mining would have not been commercially viable because of the cost, relative to the price of coal on the international market.  Do you agree that that’s a correct assessment?

A. Dr Elder may have done a lot more calculations on his computer than I have on that regard.  I agree the coal prices at that stage were quite, well, they weren't depressed they were just where they were, had been historically for about 50 years, they really haven't moved except with inflation so coal prices had always been historically quite low.  I would assess the fact that regardless of the coal price, I won’t say regardless because it’s gone up a lot since then, but the cost of open casting that area would be very, very high and would probably be precluded by more than just the straight cost, there's a lot of other technical challenges to doing an open cast mine up there, not least of which is access and environmental control, regardless of whether it’s a DOC estate or not, there's standard environmental controls you'd have to put in place which would be extremely difficult in that area.

Q. Another of the options that URS referred to, if we go back to page 85 of their report, was stone drive access from the White Knight Stream and perhaps if we zoom in at that paragraph on page 85, paragraph 5, you may want a moment just to read that paragraph but I wonder if you could just help us to understand what this option may have been?

A. Yes.  Are you asking me what it’s talking about?

Q. Yes.

A. Well, in the last sentence, or the last, third last sentence it says, “A second portal site was investigated about 120 metres up the White Knight Stream from the confluence of the Pike River Stream.”  That’s the current portal, this other one was around the corner from that, 120 metres down the stream and 200 metres up the stream, so it was around the corner and that was its shortest and that was why it a 1.8 kilometre tunnel.  Further to that and by the time I started, around almost the same time, because one of the first trips I did up there in the bush and landing, we had a little tiny cleared area next to the portal, which didn’t look anything like it looks now, it was all just very, very dense forest, was with Peter Gunn to do his final inspection on that second option and he just wanted me to go up and have a look at it and say basically this is where we think it should go, the other one we’ve discounted because of steepness of access and everything else and trying to get up there, and this is where we think it should go, what do you think, and it looked like a good solid rock face to me and they’d already done all the pre-assessment.  I couldn't see a reason to say, no, we can't do this so that second option in the last sentence was where it was done and that was about probably February, March 2005 and that decision had pretty much already been reached by the time I started.

Q. Just to make sure we’re clear on this, can we have the map WCRC001D, do you recognise that as a map showing the White Knight Stream and the Pike Stream and the current location of the portal?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you perhaps indicate for us on that map the location that was referred to as an alternative entrance?

A. I'm not sure what the extra letters on there are for but I would imagine it would be just there, given that that’s the portal, I'd imagine it’s just, as I said, it’s only 300 metres difference, it’s just around the corner, so the access road up the valley was going to continue under that first proposal, past the White Knight Stream, and another 200 metres up there there must have been a flat area or a stone-out but I don't know, I've never been to that part of the creek.  I've never walked up past the confluence of the White Knights Stream and, as I said, that had already been discounted by the time I started.
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Q. I think the easiest way to get this down for the record will be to give you a paper copy of the map and ask you to mark on it the area that you've just indicated?

exhibit 12 produced – MAP OF ONGOING WATER QUALITY AND BIOLOGICAL MONITORING SITES

A. Certainly.  It will be my interpretation of that paragraph I was just shown.

Q. Thank you.  If could just tell us what you've marked on exhibit 12?

A. Yes.  What I've actually written on it is an arrow pointing to a point just up from the confluence.  Given the scale, I can't really make it too clear, but it’s just up, and I've written below it, “Alternative portal on Pike Stream 200 metres upstream from confluence”.

Q. Thank you.  If you could just pass that back to the registrar and let the Commissioners have a look at that.  In Mr Bell’s evidence at paragraph 7, the reference is FAM0001, page 7, paragraph 7.  He said, “If Pike had been allowed to extend the road two to three kilometres further, they could have reached the coal outcrops and gone straight in at that point.  This would have been a less expensive, quicker, and safer mine.  Safer because there would be no need for the long single entry tunnel through very difficult ground.”  Are you able to shed any light on that suggestion as to an alternative entry point?

A. Well I can only assume that Mr Bell’s talking about the adit where he helped us get 10 tonnes of coal out a number of years ago.  I'm not sure, in all deference to Mr Bell, what his expertise in saying it would have been less expensive, quicker and a far safer mine.  I would reject all three of those.  I think the cost of getting a road up through that mountain wouldn't have only just been a very, very difficult road to construct, but you would have had a several kilometre alpine road that men would have been travelling on 24 hours a day, 365 days of the year in mine vehicles.  I don't think that would have been a very safe option at all.  I don't know that it would have been quicker given that we drove the road from all the way down from the bottom of the valley up to within 400 metres or 500 metres of the portal in only about three months, four months, but it took us another six months to get through that last several hundred metres because the ground up there is so broken and I would imagine it would have stayed that way pretty much all the way up to the upper reaches of the Pike Stream.  I think it would have been extremely slow, extremely expensive, and extremely unsafe to continue to run an alpine road at a coal mine like that over the next 20-odd years so I don't agree that that's an appropriate statement, unless it’s been well researched that I'm not aware of.

MR MANDER:
Sir, I just wonder for the record, when Mr Bell gave his evidence that particular paragraph was qualified by him and he disallowed some of the original paragraph contained in his statement.

THE COMMISSION: 
Yes.  Commissioner Henry has just made that very point with me.  It’s probably an arid debate anyway.  The fact is the mine was not constructed there and we are enquiring into what happened in the actual mine as constructed, so I think it’s probably the end of the road with this issue.

cross-examination continues:  MR MOUNT

Q. We know, of course, that the stone drift as constructed was a 2.3 kilometre drift?

A. Correct.
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Q. Can you tell us what, if any, safety implications for miners arose in the company’s consideration as a result of that single entry design?
A. You mean what safety considerations were given to developing a 
2.3 kilometre tunnel?

Q. I mean the implications of that design for miners who would need to work in the mine?

A. The implications would be that the access road would be adrift which was uphill so it could be walked out so that’s a good thing, free drains which is good so water accumulating in the mine would not be an issue.  It was solid rock so likelihood of fire et cetera in your tunnel was negligible.  It was a single roadway so from an egress point of view it made it quite easy to get out of the mine so you could walk, in other words it was downhill walking and you couldn't really get lost in a single entry, single roadway.  The normal implications of a, during construction of being a single entry had to be taken into account of such as the ventilation of it, restriction of number of people underground, hazard control, fire control, all those sorts of things had to be taken into account to do a 2.3 kilometre tunnel like many tunnels are driven like that around the world in hard rock especially.  Different consideration had it been a full length tunnel like that in coal you would've had other issues or tended issues of gas bleed off the ribs and keeping the air quantities up to dilute gases et cetera.  Most of the gas issues during the single entry construction were gases associated with vehicle equipment, diesel gases, so dilution of those and also shot firing gases post explosives use, but in the long run as a mine access it wouldn't be an uncommon length tunnel.  It was intended to be connected to firstly the primary second egress which was the shaft and then, secondly, another egress as the mine was developed a bit further to the west so most of the considerations for that as an egress route or as an access to the mine were given during its construction phase rather than the 
long-term suitability for it.

Q. If we move then to the topic of second egress from the mine, is it your understanding that there is a requirement in the New Zealand Regulations that there be a second egress from the mine?

A. Yes.

Q. And perhaps just for historical completeness, if we look at the way this was set out in the Coal Mines Act 1979 MED001002003 at page 110 right at the bottom of the page, section 154, originally said, “That within one year after commencing the working on any boards, stalls or longwall workings there shall be made and completed at least two separate and distinct shafts or outlets to the surface from the coal mine intercommunicating with each other so that each shaft or outlet shall afford a separate means of ingress or egress available to the persons employed in the coal mine and that they must not be nearer than 
15 metres to each other.”  That of course was repealed and the current provision we have is the underground mining regulation COL0010012967.  If we refer to regulation 23, page 18.  If we look at regulation 23, “If the employer shall take all practical steps to ensure that every mine or tunnel has suitable and sufficient outlets providing means of entry and exit for every employee in the mine and the available of suitability and sufficiency of the outlets determined having regard to the factors outlined below,” and those factors include under (c) “The need to have at least two outlets that are separate from each other but that interconnect.”  Is that your understanding of your current position?

A. You’re showing me the current legislation –

Q. Yes.

A. – so that would be my understanding of the current position.
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Q. Obviously with a single drift there was a need for Pike to consider what the second means of egress from the mine would be?

A. It was already designed as being, as I said, for a period of time to be the shaft that was being constructed and then following that from the earliest plans that I had, which was the 2005 ones, there was always planned to be another egress exit added, put into the mine and formed part of that plan.  So that was, as the mined developed to the west it would go out into the sub-crop pretty much the first valley over from where the fan site is.

Q. I may ask you to point that on the map in a moment.  But if I can just first refer you to the tender document in April 2005, REM.037.05470 at page 108.  It’s the fourth full paragraph, ‘The contractor shall be responsible for the design of an emergency egress system in the ventilation shaft that is suitable for use by injured personnel.”

A. Sorry, can you point, thank you, to the right clause.

Q. What was contemplated by Pike at the time of those tender documents?

A. What was contemplated to put into the shaft?  I don’t recall having a firm view.  I do recall previous reports looking at a winder system being put in and some early discussions about whether a winder was more reliable than a ladderway with stages in it.  Winders break down.  It’s only quite a shallow shaft.  There was one phase, the mine went through looking at a slightly inclined shaft with a ladderway or stairway, very steep stairway put into the floor of the shaft but that was discounted from a geotechnical point of view as well to actually construct that and make it stable so it went back to a vertical shaft.  So it’s always been really a vertical shaft.  It was really put in there, like most tender documents are, to keep an open mind as to what possibilities could be put in if a renderer came back and said, “Well look we’ve used this elsewhere, we think this is what would be really good for your shaft,” and you keep an open mind to what options can be put in.  So this was a tender document to give the optionality for respondents to come up with different ideas.

Q. If we go back to the 2000 feasibility study that you’ve referred to, DAO.004.10174 at page 126.  If we look at the paragraph that begins, “The principal access and escape way,” and then the next paragraph, “Permission will be sought from the mines inspector.”  Can you see in that paragraph that it was contemplated in 2000 that there would be permission sought from the inspector to establish a secondary escape route from the mine using a temporary questing, which would be electro hydraulic ground mounted winch adjacent to the shaft mounted on a rail trolley parked away from the shaft and pushed into position in the event of an emergency.  And it was thought at that time the cycle time for hoisting persons to the surface would be about five minutes and so evacuation of 30 men would take less than 30 minutes.  To your knowledge was permission ever sought from a mines inspector to do that?

A. I think you said yourself this was a feasibility study from 2000 where the mine wasn’t even consented at that stage and then there was subsequent feasibility study in 2005, which I don’t believe this was in.  this was many years before the mines inspectorate were even contemplated for discussion on some of these issues and this was an idea that a consultant company put into a feasibility study so I think there’s enough drawbacks to that idea, that it probably, I probably wouldn’t have proposed it to an inspector in the first place and I think an inspector would have asked for a lot of very pertinent questions as to why you would want to have an emergency system at the top of a remote shaft above the snow line where someone has to actually push it into place in the first place.  And so I probably would’ve not allowed that to go into a feasibility study that I was authoring myself.
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Q. To your knowledge no proposal along those lines was ever put to –

A. Certainly not by me and certainly not post February 2005.

Q. Are you aware at what point that proposal was dropped?

A. No, it was just not in the 2005 one so that was five years difference between the two, some stage in between I would imagine.

Q. If we look at document RM008.14187, this is a drawing dated 
27 May 2005 for a ladder up the ventilation shaft.  Have you seen that drawing?

A. Did you say it was May 2005?

Q. May 2005, yes.

A. Yes, I imagine this was – I recall the visual of it, I couldn't have told you where it came from but it’s a URS document that’s been prepared for McConnell Dowell as part of their tender.  We’d only just gone to tender so that would've been very preliminary, they were probably when we went out to tender they would've given some indicative understanding or indicative offer to show they were interested and this probably came back as one of those very first phase of returns.

Q. At what point was a decision taken to use a ladder rather than a winch?

A. I think I said to you, the winch was never proposed to me and I'd never saw that until some many months or a long time later, where I saw it in the original 2000 report.  There was no proposal for a winch.  The tender, it didn’t propose a winch, we didn’t propose a winch.  The fact that AMC did in 2000 seems to be a moot point.

Q. When this design was advanced in 2005 was there any risk assessment exercise to analyse the potential effects of using a ladder rather than any other option?

A. My recollection, there was a risk assessment conducted on the whole construction of the shaft and the tunnel, I'm not sure whether this specific issue was raised.  Certainly the design of the ladderway had to be done to – there's a standard for ladder and escapeways in New Zealand and that was, there was some discussion I recall with McConnell Dowell on the standards which had to be applied to it, the distances between landings and all those sorts of things were pretty much left to that’s the standard, so that’s what has to be complied with.  Whether there was discussion on the merits of this overall winch, I don’t recall.

Q. We’ve heard of course that in February 2009 the lower section of the ventilation shaft effectively collapsed?

A. Correct, it was unsupported at the time so it during construction.

Q. Perhaps if we refer to diagram PW20, which I understand is not a scale diagram but just a representation?

A. No, it’s a nice picture.

Q. We can see of course that the Alimak raise was the solution to the problem of the ventilation shaft collapse?

A. It was half the solution.

Q. What thought was given to the particular issue of egress through the ventilation shaft following that design alteration?

A. Yes, so the original shaft was 4.2 metres wide and had a staged ladderway, actually not that dissimilar to what was shown in the thing, I don’t think it was wooden though, it was a steel construction, I know it was a steel construction.  That was eventually installed, so when the base of the shaft collapsed and we had an option of the Alimak as the only safe and feasible way of restoring the bottom section of the shaft, we looked at putting in, initially looked at putting in a four metre Alimak raise but that would've just basically replaced the other shaft and you just would've had a bend in the shaft and you could've done the same thing.  
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A. The difficulty was the ground was so poor and we were only installing the Alimak adjacent to the other one, that in discussions with the Alimak contractor it was deemed – because one of the issues with an Alimak and I appreciate that it’s a technical term and we haven't really discussed how it’s constructed but the men who construct it start at the bottom and they basically dig a hole in the roof and then drill holes in the roof and blast it out and then go back up inside that unsupported hole and then support all the walls around them and then drill out the roof again so they’re constantly working under a cage or under an unsupported roof.  We’d already assessed the fact that the shaft beside them had collapsed because of micro fractures in the sandstones and it was deemed to be of great concern to the Alimak guys, not so much the Alimak rise because you can't raise a 4.2 metre shaft in an Alimak, you have to go up and then strip it again and one of their concerns was that if they went up the maximum, it was going to be 2.2 that’s what it was designed to be.  It ended up with broken rock and ended up being 2.5 by 2.5 square when they excavate with an Alimak.  One of the issues was going to be to then restrip that to a larger size would be extremely unsafe for the operators to do so because they would have to have fully blasted – sorry, fully bolted and potentially meshed the sides of the Alimaks they went up in and in some places they even shotcreted it to give it better stability.  To then try and redrill that and blast it and then go back up inside with daggy bits of rock hanging off bolts and mesh and let them safety reconstruct that shaft to four metres was deemed to be an unacceptable risk to the guys constructing the shaft or to its stability in the medium-term and so the decision was made to do a two and a half metre Alimak and then we looked at doing either a second Alimak on the other side of it or as was the medium-term decision which was to drive about 600 metres of stone drive and then back-hole that shaft at about the same level as the Alimak raise intersected it so we’d end up with a complete ventilation circuit because the 2.5 metre rise into the 4.2 metre shaft only provided half the ventilation solution in the, if it was going to be the only long-term solution.  It was fine for the first year, next year or so but for the life of mine it needed another ventilation input.

Q. You arrived at the position where the Alimak raise was the preferred solution to the ventilation issue.  Is that right?

A. Well essentially that’s what the shaft was being put in as both ventilation and as a second means of egress so we’d just, we’d only just hold – the tunnel had gone to its extent, turned right and gone 80 metres to the base of the shaft and as soon as that hold, the base of the shaft and the – sorry, base of the pilot hole and then we raise bored it and it holed through, from memory on the 8th of January 2009, I think that was the date, then we can start exhausting up the shaft which we did so that was an immediate solution to our reducing volumes of ventilation at the face until such times as it collapsed and we had to re-establish that ventilation so the Slimline shaft we discussed yesterday was part of that solution and getting the shaft back through in a timely manner was the other, was a major part of that solution.

Q. At the time Alimak raise was completed, what specific thought was given to implications for egress for workers from the mine?

A. Yes, we had to be able to put a ladder, that was part of the tender process for the installation of the Alimak raise was to install a, the walls had to be sufficiently stable and able to be, have a ladder way installed in that shaft because that became the egress until such times as we could mine to the west and put the permanent egress in, the walkout egress so a number of risk assessments were done, conversations were held, meetings and risk assessments attended by I think in January 2010 by that stage with the rescue service and others to look at all sorts of options for fresh airbases et cetera but the ladder way was installed in that Alimak raise as part of its commissioning.

Q. At the time that a decision was taken to install a ladder up the raise, was a risk assessment done from the perspective of workers exiting the mine?

A. I can't recall the specifics of that at the time.  That would've sat within the domain of the mine manager and the safety personnel and the engineering managers at the time so I can't recall specifically.
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Q. Was there ever a trial evacuation of all men underground up that ladder?

A. Not to my recollection.  You mean all men, as in everyone on shift?  No, not to my recollection.  It was used by people going up and down it but I don’t recall doing a trial evacuation, no.

Q. During a shift changeover what would be the maximum number of people who might be underground in a mine?

A. Because the mine was quite small we didn’t have like, where I’ve worked in other places where you have seven or eight, nine, 10 kilometres underground, where the whole shift went underground and swapped over with a whole shift coming out again, because we were quite small and had a small number of vehicles people were coming and going all the time around the end of the shift so you didn’t have a full shifts worth of people but if there was, I don’t know, say 40 people on one shift and they’re being replaced by another 20-odd, which would be the largest number, not all those people would be underground at once, so possibly, I don’t know, maybe 40 people underground at one time, on a shift change, maybe a bit more.

Q. There was an audit by Mines Rescue in August of 2009 I think, and if we refer her to MRS0005, and just look at the first page of the document to orient you.  “Pike River emergency equipment and self escape audit 20 August 2009.”  On page 3 of that document, paragraph 4, and if we can zoom in on paragraph 4 please, in particular the first two paragraphs.  The view is expressed there that the issue of self escape capabilities is an area of major concern.  And the second paragraph, “In the event of a fire the main intake personnel would have to attempt a self escape via the second means of egress, the return shaft, this would be extremely difficult under normal circumstances but in the event of fire would, in my view, become virtually impossible.”  Were you made aware of those comments at the time?

A. I was aware that those views were expressed by the Rescue Service, yes.  And one of the consequences of that was, discussions with both the inspectorate and a risk assessment established with a whole bunch of other people, including the Rescue Service as a consequence of us asking them to do an audit.

Q. Are you aware of any specific correspondence to or from the Department of Labour over this issue of escape via the second egress, ventilation shaft?

A. I didn’t have any correspondence directly myself but I wasn’t the statutory manager for the majority of the period, although for several months I was, but I don’t recall having any correspondence myself with the inspector over this issue, no.

Q. You see in the third paragraph reference to the situation being addressed with the establishment of a refuge bay and the moving of the self rescue, a changeover station?

A. Yes.

Q. Were there plan in 2010 to create a rescue chamber or something of that sort?

A. That was done, that was a fresh air base at the bottom of the slim line shaft and the self rescue changeover station, was it stub 2 I think in the tunnel, so it was moved from there up to the fresh air base.  I’m not sure if was as a consequence of that risk assessment, sorry, of that audit, and maybe Mr Rockhouse could remember better, but there was also supplementary a catenary wire put into the shaft that with the ladderway into the Alimak shaft that went with harnesses so fall arrest issues, because one of the issues was identified while the ladder was climbable if someone were to slip that that would be difficult, that’s why you have stages in a fall stage ladderway so catenary wire and full arrest harnesses were installed and stored at the bottom of the shaft.  I can’t remember if that was before or after the audit.
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Q. You've mentioned the fresh air base at the bottom of the slimline shaft.  Could you explain a little more what that was?

A. Yes.  I understand, I wasn't aware of this at the time but I became later aware that it was in the process of being planned to be enlarged and made longer, but essentially a fresh air base is a place underground which has got usually access, direct access to the surface from a fresh air point of view so it can't be contaminated by, say, smoke in the mine.  So it’s a place to go to if there is smoke in the mine and you can close a door or put down a flap or something and it’s got its own access to air, sometimes compressed air being pushed in there.  In this case, the slimline shaft was directly open to the surface and so it could be used as a fresh air supply.

Q. In addition to that fresh air base, was there something else that was referred to as a rescue chamber or something of that sort?

A. The rescue chamber was really the changeover station, just different terminologies.  A rescue chamber is something that you can buy and they're sold by various people around the world, and you put underground and you hose it up and people can go there, shut the doors and they've got compressed air feeds separate to the mine supply and you can actually go and sit in there.  There's some debate in the industry as to the validity of those and whether, if in any emergency, you would want to go and shut the door and lock yourself in there or whether you would want to escape from the mine or have somewhere else that’s got direct access to the surface rather than relying on bottles or air or some other supply.  I'm aware there was some discussion about whether a pre-purchased – sorry, sir, like a prefabricated rescue chamber to be installed underground.  I know there was some discussion earlier on with Mr Firmin who has given evidence here, the validity of using a rescue chamber.  We ultimately went to a changeover station in the tunnel originally and a changeover station was not quite the same as a refuge chamber it was intended.  It was a prefabricated steel box area.  The intention as to go in there.  It had compressed air source.  So you could go in there into a fresh air room.  It had air curtains, double door entrance, and inside it was stored all the additional rescuers.  So you could go in there, take your rescuer off in fresh air, put on a new rescuer, then leave that room and continue on out of the mine should you need another one.  That's not the same as a rescue chamber, so it’s the alternative to a rescue chamber was the fresh air base.

Q. I just want to look at what particular plans there were in October and November of 2010.  If we look at the operations meeting on 27 October, DAO.002.14951.  Again, if we just look at the first page to orient you.  Again, this is a meeting where you were not present but these are the minutes.  If we look at page 3, half way down the page under the heading “Mine design”.  “Second egress and intake, feasibility project needs to be started.  Project scoping underway.  Then work continues on the rescue chamber as new information becomes available.”  Are you able to help us with what that reference is to?

A. No, it may well be, “one north and one west mains,” no I'm not able.  The second doc what you're asking me about or the first or both?

Q. Both, if you're able to shed light on them, -

A. I can shed more light on them.

Q. - but in particular the reference to a rescue chamber?

A. Oh, I can shed more light on the first one.  No I can't shed any light on the second one at all.  May just be the terminology of the person writing the minutes.

Q. If we turn to the following meeting on the 3rd of November, DAO.002.149.76 on page 5.   This is a meeting it appears where you were present.  Under the box, “Plan for next week,” can you see the third bullet point, “Refuge bay design and extraction PTM.”  Are you able to help us with what that refers to?
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A. In that case the refuge bay would, my understanding is it’s another term for the fresh air base and that work was being done, as I said, to extend it, I didn’t realise to extend it until more recently in 2011, but I knew that they were doing some work on what they were going to have in there and how it was going to be set up, and the extraction PTM was a permit to mine so they’re different things but to my understanding the refuge bay design was a refuge bay, I had no reason to believe it was other than the one at pit bottom, which we’ve already discussed, as the Slimline shaft.  If it was another one, I'm not aware of that.

Q. And if we go to the next meeting on the 10th of November, DAO.002.14998, this meeting where you weren't present, page 3, the very bottom of the page, second to last bullet under the heading, “Mine design.”  “Preliminary layout of rescue chamber revised and final design for excavation of PTM in progress.  Expect complicated excavation due to location and presence of Slimline shaft, M&M access, ventilation and gas drainage riser requires planning session with OPS.”  Are you able to help us with what that was referring to?

A. That’s referring to the same area so it’s saying that there would be a complication, so this would indicate that there was some expectation of having to excavate the stub, so the stub’s only 15 metres I believe and so obviously to – the people who are working on this, I imagine it was Doug White and Neville and others that were doing the work on it and perhaps Terry Moynihan, were looking at it with a view to how they would go about doing that excavation given that the Slimline shaft was there, the gas riser is the pipe where the gas that we collect for exhausting to the surface is located, which is near the Slimline shaft as well.

Q. To your knowledge what specifically was planned at that time in November?

A. I just don't know, understanding I suppose I'm feeling a bit aware that you've said I wasn’t attending these meetings, the ones you've put up on the board are the last six weeks after I became the chief executive and you've already pointed out earlier we had a lot of funding issues that I was dealing with, and these meetings were essentially the meetings of the operations manager or site general manager, I was an invitee if you like, it was his meeting and I used to get the minutes emailed to me but I didn’t always read them if he gave me a good summary so there was a lot of things that would happen in those meetings that I wasn’t necessarily even in the room for and didn’t always need to read the minutes of them.  
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A. So mostly my interest at getting an output of these was if the general manager had a particular reason or the operations manager had a particular reason to raise an issue with me or when they were compiled on a monthly basis to go into the operations report in the middle of the month so if there was any outcoming from these minutes that was important to go to the board then they’d be compiled within the operations report on a monthly basis but otherwise these, being weekly operations meetings that they are, would go through all sorts of detail that was being dealt with by the operations team.

Q. To your knowledge what was the emergency escape strategy for workers in the mine as at November 2010?

A. The primary egress in pretty much every scenario is the tunnel itself.  There’s not a lot of scenarios whereby you would need to egress from a mine other than straight down the tunnel so that’s the primary egress from the mine.  If there was a need to escape from the mine for other reasons such as possibly if there was no fresh airbase fire in the tunnel given that it was a stone tunnel, there’s low scenario likelihoods with, where there’d be a fire in the tunnel.  The machines have all got fire suppression on them and the conveyor was in the tunnel but the 
drive-head was outside so again a low likelihood of a fire occurring in the tunnel itself but one of the reasons, one of the ways to escape the mine would be via the shaft which was still deemed to be an escapeway.  The top half of the shaft had a normal stat compliant, a staged ladderway and the bottom of the shaft had a navigable, a usable ladderway which could support people’s weight and it also had the catenary wire and harnesses for a fall arrest should they be required or desired to be used at the bottom of the shaft.  A preference however for a lot of scenarios would be to go the fresh airbase given that it might be a temporary smoke inhalation issue so the fresh airbase would be a more desirable thing than climbing out of the shaft.  It’s one of the reasons we, that discussions with the inspector were that we didn’t designate it as the defined second means of egress if you like which would give it a particular status because at the, there was an understanding both the management and the inspectorate and the workforce and I suppose in general that the people who worked in the mine that the, because the Alimak was only 2.5 by 2.5 we couldn't get a staged ladderway in and that that shaft was going to be used until such times as we could do the next egress adit in the coming year and therefore most scenarios would have you either egressing out of the main tunnel or using the fresh airbase and it’d be a very low likelihood that you would need to use your escapeway but it was available.

Q. Did I hear you say that you did not consider the ventilation shaft to be a second means of egress but rather an escapeway?

A. There’s a different term for a second means of egress which you would notify the inspector that we deem this road to be a second means of egress.  We actually had a lot, quite a lot of discussion and the management of the company had, as in the operational team on site, had the discussion as to whether it was best to deem it, the second means of egress.  By deeming it a second means of egress that means your escape plans and your emergency response management plan and your plans that show dotted lines to your egress would've directed people to go to use that shaft.  People were aware it was there.  They were aware that it was able to be used and the harnesses were there and the ladderway was there and everything else and there was physical access into the area but actually deeming it to be the second means of egress would mean that you would want to direct people to go and use it as a preference.  The preferred option from the operations team on site in discussion with the rescue and the inspector was that it was more appropriate to use a fresh airbase as the secondary issue for the, from the primary egress which was the tunnel.

Q. Do I understand you to be saying that the ventilation shaft was not the second means of egress at that time?

A. Unless the mine manager whose responsibility is to deal with these matters had deemed it to be so and I'm not aware of that, no.

Q. What was the second means of egress in November 2010?

A. Yes, the mine had a primary egress in the tunnel, it had a fresh airbase and it had an escapeway where you could deem the shaft to be the second means of egress or you could deem it to be an escapeway pending the installation of the permanent second means of egress.
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A. Prior to the shaft completing there was no second means of egress so this is a construction phase of the mine.  So up until June 2009 there was no other egress other than the tunnel.  So from June/July 2009 the shaft was able to be used as an escapeway.  Some could have deemed it be a second means of egress.  We could’ve taken that route and say, “Yes, that’s our second means of egress, we’ll just call it that.”  But we believed that the fresh air basis was a better option, making it a safer place for people to go to.  And once you start saying that’s your second means of egress and you term it that and then you train people in it, you’re telling them you want them to go there.  The base on a risk assessment’s done in early 2010, as I said, by mine management and they our operational management, safety management and the Rescue Service and in consultation with the inspectorate, as I understand, remembering that these are operational site management issues and they are not my position to override as a general manger, they’re mine managers decisions.  My understanding was that it was deemed to be, or appropriate, to have a fresh air base as the secondary safety scenario rather than the shaft.

Q. Just to be clear, the fresh air base is not something that you can get to the surface through?

A. That's correct.

Q. It’s not a means of egress?

A. That's correct.

Q. And I just want to make sure that we’re very clear from the company’s perspective, was the ventilation shaft the second means of egress in November 2010?

A. Are you asking me to speak on behalf of the company?

Q. Just speak to the best of your knowledge?

A. My understanding was that the shaft was an escapeway and the secondary safety scenario from the primary egress was a fresh air base.  Whether it was deemed by the mine manager to be the second means of egress I cannot categorically state one way or the other.  It was not my decision, it wasn’t the company’s decision and it wasn’t the general manager’s decision as to whether it was a second means of egress or not.  You’re asking me to be specific and I can’t be so I’m sorry that’s the answer I can give you.

Q. You’ve drawn the distinction a number of times, can you tell us the difference between an escapeway and a second means of egress?

A. In general parlance, are the same.  In general parlance, sorry, an egress and an escapeway are the same, that’s in common parlance. Then in under coalmining concept a second means of egress would be a route that has been determined by the mine manager and notified to the inspector under the legislation as being the secondary escape from the mine should a primary egress not be the desirable one.  So in general parlance there is no difference but in being pedantic as a compliance with legislation position then it was deemed by my management not to be the appropriate thing to do to call it the second means of egress but for all intents and purpose it forms the same, it performs the same function.

Q. Can you tell us why there would be hesitation in labelling it the second means of egress?

A. Because you want people to make a choice between their primary egress and the secondary egress.  And for all of the scenarios that were reviewed by the risk assessment and by the competent people that were involved in that, as I said, the mine manager, the safety department and the safety department and the Rescue Service and the inspectorate that reviewed the decisions that came out of that it was deemed that the primary safety scenario would be to use your primary egress.  The secondary safety scenario, rather than go up the escapeway, which is an egress from the mine, would be to use the fresh air base.  Once you deemed the shaft to be a second means of egress then by implication, to the mining industry, the implication would be that if the first scenario or the first primary egress isn’t available then you should go straight to the second means of egress.  But the desired safety scenario was not to go to the escapeway, not to go the second egress, but to go to the fresh air base instead.  That’s as I understand  the decisions were made by the management in 2010.
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Q. To your knowledge what difficulties would workers encounter trying to leave a mine through the ventilation shaft?

A. Climb a ladder.

Q. In the event that a worker was trying to climb that ladder after an explosion would that affect the difficulty of escaping by that means?

A. It depends where the explosion was.

Q. If the air were not respirable presumably someone would be using a self rescuer?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there ever a test to see if someone could physically climb that ladder while using a self rescuer?

A. I don't know, that’s not something I'm aware of.

Q. What difficulties would someone encounter if they tried to climb that ladder using a self rescuer?

A. Well, breathing through a self rescuer would not be as easy as breathing without a self rescuer unless you are in an irrespirable atmosphere in which case it’s a lot easier to breathe with a rescuer.  It would give you fresh air so that would make it easier than climbing in smoke without a rescuer but if you're only talking about physical, someone climbing the ladder in fresh air without a rescuer compared to with a rescuer there would just be the normal snag and physical attributes to it and there’d also be the attendant issues of breathing through breathing apparatus rather than your open mouth, but again I'm sure you have other people available to you that could give you those answers better than myself.

Q. I think you referred earlier to some safety harnesses that were part of the ladder mechanism.  Can you just help us to understand that?

A. No, I can only tell you that I understand there's a catenary wire down the shaft, down the Alimak phase of the shaft that’s connected from the roof down and runs adjacent to the ladder and there are harnesses stored at the bottom of the Alimak shaft that can be donned by people climbing the shaft, should they wish to, they don’t need it for the top section, but it was put in as an additional safety consideration for climbing out of the bottom part of the Alimak, or the Alimak itself and that you would put on those, connect to the catenary and it’s a short lead fall arrest so we you'd lose your footing or potentially even just want to have a rest you could lean back and use the weight, put your weight on the fall arrest using the catenary wire, so it was an additional safety feature rather than just free climbing a ladder.  

Q. Do you know how many safety harnesses there were?

A. No.
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THE COMMISSION ADDRESSES WITNESS – SPEAK UP

cross-examination continues:  MR MOUNT

Q. If we could have PW28 up on the screen please.  You've mentioned the fresh air base.  Can you show us on the plan where that fresh air base was?

A. Yes, it was at the top of tunnel coming in from the right-hand side and it’s in this stub just here where the words, “drive for fan” are located, although the arrow goes to a different place.  It’s opposite the road that goes up to the shaft.

Q. Can you tell us physically what was present at the fresh air base?

A. No I can't.  It’s not within my area of knowledge in recent times.  Like work had been done on it and the last time I’d been underground was for a quick visit a week or so earlier and I hadn’t gone into the fresh air base.  So, no, others would be able to give you a much better understanding of what was there than me.

Q. Did you know whether it was in any way sealed off from the rest of the mine?

A. No, I understand it could be.  So it had a door system or something on it.  Whether it was brattice or timber, I don't know.

Q. From your knowledge of industry practice in New Zealand and Australia, is it common to use a ventilation shaft as a second means of egress?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you say that because you are aware of other mines where that is the case?

A. Yes, I've worked and managed mines where that's the case.

Q. Where was that?

A. Specifically, Tower Colliery in New South Wales was a 500 metre deep, two-shaft access mine with no walkout.  Just had a winder in both shafts.  That was the primary ingress and egress from the mine.  Cordeaux Colliery was right next door to it and it had two shafts, primary ingress and egress via 500 metre deep winders.  Other mines I've worked at have had small staple shafts within the mine where the egress was 30 to 40 metres high up a ladderway.
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Q. You've referred several times to an adit that was planned and which could potentially have been a second means of egress.  Is that right?

A. No, it was intended to be the second means of egress rather than potentially.

Q. If we look again at the map, WCRC0001D, which I think you may still have as exhibit 12 in front of you, do you or if we can have it passed back to you, is it possible on that map to indicate where the adit was intended to be?

A. It’s not the best plan to put up for that purpose, no, I had other plans in my submission yesterday which would've been easier to show you on and I think I actually did describe it with one of Ms Shortall’s questions and was able to put a mark on the map yesterday, but no, that would be a bit of guesswork on this one, the scale is too high.

THE COMMISSION:

Can you help us Ms Shortall, do you know which plan was used yesterday?

MS SHORTALL:

Yes Your Honour, let me just find it.

MR MOUNT:

Was it PW3?

MS SHORTALL:

No, it was later, I think I –

THE COMMISSION:

28 I've been told.

MS SHORTALL:

Actually I think if you try PW29.

cross-examination continues:  mr mount

A. No, that’s not a current mine plan but it will do for the purposes.  The first of the hydro panels is just here and you can see the current mine workings were to this point.

Q. It’s coloured in yellow just for the record.

A. In yellow, yes, sorry I was looking at the written record, so the yellow, the first extraction panel closest, out to the eastern side of the mine, on the current mine plan which is shown in other plans we have, instead of turning to the right and going to the north and having extraction panels in this area to the north the mine continues to the west, the main roadway continues to the west and then turn right and go up a bit further so the second means of egress adits were planned to be somewhere adjacent to that central line, the workings on this plan don’t really show it very well.  There possibly was another plan that might show it better but it wasn’t the intention in my submission to show those although there are other plans that have them marked on it, so somewhere in that vicinity, west of where the first panel was and out to the west of where current workings are and just slightly to the north.

Q. In fact I think if we look exhibit 8, I think it is in fact marked on that plan.  Sorry, I'm told it’s exhibit 9.  Perhaps if we zoom in, was the adit planned to emerge at the point where there is a red circle and the words, “Second egress?”

A. There's two actually planned for that same location, whether one or the other was used that’s just the plan that was put together on 10th of November 2010, four year plan and that’s got a number of panels, you can see we’re progressing out to the west and then turn north and there was actually six options had been evaluated for where the closest and easiest access for a second egress would be and for a second ventilation input, it was basically to be a second intake and return, and that was where it was chosen to be, so that was on our current plan for this year.

Q. Is it correct that that second means of exit had in fact been planned for several years by Pike?

A. Well, the whole mine had been planned for several years by Pike.  It’s part of the future mine plans so when the mine was started a number of features were identified.  There's a whole bunch of emergency exits that were put into the resource consent that are out on the western escarpment that had been in the plan for years as well, but you would never install those until you're actually mining towards them, so yes, it was planned.  The actual location of it is, I won’t say arbitrary, but it’s not fixed until such times as you actually come to do the detail mine planning so in the 2005, probably 2006 mine plans there was an adit, probably in a physically similar area but accessed via roadways that looked nothing like this current plan.  Mine plans very rarely stay stable for several months let alone several years.
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Q. If we can look at GDC1761, which was the annual plan submitted on the 20th of October 2005, in particular if we look at page 68 of that document.  If we look at the bottom half of the page, that’s describing emergency exits from the mine.  At that stage in 2005 it was contemplated that construction of emergency exits would commence in 2008 but it seems that some priority was going to be given to the second means of egress, which I think is what we’ve just been talking about.  Is that right?

A. Yes, but this was 2005 so the concept of where it would be, and that was on a different plan, but the concept of a second means of egress to break in the Pike Stream was the one, that’s actually shown on figure 12.  So if you have figure 12 there to look at you’ll see where it was planned for at that stage.

Q. If we look at the next paragraph there, originally Pike River planned to use the ventilation shaft as a second means of egress but with this shaft being at least 100 metres vertical it’s not suited as an emergency exit?

A. Mmm, I don’t agree, I know it’s our document but I think that was poorly chosen words by the environment manager at the time and I think it’s been pointed out to me that stayed in the document for the next 12 months and then was changed eventually to be not a permanent means of second egress.  I think the point was made by Mr Jones the other day in his submission, and I’d certainly reinforce that, but these documents that are submitted to the Department of Conservation are submitted to our landlord, if you like, to give them an indication of what the likely impacts on the environment will be.  It was neither Pike’s expectation nor DOCs expectation that they were reviewing our safety management system for adequacy or whether we had planned egresses or not.  It was not their issue to review so tended to put everything into the annual plan that you might possibly do in the next 12 months that might impact on the environment.  And that was the nature of an annual plan report to DOC, it wasn’t meant to be a safety oriented report.

Q. What degree of priority, to your knowledge, did the company give to developing that second egress adit?

A. Well it was being, a sort of moment ago we had a number of options we were looking at where we could put them, where we could get one that was as close to our current workings as possible and still give the requisite amount of safety.  There’s no point having a second egress coming out into a valley that’s not accessible so we did a lot of surface reviews of multiple sites to see if we did come out into that particular sub-crop area would it be safe for the men to come out.  There’s no point coming out to a point that’s within the flood zone, for example, of the stream.  So it had to come out at a point that would be suitable and that could get helicopter access to it.  Again if they come out in the back blocks of Pike Stream and you can’t get to them it’s not a very safe place to go to either so it had to be accessible.  So there was a lot of thought put into what would constitute an appropriate place to get an egress.  It’s pretty tiger country, there’s no easy place to come out and suddenly have a wonderful spot for a bus to come and pick everyone up from.  So whatever was going to happen it was going to have to be an emergency evacuation so we had to find a spot that was both suitable to the mine plan, in other words that you could actually mine there, and then when you did egress from the mine at that point, given that there’s no outcrops in that area, the first outcrop’s up at the adit, that’s up at the top of Pike Stream, so none of these would be able to be just driven straight to with a coal miner, you would have had to have done drill and blast tunnelling.  So we’re trying to minimise the amount of tunnelling you’d have to do from the coal seal to get to that surface point.  So, yes, quite a lot of consideration was given to it.  And I think you’ve shown me a number of documents this morning that had operational reports et cetera and I’m sure in one of those I’ve read that priority was being given to the drive just to the west to ensure that the egress was accessed as quickly as possible.  

Q. We saw on exhibit 9 the bridging panel and the work that was being done to commence hydro-mining in late 2010?

A. Yes.

Q. If, for example, the company had devoted resources to driving a roadway towards that second egress rather than commencing
hydro-mining would it have been possible to complete that second egress by late 2010?
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A. I'm not sure.  I haven't done that calculation.  There was obviously an expectation to achieve a range of objectives from the mine plan and a range of objectives from the business plan, one of which was driving to the west and the consequence of that was being able to put in that next means of egress.  The fact that we had adequacy in the minds of the, manager of the mine at the time and the inspectorate to, until such times as we could put that egress in was obviously recognised by everyone that having a, and it’s common sense that having a walkout egress is better than a ladder egress.  That’s a given.  It’s also better than having a winder egress so getting up to a point where we could put another adit in and give ourselves a third entrance was a good thing so it was always planned to be there and it was currently part of our priority in planning.

Q. I’ll move on now to the topic more generally of ventilation of the mine.  Can you tell us in general terms what the purposes are of a ventilation system for a mine?

A. Air ventilation has a number of functions, one it provides oxygen and fresh air for humans to breathe.  It also has the purpose of taking away noxious or flammable gases and dust from working faces, maintains the climate underground so from a cooling point of view and also prevents accumulation of those gases and generally keeps a fresh environment.

Q. There is a special regime for what are defined as gassy mines under the New Zealand Mining Regulations.  Are you familiar with that?

A. Yes, I am familiar that there are regulations for gassy mines.

Q. And Pike was a gassy mine in terms of the regulations?

A. Yes, determined as greater than .25% general body over three days or three consecutive days and then we deemed it to be gassy just before it entered the coal seam.

Q. The feasibility study in 2000 contemplated that there would be a ventilation officer appointed at Pike.  I think that term ventilation officer is an Australian term, is it?

A. Correct.  Well I don't know if it’s an Australian term but it doesn't exist in the New Zealand legislation, no.

Q. Was the position of ventilation officer established at Pike?

A. We didn’t employ someone separately to be the ventilation officer, no.  We had our original technical services manager, Guy Boyes, was a ticketed ventilation officer under the Queensland.  It’s only Queensland that has that particular role.  It was one of the, Commissioner Bell may contradict me but I believe it was one of the recommendations out of the Moura inquiry that the ventilation officer be appointed to the mine and where he’s, he could undertake other duties but the role of ventilation officer had to be primary so he could be within the role of the other manager in charge or the mine manager but he had to have his ventilation role as primary.  Well that was at Queensland, to my knowledge Queensland legislation requirement, that’s not the case in New South Wales when the ventilation officer ideally has a VO ticked, a ventilation officer’s ticket and it’s a separate role depending on the complexity and size of the mine, not just because it’s a gassy mine, that just means there’s gas there.  It’s a complexity of the mine and at Pike Guy Boyes had a ventilation officer’s ticket and Steve Ellis who we’d recently appointed as production manager was similarly qualified as a ventilation officer in Queensland which is the only state, relative state that actually has an official qualification for that role.

Q. Perhaps if we just look back at PW22, the chart of the management positions at Pike.  We can see Mr Boaz in that position through to the end of 2006.  Can you just help us with who carried the responsibilities for the ventilation system throughout the period up until the end of 2010?
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A. Well it didn't change even when Mr Boaz was there.  The role of the ventilation officer because it’s not defined in New Zealand legislation, sits with the mine manager unless it’s able to be delegated to someone more qualified and they give a legal delegation of that role, but under the New Zealand legislation there's no role for ventilation officer so the mine manager is always the ventilation officer.  If you've got someone else with a ticket then you may delegate jobs to them, but the role of ventilation officer is inherent in the mine manager’s responsibility.  As the mine got larger and we got more complicated, but I'm talking in several years time, I'm talking now, then there may have been an opportunity to have a separate ventilation officer, although more than likely that role might have sat with the technical services team or one of the underviewers, but at the moment the mine, while it’s determined to be gassy, it should be not confused that gassy is the same as complex.

Q. Who designed the ventilation system for the mine?

A. It had a number of inputs.  In 2000 – well there’s probably someone before, but in 2005 Minarco’s – or maybe it was 2006 – Minarco’s ventilation officer, Phil Mitchell, did a report for Pike on the potential layout of the mine.  I then engaged a guy called Andrew Self from Australian Coal Mining Consultants in Brisbane to review Mr Mitchell’s report and peer review it, and then he came over.  He was doing work for Solid Energy and Spring Creek at the time and came over and did some work for us at Pike.  Subsequent to Mr Self, these guys are very, very busy and very well sought after and unfortunately the West Coast is a long way from a lot of their primary areas of activity.  We then engaged Mr Rennie, Jim Rennie, who was able to give us more time and consistent time and stayed with our project for a number of years and so Mr Rennie did a lot of work on our detailed ventilation design.  We got work done so that we could go out to tender for our main fans and so work was also done by the fan consultants themselves, so basically in designing the fan, and then we had those reviewed by, I think Mr Rennie did those as well, and then more recently we've engaged John Rowlands, Dallas Mining I think his company is, and he became the ventilation consultant to the mine as well.  So we've had a ventilation consultant involved in the design of the mine, design of the fans, design of pretty much everything consistently.  We did change ventilation consultants but pretty consistently right from 2006.

Q. If we look at Minarco’s ventilation and gas design report from June 2006, that’s DAO.012.002007, do you recall this report?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And if we look at page 4, the introduction to the report, we can see that the purpose of the report was to determine mine ventilation quantities and fan duties?

A. Correct.

Q. But there had been a preliminary report in 2005 and this was updating that.  

A. Yes.

Q. And there was reference to the Brunner seam being gassy with contents between two and 10 cubic metres per tonne.  It’s noted there that the permeability is variable but particular high near the fault and in the area of the drift entry.  Is that correct to your knowledge?

A. Well I know the seam permeability of itself, like just steady without being broken, was very high, I think in the order of 200 millidarcies, and by order of magnitude the mines I’d worked at which were deemed to be reasonably high permeability in New South Wales were in the order 10 to 20 millidarcies, so 200’s more like Kestrel, Central Queensland permeability, but I think it would be a common sense understanding that at very broken ground you would have artificial permeability or induced permeability in the ground due to the fact that the ground would be broken and shattered for that large fault.  That’s not the same for all faults at Pike.  
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A. We had a lot of very tight faults which don’t show any difference in structural integrity at all, no broken ground or shatter zones as was described the other day, but around the Hawera Fault certainly, we have that broken ground there for higher permeability. 

Q. On page 5 it is said that –

A. – if you’d permit me, since you already had that page up?

Q. Yes.

A. Would you let me show you something on that page as well?

Q. Of course.

A. Will you show that plan please.  Just showing on that plan, that drivage there with a hook in it is the second means of egress adit that was envisaged in the 2005 plan.

Q. Just to talk that into the record, you've indicated on the plan on page 4 of the document, if we look from the bottom of the page there are two crosses going up on the left hand side, it’s just above the second of those crosses?

A. Yes, and I'd note that the original point given that the tunnel is coming from the right hand side, this is pit bottom, where we’re planning currently to put the adit, is probably only about halfway along that so the original plan from 2005 actually had the second means of egress quite a lot further out into the lease and we’ve been able to find a good spot for it closer in, so just to your point of saying did we put a lot thought into where it would be, yes we did and we were trying to find somewhere that was as close to where our current workings were as possible, which is only about halfway to where it was originally thought to be.

Q. If we turn over to page 5 of the document, there is reference to the gas contents around the pit bottom area being between six and eight cubic metres per tonne?

A. Correct.

Q. And also to the fact that gas drainage would be required prior to mining the coal between the stone drive and the connection to the ventilation shaft, both correct to your knowledge?

A. Well, that was their opinion and it depends what you're trying to achieve.  You can mine coal at six to eight metres per tonne without any drainage but if you want to retrieve a low gas environment where you don’t have the same pollution in your intake roadways then an ideal target that I've had at the mines I've managed has been to try and get the roadways down to about three cubic metres per tonne before you mine them and then they’re usually pretty much free of methane, you don’t have to worry about it so much, but you can mine at six to eight, I've mined at 10 without any drainage.  It’s a bit of a pain and you have to put a lot of gas blowers, air blowers in and move gas around but gas drainage has not been around forever and mines have been mining gassy seams before so, yes, gas drainage would be ideal, at six to eight you can mine, that is below outburst thresholds, it’s below anywhere, you'd be really concerned of having too much gas although it would just be difficult to manage at that level.

Q. We have a diagram, DAO.003.16431, page 12 which I'll just show on the screen, now it may be a little bit difficult, we may need to zoom in on that.  This I think is an estimate of the gas content at Pike, if we can zoom in on the bottom half of that diagram so we can read the numbers.  To your knowledge is that an approximately accurate assessment of the estimated gas content throughout the mine?

A. Yes to the extent that this work was done early on in the mines planning stages and it was interpreted from all of those bore holes, since I started in 2005, additional bore holes we’ve put down have also had gas work done on them and nothing we’ve put down has indicated that this would be inaccurate but I can't attest to its accuracy across the whole lease, I didn’t do any work associated with that, but that would be right, that would show that around, I think there's one bullet point up to the north and about Hawera, where we got one bore hole that showed 10 but the rest of the lease is sort of roughly zero on the western escarpment, four pretty much right through the middle of the lease and then along the Hawera Fault there's sort of sevens and eights and I think our mathematical average we did for the admissions trading scheme work indicated a mathematical average across the lease of 4.1 cubic metres per tonne.

Q. If we go back to the June 2006 ventilation report on page 6, there is reference to the fan duty?

A. Yes.
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Q. And if we zoom in on that first paragraph, the suggestion in that report was that the fan would be operating at 100 cubic metres a second to 240 cubic metres a second.  To your knowledge was that the type of range that you were working with?

A. That’s the range that you would need to develop the whole mine.  If you, when you look at your plan you see where your fan’s located back at the entrance, early part of the mine and subsequently you're going to be developing approximately five kilometres away so that the fans need to work at a range of duties although they need to be installed in the early life of the mine for what you think the absolute worse case scenario is going to be at the very furthest extents of your mine and part of that, when a ventilation engineer looks at the plan, they don't just look at the physical plan, they look at your mining plan as well and they look at things like, “Well where do you think you'll be mining at the same time?  Are you going to have one working face, one out to the north, one out to the south, one across to the west?”  That means I'm going to have all those leakage paths at the same time and they go through a modelling exercise to work out what the worse case scenario would be.  We started off the mine with a single fan on the surface with a 
90 cubic metre capacity which was just enough to deal with around pit bottom.   The two, we decided to go with two fans rather than one gives you a redundancy, again we’re along way from the main market so if we had a major fan failure so it’s better to have two and run parallel fans at about 120 cubic metres per second each and so in October the first of those two 120 cubic metre fans was installed and we were planning on putting the second, the original plan back in ’05/’06 was to have the two fans quite close together around the pit bottom or 2006 was that’s when we started looking at the underground fans was to have them quite close together at pit bottom.  More recently we were looking at splitting those fans and having one close to pit bottom and the other one located at the other adit entrance that you showed me the two on the plan before and I think the most recent report I saw which I didn’t see until I was doing homework for the due diligence a few months ago was the 
John Rowland’s report most recent one from probably November, October/November 2010 where he suggested if we were able to get those adits and therefore reduce the intake pressures in the mine that we may be able to get away with just the one fan underground for quite a number of years if forever so these are dynamic situations.

Q. If we move on to page 8 of this report it refers to a number of key factors including the dimensions of the return, ventilation shaft and you can see there that the highlighted portion suggests that four metres diameter fully lined was the nominated figure but if it is retained as an unlined shaft 4.5 metres would be required.  Can you just help us with that?

A. Yes, depending on how the shaft is excavated if you do a drill and blast like a sink shaft which is, it’s called conventional shaft sinking so you come from the top down, then you'll end up with very broken walls so you get a lot of drag on the air and so if you don't line it you get quite a lot of air turbulence along the edges of the shaft and it can create, it’ll effectively act as if the shaft is smaller because that turbulent area is not able to be used to transport air so the shaft is effectively smaller than what it physically looks like so one way of dealing with that is to fully line both from a supporting the shaft point of view but giving you a smooth wall to also reduce friction and some shafts have been lined with steel tubes and then backfilled with concrete into the annulus, others are slip formed with concrete all the way depending if they need structural support.  In our case because the shaft was raise bored you end up with a, and notwithstanding the fact that the lower portion collapsed, I take that into account, but the sandstone itself as I think Dr Newman spoke about is extremely fine grained sandstone.  It’s a couple of hundred megapascels, very, very strong and we looked at whether we’d need to even support the shaft let alone line it so we ended up with quite a good gun barrel shape.  We excavated it to 4.2 and then, because that was the largest head, that the mountain where you could basically put the drill rig on the mountain was the largest shaft size that we could get with the head capable of being reamed and because it was smooth bore and then just bolted and meshed we ended up with effectively pretty much a 4.2 metre diameter lined shaft, equivalent of.
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Q. If we turn over to page 11 there’s reference to the gas content at the proposed seam entry location.  And I’ll give you a moment just to read the highlighted passage?

A. Yes.  Sorry, which report did you say this was from?

Q. This is the 2006 Minarco –

A. Phil Mitchell’s report, yes.

Q. Yes.  The last sentence of the first paragraph I think relates to what you were saying earlier about the need for pre-drainage of the coal.  Here the opinion is expressed that to avoid dangerous accumulations of gas at the in-bye end of the stone drive pre-drainage of the coal is necessary.  Is that a statement that you would agree with?

A. No, that’s given as a factual statement, it’s really his opinion.  Gas, as I said, has been managed for a long time before gas drainage came along.  You asked before what the purpose of ventilation is.  And the purpose of ventilation is to remove gases and dangerous, prevent dangerous accumulations so there’s more than one way to manage gas.  Ideally, if the gas isn’t there, it’s easy to manage.  So pre-drainage is a very good thing to have, especially if you’ve got time to get the decay curve down, a decay curve being the gas is drawn down from the coal so that the volume decays, if you like, it’s called a decay curve.

the COMMISSION:  

Q. It’s called the what?

A. A decay curve.  The gas volume decay is from say 10 cubic metres down to two or three.

cross-examination continues:  mr MOUNT

A. In the case of the pit bottom area where we intersected the seam we did have some gas but nothing like what was previous predicted, we didn’t get the water or the gas that was touted across a number of forums as being imminent, it just wasn’t there.  So the area was a bit tighter than was expected.  In other words didn’t give us gas up as quickly as expected but that as managed with ventilation.  We did do inseam drilling from pit bottom but by the time we got into the coal the ability to actually pre-drain from while you’re trying to drive those roadways is limited.  So that pre-drainage was able to more affect the roadways that were further away from the immediate drive to the shaft.

Q. So pre-drainage was not done at that pit bottom area.  Is that what you’re saying?

A. Pre-drainage was started from pit bottom but it wasn’t done of pit bottom prior to mining into it, no.

Q. If we move to page 16 there’s reference to gas content and the returns.  And it was thought at that stage that the return methane content would vary between .8% and 1% during extraction at a nominal rate of 225 tonnes an hour.  Can you just help us to understand what that reference is to the methane content and the returns?

A. Yes, that’s saying that as gas is given off from the coal ribs of the driven roadways and also as it’s being liberated from the cut face immediately so it’s liberating the gas with a continuous miner and also as it’s being liberated from the extraction process, there’s a number of ways that gas comes into the mine.  Then that will increase its percentage in the roadway which is a direct function of how much air you have to dilute it.  So the same amount of gas, or gas make into a roadway that has five cubic metres per second will only have half the percentage of a roadway that’s carrying 10 cubic metres per second.  So what this paragraph is saying is that on the estimation of the engineer that did this report in 2006 that the return roadways, which are the airways taking the air back to the shaft, would be containing between .8 and 1% if that was the way that all the gas was liberated from the mine and ran through those roadways.  And the limit for those roadways for diesel vehicles is about 1%, or is 1%, and for people is 2%.  So keeping it below 1% would be ideal.
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Q. And on page 21 of the report, this is still the 2006 report, there was a recommendation that gas monitoring in the mine be by way of a multi-point tube bundle system monitoring both sealed areas and main and panel returns together with real time monitoring at the main pump stations.  We'll come back to talk about tube bundling shortly, but do you have any comment at this stage about that initial recommendation in the 2006 report?

A. I agree with it.  That was certainly the strategy for Pike.

Q. Now following that report there was a ventilation management plan for the mine as I understand it?

A. As a consequence of this report are you saying?

Q. Following this report?

A. Yes.

Q. Now that plan we have is DAO.003.07114.  It was dated the 18th of November 2008 with page 2 and signed off on that date.

A. Yeah, I think there was other versions before this but yeah this was the one that was done for the shaft holding by the mine manager, yes.

Q. That plan dated November 2008, was that the current plan at the end of 2010?

A. It was the current signed-off plan.  I must admit I have asked that same question in conjunction with other discussions obviously since the date.  This plan I've been back and read to see that my first impression was it was actually signed off prior to the shaft completion and I thought there might have been another one just done afterwards but the reality is this plan that Neville Rockhouse and Kobus Louw signed off on was done in anticipation of that shaft completion.  So this takes into account the ventilation system post shaft completion which is fine.  Ventilation management plans or any management plan is an overarching document that usually is reviewed every two years unless there's a significant change.  So in this case this plan was written for a shaft with a fan on top of it and that stayed in place then right through 2010.  My understanding anecdotally because I asked the question after he left, was that Doug White had been redrafting this management plan as part of the installation of the fan underground and at the time as of the 19th of November, he was operating to a, as the mine manager, was operating to a redraft of this management plan which he was finalising post the installation of the fan but may not have had time to do and the events of the 19th overtook him.

Q. If we look on page 53 of the document, I think the procedure was that only the mine manager could authorise changes to the ventilation management plan?

A. Correct.

Q. In 2008 that was Mr Louw I think you said?

A. Correct, through until early 2009.

Q. On page 57 at paragraph 103, perhaps if just show the whole page first.  That’s the paragraph I wanted to highlight.  There was a requirement that the mine manager appoint a ventilation engineer and other competent persons to carry out the requirements of the plan.  To your knowledge, were formal appointments made for the position of ventilation engineer at Pike?

A. No.  I think you've asked me that question before and I said that the role of ventilation engineer was contained within the mine manager’s role until such time as it was deemed that we needed an independent person to carry out that role and I would have expected, even though it was going to be contained in the same person, that Steve Ellis who had been just recently recruited, with both a mine manager’s qualification and ventilation officer’s qualification, would undertake the role of both statutory mine manager and ventilation officer and he wouldn't need to appoint himself as the ventilation officer because he would already hold that role.
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Q. The distinction I think I was drawing was between ventilation officer, which was the phrase used in 2006 and this specific requirement there be a ventilation engineer appointed?

A. No, there was no specific role at Pike River entitled ventilation engineer.  We did that by having, it’s actually very difficult to recruit people with specific ventilation qualifications that don’t otherwise have other management roles in the mine, unless you're a very, very large mine and you have a specific job for that person and it’s like part of their career path, more likely will sit, especially for a small mine like Pike, within a management position until such times as the mine gets big enough to warrant that as a separate position, so we supplemented by having a full-time, on-call ventilation or a designated on-call ventilation consultant available to us and they act in that capacity.

Q. The intention at this time in 2008, I think you already explained, was to have two fans underground?

A. The long-term strategy, correct and until – that still hadn't been changed other than the very most recent report by Mr Rowlands who suggested that possibly you could do away with the other one for some foreseeable period but that hadn't been challenged or checked at that stage.

Q. The intention in 2008 was also that the ventilation shaft would be 4.1 metres in diameter.  Is that right?

A. Which is what it was built to, yes, which would take the exhaust from both of the underground fans.

Q. And if we look on page 33, paragraph 6.1 the intention was that remote atmospheric monitoring would be by way of a Tube Bundle System as the primary monitoring system together with a real time monitoring system?

A. Correct, that was the intention of the management plan, yes.

Q. And at page 34 there was a contemplation that the tube-bundle system would operate continuously?

A. That’s what they do, yes.

Q. Except when shut-downs and maintenance and so on.  As at the end of 2010 is it correct that the company didn’t yet have two underground fans?

A. That's correct.

Q. That the shaft was not 4.1 metres from the mine to the surface because of the Alimak raise?

A. That's correct.

Q. And the tube-bundle system had yet to arrive?

A. It hadn't even been ordered at that stage.

Q. I want to ask you now about the location of the main ventilation shaft.  You referred yesterday to exhibit PW25 which showed the original, I think the original location of the ventilation shaft which was going to be east of the fault in stone.  Is that right?

A. No.

Q. If we can pull up PW25.

A. That’s showing west of the fault in coal.

Q. Perhaps you can just help us then, was that originally contemplated to be the location of the shaft?

A. Well, given that it was 1998, I didn’t start until 2005 and I didn’t see this report until earlier this year, I can't tell you what the original plan was.  I don't know, have a look at the one that’s in the 2000 – sorry, the 1995 CMS report that you showed me, I don't know whether it was nominated in that document as being different and what it was before that I don't know, I'm sure that these things change, well, it’s changed on any number of occasions since 2005 so I'm sure it’s changed under the times before that as well.

Q. If we look perhaps at a report which we have as DAO.003.16431, this is a report by Mr Renk, perhaps if we just look at the first page to orient ourselves.  We don’t actually have a date on this document but it was obviously during the time when Mr Renk was present at Pike.  On page 13 of that report –
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A. I think this is about 2000, it was possibly done AUSIMM conference, given that the title is quite, sounds like a conference-type title and I think it might have been contemplated, if not given, at possibly the 2007, and not 2008 AUSIMM conference, mmm.

Q. If we look at the bottom paragraph, second sentence, the proposed shaft location is east of the Hawera Fault sited in Gneiss rock, Gneissic rock?

A. Yes.

Q. To your knowledge was that correct, was that the original, or was that the proposed location at that stage?

A. There was a proposal for a period of time for the shaft and we went through an evaluation process of that.  So at the outset of the development of the mine, so when the tender was let and when the tender was awarded, the contract was for the shaft to be on the west of the Hawera Fault and coal measures.  We then went through a period of looking at whether we could bring it to the eastern side and whether there was any opportunity, and you’ll note on some of the plans that you’ve had up with bore holes locations, there was a whole flurry of bore holes, some associated where the pit bottom and stone is and some associated just west of pit bottom in stone and just south of the tunnel, and those were associated with us doing some research into whether we could possibly get a shaft there which would allow us to get it in earlier and do it in parallel potentially with while we’re still doing the stone drive.  So it was an efficiency issue if you like, so we didn’t have to wait till we got to the coal to put the shaft in.  But it was abandoned as an idea because the surface typography was so unfavourable.  The surface geology associated with that typography was very very difficult.  We would have had to have phenomenally large retaining walls halfway up the mountain and we could never guarantee the safety of the shaft, the fan, or the people there just because of the steepness of the cliffs.  And therefore for a whole range of reasons we had to abandon the idea of putting it to the east and go back to the original plan of putting it to the west.

Q. If we look at the evidence filed by McConnell Dowell, MCD001 at page 22, paragraphs 90 and 91 at the bottom of the page.  McConnell Dowell’s comment is that a shaft location out-bye of the Hawera Fault was unable to be excavated by McConnell Dowell for a cost acceptable to Pike?

A. Mmm.

Q. And there were significant land stability issues.  Does that accurately reflect the position to your knowledge?

A. Yes.  But by definition of a cost acceptable we’ll pretty much have to remove half a mountainside so, yes, it was a cost but it was not so much a five million dollars worth of work versus a six million dollar exercise, I think it was going to be a four or five million dollar exercise versus a 10 or 15 million dollar exercise.  So it was quite a massive excavation and at the end of the day the ground wasn’t suitable and the safety features and the suitability for the shaft as a long-term feature just couldn’t be put there.  I mean you saw the flyover yesterday, the ground is pretty inhospitable.

Q. When the current location for the ventilation shaft was identified?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you made aware of any concerns about the suitability of that site for the shaft?

A. Yes, the biggest issue, it was on the same site as we had two previous bore holes.  I think from memory PRDH13 and 14, from memory.  The biggest consideration was it was on a ridge and the ridge was deeply incised on both sides, as ridges often are, by two streams and the ground was deemed to be quite unstable on the surface, unstable down to some depth.  And the estimate of depth based on the call logs from those two bore holes back in the 1991 sort of era was that it could be unstable down to a depth of potentially 28 to 30 metres, I think from memory.  
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A. So one of the considerations of the construction not only was the fact we would have to build large retaining walls and create a pad on the surface, quite a large substantial pad on the surface, but then we’d also have to pre-grout the hillside to stabilise the top 30 metres so the biggest consideration was how we would go about doing that and that’s why it took a very long time.  We actually started preparing for a raise bore back in March or April of 2009 I believe – sorry 2008, so quite early on in 2008.  Also wanting to get a lot of that work done before winter because it snowed up there quite a lot, especially that winter it did, and so we did a lot of grouting, and I think, I can't remember how many thousands of bags of grout we put into that hillside but we pretty much reconstructed it.  And as it turned out, when we did the raise boring that top 30 metres was beautifully stable and it had no issue whatsoever, pretty well glued together.

Q. Was a concern also raised with you about stability issues below 68 metres underground?

A. There were a number of structures in the original bore holes, I can't remember, but in another bore hole, number 31 again from memory.  I can't recall all these numbers exactly but I'm pretty sure it was bore hole 31, was put down in the location of the shaft and that was call logged by URS on behalf of McConnell Dowell and they identified a couple of zones but deemed them to be minor, and I think I described yesterday when we were talking about raise bore, one of the considerations of a raise bore is there's a system called the Stacey McCracken system that you look at fracturing in shafts and the fault – sorry not the fault, but the fracture patterns and also the spacing of them to determine what the maximum span of a raise bore could be and how long it can stand up.  So all that work was done by URS and proposals were put to Pike and it was deemed that the immediate area above the coal seam interface, so the first eight or 10 metres, was of concern to them around the rider seam and Dr Newman’s model that I have sitting beside me in the box here, of the rider seam with some interburden between the coal seam and the rider seam, that that would be problematic and so we had to put a lot of mega bolts in, 10 metre mega bolts, cable bolts in the bottom of the shaft area to tie up that and stitch is all together, and they also identified a couple of other fracture zones in the lower half of the shaft, but their determination was from the core analysis that that was suitable for raise boring at a 4.2 metre diameter and we also had RDCL do a report on that for us as well as URS, so we had two different geotech companies reporting on it, with a conclusion that it was raise boreable, to my recollection.

Q. We've already seen in image PW20 the effect of the Alimak raise that was put in after the collapse.  Is it correct that the effect of that Alimak raise was to reduce the diameter of the shaft, effectively, from 4.1 metres down to 2.5 metres?

A. So, logically and physically yes.  So the shaft, one shaft is 4.2 and the Alimak’s 2.5, then yes the Alimak is smaller.

Q. Was there initially a proposal to make the Alimak raise four metres in diameter?

A. Yes.  Again, I think I did discuss this earlier.  There's a number of options.  The 4.2 metre shaft was required to be able to, and you showed Mr Mitchell’s report earlier that talked about having up to 240 cubic metres per second.  So as it was going to be the only ventilation shaft, over the life of the mine it needed to be a certain size to handle the large volume of earth.  In the early phases of the mine, however, you don't need anywhere near that amount of air and so the 4.2 metre diameter shaft was to take two, or in our case two, 120 cubic metre per second fans discharging into the same air stream.
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A. The Alimak rise was, we had some options mathematically had options without considering the physical aspects of it or the constructability aspects of it to consider whether we went with one Alimak raise 4.2 metres in square, they go up a square to completely replace the bottom of the shaft or to do a smaller size or to do two smaller size ones to half size which would give you the same and you just have one fan exhausting into each one because at two and a half metres or even 2.2 I think it was, 2.2 that was enough to be the exhaust for a 120 cubic metre fan.  As I set out earlier, the concept of going to a four metre Alimak raise would've required significant stripping down of broken ground that had already been bolted and meshed and created its own hazards and because we only needed one raise to go with one fan then the overriding the safety aspect of the construction of it, the constructability of it and in conjunction with Alimak themselves because they have to be able to do the job and agree to do it.  It’s quite a long way going up, nearly 50 metres up an Alimak.  It’s not the shortest Alimak raise they would do.  It’s quite, testing the limits of what they would want to do safety wise.  There are limits, I'm not sure if they’re statutory limits in Australia for Alimak raises, there’s not in New Zealand but the negotiated position if you like with Alimak was that 50 metres was fine but not stripping it out to four metres.

Q. Did the change to a 2.5 metre Alimak raise constrain the ability of the ventilation system to deliver the required amount of air?

A. No, no it didn’t because the fan on top was a 90 cubic metre fan.  It doesn't matter how big the shaft is, that’s how much air it could've pulled because it’s basically pulling its open circuit capacity because the tunnel and the shaft were not acting as a resistance in the circuit and at 
two and a half metres that was also more than enough for 
120 cubic metre fan to exhaust without the Alimak raise forming part of the restriction of the circuit.  It obviously adds resistance to the circuit because it’s a two and a half metre tunnel with bolts and mesh in it so there’s a resistance factor in there but it’s not a resistance that wasn’t overcome by the 120 cubic metre fan so it didn’t resist that circuit.  Had we tried to put the second fan in then, yes, you wouldn't put two fans in on a two and a half metre Alimak raise but that was never the intention.

Q. You've referred already to the report by Mr Rowland in April 2010 which is DAO.012.02400?

A. No, I actually referred to Mr Rowland’s report in October or 
November 2010, not April.

Q. We’ll start with the April report with that reference.  He said at page 4 that the circuit configuration was relatively resistive at this time but was being capably ventilated by the surface long-term standby fan, then I think it’s consistent with what you've just said?

A. Yes.  That fan is, in some mines the emergency backup fan is only quite small and it’s only to ventilate quite a small area because we wanted to ventilate the pit bottom area where the underground fans would be we actually increased the capacity of it up to being almost a main fan capacity at 90 cubic metres per second.

Q. At the bottom of that highlighted passage we can see, “All return air exits the mine via the number one upcast shaft which has a very resistive part where the air enters the duct work at the shaft top.”  Now that would be consistent with what you've described I think of the design of the shaft.  Is that right?

A. Sorry, I'm just reading the paragraph.  Yes, it’s very resistive where the air enters the duct work at the top of the shaft, that's right, which wouldn't have been ultimately once the main underground fans were commissioned.
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Q. On page 16 of the document there was some comment about the ventilation management plan, if we look at the top of the page, the first paragraph, there was a concern expressed at the bottom of that paragraph about considerable work to do to make that ventilation management plan a truly valuable management tool.  Would you agree with that?

A. I'm not actually sure what you're asking me to comment on.  
Mr Rowland’s reports were commissioned by and delivered to the mine manager and the mine manager owned the ventilation management plan, until after the 19th of November I don’t recall ever seeing any of 


A. Mr Rowland’s reports, they weren't ever addressed to me or copied to me or given to me.  I know John Rowlands very well, I worked with him for many years in Australia, so I would see him at the mine, but he was not reporting on anything to me and I was neither the author of nor the editor of the ventilation management plan so I have no comment.  It’s the mine manager’s responsibility.

Q. Finally on this report if we look on page 19 he says, “The ventilation circuit is currently relatively heavily constrained by the shaft top bend and the Alimak raise along with the resistance of a long single access drift.”  The view was expressed that these were relatively short term problems given that the new underground main fan was going to be commissioned.  Is that consistent with your understanding of the position in April 2010?

A. Yes, it’s also the position of most mines as they move towards the next phase of ventilation, they start to become constrictive, long hauls, high resistance roadways, they’re overcome so putting in the new fan would overcome a lot of those issues because it’s just a much bigger capacity fan and certainly putting in another adit would greatly reduce that because it would halve the resistance from the shaft, from the tunnel, so yes, and John was aware of our, John Rowlands was aware of our strategies and plans for the future.

Q. If I could turn now to the decision to place the fans underground?

A. Yes.

Q. When was that decision taken to your knowledge?

A. It was really only until you’ve processed, the idea was first mooted by, actually I don't know who by, I don’t think it was one individual, certainly in the early stages of the mine’s development our engineering manager, Tony Goodwin and myself were involved with things like Phil Mitchell’s initial report and going out to tender and putting the tenders together for the fan.  Whether it came up in conversation or where I don't know, but we went back to Fläkt Woods after they made their original tender, Fläkt Woods being the fan company, Melbourne based fan company in Australia, that was probably the front runner to supply these fans and they had supplied a surface fan as their tender base.  When we went back to them with an email I think I recall and said, “Have you ever given any consideration to designing an underground fan, do you know if that’s common practice.”  Our concern was one of practicality in that the fan would be installed on the surface, above the snowline, with limited access, helicopter only, a real bugger in winter, fog, likelihood of a fan tripping off and no one being able to get to it except climbing up the shaft which isn't what you really want to do if maintenance fitter is going up or the electrician is going up to work out why it tripped off, so we looked at what our opportunity would be if we actually put the fan underground and exhaust up the shaft, because from a logic point of view having it above the shaft exhausting out of a little tail and having it underground is not much difference mathematically, and we didn’t really know whether that was done.  I was aware myself that large booster fans, which is not much difference in concept, had been installed in Australia.  One had been installed at West Cliff Colliery by BHP successfully and the ventilation officer there had gone on the speaking circuit around Australia pretty much explaining all the safety measures that had been put in place so the concept was not unprecedented in the very recent past and that’s the division I'd come from so I was well aware of that work, and I spoke to the ventilation officer from the colliery as well about what was the concept.  
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Q. So when we contacted Fläkt Woods they said, by return email, “That’s interesting because we actually had developed that proposal for you but we didn’t have time to get it formally assessed to go into the tender, however, we’d like to propose that to you.”  So they did propose that solution for two underground installed actual flow fans.  And then we went through a iterative of process then by engaging, I think Jim Rennie was involved then after that Phil Mitchell wasn’t, and Jim Rennie came and sat in a risk assessment and there was a full risk assessment done and what the ramifications would be to having an underground fan, how it would work, how you’d set it up, what you could do, what you’d do differently.  And from recollection some of the conclusions were that there was only some technical barriers to making it work, none of which couldn’t be overcome and that we could continue to plan for that based on the risk assessment that was done and the involvement of both the fan manufacturer and the ventilation consultant.

Q. I think we have that risk assessment you’ve referred to as DAO.012.02318?

A. Okay, that would be it.  It was independently facilitated by Platinum Safety, just an independent safety company so that we weren’t doing it as an in-house exercise because we took it as a fairly serious risk to assess.

Q. You’ll see that copy is stamped, “Draft.”  To your knowledge was it ever finalised?

A. I don’t recall.  I just don’t recall.  Sometimes if you can hold the payment of invoices over their head then it’s good to get a final copy of some reports out of consultants but they sometimes give you the draft then move onto other projects and it’s hard to get one without draft written on it sometimes.  So there may well be another one out of these guys that was finalised, I don’t know.

Q. There were a series of controls proposed in this risk assessment I think, including if we look on page 13, that explosion protection would be built into the system.  It’s the fourth line from the bottom?

A. Sorry, fourth line category from the bottom?

Q. Fourth box, “Explosion protection should be built into the system?”

A. In the event of availability of spare parts proposed controls, yes.

Q. Do you know first of all what the need would be for explosion protection to be built into an underground fan?

A. Any fan.  The fan that’s on the surface, for example, explosion protection is a bypass door.  So the fan sits off to the side of the shaft rather than directly above it so that if the explosion path goes up the shaft it goes out through a, it’s usually a rubber flap that’s screwed down, so it’s the path of least resistance, if you like, and that would be blown out and it should protect the fan blades so that you can restart the ventilation if required.  For the underground fan, at the stage of the risk assessment it was a concept and said, “Well, you know, if you’re going to put it underground you should give consideration to explosion protection,” and whether that’s done by bypass.  One of the ways of doing it, and which was being designed for the second fan that went in, I would have to go back and look at the plans and discuss why or how that was taken into consideration with the first fan, but with certainly the second fan it was to allow an explosion path that was an alternate route to going straight through the fan.  So in the case of the fan that was just currently installed underground an explosion that was to go through the return, for example, would go around the corner and would have the ability to bypass the main fan installation and straight up the shaft.  But the actual detailed design of that and the installation of it I’m not the right person to be able to comment on that.

Q. Do I take it you’re not sure what form of explosion protection was built in for that first fan going underground?

A. No, that’s correct.  The actual physical fan itself, the fan and motors and stuff were all ordered as part of the Fläkt Woods contract several years ago.  But for the 12 months leading up to its installation that was being managed by the mine manager and the project managers on site.  And how it was physically installed, I think I saw it when it was a concrete plinth and visited it once it was installed but didn’t really have anything to do with the actual design or physical installation of it.
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Q. One expression we've heard in evidence already is “flameproof”?

A. Yes.

Q. And I'm not sure if you've already explained the difference between intrinsically safe and flameproof, but perhaps you can just explain those for us.

A. Yes.  Again, I'm not an electrical engineer, but intrinsically safe means that the circuitry of the unit itself, the actual item, the electrical item, has such a low amperage and I think it’s something like .25 a milliamp or some number like that from memory, that it can't actually create a charge sufficient to ignite methane.  So the actual design of the piece of equipment itself is such that you can't ignite methane such as a cap layer is intrinsically safe or there’s a number of lights, et cetera that are intrinsically safe.  Watches can be intrinsically safe.  It is such as low amperage where they can't create a spark.  Flameproof is where the, by nature the literal system is high voltage or higher voltage than intrinsically safe and it is contained within an enclosure, invariably steel, and that steel enclosure is not hermetically sealed.  So it’s not fully sealed, it’s not perfectly sealed.  It’s actually got a known gap in it and that gap has to be tested a number of thousands of an inch with a feeler gauge.  So it actually has a convoluted little zed pattern path so that air can move to and from the inside and outside of the enclosure were there to be a negative pressure, for example, air wouldn't typically move in and out but it can if the electrical enclosure heats up and as it contracts it would draw air in from the outside atmosphere and so, therefore, you could potentially get a methane mixture inside the flameproof enclosure, which is expected to happen if the machine was left in an area.  It’s not expected to happen as in you want it to happen, but that’s it’s design to allow for that to happen if you like.  Then if the electrical connector within the box was to ignite that methane the flame can't actually travel out of the little convoluted steel path.  Just the process of getting through that gap cools the flame and dissipates it to the point where it can't ignite methane on the outside.  So you could have a flameproof enclosure if the gap’s been properly done and the bolts are all secure.  You could have that sitting in an explosive methane mixture of 5% or more and then you could have an explosion within the flameproof enclosure and it would not ignite the methane on the outside of the enclosure, that’s its nature.  But you can't knowingly allow a flameproof enclosure to go into a methane environment.  That’s why you have to drop power at 1¼, and if you do have that flameproof enclosure either in a methane environment or one which you suspect to be a methane environment, that you need to open up the flameproof enclosure and flush it with fresh air before you admit power to it.

Q. To your knowledge was it part of the design for the underground fan or fans that they would be in flameproof enclosures?

A. All of our auxiliary fans, all of the electrical systems on our auxiliary fans are flameproof because they work up in the mining environment.  I can't attest to the electrical enclosures on the main fan.  I just don't know.  It was in that non-restricted zone but I just don't know.

Q. Now you've referred to the non-restricted zone.  Perhaps we’d just better look again at PW28 to see what you're referring to?

A. Sure.  The other thing to note though is that with the booster fan concept or in this case our main fan concept, that the fan impellors are sitting in the return.  They have to be because they are the ones acting on the air, but the drive shaft for the fan is through a wall and the electrics and the drive motor and everything else are on the other side of the wall, so they're in the fresh air and it’s only the actual impellors with no electrics are on the other side.

Q. So looking at PW28, you've referred to the non-restricted zone which is on the right-hand side of the mine plan?

A. Correct, and bounded by the red dotted line.

Q. And I think you explained yesterday that the difference between the restricted zone and the non-restricted zone is that there is a requirement that equipment be flameproof or intrinsically safe in the restricted zone only.  Is that right?
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A. That’s my understanding but I did say yesterday that I've never discussed this plan with the mine manager and it was actually shown on the plan that I was given so I hadn’t actually understood that there was a non-restricted zone and a restricted zone except in general parlance.  I had not seen it put there but that’s how I interpret that to be.  It’s not something that I've used in mine plans when I've been a mine manager.  It’s not something I've done.

Q. If we zoom in on the central area around the ventilation shaft and where it says, “drive for fan,” do I understand what you said to mean that you don't think there would've been a requirement for the fan motors to be in a flameproof requirement because they’re in the non-restricted zone?

A. No, I didn’t say that.  What I said was that the, if I show in this plan next to the word, “Gas monitoring station GD301,” is the intersection where two, one red arrow is coming into it and the other one red arrow is going out of it up towards the shaft, then the fan itself, the actual impellers of the fan would've been located or were located in that intersection and there is a wall here which is why the non-restricted zone runs down the edge of that intersection and on –

Q. Just to talk that into the record, where you're indicating the wall it’s just to the left of the entry to the ventilation shaft?

A. Correct, left of the intersection which is on the south side of the ventilation shaft, that's correct, so there’s a wall or a stopping there and then through that stopping with a set of seals would be, seals as in rubber seals et cetera ventilation seals, would be a drive shaft running through that wall and on the other side of the drive shaft, so to the left of that wall would be the drive motor itself, the electrics et cetera and they are located, what I'm saying is they are located in this what’s assumed to be the non-restricted zone but I'm not making an assessment or a knowledge as to whether the electrics were in fact flameproof or not.  I don't know. 

Q. And I think you did talk about this yesterday but are you just able to help us with what “drive for fan” means as opposed to the “motors for the fan” you've just described?

A. Yeah, actually what I did say yesterday is I don't understand why that would say, “drive for the fan,” down there.  In my general knowledge of a fan when you have a drive, the drive motor sits on the thing that drives the motor so unless that’s indicating an electrical installation or like the fan starter or it’s some other, perhaps there was long hydraulic lines running, I really don't – that fan was being installed very much at the time that I was taking over as the CEO and we had a number of other people on site responsible for its installation.  The details of how it ultimately was installed and commissioned I only know through discussion not through physical inspection of the site.

Q. Now there may be occasions when all power underground in the mine is switched off.  Is that right?

A. Switched off voluntarily or tripped off through some fault or detection, yes.

Q. Presumably in that situation the underground fan would also stop?

A. Not necessarily.  It depends what the reason the power and which power has been tripped off.

Q. There would be some situations where the underground fan would switch off because of the lack of power?

A. Yes, if you turn the power off to the fan it would turn off.

Q. What was the procedure to restart the fan following an electricity cut of any sort?

A. So the, because we have a surface fan which is why it’s there for this exact scenario, the surface fan has a generator backup and the intention would be that were the main fan underground to trip then the surface fan would automatically start up so on the assumption that that system has worked, so that would be the base case then the surface fan is now running and ventilating some parts of the mine so the manager’s rules that exist are for reintroduction of power.  The actual starting up of the fan is another, is a different scenario where you have to test for the gas that would be going through the fan but in this case the first fan you would start would be the surface fan to get the ventilation circuit running.  That would provide fresh air to the main fan underground and therefore once you've tested it for gas and assured yourself the fact that the area was generally free of methane then you can start up the main fan underground.  
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A. The manager’s rule for reintroduction of power would require that whole area to have been inspected, wherever the cable runs are and then a mining official would reintroduce power to the area.  In this case, in your scenario, the first thing that would be repowered would be the underground fan, depending on where its tripped off, it may have tripped off back to the substations at pit bottom in stone or it could've tripped off back to the substation on the surface.  I certainly after 30 years still don’t understand why some things trip and others don’t, it’s a bit a mutual mystery to most mining people.

Q. You've referred to some manager’s rules, was there a written procedure anywhere for the restarting of the underground fan following an electricity cut?

A. I'm not aware if there was, there certainly was manager’s rules for reintroduction of power but the rules required for the restarting of the underground main fan are given it had only been installed a month or so and, as I said earlier, Doug was still editing the revamp of the manager’s rule, there well could've been standard operating procedures or something else in place that would be beyond my knowledge.  

Q. The first of the main underground fans was due to be commissioned I think in October 2010?

A. I think it was commissioned in October 2010, yes.

Q. Now, I appreciate this coincides with the time when you were not physically at the mine as frequently as you had been previously and I think you said you don’t have firsthand knowledge of exactly what was happening with that fan?

A. No, Doug kept me updated with what was going on, that’s how I found out, that’s how I understood what was happening, we spoke most days, yes.

Q. Can you tell us as best you can what had happened with the commissioning process for that underground fan?

A. Yes, the actual commissioning process is quite iterative anyway regardless of whether you're having any issues or not.  In this case the iteration was the fact that, as you alluded to about tripping of underground power, underground power is interlocked to the main fan so you can't – you can have the fan running without the power which is why I qualified the fact that it doesn’t necessarily always go hand in hand, so you can have the fan running without underground power but you can't have underground power without the fan because there's nothing to ventilate the areas and you have potential electricity in areas that aren't ventilated.  So, the regulations in New Zealand and overseas require interlocking of power and ventilation fans, the same as it does in the panel itself where the power to the continuous miners et cetera are interlocked to the auxiliary fan for the same reason.  So in our case all the power underground was actually interlocked to the surface fan because that was the primary fan.  So in testing the underground fan they were running it up to speed, testing it for short periods, getting vibration right, aligning the drives, aligning the shafts, there's quite a large, you can imagine this thing is quite physically large and runs at very high speed.  

Q. The process you're talking about started when approximately?

A. The process of commissioning the underground fan?  I can't say with certainty.  It would've been quite a small iterative process the physical installation of fan, I'm not sure what the date of it was, probably sometime in September I would imagine, that it was actually physically installed and then over time it would've just been sitting there with engineers running it but it wasn’t part of the ventilation circuit, the air was just going straight past it up the shaft because the other fan was working so the engineers and the company that was installing the fan and the electrical engineering company we had doing checks on it, we had a number of engineers crawling all over it, doing the installation work, would've been just doing that in the return and in the intake air while the other fan was working, so over a month I suppose.  Then once the fan was installed and could be turned on electrically the intention was, or the actual activity was to start the fan and run it for, you know, 20 minutes to see if anything banged and crashed.  It wasn’t the main fan at this stage, the surface fan was still on right through this period so this is just a mechanical or electrical installation, so they’d run the fan for a short period of time, then run it and then check everything, then run it for an hour or two and then run it for three or four hours, then run it for six hours and so all those checks were done.  I'm aware via many frustrating conversations that Doug had that the fan kept tripping off and going into vibration and no one could understand why.  It turned out that the drives I believe for the fan had been underspec by the supplier which –
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Q. Just pausing there.  What are the drives for the fan?

A. So this is basically the motor was too big for the car it was sitting in.  so it was a 120, you know, 1.2 litre engine sitting inside a truck, the truck wouldn’t move, so this was a small drive sitting inside a big fan trying to turn a big motor and the designers had designed it and they’d got it wrong.  Took them a while to admit that they’d got it wrong because it just kept tripping off and we couldn’t understand why.  It wasn’t quite as extreme as putting a 1.2 litre motor in a truck but it was just, it just kept vibrating so eventually the manufacturer agreed that the drives were too small and they agreed to replace them at their cost.  All through this period we were still ventilating with the main fan.  And then ultimately we had to do a, so that was replaced, so they replaced them at their cost, re-did the drives, re-engineered it and reinstalled them and they were fine then.  And then the surface fan had to be, you got to a point where you could no longer have the surface fan interlocked to your power.  You had to have the underground fan interlocked to the power so that went through a procedure, they did a risk assessment, and put procedures in place for that changeover to happen and then eventually then ran the underground fan as the newly interlocked fan.  And I think they had another trip after that just as part of that commissioning.  So the electrics, it’s all quite complicated, the electrics I don’t pretend to understand the circuits that go with the interlocking, but I believe they had another trip after that.  That was just electronic, I don’t think it was to do with the drives.  And then after that the fan ran well and did what it was supposed to do, produced 120 cubic metres a second, improved our ventilation underground by about 30 cubic metres a second and was still running well, to my knowledge, at the time of the explosion, for several weeks.

Q. From what approximate date was the fan working correctly to your knowledge?

A. I believe from early November but I can’t recall exactly. 

Q. To your knowledge was the fan delivering the volume of air that had been contemplated by the original design?

A. Yes, to my knowledge it was.  I think Mr Rowlands report verified that in his November report, October/November report.  

Q. I want to move on now to the question of methane gas drainage and inseam drilling.  Can you tell us who designed the gas drainage system for the mine?

A. That’s not an easy question either in that again these things have many parents.  The inseam drilling programme was a twofold one.  One was to do exploration drilling and to determine structure was one of its main purposes.  And secondarily to provide a gas drainage in advance of roadways.  And so the long holes that we’ve done for exploration drilling were intended to be initially just free vented into the return airway and then ultimately to be collected into pipes and vented from the mine.  So at varying stages some holes, depending on their length and the amount of gas they were produced, were free-vented into the return airway and loaded up, at that .8 to 1% you spoke to earlier, that sort of concept, loaded up the return air because it’s a great exhauster for seam gas if you keep it below 1% ideally.  You can load a lot of gas into your return airway but the preference would be to pipe it away and put it up into the atmosphere outside the mine separate to your return airway.  So we put in a series of pipes.  Initially we didn’t, I had a reasonably large knowledge of gas drainage in mines I’ve managed, that was one of their primary activities was gas drainage and power generation from that, so I had a lot of contacts at other mines and I had a lot of my own background knowledge. 
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A. So I engaged, well I actually got a lot of procedures out of a number of mines that I’d had dealings with and encouraged our site people to start taking ownership of that process.  So I engaged, through our tech services manager got him to engage a consultant to come over and review what our drillers were doing to introduce stuffing boxes, which is just a way of taking gas away from the bore hole as it’s being drilled, water traps, start to get the fundamentals of a gas drainage in place if you like just after we re-started back in July 2009 so that era because that’s when Valley Longwall started.  They had started doing some drilling and they were drilling through stuffing boxes and that air was being exhausted to the shaft before that, but once we got re-started again and we're going to have more holes and longer holes and there was more need for gas.  Then ultimately our geologist took control of the Valley Longwall contract and also of the gas drainage system.  We connected up a series of underground pipes to the gas riser which was adjacent to the Slimline shaft.  We put a diffuser on the surface with a lightning rode on it, a flame arrester so that we wouldn't risk the gas being emitted from the mine to catch on fire.  So the flame arrester was put on the surface and design work was done through that, through Australian consultants, gas drainage consultants, and then ultimately in 2010, I think, Miles Brown from Drive Mining was engaged and took over the role of not managing but consulting.  A bit like John Rowlands was our offsite ventilation consultant, well Miles was our offsite gas drainage consultant.

Q. Can you tell us about what risks arise from methane gas drainage within a mine?

A. The risk of the actual drainage process.  So you're intentionally collecting large volumes of gas into a pipeline that runs throughout your mine so you have to be conscious that you've got a pipeline full of gas variously up to 100% methane.  So inside the pipe it’s safe.  The issue is where that pipe might be broken and gas is emitted into the roadway.  So it’s another source of gas.  The water trap is a – because as the gas comes from the coal it’s laden with water just from a high humidity concept, and as it goes through the pipeline at a certain pressure where it goes into ports, changing direction as it cools, as it goes through the pipeline it drops water out and the water can block your pipeline.  So if you continue to hook up a whole bunch of bore holes to the pipeline but you've allowed water to accumulate at a low point, then that line will just pressurise and the gas will come back out around the bore holes and it will just be in an uncontrolled manner.  So managing water in the bore holes, in the pipeline is an issue.  So you introduce what’s called a water trap, which is just an expanded area, allows the gas to depressurise, drops it water and then re-pressurises again, and so you have to drain the water traps.  So water management, your pipeline is one.  The actual pipeline itself is another.  Location of your pipeline so that it’s kept safe and so it’s connected up to a surface point and management of the flame potential and an explosive potential of the gas being emitted from the mine is another issue.

Q. Is it the case that the inseam drilling holes that have been drilled may sometimes be intersected by other parts of the mine, for example, if a roadway is driven through?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. What if any precautions need to be taken to deal with that fact?

A. So that was actually one of the procedures I was talking about getting from West Cliff Colliery in New South Wales when we were going to be intersecting our first bore hole rather than try and reinvent the wheel because I’d used those procedures for years myself, I got the ventilation gas drainage engineer from West Cliff to send us over the BHP procedures for intersection of bore holes.  So there's a number of procedures, intersection of bore holes are free-flowing, that are on gas drainage, some that are blocked, others are partially grouted.  There's a number of scenarios you need to give consideration to.  There's different ways of dealing with them and depending on what you want to do with it, if the bore hole has got a long virgin side, in other words if you're intersecting it quite close to where it was drilled from, it’s got quite a long piece of bore hole back into the coal measures, then you probably want to keep it open if you're gas draining because you wouldn't want to block that off.  
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A. So one way of dealing with that is to, once it’s intersected at the face, depending on the volumetric flow you may choose to try and drill into it and divert the gas but more often than not you would mine it at the face and then hose it across so you would put a standpipe into it, again depending on how much flow volume you either put a steel pipe or a copper pipe up into the hole with a valve on it, you put one into either side of the roadway because you've now intersected it and broken it effectively and then you recreate that bore hole artificially by running a hose up and over the roof and then the gas just comes out at one rib up through the hose and back into the other rib.  If the tail of the hole on the virgin side isn't very long and you're not too fussed about losing it then you may choose to just block the holes as you go through them and that can be done variously with a standpipe so it can be reopened or you may just shove it full of rags and grout to several metres deep and just fill the hole up with grout effectively or concrete and just block it off so there’s just different ways of dealing with it depending on whether it’s on a free flow or a low flow, a high flow or a low flow.

Q. In general terms with the volume of gas being drained from the mine consistent with the figures that you previously had about the amount of gas in the coal?

A. Yes, my logic was Pieter van Rooyan, our tech services manager had done work with our inseam drill rigs to get core samples and the Valley Longwall guys were doing that work for us with our geologist overseeing it and they were taking core samples and were getting gas desorption to determine that the total desorbable gas from those cores and those cores were consistent with the gas contents that were expected in pit bottom area.

Q. Do you know whether the volumes of gas being extracted from the mine had remained stable or decreased or increased in the 12 months to the end of last year?

A. It’s not an area I kept track of in detail.  Again because we weren’t draining gas for commercial purposes if you like for generating power or anything else, the main purpose of draining the gas was to reduce the amount of gas in the coal seam ahead of development otherwise we wouldn't bother doing so because it wasn’t commercially viable to do it so it was purely for reducing gas from a ventilation point of view and so therefore the balance of gas and the return, the balance of gas going up the bore hole, how much the return loading could take was therefore purely an operational issue and one that the mine manager, with his guise as a ventilation officer, would manage with the tech services team to make sure that the places were kept below statutory levels and was being drained as effectively as possible.
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Q. You mentioned that Mr Miles Brown of Drive Mining assisted Pike River with gas drainage issues?

A. Yes, he had some gas drainage modelling and, yes, essentially that’s the scope of his job as far as I understand.

Q. I want to ask you now about three reports that he wrote in May, July and September of 2010.  The first is document DAO.012.02486.  If you just see the cover page, it’s entitled, “Gas Drainage Assessment,” and down the bottom we can see dated 15 May 2010.  Can you tell us what the purpose of this document was?

A. Well I understand the Technical Department got Miles Brown in to do some gas drainage modelling but I wasn’t a recipient of the report, to my knowledge, and I don’t think I’ve ever read any of the three of them other than to know they exist.  So they weren’t reports for me, they were operational reports for the technical department to be used for advice to the operational department.  But I know Miles Brown very well and I saw him on site and had dealings with him several times while he was here but I didn’t receive his report or have comment on it.

Q. If we look at page 4 of the document under heading 2.1, “Scope.”  I think the original scope was described as a detailed assessment and review of current underground gas drainage design, design and implementation of a gas drainage solution based on gas drainage model, and consultation and skills transfer?

A. As I read, yes.
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Q. On page 8 of the document there are some tables and the block of text just under the first table comments that, “Draining such a thick seam without a large lead time or enough data to quantify an accurate decay curve, leads to the conclusion that if there is 8 cubic metres per tonne of gas then development rates will be affected.”  Can you help us with what that comment means?

A. Yes, I, as I said I hadn’t read this report but that’s what I was saying earlier to one of your previous questions.  The decay curve is the curve from the virgin content down to zero effectively and how long that would take.  Usually gas will give, be given up quite slowly at first so that the top of the curve is quite flat as water is the first component of the coal to be given off and then the curve goes through a much steeper section until it peters out, usually at some background residual where the residual gas remains, it may be one or two cubic metres per tonne and it won't drain out it just stays locked into the coal so it’s the time, the permeability of the coal affects the decay curve so decay curves are very unique to the actual coal and often to the, not only to the coalfield but the coal mine so you can use generic decay curves but usually those things are developed for each mine itself so what Miles is saying in this report is that with a background content of eight cubic metres 
per tonne then you would need a large amount of lead time to get the gas down to, it doesn't say to what, but say two or three, four cubic metres per tonne otherwise you'll have operational issues such as having to cut more slowly or having to put more air into a particular area, having to put a second auxiliary fan in for example.  You may run the one heading off two fans or having to have typhoon fans or Venturi blowers up the roadway.  As I said I've worked in a mine where we’ve had to have 10 Venturis over 100 metre distance just to move gas from 10 cubic metres per tonne type undrained roadways.  It just means there’s other operational things to be taken into consideration to achieve the same safe outcome.

Q. His comment in this paragraph is that the solution will be to gain more knowledge quickly and if high levels of gas are found introduce a smaller spacing of the drainage holes which would increase costs but assist with increasing development rates?

A. Potentially, yes.

Q. If we look at the bottom table on that page there is column shaded blue on the screen which is headed, “Expected time to drain to target,” measured in days and the figures are all of the order of 320 days to drain to the target.  Does that figure strike you as an expected period of time to drain coal in this seam?

A. Well I don't know.  I haven't got operational experience in the seam, particularly in this coalfield or Pike doesn't in general because we’re only just starting in the same.  We did get work done by CRL in 20007 maybe and they did some decay curve work and then we got that work repeated by Geogas in Wollongong so we’ve had several gas consultants look at this before Miles Brown was engaged and they certainly, because of the high permeability of the coal, as I said earlier, it’s a double edged sword.  You can get a lot of gas out quickly which is good but because of the permeability of the gas continues to migrate from other areas so you continue to drain without actually having a huge effect immediately so the decay curve in the Pike seam or the Brunner seam would be a lot broader and flatter, in other words it wouldn't be a steep drainage curve where you drop down very quickly.  It would actually be quite a long curving graph so the time doesn't surprise me because the holes that were, I'm not sure what spacing is used and I'm not sure what in this report he takes as his, what he calls his target but I would assume his target, unless it’s proved elsewhere to be different I would assume it to be about three so what he’s saying is quite true.  If you're going to do, target three cubic metres per tonne as a residual it would take you a long time to get there otherwise you'll just have to put up with the higher gas make in the roadway you're driving and do something different, more ventilation, go slower is another bunch of alternative.  At the end of the day you measure the gas that’s in the roadway and you manage that, that’s the ultimate.  What do you do everything for?  What do you do gas drainage for?  What do you introduce ventilation for?  It’s to manage the hazard and if the hazard’s been managed in another way well then that’s another way of managing the same hazard.
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Q. If you go over the page to page 9 there is some comment about the gas riser, and just to refresh our memory the gas riser, I think you said, goes adjacent to the Slimline shaft?

A. It’s a bore hole, yeah that's correct.

Q. On page 9, Mr Brown says that “the April underground inspection confirmed that the current four inch pipeline which runs the current six inch riser is highly pressurised, and he goes on to say that the onsite decision to separate the drilling operations from the riser pipeline will immediately reduce drilling delays.  These delays include gas trips, which could create higher risks especially if ventilation in a stub was inadequate.”  Can you help us to understand what the report is saying in that paragraph?

A. Well what I understand it to be saying, given that this is the first time I've read it, is that he’s saying that if the drill rig which would be producing a lot of water with the gas because it’s coming raw from the coal and its first pass would be quite a lot of moisture.  As well as drilling water, it would get sucked up with the gas.  So he's saying that by collecting the drill hole through the stuffing box directly into the gas drainage line, would be putting a lot of water into the pipeline which would otherwise be precluding other gas from coming into it from other drainage holes for the same reason that I explained earlier, that the water will pool in low points in the pipeline and potentially just block and create back pressure.  So that’s exactly the issue that I raised earlier that he's raising here, and when he's saying to separate the drilling operations from the drainage operations he’s suggesting, I understand, that you would free vent from the drilling operation into the return and use your ventilation circuit to load that gas and then you could keep the drier holes which have already given off their water initially, into the gas riser.  In that way you'd have a cleaner gas drainage system via your riser and your wetter more immediate face drilling operations would be vented to the return.

Q. In section 4 of the report from page 14, Mr Brown deals with particular risks.  At the top of the page under the heading, “4.0,” he says, “This section of the report identifies a high level risk to mine employees’ personal safety.  These topics need to be addressed by management in the short term.”  And he goes on at paragraph 4.1 to say, “The current mining through gas drainage holes procedure can be improved with the following actions.  First, overriding risk assessment for all drilling and drainage activities to allow this procedure to act as a control procedure.  Weekly gas monitoring of all holes to identify early blocked or partially blocked holes so they can be reopened, piercing of suspected or known blocked holes prior to mining through and inspection of gas drainage holes 24 hours prior to mining through.”  Were these all risks that you were aware of in May 2010?

A. Me personally?  No.  As I said before, this report was by a drainage consultant through Tech Services and onsite I had a mine manager and an operations manager as well both with many years’ experience.  This is a detailed operational issue that I wouldn’t have been involved in as the general manager.  I’d be aware that Mr Brown was making reports, but reading the reports and actioning them, I left that to the operational management team to do so, and I had every confidence they would. 

Q. The next section, 4.2, unblocking gas holes, says, “This must be considered a high personal injury risk.  Numerous incidents and near misses have occurred in mines with gas drainage and from even low flowing holes that are blocked up and pressure.  However, there is a method to deal with this.”  Now, of course, you say you've never seen this report, so this is not a matter that was drawn to your attention in May?

A. No, but I'm well aware of Mr Brown’s experience.  I worked with Mr Brown for quite a number of years at the same coal mine in a very high gas environment, much higher than is at Pike River Coal, with many, many thousands, tens of thousands of metres of inseam drilling done each year and intersecting bore holes like this almost on a daily basis either virtually in every panel in the mine.  So it would be a daily occurrence rather than something unique.  I'm well aware of Mr Brown’s experience and the need for procedures to be put in place.
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Q. On page 15 Mr Brown deals with strengths, weaknesses and risks of the Pike River gas drainage system.  He identifies four strengths or recognised gas drilling company on site, “Technical services department committed to improvement, a coal seam that appears to allow drainage to occur and a drill stub size which is adequate with concrete floor reducing driller injury risk.”  Do you agree with all of those strengths?

A. Yes.

Q. The weaknesses he referred to were minimal data on gas content and in fact he notes that no data was sighted by him.  “Inadequate drainage pipeline diameter and riser to manager gas flows.  Surface access for new installations constrained.  Thick coal seam containing high volume of methane per metre advanced and workforce knowledge of risks of gas drainage holes and pipelines,” which he notes is an industry issue.  From your knowledge of the system at Pike would you agree that those matters were weaknesses in the system?

A. I'm not so sure on the first point because while Miles has said he hasn’t seen the data the gas content was taken in nearly all of our surface bore holes and that’s been reported through our petroleum exploration permit as a matter of course on a yearly basis and we have, I think some of the earlier bore holes, PDH1 to sort of 6 or 7, no one ever used to do gas desorption but most of the latter holes had desorption, not only composite and in several plies through the seam-way, several discrete levels in the seam, so I don’t think we had no gas content, we certainly had it for all the surface bore holes possibly earlier in 2010 they hadn't gathered a very good database of inseam drilling gas desorption.  I can't comment on that, but the rest of them, the inadequate drainage pipeline, certainly they were looking to change that and I'm aware of that and they put in a four inch line because it was easiest to start with.  Not sure how much gas was going to be coming out, remembering this was a new operation and then realised it was filling up and becoming a constraint, so you go through and replace it, so yes, I understand that, and the others, the surface access to new installations, that’s definitely an issue, we’ve talked about that with surface bore holes as well.  The other two I think are both issues, yes.

Q. The risks identified at paragraph 5.3, do you agree that they were all applicable risks at Pike?

A. The first two are general risks to any mine that’s got gas drainage or requires to do gas drainage, so they weren't unique to Pike.  The low lead time with regards to development is also a common hazard with inseam drilling, more so at Pike because we’d only just achieved the coal seam and then had numerous geological structures which precluded long lead time drill holes and a lot of our earlier drill holes were structured definition, while they did provide gas drainage as well.  
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A. And unproven geological features, certainly there’s a number of, I think that could apply to any coalmine in the world, unproven geological features could affect mine design.  I think that’s an absolute given in just about any underground mine.  And affect change drainage requirements, similarly I think if the structure is present and change the drainage ability but generally because our faults weren’t acting as barriers to drainage, like they weren’t strike slip faults with large mylonite zones or fine coal, which will be associated with outbursts because most of the faults, or none of the faults identified in the seam had that feature, then there was no reason to believe that long holes wouldn’t effectively drain the full length of the hole.

Q. If we turn across to page 16, there were a number of recommendations.  The first was gas riser, and perhaps if we zoom in on that.  Mr Brown said a new riser is required within three months with a minimum of 10 inch internal diameter.  Was that recommendation to obtain a new riser within three months drawn to your attention?

A. No, I was aware that Pieter van Rooyan was working on where we were going to be placing rises.  I think one of the original ideas was that they would run the methane drain lines back to a central point which is a most common thing to do in a mine.  You’d bring it all out, a central bore hole or a pipe in the shaft or something else, but they were looking to rather than do that to actually locate rises throughout the lease where they can do them with surface access and then have small compartmentalised gas drainage areas where they would all go back to one riser and then the next area of the mine would go to another riser.  So I was aware through weekly meetings and general discussions with Mr van Rooyan, our tax services manager, that they were looking at where the next riser was going to be and how that system was going to work.  But the specifics of planning for one, again this is a consultant’s report, that’s still got to be taken into account in the operational capabilities and needs of the mine.

Q. You were not aware of that specific recommendation?

A. No, I wasn’t aware of Miles’ reports at all.  I was aware that he was reporting but, no, you’re taking me through them for the first time.

Q. The next recommendation was in relation to the underground gas pipeline prior to the riser, as I understand it.  And his recommendation was to accompany the potential new 10 inch gas riser.  “All underground pipes should also be 10 inches in diameter.”  He goes on to say, “The current four inch line has too high a frictional resistance and this replacement now would lower the pressure in that pipeline to allow gas to be moved to the bottom of the riser.”  So again I take it you weren’t aware of that recommendation?

A. This is in the same report?

Q. Yes.

A. So therefore I haven’t seen this report so therefore I wasn’t aware of that recommendation, no.

Q. On page 17, under the heading, “Data Collection,” Mr Brown commented that this was the key recommendation, “Three months of data collection now can provide enough information for establishing a gas drainage model.”  So there was clearly a recommendation that that data start to be collected.  Again I take it you weren’t made aware of that recommendation?

A. No, I don’t think it needed to be Miles’ recommendation that we needed to collect gas starter from the mine.  We needed that for a number of reasons.  One, develop the geological model and the gas model for the mine.  Two, look at the omissions trading scheme that was looking to be brought in by the Government, we needed to make determinations of the outputs of gas from the mine.  And so knowing what was being omitted from the mine, that they’re doing a gas balance between the gas riser and the shaft, the shaft’s easy, you measure the percentage of gas and the volume of flow and you can work out how much gas is going up the shaft.  How much is going out of the riser is another matter.  So I was aware that as a normal course we would need to be collecting data and I was aware that Mr van Rooyan was also aware that we needed to be collecting data.  So I wasn’t aware it was one of Miles’ but that does not surprise me.

Q. If we look at that last paragraph at the bottom of the highlighted passage.  In summary Pike River Coal has a chance to quickly understand what implications the inherent gas contents have on their production schedule.  Data acquisition over the next few months will allow a more accurate drainage design.  
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Q. This design can then be quantified to a cost for all aspects.  The last outcome Pike River Coal Limited needs is a safety failure.  The safety failures include gas trips on a continuous miner from rib emissions, along with data collection the current four inch gas pipeline is inadequate and needs upgrading.  A 10 inch pipe would provide the chance for the pipeline to be managed by the operation.  In addition drillers should continue to be omitted from allowing the gas from the currently drilled hole attempting to enter this pipeline.”  Now, at the time of this report, May 2010, you were still general manager mines, I think?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you have expected a recommendation such as this stating that the current four inch gas pipeline is inadequate and needs upgrading to be drawn to your attention?

A. I was aware that the four inch line, and I had fully expected from the time it was put in that it would eventually become inadequate and I was aware that there was a tension in place by the operations team to replace that pipeline.  I wasn’t aware that Mr Brown had made that recommendation which was your question to me before, but I was aware that that was the intention, yes.  I was also aware that we had – one of the reasons was because I think our operational reports, both at a weekly level and also at a board level, reported usually on the split between the amount of gas coming up the riser and the amount of gas going out of the shaft and I'm also aware that in one of those reports at least, if not in two, there was mention made of the pipeline being changed out systematically to a larger pipeline, for that reason, to take away that restriction so, yes, I was aware that that was activity of the mine.

Q. Given that there has been such a direct statement that the current four inch gas pipeline in inadequate, particularly immediately following a sentence, “The last outcome Pike River Coal needs is a safety failure,” again would you not have expected that specific recommendation to be drawn to your attention as general manager of mines?

A. Not necessarily, the fact that Miles had said so, no, as I said I've got – this report is going to a technical services manager, there was a mine manager on site and there was a operations manager above him, both extremely experienced and Doug with 30 years and an inspector level qualification, those men are very, very capable of managing the operational needs.  Someone making a statement in a report that says the last thing the mine needs is a safety failure, well, I'm sure with all due respect you could write that same comment yourself in a report, it’s an obvious statement.  The comment I think more links to also the not wanting a continuous miner to trip off.  That is a problematic one from rib emissions because it’s not inferring that you would have a gas event at the face.  What it is saying is as the roadway is being developed that the incremental emissions coming off the ribs, just from that residual gas, has actually polluted the roadway to the point where the mine has tripped off on one and a quarter percent methane and therefore the only way to remedy that would be to introduce more air into the roadway, but if you're relying on an auxiliary fan, which is already running at full capacity, then you're left with a few options, which is probably put two fans ventilating that roadway.  The fact that the miner trips in the first place is what it is supposed to do, so it’s not saying that there was an explosive mixture of gas, it’s just saying its reached its lower limit at one and a quarter.  The fact that it needs the pipeline, I was well aware of that so I don’t think they would need to bring to my attention that a consultant had told us that.  I was well aware that that’s the action they were taking.

Q. The second of the three reports was dated 22 July 2010, it’s document DAO.012.02419.  Was this report drawn to your attention?

A. No.  All three reports by Mr Brown to my knowledge and recollection were not brought to my direct attention, in other words I wasn’t sent a copy of the Brown report or the Drive Mining report, nor was I given a copy to read, nor was I given a precis of it or any other summary of it to say here’s what he said.  It may well have come up that during operational meetings or management meetings that some of the findings from these things were minuted, if that’s the case I don’t recall them specifically, they were one more report and one more activity that was happening at the mine, so no, I don’t recall specifics of this report either.
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Q. If we look on page 4, three paragraphs from the bottom, it was noted that at this time in July 2010, “Mining is currently planned in the first production unit along B heading.  This production will intersect with the gas drainage holes shortly.  Unfortunately these holes are pressurised with an expected high gas flow to be allowed into the development miner.  The holes in question need to be depressurised by allowing the gas and water to escape to atmosphere.”  To your knowledge was that statement correct at the time in July 2010?

objection:  MS SHORTALL (14:10:38)

MS SHORTALL:
Your Honour I wonder if I could just interject just for one moment.  I think 
Mr Whittall has made it quite clear that he hasn’t seen these documents before.  No one reported back to him about them so I’m just wondering about the utility of leading him through what – I'm not sure where Mr Mount is going but perhaps through three reports that he’s testified didn’t rise to his level at an operational level in the company so I just wanted to note that.

THE COMMISSION:

Are you asking us to disallow –

MR SHORTALL:
Well I'm wondering whether this line of questioning is going to be useful with this witness Your Honour.  I don't know that he’s the right person to answer these questions.

THE COMMISSION:
We are dealing in this contextual phase with the conception and development of the mine through to the 19th of November.  Mr Whittall is the only witness who can speak at this point on behalf of Pike.  He held a very senior position at the relevant time and one might have thought that some of these aspects would've been, if not directly reported to him by the report writer, at least drawn to his attention, so the Commission is going to allow the questions to be asked.  Mr Whittall is well able to indicate if he has difficulty in answering them for the reasons you've identified but we don't consider there’s any reason why they should not be put.

cross-examination continues:  mr mount

Q. The question I think was whether that sentence reflected the position, to your knowledge, in July 2010?

A. It’s difficult to answer because I don't know what B heading it’s talking about so maybe if I could see the context of the report.  It’s only one paragraph, there’s several B headings in the mine and I don't know which bore hole it was going to intersect or what its status of that bore hole was so.

Q. I think you've got the full page in front of you there.  I'm not sure whether that helps you at all with context?

A. If you don't mind I’ll just read the rest –

Q. Certainly.

A. – of it and I’ll see if it does.  Underground inspection finding 1.1 or number, paragraph number 1 refers to the development face in panel 1B heading and the returns which is at the bottom north C heading.  It then, outside of those numbered bullet points, then says, “Mining is currently planned in the first production unit along B heading.”  I can only assume he’s referring to the same B heading up the top as there’s no other B mentioned in the report so I'm assuming it’s the B heading of panel one.  It’s the only conclusion I could draw unless there’s a plan associated with this report.

THE COMMISSION:

Q. Would it help, Mr Whittall, to refer to one or more of your mine plans just to explain what area you understand that to be?

A. I could do that, Your Honour, yes.
cross-examination continues:  mr mount

Q. I think possibly page 11 might assist you if you can turn to page 11.

A. Yes, so my understanding from this report of where Mr Brown is talking about is the right-hand heading in the blue area, just to the right of the blue area called - the words B heading are associated with it and the holes he’s talking about intersecting are those red lines that are running through the words “B heading”.
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Q. So based on your knowledge of what was happening at the mine in July 2010, was Mr Brown’s statement on page 4 correct, that production would intersect those lines?

A. Yes, yes.  And they are an example.  By illustration it’s probably a good drawing to illustrate the concept I was giving to you before as to whether you'd want to hose a hole over or just block it.  You can see on the virgin side, which is to the left side of that roadway, they would be driven.  They are quite long, several hundred metres long.  So you would want to keep those on drainage for a long time.  So the intersection of those holes, where possible you would look to hose them over from one side of the roadway to another.

Q. If we go back to page 4, two paragraphs from the bottom there's the comment, “Overall,” and Mr Brown said, “Gas make is greater than riser and pipeline capacity.  Water management of the pipeline system is not consistently maintained.”  Now again I take it those comments were not drawn to your attention?

A. No.  As I understood in line with the previous comments about whether the four inch pipeline was capable of handling it, that the issue was that they were looking to do two things.  One was change out the size of the pipeline in the mine, and also to put gas from some of these holes into the return and maintain the returns up around the .8 to 1%.  So I understand that that’s what that is.  Again, was that drawn to my attention?  I don't know whether it was specifically drawn to my attention.  Mr Brown had made that observation in his report.  I can say that that wasn't brought to my attention, but was I aware that the pipeline was at or near capacity and that they were using the return to take the balance of the gas while they replaced the pipeline, yes I was aware that that was a strategy that the technical and operations team were using.

Q. Is the position that in May, Mr Brown had said that a new riser was required within three months with 10 inch diameter, and at the date of this report, 22 July, that had not happened?

A. One thing I would say is using your earlier mathematics that we’d been achieving 32% of development, I think you could say that therefore that would take nine months to achieve the same amount of development that Mr Brown might have thought was going to be achieved in the next three months.  So these things are not chronologically time-dependent, they're activity dependent and therefore within three months of when he was doing that inspection with the current forecast mine plan, he would have looked at where the mine plan was going to be and said, I'm assuming even though I'm being asked to interpret what Mr Brown was saying, that he would have looked about where the mine would be adding three months’ time and would have said, “Well, by the time you get to that point I think you'll need this other riser in,” but the reality being that development rates and at that stage we were just coming out to the other side of the graben and starting to get established on the west and they were the very first driveage to the right, still very, very slow, still a lot of haulage with load-haul-dumps and his three months chronologically recorded, would have taken a lot longer to achieve the same amount of development.  And nine months from that time was well past November.  So it may not have, even by November the 19th, have achieved the mine development that Mr Brown was referring to needing to achieve in three months back in May.

Q. Certainly a 10 inch riser had not been installed by the date of this report in July?

A. I know the only riser that I'm aware of, well I know the only riser we had was the one adjacent to the Slimline shaft.

Q. On page 5 of the report, and there are three numbered points, the second of which is a reference to a reading of gas in the shaft at 7.30 am of 0.96% and the underviewer was asked to investigate, and the comment was made, “The future requirement for any planned release of methane to the return requires a written instruction for the mining supervisor.”  Can you tell us from your knowledge of gas drainage, why there is an issue about the release of methane into the return?
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A. Methane in the return per se is not the issue, it’s the percentage of methane in the returns.  Again, if you doubled your ventilation quantity you would halve the percentage so it’s the percentage of methane that’s the issue, not the volume.  So if you were going to be in an uncontrolled manner, uncontrolled being by an unauthorised person who didn’t understand the ramifications of what they were doing, were to be going to release methane into the return then you would run the risk of potentially putting the methane level above 1% if there was machines already operating in there but they would alarm and you’d withdraw them, or above 2 % where men might have been working in there.  So having methane in the return is not the issue, it’s the volume, well it’s the percentage of methane in the return that’s the issue.

Q. To your knowledge was there any system at Pike requiring a written instruction for the mining supervisor before releasing methane into the ventilation return?

A. No, I have no knowledge of that, that would be a mine manager’s instruction and not something I was aware of.

Q. On page 10 of the report there’s a comment that relates to the possible commencement of panel one production, and you can see that highlighted passage there I think.  Mr Brown said, “Commencing panel one production would financial benefits for the mine however managing expected gas omissions needs to be understood using the current ventilation quantity for the mine and the current four inch gas drainage pipeline it will be difficult to maintain expected production rates due to the gas level at the shaft.”  From your knowledge of the gas drainage systems at the mine is that statement correct?

A. I can’t qualify the statement one way or the other.  I suppose what I should add is if I was the mine manager of an operation, which I have been on a number of occasions, these matters if I was dealing with them aren’t the sort of matters I would raise to my boss either.  So I have no concern that this wasn’t raised to me by the operational managers, they were dealing with it, and if they’re dealing with it to their satisfaction then I was comfortable that was their job.  So in this case Mr Brown is making a statement to say what a potential could be, which is what his role as a consultant is and he’s raising what potential hazards would be there.  I would expect the receiver of this report to take appropriate action to ensure that gas levels in all roadways are maintained to statutory levels, that’s their job.

Q. And on page 14 of the report, at paragraph 4.2, Mr Brown said, “A solution for short term gas drainage improvement is to replace the current four inch line with a 12 inch line and utilise the current fresh air riser as the gas riser until a new 12 inch riser is drilled and installed. A 12 inch is selected due to availability and any pipe greater than 10 inch would have large benefits.”  Again, I take it that recommendation was not drawn to your attention?

A. No, I think the fact that even Mr Brown is talking about solutions for short term et cetera, these are ideas and these are recommendations that would’ve been no doubt discussed with the appropriate onsite personnel.  Certainly the concept of 12 inch, I’ve used both 18 inch and 24 inch gas pipelines in mines I’ve managed with much larger loadings than what Pike was able to generate, volumetrically, so he’s right, 12 inch would be better than 10 inch.  It’s heavy pipe to hang up, it’s reasonably readily available.  Takes up a lot of room and it’s quite a physical difficulty for operational guys to try and hang a 12 inch pipe.  You need a lot of chain blocks and they’re not light.  So it’s not an easy decision to say, “I think we’ll just throw up a 12 inch pipe,” it’s a big job, take up a lot of room.  Two six inch pipes is actually better than a 12 inch pipe in that regard.  But I’m not aware that that was a particular recommendation or that the management of the mine were leaning one way or another actually.  No I’m not aware of that.

Q. And if we look on page 17, paragraph 5.  Perhaps if we look at the whole page so that we can see the diagram as well.  Mr Brown said that the following diagram highlights an inseam gas drainage hole which has been unfortunately grouted at the standpipe end only?

A. Yes.
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Q. Are you able to help us understand that?

A. Yes that was a poorly thought out exercise, it’s a nice long hole and it was GBH, I can't remember what the  -

Q. – ’08 I think it says?

A. Yes, it’s ’08, I'm just trying to think what the G stood for but it was one of the underground directional bore holes anyway.  The bore hole has got a number of branches, you can see the lines quite, it looks like it’s been fretted so they’re all diversions within the hole.

Q. Sorry Mr Whittall, perhaps if you could use the pointer just to show us on the diagram where?

A. The hole has been drilled from down here.

Q. The bottom right corner?

A. Down in the bottom right hand corner of the road and it was – it’s important to note it was drilled somewhat opposite this cut-through here, this one with the number 4 above it.

Q. Just pausing there.  We might zoom in on this to make it a bit easier to see.

A. That would be easier, thank you.  It’s even easier.  So, you can see the red line emanates from – originates from a point back just outbye for cut-through in a heading of the mains.

Q. Just pausing there.  I'm not sure we’ve had a definition of inbye and outbye for the uninitiated yet, so when you say just outbye is that meaning back towards the surface?

A. Yes, that’s good enough, inbye is towards the coalface, outbye is away from the coalface.

Q. So you're indicating here at the bottom right hand corner of the diagram?

A. Correct.

Q. I'll let you continue, I'm sorry, I just wanted to clarify that term.

A. That’s fine, so the mine has been heading uphill from right to left, from the bottom right hand corner of the diagram to the top left hand corner.  So, the drill stub, that place was originally only drilled past three cut‑through far enough for those drillers to go in there and there was a little niche put into the side of the road where the drill rig was set up, a Valley Longwall rig was set up there.

Q. Pausing there.  Where you're indicating at the moment is just above the word, “North,” at the bottom right hand corner?

A. That's correct, about halfway between the three and four cut-throughs, the cut-through being the road between the two main headings, A heading and B heading.  So, a number of holes were drilled from there, originally to help define the graben structure through that area.  Eight was a very successful hole, you can see it’s gone a long way, it’s gone out through the graben, gone out into the coal in the other side and kept on going with a lot of branches in it.  It’s actually the same bore hole that was used in my submission and also Dr Newman put it up by way of description for inseam drilling, so it went through a lot of structure you'll recall, and it also had quite a number of branches, you may also recall.  What it had was quite broken ground down around the entrance to the hole, where they first drilled it.  It became quite difficult to manage the gas in and about the drill rig because the strata around the bore hole itself was broken and was bleeding back out around the bore hole where the guys were drilling so we had a lot of ventilation up around that area and I recall going in and inspecting that site myself on a number of occasions because the drills were actually there for quite a long time, a month, two months, something like that.  They did quite a lot of drilling from that place.  So the ground there was quite broken so we had to put a lot of grout into the strata around there and that was the role of our geologist’s, some of the drillers themselves are all quite competent in that activity so they were managing that process, and the site manager, underviewers and deputies would inspect that to make sure it’s being maintained in a good manner.  So, it was done and managed quite well when they did the work, however we then needed to advance the place past there, and so we pulled the rig out and this roadway had to be advanced past it but because they’d drilled quite shallow to the –

Q. Sorry Mr Whittall, just have to talk these into the record.  So, when you say this roadway it’s?

A. So in the A heading of, which is the lowest road in the diagram, I'll get used to talking in a direct order at some stage I'm sure, the roadway that’s at the bottom of the diagram which when we had to extend the road past where the drill was located, which is at the start of those number of holes there, then we moved the rig out, a piece of mining equipment went back in there and the fact that it’s in three cut-through it may well have been a drill and blast area of the mine.  I can't recall exactly what the conditions of the road there were, they may well have been sling coal, I can't recall.  So, that place was advanced but because the bore hole, which is that GBH8 that we’ve identified as being quite a long hole there, because it was very, very close to the coal rib or the rib of the roadway, that wall of the roadway, the gas was actually able to bleed back through the roads, into the road, so what they, as in the technical team and the Valley Longwall guys together would have looked at this solution, they decided to grout 100 or so metres of this bore hole to try to, I think they were going to try and grout the whole thing but they effectively whether they decided to or they only achieved it, they ended up grouting the first 50 or 100 metres of bore hole.  I can't really recall how far.  That was –
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Q. In lay terms would that basically involved filling it full of concrete or a substance similar to that?

A. Yeah, so what they would've done was put a mechanical packer of some sort, possibly a screw packer which is a long tube, you'd push it up the hole and then wind something and the, a bladder or something other mechanical device would inflate in the hole and block it and then you could pump grout into it and the grout wouldn't continue up the hole.  You’d actually have a solid plug of grout concrete, liquid concrete type stuff so it would, they would've grouted the first some distance.  I really don't recall how far, 50 to 100 metres something like that.  That was a great solution in the short-term and possibly the best that they could achieve so it wasn’t that they made a bad decision that just was a difficult outcome because the ground was so, quite broken around that area but what that meant was you then had an open hole that went from here all the way up to the top so from the bottom right-hand corner past wherever they got the grouting done to, right up to the full length of the hole was now open and it would've just equalised, pressure wise to the surrounding area so it wasn’t high pressure hole it was just the same gas as the coal.  It can't pressurise any more than the local seam, but what did it mean was that if we wanted to intersect it again then you would be intersecting a hole that was only partially grouted.  Now in itself that’s not that big a concept because it’s no different than if you’d actually had to intersect it well back down here at the entrance to the hole.  You would've had all of this length of the hole above it as virgin bore hole but the longer the hole is on the virgin side then it’s going to be a higher gas volume and it’s going to allow immediately a lower pressure along the length of that so right along the length of the hole you'll have gas bleeding into that hole which will make its way into the working so when the mine plan was to turn the corner and go east to west in this plan and go back into the main west headings by the time, as you can see on this plan, it would've achieved five cut-through B heading then it would've intersected, potentially intersected this other end of the bore hole which would've then had gas from the further of the bore hole, another couple of hundred metres plus right back down to its full length so you would've had a six or 700 metres bore hole emptying gas into the face so it’s quite an issue, potentially quite an issue depending on the permeability so one of the things that they had to take into account was how they were going to do this.  They looked at the number of solutions and I was aware of this dilemma that the technical team was going through, whether they’d relocate a drill rig back down to the entrance to the hole and try and re-drill it.  That was problematic because it was on the main road and whether they’d relocate another smaller rig they actually looked off this plan down to the south of this plan to get a smaller rig to drill up and pierce the hole which is a common technique.  You can use a small rotary rig and you just drill out and you roughly know where the horizon is and you try and just intersect the hole, even if you get it within a half an inch the pressure will blow out and you just form a new connection and you can just start draining off that point.  They weren’t able to do that because of that road then being used as a return.  They couldn't operate in there so they decided to work out how they were going to intersect the hole from the other end and, as I said, it’s not an uncommon one it’s just reasonably uncommon at Pike so it was a first time that they were going to intersect quite a long hole, not a lot a different to the one you first asked me about in B heading when we first started this, looking at this report.  Again you're intersecting a bore hole that’s across the road.  The best thing for the mining team is if someone will go and drill a hole into it first and take the pressure away.  If they don't then the mining operational team have to deal with it at the coalface.

Q. Just to make sure we’re orientated to this.  Can we go back to PW28 and are you able to show us on that plan the area that we’ve just been looking at?

A. Yes, it’s down here just near the words, “auxiliary fan,” so we were down in three cut-through I think is actually this cut-through.

Q. And you indicated there –

A. This one where the red lines go across where it goes up to the R for regulator so the first cut-through there is three cut-through.  I'm pretty sure if you put the other one back up you'll see that that first angle to cut-through is four cut-through.

Q. Just pausing there again.   We need just to talk this in.  So there is a roadway or you've referred to it as a cut-through to the right of the words, “auxiliary fan,” with the red arrows which I think mean return ventilation going through.

A. The red arrows are the return ventilation, yes.
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Q. And just zoomed in on that area.  This might be a good moment if you haven’t explained it already.  Just to the right of the word, “fan” after “auxiliary,” we can see a red arrow going across what looks like a bridge.  Could you just explain, if you haven’t already, how that functions in terms of the ventilation system?

A. No I haven’t explained what an overcast is before, but that’s an overcast.  It’s not a bad way of describing it as a bridge.  It’s actually two walls or it can be a box.  In this case the – it’s just a device whereby you split the air across one intersection.  So in this case the blue arrow is the intake air and it’s going through a tunnel or underneath the bridge if you like and continuing up that roadway.  Whereas the red air, the return air, is going over the top of it.  Now in effect, what that is is there will be a wall there as well on both sides, but it doesn't go all the way to the roof, so it’s basically a box built into the roadway and is sealed on either side of it to the left and right, that way and there, and this air comes up, goes up and over the roof of it and down the other side and continues on, and in here the air goes underneath.  So that’s called an overcast.  Were it to be built the other way, where you dig a trench and build a false floor, it would be called an underpass but they're less effective.  They're good if you've got a big coal floor.  You can dig them out easily, but they fill up with water and overcast is far more productive.

Q. So just so that we're clear.  If you were coming through from right to left as someone in the mine, you would just walk through? 

A. You'd walk straight through and you'd go through.  That would be a -  Instead of a – you would go from a coal roof here, you'd walk under a steel roof structure and then you’d be back under a coal roof again and rather than walking through an intersection, you've walked through a box with two walls and a roof basically.   

Q. On the other hand, the overcast, going from bottom to top where the red arrow, that’s just for air I take it.  You couldn't go through there as a person with a vehicle or anything of that sort?

A. Oh, as a person you would.  Usually there's a door in them usually.  So if you want to go, if you're just walking and you're happy to go through it, you can actually go out of the door, into the roadway and back in the other door usually.  Often there's only the one door, which is most likely, and then there's a bridge or like a ramp or a ladder that some pits have either.  If they've built it out of a really thick seam, then you can actually ramp the road up and over, come back and excavate the overcast out so you end up with a natural coal walkway up and over the overcast.  So if you're walking along the road in the direction of these red arrows you would variously either come to a - in this case you would actually come to a steel wall and there’d be a ladder beside it and ultimately we probably would have built ramps in there if it was going to be a long term egress route.

Q. Now just to make sure –

THE COMMISSION: 

Mr Mount, I actually notice in one of the glossaries there is both a definition and a diagrammatic depiction of an overcast.

MR MOUNT:

I'm grateful for that.  Thank you, sir.
cross-examination continues:  MR MOUNT

Q. Just to make sure we are fully oriented, I think it’s possible to have this cut-out alongside the diagram you were looking at a moment ago?

A. That would be helpful, thank you.

Q. Now we may be unable to zoom in quite in the way that I imagined.

A. No that’s sufficient.  I think if I can orientate from one to the other and then possibly we could go back to the larger plan.  Would that be okay?

Q. Yes.

A. So the bore hole 8 is this long one at the top.  And if you're looking at the top picture, the red lines that run up the side of the roadway.  And it’s emanating from a point half way between the lowest cut-through in that roadway, in this picture sorry.

Q. I'm sorry to interrupt you Mr Whittall.  We're just about to move to a slightly better diagram I think.  Slightly easier to see.

A. All right.  So in this left-hand picture which is the one from the drive mining document, you can see that bore hole 8 emanates from partway between three cut-through and four cut-through, the perpendicular one and the angled one being four, and over on the other drawing that three cut-through is the one that now has the ventilation in it and four is the first of the angled cut-throughs.  So that the bore hole from the drive document, which shows it, is about equivalent to where the word, “Fan,” is in the auxiliary fan, in the PW28 plan.
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Q. Thank you.  So if we go back to the drive mining report, page 17 and the paragraph above the diagram.  Mr Brown I think was explaining the potential risk that arose from continuing with the continuous miner through the area with the bore hole.  Is that a fair summary?

A. Yes.  Yes, he’s talking about the piercing that I was discussing earlier.

Q. We’ll just go back to the whole paragraph, both the big one and the small one?

A. So the point that I made before which is it should be noted that a long hole, I’m reading from the sentence in the middle of the paragraph, should be noted the long hole which is not blocked, ie flowing freely, poses the same risk but not the same magnitude.  So it’s the fact that it was blocked at one end there’s nothing different to had that just been the virgin end of the hole.  Yes, I’ve read the paragraphs.

Q. All right.  Well from your knowledge of the system Mr Brown’s comments in this paragraph, an accurate summary of the position?

A. Yes, it would be much more preferable to pierce the hole prior to mining through it if you had that option to do so, that’s not always the case but if you could that’ll be great.

Q. If we turn now to the third of Mr Brown’s reports, DAO.012.02524, you’ll see from the cover page that it’s dated 20 September 2010.  Were you shown this report at any stage?

A. No sir I wasn’t.  It’s one of the three reports I’m aware that Mr Brown did and I was aware of that subsequent to the 19th of November.  I was aware he was doing reports but I was never shown this report, no.

Q. To your knowledge, by the time of this report in September of 2010, had the earlier recommendations to increase the size of the riser to either 10 inches or 12 inches been implemented?

A. I don’t think the riser had changed at all.  I think we talked before about putting in a new riser but no new riser had been put in.  And also the previous recommendations to install larger pipelines leading to the riser I’ve also said that I’m not aware of what the status of that replacement system was.

Q. From page 7 of the report and under the heading 4.0, “Short Term Tasks,” Mr Brown identified 17 tasks to allow Pike River Coal Technical Services Department to increase the performance of the gas drainage system as the new mine plan is formed and numerous new holes are drilled for that mine plan.  He says the tasks are not in any order of priority.  I want to refer to just one of the 17, which is the last on page 11 of the report.  Outburst management, if we zoom in on that section.  Mr Brown said, “This topic is still of great concern.  There has been no outburst threshold value set for this mine.  Ongoing coring and data transfer with Geogas is a must.  It is impossible to estimate what the DRI900 level will be.  
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Q. All efforts need to be made to transfer all spreadsheets, formulae and data from the recent cores to Geogas so that an estimate of DRI900 value can be attained.  Once that is done an outburst management plan can be created.”  He goes on to say, “The recent 8.3 cubic metres per tonne alongside panel 1 was of concern.”  Are you able to help us to interpret what that section is referring to?

A. The concept of an outburst is where there's a high level of gas inherent in the coal seam and it’s prevented from draining naturally through the pile of permeable coal into the roadway by some structure and its usually what's called a gassy occlude as opposed to an aquiclude so it prevents gas from, occludes gas from transmitting through it.  Typically in mines a gas occlude would be a strike slip fault where you get quite a lot of friction and you build up a very, very fine layer of coal or if it’s broken material that’s not an issue, but if it’s very finely ground powdered coal called mylonite then that can act as a gas occlude against that fault and as you mine up towards that area for example the gas that’s in front of you which is all eight and a half cubic metres per tonne for example, will gradually drain down so as you're mining it it might only be two or three and right at the head, but because this structure is in front of you or off to the side or some other oblique position, the gas behind it remains at 8.5 so you can't tell that the gas is not dissipating until you get to a point where the distance between the cutting face and that virgin gas content is reduced to a point where the energy stored in the gas is able to burst that coal layer through, depending on the volume of gas and the pressure its stored at which is, I'll come to that, is depending on the relationship between those two, that might be several metres or it might be half a metre, I mean it’s quite variable, it depends on the gas content to pressure ratio.  The outburst threshold is therefore set quite, certainly historically it’s been set with quite empirical data, in other words no one’s ever had an outburst at this level so therefore it must be safe and we’ve had lots of outbursts at this level so it must be unsafe and therefore you put a line in through there and say that’s your outburst threshold.  That does vary from coal seam to coal seam and coal area to coal area in mines I've worked and, sorry, it also changes with gas content.  Cardon dioxide is far more outburst prone than methane so for example, the one I'm most familiar with is say the Bulli seam in New South Wales, the outburst threshold limit is nine cubic metres per tonne at 95% methane, is as you go down to say 5% methane and 95% carbon dioxide that threshold reduces to five so anything above five cubic metres per tonne you can potentially have an outburst.  So the threshold, anything below 9 cubic metres per tonne there's been no history of ever having an outburst at that level.  The Bulli seam and above that, there's some barrier where there's not likely to be one in 9.1 and 9.5 but at some rate over that, you're likely to get potential for an outburst if other things are there, you'd have to have the same structure, you'd have to have all sorts of other things but because all of those have been taken into account empirically they’ve developed this, but I've never heard the term DRI900 level but I assume it to be a more modern way of doing analysis so you're not only relying on empirical data otherwise you have to wait until you've had a lot of outbursts before you can start developing that relationship, so there’ll be enough data I would imagine around in coal seams when they’re relevant to Pike and Brunner, I don't know.  Certainly the two seams I've worked at in the Illawara coalfields, both Bulli and the Wongawilli seam had different outburst threshold levels for them, even though the seams were one above the other and very different thresholds and just because the coal and the way the gas was stored et cetera was different.  So, in this case and Geogas did all that work with those men for many, many years, Geogas had done work at Pike as well so what Miles is saying is because the outburst – because the gas content of Pike was deemed to be sort of one bulls eye at 10 but generally sort of eight to four was the higher range, that was already below for methane the outburst threshold of, not just myself but the previous like AMC, Minarco et cetera outbursts had never been identified as a significant or even a mild threat at the Brunner seam.  
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A. There wasn’t, anecdotally there was no history of outbursts in a Brunner seam on the West Coast to my recollection although there was other people with a lot more knowledge of West Coast other coal mines than me but that’s not an area I'm aware of was a particular issue for the Brunner seam but Miles is making the point that because we didn’t have an outburst threshold uniquely determined for Pike and Miles Brown’s background is in mining areas that are more outburst prone he saw that as a risk that needed to be addressed and that we should address it specifically and that we should, I'm reading from this report I'm making this assumption, that he saw that as an issue that should be dealt with and we should address outbursts as a unique risk rather than addressing it generally as a risk of low likelihood and…

Q. Were you aware that he had described this as a topic of great concern?

A. No, I wasn’t aware that he’d made this report.  As I said, Miles and I know each other very well and he had not brought this to my attention directly like he hadn't had a concern and it wasn’t being addressed by 
Doug White or someone else and then thought, “Gee I better tell Peter about it,” and we often caught up if he was in Greymouth at the same time socially, but he didn’t raise this with me as an issue at all.  He’s putting it in his report but he hasn’t seen it as significant enough to raise it with me separately to the mine management.

Q. I think we can see on page 4 and page 5 of this report that Mr Brown attended for a site visit between 14 and 17 September 2010.  It looks as if it was a four day visit?

A. Yes, that would be typical.

Q. Do you know whether you spoke with him during that visit?

A. I'd have to refer to my diary.  Even if I was on site, good chance the most I would do is say, “Hi,” as he walked past.  There was often very little time in my diary for doing much else at work but I don't recall whether I specifically saw him on that occasion or not.

Q. Of course you now know that he had recommended back in May that a new riser be obtained within three months.  Clearly by this time he would've hoped that that would've happened I take it.  You're saying that this was never drawn to your attention?

A. No, I was aware through Pieter van Rooyan and also Doug and operational meetings that a gas riser was planned to be done.  Where I don't know, but just generally I know that Pieter was working on plans with his assistant Greg Borichevsky to work out where they would put these gas risers, where they could be drilled from the surface and we’re developing a plan for that.  As I explained before Miles in May talking about a three month period would be still operationally constrained as to where the mine would be at in three months’ time and if the mine was not at that point where he thought it needed to be done I’m not sure that he is, whether he said, you've read these reports obviously in more detail than I have, as to whether he’s then repeated that same recommendation in the subsequent, in this particular last report and made any comment about the fact that it hadn’t been done.  I'm not sure.

Q. The comments that have been highlighted in this report about the need for improvements in the gas drainage system, would you have expected those comments to be drawn to your attention as general manager mines?

A. The need for the increased pipeline I understand it was drawn to my attention and I was aware that that was being worked on.  The need for another riser I was aware of and I was aware that was being planned and being worked on.  The fact that a consultant that we’ve engaged ourselves as part of our normal operations rather than bringing someone in to do an independent audit if you like, he is independent and he is doing an audit as such but he’s someone we engage like a ventilation or a strata control we have a number of people that supplement our internal team’s expertise in a number of technical areas.  The fact that he makes certain recommendations or other things, unless the operations manager or the mine manager at the time of September it was the same position, unless that person deemed the recommendations to either be of great concern to him or he was unable to resource the activity or he had concerns that he would have to stop production for example or, which would be the alternative, he wouldn't have concerns that he would be increasing the or decreasing the safe working of the mine because I would expect him to just deal with that aspect of it, in other words if you can't make it safe you would stop, but if he felt that he couldn't make it safe he would stop.  
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A. But if he felt that he couldn't make it safe and continue production, then that's something I would definitely expect him to draw to my attention.  But I wouldn't normally expect him to say, “Listen, Miles has just put his report in.  This is what he says and this is what I'm going to do about it.”  Different managers operate differently.  But in Mr White’s case I think it would be more within his character to take that report, discuss it with Mr Van Rooyan and get on and do something about it and probably not tell me what specifically had been done or recommended.

Q. We'll turn now to the topic of gas monitoring, and you've already described for us in some detail the system in place at Pike and you told us that’s a real-time system, is that right? 

A. Correct.

Q. Perhaps if we put PW28 back up on the screen.  This is a diagram you've told us of the mine, showing the location of the various gas sensors within the mine?

A. As I understand it, yes.

Q. Can you tell us what particular gases were being measured in the mine?

A. From this diagram it shows a number of different sensors.  It shows a CH4 sensor, a number of CH4 sensors which is methane, there's a number of those around pit bottom and there's one up in the A heading of the hydro panel up towards the top of the plan.  It says “CH4 sensor”.  There's also carbon monoxide being monitored, which is the CO sensor.  So the two primary gases.  The monitoring stations I would expect, although it probably doesn't say it on here, would also have been monitoring oxygen and probably some velocities as well, but essentially methane, carbon monoxide and free oxygen in the air.

Q. The plan shows one carbon monoxide sensor towards the top of the page.  I think you've referred to it as one of the headings for the hydro panel?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Was that the only carbon monoxide sensor?

A. I'm not aware.  I actually understood that we had some carbon monoxide sensors installed in association with the substation which is SS002 on the right-hand side of the pit bottom area, but I'm not aware.  It doesn't say so on the plan.  I was under the understanding that there was a CO sensor there as well, but I'm not sure.  There may be a CO sensor at the entrance.  There would be a CO sensor at the entrance to the tunnel as well because you'd be checking for the freshness of the air as it immediately enters the mine so I would imagine at the portal area there would be a search for, if not a search for, given that we wouldn't expect any gas to be there, but at least a CO sensor as well.

Q. You told us that there were both handheld gas detectors and machine-mounted gas sensors.  Is that right? 

A. That's correct.

Q. And also some that were located within the mine.  Neither handheld nor machine-mounted, is that right? 

A. That's the ones we’ve been just talking about?

Q. Yes.

A. The sensors that we're just talking about, so the three types are the handheld, mounted or remote if you like.

Q. Was it possible for anybody to override any of those three types of gas sensor?

A. Well the handheld ones you could turn it off as that would override it, but it was there as a personal safety device so that would be nonsensical because you actually take it out off your belt and use it so it’s there for you to check gas so you can't adjust its settings if you like.  That would be something an electrician on the surface would do, have to take the thing apart.  But you can certainly turn it off.  The one that’s on the machine, certainly you can operate the machine and bypass.  We can bypass the gasguard system.  Sometimes you need to, but it has to be done.  It’s locked out, so it has to be done with a deputy’s key.  So a mining official, someone who would be responsible for the safety of the place and is qualified to test for gas has a key to the gasguard.  So it’s normally put in a normal operation mode and then the lock is placed on it.  So the only way you can put it into bypass is if the deputy unlocks it and puts it into bypass.  The sensors, which are just sensors locating the roadways, there's nothing to bypass with those ones.  They just are there and they're a detector head, reporting back electronically via the fibre optic to the SCADA system on the surface or wherever else they're reporting to.
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Q. We’ve already seen reference to a tube-bundle system?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you able to tell us what the particular advantages are of a
tube-bundle system as opposed to having simply a real time system?

A. An interesting point.  I think they both have their advantages and not, I’m sure many years ago, and I’ve heard lots of stories of people who had this discussion long and hard when they’re sitting for their manager’s exams as to which was the best system to have in their mine.  But I think the common acceptance in the industry has come that it would be most mines would have gas in them, would have both systems as a standard.  They’ve both got particular needs.  The real time, I think in my brief, I describe the real time as being very good for immediate response, especially around electrical installations, conveyors.  We only had the one conveyor underground, the drive end was on the surface so it wasn’t quite as important.  But typically when you have a driving installation underground you’d have carbon monoxide sensor adjacent to the drive because that would pick up a fire a heating very quickly, elements of combustion.  So that would immediately alarm that you had a fire or potential fire starting and you could address that immediately.  Other real time sensors are things like the ones on your continuous miner but they are, they’re locally operated so they actually trip that machine off.  To report back to the surface you’re really looking at things with a real time monitor that you can address immediately.  So if you had to default between one or the other, especially in the early stages of a development or whatever, I would default to real time.  The real time is more complex, more expensive, it’s electronic, so you’re running quite expensive detector heads.  A detector head might be worth, I don’t know, $10,000 for one head.  So you’re going measure CH4 for at one point, cost you $10,000 just for the head alone and they do get damaged and they do get polluted by high levels of moisture et cetera.  And a CO sensor would probably be the same, maybe a little bit less, maybe but there’s inflation I haven’t bought any for a few years but they’d be around the $10,000 mark I think wouldn’t be outside of reality.  So you wouldn’t want to run a whole mine on real time.  You’d have detector heads all over the place and it’d cost you a fortune and they’d be really high maintenance, but you could.  You could just run off full real time.  The only difficulty of real time is they’re not good for remote locations where you can’t get to.  And I’ll come back to the tube bundle how it works and why.  But the real time is best for actively accessible places where you want them to take immediate action and you want to know exactly what’s happening there and then.  And you can do something about what’s happened there and then otherwise there’s not much point knowing that you’ve got methane in the return at a certain level that you need to know immediately and you can’t do anything about it.  So real time is good for where you need to take action, especially carbon monoxide.  The tube bundle system is a completely different concept.  Tube bundles are bundles of tubes.  They’re about six to eight millimetres inside diameter, of that order of nature, maybe a little bit bigger, maybe 10 millimetres, I’m not sure.  For longer runs you just buy a bigger tube.  They’re usually colour coded so that you might have all your red ones, you can choose whatever colour scheme you want.  You might have all the red ones going to one part of the mine, all the blue ones going to another part of the mine, just makes them easier, they look like spaghetti, it’s really quite complex.  If you get a big tube bundle system for a mine you might have 40 or 50 of these small tubes all coming back in big bundles, which makes them quite prone to damage, you know, if you hit them with a machine you’ve stuffed the whole system, they just get breaks in them.  So that’s quite problematic.  The big advantage of them however is for quite a low cost, because it’s just plastic tubes and they just sit there for years without a lot of maintenance, they do get little holes in them occasionally, but you can monitor lots and lots of different places around the mine.  But the way they work is they’ve got a little pump on the surface, sits on a bank of tubes coming in, and each individual tube by its very nature, because you want to know what’s happening at the sample point, has to come into its own sampling port.  So if you’ve got 50 tube bundles you need 50 ports coming into the side of the building.  And then you have a little pump that switches between each port and sucks on it for an amount of time.  And so there’s constant pressure but the little controller goes to each of those ports and samples for, I don’t know, 10, 15 seconds until it gets a clean sample and sends it to the analyser and then it changes to the next sample point, and the next sample point.  
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A. The actual sample from where it is, you know, because I've worked in mines that are eight, nine, 10 kilometres in that might take 45 minutes, an hour, an hour and a half for that sample to get just physically all the way from the place where it’s sampling it all the way to the surface and then it’s got to go on the cycle, so it might only cycle that point every 20 minutes or so, if it’s sampling every 30 seconds it might take 20 minutes to get back to that one.  So, it’s not an immediate response but it’s fantastic for your returns where you just want to look at trends, you want to know what's been happening in there in the last 24 hours, last 48 hours, what's been happening over a week because all of that data is collected electronically so you can look at trends.  It’s very good for remote locations where no one goes to very often, where things aren't serviced all the time, or even on the other side of seals and we talked before about what the difference between a seal and stopping is but I'm talking about real seals when you've actually, in our case, a good example if I use the plan that’s on the board at the moment.  We’ll extract this panel, the panel being the first of the hydro panels, it will come down to probably within about 40 or 50 metres of that roadway and then a seal will be put across that road, the A heading and another seal put across the B heading and then that will be a locked away area.  Okay, so it’s just –

Q. Pausing, we’ll just talk that in again.

A. Okay.

Q. You've indicated from the hydro panel which on PW28 is closest to the words, “Waratah guzzler,” and then you've come down with the two road headings from that area towards the second road that that intersects?

A. Correct.  So, just to the north of the east/west facing heading where the arrow goes over the overcast, just north of there, back up the road say 30 metres, so on that plan about a quarter of the way to the next cut‑through, you would build a seal in both of those roadways and then the other side of that area, which is the rest of the panel would just remain and you'd call that a goaf, a sealed off goaf.  So, what you could do is put a tube bundle hose just through the seal as you're building it, pumping it full of concrete and then you can continue to monitor and suck samples of gas and you would know that the gas, that that goaf has gone in it so you would expect in this case it would go to about 100% methane and then stay there, but you can continue to sample that for years and you'll know that that goaf is sitting at 100% methane.  If it started to pick up some oxygen you'd know that the seal had cracked over time and you might go and repair it because it’d be starting to leak, leak air in through there or you might pick up CO, you'll probably go through a range of CO anyway because you expect there’ll be some oxidisation of your coal and it’ll generate some carbon monoxide, but then that will settle down and it should go to a neutral point, some parts per million and probably stay that way forever.  If it started to increase then you'd probably get that with some intended increase in oxygen whereby the goaf might be starting to heat and you'd pick up a heating behind the seal and know that you had a potential spontaneous combustion event.  You can't do that with real time monitoring, so that’s what the advantage of the tube bundle system is.  In real time for the hazards that Pike was dealing with, with such a small mine area and no active goaf or no sealed goaf then real time monitoring is by far the best system because we can see what's going on immediately and respond to it immediately, whereas if we’d had a tube bundle only, just if you can say one or the other, then you would've had a 30, 40 minute delay periods, you would've had tubes all over the place in a very busy area where they can get damaged much more easily and they would've been just sampling air out of the roadway, so they’re not as – you wouldn’t pick up any immediate, you could get a fire that would be going for 30 or 40 minutes before the tube bundle system said, hey, we’ve just detected CO.  Well, that’s not an acceptable system so the tube bundle is by far the, sorry, the real time monitoring is by far the best system to start with first but obviously tube bundles are an essential part of the mine safety system, but we just weren't there yet.

Q. What is a gas chromatograph?

A. A gas chromatograph is a piece of electronic equipment that takes gas samples and analyses the gas composition so the content is cubic metres per tonne, the gas composition is whether its methane, carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, hydrocarbons, it basically goes through an analysis, I don't know how, but you feed the gas in one side and numbers come out the other.

Q. Is there a gas chromatograph and tube bundle system currently at the mine?

A. Yes there is.  It was installed post the explosion to monitor the surface bore holes.

Q. And what was the position in terms of a tube bundle system and gas chromatograph prior to 19 November?
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A. Yeah, it was put into the 2010/11 budget  back in June under Mr White’s budget so it was approved to be purchased and the scheduled time in the June budget was for it to be purchased in, I think it was to be purchased in April 2011, and then we did a reforecast for the capital raising that you referred to earlier, the $70 million capital raising that you referred to earlier and when we redid that forecast in November I think we reforecast that budget, the tube bundle system was left at the same point in April 2011 so that was the plan.  My understanding from 
Mr White some time in November, and I don't know that I understood this in November, I think I've learnt this post.  I just sometimes forgotten what I've read when but I understand that he was in some discussions with the supplier in Australia to start scoping up the tube bundle system.  I had been approached by a bank that was looking to fund, because they knew that the tube bundle supplier had been talking to Doug and they wanted to know if we wanted to borrow money uniquely for that particular item and so I had some correspondence with them about that in November I think.

Q. When were those?

A. Yeah, November.

Q. In November?

A. Yeah, it was some time in November, that's right, so that made me aware that he was in discussions in scoping up the costs and everything else of that at that stage and I had some discussion with him about what he was up to and told him that this bank had been contacting me and he assured me at that stage that he was going through that process to scope up the tube bundle system and it was still on track to be on schedule with his budget which was the following April as far as I know.

Q. Did you have any discussions with Mr White or anyone else about obtaining the tube bundle system earlier than April 2011?

A. Not to my recollection.  In the original budget draft that Mr White put in back in May I think, so it wasn’t the approved budget, it was just where people just threw all their money in if you like and we didn’t, hadn't been phased at all so usually if they wanted it in 2010 they’d put it into July and if they wanted it in 2011 they’d put it into January so in his original budget in May, the draft, I think it was put in for January 2011 and then the natural iteration of budgets as they are, you go back over it a couple of times, and in his resubmission of his thing where he actually went through and phased it where he really wanted it rather than just throwing into the first period of each year his revised budget that actually went to the board was for April and that stayed that way.  As I said we did a full reforecast for the budget in November and we asked the managers to reforecast where they were at and his stayed in April so I don't recall it ever being asked to be brought forward or pushed back.

coMMISSION adjourns:
3.14 PM

 COMMISSION RESUMES:
3.30 PM

cross-examination continues:  MR MOUNT 

Q. As part of the planned tube-bundle system, was it intended that there would be a gas chromatograph at Pike?

A. Yes I understand so.

Q. I think you explained yesterday that the information or data from the real-time monitors in the mine are fed back to the control room at the mine site.  Is that correct? 

A. No, it’s not completely correct.  Some did, some didn't.

Q. Tell us in more detail where that information went?

A. Well as I understand it from the plan that we produced earlier, I think it was the PW28, and I hadn’t had these discussions with operational management prior to the 19th of November and then intentionally didn't have it with them after the 19th of November, so I can only understand the data from having read the plans myself.  There's a number of these sensors reported back to the surface via the - the word has escaped me – the SCADA system, via the SCADA system so we had a SCADA system on those computer screens we looked at in the picture yesterday.

Q. Just pausing you there.  That’s S-C-A-D-A is it?

A. Correct, capitals.  That’s an acronym.

Q. And I don't want to test you, but you don't happen to know what that stands for?

A. I happen to have my brief in front of me which tells me what it stands for.  Would you like me to read that out to you?

Q. It’s all right.  

A. It was in yesterday’s brief, yeah.  So it’s a data acquisition system basically.  So it can be used for a number of things.  In this case it was acquiring the data of the gas, but you can also use it to acquire data from the coal prep plant and other things, so it’s basically a system by which it takes digital data and converts them to a screen and does monitoring and trending et cetera.  So it’s a data conversion system, that’s what it is.  And we also had real-time monitors reporting back to other locations in the mine and as per that plan, PW28, it showed that a number of those in the return of the first hydro panel reported to the guzzler itself so that the operator could see the effects of operating the monitor on the gas make or the gas being expelled into the return so he could modify his operations.  So it was a real-time thing.  He could in real time see cause and effect of his operation on gas in the return.

Q. To your knowledge, did the computer system generate graphs over time so that you could see the trends?

A. Yes it did.  It didn't do it - so it was like the data was there.  You could graph the data if you wanted to.  You could also set up to put out graphs as screen ongoing, so it was just replacing new data with old data all the time – sorry old data with new data all the time and so you could have the screen set up to show your trending over the last hour or day or month or whatever level of detail you wanted to interrogate it, or you could go back into the historical data and generate graphs for printing out or for analysing which is, for example, what was done post the explosion for people to go back and interrogate the system to be able to have a look back, so it’s just historical data.

Q. To your knowledge, was it standard practice for the control room operator to have a screen showing a graph with the trending of gas?

A. That would be available to him.  Whether it was standard practice or not for the control officers at Pike to do that, I can't say, but that would be something that I would expect them to have.  One of the screens would have the real-time monitoring and potentially another screen would have some trending potentially on one of the points, but the control officer wasn't necessarily unless he - if he had an alarm, for example, that he might go back and start trending that point, but if he had other things he was looking at, it wouldn't be essential that he was constantly looking at trending.  That wouldn't be the control officer’s job.  

Q. Did you say that one of the methane sensors was at the top of the ventilation shaft?

A. One of the methane sensors was located just near the top of the ventilation shaft, correct, which is in the ventilation shaft, near the top but within it, yes.

Q. What level of methane at that point would you expect to be a cause for concern?

A. The return was set to ideally be running at less than 1% to 1¼% in that area.  As I said, it’s a great use for the return air to exhaust from the bore hole so you can get better pre-drainage, but you would want to keep it below 1%.  I'm not sure what the alarms were set out on that.  
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A. I would imagine they’d be set at 1¼, given that that would be the limit of what you would want going through your fans.  So if we were getting it at 1¼ it would alarm to say that you’ve gone over that.  Remedy explosive range starts at five so just spikes that go over 1¼ wouldn’t be cause for alarm, although you would want to investigate why you were having spikes.

Q. I think yesterday you referred to TARPS, T-A-R-P.  Could you just explain what a TARP is?

A. A TARP is another acronym for a trigger action response plan.  So a TARP would be put in place – TARPS, I became more familiar with, I think they were originally a Queensland terminology, wasn’t something I was familiar with in my previous roles in New South Wales as much but because we had a lot of Queenslanders came to work at Pike, or a number of them, TARPS tended to become the term that was used.  So we had the trigger action response plans for hazards so you’d put a trigger action response plan in for, gas is the easiest one, strata control’s a bit more complicated to explain, but you might have a trigger action response plan for gas that said, and they would be set out for different responsibilities, so a different page might be for the deputy, one for the interviewer, one for a mine manager.  It might set out the first trigger action is if the deputy picks up 1% in his return, this is what he has to d.  And then it might say at 1¼ this is what he has to do, and 2% that’s what he has to do, and this is who he has to notify and this is what action he has to take.  So they’re triggers and actions that he has to do to respond to the trigger.

Q. Would you expect there to have been a TARP to deal with greater than 1% methane showing at the top of the ventilation shaft?

A. Yes, I would expect there would be, part of a TARP within the ventilation management plan would be a response to gas levels in the mine.  A gas alarm.  Actually I think in the photo that I showed of the control room there was a TARP for just that purpose on the wall.

Q. It might be PW59?

A. So there’s acknowledgement of gas alarms.  One of the documents that’s right beside the control officer’s head.  That would be a, so there would be, I think you can see the word, “TARP,” in the green letters above the word, “Acknowledgment.”  So there is a TARP for the acknowledgement of gas alarms right at his fingertips.

Q. Now accept that of course you were not based at the mine site at the time of the first explosion but to your knowledge were all of the gas sensors working on the 19th of November?

A. I have absolutely no knowledge of what sensors were working or were even in place.  I asked for a plan some months later when people were talking about what sensors were there and what weren’t there and the plan was generated for me that actually showed the sensors on it.  Before that I don’t recall seeing a plan that had those sensors marked on it.  That wasn’t a function of whether I worked there or not, that wasn’t a function of my role and whether I would normally look at that detail.

Q. Is barometric pressure a relevant thing to measure in a mine?

A. It depends on the mine very much.  I know Mr Bell talked about it the other day and it’s something as a mining official, a deputy, and under manager, all my career, always take an account of barometric pressure.  We used to have an old hand-wound barometer on the surface that was wound every day, or wound once a week, depending on the variety.  The reason it’s important is because the barometric pressure affects the movement of gas in and out of goaf areas especially.  It doesn’t have a huge impact on the normal gas emanating from the ribs, although it does have some impact and over a big mine it would have probably a reasonable impact.  So although barometric pressure would be a low ambient pressure in the mine, if you like, or a lower ambient pressure, and therefore would allow the release of gas out of the ribs, it would also allow gas to expand in the goaf areas and potentially bleed out into your intakes.  
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A. So the biggest risk for barometric pressure is on goaf and goaf seal management rather than general intakes, so we didn’t have a barometer, sorry, we didn’t have an old hand-wound paper reel one which I'm sure Mr Bell would be familiar with, but we had electronic barometric pressure and so it was important to note, it was actually more noted at Pike for good standards, in other words to get used to doing it you should measure your barometer and you should report on it and you should know what it means and see if it changes anything for you, but for such a small mine with no goaf areas barometric pressure was not a significant part of our management process.  

Q. I want to ask you now about hydro-mining.  You described yesterday the process and equipment used at Pike for hydro.

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell us what particular risks in relation to gas may arise from hydro-mining?

A. Well, hydro-mining being an extraction process has a similar attendant risk that any other extraction process has, you're actually winning larger volumes of coal than you would through development, roadway development so in roadway development you might cut 20 tonnes of fresh coal per metre at advance so 10 metres in a shift, you'd be cutting 200 tonnes of coal.  If it hasn’t drained off very well, assuming it has, and it’s drained down to three or four cubic metres per tonne than you're liberating 600 tonnes or 600 cubic metres of gas, 600 to 800 cubic metres of gas in that shift, and that would be managed via your auxiliary ventilation system.  Once you get into extraction systems, whether it’s hydro, whether it’s board and pillar, whether it’s longwall especially, then you're starting to extract larger volumes of coal, you're therefore liberating more gas just by the mining process so there's more loading on your return system, and you're also forming a goaf which is the waste area behind the mining area, which is allowed by nature in any of those processes for the unsupported roof to fall in and to form a cavity, and that’s the nature of any extraction process, that the cavity is formed.  So, a common hazard of extraction is higher liberation of gas.  Your question was specifically about gas, wasn’t it, not other risks?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, so one of the more specific hazards of hydro monitor mining, given that I'm not an expert in hydro-monitor mining at all, and we only just started it at Pike but my understanding of the hazards that as the hydro-monitor, because it’s a quite high strength and high volume flow of water and coming out at very high pressure, that it acts as a Venturi in itself, so it will draw air along with it so it will be forcing air into the goaf and it will also be stirring up the gas and just by the nature of the fact that it’s actually drawing air into the goaf, well something has to come out of the goaf and if it’s not the same air coming in and coming out then it’s going to be gas that was in the goaf being forced out and displaced by that air.  So, one of the hazards of hydro-monitoring is the fact that the monitor itself can create a large amount of turbulence in the goaf.  With a longwall particularly the goaf has time to settle and the gas sits there and isn't really disturbed because the cutting process is just happening on the advancing or retreating face but it’s retreating away from the goaf and it’s leaving the gas make behind if you like, coming out of the goaf, whereas with hydro-monitoring you're continually stirring up the ventilation and the gas on the fringe of that goaf, which means it can force it out into the return roadway.

Q. Can you tell us also about the phenomenon of wind blast?

A. Yes, wind blast is another phenomena, it occurs with extraction panels rather than, well it can possibly occur with a massive pillar failure in a board and pillar mine, but it’s not very typical, that’s more of a creek. 
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A. But in an extraction place then you can get, if you're under a very, very strong rough with no, with not very good caving characteristics then you can withdraw the coal and what, where you would hope the roof to fall in just incrementally, blocky failure then you can get the roof standing up for large areas and when it does eventually fall it would fall as one large slab and acts as a piston and by falling in one large slab it can dislodge all the air below it and therefore that pushes out.  If you go to an extreme than the most common windblast phenomena that I'm aware is around the Macquarie Lakes District in Newcastle where they mine underneath conglomerate roof so sort of like little stones.  It’s a type of sedimentary rock but it’s all lots of little stones and very, very hard cemented to get up and a number of mines there including Moody Creek and others have mined under areas where the roof just wouldn't fall in and when it eventually did fall in the windblast was enough to push 80 tonne machines up the roadway like rag dolls and people with them so they had fatality issues with windblast.  They’ve gone to issues of, sorry strategies of drilling holes in the roof and jacking the roof down with hydraulic pressure et cetera and they do that remotely from somewhere else but windblast is not a phenomena that I've ever encountered in the southern coalfields and it’s not where I've mined under massive sandstones and shales and claystones and mudstones and it’s not a phenomena.  You do get roof falls occasionally in the goaf where there’s a big bump but it’s not the same as windblast.  Windblast is actually a phenomena where the wind is enough to do damage.  That’s the concept of windblast anyway.

Q. If we look now at Minarco’s May 2005 project update NZOG0020, 
page 81, this I think shows the plan as at 2005 in terms of hydro-mining and it’s colour coded from red at the top down to blue at the bottom.  Does that show that the plan at that stage was, as I think you may have already described it, to begin hydro-mining at the furthest reaches of the mine and then work your way back essentially?

A. Yes, which year did you say this plan was from?

Q. This is the May 2005 project update?

A. Yeah, thank you.  Yes, that's correct.

Q. We’ve already heard reference to the fact that there was a trial or test panel that was contemplated to be mined before the steady state 
hydro-mining?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it originally planned, to your knowledge, that this test or trial panel would take place before any of the if you like regular production from hydro-mining?

A. So the trial is, trial panel was a defined term in the resource consents so it’s not just used in its normal parlance of trialling and the trial mining panel was defined to be in a certain area up to the north west of the lease where it was an area that was agreed with the Department of Conservation that would have the minimal impact and it was a trial not to try the mining equipment but to try the impact of subsidence in this area so it was a subsidence issue rather than an operational equipment issue and that’s so the trial was called a trial panel and it was defined as such in the resource consent.  Does that answer your question so far?

Q. It does, thank you.  I think in December of 2008 there was a document headed, “Concept options to increase production outputs January to June ’09.”  It’s DAO.004.10880.  Do you recall that document at all?

A. I recall the conversation in the, I don't know if I was the author of this particular document, I possibly was.  I certainly remember the issue.
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Q. If we look on page 3, at the top of the page it’s noted and I perhaps should have first said that the date was 8 December 2008, you can see that at the bottom?

A. Mhm.

Q. It’s noted that at the top of the page, “Pike River Coal is experiencing difficulties meeting budgeted production levels.”

A. Mhm.

Q. “Financial year ’09.  Production levels are strategically important with regard to cashflows amongst other issues.  Also experience levels of mining crews are lower than desired and achieving budgeted development rates for fees crews would be challenging.”  If we pull out from that highlighted quote, the purpose of this report was to explore various options I think, to increase production levels.  Is that right?  

A. Yes, that's right.

Q.  If we look on page 9 of that report, we can see a diagram headed, “Indicative bridging panel layout”.  Can you help us with what that term, “bridging panel” referred to?

A. It’s used as a general term here rather than a specific mining term.  In this particular layout the concept of bridging panel was to bridge between when we would have otherwise wanted to start mining or when we could possibly start mining and when we would have to go to the trial area.  So it was used as a concept of bridging between the two.  Depending on where your questions go, I've got a fuller answer which may explain something as well.

Q. Well I think we can short circuit this perhaps by looking at exhibit 9, which has already been produced, and we've already had evidence on this –

A. Sorry.  That panel, that one you've just shown me there is not a hydro panel by the way.

Q. I see.

A. It’s a pillar extraction panel.

Q. So if we look at exhibit 9 we can see reference at the top of the page to trial panels, and then we have a commissioning panel and a bridging panel in red, the bottom third of the diagram.  Can you just help us with the difference in terminology between a bridging panel, commissioning panel and the trial panels?

A. Yes I can.  The trial panel was, because it was agreed with resource consent and I don't propose to be or purport to be an expert on the resource consent or Department of Conservation’s rules and the way they govern.  However, I can tell you Pike’s interpretation of how the discussion and negotiation went.  The trial panels because they're actually a defined term, they weren’t within the local conservator’s ability to move.  We would have to go back to the Environment Court.  So I met with the local conservator, Mike Slater, and his lawyers and their local people like Craig Jones in Hokitika, with our environment manager, Ivan Liddell, to explore the options for – well, initially for moving the trial panel to somewhere else in the lease because I wasn't party to the group that agreed where the trial panel was going to be so I challenged everything and wanted to see where else I could put it somewhere closer to pit bottom where we could get some extraction earlier.  The reality was that as Mike explained, because the term was defined he was very limited in his ability to move a trial panel so he explored the options.  Because the trial panel’s purpose was to trial the impacts of substance on the surface, we looked at other areas in the lease where we may be able to do some hydro extraction which would give a dual benefit, give Pike the benefit of getting earlier extraction and give the Department of Conservation an opportunity to look at the impacts of substance over a lesser extraction width.  So the trial panel you can see in that drawing is four panels wide, which are four times about 20, so it’s about 80 metres wide.  So the Department of Conservation thought it was actually a good idea if we were to put another panel in earlier, but was narrower and would have less impact on the surface, and so the concept of a commissioning panel was brought up because the terminology was not the same as trial panel and therefore it didn't have to be approved under the resource consent or varied and it was something within the ability of the local conservator to approve.  So we came up – and you looked at another plan earlier.  
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A. This one particularly is a most recent one so it’s got the correct layout for what we had intended, but you did show me a plan earlier that had some other commissioning panels further, slightly to the north, different orientation.  So, what we originally did was propose to them that we would do a series of commissioning panels and that they would be of only a two panel width and they agreed that that was to their advantage because they would get early information on substance and it was to our advantage because we could actually extract some coal from an area that as per the plan you showed me a moment ago, we probably wouldn’t have extracted for another 20 years anyway, it was always going to be extracted, it was just more later in the mine life.  Ideally you wouldn’t want to start off with a commissioning panel size, and I'll come to bridging panel in a moment, you wouldn’t want to start off with a commissioning panel size because it’s more, when you look at your ratio of roadway development to extraction coal obviously driving several roadways to get 18 metres worth of coal, where you're getting all of that coal for just the same set of mains, is much more advantageous than all the drivage you do just to get two panels width, so by commissioning panels is a pretty unproductive way of doing it.  So, we identified some commissioning panel areas but as we were also continuing to go through this graben, this is pre the graben structure being intersected, this conversation was had.

Q. That would put it roughly in what month?

A. We didn’t start going through the graben until about December 2009, so this conversation, the one you had where you were looking at exploring different options, was back in late ’08, so sometime when we went and saw Mike would've been sometime in early ’09 I think, something like that maybe, maybe late ’08, can't quite recall, and we had this concept of these commission panels, so we went off and designed a whole heap of areas of small coal bounded by faults trying to fit it in amongst the mining control zones and we had Dr Johnson George from the University of Auckland that did our subsidence management, some subsidence prediction work, for the submission to the various authorities.  He redid the work on those panels and came up with subsidence predictions which were within the realms of the Department of Conservation’s expectations for those mining control zones so they were happy for us to do that.  I then went back and saw Mr Slater sometime later and said, well actually, what's the chance of having an even smaller one which we don’t believe will have any impact on the surface but we can slot in, we’ve found a little spot we can slot one panel in.  It’s in a higher mining control zone requirement but it’ll be only one width wide, it’ll give us an opportunity to put our gear in there, run it quite slowly because we won’t get continuity out of it but it’ll give us a chance to slowly train our men, get the equipment running, the company gets the advantages in earlier coal flow and some cash flow, but it’s going to cost us a lot so it’s purely from a cashflow point of view that it was an advantage, but again at an even smaller width the Department of Conservation would get the opportunity to look at the effects of extraction on the surface, so again, they’re very supportive of the idea rather than going straight to 18 metres or even to 40 metres, they’re now going to go to only a 20-25 metre wide extraction panel, so they were very supportive of it.  We’d already used the concept of commissioning panels so we had to think of another name, so we called it a bridging panel, to bridge to the commissioning panel before the trial panel before steady state.  It does seem like a bit of a play on words but it was actually something we wouldn’t have otherwise proposed to the Department of Conservation four or five years ago because it was a lot of work, a lot of investment to put into a small extraction of coal, but we saw it was worth it and a ‘needs must’ from a business point of view and it was to everyone’s advantage as far as the Department of Conservation and Pike.

Q. Did you say that the bridging panel was underneath one of the mining control zones?

A. I'd have to overlay the mining control zones in there but, yes, the mining control zones aren’t all uniform like the – I think in this area the subsidence had to be limited to less than 600 millimetres or that effect and I think in trial mining area you could have up to three metres of subsidence effects on the surface because it was low, lower value land above it if you like.  A lower conservation value land, as deemed by DOC whereas where the bridging and commissioning panels were, there was still mining control zones around there so that’s why they had to be limited in size and limited in impact on the surface, and it was our expectation that the bridging panel would be virtually negligible impact on the surface.
1600
Q. If we go back to PW28, the area that is shown with the Waratah guzzler at the top of the page, that’s the bridging panel I take it?

A. Correct.

Q. Was there a specific risk assessment undertaken before work began on the bridging panel?

A. Work began on extracting the bridging panel?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, I understand there was.

Q. Can you tell us, from your knowledge and it’s fine if you can’t, what the particular risks and controls were identified with beginning hydro-mining at that point?

A. I can’t speak with authority on the particular risk assessment, I was aware of the need for it to be carried out.  That was raised in operational and management meetings.  I was aware that it was conducted and I was aware that there was a series of actions and some of those actions were discussed at operations meetings.  Doug had actions and Neville had actions and there was a whole bunch of people, especially Terry, the project manager, so I was aware that the activity had occurred, actions were being taken, and Terry Moynihan the project manager would report back on a weekly basis as to what activities had been undertaken and signed off prior to the commencement of operations.  So I was aware of the process and I was aware it was being tracked and I was confident that the men in charge of it were doing what they needed to do.

Q. When was the first extraction by hydro-mining?

A. I think it was in early September.  I’d don’t remember the date but I’m pretty sure it was about early September, first week maybe.  Definition of extractions bit of a difficult one because we - I think we first turned the hydro-monitor on and ran it for about half an hour and then turned it off again so probably a bigger red letter day from a mining point of view is when it’s starting to form its first goaf or when roadway held across to the other roadway with a monitor but it started and we just ran it for a couple of hours a day, usually on dayshift to get all the pump systems working and train the guys and we had our Japanese hydro-monitor consultant, Oki Nishioka worked for us for three months over that period.  So he was there working with the crews and working with the guys and testing the system out.  So it was quite a slow ramp-up initially.  So there was no, wasn’t a flick the switch and suddenly we’re getting 20,000 tonne a day type exercise.

Q. Were you aware of any concerns about the adequacy of the ventilation system for the commencement of hydro-mining?

A. I was aware that it was a fairly tight thing.  Doug assured me that he was working on it.  I’m not saying that it was his responsibility but I suppose more the point was, yes I was aware that we needed to trim air into one area.  I think he even was stopping one of the continuous miners for a period of time to give him more air into the hydro-panel.  Because remembering this is ahead of the commissioning of hydro underground fan, after that that wasn’t an issue but ahead of that commissioning we’re still running on 90 cubic metres so it was quite a tight exercise for Doug to give the hydro-face as much air as he could.  So I was aware he was actively managing that process and it was probably, I won’t say it was the biggest thing he was focusing on but I’d have to say from my interactions with him the fan, the commissioning of the fan and the balancing of ventilation underground was probably taking up the majority of his management thought processes as the mine manager.

Q. You referred yesterday to stone dusting?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there a particular target percentage of combustible material inside the mine at Pike?

A. Well there’s statutory limits for combustible and combustible matter in the roadway and we had managers rules for stone dusting to require, I think from memory it was either to be stone dusted every 30 metres or 24 hours, whichever was reached first, and that had to be stone dusted.  Usually stone dusting is to a visual standard at the face, we don’t put it on and test it, guys get to know.  And it’s never, you’re never going to fail stone dusting at the face unless they do a really really poor job because they usually put it on fairly thick.  It’s more over time as the mine progresses that that stone dust blows away in the wind and falls off and you start to get closer to the statutory level of incombustibles or combustibles.
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Q. Were you aware of any concerns about the adequacy of stone dusting in late 2010?

A. Yes, I had been made aware there was some issues either emanating and I don't recall, I did know at the time, but my memory doesn't serve me as to whether we noted an inadequacy in the stone dusting or during routine sampling or whether the inspector did on a routine visit.  I can't recall which came first but Doug made me aware that through discussion with Kevin Poynter, the now district inspector that he had received or he had a discussion and I think a follow up letter from the inspector to say that stone dusting standards needed to be improved in a certain part of the mine because they’d been previously dusted but because of the amount of water at Pike it’s very easy and I think actually one of the other speakers if it, might have been Mr Bell, was talking about how quickly roadways change from wet to dry somewhere in the mine so if a place is too wet to sample, in other words it’s dripping with water, then it’s not going to catch on fire so you're probably, it would be good practice to continue to stone dust it anyway but often areas that are very, very wet it’s hard to tell what’s combustible and what’s not because it’s all wet.  There’s some areas of our mine, given we’d just increased our ventilation by 30 cubic metres a second, had gone from damp to dry and Doug was aware of that and I think he was, I’d let him speak for him himself but he, on what his feelings were to other people, but his feelings to me was he was quite embarrassed that he’d got to that point because he never felt he’d ever been put in that position before where the stone dusting standard had let slip just below the statutory levels and to my understanding he did something about that or was planning to do something about it.  It was a matter of redusting.  I would say that it’s not the first time I've been aware of in, not in 
New Zealand but in my career, where stone dusting standards have been fallen below standard out by somewhere where people don't generally go.  They get picked up during inspections and you restonedust so it’s disappointing but it was unfortunate.

Q. In 2008 the Department of Labour invited submissions on improving hazard management within the underground mining industry?

A. That's right, yes.

Q. I want to show you a submission by Pike River Coal Limited with your name as the contact.  I’ve just got a copy here Madam Registrar and I’ll produce this as an exhibit.

exhibit 13 produced – RESPONSE FORM – IMPROVING HAZARD MANAGEMENT WITHIN THE UNDERGROUND MINING INDUSTRY

Q. Yes, do you recall that document?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Can I ask you about certain of the statements in that document and whether they are statements that you would stand by today?  First in the executive summary if we zoom in on the paragraph underneath, 
“Pike River Coal Limited believes that the current New Zealand coalmining legislation, predominantly the regulations is inadequate in some critical areas.”  Is that a view that you hold today?

A. Just to qualify before I answer that.  This is a document submitted by Pike River Coal.  I'm the contact for it and I'm not the sole author of it so it was a collective view of the company at the time.  I know myself and Neville Rockhouse were probably the main typing authors of it and Neville did most of the ground work fortunately to put this together, however it reflected the view of the company, not just mine personally, so I'm more than happy to answer my own view on it but the statements in here are those of the company, not just myself.

Q. I take it you did agree with the statements at the time that they were made?

A. To less and more, but they weren’t my statements.  This was a company statement so I won't take ownership of every statement in here as saying I agreed with it.  Because I was the contact does not mean I was the author.

Q. Well if we take that first statement, is that a statement that would reflect your present view?

A. Yes.
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Q. If we move down the document to the paragraph after the set of bullet points, the paragraph and it reads, “It is the view of Pike River Coal Limited that the principal Act needs to be amended to include a requirement for competent or qualified persons.  Current mining regulations need to be reviewed to support a more critical risk or hazard review approach,” and it goes on to say, “A means of then demonstrating compliance needs to be created by the use of detailed codes of practice or detailed guidelines that deal to the real issues as opposed to being politically correct.”  Is that a statement you would agree with today?

A. Yes.

Q. If we then zoom back out and look at the set of bullet points at the bottom of the page.  I'm sorry, we may in fact have had them already, I'm sorry.  The bullet point, fourth from the bottom, “The short term strategy should consider and include increase the coverage and number of mine inspectors by a realistic resourcing of DOL?”

A. Yes.

Q. It’s a matter you would agree with?

A. Yes.

Q. On the third page of the document, the second paragraph under the heading, “Safety case,” “Pike River Coal Limited believes that a safety case regime would not be a cost effective or pragmatic measure in relation to the issues identified in the discussion document,” and the paragraph goes on, and then the second paragraph, “Our concerns about this option include issues around the current mines inspectorate not having the ability to handle the bureaucratic effort required by such a regime.  The number of qualified mines inspectors has dramatically declined over the past decade or so in New Zealand.  Only one full-time inspector and one trainee inspector are currently covering all of the South Island.”

A. Yes.

Q. Would you stand by those comments or are they reflective of your present view?

A. Well I’d only qualify it by saying I've never had a very satisfactory understanding of what the intention of a safety case regime was going to be.  I did seek a qualification of what that meant both from the local inspector at the time and also back through the people who put the questionnaire together and I struggled to really understand what they were trying to say, other than – so, the comments earlier in that that you read out were around the fact that putting in anything that required the inspectors to properly handle a whole new concept of safety management and putting large scenarios together, what if scenarios for a mine site would be way beyond the capability and resource requirements of the Department of Labour as it was operating then and now.  But that’s our, that was Pike’s view anyway.

Q. At the bottom of the same page under the heading, “Licensing regime,” in response to the question, “Do you think the licensing regime would work well for underground mining to improve the ways hazards are identified and managed?”  The submission said, “Pike River Coal Limited believe that this option could only work if the Health and Safety in Employment Act were to be amended to include the term, ‘a competent person or qualified person’.  Next, “the inadequacies in the current Health and Safety in Employment Mining Regulations would need to be filled and finally an approved code of practice that demonstrates at a practicable level how compliance can be achieved is needed in this industry.”  Now, again, are those views that you would subscribe to today?

A. Yes.

Q. Next, under paragraph 5, in response to the question, “What activities should require a licence,” the submission notes that currently there are certificate of competency requirements for a mine manager, mine surveyor, underviewer, deputy, and requirements under HSNO approved handler for explosives.  Pike supports these current certificates of competency as a primary means of providing safety.”  It goes on to say, “This should be extended to include specific competencies for other mining professionals with equal amounts of responsibility including electrical and mechanical engineering, mine engineers, geologists and safety practitioners who all must play their part.”  Is that a view that you would agree with today?
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A. Yes, I just qualify it by saying I think it does go on to say, “We don’t advocate the completion of these competencies as being a prerequisite to employment or appointment as is the case with the current certificates of competence, they be an opportunity to provide industry specific training et cetera et cetera.”  What that clause is specifically saying, it doesn’t say that the wholesale requirement to have certificates of competency for every position at the mine is a requirement.  However, there are some key ones and it’s still quite beyond me that there's no engineering requirement in New Zealand, mechanical or electrical, and there's only mining requirements and specifically the underviewer has a certificate of competency but it doesn’t define what his job is in there, in the regulations at all so you don’t even need one of them.  It’s quite strange, but the geologists, safety practitioners et cetera, by having a licensing process would set standards for those positions in the industry, it would set guidelines for training standards and would set benchmarks by which those standards could be assessed, so yes, I'd stand by all those comments. 

Q. On page 8 in paragraph 25 under the question, “Do you think this option would work well, that is increased supporting guidance, do you think this option would work well for underground mining to improve the ways the hazards are identified and managed?”  The submission at the time was, “Pike believed that creating approved codes of practice and/or guidelines such as the MDG guidelines in New South Wales to be critical to this option.  These documents represent the current state of knowledge in the industry and should clearly spell out to the reader the preferred means of compliance.”  Again, is that a view that you would agree with today?

A. Yes, I'd qualify it by saying, yes, I do wholeheartedly agree with the guidelines, I think they’re great, they need to be developed properly by competent people with proper industry input.  I've heard a lot of talk during this Commission on the Minex standards.  This Royal Commission was the first time I'd heard that there was Minex standards in this country.  No relevance to Pike and never been involved or contacted so I think if they’re going to exist and that the inspectors had a similar view of the non-involvement as well, so I think if these things are going to be developed then there needs to be a lot of thought put into how they’re being developed and by whom.

Q. On the next page, page 9, in response to question 30, extending the coverage of the mining underground regulations, the comment was, “Pike believes that the current mining regulations, administration and underground are in need of complete review and revision and should be amalgamated into a single set of regulations.  These should follow the principles set out in the Health and Safety in Employment Act and be performance based, but also recognise specific standards which small mines can easily follow.  The regulations need to spell out the requirements in more explicit detail and deal with specific and unique issues in underground mines.”  Is that a view you continue to hold?

A. Yes.

Q. On page 10 in response to question 38 and this I think is specifically dealing with employee participation or check inspectors, “Pike River Coal Limited have a number of concerns about the proposed check inspector regime and how it might work in practice.  The Health and Safety in Employment Act adequately covers employee participation and gives them certain powers to communicate with the regulator inspectors.”

A. Sorry, could we just wait until it comes back on the screen please.

Q. Yes, sorry, it’s paragraph 38.

A. Thank you.

Q. You'll see the last sentence on that page, “Pike is committed to engaging with our team in a spirit of good faith and cooperation on any safety issues that are raised.  Pike does not see the need for check inspectors in our industry when there is a system already in place that is effective and could be further enhanced with further specialised training by nominated safety representatives.”  Is that still your view?

A. Yes.
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Q. Paragraph 40 on the same page we’re currently looking at.  In relation to health and safety inspectors the view is expressed, “Currently and with no additional resource being given to the Department of Labour it is probably totally unreasonable to implement these requirements for health and safety inspectors.  This comment is simply based on the acute shortage of mines inspectors.  Before any of this could be considered or implemented the number of inspectors would need to be significantly increased.  The roles don’t pay well and probably remain unattractive to many qualified individuals.  DOL took an extended time to replace the last mines inspector.  We are not sure where they will get the extra staff from.”  Again, your current view?

A. Yes, completely agree with that statement.

Q. Two pages on, they’re not in the electronic document so I’ll just have to read it to you from the page.  I think you expressed the view that, this is paragraph 4 of perhaps the supplementary document, “New Zealand should align ourselves more closely with the Australian coalmining industry.  We have already used their inspectors to do peer reviews so the first step has already been taken.  We should encourage a more systematic approach to information sharing both within New Zealand and internationally.  The mining industry is very small to be able to do things entirely on its own and hope to maintain best practices.”  Again, does that reflect your current view?

A. Yes.

Q. While we’re looking at that document, are there any other comments you would like to make having heard the evidence at this phase of the inquiry on the topic of the inspectorate or the regulatory framework?

A. The only comment I’d make is the connection between that and the events of Pike and looking at the, leading up to the event on the 19th.  The inspectors were very active I think with us to the ability of their resources and training and competencies.  There was a good interaction.  Pike had the advantage I suppose of having quite a number of managers who had come from other regimes where there was a long and strong associate with proactive reporting and having a good relationship with the inspectors so we proactively encourage that ourselves and brought them into everything we were doing.  We did eight inspections during 2010 plus Ms Shortall’s advised me probably 123, I think it was, communications and other interactions with the inspectors in 2010.  So while I stand by the company’s position in this paper, in all of the aspect that you’ve raised I don’t necessarily create a link, and I haven’t created a link since the event, that a new improved and super inspectorate would have in any way changed events, given we don’t know what the cause of the explosions were.  However, I do agree that there needs to be a significant review of where we’re at with inspectorate in this country.

Q. I want to go back now briefly to the topic of your particular role at Pike River before you were appointed chief executive?

A. Yes.

Q. So if we focus on the period in 2010 when you were the general manager of mines?

A. Mhm.

Q. Can you tell us what reports or regular sources of information you had to tell you about what was happening with the mine itself?

A. So maybe go from a daily upwards.  So from a daily basis I would, assuming 2010 I was not on site because this is based in Wellington, most days of the week I would have one or more conversations with Doug.  I didn’t, when he was the operations manager in the first half of the year and Mick Lerch was on site, I didn’t tend to ring Mick.  So if I was on site, which was at that stage three days a week usually unless something else untoward happened, two to three days a week that I’d be in the office and about the place.  And my office was only one door away from Doug so we would see each other constantly and regularly.  
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A. I'd go underground reasonably regularly, once every few weeks or so if I could do it and I'd, and look about the mine myself.  I was onsite so I'd be in and about the mine offices.  The – during that period the technical services manager, the human resources manager and the environment manager were still my direct reports, so as far as technical aspects of the mine, the reason I, the reason I maintain that, wasn't the technical aspects of the mine in regard to its operations.  So things like strata control, gas, ventilation, all those other aspects were really dealt with directly between Peter and Doug.  The reason I kept the technical services department initially reporting to me, was more because Peter was dealing with so much exploration work, bore holes, surface bore holes and other activities that were not really confined to the coalface so I didn't want Doug, especially with having so many requirements to develop a mine underground, I didn't want him distracted by extraneous activities offsite, our environmental compliance and things like that, so I kept those managers reporting to myself.  So I kept an active role, both by due to the fact that I was there, by due to the fact that I was a mine manager myself and had been at the mine since its inception, so I kept an active interest from that point of view.  On a more formal basis, I attended the weekly management meetings, which until Doug started were my weekly management meetings, so I'd been running those for a number of years.  After Doug started, I can't remember when, I know he started in January, sometime in February or March, we transitioned that meeting over to be his meeting, rather than mine.  And so he took over and I became a, an attendant or a visitor to that meeting, especially since it was becoming more and more obvious that I wouldn't always be available to come to the meetings and they were initially being put off to different days to suit me, which became untenable for the other managers, so they just had it whether I was there or not after that.  So I got the minutes, whether, if I was at that meeting I would actively participate, I, sometimes more actively than some of the managers would like.  I would actively participate, and if I wasn't there I'd get the minutes.  If I wasn't there but I was still talking to Doug, I wouldn't necessarily read the minutes, 'cos they were quite voluminous and are more actions for the people who are there, but I'd still read them at some stage to just understand what was going on and get some more detail.  Then on once a month I would get the, a composite document which originally several years earlier I'd written myself, which was the Monthly Operations Report and I just authored it and then as we got more managers onboard, they started to author their own section of it and I'd pull it together and edit it, because it was in Afrikaans and German and several other languages and the languages and styles were very different so I would bring it back to one common style, if you like, for submission of the board, or submission to Gordon Ward to submit to the board, and so I offered that monthly document to the board every month for a number of years from 2005 onwards.  And then more recently, especially pre the 2010, that document was put together by all the managers then edited by Doug and sent to me as a semi-complete document for submission with the board papers through the chief executive, through Gordon Ward.  So that's the sort of formal reporting it was getting.  If there was an area of specific interest or a technical report that was of something that I wanted to know about or came up at the meeting, I'd ask for that report to read if I was aware that it was in existence, but I usually kept myself to corporate issues, working with the chief executive and the chief financial officer and the broader technical aspects.  I kept a very strong interest in the Human Resources Department because recruitment of people was constant and again, the actual task of recruitment is quite large and especially with resignations and senior recruitments, so I kept an active role with that with the human resources manager and just general site activities and the larger contracts.

Q. Mr Whittall thank you for your evidence so far.  You understand of course that there are subsequent phases to the inquiry and so –

A. Yes I do understand that.

Q. – we may need to hear from you further.

THE COMMISSION:

Is there anybody who’s seeking leave?
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MR RAYMOND:

Yes, Your Honour.  I do seek leave on behalf of the families to ask some questions arising out of evidence that we've already heard.  It’s just been touched on in this last piece from my friend about the general reporting lines and responsibilities and briefly touch on that and minutes of meetings and Mr Whittall’s knowledge of certain things that were going on, to which some extent he’s sought to distance himself from.

THE COMMISSION: 

Sorry, I'm not hearing?

MR RAYMOND:

And to some extent which he sought to distance himself from.  The document which Mr Mount has just put to him, being Pike River’s submission, was a document I was going to put to him and have one or two questions arising out of that in relation to safety and the implementation of safety measures in the mine.  A couple of questions, sir, around egress and the fresh air base, and that’s essentially it sir.

THE COMMISSION: 

Is there anybody else who is seeking leave or not?

MR NICHOLSON:
I would seek leave.

THE COMMISSION: 
Yes Mr Nicholson.  I retained it from the other day, that error.

MR NICHOLSON:

I'm grateful sir.  I would seek leave just only in relation to the issue of the development of the tunnel through the Hawera Fault.  There's only a couple of questions for the witness on this.  I’d anticipate taking no more than perhaps two or three minutes.

THE COMMISSION: 
Ms Shortall, you'll have some re-examination I assume.

MS SHORTALL: 

Yes Your Honour I will.
THE COMMISSION: 

Right, thank you.  How long do you think that might be, just... 

MS SHORTALL: 

I would like an opportunity to look in more detail through my notes, but I would anticipate it could be around 45 minutes to an hour.

THE COMMISSION: 

Mr Raymond, you didn't venture an estimate.

MR RAYMOND:

No you didn't ask for one sir.

THE COMMISSION: 

No.  Nor did you venture it, but...

MR RAYMOND:

No longer than 25 minutes sir, I would have thought, half an hour.

THE COMMISSION: 

We are just going to retire for a minute or two.

COMMISSION ADJOURNS:
4.33 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES:
4.36 PM

THE COMMISSION:
Mr Nicholson, there is no difficulty with your being granted leave and I'll actually invite you to ask the few questions that you indicated shortly.  
Mr Raymond we are struggling with some of the topics that you have identified, for example, the issue of the second egress, the fresh air base, the 2008 submission in relation to the DOC review, all of those have been canvassed in some detail by Mr Mount already and then the other matters to do with reporting lines and what you've described as Mr Whittall distances himself from certain matters.  Again, some of those things have been raised and we are just concerned as to whether this is an examination which falls properly within this phase or not, but nonetheless we are going to grant you leave.  I'm simply really serving warning that it will be policed, the questioning will be policed strictly with reference to what is appropriate at this stage as opposed to potentially later.  

MR NICHOLSON:

I understand sir, thank you for that indication, I'll keep an eye on you.

THE COMMISSION:

Our other concern Mr Whittall is simply that you have been answering questions since 9.00 am and it is 4.30.  Our present inclination is we are not going to finish tonight anyway because Ms Shortall has quite a number of matters obviously to raise with you, so our present inclination is to deal with the questions from Mr Nicholson, seeing that it is not anticipated will take very long.  We are then quite happy to adjourn but with a view to starting at 9.00 am if that is your preference given the time you have already been in the witness box or we could carry on until 5.00 and start with Mr Raymond but have you got a preference?

MR WHITTALL:

Your first order of service would be suitable to me, thank you.

THE COMMISSION:

You prefer it that we adjourned after –

MR WHITTALL:

Yes, that would suit, given that we don’t know how long the other one will take but that would suit me.

THE COMMISSION:

That’s fine, we will do it that way.  Mr Nicholson, if you get off your chest the matters that you need to deal with.

cross-examination:  MR NICHOLSON

Q. Mr Whittall, you'd said in your evidence that it was about September 2008 when the tunnel changed and it became deemed as a gassy mine and coal mine.  Is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Was Nigel Slonker working for Pike at that stage?

A. No.

Q. He didn’t join until about April 2009, did he?

A. That's correct.

Q. And so in September 2008 was he still living in Australia?

A. Yes he was.

Q. We’ve heard through the evidence over the last few days that the Department of Labour commissioned a report from 
Professor Gunningham and Dr Neal in relation to their interactions with Pike River Coal?

A. Yes I heard about that during the Commission, yes.
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Q. And you will have seen that there's a record in that, and I can bring it up if we need to, that Mr Slonker was alleged to have said to those authors that Pike, when the mine changed, didn’t re-induct the existing contractors like McConnell Dowell and others in the new processes needed because the mine was gassy.  You aware of that?

A. I’m aware that that evidence was given in this Court, yes.

Q. Is he right?

A. Not to my knowledge, no.  You’re right Mr Slonker started in April 2009 and I recall leading up to the changeover to the mine being deemed a coal mine that both Mr Kobus Louw and Neville Rockhouse went through quite an extensive exercise of identifying what other skills and issues and what risks would be identified at that juncture of becoming a coal mine and I recall at the time quite extensive conversations with McConnell Dowell to that extent as well.  Once that was actually raised in Court here the other day I actually asked Mr Rockhouse if that was his recollection and he also was able to remind me that to his knowledge there had been extensive retraining of people.  And I also read in Mr Joe Edwards’ brief that he also confirms that people were put through the 7146 unit standard.  Supervisors were brought up from tunnel managers to get gas testing certificates and quite a lot of work was done with all the employees, not just Pike employees, so yes I agree with you.

COURT ADJOURNS:
4.43 PM
COMMISSION RESUMES ON FRIDAY 22 JULY 2011 AT 9.00 AM

WITNESS PETER WILLIAM WHITTALL ON FORMER OATH

cross-examination:  MR RAYMOND

Q. Mr Whittall, we have seen several times over the last couple of days the chart, and I don't think we need to put it up, showing the managers throughout the periods from 2005 to the date of the explosion.  You know the chart I'm referring to with your?

A. The bar chart that I created.

Q. The bar chart?

A. Yes.

Q. Yes.  And the second one down I think it is, is the long green one, which is you as general manager from about 2005 to 2010?

A. That’s what the bar says and I clarified it was as a mine manager for the first 12 months and then as the general manager after that, yes.

Q. So is it correct to say that more than anyone else in the mine’s development stages, you were the senior manager who, in effect, lasted the distance until the date of the explosion?

A. Certainly the longest bar, one week of Ivan Liddell.  The two of us were there from February ’05 through till November, yes.

Q. And you were senior to Mr Liddell?

A. After the first 12 months, yes.

Q. So is it fair to say that you were well versed in all aspects of the mine’s development up to the commencement of extraction?

A. Certainly well versed in the construction of the mine, yes.

Q. If a document could be put up please, DAO002.03151.  We'll just wait for that document to come up Mr Whittall, but it’s a Pike River Coal management plan document which outlines the roles and responsibilities of the various managers in the mine.  Can you recall the document I'm referring to?

A. I do recall we had a document like that several years ago, yes.

Q. Okay.

A. I can't remember it specifically until you put it up.

Q. Okay.  Well I can tell you that it outlines the various roles and responsibilities which will be considered in more detail, I'm sure, in another phase.

A. Sure.

Q. But for current purposes, in the development phase, it outlines the role of the general manager throughout that period?

A. Yes.

Q. Which you were?

A. Correct.

Q. And as part of that, it was to ensure legislative, compliance with legislation?

A. Yeah, all different sorts of legislation yes.

Q. That's right.  Again I think Ms Basher’s still trying to find it, but amongst that legislation obviously is the requirement to ensure that the site and the environment is a safe working place for workers, part of your responsibilities?

A. Well it’s one of the responsibilities –

Q. Amongst many other – 

A. I need, I need 

Q. I'm not going to go –

A. No I was going to say I need to qualify that by saying that a number of people have that responsibility so yes that is one of my responsibilities, but not to the exclusion of others if that’s what you're implying.

Q. No, no I wasn't implying that at all.  Just pause because the document’s come up on the screen now.  You'll see the Pike River Coal document there, “management plan, roles and responsibilities,” are you familiar with that?

A. Yes.  As I said, it was several years old so that’s – although he issue date at the bottom had an auto date put on it, which shows it was printed out on, in 2010.  The originator was Kobus Louw who left the company back in February 2009 so it would predate that time.
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Q. And you're noted as authoriser?

A. Correct.

Q. If you turn to page 7 of that document please.  It includes what you conceded a moment ago, the second to last bullet point includes legislative compliance requirement.

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Whereby the general manager has overall responsibility for that?

A. That's correct.

Q. And then turning to page 8, and if we could zoom in on the top left box and again you've just confirmed this that, “Amongst the responsibilities is ensuring a site work environment and systems are in place,” third bullet point, “To ensure plant and equipment is designed and maintained for safe use and to ensure employees are not exposed to hazards, amongst other things,” correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And I take it that you would say that in order to comply with that obligation you'd say that you did so by appointing a safety and training manager?

A. No, not specifically I did so by appointing a safety and training manager and also by appointing a mine manager because ultimately under the legislation the mine manager has responsibility for health and safety of a site.

Q. Having a safe, health and safety team led by a manager?

A. No, they’re two different things.  Having a health and safety team, health and safety in my view since you asked how I do it, the health and safety manager’s role is to provide support and provide systems to develop systems, health and management systems and to provide advice and be there as part of the safety management of the site but safety is a line management function so line managers, in this case deputies, underviewers, mine manager, are responsible for the safe working practices of their people working with them, so I see the safety manager as being a support to that process.  I didn’t manage safety on site –

Q. No.

A. – by appointing a safety manager.

Q. If the right-hand side of the box be reduced back to its original size, you'll see that there’s an action box at the right alongside each responsibility which sets out what you would have to ensure is in place in order to meet that responsibility.  Is that correct?
A. That’s the way the document is set out, yes.

Q. And amongst those requirements would be to ensure that risk assessments are carried out for identifiable risks and you've mentioned over the last couple of days where risk assessments were done on various aspects of the development?

A. That's correct.
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Q. Which is why for something important you'd be part of any expert team to assess risk associated with for example, escape route or refuge in the event of an emergency?

A. Not necessarily, if I was comfortable that the people who are employed and delegated to that activity were competent and adequately trained then I wouldn’t need to personally be involved in that, no.  Would I understand that those activities were occurring, yes, then I could choose or otherwise to be involved in those things.

Q. If we could put up on the screen please Ms Basher, the next document DAO.002.04414.  You'll see here a document entitled, “The emergency evacuation of all persons from the underground mine at Pike River Coal risk assessment, final document.”  You would've seen that before?

A. Yes, I'm not sure what vintage the document is, again it’s probably got an auto.

Q. Well, you'll see down the bottom in the box V4, so that stands for version 4, doesn’t it?

A. It would do, yes.  I note that both the documents you've shown me are both unsigned so I don't know if they’re the final versions of these documents.

Q. Working from now that this is, for the purposes of these questions, the final version of this document, if you could turn to page 3 please, there it sets out the purpose of the document, “If there's an underground explosion, there's an imperative requirement to achieve escape or find refuge within the operating life of a self rescuer and to offer immediate assistance to the workforce on a safe way out of the mine.”  Correct?

A. Can you please point out where the section is you're reading from?

Q. The very first sentence of the executive summary.

A. Thank you, yes I understand the statement.

Q. And if you turn to page 8, given your comment before that you weren't sure whether you were a part of such teams, for this assessment at 3.2.2 you are at the top of the names of those on the expert team for the assessment?

A. Yes, and just looking at the other people involved would indicate that this was done early in 2009.

Q. Yes, so confirming as I said, that you were part of that team?

A. Yes.

Q. And then if you could turn please to page 6 and the second bullet point under the heading of, “Basic assumptions.”  “As part of the training undertaken above people will know that in the event of an underground emergency they will know that they should be moving away from danger and heading towards the second means of egress?”

A. Correct.

Q. Now, as general manager throughout that period can you explain to the Commission please how often you would have gone down the mine?

A. It varied greatly across the number of years when the tunnel first started in late 2006, as a tunnel manager I was up on site almost every day or several times a week at least with the office still based in Greymouth at that stage and we’d appointed the McConnell Dowell acting tunnel manager so I'd probably go up there two or three times a week and go underground, that was the only purpose to get up to the mine site.  
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A. Once the tunnel was further in and Kobus Louw was appointed I would probably still get underground once a week, it was only a tunnel, it didn’t change very much, and it was only a single entry face.  There wasn’t a lot of difference to see except a change in geology.  So if there was a particular geological feature that I wanted to look at or it was brought to my attention I would go underground.  Once it got into the coalmining phase and I had a statutory manager on site still, which was Mr Louw at that stage, and then replaced afterwards with Mick Bevan and Nigel, while I had those guys on site I probably still got underground once a fortnight.  I was there every day so I was in and about the offices or travelling so I could probably get underground maybe two, three, maybe sometimes it would go four weeks in the latter phases.  I then increased my attendance underground for the short period that I was relieving again and then –

Q. Sorry, just to be clear.  When you say, “Relieving,” that means the period that you were the statutory mine manager?

A. That's correct.  So when I became –

Q. Can you remind us of that period of time?

A. It was in 2009 for several months at the end of the year.

Q. So during that period how often were you going underground?

A. Probably several times a week.  It was a quite a short trip.

Q. Several times, four or five a week?

A. No, not four or five, that’s more than several, probably two or three.

Q. Just to be clear, two or three times a week during that period and then –

A. Sometimes only once a week, again it was a small mine, there wasn’t a lot of complexity to it.

Q. And when you were down there during that period what sort of things were you going down there to keep an eye on, what were you doing, what was the purpose of your visit?

A. When a mine manager goes underground they go underground for a variety of reasons.  Sometimes it’ll just be to talk to the crews, see what’s going on.  Usually you’ll have a look at the working faces, look at the conditions that the machines are working in.  In that case we were having difficulty with the machines.  I recall about that time sill mining downhill in the pit bottom south area and we were just starting to go through the, or just starting to build up to go through the graben so we’re building the roadways closest to the start of the stone drives and we were changing some of our strata support requirements.  So one of the areas of my main interest was the suitability of the roof-bolting system we were in so the technical services manager and I were working with the strata consultant out of Australia to modify our bolting patterns.  So I’d often go underground and look at those particular face areas at what bolting patterns we were using, whether the monitoring was going in, talking to the crews about the installation of the bolts.  I would look at just general standards, always check flameproof enclosures, not from a electrical point of view but just go and check that they’re not covered in dirt and dust and make sure that standards.  I think the main thing that I would do as a mine manager would be looking at housekeeping standards and just the general feel of the underground environment.

Q. And when you became CEO did you continue to go down the mine?

A. Well it was a very short period and it was only in early October 2010, I think I attended the mine on several occasions in that period and as – we haven’t spent a lot on, but we’ve alluded to other parts of the brief, it was quite an intensive period financially as far as Mr Ward leaving, myself assuming control of the company and doing a lot of capital raising, so underground in that period, probably twice maybe.

Q. Okay.

A. Maybe once.

Q. And can you put a date as to when you would've been last down the mine before the first explosion?

Q. It wasn’t – I was at the mine that week, but I believe I was underground the week before.  So, if the mine explosion was on Friday the 19th, so the week before that would've been the Friday the 12th, I think it was in that week that ended Friday the 12th.  I can’t be exact, but I’m pretty sure.  To my recollection we had a group of trainees finishing and I went underground on the day that they were, we had their barbecue so it might’ve been on Friday the 12th.
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Q. Turning to the next topic which is the submission that Pike River 
Coal Limited made to the Department of Labour in respect of the proposed changes to the regime.  You recall my friend, Mr Mount, putting a series of propositions to you from that document yesterday?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. You went through and you confirmed that notwithstanding your emphasis on being a company document you nonetheless now still agreed with some of the comments that were made that were put to you?

A. In allowing the document to be submitted with those statements in the first place, in other words in even in being the contact and being the general manager I agreed at the time with the statements whether they originated from me or not and, yes, I still hold those statements to be a reflection.

Q. If I could ask you please to look at page 11 of that document.  That’s the passage which wasn’t put to you yesterday by Mr Mount and the question at the bottom of that page Ms Basher, number 1, you'll see there under the general additional questions after document 
number 1, “What do you think are the main health and safety issues facing the underground mining industry today that need addressing?” and the response was, “Levels of competence and the experience of workers and contractors working underground is of concern,” that’s the first proposition.  “The inspectorate is seriously undermanned and under resourced,” that’s the second proposition, and you've already confirmed yesterday in relation to the second sentence that you still agreed with or you agreed with that statement.

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Turning then to the first part of that sentence, “Levels of competence and experience of workers and contractors working underground is of concern.”  Do you agree with that?

A. It’s actually not just an issue for New Zealand but for Australia as well.  There’s a large boom in the industry and we’re continuing to draw more people into the industry so it’s an ongoing concern for the whole industry, yes.

Q. So this document was prepared, as we can see from the front page, on Friday 6th June 2008, correct?

A. Yes, I haven't got the front page in front of me but I have no reason to not believe.

Q. Well take it from me that’s what it says, and that was therefore before the breakthrough into coal which I think was on or about 
17 October 2008?

A. That's correct.

Q. Did you have the concerns about the levels of competence and experience of workers working underground at Pike that you expressed in this document at the time you broke through under coal in Pike River?

A. When the document was made we were pretty much on contract so we had all of the workers were McConnell Workers and they were also similarly struggling to get good competent tunnelling people so this was written at a time that we were in hard rock still so the comments at the time reflected not only my observation of the difficulties of contractors.  In this stage we were talking about construction contractors not the sort of contractors that were underground at the time of the explosion but the major construction contractors like McConnell Dowell so it reflected that but it also reflected a knowledge of the industry in observing what was happening at Spring Creek and also my own knowledge having not long come out of the Australian industry and understanding that recruitment was going to be difficult and we were in a recruitment phase at that stage, albeit reasonably early so we were still building up our workforce at the very early stages but reflecting that we knew that there would be a difficulty in attracting large volumes of highly experienced and competent employees.

Q. So let’s narrow the field down to the pool that was available to you for the New Zealand industry and specifically around Greymouth and therefore Pike River.  I'm not talking about Australasia, I'm not talking about –

A. Well I don't think you can do that.

Q. Well at the time that you recruited men therefore for Pike River.

A. Yes.

Q. Is the concern which you have said that you had generally apply to the workforce that you were recruiting for Pike River?

A. Yes, it does but you're asking me to restrict it to Greymouth and we wouldn't be able to start a mine in Greymouth if we were only relying on the labour pool in Greymouth.

Q. Okay I understand, I apologise.  The pool then that you are drawing from, the wider pool Australasia you're including –

A. Worldwide.

Q. – South Africa, England, yes.

A. Yes.
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Q. From that pool then and at Pike River at the time that you were entering coal in October 2008 did you still have the concern which you've just outlined in that document?

A. Well, it’s an overriding consideration to developing a mine, a concern, it was a concern that we were going to be able to continue to recruit so the earlier phases are a lot easier because you can cherry-pick out of a larger group the most experienced people, so we’d managed to get on some very good, very experienced people early on and as we went in through the first groups, your first phase of people, if you get 100 applicants and you only need 10 then it’s a lot easier to pick 10 out that have got good relevant experience, so the early phases of recruitment were more relevant, more competent, more experienced and better trained people but as you've built the workforce larger and larger and you need to increase that then the numbers of people you need and therefore the percentage of experienced people applying is less.

Q. So Mr Whittall, faced with all of these concerns for safety it must have been uppermost in your mind as you began the extraction phase?

A. Sorry, what were all my concerns about safety?

Q. As we’ve outlined them in the submission that you made to the Department of Labour and about the competence generally of the workforce?

A. That it would be a concern for safety in the mine, yes.

Q. So one of the issues which the Commission has granted leave for me to ask you about yesterday was whether or not Pike River Coal encountered any impediments in implementing safety measures and I want to turn to that issue now and take you first to exhibit 9 which is the trial panel document that we’ve seen before.  So, just to recap the light yellow sort of green trial panel at the top left was where you originally intended to extract first as a trial panel?

A. It was where the company negotiated a position with the Department of Conservation through the resource consent process pre August 2004.

Q. Is that another way of confirming that yes, that was the area that you intended to extract first from?

A. Yes.  You're using the word, “You,” I'm –

Q. The company.

A. Thank you, the company, it did intend to mine that area first in the original plans, yes.

Q. That was the plan and then through a series of, and you've acknowledged this yourself, basically just renaming areas that moved closer to what we now know to be the main mine workings and firstly the commissioning panel and then to the smaller bridging panel.  Is that right?

A. No, that’s not correct.  You're inferring that what we did was rename, what was actually redefined and redesigned the mining area and its impacts on the surface, the trial mining areas and commissioning and bridging are all determined by their impacts on the surface and the Department of Conservation in subsidence impacts so they just weren't renamed, they were actually redesigned.

Q. Redesigned and given names, I think you said yesterday that you gave names for them but for no particular reason, commissioning panel?

A. Yes, the terms, yes, we could've called them area A and B if we wanted to, they’re just words.

Q. And was the bridging panel called the bridging panel because it effectively enabled bridging finance because it was going to allow you to extract coal quicker?

A. No, it was called bridging panel because it was a way of bridging between not mining and the commissioning panel, it was a creative word, it could've been called dog panel, it wouldn’t have mattered, it’s just a word.

Q. Because at that time when that decision was made the cash flow was in a poor state, wasn’t it?

A. To the mine site?  No, not at all.  I think there seems to be some confusion between the financing of a company, which is the capital raising and bank finance, whatever, and the implication or otherwise that there's some cash flow issue at the mine site.  The mine was spending all the money it needed to spend, it was buying all the equipment it needed to buy and it was doing everything it needed to do at the operation so the funding of the company to allow finances to be spent at the mine site was a separate issue from the actual spending of finances at the mine site.

Q. Okay, the funding was being used of course because there was so much to do.

A. Correct.

Q. But the revenue that was being generated by the mine at that stage was down in what had been budgeted or forecast for earlier?

A. The original forecast had allowed for a period of time between the completion of the tunnel and the commencement of extraction on the trial area and so therefore the earlier mining of the smaller areas, variously called “bridging” and “commissioning,” was intended to commence extraction earlier, correct.
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Q. It’s obvious isn’t it that the sooner you were able to get coal out of the mine and generate revenue from that source, the better it was overall for the company?

A. That would be a standard business assumption yes.  Money coming in is a much better thing than just money going out.

Q. That's right.  So you said yesterday that a risk assessment was done in relation to bringing forward the extraction from the initial trial panel area to the bridging panel area?

A. No, no I didn't say that.  What I said was that we did a risk assessment around the commencement of hydro operations in the bridging panel.  The only consideration of doing the difference between the trial area and the bridging area or the commissioning area was its impact on substance in the surface and that was done as an exercise with the Department of Conservation from an environment effects point of view.  The risk assessment that was done to commence hydro operations and consider all the safety and operational things that needed to be done, would have been done whether it was for the commencement of hydro in the commissioning panel, the trial panel or any other panel.

Q. So the wider risk issues which might arise as a consequence of starting work on that bridging panel, were they not considered?

A. The wider risk issues?

Q. Wider possible risk issues?

A. Such as?

Q. Well, such as a consequence of your decision to extract coal from the bridging panel was that you moved away from the plan that would have seen you move towards the plan’s second means of egress?

A. No.  The roadway is going to the west, which went towards that second means of egress was still progressing.

Q. Mr Whittall, you were concentrating work on building works towards the bridging panel and devoting men and resources to extracting coal and not building roads out to the west to the escarpment and where the second means of egress would have been?

A. No that’s not true.  If you look –

Q. Did you continue to build roads to the west?

MS SHORTALL:

Your Honour, I think the witness was about to further answer that question before he was interrupted.  I think we're right on the verge of phase one versus phase three, so I just like to note that for the record as well, thank you.

MR RAYMOND:
Your Honour, I'm talking about the sequence of development, which is clearly within phase one, and whether or not the impact of concentrating on the bridging panel had an impact on going to the west?

THE COMMISSION: 
You may proceed Mr Raymond, but do allow Mr Whittall to answer please.

cross-examination continues:  MR RAYMOND

A. The plan PW28, which has been put up on a number of occasions, showed where there was a drill rig drilling to the west to cover those roadways.  It showed that there was a continuous miner in that roadway parked, facing in that road to go to the west, and it shows that there was a roadheader mining in the bottom roadway which is a heading of the mains to connect that roadway up to give us a third heading which is part of the roads going to the west, and you'll also –

Q. Could you just pause so we can go through PW28, thank you.

A. Certainly.  So using that plan for illustration, you'll see in the left-hand side roadway the stub, Valley Longwall drill rig D1001 is actually there to drill the area immediately in front of the roadways heading to the west.  You can see the Waratah continuous miner in the heading directly above it, which is the roadway heading to the west, and you can see the Waratah roadheader, which is back down to the right-hand side heading back down to make the connection in that set of mains that are the main western headings heading to the west.  The continuous miner, only one continuous miner which is the ABM20, is scheduled in the next small commissioning panel.  You can't put three continuous miners in two headings and it’s really even hard to have three continuous miners in three headings.  It’s a very inefficient and very difficult situation so that the continuous miners were heading to the west.  If you were to go back to the mine schedule in 2005 or any other time, you'll also see that the continuous miners there were mining out to the west, but at the same time were continuing to mine to the north.  So there was always an intention in the original mine plan to mine both to the west and to the north.  So the fact that one of the resources was being used to develop the bridging panel and the commissioning panel, that resource would have otherwise been allocated to driving roadways out to the north which had nothing to do with going to the west anyway. 
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A. It was always intended to have multiple faces going in multiple directions.  And in this case we were still going to the west.  And I think Mr Mount yesterday put a document that showed that one of the priorities for the immediate development of the mine was to develop to the west where the egress panel was, or the egress exits were.

Q. Isn’t it correct that the Waratah continuous miner, which we can see at the A heading which isn’t complete, is one of your less effective pieces of machinery and in fact at that time was not operative in that area?

A. No, I’m not aware that it wasn’t operative.  I knew there was a fault that had run through that face area and that continuous miner had developed that roadway to that point.  We had two machines, one of which was in worse condition that the other.  One was down at Grey Brothers in town and this one was still operational, it wasn’t as effective on the flat ground but this was quite steep difficult territory.

Q. To your knowledge was that Waratah continuous miner working in November on road development?

A. Yes it was to my knowledge.

Q. And the more effective road header was the ABM continuous miner, which we can see in the heading towards north, top of the picture?

A. Yes, well it was being more effective in those conditions because we’d put it into a road that was long and straight and was slightly flatter than where the other miner was.  It wouldn’t have been as effective had it been down in the other roadway.

Q. Do you accept Mr Whittall that when you look at the PW28 diagram you can see the two quite significant roads when compared to the rest of the mine developed at that stage up towards where the goaf is, that resources were directed to getting to that goaf for the purposes of the company extracting coal where those resources could’ve otherwise been directed in further developing the roads to the west and therefore closer to the point of the second egress?

A. No, that’s not as simple as that.  You’re making as if you can only, if you allocate, if you’ve got a hundred men you can’t put a hundred men in a mine at the one coalface and make it go 10 times faster than if you had 10 men there.  You can only allocate machinery and men to a working faces to allow air efficiently to be sent there, to allow coal to be efficiently hauled from there, and while that panel was extending to the north those other roads, which you can see there’s more of them and in more difficult conditions, the better conditions are turning to the right and going up because the slope is better and the structures weren’t going across the face and the gas holes weren’t going across the face like that, the PRDH8 we talked about, so we were continuing, there was mining being scheduled to the west almost all the time where it could be efficiently done so.  But it wasn’t, yes it was an imperative to go in all those directions.

Q. And just finally, the simple proposition that I’m asking about, do you consider that as a consequence of having to build those roads to the north towards the goaf had any impact on, or delayed the development of the roads to the west?

A. I’d have to go back and do an analysis of it or have maybe someone like the tech services team who do the modelling of that make that comment in more detail.

Q. Okay.

A. My understanding was all those roads were being progressed with the resources we had available to us.

Q. No doubt we will come back to that.  Turning then to the final topic, which is matters relating to egress and the fresh air base in the context of trying to get a better understanding of what was in the mine and how it was developed as at the time of the first explosion.  Be grateful if you could help us further understand the company’s position on the vent shaft and the Alimak rise as a second means of egress.  Firstly, can you confirm that the Alimak and the vent shaft contains a ladder, both through the Alimak and through the vent shaft right to the surface?

A. That's correct.

Q. And the total climb if one was to do it would be in the order of 150 metres?

A. No, about 108 to my knowledge.  The shaft depth is only about 100 metres deep.

Q. My understanding that the Alimak alone is a 50 metre vertical climb?

A. That's correct.  And it comes into the shaft at a bit less than 60 metres.

Q. Let’s just take it one step at a time. 

A. Okay.
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Q. The 50 metres for the, first 50 metres or so for the first Alimak climb and then there’s an incline of about 15 metres which then –

A. It’s pretty flat to walk.  It’s, you go sideways so you go to the top of the Alimak and then you walk sideways so it’s not a ladder or a climb, it’s a walk.

Q. On a slight incline?

A. Oh of one or two degrees maybe.  It’s like flat.

Q. And then when you get to the main vent shaft ladder what distance do you say it is from that point to the surface?

A. I'm not exactly sure but my recollection is it would be 60, 61 metres, 60 metres something like that.

Q. And in the Alimak part of the climb are there platforms at intervals where the –

A. Not to my knowledge, no.

Q. -  men can rest.

A. No, there’s not.

Q. And in the Alimak near the top at one point the ladder ascends at an angle so effectively you're leaning, you're climbing and leaning back on an angle.  Did you know that?

A. I wasn’t aware of that actually.  I thought it was actually leaning in, not out.

Q. I take it from that comment you haven't then been up the ladder yourself?

A. No, I haven't climbed the ladder since it was installed.

Q. You said yesterday that an exercise hadn't taken place, to your knowledge, whereby all of the men in the mine might have had some sort of emergency drill to go up the ladder but you then, in the same sentence, said that men do go up and down it?

A. Correct.

Q. Are you saying that as part of the sort of general operation or requirements of the mine from time to time men are required to go from the bottom of the ladder from the Alimak right to the top, to the surface?

A. Yes, they do, engineers, tradesmen climbed up it.  We’ve had an occasion where I know the fan on the surface has either tripped or they’ve had some communication problem with it but we couldn't fly in so one of the engineers climbed up and did the repairs and climbed back down again.

Q. Is that the only occasion that you're aware of?

A. No, I'm aware of other ones.  That was an example I was giving you.  I know other engineers and tradesmen have had to climb up it anecdotally and I've spoken to them.

Q. Are you able to identify them?

A. I'm sure Matt Coll has climbed the shaft.  I'm sure Mike Scott has climbed the shaft.  I can't recall any other individuals.

Q. Matt Coll was one of the men who helped build the ladder, wasn’t he?

A. Correct.

Q. And so he climbed it as part of that process?

A. And since then -

Q. And since.

A. - as far as I know.

Q. It wasn’t a regular thing though, was it?

A. I can't really say.  I'm not sure whether it was or not.

Q. You are aware of the New Zealand Mine Service audit about self escape capabilities in August 2009?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. MRS005 just coming up at page 3 on paragraph 4, it was described that in a fire situation using the vent shaft and the Alimak as a means of egress would be virtually impossible, second paragraph.

A. Yes, I've read this report before.

Q. As a result of that report did it continue to be the company’s position that this was nonetheless a second means of egress?

A. I think we established yesterday that it was a second exit from the mine.  The definition or the determination to be a second means of egress means you have it as your second response from your primary egress and the alternative to our primary egress was determined to be preferable to being a refuge bay while maintaining this as an escapeway or a second exit from the mine but not a determine, not a deemed second means of egress was the way it was viewed while we worked towards the western side to put the permanent second egress in.

Q. To your knowledge had the egress or escape route, whatever you like to call it, been tested with men going up it with BG4s on or sometimes called GB174s the larger breathing apparatus?

A. Yeah, the BG174s.  I'm not aware of one way or the other.  I have no knowledge.

Q. Do you know, miners down the mine wouldn't have those big apparatus anyway, would they.

A. No, only the rescue team would wear those. 
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Q. So they’d have a self rescue?

A. A Draeger self rescuer, yes.

Q. And that’s the one which allows some 30 minutes of oxygen?

A. Yes, thereabouts.

Q. And it’s a chemical reaction, isn't it, when it’s activated to allow some sort of –

A. – it generates oxygen and, yes, has a chemical in the device.

Q. Is one of the features, that might be a misnomer to describe it as that, but one of the things about these Draeger units is that when you're using them in order to ensure that that chemical reaction continues to work properly is that you don’t overexert yourself, you can't put yourself under pressure?

A. They just get used up quicker, they work best at rest but they’re designed for walking out of a mine so if you're walking out, you're climbing, you're exerting yourself, that’s how they’re designed.  They’re designed to be a self escape, they’re not designed just to sit, the idea of having 30 minutes is that you're supposed to walk from one place to another so I don’t accept that they’re not designed for exertion, they are designed for whatever needs to be done when you're escaping but they will last longer at rest, so a 30 minute unit is deemed to be 30 minute, like most things there's a factor of safety in them, so they’re deemed to be a 30 minute unit because you can wear it for 30 minutes under exertion and under walking, whereas if you just sat down and put it on in the rib and waited you could probably go maybe 60 minutes with the same unit and the same person.

Q. To your knowledge was the impact of wearing one of those units in an irrespirable atmosphere, climbing up a 100 metre vertical shaft, under no doubt some stress, ever tested?

A. I'm not sure, I can't answer that.

Q. Well, you were a part of that risk assessment panel which we put up before, can you recall if it was discussed in that context?

A. Sorry, which risk assessment panel was I the part of?

Q. The document I showed you before where you were part of the expert group for the risk assessment for the second means of egress?

A. That was done some years earlier, yes.

Q. Can you recall whether as part of that exercise consideration was given as to the impact of using a 30 minute Draeger self rescue?

A. I don’t recall.

Q. Is it correct to your knowledge that the safe working load for that ladder was at any one time eight men?

A. I don’t have any knowledge of the design of the ladder in the Alimak.  It was to my knowledge designed for its purpose for escape and I don't know what number of people it was designed for.

Q. The acting mine manager at one stage, Mick Bevan, did some calculations which were advised to you about the number of men on the ladder at any one time being eight.  Do you recall that?

A. I don’t recall it but if you say that I was advised that at the time, that was some two and a bit years ago, two and a half years ago.

Q. You mentioned harnesses yesterday, which you said could be used in conjunction with the ladder.  What sort of harnesses were you referring to?

A. They’re a fall arrest harness, I've not put one on or seen the ones that Neville ended up buying but my understanding is they’re a harness to be worn over the top of your overalls and attached to a fall arrest lanyard that’s attached to a catenary wire in the shaft, only used for the Alimak section.

Q. So that’s fall, F-A-L-L, fall arrest harness?

A. Yes, fall arrest.

Q. And how many of those were available?

A. I don't know.

Q. Would it surprise you to learn there was only four?

A. No, it wouldn’t, well, I don't know, I didn’t expect there to be hundreds of them and your comment on eight people on the ladder, given that people are typically a couple of metres all and the ladder’s 50 metres high then that doesn’t particularly surprise me, but the number of four, no, I have no knowledge whether there was four or 10.

Q. And as the ladder is attached to the shaft by some metal strut or something of that nature, and there is a cable which goes up which is what the harness is to be attached to, correct?

A. That’s how I understand it works, yes.

Q. But because of the struts you can't have a clean run with your harness going up the cable so it at some point has to be disconnected and then reconnected?

A. As I understand it, yes.

Q. So there's another type of harness which caters for that called a Type 1 fall arrest device, which is an inertia type device, a bit like a seatbelt in a car.  Are you familiar with that?

A. No.

Q. You don’t know what I'm talking about?

A. No, I'm not aware, it’s not an area of my, either my expertise or an area that I've particularly studied.
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Q. So you can't help us with how many of those then there might have been at the bottom of the Alimak for use?

A. No.

Q. Now you mentioned yesterday in relation to the ladder in particular, whether you were aware of any safety assessments being done by men trying to go up it, and you've confirmed again today that you were not aware of all of the men in the mine having such an exercise, but you yourself, Mr Whittall, were part of an assessment whereby you agreed with Neville Rockhouse, Nick Gribble, the engineering manager, Adrian Couchman, the training and safety coordinator, and Matt Coll, an experience mining engineer whom you've mentioned, to do a test run of going up the Alimak and the vent shaft weren’t you?

A. Who would do the test run?

Q. All of you?

A. Possibly, if you have a document that says that.

Q. There's several emails reminding you of that, which I don't have access to at the moment, but you recall it was a bit of a joke amongst the four or five of you to see who amongst you would be able to get up it?

A. I don't recall that, but if you're saying you have emails to that effect.  Can you remind me of a period that this –

Q. It was about four months before the explosion?

A. Four months before the explosion.  I don't recall it but I have no reason to believe that that wouldn't be the case.

Q. And when the time came for this exercise to take place you didn't turn up for it?

A. Oh, I do recall the event now, yes, and what’s going to happen and I was otherwise on the road doing a shareholder briefing or something.  So there was a ribbing about the fact that they had planned for this to happen and that I wasn't available.

Q. Yes.  So planned to be there, didn't make it, but was it reported back to you by those that did do this exercise of how it was for them?

A. I recall a discussion with Matt Coll on the event.  I can't remember who else I spoke to about it.  I may well have spoken to Neville.  I don't recall if it came up at a management meeting or whether it was done just informally, I don't recall that.

Q. Do you accept in the circumstances, given the arrangement and the ribbing that you got, that it’s likely that there was a discussion post the exercise, bringing things to your attention?

A. Yeah.  I said I did remember talking to Matt Coll about it after the event.  I don't remember who else I spoke to.

Q. Turning finally to the fresh air base issue.  Again, helpful if you can explain to the Commission a little bit more about what you understand to be the case with that as at November 2010.  During the driving of the drift through the stone Macdow had a shipping container and a stub at about 1600 metres didn't they?

A. Possibly.  I can't remember whether it was a shipping container or not, but yes there was a container, yes.

Q. And that was, effectively, what you were referring to yesterday as one of the bases?

A. No, the one that was there as the changeover station you're talking about?

Q. It may have been?

A. Yeah, so there was a changeover station in the tunnel, which wasn't a shipping container.  It was a purpose-built changeover station with doors and racks and rescuers and fresh air, so no that’s why I'm confused.  It’s not – I don't recall a shipping container being there.

Q. Okay.  That might be correct.  So it was nonetheless a container that was at about 1600 metres –

A. That's right, that was a changeover station for –

Q. For use by Macdow?

A. It was originally identified by the company with Mr Firmin who was here the other day, and through discussions with Mr Firmin, and directly between Mr Firmin and the McConnell Dowell management that was the solution they came up to for the use in the tunnel.

Q. And because they weren’t in coal at that stage and the drift was being naturally ventilated, it was never connected to a fresh air supply was it?

A. The drift was never naturally ventilated.  It was ventilated with forcing ventilation from fans on the surface.

Q. Yes, okay.  But there was no compressed airline going into this container or this purpose-built –

A. It wasn't a fresh air base, it was a changeover station.  A changeover station is used in the event that the rescuer – well there was a concern by the inspector that if they were up the end of the tunnel that their self-rescuer may not last till the end of the tunnel so they should have a changeover station.
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Q. The reason I ask, and I’m not going to go into it now at all because it’s for another phase, but there was a suggestion that it was a place that the two men who were able to get out of the mine should go to as a refuge on their way out, so it wasn’t for that purpose?

A. When it was originally installed it was installed as a changeover station, not a refuge station.  And to my understanding on the 19th of November, I could be wrong, but my understanding on the 19th of November was that the changeover station had been decommissioned and it was no longer functioning as a changeover station.  I don’t recall that there was anything in it and the fact that it hadn’t been taken away was probably more logistics than anything else.

Q. You have worked in underground mines previously I think you said yesterday in Australia?

A. Yes, all my career, yes.

Q. All your career have been based in underground mines?

A. Yes, either in the underground mine or in the offices associated with it, yes.

Q. So you’d be well familiar with what some refuge bases can be like?

A. No actually, not at all.  It’s not something in any of the mines I’ve ever worked at they’ve ever had a refuge station.

Q. Really.

A. Mmm.

Q. Have you been in the Spring Creek Mine?

A. I’ve been underground to visit the hydro-face, well probably on four occasions and saw it working once, but yes I’ve been there probably three or four times.

Q. And have you been into the refuge base which is in the Spring Creek Mine?

A. No, I only went underground with Spring Creek’s permission to have a look at their hydro, they’re fairly tight about what they take you to.

Q. You will nonetheless though, given your experience in the mining industry, be familiar with what they are and can assist us with what sometimes they might be given you a reading?

A. Not really.  Given my background is, I’ve said I’ve never used one and the only time I’ve ever seen a refuge station, commercial refuge station has been when I’ve been to AMEX conference in Australia or something where they sell them.  That’s about the only time I’ve ever seen one.

Q. And the Australian mines that you referred to, what were the lengths of the drifts that you were working in or were dealing with?

A. The different mines I’ve worked at, two were adit mines, so they basically went straight in from the escarpment and went in – well the first mine I worked at went in 10 kilometres before you got the closest working face.  The second mine I worked at had been operating since 1854 and we went in about 13 kilometres to get to the working face and there was a big mine behind that as well.  The other two mines I worked at were both shaft mines and they’re 500 metres deep with a shaft down and a shaft up and no drifts at all, well there was no walking egress from those mines, they were both, there wasn’t even ladderways, they were just cable wound skips, one cage down and then the egress from the mine was standing on top of the, excuse me, I think my eyes are getting tired.  The Tower and Cordeaux Collieries both had haulage skips for their coal, 15 tonne skips that went up and down, and the egress from the mine was standing on top of those skips.  So with a guard rail around you but there was no ladderways in either of those mines.  Appin Colliery I managed for a while and it had two drifts, incline drifts, and parallel to each other, and the shaft wasn’t used as an egress so they were drift mines.  And that drift was probably more than two kilometres long.  I can’t remember exactly how long.  I think it’s the mine that Mr Hughes referred to having visited in Australia the other day as well, be well over two kilometres and that was a walk uphill, not downhill, it was a decline drift.  And sorry, and Westcliff colliery I worked at and that was also a decline drift down at least a kilometre and a half, if not two kilometres.

Q. Now just returning to a refuge and taking account of what you’ve said about a lack of too much knowledge about how they might be.  If I can describe to you the refuge base, for example, which is at Spring Creek and I just want to ask whether or not there’s anything like that at Pike.  So there there’s a refuge base where you go through a door into a vestibule-type area, you close the first door, you go through a second door into a large chamber which has emergency lighting, food and water supply and compressed air going into it as a means of refuge for men in an emergency.  Is that how you understand them to be?

A. That’s one way of setting up a refuge chamber.

Q. So just so that we’re clear on this.  At Pike the fresh air base is the stub at the bottom of the Slimline shaft?
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A. You're using two different terms, one’s a refuge chamber and the other one’s a fresh airbase.   A refuge chamber is not necessarily a fresh airbase.  They’re not the same thing.

Q. Well let’s put it another way.

A. They can be, but they’re not necessarily.

Q. There’s no, just be absolutely clear, there’s no refuge chamber of the sort I just described in the mine at Pike River?

A. No, there’s not.

Q. So turning then to what is there which is not a refuge chamber but a fresh airbase, it’s correct isn't it that the fresh airbase which you refer to is a stub at the bottom of a Slimline shaft?

A. That's correct.

Q. And there’s no door to it, is there?

A. My understanding from discussions with Mr White is that it’s got a door that’s capable of being put down which would act as a barrier to smoke so it’s basically a roller door on the –

Q. It’s a brattice, isn't it?

A. That’s how I understand it to be, yes.

Q. And by reference to the glossary a brattice is an impervious plastic or fabric cloth used in the construction of ventilation control devices or usually in stockings?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you say in your discussion with Mr White you defer to him, you’ve told us how many times you were in the mine, and even only a week or so before the explosion, so you would've gone past the stub many times?

A. Yes.

Q. So rather than deferring to Mr White about what was there, you can tell us yourself that you know that there was a brattice as the doorway to that stub?

A. I know that there was a brattice roller door rolled up to the roof when I've been past there but whether there was any other device that could be used in that stub I'm not aware but as far as I know that was the intended use of that brattice door, yes.

Q. And it has a rope system so that you pull it and the brattice drops down when you need to close it off?

A. I would imagine that’s how, when you do a roller door there’s a fairly standard way of doing brattice roller doors and I’d imagine it’s been built in a fairly standard way.

Q. And at this fresh airbase there are two self rescuer boxes and a fire rescue equipment box?

A. As I understand it, yes.

Q. And a first aid pod on the wall?

A. As I understand it.  I've seen photos of it now.

Q. Did you ever go into it?

A. No, I never went into it.

Q. In all those visits to the mine you never went into what was this significant piece of infrastructure, fresh airbase?

A. Well in your words it’s a significant piece of infrastructure.  Are you saying it’s a stub below a Slimline shaft with safety equipment in it and I have every confidence in the safety management of the mine to know that they’d have it adequately assessed so it’s not something that I would've needed to audit.

Q. Now the oxygen source then for the fresh airbase is the Slimline shaft itself?

A. Correct.

Q. Would you agree that at most you would get 20 men in that stub behind the brattice?

A. I really can't comment on the exact number of people.  It goes in about 15 metres deep so possibly that would be a reasonable number.  It could take more.  I really can't attest to how many could get in there.  I'm not sure where you got your 20 from.

Q. And adjacent to the shaft is a bore hole with a four inch pipe gas drainage line running up it?

A. That's correct.  The gas riser that we’ve spoken of on a number of occasions.

Q. So if that gas drainage line was damaged potentially in some sort of explosion or event you could be introducing methane into the fresh airbase?

A. The gas wouldn't come back down the riser but the pipeline would be isolated going into the fresh airbase.

Q. And what if it was damaged as it goes into the fresh airbase and before it goes up?

A. Well you'd turn it off at the next valve.

Q. So you don't accept that there’s potential for methane to enter the fresh airbase?

A. Oh no it certainly is but it would be able to be isolated.

Q. Just on a normal day, if we can understand how the system works, on a normal day no problems.  The mine ventilation is circulating as intended, oxygen is coming in down the main shaft?

A. No.

Q. Sorry coming down the Slimline shaft given the draw of the vent shaft.  The main vent shaft is acting as a draw and bringing air down the Slimline shaft?

A. That's correct.

Q. If the fans at the bottom of the vent shaft stop in some sort of catastrophic event, the drift through this, you know the main drive, the drift will draw oxygen into the mine.
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A. If all fans are off there is a lag in natural ventilation, different mines go for longer periods of time because air has a weight so the fans would be moving air through the mine, so air would continue to move for some period and then after that there's a natural heating of the air underground and so you would end up with a natural buoyancy and different mines, they’re called breathing, so different mines will breathe differently.  In our case our experience has been that the mine will typically breathe in as is experienced after the 19th of November explosion where the air was reset so it would naturally breathe in.

Q. So that being the case the situation at the Slimline is reversed isn't it, instead of air being drawn down the Slimline because of the force of the fan causing that draught, with the air going down the drift oxygen or air is actually going up the Slimline, not down it?

A. I don't know about that actually.  I wouldn’t say that that’s categorically true, given that the rest of the mine is warm and the air is being warmed through the mine and then being drawn up the main shaft, which has got the least restriction, it’s more than likely that the Slimline would continue to draw air down it, but I can't qualify that.

Q. You can see though it’s a potential possibility, isn't it?

A. I haven't done that exercise myself to understand that.

Q. If that was the case and if that’s what the evidence –

THE COMMISSION:

Mr Raymond, are we not straying beyond this phase?  You've established what was in the base.

MR RAYMOND:

Sir, trying to establish with the witness how he understands in the event of a fan not working, how the fresh air base at the bottom of the vent shaft, how the fresh air base would actually get air.

THE COMMISSION:

The Commission accepts of course these are crucial issues but you have established what is in the base and that there are issues with it, they will no doubt be explored.

MR RAYMOND:

They will be sir, one last question as to the infrastructure at that point, if I may, it’s the last question?

THE COMMISSION:

Yes.

cross-examination continues:  mr raymond

Q. Mr Whittall, the compressed airline which we’ve heard about going into the mine?

A. Yes.

Q. In relation to where the stub is for the fresh air base is on the opposite side of the drift going past the stub?

A. I can't exactly recall, it does change sides in the tunnel but most likely on that side, yes.

Q. So when the brattice was down and if men were in the stub in order to get compressed air into the stub the compressed airline would have to be broken and somehow pulled across to that area?

A. You wouldn’t just break a main pipeline like that and bring it across as you say, there would have to be – there's outlets all along the pipeline and then there would be a hose brought across to anywhere so compressed airlines have outlets on them, you don’t break the pipe and bring it across, so where the nearest outlet was, I can't say one way or the other.

RE-examination:  mS shortall

Q. Mr Whittall, I just want to cover several matters that have come up in the last couple of days during your evidence, but let me just start with several questions that were asked by counsel for the family.  You were shown two documents and I wonder if we could actually bring those up side by side, the front page of both.  The other one is DAO.002.03151 and just for the record, these are the front pages of the two documents that were shown to you by counsel for the family, do you recognise them Mr Whittall?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And I believe you noted that neither of them had been signed and in fact the document headed, “Roles and responsibilities,” says draft document on it.  Is that right?

A. Yes that's right, it was done as an exercise to put something in place, Kobus – what normally happens with these sort of documents is that the originator is a person who perceives the need for the document or ends up owning the document but someone that can take accountability for those things ends up being the authoriser. So in this case Kobus generated this document and it was for me to authorise, but I don't know whether it was ever signed or not or whether it even became a formal document.
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Q. And just so I clearly understand this.  On the front page of both of these documents there is an identification of a department and then under that there's an originator title, authoriser title, is that right on both documents?

A. Yes that’s correct.

Q. And is the department designation the department within the company that had responsibility for the subject matter of this particular document?

A. That's correct.

Q. So if we take the first document that was shown to you.  Just for the record, DAO.002.03151.  The responsible department there is identified as the general manager, mines, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And you're identified as the general manager of mines on this particular document, Mr Whittall?

A. That's correct.

Q. But it’s not signed is it sir?

A. No it was – I don't recall if it was ever finalised, it was just written by Kobus for clarification of people’s roles.

Q. And then if we come to the risk assessment, which is DAO.004.04414, which department is identified as responsible?

THE COMMISSION: 

Well we can see Ms Shortall what department is there, it’s obvious.  The document speaks for itself.
MS SHORTALL: 

I'll move on then sir.

re-examination continues:  MS SHORTALL 

Q. We focus on the risk assessment.  You were shown one section of that.  I believe it was 3.2.  If we could just bring that up on the screen.  It’s page 6 of the document – page 8.  And if we could just bring you back to the section you were asked about by counsel for the families, 3.2 is a reference to a risk assessment by the expert team, and your name was identified as the first name in that list for the expert team, Mr Whittall.  Do you recall that?

A. Yes.

Q. And just so I'm clear, can you identify the other members of that expert team?

A. Yes.  Trevor Watts is the general manager of Mines Rescue Service. He's based in Greymouth or the Arapahoe Station.  Terry Moynihan was our projects manager, had been brought on board originally as our tech services manager but was a consulting mining engineer that was working on the hydro panel and all the other – he took over the shaft Alimak project as one of his projects and other things like that.  Michael Bevan was a probably 30, 32, 33 year experienced mine manager, underground coal miner, and degree engineer out of New South Wales that was brought over to fill a gap between Kobus Louw leaving and Nigel Slonker starting.  So that would put this document in about the first few months of 2009.  Nick Gribble was the engineering manager for Pike River Coal and in the absence of Kobus he’d taken over the role of production manager, and Allan Dixon is an experienced miner that worked at Pike River Coal.  At the time he was doing some surface duties and working in the safety training department and therefore was brought on to the expert team as an experienced miner.  And Matt Coll had previously been the engineering manager at Spring Creek and he’d left that and was working as a consulting engineer.  He’s not a mining engineer.   Although it says a mining engineer there, he’s actually a mechanic or a trades engineer but works at the mine, so he’s an engineer in the mining industry rather than a mining engineer.  So it’s not rightly written in that area.

Q. And Mr Whittall, counsel asked you to accept for today’s purpose that the version of the risk assessment that you've been shown is final.  If the document was still a draft in 2010, who would have been responsible for finalising it?

A. Usually it’s the owner of the document, which is the originator or the responsible person.  Some documents have responsible person and authoriser, others have originator and authoriser, but in this case I think the term on the front was originator.  So usually the originator or person owning the document drives them through.
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Q. Let me turn to several questions that you were asked yesterday about Mr Whittall.  You were asked about certain reviews, in fact it may have been on Wednesday, certain reviews conducted for NZOG by BDA in around May 2010.  Do you recall those questions?

A. Yes, there was two in May and a follow-up in June I think.

Q. And you gave evidence that you never saw a copy of the management report until it went to NZOG and then you thought you received it from John Dow the chairman of Pike River Coal.  Do you recall that?

A. That's correct.

Q. And have you spoken with Mr Dowell about BDAs management report prepared for NZOG?

A. Yes, I spoke to him when we received it and discussed the findings in both the technical and the management report. 

Q. And what do you recall of that discussion?

A. Well at the time I dealt with it with Mr Dow because Gordon Ward was in Bali at a conference that week that we received it so because he was sort of on a different zone and out of the country I helped Mr Dow make responses to New Zealand Oil and Gas on the comments that were made in there and we prepared, in some cases clarification statement, in other cases we didn’t agree with what was made in the BDA report and so we made rebuttal statements, if you like, and made clarifications for a New Zealand Oil and Gas at their request to make comment.

Q. Well let me show you a brief of evidence that’s been submitted to the Royal Commission by Mr Dow.  I don’t believe it has a reference number yet but we are still able to bring it up.  And if I could turn your attention to paragraph 9 of Mr Dow’s brief.  And if we could just highlight that please.  And in his brief Mr Whittall, Mr Dow states, and I’m reading directly, “Shortly after I received BDAs 2010 review in May 2010 I met with John McIntyre.  Mr McIntyre advised me that he was disappointed about not making his report available to Mr Whittall for comment prior to submitting it to the NZOG Board.  He explained that he was under pressure by the NZOG Board to produce the report urgently and this prevented him from obtaining Mr Whittall’s comment on the report.  
Mr McIntyre also expressed to me the utmost respect and admiration he had for Mr Whittall.”  Is that statement from Mr Dow’s brief Mr Whittall consistent with your discussion with Mr Dow?

A. Yes it is at the time because I was the one to highlight Mr Dow that I was concerned that Mr McIntyre’s comments about the senior management team somehow reflected on me at the time and also on some other members of the staff and I was concerned that that wasn’t my knowledge of my staff or of BDAs opinion of my staff, or myself.

Q. Now you were shown certain statements contained in the 2010 reviews prepared by BDA for NZOG and I’d like to ask you about three in particular.  There’s no need to put them back up, but you were shown a comment that the Pike River project had been severely delayed on its planned programme of construction development and ramp up to the target mining rate.  Do you remember being shown that comment?

A. Yes, yes.

Q. Putting aside whether or not you agree with BDAs comment, do you have a view on whether any such matter impacted safety at Pike’s mine?

A. No it didn’t.  And as I was making the point earlier there’s a very big difference between production delays from one side, production delays, also the raising of capital to the company et cetera on what men do and what supervisors do and what management do and what standards they allow in the mine, there’s absolutely no culture that I’ve ever promoted, or any of my management team to my knowledge have ever promoted which put operational needs ahead of the safe working practices of the mine.  The delays in production were lamentable and delays in the company achieving cashflow, positive cashflow is also lamentable but they’re business issues and to my knowledge at board level, or at senior operational level, or at operation level, to my knowledge there’s never been any indication or any insinuation that that should impact on the safe operating of mining.

Q. You were also shown a comment, and it may be addressed by your last answer Mr Whittall, it’s a comment from BDAs report that development was well behind schedule.  And my question to you is whether this matter had impacted on safety at Pike’s mine?
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A. I can't say whether it actually impacted on the ways and means of men’s mines or what they did on their job but it had no, it had no impact on the desires or the instructions of the company of the senior management or of my direct reports of management and certainly not of any of the mining officials I'm aware of.  I've never seen any evidence that they put the needs of the company’s cashflow ahead of the need to mine, to operate the mine safely.

Q. And Mr Whittall you were also shown a statement that there had been, and I'm just reading back the comment from BDA’s report, “A suite of unexpected technical and operational difficulties in the completion of initial mine development.”  Do you recall being shown that statement, sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And putting aside whether or not you agree with BDA’s comment to NZOG do you have a view on whether any such matter impacted safety at Pike’s mine?

A. I’d say.  I’ve never worked at a coal mine that didn’t have a suite of unexpected technical or other issues to deal with.  That’s the nature of mining.  You're dealing with nature and then quite complex mining equipment but I’d also reinforce that that had never led to the company, the board the management or the senior manager or the operational manager of the mine needing to make operational decisions that would impact adversely on safety because of unexpected technical difficulties or business pressures if you like.

Q. Now you've been asked, Mr Whittall, some questions about an audit conducted almost two years ago in August 2009 by Mines Rescue concerning use of the shaft’s ladderway as an exit from the mine.  Do you recall those questions?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. How did the August 2009 audit come about?

A. To my knowledge and recollection it came about at Pike’s request through general discussions in the management meetings and I, to the best of my knowledge, Mr Rockhouse proactively organised for the rescue service to come and to the audit for us.

Q. And you answered yesterday in response to a question from counsel assisting the Commission that a consequence of the audit was, and these are your words, sir, “Discussions with both the inspectorate and a risk assessment was established with a whole bunch of other people.”  Can you elaborate any further on that answer?

A. Well when the Alimak had first been put in and the ladderway was first put in that was done with the full knowledge and discussions with the inspectorate at the time.  There was a need to review our, given that it quite rightly has been pointed out, that the upper portion of the shaft had a staged ladderway and the bottom section had a straight ladderway and that other things needed to be given consideration so as a consequence of that review and other internal discussions both with site management and with the inspectors, a risk assessment was done in January 2010 with the newly appointed mine manager who had been at the mine for several months at that stage but, or a couple of months, but had just been ticketed so he was then responsible for the underground environment if you like and the statutory manager, so I opted not to attend that risk assessment and left it for the new mine manager and the operational team and to my recollection, I don't have that document in front of me, but the Mines Rescue Service, the site safety management and the site mine management plus engineering staff attended that risk assessment.

Q. Now you've been asked a series of questions, Mr Whittall, about topics like ventilation, gas drainage, locations of gas detectors, just to give some examples and in response you've referred to the mine manager.  Can you elaborate a little more on your role as the general manager of mines at Pike and later as the CEO in relation to the mine manager’s role?

A. Yeah, the mine manager’s role which I have been on a number of occasions myself and fully conversant with what that role is, is a statutory role in New South Wales, in Queensland and in New Zealand whereby the person responsible and appointed usually by the company as the mine manager is responsible for, at the top of the tree if you like as far as the law goes, to manage safety and manage the operations.  They have control of all operations on site, so there’s a fine line often between the mine manager and who they report to as to who can give instructions if you like.  
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A. Typically in my operational past – where I've been the mine manager on site you are the only person, you're the sort of senior person on site and the person you report to might be in the head office in town somewhere, but the mine manager runs the mine, they have all departments reporting to them and they are the top of the organisational chart.  In New Zealand that’s the same, so the mine manager is the only person that’s identified, there's no such thing as an operations manager or a general manager under legislation in New Zealand, so it’s very – it’s always a fine line and one I'm very acutely aware of in roles I've had in the past, where there's often overlap between an operations or a general manager and what they want and what they think should happen compared to what the statutory manager ultimately has legal responsibility, wants to do, so I'm acutely aware because I've been in that position myself on a number of occasions, that the mine manager at the end of the day has the final say in the safe operations of the mine.  So, at Pike it was no different.  We actually had, probably more difficult for the mine manager in such that it was a single mine operation so the mine manager for example, Mick Lerch at the time, the first half of 2010 when some of these issues were arising, he was legally responsible for all of the safe operations of the mine, but he also had a 30 plus year experienced mine manager sitting in the office near him as his boss and then had another 30 year plus mining person in myself above that again, so there's quite a lot of resource and oversight but ultimately, especially in my role, both as a general manager, we’ll come to the CEO later, it was always one of utmost respect for the mine manager’s role, it’s a position of legal responsibility, it’s a position no manager takes lightly, they would do to their peril because ultimately they will be held responsible and accountable and that’s something we all take on when we take on those roles at law and understand that fully.  So, the mine manager’s case at Pike, they had full legal responsibility for the operation of mine and both, mostly from a safety, the legislation is written around safety, it’s not written around productivity or getting coal out, it’s written about doing those things safely, so just to finish the question you asked me in my role as CEO, the role of CEO, I was appointed to the role and one of the justifications given was my mining background as compared to my previous incumbent’s financial background, Mr Ward, however the role of CEO had no operational responsibilities as far as that was concerned, it was an oversight, like a chief executive of any company, and below me was a mine manager and in the case of Doug, was carrying both roles at the time until Steve Ellis was appointed but in theory there was a mine manager and then an operations manager or general manager below that, in that role so we had several layers of management above the mine manager.

Q. Now, you were also asked about certain evidence given by Don Elder last week that Solid Energy believed Pike River’s coal was likely at best to qualify only as a semi hard coking coal.  Do you recall those questions?

A. Yes I do.

Q. Do you have any further comment on that matter sir?

A. No, the only comment I'd make is that while Mr Elder has said that the coal was only semi hard, as I said, our coal was already presold for the next three years at 70% capacity to customers as a hard coking coal, and they had determined that and we had agreed that it would be sold as a hard coking coal.  We had contracts with two shareholders for 55% of the production from the mine for the life of mine, for the next 20 years as a hard coking coal.  There was no suggestion by any customer ever that the coal was anything other than a hard coking coal so, again, I'm not sure of what Mr Elder was basing his knowledge or why he would make those conclusions publicly.

Q. Now, you were also shown a prefeasibility study by counsel assisting the Commission that was done in 1995 by a company called CMS.  Do you recall being shown that document?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And just for the record I'll note that is NZOG0002, and without showing it to you again Mr Whittall, you were asked about a statement in that study estimating the capital required for the project in 1995 at just under 30 million and when asked to comment you responded, I believe with a smile, that it was going to be cheap.  Can you provide any further comment regarding that matter?
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A. Yes, I'm conscious that that doesn’t really fully answer what I was trying to imply by saying that would be cheap.  The reality is that was a very high level first phase feasibility study from the way I read it, and they wouldn't have taken into account a great deal of detail with the development of the mine, but probably the major thing to consider in that is that since 1995 the whole resources industry around the world has been in constant boom.  Inflation rates for Pike have been in the order of 25 to 30% a year in costs going up.  Steel, concrete, labour costs have all gone up exponentially not just incrementally and costs have soared for the same item year in-year out.  Mining equipment and mining expertise.  Our consultants cost a phenomenal amount of money per year to bring in, ventilation, gas.  All those guys their earning capacity has probably tripled in the last number of years and all of those costs have gone to an exponential increase not just in Pike but in every mining project pretty much around the world.

Q. When you were asked yesterday if Pike had employed a ventilation engineer you noted that, and I'm reading back from the transcript Mr Whittall, that although there was no specific role at Pike River entitled ventilation engineer the company had, and these were your words, “a full-time on-call ventilation or a designated on-call ventilation consultant”.  Do you recall that response Mr Whittall?

A. Yes I do.

Q. Can you provide any further detail about these consultants and their expertise?

A. Yeah, look I don't have their CVs with me or in front of me, but I do know the individuals that we've used at Pike River.  As I said yesterday, the ventilation responsibility on site is vested in the mine manager’s role.  However, to supplement that as we were building the mine especially but also in steady state I've used, every mine I've worked at we have a ventilation consultant available to the mine, but in this case these guys took a fairly active role, probably more so than typical.  Our first ventilation consultant was used just through Minarco which was Phil Mitchell and his report was tabled the other day.  Phil’s well-known to me.  He was deputy manager at a mine that I was working at when I was younger.  He, at the time he wrote his report, probably had 35, 37 years’ underground coalmining experience, had a degree in engineering, mine manager’s qualifications, and had spent his whole career in underground coalmining until the last few years where he worked for Minarco in Sydney, but before that he was always an operational manager.  The next one after him was and peer reviewed his work, was Andrew Self, who works for Australian or he owns Australian Coal Mining Consultants.  Andrew’s a pre-eminent ventilation consultant around the world, mostly working out of Australia and Brisbane.  Helped design the ventilation officers’ course that runs in Queensland and has had a long and illustrious career in mine ventilation consultancy and is a very well regarded person.  The next one we used, some of these guys we had to stop using just because of their own workload management, so we didn't change by choice, we changed by their availability.  Next we used Jim Rennie who is also not as well known to me but I know him reasonably well.  Jim was an ex-ventilation engineer for underground mines in New South Wales and worked through his career I understand through at least undermanager level, if not mine manager level.  I'm not sure if he attained those qualifications, but he’s a qualified ventilation engineer and works as a ventilation consultant, Jim Rennie.  Ventilation.  That’s what he does, that's all he does.  So he was involved with us right through the design of the first and placing the underground fans, et cetera.  Subsequent to him was John Rowlands.  I've also worked with John, it’s a small industry.  I've also worked with John from when he was a deputy and I was a surveyor, actually a mining trainee and John was a mine surveyor and then he got his deputy’s ticket and he’s worked his way up through undermanager and went into concern consulting, so he’s probably now had 35 years’ underground coalmining experience.  All he’s ever done, worked in gassy mines in New South Wales and Queensland and even more so now that he’s consulting full-time and he also, I understand, lectures in ventilation at the University of New South Wales as well, so again a very well qualified ventilation person.

Q. Now Mr Whittall, you've been asked several questions about funding issues at the company going into the 19th of November 2010.  Do you recall generally those questions sir?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And can you provide any further context to the Commission regarding that issue?

1030

A. Yes, I’ve said on a number of occasions that the funding of the company and the funding of the mine site while logically are inextricably linked are two different concepts operationally.  The funding of the company was one that ebbed and flowed as we raised more capital through a number of ways, whether it was through an IPO or whether it was through placement to institutional investors, and whether we do a rights issue, which is a issue of additional shares to existing shareholders, or whether we went out and sought new capital through separate capital raising.  So there’s a number of different ways, or a bank debt.  Or in the case of short term loans or a place with New Zealand Oil and Gas late in 2010 and also a convertible note that the company had raised.  So there’s a whole raft of financial instruments available to any company to investigate.  In the case of Pike River in November 2009 one of the first tasks I’d been given as chief executive was to do another capital raising, which was originally challenging –

Q. Sorry sir, was it 2009 or 2010?

A. No, 2010 sorry.

Q. Thank you.

A. Yes, sorry.  2010 was to do another capital raising as cashflows were going down and we were actually burning through cash quite quickly at the mine site.  We were buying a lot of equipment and also because taking longer to get the first hydro-panel up and running.  So the issue for the mine site is to continue to spend whatever they need to spend and it costs whatever it costs.  We weren’t in a phase yet of going back and reflectively reviewing budgets and seeing how we could do better than we did last year, we’re still in construction phase.  We had an army of consultants and contractors and workforce on site so it was costing a lot to – I think our monthly spend was about eight million dollars, six to eight million dollars a month, which is quite a lot of cash.  So we were going through capital raising but on Friday the 19th a number of things were coming together.  We had agreed a deal with UBS as a breaking company for a fully underwritten 70 million dollar capital raising.  We were doing a book build the following Monday, which is effectively a placement of shares to institutional investors which was being expected to be about the 45 million dollar mark and then there was to be a fully underwritten 25 million dollar share raising.  And that was intended to be announced to the market the following Wednesday, the 23rd or 24th, whatever it was going to be to be announced to the market that we had achieved a fully underwritten 70 million dollar raising which would’ve obviously changed the corporate cashflow path that was put to me that we were going to be down by, you know, 54 million by whatever, those things were well understood and those capital raisers were well in place.  But the impact of that at the mine site was nil, given that the mine was continuing to do what it did and the activity of raising capital was the activity of the board and the chief executive, not of the operational management.

Q. If I change topic Mr Whittall.  You were asked about three reports written in May, July and September 2010 by Miles Brown of Drive Mining regarding gas drainage.  Do you recall those questions yesterday sir?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And I actually just want to bring you to one of those reports, it’s the September report at DAO.012.02524, and specifically paragraph 3 on page 6.  So we’ll just bring that up Mr Whittall and I’ve just got a couple of questions for you.  And if we look at paragraph 3, you were asked yesterday about Mr Brown’s specific recommendations regarding data collection in relation to gas drainage.  Do you recall that?

A. Yes I do.

Q. I just want to draw your attention to two aspects of this document just so it’s clear on the record.  If I can ask you to take a look at the section that’s now being highlighted where it’s recorded that, “Weekly gas drainage measurements have now commenced.”  And the compilation, I’m reading from the document, the compilation of this data is essential for understanding how the Brunner seam coal operations with regards to gas, the spreadsheets have been all set up for each hole and are with the Pike River Coal Tech Services Department.  This data can also be used for future gas emission reporting.”  And in the next paragraph, “Mr Brown also notes that the weekly gas emission data is also planned to be taken, this data will provide important information for where gas has been emitted and how it related to production.”  And in fact the author references that there’s just been a survey completed with an underwriter and the suggestion is –
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A. Sorry, “survey with an underviewer.”

Q. Underviewer, sorry sir, perhaps I should read it instead of paraphrase, “Positions where readings were taken for the upcast shaft, panel one and development panels should be used each week.  Suggestion is that Dean and Jimmy conduct their weekly surveys together,” and my question to you, Mr Whittall, is just whether this section from Mr Brown’s September report is consistent with your understanding as to what was happening in response to his recommendation regarding data collection?

A. As I said yesterday I'm not aware that it was as a response to Miles’ recommendation but I'm aware that the activity was happening because it was reported on weekly management meetings and also the operations report meeting to the board had started to collate weekly gas submission data, sorry weekly gas drainage data and was starting to review the gas emission data as well based on the SCADA system so I was aware of the outcome.  I didn’t realise it was one of Miles’ recommendations though.

Q. I just have a couple more questions for you, Mr Whittall.  Specifically you were shown a statement I think on Wednesday afternoon by counsel assisting the Commission in a brief of evidence submitted by David Salisbury of NZOG.  Do you recall being shown that statement?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And in his brief Mr Salisbury said that in August 2010 he had told 
John Dow that NZOG had lost confidence and Mr Ward and you.  Do you recall that?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And have you discussed Mr Salisbury’s statement with Mr Dow?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And can you explain to the Commission the nature of that discussion?

A. Yes, I first saw that or first became aware of Mr Salisbury’s view when I read it in his submission to the Royal Commission and I let Mr Dow know that I’d read that and asked him his opinion because I was quite taken aback given that he said that he had the opinion, not only had that opinion of me but that he’d discussed it with my chairman before I was appointed, and I was concerned that that was the case and that I’d consequently still been appointed and why hadn’t I been told that there was some concern about my appointment.  I also told Mr Dow that I’d had several conversations with Mr Salisbury in confidence, as I say in confidence where he had it just with me privately, where he expressed exactly the opposite view of that and expressed a similar view about the previous chief executive of the company but not about me interestingly.  However, Mr Dow was able to confirm to me that he had never had that conversation with Mr Salisbury.  Mr Salisbury, according to Mr Dow, had never told him that and he didn’t know what that was coming from at all and that there was no such conversation had ever occurred and that wasn’t the view that NZOG ever put to Mr Dow or the Pike Board about me.

Q. And if I can just show you a section from a brief of evidence that’s been submitted by Mr Dow to the Royal Commission, specifically paragraphs 5 and 6 of Mr Dow’s statement, and you'll see it on the screen there now, Mr Whittall, and I’ll just read so as to save your voice perhaps.  These are Mr Dow’s words, “I do not recall Mr Salisbury or any other member of the NZOG Board advising me that they had lost confidence in Mr Whittall.  I met with Mr Radford and Mr Salisbury on 26th May 2010 following my receipt of the BDA2010 review.  At that meeting neither Mr Radford nor Mr Salisbury told me that the NZOG Board had lost confidence in Mr Whittall.  I subsequently met with the members of the NZOG Board on a number of occasions including on 23 August 2010 which was shortly before Mr Whittall was appointed CEO of the company and have no recollection of being told by any member of the NZOG Board that he had lost confidence in Mr Whittall.  Contrary to Mr Salisbury’s allegations, the NZOG representatives on the company’s board, Mr Meyer and Mr Radford, did not oppose and in fact supported the appointment of Mr Whittall as CEO of the company in October 2010.  Likewise the company’s board unanimously supported the appointment of Mr Whittall as CEO of the company,” and my question to you Mr Whittall is just whether what Mr Dow has now submitted to the Royal Commission is consistent with what he previously said to you, concerning Mr Salisbury’s statement?
1040
A. Yes it is, but it’s also consistent where the conversation I had with 
Mr Dow at the time of having the job discussed with me and being offered the position, because I was concerned that I'd been with the company for five years and that there’d been underperformance by the operations if you like, as far as delivering on those targets, and that the company wasn’t advertising the position but the board had unanimously agreed that I was the best candidate for the role and they didn’t seek to look elsewhere, and that I was concerned that I would have the full support of the board.  I didn’t want to take the job unless I had the full support of the board, I would rather have not, because I needed that to be able to go forward to do what I needed to do and make whatever changes I needed to do, change the forecasts and come out quite publicly after my appointment and be able to say what I needed to say about where the company was going to, and I couldn't do that unless I was sure that I had the full support of the board, and I was assured before I took the position that that was the case.  So, his comments there are consistent.

Q. Just my last couple of questions Mr Whittall.  You were asked by counsel assisting the Commission on Wednesday afternoon whether you could shed any light on Gordon Ward’s resignation.  Do you recall those questions?

A. Yes I do.

Q. And in response you said that you couldn't and I just wondered if you could clarify for the Commission why you're unable to do so?

A. I'm unable to do so for a couple of reasons.  Firstly, Mr Ward didn’t report to me.  He was my boss so he was the Chief executive and therefore he reported to the board, so he didn’t resign to me, he resigned to the board.  That’s the first reason.  The second reason is 
Mr Ward has never discussed it with me, he resigned to my recollection, I haven't looked up the date, but I recall it was a Friday morning, so to my knowledge it was a Friday the 4th of September, from best of recollection, submitted his notice and after some discussion with him about some outstanding matters he left the office about two hours later and I've never spoken with him since.  He worked from home and made submissions too about the quarterly report via the computer to our relationships manager but not directly to me and I don’t recall having any – I know I haven't had a conversation with him, I don’t recall ever having correspondence with him since that date.  The third one is, to the best of my knowledge, in discussions with Mr Dow is that there's a confidentiality clause in Mr Ward’s exit agreement which precludes discussion of the matter anyway.

questions from COMMISSIONER HENRY:  

Q. My questions, I'll try and keep them as short as possible, relate really to management aspects.  When you started this job as general manager in 2005, from what I've seen and heard it must have been a fairly formidable undertaking that you were about to engage in?

A. Yes it was, there was no roads, no nothing, it was just a mountainside and a, you know, feasibility study.

Q. And the New Zealand Oil and Gas, the main – the owner and then later the 30% shareholder, didn’t have any background, as I understand it, in underground coalmining?

A. No.

Q. And you were brought in to develop this mine and its development and the position as at 19 November, that we’re talking about in this phase, did you find that prospect a daunting prospect personally?

A. I did, I'd had – and I didn’t quite realise, often after you take these jobs on, you don't know what you've had until you've lost it and having been within BHP for 24 years with the largest mining company in the world and access to any system you want and any person you need, I was a member of a number of email forums where I could just send an email, it would go out to 800-900 people and they would give me their views on things around the world.  When I joined Pike I had literally no one, I had no systems, we didn’t even have a payroll system, NZOG paid us but we had nothing.

Q. I was going to ask you really in regard to management information did you have to construct the management information systems yourself?

A. Yes. We had – I got paid by New Zealand Oil and Gas and that was the only system, New Zealand Oil and Gas ended up using Pike River Coal’s health and safety management plan after we developed it and we gave it back to them, but we had nothing.  We had no HR systems, had no forms.  I got my own IRD number when I started and that was, and we went from there.
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Q. So, the situation you were faced with was to develop the management information systems.  Who was your performance agreement with at the time?

A. Sorry, who was I employed by if you like?

Q. Yes.

A. So, I was employed by New Zealand Oil and Gas.  Myself and then Ivan were the only direct employees of the company of Pike River Coal.

Q. Did you have a performance agreement with the chief executive officer?

A. No.  I had a fairly rudimentary job description that was given to me as part of their recruitment.  So it gave some dot point descriptions as to what my job was that I was being employed to do, but that changed.  As I said, the first role I came onto was as a direct report to the general manager of their and I was a peer to the other employees and then –

Q. When you became the general manager, mines?

A. Yep.

Q. And took the senior position onsite?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have a performance agreement with the chief executive?

A. Not as such.  I had a performance bonus component of my salary, which loosely talked about budgets but at the time budgets were a very malleable and growing thing, so it was much more subjective my performance and especially in the first few years was a very subjective thing.

Q. So did you have specific measures that you were required to achieve in order to get your bonus?

A. Not in the early phases of the mine, no.

Q. Did that change as time went on?

A. It did.  In the last couple of years I had more specific tonnes and, pretty much tonnage, targets.  We also had a medically treated injury target that was set.  We were trying to set some safety lag indicators to try and be able to measure ourselves on performance year in and year out, but I’d had the same issue at Dendrobium where we started the mine from scratch.  Setting performance targets in a greenfield project is extremely difficult because so much changes, it’s very hard.  And I had the same issue with my own staff.  I tried to set hard measure KPIs, which would be the best way.  People understand what their job is if you've got a hard measure KPI and recently failed miserably in the attempt year in and year out, so our performance bonuses for our staff were also quite subjective because it was very difficult to measure in a project phase, especially with so many unexpected delays like a shaft collapse, delays to the tunnel, which were outside of the direct control of the staff.  How to take those into account when you're trying to get hard measures is very difficult. 

Q. So in relation to such things as bonuses, there was a, as you told me it was subjective.  Even as at the 19th of November was that the same situation?

A. It did vary for a couple of different staff.  For the general workforce the bonuses –

Q. I was meaning in relation to yourself?

A. In relation to myself, in the years up until June 2009 the bonuses were reasonably subjective so that there was a lot of leeway for the board to be able to say, “Look, we expected to be here in the year and we expected to have got this much done, but we didn't, but we are now taking into account these other factors,” so it was quite subjective.  In the 2009/2010 year where it was expected that we would achieve performance targets and we were to get certain tonnages out by those years, then my targets were much more hard and much more firm, much more set if you like.

Q. In relation to designing the management information system, the formal reporting you've told us about.  You did management, you attended meetings as you could, and you had email and telephone discussions and you prepared, as I understand it, a monthly operational report which wended its way through to the board?

A. To the board, correct.

Q. What were the key measures that you concentrated on given the width of the tasks that you were faced with as GM?

A. Yes.  As a general manager both, as is good practice, all of our meetings started with safety issues.

Q. I'm talking about the formal report as it worked through?

A. So with the formal report, the operations report, the first item it dealt with was safety, both safety incidents and safety initiatives.  So the whole first chapter was on safety.  So we measured both lagging indicators but also talked about lead indicator issues such as health and safety programmes, drug and alcohol testing, all those sorts of things.

Q. Right.
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A. The other areas we focused on were production.  More and more recently we were actually able to get some production that was measurable and definable.  In other words getting repetitive cycles so you could start comparing one week or one month with the other.  So looking at development meters against budget was an important KPI, or a report and measure metric that we used.  In the other areas they’re much more soft targets as far as – ideally where we would get to, not ideally but where we would plan to get, we’d be on a measure from a engineering point of view downtime periods, being able to measure.  We did report on downtime but given that the machine, such as the load haul dumps were being used completely outside of their design capacity or scope, it was quite a moot point what their downtime was.

Q. As the general manager how did you keep an overview of the risks that you were facing?  Did you have a formal risk assessment system of consequence and probability and so on?

A. So the risks that were on site we did.  As a general manager we had annual URS risk from an environment, so insurances et cetera, so that was one area that I had.  Each year we placed insurance and placing the insurance was actually one of my roles both as general manager and would’ve stayed that way as CEO.  So we had an independent report done each year.  We actually had two, one by Zurich, who was our principal insurer in Australia and I used – and a Horcroft report as well, so I used those as a measure of risk, they actually looked at the insurance risk of health and safety and also business risk through the whole mine each year, in about July.

Q. At the corporate level, at the board level, was there a health and safety subcommittee of the board?

A. There was.  There was a health and safety subcommittee of the board.

Q. What did they do?

A. They came on site between once and twice a year and they interviewed myself, they interviewed the senior management.  They usually had a presentation from Neville Rockhouse and Ivan Liddell, as the two main areas.  They had a health, safety and environment subcommittee so they looked at the environment as well.

Q. Was there ever any external independent audit of health and safety by the subcommittee of the board?

A. The subcommittee never engaged an independent auditor to audit the mine, no.

Q. Right.  Now you mentioned that as you came into 2010 you were increasingly engaged in raising money?

A. Yes.

Q. One way or other?

A. Yes.

Q. In doing that I presume that the lenders were vitally interested in how production was going and how the revenue flows were –

A. Yes.

Q. – going to go?

A. That's correct.

Q. In order for you, even when you became chief executive, in order for you to answer those questions you mentioned due diligence I think at one stage?

A. Yes.

Q. I’m assuming, am I right in assuming, that you had to have an intimate knowledge of development and production?

A. Yes.

Q. And any impediments to that development and production -

A. Yes.

Q. – you would know about?

A. Correct.

Q. And if some of the technical issues that have mentioned here, if those issues were serious enough to affect development and production then you would know about those?

A. Correct.

Q. Yes, good, thank you.

questions from commissioner bell:

Q. Mr Whittall, good morning.  I’ve just got a few questions.  I’ll start off with explosives.  Explosives were used at Pike in varying ways, could you just explain to me how they were used and what was the background to their use?

A. Certainly.  Originally when we start to shot fire and use explosives because the whole tunnel was drill and blast and so Pike River allowed, if you like, the installation of a magazine on the surface but the magazine, registered magazine keeper was McConnell Dowell.  McConnell Dowell had responsibility for buying and storing explosives and also their system was used for distribution of those explosives, so booking out and returning the explosives.  The company kept an audit position on that.  So in other words the mine manager, or the tunnel manager initially, myself and then Kobus still had overall responsibility for safety of the tunnel.  
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A. Therefore we had an interest and an audit responsibility for the explosives but the actual management of explosives on site was 
McConnell Dowell’s.  That stayed that way all the time.  No one else did explosive work except McConnell Dowell, so even after we became a coal mine the only person – sorry, generally the only people doing drill and blast operations were McConnell Dowell.  Pike River also did some.  A couple of the places down to the south side of the mine required advancement through some of the faults with drill and blast but it was not worth our while setting up a separate magazine so we actually had our explosives for those few occasions from the McConnell Dowell magazine.

Q. And was the shot firer your person or a McConnell Dowell person?

A. No, McConnell Dowell in the tunnel were, they had all the A grade tunnel managers so they did all our own shot firing.  Once we got into coal we did the shot firing in coal but we used a deputy to do the inspections, yes, so McConnell Dowell would do the loading.  They did the design.  They’d load the face.  Whether the deputy was present or not at that level of detail I'm not sure but the deputy would certainly check for gas and be present for the firing.

Q. And were the explosives activities ever inspected by an inspector by -

A. Were the explosives?

Q. Activities ever –

A. Activities.

Q. – inspected by –

A. Yeah, the explosives were a significant point of conversation.  You may well be aware in the industry that the accessibility of P5 explosives is a very difficult thing but P5 explosives being able to be used in coal so the availability of it in New Zealand is even worse.  There’s only one airport in the country that can receive them and they have to come by train and by boat across from the North Island so getting explosives to the 
South Island we did consider chartering fishing boats at one stage to bring it across because it was becoming quite an issue for us, so there was a lot of discussion in the New Zealand inspectorate on whether we could use P1 for certain events because, and it wasn’t, some of these were quite challenging for the inspectors because they weren’t areas that they’d had to deal with very much so there was, the inspectors were quite actually intimately aware, probably more so than they would normally be, of the shot firing operations at Pike because of those a number of factors.  One, was the P1, P5 issue, the other one was where from, where in the mine we could fire shots.  When we did the tunnel we used to have to fire from the surface which meant everyone evacuate the tunnel.  Once we got up into the graben area where we had a whole bunch of coalmining operations going on, our default position was still to have to evacuate the whole mine every time we fired a shot and so through getting some expert advice out of Queensland and also through negotiation and discussion with the inspectors we got to a point where we could evacuate back to a point of safety at pit bottom in stone and fire shots from there and I think the New Zealand inspectorate adopted the British standard for firing shots underground as their guideline be in the absence of New Zealand relevant legislation.

Q. And that was the mine, we’re talking about the mines inspectorate, we’re talking about Mr Firmin or Mr Poynter?

A. Yes, yeah we didn’t have any HAZNO inspectors come which is the, HAZNO Act is one, they are I think I understand warranted to inspect for the HAZNO Act as well.

Q. On another topic if the main fan trips underground for whatever reason, the surface fan starts automatically.  Is that correct?

A. That’s correct.  Yes, there’s power source and generators on the surface for that.

Q. And is there gas monitoring around the main fan to ensure that when it’s restarted that the mine’s comfortable with it.  There’s no flammable gas there?

A. The underground fan?

Q. Yep.

A. To my understanding there would be.  Where it’s placed and how that was placed as part of that commissioning I can't say.  I don't know.

Q. And so the underground gas monitoring system, is it on a separate power supply to the mine?  So it would still be operating even if the power tripped to the main fan?

A. That’s my understanding.  Yeah, we have uninterruptable power supplies, UPSs in the control room and to my understanding those, not only do we have UPSs but we also have a back up generator on the surface that supplies that system as well.  The back up generators are located near the mine offices at the amenities area.

Q. Just one question on PW28 which is the mine plan we discussed in detail.  I just noticed on that there’s only one carbon monoxide sensor and it’s in the return from the goaf.

A. Yes.

Q. Is that a bit unusual to have just one CO sensor in an operation, I accept it’s not a big operation but –

A. No.

Q. – just to have one CO sensor, especially place there –

A. Yeah, I –

Q. – to cover the whole mine?

A. Yes, I did question yesterday that I thought we were also installing CO sensors in association with the substations at pit bottom in stone but they’re either off the plan or they’re not shown on that corner of that plan.  
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A. I also understand we’ve got a CO sensor at the entrance to the tunnel, but I probably don’t wish to comment on your comment about whether that’s appropriate or not.  I'm not sure where else they were, whether they are there but not shown on the plan, I just don't know, I can't answer that.

Q. It would be nice to know where the other ones were, if they are there.

A. I'm sure we could find that out and supply that information to you.

Q. And just finally, talking about training and talking about EXITO, I'm just interested, did the Pike Australian managers that you brought over undergo a professional conversation before they got their first class New Zealand tickets?

A. Yes, thank you for asking that question because that was I think a bit confusing.  Mr Bell the other day intimated that we had some sort of choice, whether we chose to go through a professional conversation or not.  The situation is that there is a Trans-Tasman agreement between Australia and New Zealand so theoretically the Australian, people with first class mine manager’s tickets in either Queensland or New Zealand should be able to come here and get their tickets ratified as happens going the other direction, for New Zealand tickets.  The EXITO have defined the fact that they can question or they have to be satisfied so it’s quite a grey area and led to quite a long and frustrating negotiation between Neville and myself with EXITO over about a year or so period because they were never very clear as to what they deemed to be them being satisfied.  So, the position, we then developed this professional conversation, we in conjunction with the Polytech, Polytech won a national award for it, it’s a very good system, I was very happy with it.  It was developed mostly for people who weren't from Australia so there was no recognition for South African or English tickets, so the professional conversation was essentially put in place to cover other than Australian qualifications because the Trans-Tasman agreement should've covered the Australian ones, but once the professional conversation was put in place EXITO wanted all officials to go through it, even if there was agreement in place so we had a modified version, I think it was a negotiated position towards the end, that Mick Lerch, rather than going through several days or a long one, they still went through the professional conversation.  Some of these things were easier to comply with and capitulate and just say, okay, we’ll do that because the guys needed to get their tickets so they could get on with their jobs, so Mr Lerch, when he came with an Australian ticket, he went through that system and Doug wasn’t intended to be the mine manager so it wasn’t, and that would be one of the reasons Mr Bell didn’t know he was here in that regard, but he then over a period of months went and got his tickets and I think he went through that professional conversation because EXITO required him to do so.  

Q. And did Mr Ellis go through it as well?

A. Yes and he’s since received his ticket as well.  I didn’t do that.  I actually went through the old system when I first came here and it took me several months and many, many papers of actually sitting the New Zealand Mine Manager’s qualifications to get them ratified because they wouldn’t honour the Trans-Tasman agreement at that stage.

questions from cOMMISSIONER PANCKHURST:

Q. Mr Whittall, I've only got three short matters.  Just following up from what Mr Bell has asked you, the development work that was being undertaken in the final week, did that necessitate the use of explosives, do you know?

A. Not for roadway development Your Honour, McConnell Dowell were still working on site and they were doing some, they were starting to excavate for a dirty water sump and that would've required the use of explosives.

Q. But they would know the full details of that rather than you?

A. Yes, I was aware after the event that that’s what they were doing, yes, but it doesn’t surprise me they were doing it, that’s what McConnell Dowell were still kept on for, for doing shot firing work, it was a daily event.

Q. Secondly, the diagrams, mine diagrams which were shown on screen yesterday in relation to Miles Brown’s methane reports designed the roadway system by reference to numbers or letters rather, A and B and so on.  Was that the method that you used at Pike to identify the roadway systems, the components of it or is that something that he just did?

A. No, that’s typically – it’s actually quite, unfortunately, a complex question with hopefully short answer, but the short answer is that you would typically class roads going up or going, the long roads with some number or letter depending on which mine you're out.  In our case letters usually starting from the left is “A”.  So if there was three roads they'd be A, B and C.
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Q. I wonder if we can shortcut this, and I'm not interrupting you.  My interest is that we have a mine plan which uses those symbols whatever they are, for future hearings so that we're all on the same wavelength.

A. Certainly.

Q. Such a plan – Ms Shortall is nodding – so such a plan exists does it where you do have a designated roadway number or letter system?

A. Yes.

Q. And we could have that made available to the Commission?

A. Yes.  I think even on PW28 there was letters and numbers on that plan.

Q. I didn't think so but you may be right.  But anyway we can do that and we'll all have the same system before us?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you.  Lastly, Dr Elder described a system whereas the chief executive, he received incident reports immediately they were generated onsite.  Did you have a similar arrangement when you became the chief executive office for Pike?

A. No I didn't.

questions arising – nil

witness excused

COMMISSION adjourns:
11.07am
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